
 

DRAFT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Meeting: Metro Council        

Date: Thursday, December 4, 2014                 
Time: 2 p.m.  

Place: Metro, Council Chamber 
 

   
CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL   

 1. CITIZEN COMMUNICATION   

 2. CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 
 

 

 2.1 Resolution No. 14-4580, For the Purpose of Confirming 
Appointment of Community Representatives to the 
Metro Central Station Community Enhancement 
Committee 

 

 2.2 Resolution No. 14-4584, For the Purpose of Amending 
the Fiscal Year 2013-15 Unified Planning Work Program 
(UPWP) to Add the Behavior-Based Freight Model 
Project 

 

 2.3 Resolution No. 14-4585, For the Purpose of Amending 
the Fiscal Year 2013-2015 Unified Planning Work 
Program (UPWP): Regional Over-Dimensional Truck 
Route Study 

 

 2.4 Resolution No. 14-4586, For the Purpose of Declaring 
the Plaza Building Surplus Property, Exempting the 
Tenant from Paying Excise Tax, and Authorizing the 
Execution of a Lease with Table 6 

 

 2.5 Resolution No. 14-4587, For the Purpose of Confirming 
the Council President’s Reappointment of Chris Erickson 
to the Metro Audit Committee 

 

 2.6 Consideration of Council Meeting Minutes for November 
13, 2014 
 

 

 3. ORDINANCES (FIRST READ)  

 3.1 Ordinance No. 14-1349, For the Purpose of Annexing to 
the Metro District Boundary Approximately 14.81 Acres 
Located North of NW Springville Road and East of NW 
Kaiser Road in the North Bethany Area of Washington 
County  

 



 4. RESOLUTIONS  

 4.1 Resolution No. 14-4588, For the Purpose of 
Authorizing the Metro Chief Operating Officer to Execute 
the 2014 Metro – Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement 

Teri Dresler, Metro 

 4.2 Resolution No. 14-4582, For the Purpose of Accepting 
the Draft Urban Growth Report as Support for 
Determination of Capacity of the Urban Growth 
Boundary 
 

Ted Reid, Metro 

 4.2.1 Public Hearing on Resolution No. 14.4582  

 4.3 Resolution No. 14-4589, For the Purpose of Directing 
the Chief Operating Officer to Develop a Landfill Capacity 
Policy 

Councilor Bob Stacey, Metro 

 4.4 
 

Resolution No. 14-4569, For the Purpose of 
Authorizing the Chief Operating Officer to Issue a 
Renewed Non-System License to Pride Recycling for 
Delivery of Putrescible Waste to the Riverbend Landfill 
in Yamhill County 

Roy Brower, Metro 

 4.5 Resolution No. 14-4570, For the Purpose of 
Authorizing the Chief Operating Officer to Issue a 
Renewed Non-System License to Willamette Resources, 
Inc. for Delivery of Putrescible Waste to the Riverbend 
Landfill in Yamhill County 

Roy Brower, Metro 

 4.6 Resolution No. 14-4571, For the Purpose of 
Authorizing the Chief Operating Officer to Issue a 
Renewed Non-System License to Forest Grove Transfer 
Station for Delivery of Putrescible Waste to the 
Riverbend Landfill in Yamhill County 

Roy Brower, Metro 

 4.7 Resolution No. 14-4572, For the Purpose of 
Authorizing the Chief Operating Officer to Issue a 
Renewed Non-System License to West Linn Refuse & 
Recycling, Inc. for Delivery of Putrescible Waste to Canby 
Transfer & Recycling, Inc. for the Purpose of Transfer 
and Disposal at the Riverbend Landfill in Yamhill County 

Roy Brower, Metro 

 4.8 Resolution No. 14-4573, For the Purpose of 
Authorizing the Chief Operating Officer to Issue a 
Renewed Non-System License to Hoodview Disposal & 
Recycling, Inc. for Delivery of Putrescible Waste to Canby 
Transfer & Recycling, Inc. for the Purpose of Transfer 
and Disposal at the Riverbend Landfill in Yamhill County 

Roy Brower, Metro 

 5. CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER COMMUNICATION  Martha Bennett, Metro 

 6. COUNCILOR COMMUNICATION  

ADJOURN 
 

 

 
   
 

 
 

 



Television schedule for December 4, 2014 Metro Council meeting 
 

Clackamas, Multnomah and Washington 
counties, and Vancouver, WA 
Channel 30 – Community Access Network 
Web site: www.tvctv.org  
Ph:  503-629-8534 
Date: Thursday, December 4, 2:00 p.m. 

Portland  
Channel 30 – Portland Community Media 
Web site: www.pcmtv.org  
Ph:  503-288-1515 
Date: Sunday, December 7, 7:30 p.m. 
Date: Monday, December 8, 9 a.m. 

Gresham 
Channel 30 - MCTV  
Web site: www.metroeast.org 
Ph:  503-491-7636 
Date: Monday, December 8, 2 p.m. 

Washington County and West Linn  
Channel 30– TVC TV  
Web site: www.tvctv.org  
Ph:  503-629-8534 
Date: Friday, December 5, 12 p.m. 
Date: Sunday, December 7, 11 p.m. 

Oregon City and Gladstone 
Channel 28 – Willamette Falls Television  
Web site: http://www.wftvmedia.org/  
Ph: 503-650-0275 
Call or visit web site for program times. 

  

 
PLEASE NOTE: Show times are tentative and in some cases the entire meeting may not be shown due to length. 
Call or check your community access station web site to confirm program times. Agenda items may not be 
considered in the exact order. For questions about the agenda, call the Metro Council Office at 503-797-1540. Public 
hearings are held on all ordinances second read. Documents for the record must be submitted to the Regional 
Engagement and Legislative Coordinator to be included in the meeting record. Documents can be submitted by e-mail, fax 
or mail or in person to the Regional Engagement and Legislative Coordinator. For additional information about testifying 
before the Metro Council please go to the Metro web site www.oregonmetro.gov and click on public comment 
opportunities.  

 

http://www.tvctv.org/
http://www.pcmtv.org/
http://www.metroeast.org/
http://www.tvctv.org/
http://www.wftvmedia.org/


 

   November 2014 

Metro respects civil rights 

Metro fully complies with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and related statutes that ban discrimination.  If any person believes they have been discriminated against 
regarding the receipt of benefits or services because of race, color, national origin, sex, age or disability, they have the right to file a complaint with Metro. For information 
on Metro’s civil rights program, or to obtain a discrimination complaint form, visit www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights or call 503-797-1536. Metro provides services or 
accommodations upon request to persons with disabilities and people who need an interpreter at public meetings. If you need a sign language interpreter, communication 
aid or language assistance, call 503-797-1890 or TDD/TTY 503-797-1804 (8 a.m. to 5 p.m. weekdays) 5 business days before the meeting. All Metro meetings are wheelchair 
accessible. For up-to-date public transportation information, visit TriMet’s website at www.trimet.org. 
 

Thông báo về sự Metro không kỳ thị của  
Metro tôn trọng dân quyền. Muốn biết thêm thông tin về chương trình dân quyền 
của Metro, hoặc muốn lấy đơn khiếu nại về sự kỳ thị, xin xem trong 
www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights. Nếu quý vị cần thông dịch viên ra dấu bằng tay, 
trợ giúp về tiếp xúc hay ngôn ngữ, xin gọi số 503-797-1890 (từ 8 giờ sáng đến 5 giờ 
chiều vào những ngày thường) trước buổi họp 5 ngày làm việc. 

Повідомлення Metro про заборону дискримінації  
Metro з повагою ставиться до громадянських прав. Для отримання інформації 
про програму Metro із захисту громадянських прав або форми скарги про 
дискримінацію відвідайте сайт www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights. або Якщо вам 
потрібен перекладач на зборах, для задоволення вашого запиту зателефонуйте 
за номером 503-797-1890 з 8.00 до 17.00 у робочі дні за п'ять робочих днів до 
зборів. 

Metro 的不歧視公告 
尊重民權。欲瞭解Metro民權計畫的詳情，或獲取歧視投訴表，請瀏覽網站 
www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights。如果您需要口譯方可參加公共會議，請在會

議召開前5個營業日撥打503-797-
1890（工作日上午8點至下午5點），以便我們滿足您的要求。 

Ogeysiiska takooris la’aanta ee Metro 
Metro waxay ixtiraamtaa xuquuqda madaniga. Si aad u heshid macluumaad ku 
saabsan barnaamijka xuquuqda madaniga ee Metro, ama aad u heshid warqadda ka 
cabashada takoorista, booqo www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights. Haddii aad u baahan 
tahay turjubaan si aad uga  qaybqaadatid kullan dadweyne, wac 503-797-1890 (8 
gallinka hore illaa 5 gallinka dambe maalmaha shaqada) shan maalmo shaqo ka hor 
kullanka si loo tixgaliyo codsashadaada. 

 Metro의 차별 금지 관련 통지서   
Metro의 시민권 프로그램에 대한 정보 또는 차별 항의서 양식을 얻으려면, 또는 
차별에 대한 불만을 신고 할 수www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights. 당신의 언어 
지원이 필요한 경우, 회의에 앞서 5 영업일 (오후 5시 주중에 오전 8시) 503-797-
1890를 호출합니다.  

Metroの差別禁止通知 
Metroでは公民権を尊重しています。Metroの公民権プログラムに関する情報

について、または差別苦情フォームを入手するには、www.oregonmetro.gov/ 
civilrights。までお電話ください公開会議で言語通訳を必要とされる方は、 
Metroがご要請に対応できるよう、公開会議の5営業日前までに503-797-
1890（平日午前8時～午後5時）までお電話ください。 

េសចកត ីជូនដំណឹងអំពីការមិនេរសីេអើងរបស់ Metro 
ការេគារពសិទិធពលរដឋរបស់ ។ សំរាប់ព័ត៌មានអំពីកមម វធិីសិទិធពលរដឋរបស់ Metro 

ឬេដើមបីទទួលពាកយបណត ឹងេរសីេអើងសូមចូលទសសនាេគហទំព័រ 
 ។www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights

េបើេលាកអនករតវូការអនកបកែរបភាសាេនៅេពលអងគ 
របជំុសាធារណៈ សូមទូរស័ពទមកេលខ 503-797-1890 (េម៉ាង 8 រពឹកដល់េម៉ាង 5 លាង ច 

ៃថងេធវ ើការ) របាំពីរៃថង 
ៃថងេធវ ើការ មុនៃថងរបជុំេដើមបីអាចឲយេគសរមួលតាមសំេណើរបស់េលាកអនក ។ 

 
 

 

 
 Metroإشعار بعدم التمييز من 

للحقوق المدنية أو لإيداع شكوى  Metroللمزيد من المعلومات حول برنامج . الحقوق المدنية Metroتحترم 
إن كنت بحاجة . www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrightsضد التمييز، يُرجى زيارة الموقع الإلكتروني 

صباحاً حتى  8من الساعة (  1890-797-503إلى مساعدة في اللغة، يجب عليك الاتصال مقدماً برقم الھاتف
 .أيام عمل من موعد الاجتماع) 5(قبل خمسة ) مساءاً، أيام الاثنين إلى الجمعة 5الساعة 

 

Paunawa ng Metro sa kawalan ng diskriminasyon   
Iginagalang ng Metro ang mga karapatang sibil. Para sa impormasyon tungkol sa 
programa ng Metro sa mga karapatang sibil, o upang makakuha ng porma ng 
reklamo sa diskriminasyon, bisitahin ang www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights.  Kung 
kailangan ninyo ng interpreter ng wika sa isang pampublikong pulong, tumawag sa 
503-797-1890 (8 a.m. hanggang 5 p.m. Lunes hanggang Biyernes) lima araw ng 
trabaho bago ang pulong upang mapagbigyan ang inyong kahilingan.Notificación de 
no discriminación de Metro. 
 
Notificación de no discriminación de Metro  
Metro respeta los derechos civiles. Para obtener información sobre el programa de 
derechos civiles de Metro o para obtener un formulario de reclamo por 
discriminación, ingrese a www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights . Si necesita asistencia 
con el idioma, llame al 503-797-1890 (de 8:00 a. m. a 5:00 p. m. los días de semana) 
5 días laborales antes de la asamblea. 

Уведомление о недопущении дискриминации от Metro  
Metro уважает гражданские права. Узнать о программе Metro по соблюдению 
гражданских прав и получить форму жалобы о дискриминации можно на веб-
сайте www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights. Если вам нужен переводчик на 
общественном собрании, оставьте свой запрос, позвонив по номеру 503-797-
1890 в рабочие дни с 8:00 до 17:00 и за пять рабочих дней до даты собрания. 

Avizul Metro privind nediscriminarea  
Metro respectă drepturile civile. Pentru informații cu privire la programul Metro 
pentru drepturi civile sau pentru a obține un formular de reclamație împotriva 
discriminării, vizitați www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights. Dacă aveți nevoie de un 
interpret de limbă la o ședință publică, sunați la 503-797-1890 (între orele 8 și 5, în 
timpul zilelor lucrătoare) cu cinci zile lucrătoare înainte de ședință, pentru a putea să 
vă răspunde în mod favorabil la cerere. 

Metro txoj kev ntxub ntxaug daim ntawv ceeb toom  
Metro tributes cai. Rau cov lus qhia txog Metro txoj cai kev pab, los yog kom sau ib 
daim ntawv tsis txaus siab, mus saib www.oregonmetro.gov/civilrights.  Yog hais tias 
koj xav tau lus kev pab, hu rau 503-797-1890 (8 teev sawv ntxov txog 5 teev tsaus 
ntuj weekdays) 5 hnub ua hauj lwm ua ntej ntawm lub rooj sib tham.     

 



Agenda Item No. 2.1 

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 14-4580, For the Purpose of Confirming 
Appointment of Community Representatives to the Metro 

Central Station Community Enhancement Committee 
 
 

Consent  Agenda  

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



Page 1 of 1 – Resolution No. 14-4580 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF CONFIRMING 
APPOINTMENT OF COMMUNITY MEMBERS 
TO THE METRO CENTRAL STATION 
COMMUNITY ENHANCEMENT 
COMMITTEE  

)
)
)
)
) 

RESOLUTION NO. 14-4580 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating Officer Martha 
Bennett in concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes 

 
WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 2.19.030, “Membership of the Advisory Committees,” states 

that all members and alternate members of all Metro Advisory Committees shall be appointed by the 
Council President and shall be subject to confirmation by the Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 2.19.120, “Metro Central Station Community Enhancement 

Committee (MCSCE),” provides for the committee; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 2.19.120(b)(1) sets forth representation criteria for membership 
on the committee; and 

 
WHEREAS, vacancies have occurred in representation of the Forest Park Neighborhood 

Association, Linnton Neighborhood Association, Northwest Industrial area, and the Northwest District 
Association on the committee; and 

 
WHEREAS, the representative of the Friends of Cathedral Park has completed the first two-year 

term and is eligible to reappointed to a second two-year term; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Forest Park Neighborhood Association, Linnton Neighborhood Association, 

Friends of Cathedral Park, Northwest Industrial area, and the Northwest District Association each 
submitted a nomination to the Metro Council President; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Council President has appointed representatives as set forth in Exhibit “A”, 

subject to confirmation by the Metro Council; now, therefore, 
 
BE IT RESOLVED, that the Metro Council confirms the appointments of the Metro Central 

Station Community Enhancement Committee, as set forth in Exhibit “A” attached hereto. 
   
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ______ day of ____________________ 2014. 
 

 
 
 
 

Tom Hughes, Council President 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 
 
       
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 
 



Page 1 of 1 - Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4580 

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4580 

 

Metro Central Station Community Enhancement Committee 

Member Confirmations 

 
 
The following person has served one, two-year term, and is being appointed for a second two-year term: 
 
Andrew DeVeux    Friends of Cathedral Park representative 
 
 
The following persons shall serve two-year terms, and be eligible thereafter to serve one additional two-
year term: 
 
Jennifer Jako     Forest Park Neighborhood Association 
Art Wagner     Linnton Neighborhood Association 
Austin Peterson     Northwest Industrial area (NINA) 
Brad Houle     Northwest District Association (NWDA) 
 
 



Page 1 of 2 – Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4580 

STAFF REPORT 
 
IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 14-4580, FOR THE PURPOSE OF CONFIRMING 
APPOINTMENT OF COMMUNITY REPRESENTATIVES TO THE METRO CENTRAL STATION 
COMMUNITY ENHANCEMENT COMMITTEE 

Date:  Nov. 6, 2014                Prepared by: Heather Nelson Kent, 503-797-1739 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Metro Central Station Community Enhancement Committee is charged with helping develop plans to 
administer grant funds, solicit and review grant applications, and select for funding improvement projects 
that benefit the area directly affected by Metro Central garbage transfer station, including portions of 
Northwest and North Portland. 

Sam Chase, Councilor of Metro District 5, chairs the seven-member committee. Members are nominated 
from their respective neighborhood association: Forest Park, Friends of Cathedral Park, Linnton, the 
Northwest Industrial Area (NINA) and the Northwest District. One member represents environmental 
groups with an interest in the grant target area. Members are to serve a two-year term. Vacancies have 
occurred on the committee due to term limits. 

A recruitment effort to fill the positions began in July 2014, seeking replacements to represent several 
openings on the committee. A letter was sent from Sam Chase, Metro Councilor and Metro Central 
Station Community Enhancement Committee chair, to the board chair and/or leaders of these 
neighborhood associations seeking nominations for representation on the committee. The letter spelled 
out the desirable characteristics of candidates, including that committee members are actively engaged in 
the community, knowledgeable about the needs of their neighborhood and its environmental features.  
 
The Forest Park Neighborhood Association has met and nominated Jennifer Jako to represent their 
organization. **See attached letter from Forest Park Neighborhood Association President, Jerry 
Grossnickle. 
 
The Board of Friends of Cathedral Park Neighborhood Association has nominated Andrew DeVeux to 
represent Cathedral Park for a second two-year term (see attached letter from Laura Loop, Sustainability 
Chair, Friends of Cathedral Park Neighborhood Association). 
 
Northwest Industrial Neighborhood Association President Harold Hutchinson has nominated Austin 
Peterson as its representative. Mr. Peterson has past experience serving on committees and is an active a 
member of NINA, currently serving on its board (see attached committee interest form). 
 
The Linnton Neighborhood Association board has nominated Art Wagner as its representative. Art has 
contributed significantly as a volunteer to the Linnton community and Linnton Community Center (see 
attached letter from Edward Jones, Chair, Linnton Neighborhood Association). 
 
The Northwest District Association has nominated Brad Houle as its representative (see attached letter 
from Gustavo Cruz, President, Northwest District Association). 
 
Each of these individuals has expressed their interest in serving on the committee.  
 
ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 
1. Known Opposition 

There is no known opposition. 



Page 2 of 2 – Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4580 

 
2. Legal Antecedents   

Chapter 2.19 of the Metro Code Relating to Advisory Committees; Section 2.19.120 provides for a 
Metro Central Station Community Enhancement Committee and sets forth guidelines for 
representation. 
 

3. Anticipated Effects 
Adoption of this resolution would confirm the appointment of Jennifer Jako from the Forest Park 
Neighborhood Association; Andrew DeVeux, representing the Friends of Cathedral Park; Art Wagner 
representing the Linnton Neighborhood Association; Austin Peterson representing the Northwest 
Industrial Neighborhood Association and Brad Houle representing The Northwest District 
Association. 
 

4. Budget Impacts 
There are no known costs associated with implementation of this legislation. 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Tom Hughes, Metro Council President, and Metro Councilor Sam Chase, chair of the Metro Central 
Station Community Enhancement Committee, recommend adoption of this resolution.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
** Forest Park Neighborhood Association meets on November 18th.  This attachment will be submitted 
prior to November 24th.  



 
                                                                                 
September 15, 2104  
  
Mr. Sam Chase 
Metro Councilor  
Metro Council District 5 
Metro Central Enhancement Committee 
  
Dear Mr. Chase: 
  
At the August 12, 2014 Friends of Cathedral Park Neighborhood Association (“FCPNA”) 

Board meeting, the FCPNA Board nominated Andrew DeVeux as a representative for 
the Metro Central Enhancement Committee.   
  
Andrew moved to Portland in 2007 and resides in Cathedral Park Neighborhood with his 
family.  He first got involved in the neighborhood by participating in the advisory 
committee for the Cathedral Park Master Plan. He then became a FCPNA board 
member and then Vice Chair.  In November 2011, he was elected FCPNA Chair and 
currently holds the position.  Andrew enjoys working with his neighbors in promoting 
social justice and making the Cathedral Park and St. John’s communities better places to 

live.   
  
The FCPNA Board highly recommends Andrew to the Metro Central Enhancement 
Committee.  His community commitment and professionalism will be a great asset to 
your committee.   
  
Thank you for your time and consideration.   
  
Sincerely,   
 
/s/ Laura A. Loop 
 
Laura A. Loop       
FCPNA Sustainability Chair 

Friends of Cathedral Park Neighborhood Association    
  
  

  
  

  
  

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4580



 
cc:       Heather Nelson Kent - HeatherNelson.Kent@oregonmetro.gov.  
            Andrew DeVeux - andrew.deveux@yahoo.com 
  



 
 
 

Metro Central Enhancement Program  
Committee interest form 

 
Please return completed two-page application to:  
Metro Regional Center  
Attn: Heather Nelson Kent 
600 NE Grand Ave. Portland, OR 97232 
503-797-1939 
Email: HeatherNelson.Kent@oregonmetro.gov   
 
Information  
 
Name: Andrew De Veux    
 
Organization or business (optional):     
 
Mailing address: 9730 N. Willamette Blvd.     
     
City: Portland State: OR  Zip: 97203  
 
Preferred phone: (410)274-6052  Email :Andrew.deveux@yahoo.com  
 
Residential address: same as mailing address    
 
Check one: 
___Forest Park Neighborhood Association  
___x Friends of Cathedral Park 
___ Linnton Neighborhood Association 

___Northwest District Neighborhood Association  
___Northwest Industrial area (NINA) 

 
Metro strives for membership on its committee that reflects the diversity of the Portland metro region. 
The following information is voluntary: 
 
Gender: Male  Age: 41         Ethnicity: White   
 
Briefly describe your interest in the Metro Central Enhancement Committee and why you would like 
to serve. 
  

It has been my honor to serve on the Metro Central Enhancement Committee and would 
consider it an even bigger honor to continue serving. Serving on this committee is a great way 
to help community programs in the target areas to be successful in their outreach. I feel good 
knowing that I am doing some good for our community. I would like to continue serving to help 
Metro expand their reach to more grantees and work in collaboration with my fellow committee 
members to act as good stewards of the allocated Metro Central funds.   

 
Members of the Metro Central Enhancement Committee offer a wide variety of complementary skills 
and experiences.  Please describe your relevant knowledge and experience. 
 

Application review begins 
September 30, 2014 

mailto:HeatherNelson.Kent@oregonmetro.gov


First, I would describe my leadership style and strengths as a collaborator, goal oriented and 
one who organizes and strives to connect groups to achieve a common goal.  
 
The qualifications I would contribute to this appointment is over 15 years of experience as 
professional Project Manager where I am responsible for working closely with various different 
business area and our external partners to achieve the company’s goals. I also served the 
public as Chair of the Friends of Cathedral Park Neighborhood Association for the past several 
years and in previous various community efforts which provides me a good understanding of the 
community needs and how those needs can be fulfilled.  
 
 
Please explain how you keep informed and aware of the community’s diverse needs and priorities.  
Summarize any relevant experience working with people of varied backgrounds  

 
• Established a Cathedral Park Neighborhood Facebook page to help me get a pulse on 

the neighborhood 
• Active participant on the St. John’s Neighborhood Facebook page  
• Work closely with other St. John’s Community Leaders and maintain ongoing 

communication 
• Chair of the Friends of the Cathedral Park Neighborhood Association (FCPNA) till 2014 
• Regularly read both the St. John’s review & the Portland Tribune  
• As a hobby, I also read about the history of Portland    

 

As a professional project manager I work with various departments and people at different 
hierarchal levels from the CIO down to the customer service representatives. While on the 
Sitton Elementary School Site Counsel I worked on a variety of Title 1 school issues as a 
representative of our economically disadvantaged school population. My time as a Public 
Advisory Committee member for Cathedra Park Master Plan required me to work with various 
constituencies to create the plan and ensure it meets the public needs. This has all been greatly 
expanded in my role as Chair of the Friends of Cathedral Park Neighborhood Association.  
 
 
Do you anticipate any conflicts of interest that might require you to excuse yourself from the review 
of any potential project?  For example, do you or an immediate family member staff or sit on the 
board of an organization that might seek a grant from this program? Are you a consultant that might 
be interested in submitting a proposal for the type of work that this program funds? Please explain. 
 

No conflicts  



FOREST PARK NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION 
2257 NW Raleigh Street 

November 19,2014 

Heather Nelson Kent 
Grants Program Manager 
Metro 
600 NE Grand Ave 
Portland, OR 97232-2736 

Dear Heather, 

Portland, Oregon 97210 

At the November 18, 2014 regular Forest Park Neighborhood Association monthly meeting, the 
board voted unanimously to nominate Jennifer Jako to represent us on the Metro Central 
Enhancement Committee. We are very pleased to recommend Jennifer for this position, and are· 
confident that she will be a valuable resource to the committee. 

Sincerely, 

, .~-A-
a snickle, President 
Forest Park Neighborhood Association 



 
 
	  

Metro	  Central	  Enhancement	  Program	  	  
Committee	  interest	  form	  

	  
Please	  return	  completed	  two-‐page	  application	  to:	   	  
Metro	  Regional	  Center	   	  
Attn:	  Heather	  Nelson	  Kent	  
600	  NE	  Grand	  Ave.	  Portland,	  OR	  97232	  
503-‐797-‐1939	  
Email:	  HeatherNelson.Kent@oregonmetro.gov	  	   	  
	  
Information	  	  
	  
Name:	  Jennifer	  Jako	   	   	  
	  
Organization	  or	  business	  (optional):	  	   	   	   	  
	  
Mailing	  address:	  2107	  NW	  Walmer	  Dr.	   	   	  
	  	   	   	   	  
City:	  Portland	   State:	  OR	   Zip:	  97229	  
	  
Preferred	  phone:	  503-‐544-‐4757	  Email	  :	  jjakofix@gmail.com	  
	  
Residential	  address:	  2107	  NW	  Walmer	  Dr.,	  Portland,	  OR	  97229	  
	  
Check	  one:	  
_X_Forest	  Park	  Neighborhood	  Association	  	  
___	  Friends	  of	  Cathedral	  Park	  
___	  Linnton	  Neighborhood	  Association	  

___Northwest	  District	  Neighborhood	  Association	  	  
___Northwest	  Industrial	  area	  (NINA)	  

	  
Metro	  strives	  for	  membership	  on	  its	  committee	  that	  reflects	  the	  diversity	  of	  the	  Portland	  metro	  region.	  
The	  following	  information	  is	  voluntary:	  
	  
Gender:	  F	  	  	  	  	  	  	  Age:	  41	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  Ethnicity:	  Caucasian	   	  
	  
Briefly	  describe	  your	  interest	  in	  the	  Metro	  Central	  Enhancement	  Committee	  and	  why	  you	  would	  like	  
to	  serve.	  
Serving	  in	  the	  Metro	  Central	  Enhancement	  Committee	  is	  an	  opportunity	  for	  me	  to	  give	  back	  to	  my	  
community	  within	  a	  time	  commitment	  that	  works	  for	  my	  schedule.	  	  	  I	  have	  been	  living	  in	  Forest	  Park	  
Neighborhood	  for	  a	  little	  more	  than	  three	  years.	  	  I	  am	  a	  neighborhood	  small	  business	  owner,	  and	  a	  
community	  member	  who	  cares	  about	  my	  neighborhood,	  its	  environment,	  and	  its	  livability.	  	  Serving	  on	  
this	  Metro	  Committee	  will	  give	  me	  an	  opportunity	  to	  ensure	  our	  neighborhood’s	  diverse	  needs	  are	  
considered.	   	  

Members	  of	  the	  Metro	  Central	  Enhancement	  Committee	  offer	  a	  wide	  variety	  of	  complementary	  skills	  
and	  experiences.	  	  Please	  describe	  your	  relevant	  knowledge	  and	  experience.	  
My	  relevant	  knowledge	  and	  experience	  are	  the	  following:	  	  
-‐20	  years	  as	  a	  public	  health	  advocate	  which	  has	  involved	  public	  speaking,	  conducting	  press	  conferences,	  
grant	  writing,	  teaching	  diverse	  communities,	  and	  serving	  on	  boards	  of	  directors.	  

Application	  review	  begins	  
September	  30,	  2014	  



-‐	  4	  years	  as	  the	  Communications	  Director	  for	  The	  ReBuilding	  Center,	  a	  building	  materials	  recycling	  center	  
non-‐profit	  which	  focuses	  on	  the	  triple	  bottom	  line,	  social,	  environmental	  and	  financial	  good	  of	  the	  
community.	  

-‐	  8	  years	  on	  the	  neighborhood	  board	  for	  Eliot	  Neighborhood	  which	  gave	  me	  a	  context	  for	  the	  grass	  roots	  
communication	  and	  outreach	  efforts	  required	  to	  gain	  consensus.	  It	  also	  gave	  me	  valuable	  experience	  
working	  with	  diverse	  neighbors	  and	  developed	  my	  skills	  with	  diplomacy.	  

	  
Please	  explain	  how	  you	  keep	  informed	  and	  aware	  of	  the	  community’s	  diverse	  needs	  and	  priorities.	  	  
Summarize	  any	  relevant	  experience	  working	  with	  people	  of	  varied	  backgrounds	  	  
I	  read	  the	  neighborhood	  newspaper,	  am	  on	  multiple	  local	  email	  and	  newsletter	  lists,	  and	  keep	  tabs	  on	  
my	  local	  area	  through	  social	  media	  as	  well.	  I	  connect	  with	  and	  listen	  to	  neighbors	  –	  I	  have	  friends	  who	  
live	  throughout	  the	  area	  the	  Metro	  Committee	  concerns	  -‐	  regarding	  the	  different	  concerns	  going	  on	  in	  
their	  respective	  neighborhoods.	  	  
I	  have	  extensive	  experience	  working	  with	  people	  of	  varied	  socioeconomic,	  ethnic	  and	  cultural	  
backgrounds	  in	  the	  many	  years	  I	  have	  done	  work	  for	  social	  benefit.	  I	  feel	  comfortable	  in	  dialog	  with	  any	  
demographic	  and	  feel	  I	  can	  accurately	  represent	  concerns	  that	  are	  not	  my	  own.	   	  

	  
	  
Do	  you	  anticipate	  any	  conflicts	  of	  interest	  that	  might	  require	  you	  to	  excuse	  yourself	  from	  the	  review	  
of	  any	  potential	  project?	  	  For	  example,	  do	  you	  or	  an	  immediate	  family	  member	  staff	  or	  sit	  on	  the	  
board	  of	  an	  organization	  that	  might	  seek	  a	  grant	  from	  this	  program?	  Are	  you	  a	  consultant	  that	  might	  
be	  interested	  in	  submitting	  a	  proposal	  for	  the	  type	  of	  work	  that	  this	  program	  funds?	  Please	  explain.	  
I	  do	  not	  anticipate	  any	  conflicts	  of	  interest	  that	  may	  require	  me	  to	  excuse	  myself	  from	  the	  review	  of	  a	  
potential	  project.	  	  During	  the	  time	  I	  served,	  were	  I	  to	  engage	  with	  a	  Board	  of	  Directors	  or	  consulting	  
endeavor	  that	  would	  constitute	  a	  conflict,	  I	  would	  inform	  the	  Metro	  Committee.	  

	   	  
 



LINNTON NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION 
10614 NW St Helens Rd 

September 17, 2014 

Ms Heather Nelson Kent 
Grants Program Manager 
Metro 
600 NE Grand Ave. 
Portland, OR 97232-2736 

Portland, Oregon 97231 

Re: metro central cnhancenlcent grants committee 

Dear Ms. Kent: 

The Linnton Neighborhood Association board has selected Art Wagner as our 
representative on the Metro Central Enhancement Grants Committee. 

We appreciate the opportunity to participate in the grant process and look forward to 
working with Metro. 

,Edward Jones, 
Chair 
Linnton Neighborhood Association 

"Working together to build a glorious future for people and industry in Linnton" 



~ Metro I Making a great place 

Metro Central Enhancement Program 
Committee interest form 

Please return completed two-page application to: 
Metro Regional Center 
Attn: Heather Nelson Kent 
600 NE Grand Ave. Portland, OR 97232 
503-797-1939 
Email: HeatherNelson.Kent@oregonmelro.gov 

Information 

Application review begins 
September 30, 2014 

I Ii 
o rga n izalio nor busi ness (0 plio na I): _--'-"-+--,,-"-"-+--f.,c_!--,--,,",,-~4~! ~-f-f~:w' '_-'-)-f! ','-., --,--,,-_1-'., ~,-,~(-,-!_--,-!-,.f_: -,I--,-"A 

~'\ 

/'" i / 
City: -L-I.-'--.-"---"'-' ,--+,'+-j -I-f.---'{..Jc!_' ____ _ 

/ /-
Slate: --f-f---'~- Zi p: -f-I_' "----'-')'--'".'-1 __ _ 

Preferred ph 0 ne: _-'..ic--"--'..ic __ -,---,-'_':-,->_'-,-/""J..,. J Email: --"'~-'--'-i-:::c'i-:::c'-'-L--'-~-'--'-L'---'--'--'--'-'--'--

Check one: 
_Forest Park Neighborhood Association 

Friends of Cathedral Park 

" Unnton Neighborhood Association 

I- '. '-' it ,j;: } ! _-"l / /( / /:- /' /'/ 

_Northwest District Neighborhood Association 

_Northwest Industrial area (NINA) 

/"" 

Metro strives for membership on its committee that reflects the diversity of the Portland metro region. 
The following information is voluntary: 

Gender: _i-:::c'l-,-/_! ,,---,Age:':. Eth nicity: _--,---,,---,-/ ___ '"--'-'--'~~ ___________ _ 

Briefly describe your interest in the Metro Central Enhancement Committee and why you would like 

/ '// 

/f 
f, j 

,,,j 
,/(, , 

/ 

'7::' /J, /' 

/ 



/ 
l·c ?:>~ 

I i 

! (i' 1/ ,/ , / ,/ , c ! (£ 

Please explain how you keep informed and aware of the community's diverse needs and priorities. 
Summarize ,any ~elevant experience working with people of varied backgrounds 

/ /" d / .-1 /j. ltti/ .j(, !~' ,;of' _';~ tc 
!< {! 

/ 
{ -, {;/ 

( 

Do you anticipate any conflicts of interest that might require you to excuse yourself from the review 
of any potential project? For example, do you or an immediate family member staff or sit on the 
board of an organization that might seek a grant from this program? Are you a conSUltant that might 
be interested in submitting, a proposal for the type of work that this program funds? Please explain. 

/ /: / 

/ if 

! 

J 



NW Indu5trial Neighborhood As5OCia~on 

Heather Nelson Clark 
Metro Regional Center 
600 NE Grand Avenue 
Portland, Oregon 97232 

October 10, 2014 

On behalf of the Northwest Industrial Neighborhood Association, I am pleased to 
nominate Austin Peterson to serve on the Metro Central Enhancement Committee. 

Sincerely, 

Harold Hutchinson 

President, Northwest Industrial Neighborhood Association 
2257 NW Raleigh 
Portland, Oregon 97210 



 

 

 
Metro Central Enhancement Program  

Committee interest form 
 

Please return completed two-page application to:  
Metro Regional Center  
Attn: Heather Nelson Kent 
600 NE Grand Ave. Portland, OR 97232 
503-797-1939 
Email: HeatherNelson.Kent@oregonmetro.gov   
 
Information  
 
Name: Austin Peterson    
 
Organization or business (optional): NINA    
 
Mailing address: 2211 NW Brewer St    
     
City: Portland  State: OR  Zip: 97210  
 
Preferred phone: 503-778-6648   Email : austin.peterson@escocorp.com    
 
Residential address: same as above    
 
Check one: 
___Forest Park Neighborhood Association  

___ Friends of Cathedral Park 

___ Linnton Neighborhood Association 

___Northwest District Neighborhood Association  

_X__Northwest Industrial area (NINA) 

 
Metro strives for membership on its committee that reflects the diversity of the Portland metro region. 
The following information is voluntary: 
 
Gender: Male  Age: 34          Ethnicity:  Caucasian  
 
Briefly describe your interest in the Metro Central Enhancement Committee and why you would like 
to serve. 
I spend most of my time in NW Portland and am interested in helping to make it a more livable 
community.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Application review begins 
September 30, 2014 

mailto:HeatherNelson.Kent@oregonmetro.gov


  

Members of the Metro Central Enhancement Committee offer a wide variety of complementary skills 
and experiences.  Please describe your relevant knowledge and experience. 
I am a site manager for a large industrial manufacturer, I review countless proposals, have served on 
many boards and committees and have been part of grant applications in the past  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
 
 
Please explain how you keep informed and aware of the community’s diverse needs and priorities.  
Summarize any relevant experience working with people of varied backgrounds  
As a former president of a neighborhood association I have been exposed to many of the diverse 
interest groups in the city.  I work in a very industrial setting and live in a more residential setting.  Each 
area has its own diverse needs and very different populations.  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
 
 
Do you anticipate any conflicts of interest that might require you to excuse yourself from the review 
of any potential project?  For example, do you or an immediate family member staff or sit on the 
board of an organization that might seek a grant from this program? Are you a consultant that might 
be interested in submitting a proposal for the type of work that this program funds? Please explain. 
Nope  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  



~.(f: Northwest District Association 
~,~ 

September 29,2014 

Ms. Heather Nelson Kent 
Nature in Neighborhoods Grants Program Manager 

Metro 
600 NE Grand Ave. 
Portland, OR 97232-2736 

Subject: Neighborhood Representative for Metro Central Enhancement Committee 

Dear Heather, 

As we discussed, please allow this letter to serve as written confimlation that Brad 
Houle was formally approved by the Northwest District Association ("NWDA") as 
its representative to the Metro Central Enhancement Conunittee. The NWDA Board 
of Directors approved Mr. Houle's appointment at its meeting held on September 15, 
2014, and I understand that he will forward his committee membership application 

directly to you. 

Please let me know if you need anything further on this. 

Northwest District Association 

The Northwest District Association is a 501 (C)3 tax-exempt organization. 

Board of Directors 
2014-2015 

President 
Gustavo Cruz 

1 st Vice President 
Juliet Hyams 

2nd Vice President 
Ron Walters 

Secretary 
Karen Karlsson 

Treasurer 
WayneWirta 

Board Members 
C'arla Charlton 
Wendy Chung 

Rodger Eddy 
Don Genasci 

Rebecca Hamilton 
Brad Houle 

Phil Selinger 
Kathy Sharp 

Page Stockwell 
Bill Welch 

2257 NW Raleigh St. Portland. OR 97210 • 503-823-4288 contact@northwestdistrictassociation .org • northwestd istrictassociation.org 



 

 

 
Metro Central Enhancement Program  

Committee interest form 
 

Please return completed two-page application to:  
Metro Regional Center  
Attn: Heather Nelson Kent 
600 NE Grand Ave. Portland, OR 97232 
503-797-1939 
Email: HeatherNelson.Kent@oregonmetro.gov   
 
Information  
 
Name:     
 
Organization or business (optional):     
 
Mailing address:     
     
City:   State:   Zip:   
 
Preferred phone:    Email :     
 
Residential address:     
 
Check one: 
___Forest Park Neighborhood Association  

___ Friends of Cathedral Park 

___ Linnton Neighborhood Association 

___Northwest District Neighborhood Association  

___Northwest Industrial area (NINA) 

 
Metro strives for membership on its committee that reflects the diversity of the Portland metro region. 
The following information is voluntary: 
 
Gender:   Age:           Ethnicity:    
 
Briefly describe your interest in the Metro Central Enhancement Committee and why you would like 
to serve. 
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Application review begins 
September 30, 2014 

mailto:HeatherNelson.Kent@oregonmetro.gov
brad
Typewritten Text
Brad Houle

brad
Typewritten Text
Ferguson Wellman Capital Management 

brad
Typewritten Text
  888 SW 5th Avenue

brad
Typewritten Text
Portland

brad
Typewritten Text
OR

brad
Typewritten Text
97204

brad
Typewritten Text
503-502-9560

brad
Typewritten Text
2353 NW Quimby Portland, OR 97210

brad
Typewritten Text
houle@fergwell.com

brad
Typewritten Text
x

brad
Typewritten Text
male

brad
Typewritten Text
45	

brad
Typewritten Text
Caucasian

brad
Typewritten Text
I am interested in the quality of life in Portland and livability.  It would be a privilege to be able to learn about all the creative   

brad
Typewritten Text
ideas the grant applicants have to make Portland a better place. 

brad
Typewritten Text
It would be gratifying having a small part helping 

brad
Typewritten Text
these ideas 

brad
Typewritten Text
to be implemented.  



Members of the Metro Central Enhancement Committee offer a wide variety of complementary skills 
and experiences.  Please describe your relevant knowledge and experience. 
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
 
 
Please explain how you keep informed and aware of the community’s diverse needs and priorities.  
Summarize any relevant experience working with people of varied backgrounds  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
 
 
Do you anticipate any conflicts of interest that might require you to excuse yourself from the review 
of any potential project?  For example, do you or an immediate family member staff or sit on the 
board of an organization that might seek a grant from this program? Are you a consultant that might 
be interested in submitting a proposal for the type of work that this program funds? Please explain. 
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
 

brad
Typewritten Text
I forsee no conflicts of interest. 

brad
Typewritten Text
I have extensive experience serving on non-profit boards.  I am presently on the board of SE Works.  SE Works is an 

brad
Typewritten Text
organization that offers a wide variety of job training and placement services for the unemployed and recent 

brad
Typewritten Text
immigrants. SE Works also has a prisioner reentry program for people recently released from the correctional system. 

brad
Typewritten Text
Also, the organization also offers a GED program for high risk youth.  Also, for my day job I manage investments for 

brad
Typewritten Text
a number of non-profit organizations.  I have a good understanding of how non-profits run 

brad
Typewritten Text
 with a paricular understanding

brad
Typewritten Text
of the financial challenges that organizations can face. 

brad
Typewritten Text
I am an avid reader of local media and through my involvement in the Northwest District Association I have a good 

brad
Typewritten Text
understanding of what is happening in the community.  I have extensive experience  working with a people of varied 

brad
Typewritten Text
  backgrounds from my professional life as well as my non-profit experience.  With SE Works we are serving the unemployed,

brad
Typewritten Text
recent immigrants,  persons with criminal backgrounds as well as high risk youth.  Professionally,  I have managed        

brad
Typewritten Text
investments for non-profits of all types, city and county governments,  labor unions and in addition to Native American tribes.  

brad
Typewritten Text
I think this perspective gives me broad perspective into the needs of different demographics within the community

brad
Typewritten Text




Agenda Item No. 2.2  

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 14-4584, For the Purpose of Amending the 
Fiscal Year 2013-15 Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) to 

Add the Behavior-Based Freight Model Project 
 
 

Consent  Agenda  

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF AMENDING THE 
FISCAL YEAR 2013-15 UNIFIED PLANNING 
WORK PROGRAM (UPWP) TO ADD FUNDING 
FOR THE BEHAVIOR-BASED FREIGHT 
MODEL PROJECT 

) 
) 
) 
) 

 RESOLUTION NO. 14-4584 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating Officer Martha 
Bennett with the concurrence of Council 
President Tom Hughes  

 
 

 WHEREAS, the Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) describes all Federally-funded 
transportation planning activities for the Portland-Vancouver metropolitan area to be conducted in FY 
2013-15; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the FY 2013-15 UPWP indicates Federal funding sources for transportation 
planning activities carried out by Metro, Southwest Washington Regional Transportation Council, 
Clackamas County and its cities, Multnomah County and its cities, Washington County and its cities, 
TriMet, and the Oregon Department of Transportation; and 
 
 WHEREAS, approval of the FY 2013-15 UPWP is required to receive Federal transportation 
planning funds; and 
  
 WHEREAS,  the Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation (JPACT) and Metro 
Council approved the 2013-15 UPWP update in May of 2014 as a two year work plan; and 
 
  WHEREAS, this resolution amends the FY 2013-15 UPWP to include one new project: 

1. Behavior Based Freight Model 
  

WHERAS, a SHRP-2 grant was recently awarded for this project and therefore the Behavior-
Based Freight Model was not included in the adopted FY 2013-15 UPWP.  

 
WHEREAS, all Federally-funded transportation planning projects for the Portland-Vancouver 

metropolitan area must be included in the FY 2013-15 UPWP; now therefore 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED that the Metro Council hereby amends the FY 2013-15 UPWP to add the 
Behavior Based Freight Model project as shown in the attached Exhibit A. 
 
 
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this _____ day of  2014. 
 
 
 

 
Tom Hughes, Council President 

 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
       
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



Exhibit A 

FY 2014-15 UPWP  Page 30 

Behavior-Based Freight Model 

Project Description for Unified Planning Work Program 
 
 
Description: 

This project will replace Metro’s current trip-based truck model that utilizes fixed commodity flows with 
a truck tour model designed to reflect decisions made by shippers, receivers, truck operators, terminal 
managers, and others.   The model will simulate movement of individual shipments throughout the 
supply chain, including transshipment facilities.   Shipments are allocated to truck of various classes, and 
the movements of all freight vehicles are simulated over the course of a typical weekday.   Metro’s 
freight model will also be coordinated with the economic and commercial transport modules of the 
Statewide Integrated Model (SWIM2). 
 
Metro was selected to receive one of four Freight Model Implementation Assistance grants under the 
federal SHRP2 C20 Freight Demand Modeling and Data Improvement Project.   These funds will be used 
for model development.    Model development and implementation will require collection of behavioral 
data from shippers and receivers representing a wide range of industries, common and contract freight 
carriers, business that operate non-freight commercial vehicles, warehouse managers, and logistics 
agents.  The establishment surveys will gather data about industry type and size, commodities shipped 
and received, shipment size and frequency, and truck fleet data.  Truck operators will be asked to 
complete diaries that provide details on all truck movements, including type and quantity of goods 
delivered and picked up at each stop, over a 24-hr period.  Additional freight data, such as GPS truck 
tracking data and truck counts may also be collected.   Freight data collection will be funded with 
Surface Transportation Program (STP) as part of the MTIP Regional Freight Analysis and Project 
Development program, in an amount to be determined at a later time.   

 
Objectives: 
Develop tools to enable a more comprehensive analysis of infrastructure needs and policy choices 
pertaining to the movements of goods.  The following are examples: 

• Infrastructure needs to support the region’s export sectors 
• Effects of vehicle length or weight restrictions on roads and bridges 
• Local market potential for electric-powered freight vehicles 
• Policies that affect location of warehouse and distribution facilities 

 
Develop more detailed network assignments by truck type, which support regional environmental 
analysis, as well as local traffic operations and engineering analysis. 
 
Develop freight forecasts that are responsive to changes in economic forecasts, changing growth rates 
among industrial sectors, and changing rates of economic exchange and commodity flows between 
sectors. 
 
Replace trip-based truck model with more realistic tour-based model. 
 
 
 
 



Exhibit A 

FY 2014-15 UPWP  Page 31 

Previous Work: 

The current truck model was initially implemented in 2002, based on commodity flow forecasts 
prepared for the Port of Portland and derived from the federal Freight Analysis Framework (FAF).   A 
major model enhancement occurred in 2007, using data obtained in the Portland Freight Data Collection 
Project, including extensive vehicle classification counts, origin-destination surveys, and estimates of 
activity at transshipment facilities.  The truck model was most recently updated in December, 2013 
using new commodity flow forecasts prepared for the Port of Portland, Metro, and other partner 
agencies.   They include commodity flow estimates for the 2010 base year, and forecasts for 2020, 2030, 
and 2040 based on FAF3 and TransSearch databases. 
 
Methodology: 

Metro will implement a metropolitan truck tour model using the framework developed for Federal 
Highway Administration (FHWA), and previously implemented as a metropolitan demonstration project 
for the Chicago Metropolitan Agency for Planning (CMAP) and implemented in a statewide application 
for the Florida Department of Transportation.  The model specification will be customized for our region 
and model parameters will be re-estimated using data to be collected in a locally-funded establishment 
survey.   The model will exchange data with Oregon’s Statewide Integrated Model (SWIM2), utilizing 
simulated commodity flows between industrial sectors as regional control totals and allocating external 
flows into and out of the region to local producer and consumer entities, consistent with state and 
regional economic forecasts. 
 
The SHRP2 C20 funds will be used to hire qualified consultants to 1) develop Model Implementation and 
Data Plans, 2) transfer the current FHWA truck tour model framework to our region, 3) update the 
model specification and re-estimate parameters using local surveys, and 4) add model components to 
simulate movement of heavier classes of non-goods commercial vehicles (e.g., utility, construction), for 
which data will also be obtained in the local surveys. 
 
The STP funds will be used to implement the Data Plan.   Qualified consultants will be hired to 1) design, 
test, and conduct business establishment surveys and truck diary surveys and utilize other instruments 
to obtain behavioral data for model specification and parameter estimation, 2) collect truck counts, 
vehicle tracking data and other data for model calibration, and 3) prepare a report summarizing data 
methodology and results.   STP and local matching funds will be used to develop land use, economic, 
demographic, and freight network infrastructure data for use in model development. 
 
The consultants will be required to: 

1. Prepare an Implementation Plan, detailing initial demonstration  model transfer, software 
requirements, integration into the current Metro travel models, SWIM2 data exchange, and 
desired enhancement/customization of the demonstration model; 

2. Prepare a Data Plan outlining all data needs including currently available land use, economic, 
demographic, and transport infrastructure data, desired behavioral data to be obtained in the 
establishment surveys and truck diaries, contingency data resources to be used if the local 
survey data are not available within the project time frame, or to fill in gaps for shipment types 
not adequately captured in the local survey, and both existing and desired data to be obtained 
for model calibration and validation, such as truck counts, GPS vehicle tracking data (e.g., ATRI), 
and a portion of the local survey data set.   A range of data options will be prepared, from 



Exhibit A 

FY 2014-15 UPWP  Page 32 

funding levels $250,000 to $450,000.   The funding amount will be determined by Metro 
following completion of this task. 

3. Implement the enhanced demonstration model, to include SWIM data integration and non-
freight commercial vehicles; 

4. Implement the Data Plan  
5. Prepare a memorandum describing key findings from the local surveys, with a plan for updating 

the model specification and re-estimating model parameters to reflect local behavior;  
6. Implement, calibrate and validate the updated model.  Both truck flows by vehicle type and 

shipments by commodity type will be validated;  
7. Provide monthly progress reports;  
8. Provide a final report. 

 
Tangible Products Expected in FY 2014-15: 

1. Model Implementation Plan 
2. Model Data Plan 
3. Survey Instruments 
4. Land Use, Economic, Demographic, and Infrastructure Data 
 

Tangible Products Expected in FY 2015-16: 
1. Initial Implementation of FHWA Demonstration Model 
2. Survey Report / Model Update Memorandum 
3. Calibrated and Validated Behavior-Based Freight Model 
4. Final Report 

 
 

Entity Responsible for Activity: 
Metro Research Center Project management, data  
Port of Portland Technical advisor, data, private sector outreach 
Oregon DOT Contract administration, technical advisor, data 
Southwest Washington Regional Transportation 
Council 

Technical advisor, data 

Port of Vancouver Technical advisor, data 
Washington State DOT Technical advisor, data 
 
Schedule for Completing Activities: 
Please refer to schedule information provided in the Tangible Products section of this planning activity 
description. 
 
FY 2014-15 Costs and Funding Sources: 

Requirements:    Resources:   
Personal Services $   SHRP2 C20 IAP $ 350,000 
Interfund Transfers $   STP $ TBD 
Materials & Services $ 350,000   $  
     $  
    Local Matching Funds $ TBD 



Exhibit A 

FY 2014-15 UPWP  Page 33 

TOTAL $   
TOTAL $  

       
Full-Time Equivalent Staffing       
Regular Full-Time FTE       

TOTAL 
      

 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4584 

    STAFF REPORT 
 

IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 14-4584, FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
AMENDING THE FY 2013-15 UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM (UPWP) TO ADD 
THE BEHAVIOR-BASED FREIGHT MODEL PROJECT. 

              
 
Date: September 5, 2014 Prepared by: Chris Myers 
 (503) 813-7554 
 

BACKGROUND 

On May 1, 2014, the Metro Council adopted the FY 2013-15 Unified Planning Work Program 
(UPWP) Update via Resolution No. 14-4514 (“FOR THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING THE FISCAL 
YEAR 2013-15 UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM AND CERTIFYING THAT THE 
PORTLAND METROPOLITAN AREA IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE FEDERAL 
TRANSPORTATION PLANNING REQUIREMENTS”).  
 
This resolution is an amendment to the FY 2013-15 UPWP Update to add the Behavior Based Freight 
Model Project. This project was awarded funds by the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) after 
adoption of the FY 2013-15 UPWP. Per federal requirements, all transportation planning projects that are 
federally funded are required to be included in the UPWP. The proposed UPWP narrative for the 
Behavior Based Freight Model Project is included in Exhibit A. 
 
ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 

1. Known Opposition – No known opposition 

2. Legal Antecedents – Metro Council Resolution No. 14-4514: FOR THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING 
THE FISCAL YEAR 2013-15 UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM AND CERTIFYING 
THAT THE PORTLAND METROPOLITAN AREA IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE FEDERAL 
TRANSPORTATION PLANNING REQUIREMENTS, adopted by the Metro Council on May 1, 
2014. 

3. Anticipated Effects – Approval will mean that grants can be submitted and contracts executed so 
work can commence on this project between now and June 30, 2015, in accordance with established 
Metro priorities. 

4. Budget Impacts – New grant funding not included in 2014-15 Metro budget. No new expenditures. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve Resolution No. 14-4584 and amend the FY 2013-15 UPWP. 



Agenda Item No. 2.3 

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 14-4585, For the Purpose of Amending the 
Fiscal Year 2013-2015 Unified Planning Work Program 

(UPWP): Regional Over-Dimensional Truck Route Study 
 
 

Consent  Agenda  

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



 BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF AMENDING THE FISCAL 
YEAR 2013-15 UNIFIED PLANNING WORK 
PROGRAM (UPWP): REGIONAL OVER-
DIMENSIONAL TRUCK ROUTE STUDY 

) 
) 
) 
) 

 RESOLUTION NO. 14-4585 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating Officer 
Martha Bennett with the concurrence of 
Council President Tom Hughes  

 
WHEREAS, the Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) describes all Federally-funded 

transportation planning activities for the Portland-Vancouver metropolitan area to be conducted in 
FY 2013-15; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the FY 2013-15 UPWP indicates Federal funding sources for transportation 
planning activities carried out by Metro, Southwest Washington Regional Transportation Council, 
Clackamas County and its cities, Multnomah County and its cities, Washington County and its cities, 
TriMet, and the Oregon Department of Transportation; and 
 
 WHEREAS, approval of the FY 2013-15 UPWP is required to receive Federal transportation 
planning funds; and 
  
 WHEREAS,  the Joint Policy Advisory Committee on Transportation (JPACT) and Metro 
Council approved the 2013-15 UPWP update in May of 2014 as a two year work plan; and 
 
  WHEREAS, the Regional Over-Dimensional Truck Route Study needs an additional $25,000 
of federal funding to successfully complete the scope of work; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Regional Freight/Passenger Rail Study is not expected to utilize all of its 
initial $400,000 funding allocation to complete its scope of work and,  

 
WHEREAS, all Federally-funded transportation planning projects for the Portland-

Vancouver metropolitan area must be included in the FY 2013-15 UPWP; now therefore 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED that the Metro Council hereby amends the FY 2013-15 UPWP to 
reprogram $25,000 of Regional Flexible Funds from the Regional Rail Study to the Regional Over-
Dimensional Truck Route Study as shown in the attached Exhibit A. 
 
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this _____ day of 2014. 
 
 
 

 
Tom Hughes, Council President 

 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
       
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



Exhibit A 
 

Regional Over‐Dimensional Truck Route Study 
Description: 

Prepare a strategic plan for the efficient and safe movement of over-dimensional truck loads 
within and through the Portland Metro region. Identify and map the strategic routes for moving 
over-dimensional freight and identify the existing system constraints. Identify and recommend 
potential solutions and transportation improvement needs to maintain and enhance the efficient 
movement of regional over- dimensional freight. 

Objectives: 

• Identify and map the primary truck routes used for moving over-dimensional loads within 
and through the Portland Metro region. 

• Identify and document existing physical and operational constraints (i.e., low-clearance 
railroad crossings and bridge structures, utility lines, weight-restricted bridges, inadequate 
turning radius at key intersections, etc.) 

• Recommend transportation system improvements and planning-level cost estimates to 
remove identified constraints. 

 
Previous Work: 

In 2007, the Portland Bureau of Transportation conducted an analysis of over 6,000 state and city 
permit records issued in 2006 to define the existing nature of over-dimensional movements and 
the clearance requirements of permitted loads. The analysis found that construction equipment 
(cranes and excavators) along with log loaders and steel plates as the most commonly permitted 
commodities and account for more than half of the 
over-dimensional loads transported. The analysis also identified both the median and largest sized 
trucks using city streets to move these commodities in order to provide insight on the appropriate 
routing and minimum clearance requirements for these vehicles. 
 
While the orderly and efficient movement of these over-sized and over-weight commodities are 
crucial to the economic well being of the Metro region, their transport can create negative 
impacts to the local neighborhoods in respect to excessive roadway damage, noise, pollution and 
traffic congestion. 
 
The Washington County 2020 Transportation Plan strategy 16.1 calls for coordination of planning, 
development, maintenance and operation of an efficient and safe freight system with the private 
sector and government agencies in the Portland metropolitan area. Moreover, the adopted 
Portland Freight Master Plan calls for preparing a strategy for truck routes that serve the 
movement of over-dimensional loads as an implementing action. Developing a strategy to 
transfer the US 30 Bypass designation from Lombard to Columbia Blvd is also a recommended 
action in the Freight Master Plan to improve freight mobility and to enhance community livability 
in the St. Johns neighborhood. 

 
Since ODOT and the local jurisdictions issue separate permits for oversize and overweight loads, 
there is a need for a more comprehensive and consistent regional approached for routing over-
dimensional vehicles throughout the metro region and to identify current height restrictions and 
other operational constraints on the regional transportation network. 

Methodology: 

This project will identify the most commonly used and the preferred routes for the movement of 



Exhibit A 
 

over-dimensional vehicles and document the minimum clearance requirements to accommodate 
over-sized loads in the Metro region. The focus of this project will be to develop a seamless over-
dimensional vehicle route system that transcends jurisdictional boundaries. Physical and 
operational constraints that impede safe and efficient freight movement on identified regional 
truck routes will be defined and recommend transportation improvements and planning-level 
cost estimates to remove these constraints will be developed. 

 

Tangible Products Expected in FY 2013‐2015: 

The following outlines the major tasks and deliverables anticipated for this project: 
 

Task 1: Project Management 

Provide monthly progress reports, cost reports and reimbursement requests. Review consultant invoices, 
completion reports, cost summaries and list of final products. Identify and form the Project Management Team 
(PMT) and schedule up to six (6) PMT coordinating meetings.  Prepare a critical path schedule for project tasks and 
deliverables.  Review and provide comments on consultant deliverables. Prepare summaries of stakeholder 
meetings including agendas, information materials and comments. Prepare completion of project close-out. 
Task 2: Stakeholder Involvement 

Develop a review structure for local staff, stakeholder interests and partnering agencies to engage in the 
analysis and planning process. Provide adequate opportunity for stakeholder participation and input 
throughout the project duration and respond to stakeholder values and issues. Deliverable: Formation of 
Stakeholder Advisory Committee (SAC) membership and meeting schedules for up to five (5) SAC meetings.  
Conduct up to six (6) interviews with freight industry stakeholders to clarify and summarize the main 
transportation and operational issues associated with OD truck movements in the region. 

 
Task 3:  Existing Conditions Analysis 

Prepare a map of the most commonly used over-dimensional truck routes within and through the Portland 
Metro region. Prepare assessment of existing transportation infrastructure affecting over-dimensional 
truck movements (bridge structures, overhead signals, sign bridges, weight-restricted bridges, etc). 
Inventory existing bridge clearances and document the minimum clearance requirements to 
accommodate over- sized vehicles. Document existing local, State and regional policies and regulations 
affecting freight mobility and over-dimensional trucks within the Metro region. Deliverable: Background 
and Existing Conditions Analysis Technical Memo with associated maps and graphics that documents the 
types of over-dimensional commodities being moved and the conditions of the existing transportation 
infrastructure affecting over-dimensional truck movements. 

Task #4: Policy and Permitting Assessment 

Prepare a Technical Memorandum summarizing current practices and regulations for issuing over-
dimensional permits by state and local jurisdictions within the Metro region.  Identify potential 
opportunities for efficiencies within the current permitting system.  Deliverable: Prepare a Technical 
Memorandum summarizing the Policy Assessment.  Prepare a Technical Memorandum of the Over-
Dimensional Permitting Assessment that includes a summary describing the various permitting practices 
in the Metro region, and recommendations for potential permitting efficiencies. 

 
Task 5: Identify Needs, Constraints, and  Gaps  

Identify existing physical and operational constraints that impede safe and efficient over-dimensional truck 
movements within the Metro region. Identify conflicts between freight mobility and community livability 



Exhibit A 
 

issues based on existing local, State and regional policies, regulations and other conditions. Identify the 
constraints, opportunities, and related issues associated with transferring the US 30 Bypass to Columbia 
Blvd. Identify a range of potential solutions for addressing both over-dimension freight mobility and 
community livability needs within the Metro region. Deliverable: Prepare Systems Constraints, Gaps, and 
Project Needs Report. 

 
Task 6: Develop and Evaluate System Improvements and Alternatives  

Define and evaluate both potential capital transportation and operational improvements based on 
identified needs, constraints, opportunities, and solutions. Describe the required transportation 
improvements to accommodate the regional movement of over-dimensional vehicles. Deliverable: Prepare 
Technical Memo on the Transportation System Improvements Report. 

 
Task 7: Recommended Improvements and Cost Estimates  

Identify capital transportation improvements based on the evaluation of identified alternatives and 
prepare planning-level costs estimates. Prioritize and rank the identified capital improvements based on 
over-dimensional freight needs, freight mobility and community livability needs. Deliverable: Prepare a 
Recommendations and Implementation Report summarizing the recommendation improvements, including 
planning level cost estimates and project prioritization and implementation.  

 
Task 8: Final Report and Communications Materials  

Deliverable: Develop communication materials for conveying project related information and technical 
findings to identified key stakeholder groups.  Prepare a final report based on the collective analysis, 
findings and recommendations, including an executive summary and a technical appendix.  Present 
findings and recommendations in up to five (5) key stakeholder group meetings.  

  



Exhibit A 
 
Entities Responsible for Activity: 

The City of Portland will be the lead agency for this project. It is anticipated that a project consultant will 
conduct the technical planning and engineering analysis and cost estimates and final report preparation. 
The consultant 

Lead agencies/partners: 

Portland Bureau of Transportation - Lead Agency/Project Manager 
Metro - Partner agency 
Clackamas County - Partner agency 
Washington County - Partner agency 
Oregon Department of Transportation - Partner agency 
Other stakeholders: 

Portland Freight Committee 
Cities and counties in the Metro region 
Metro Regional Freight Technical Advisory Committee 
Port districts, including Port of Portland and Port of 
Vancouver Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) 
Community groups and organizations involved in climate planning, equity, land use and transportation issue 
 
Schedule for Completing Activities: 

It is anticipated this project will begin by December 1, 2014, or a later start date within the 2013-15 FY if 
stipulated by the agencies/partners identified above. The project duration is estimated to be 12 months 
long pending final approval of the proposed scope of work. 
Funding History: 

NA 
 

FY 2014‐15 Costs and Funding Sources: 
 

Requirements:    Resources:   

 $   STP  $125,000 

 $   Local Match   
$14,307 

       

TOTAL $ 111,44
5 

 TOTAL   
$139,307 

Full‐Time Equivalent 
 

        
  Regular Full-Time FTE   

TOTAL  NA 
 
 
 



Exhibit A 
 
 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4585 

    STAFF REPORT 
 

IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 14-4585, FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
AMENDING THE FY 2013-15 UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM (UPWP) TO 
REPROGRAM $25,000 OF REGIONAL FLEXIBLE FUNDS FROM THE REGIONAL RAIL 
STUDY TO THE REGIONAL OVER-DIMENSIONAL TRUCK ROUTE STUDY. 

              
 
Date: October 22, 2014 Prepared by: Chris Myers 
 (503) 813-7554 
 
BACKGROUND 

On May 1, 2014, the Metro Council adopted the FY 2013-15 Unified Planning Work 
Program(UPWP) Update via Resolution No. 14-4514 (“FOR THE PURPOSE OF ADOPTING 
THE FISCAL YEAR 2013-15 UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM AND CERTIFYING THAT 
THE PORTLAND METROPOLITAN AREA IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE FEDERAL 
TRANSPORTATION PLANNING REQUIREMENTS”).  
 
This resolution is an amendment to the FY 2013-15 UPWP Update to reprogram $25,000 of 
Regional Flexible Funds from the Regional Freight/Passenger Rail Study to the Regional 
Over-Dimensional Truck Route Study. This change in project budget requires a legislative 
amendment as the amount of new funds exceeds 20% of the total project budget. Per 
federal requirements, all transportation planning projects that are federally funded are 
required to be included in the UPWP. Proposed changes to the UPWP narrative for the 
Regional Over-Dimensional Truck Route Study are included in Exhibit A. 
 
A proposed administrative change to the 2014-15 Regional Freight allocation will amend 
the MTIP to reallocate $25,000 from the Regional Freight/Passenger Rail Study to the 
Regional Over-dimensional Truck Route Study. The current 2014-15 Regional Freight 
allocation is for $500,000, with $400,000 allocated to the Regional Freight/Passenger Rail 
Study, and $100,000 allocated to the Regional Over-dimensional Truck Route Study. 
 
The reason for this administrative change is that in light of the completion of the Port of 
Portland Rail Plan (September, 9, 2013) and the Oregon State Rail Plan (adopted 
September 18, 2014), there is a need to reevaluate the questions that should be answered 
in the scope of work for the Regional Freight/Passenger Rail Study. The remaining 
$375,000 allocation will be adequate for any Regional Freight/Passenger Rail Study that 
still needs to be completed and/or other Regional Freight needs within the 2014-15 
funding cycle 
 
ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 

1. Known Opposition – No known opposition 

2. Legal Antecedents – Metro Council Resolution No. 14-4514: FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
ADOPTING THE FISCAL YEAR 2013-15 UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM AND 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4585 

CERTIFYING THAT THE PORTLAND METROPOLITAN AREA IS IN COMPLIANCE WITH 
THE FEDERAL TRANSPORTATION PLANNING REQUIREMENTS, adopted by the Metro 
Council on May 1, 2014. 

3. Anticipated Effects – Approval will mean that grants can be submitted and contracts 
executed so work can commence on this project between now and June 30, 2015, in 
accordance with established Metro priorities. 

4. Budget Impacts – None anticipated. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve Resolution No. 14-4585 and amend the FY 2013-15 UPWP. 



Agenda Item No. 2.4  

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 14-4586, For the Purpose of Declaring the 
Plaza Building Surplus Property, Exempting the Tenant from 
Paying Excise Tax, and Authorizing the Execution of a Lease 

with Table 6 
 
 

Consent  Agenda  

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



Page 1 Resolution No. 14-4586 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF DECLARING THE 
PLAZA BUILDING SURPLUS PROPERTY, 
EXEMPTING THE TENANT FROM PAYING 
EXCISE TAX, AND AUTHORIZING THE             
EXECUTION OF A LEASE WITH TABLE 6 

) 
) 
) 
)
) 

 RESOLUTION NO. 14-4586 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating Officer Martha 
Bennett in concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes 

 
 WHEREAS, Metro owns and occupies the Metro Regional Center campus, located at 600 NE 
Grand Avenue, Portland, Oregon 97232-2736 (the “MRC”), which includes a self-contained retail space 
situated in the northwest corner of the MRC known as the “Plaza Building;”  
 
 WHEREAS, Metro currently does not use the Plaza Building for its operations and has leased the 
Plaza Building in the past to tenants that served food and beverages to the public;  
 
 WHEREAS, Table 6 desires to lease the Plaza Building from Metro at a rate that is sustainable 
for its business model focusing on the preferences for food and beverages of employees of MRC, and 
Metro desires to lease the Plaza Building to Table 6 on the terms of the proposed lease attached as Exhibit 
A to this Resolution; 
 

WHEREAS, under the proposed lease, Table 6 will make lease payments directly to Metro and 
under Metro Code Chapter 7.01.025(b), Metro’s excise tax will be presumed to be included in these lease 
payments; and 

 
WHEREAS, Table 6 does not anticipate paying additional Metro excise tax on its gross revenues 

or any additional amount of excise tax that could be assessed in excess of the lease payments; therefore 
  
 BE IT RESOLVED that the Metro Council hereby: 

1. Declares the Plaza Building surplus property because it is not needed for public use during 
the term of the proposed lease; 

2. Exempts Table 6 from Metro excise tax on operators and users of Metro facilities; and 
3. Authorizes the Chief Executive Officer to enter into a lease agreement with Table 6 similar to 

the lease agreement attached as Exhibit A, or with those changes approved by the Office of 
Metro Attorney. 

ADOPTED by the Metro Council this 4th day of December 2014. 
 

 
 
 
 
Tom Hughes, Council President 

 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
       
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



 

 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RETAIL LEASE  

Between:  

Metro, an Oregon municipal corporation 
 

(“Landlord

and  

”)  

Table 6, a sole proprietorship 
 

 (“Tenant

  

”) 

Dated December ___, 2014 
 

 
METRO CONTRACT NO. __________________ 

 
 
 
 



Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 1 
 

Following is a summary of the basic provisions contained in the Lease. In the event of any conflict between 
any provision contained in this Summary and a provision contained in the balance of the Lease, the latter shall 
control.  

SUMMARY OF FUNDAMENTAL PROVISIONS  

 
A. Name of Landlord: Metro, an Oregon municipal corporation 

B. Address, Facsimile Number, and 
E-mail for Notices to Landlord: 

600 NE Grand Ave.  
Portland, OR  97232 
Attn: Rory Greenfield, Facilities Manager  
Email: Rory.Greenfield@OregonMetro.gov 
Phone: 503.797.1815    

C. Address for Rent Payments: 600 NE Grand Ave. 
Portland OR  97232 
Attn: Accounts Payable 
 

D. Name of Tenant and Address of 
Premises: 

Table 6, a sole proprietorship 
 
 

E. Address, Facsimile Number, and 
E-mail for Notices to Tenant: 

Table 6 c/o Cynthia Hymer 
 9628 N. Smith St.                                                                                                           
 Portland, Oregon 97203                                                                                                           
 hymerfamily@gmail.com                                                                                                           
 

F. Trade Name Under Which 
Tenant Will Operate at Premises: 

 
Table 6  

G. Business To Be Conducted By 
Tenant at Premises 

Restaurant and catering with counter and/or table service, selling 
food and beverages to eat in or to take-out, and for no other 
purpose.   

H.  Approximate Floor Area of 
Premises: 

 
1,600 s.f. 

I. Lease Term: Three years (subject to the options to extend as set forth in 
Exhibit B

J. 

 to this Lease). 

Estimated Commencement Date: December 8, 2014 

K. Base Rent: See Section 2 

L. Security Deposit: None 

 

 

 

   



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 3 
   
   

RETAIL LEASE 

THIS LEASE is entered into this                   day of December, 2014, between Metro, an Oregon municipal 
corporation (“Landlord”), and Table 6, a sole proprietorship (“Tenant

Landlord owns a self-contained retail space (the “

”).  

Plaza Building”) in the northwest corner of the Metro 
Regional Center located at 600 NE Grand Avenue, Portland, Oregon (the “MRC” or the “Property”).  Landlord 
hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord the Plaza Building consisting of approximately 
1,600 square feet, as depicted on the attached Exhibit A (the “Premises

1. TERM  

”) on the terms and conditions set forth in 
this Lease.  

(a)  Initial Term.  The term of this Lease (the “Term”) shall be for a period of thirty-six (36) months, 
commencing on the date that this Lease is executed by and delivered to both parties (the “Commencement Date

(b) 

”). If 
the first day of the Term is not the first day of a calendar month, then the Term shall be extended by the number of 
days between the Commencement Date of this Lease and the first day of the first calendar month thereafter, so that 
the Term shall expire at the end of a calendar month.  

Option to Extend Term.  See Exhibit B

2. RENT  

.  

Beginning on the Commencement Date and continuing during the entire Term, Tenant shall pay to Landlord as rent 
for each “Lease Year,” “Base Rent” as defined in this Section. The term “Lease Year

(a) Base Rent  

” shall mean the period from 
the Commencement Date through the first December 31 following the Commencement Date, January 1 through 
December 31 for each subsequent full calendar year during the Term, and January 1 to the end of the Term for the 
final Lease Year.  All Rent shall be paid when due without notice, offset, or deduction or for any reason.  

The initial monthly Base Rent during the Term (“Base Rent”) shall be $200.00.   Effective January 1, 2016, the 
new monthly Base Rent shall be $500.00.   Base Rent shall be paid in advance on or before the tenth (10th) day of 
each calendar month during the Term, except for the first (1st) calendar month which shall be paid upon execution of 
this Lease.  If the first (1st

(b) Income Statement 

) month of the Term is a partial month, the first Base Rent payment shall be prorated on a 
daily basis, based on the actual number of days in such month.  

On or before the twelfth (12th) month and the eighteenth (18th) month of the Term, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord 
a complete and correct statement showing in reasonable detail Tenant’s income and expenses for the twelve months 
or eighteen (18) months prior, as applicable.  The statement shall be signed by an officer certifying to its accuracy 
and completeness.  The parties will negotiate in good faith any changes a party may desire to Base Rent or 
Additional Rent based on the Income Statements.   

(c) General  
All references to “Rent” or “Rental” in this Lease shall mean Base Rent, Additional Rent, and all other payments 
required of Tenant under this Lease, unless otherwise expressly specified, and all payments required by Tenant 
under this Lease shall be deemed “Rent

(d) Place of Payment  

.”  

Tenant shall pay Rent and other amounts required to be paid by Tenant hereunder to Landlord at the address for 
Landlord set forth on the Summary of Fundamental Provisions of this Lease, or at such other place as Landlord may 
from time to time designate in writing.  

3. SECURITY DEPOSIT  
Tenant has paid to Landlord a sum equal to the amount set forth on the Summary of Fundamental Provisions.  
Landlord shall be entitled to apply the Security Deposit (and any portion deposited to date) to pay the cost of 
repairing any damage caused by Tenant, or performing any obligation which Tenant fails to perform within the time 
required by this Lease, but such application by Landlord shall not waive Landlord’s other remedies nor be the 
exclusive remedy for Tenant’s default. Such security deposit shall be returned to Tenant within thirty (30) days after 
the expiration of this Lease, provided Tenant has fully and faithfully carried out all of Tenant’s obligations 



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 4 
   
   

hereunder, including the payment of all amounts due to Landlord hereunder and the surrender of the Premises to 
Landlord in the condition required in this Lease. However, Landlord, at its option, may apply such sum on account 
of the payment of the last month’s Base Rent or other unpaid Tenant obligations, in which latter event, Tenant shall 
replace any such sum applied by Landlord immediately upon notice from Landlord of such requirement. Such sum 
may be commingled with other funds of Landlord and shall not bear interest. In the event of a sale of the Property, 
Landlord shall have the right to transfer the security deposit to the purchaser to be held under the terms of this 
Lease, and Landlord shall thereupon be released from all liability for the return of the security deposit. Tenant 
agrees to look solely to the new landlord for the return of the security deposit.  

4. ADDITIONAL RENT  
(a) Operating Expenses  

In addition to Base Rent, Tenant shall pay Landlord for the water and electricity provided to the Premises 
(“Operating Expenses

(b) Payment of Operating Expenses 

”).  Landlord shall allocate Operating Expenses to the Plaza Building based on its meters of 
the electricity and water supplying the Plaza Building, in Landlord’s reasonable discretion; provided that Tenant 
shall not be responsible for any usage of such utilities attributable to Landlord or failure of infrastructure that is 
Landlord’s responsibility to maintain under this Lease.    

Beginning on the first (1st) day of the calendar month following the Commencement Date, and continuing 
throughout the Term, Landlord shall invoice Tenant for the prior month’s amount of Operating Expenses.  Tenant 
shall make such monthly payments on or before the tenth (10th) day of the calendar month, together with Tenant’s 
payment of Base Rent.  

5. INSURANCE; INDEMNITY  
(a) Tenant Insurance  

Tenant shall purchase and maintain at the Tenant’s expense, the following types of insurance, covering the Tenant, 
its employees, and agents: 

(i) The most recently approved ISO (Insurance Services Office) Commercial General 
Liability policy, or its equivalent, written on an occurrence basis, with limits not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence. The policy will include coverage for bodily injury, death, property 
damage, personal injury, contractual liability, premises and products/completed operations. 
Tenant’s coverage will be primary as respects Landlord;  

(ii) Workers’ Compensation insurance meeting Oregon statutory requirements including 
Employer’s Liability with limits not less than $1,000,000 per accident or disease; and 

(iii) Property or personal property insurance covering Tenant’s equipment, improvements and 
possessions. 

(iv) Liquor liability insurance with limits not less than $1,000,000 if Tenant sells beer, wine 
or liquor. 

Landlord, its elected officials, departments, employees, and agents shall be named as ADDITIONAL INSUREDS 
on Commercial General Liability policy.  Tenant shall provide to Landlord thirty (30) days notice of any material 
change or policy cancellation.  Tenant shall provide Landlord with a Certificate of Insurance complying with this 
section upon execution and delivery of this Lease.  The Certificate of Insurance shall identify the Metro contract 
number. 

(b) Indemnity 
Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord, its agents, employees and elected officials harmless from any and all 
claims, demands, damages, actions, losses and expenses arising out of or in any way connected with its performance 
of this Agreement, and for any claims or disputes involving subcontractors.   



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 5 
   
   

6. USE OF PREMISES  
The Premises shall be used for restaurant and catering with counter and/or table service, selling food and beverages 
to eat in or to take-out, and for no other purpose without Landlord’s written consent. In connection with the use of 
Premises, Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, except as specifically provided otherwise herein: 

a) Conform to all applicable laws, statutes, rules, ordinances, orders, regulations, and requirements of 
any public authority (“Laws

b) Refrain from any activity that would be unreasonably offensive to Landlord, to other occupants in 
the MRC, or to owners or users of the adjoining properties, or that would tend to create a nuisance or damage the 
reputation of the Premises or of any such buildings. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Tenant shall 
not permit any noise or odor (except given Tenant’s permitted use) to escape or be emitted from the Premises nor 
permit the use of flashing (strobe) lights nor permit the sale or display of offensive materials as reasonably 
determined by Landlord;  

”) affecting the Premises and the use of the Premises and correct, at Tenant’s own 
expense, any failure of compliance created through Tenant’s fault or by reason of Tenant’s use, unless such failure is 
due to Landlord’s default in the performance of the agreements set forth in this Lease to be kept and performed by 
Landlord. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Tenant shall comply with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act as it applies to the Premises.  

c) Refrain from loading the floors, electrical systems, plumbing systems, or heating, ventilating and 
air conditioning systems (“HVAC

6

”), beyond the point considered safe by a competent engineer or architect selected 
by Landlord and refrain from using electrical, water, sewer, HVAC, and plumbing systems in any harmful way. If 
Landlord employs an engineer, architect, electrical, or other consultant to determine whether Tenant’s use of the 
Premises is in violation of this Section (c).  Tenant shall pay the reasonable costs incurred in connection with that 
employment. Tenant shall use hair interceptors, grease traps, or other drain protection devices as needed to avoid 
such harmful use;  

d) Not permit any pets or other animals in the Premises except for Seeing Eye dogs;  

e) Refrain from making any marks on or attaching any sign, insignia, antenna, window covering, 
aerial, or other device to the exterior or interior walls, windows, or roof of the Premises without the written consent 
of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Landlord need not consent to any sign that fails to 
conform to the design concept of the buildings situated on the Property, and all policies and procedures as 
established by Landlord. Prior to installing any signs, Tenant shall submit detailed color drawings to Landlord for 
approval indicating the location, size, layout, design, and color of proposed sign, including all lettering and graphics. 
Electrical service to all signs shall be at Tenant’s sole expense. Free standing or monument signs are prohibited. 
Notwithstanding Landlord’s consent to any signs, Tenant shall (i) comply with all Laws and obtain any necessary 
permits and governmental approvals related to such signs at its own cost and expense, and (ii) within fifteen (15) 
days after Lease expiration or earlier termination, remove all such signs and repair any damage to the Premises 
caused thereby, at Tenant’s own cost and expense;  

f) Comply with any reasonable rules respecting the use of the Premises promulgated by Landlord 
from time to time and communicated to Tenant in writing. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such 
rules may establish hours during which the common area shall be open for use, may regulate deliveries to the 
Premises and may regulate parking by employees. Tenant shall use its best efforts to complete, or cause to be 
completed, all deliveries, loading and unloading, to the Premises by a.m. each day, and to prevent delivery trucks or 
other vehicles serving the Premises to park or stand in front of the locations of other occupants;  

g) Comply with any no smoking (and other health related) policies and procedures established by any 
Law or by Landlord from time to time;  

h) Recognize that it is in the interest of both Tenant and Landlord to have regulated hours of 
business, Tenant shall keep the Premises open for business and cause Tenant’s business to be conducted therein 
during those days and hours as is customary for businesses of like character in the city or county in which the 
Premises are situated, but in any event during those days and hours reasonably established by Landlord which, at the 
Commencement Date, shall be 7:30 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. Monday through Friday, and Tenant shall be entitled to remain 
closed on legal holidays, for two (2) weeks including the weeks of Christmas Day and New Year’s Day, and for two 
(2) additional weeks during any Lease Year, with one (1) month prior written notice to Landlord. Any failure to 
operate by Tenant shall be excused to the extent that the use of the Premises is interrupted or prevented by causes 



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 6 
   
   

beyond Tenant’s reasonable control; provided, however, that Tenant’s financial condition, poor market demand for 
Tenant’s products, and other economic factors shall not excuse Tenant’s obligation to continuously operate as 
required under this section;  

i) Maintain on the Premises an adequate supply of food to service and supply the usual and ordinary 
requirements of its customers. Tenant shall not use a substantially new or modified menu or restaurant concept 
without Landlord’s prior review and written approval of the new concept, which shall not be unreasonably withheld;  

j) Not permit any cash, credit card, or coin-operated vending, novelty, or gaming machines or 
equipment on the Premises without the prior written consent of Landlord, which may be withheld in its sole 
discretion; and not permit the use of any part of the Premises for a second-hand store, an auction, distress, fire sale, 
bankruptcy, or going-out-of-business sale or the like;  

k) Not commit or suffer any harm to the Premises, including without limitation, the improvements 
thereon or any part thereof; and Tenant shall keep the Premises in a neat, clean, sanitary, and orderly condition;  

l) Refrain from any use of any area on the Property that is outside the Premises, unless such use is 
specifically permitted in writing by Landlord in advance or permitted pursuant to Section 7, below;  

m) Not generate, release, store, or deposit on the Premises any environmentally hazardous or toxic 
substances, materials, wastes, pollutants, oils, or contaminants, as defined or regulated by any federal, state, or local 
law or regulation or any other Law (collectively, “Hazardous Substances

n) Not allow or permit any conduct or omission at the Premises, or anywhere on Landlord’s property, 
that will promote or allow the production or growth of mold, spores, fungus, or any other similar organism, and shall 
indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from any claim, demand, cost, and expense (including attorney fees) arising 
from or caused by Tenant’s failure to strictly comply with its obligations under this provision; and  

”), except that Tenant may have and use 
small quantities of Hazardous Substances on the Premises as required in the ordinary course of Tenant’s business. 
Tenant shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Landlord from and against any and all claims, losses, damages, 
response costs, and expenses of any nature whatsoever (including without limitation attorneys’, experts’, and 
paralegals’ fees) arising out of or in any way related to the generation, release, storage, or deposit of Hazardous 
Substances on the Premises or on Landlord’s property by Tenant or any other person or entity other than Landlord 
on and/or after the date of this Lease;  

o) Comply with the requirements of all operation and easement agreements and all other agreements 
and requirements of record on the Property.  

7. OUTDOOR SEATING  
Subject to the provisions of this Section 7, Tenant shall have a nonexclusive revocable license to use the area outside 
of the Premises on the east side of the Plaza Building at the location shown on Exhibit A (the “License Area”) for 
tables, chairs, propane heating, and outdoor grilling and food preparation at Tenant’s election.  All of Tenant’s 
cleaning, maintenance, repair, operations, insurance and indemnification obligations, and any Landlord rules and 
regulations, shall apply to the License Area as if the same were part of the Premises.  In addition, Tenant shall clean 
and bus tables in the License Area, and shall ensure that any propane heaters are operated in a fire-safe manner and 
turned off by the end of each working day that they are used.   Landlord shall have no obligation whatsoever 
regarding the License Area, including any obligation to clean, patrol, maintain, repair, or insure the License Area.  
The furniture, heaters and any other furnishings Tenant desires to place in the License Area (in addition to those 
existing in the License Area as of the date of this Lease) shall be subject to Landlord’s prior written approval.  
Tenant shall comply with all laws, rules, and codes with respect to the License Area, shall procure at its expense any 
permits or licenses required for use of the License Area (including liquor licenses or permits required for food 
preparation), and shall deliver a copy of such permits and licenses to Landlord upon receipt.  Tenant shall not (a) 
erect or place any canopy or other enclosure or covering on the License Area without Landlord’s prior written 
approval; (b) permit any music or other similar sounds to be heard in the License Area without Landlord’s prior 
written approval; or (c) permit loitering in the License Area by persons who are not customers of Tenant or 
occupants of the MRC. Tenant will immediately discontinue use of the License Area and remove the above 
furnishings from the License Area upon request of any governmental agency, and will only resume such use upon 
approval or appropriate permitting by such governmental agency.  Tenant accepts the License Area in its AS-IS 



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 7 
   
   

condition and assumes all risk of accident, theft or injury within the License Area. Landlord makes no representation 
or warranty as to Tenant’s ability to use the License Area for the above purposes.   
 
8. PUBLICITY; COOPERATION OF THE PARTIES 
Landlord shall use best efforts to steer all reoccurring and catered department meetings and luncheons to Tenant.  To 
this end, Landlord shall cooperate with Tenant’s efforts to publicize Tenant’s menu, delivery, and pick-up options to 
occupants and visitors to the MRC, including, by way of example, listing Tenant’s weekly menu and website in 
Metro’s “Weekly Update” email for a period of time during the Term and allowing Tenant to write daily lunch 
specials on a white board inside the MRC lobby.  Landlord shall, upon request, provide Tenant with a list of all days 
that MRC is closed and the dates of all-staff meetings that may interfere with Tenant’s regular customer traffic.   
 
9. PARKING 
Landlord shall provide Tenant with one (1) parking space at no cost within the adjacent parking garage, which 
Landlord shall mark for Tenant’s exclusive use.  The parking space shall be located on the ground floor in a location 
to be determined by Landlord and as close as practicable to the Plaza Building.  Landlord shall have the right to 
relocate the parking space during the Term to a similarly convenient parking space within the adjacent garage.   
 
10. TENANT IMPROVEMENTS AND ALTERATIONS  
Tenant accepts the Premises AS IS in their condition as of the Commencement Date, and Tenant shall pay for all 
tenant improvements, whether the work is performed by Landlord or by Tenant. If any improvements or alterations 
to the Premises or any other work on the Premises by Tenant causes the need to comply with any Laws in areas 
outside of the Premises including without limitation the Americans with Disabilities Act or regulations pertaining to 
earthquake codes, Tenant shall pay the cost thereof as well. Tenant shall make no improvements or alterations on the 
Premises of any kind, including the initial work to be performed by Tenant in the Premises, without the prior written 
consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant may 
make minor, cosmetic (non-structural) alterations to the Premises without Landlord’s consent, but will notify 
Landlord from time to time of all such minor alterations.  Prior to the commencement of any work by Tenant, 
Tenant shall first submit the following to Landlord and obtain Landlord’s written consent to all of the following, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld: Tenant’s plans and specifications; Tenant’s estimated costs; and 
the names of all of Tenant’s contractors and subcontractors. If Landlord is to perform the work for some or all of 
such work, Landlord shall have the right to require Tenant to pay for the cost of the work in advance or in periodic 
installments. If the work is to be performed by Tenant, Landlord shall have the right to require Tenant to furnish 
adequate security to assure timely payment to the contractors and subcontractors for such work. All work performed 
by Tenant shall be done in strict compliance with all applicable building, fire, sanitary, and safety codes, and other 
Laws, and Tenant shall secure all necessary permits for the same. Tenant shall keep the Premises free from all liens 
in connection with any such work. All work performed by Tenant shall be carried forward expeditiously, shall not 
interfere with Landlord’s work, and shall be completed within a reasonable time. Landlord or Landlord’s agents 
shall have the right at all reasonable times to inspect the quality and progress of such work. All improvements, 
alterations, and any other work performed on the Premises by either Landlord or Tenant shall be the property of 
Landlord when installed, except for Tenant’s trade fixtures, and may not be removed at the expiration of this Lease 
unless the applicable Landlord’s consent specifically provides otherwise. Notwithstanding Landlord’s consent to 
improvements or alterations by Tenant, all such improvements, alterations, or other work to be performed by Tenant 
shall be at the sole cost and expense of Tenant.  

11. REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE  
(a) Landlord’s Responsibilities  

The following shall be the responsibility of Landlord:  

i. Structural repairs and maintenance and repairs necessitated by structural disrepair or 
defects; 

ii. Repair and maintenance of the exterior walls, roof, gutters, downspouts, and foundation 
of the Plaza Building, including maintenance of the operating condition of exterior doors and replacement 
of glass; and  



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 8 
   
   

iii. Repair of interior walls, ceilings, doors, windows, floors, and floor coverings when such 
repairs are made necessary because of failure of Landlord to keep the structure in repair as above provided 
in this Section 11(a). 

iv. Repair and replacement of the HVAC unit on an as needed basis. 

v. Repair or replacement of any existing electrical (including electrical panels) and 
plumbing behind the walls, above the ceiling or below the floors, including, without limitation, plumbing 
and drain lines. 

vi. All underground plumbing/sewer/storm water systems serving the Premises. 

vii. Extermination services to keep the Premises free of pests, vermin, and rodents. 

viii. All other repairs, maintenance, and replacements to the Plaza Building that Tenant is not 
expressly required to make under Section 11(b), below.  If Landlord and Tenant mutually agree that 
Landlord should make a capital improvement that is/are related to Tenant’s use of the Premises that may 
not otherwise be provided for in this Lease, Tenant shall repay Landlord its share as applicable of the cost 
of such mutually agreed upon capital improvements with a five percent (5%) interest factor by way of 
increased Rent (on a straight line basis) over the useful life of such capital improvement.     

(b) Tenant’s Responsibilities  
The following shall be the responsibility of Tenant:  

i. The interior of the Premises including any interior decorating and housekeeping;  

ii. Any repairs and replacements necessitated by the negligence or use of the Premises by 
Tenant, its agents, employees, and invitees;  

iii. Maintenance and repair of the interior walls and floor coverings (both hard surfaces and 
carpeting); and 

iv. Any repairs or alterations required under Tenant’s obligation to comply with all 
applicable Laws as set forth in this Lease.  All Tenant’s work shall be in full compliance with then current 
building code and other governmental requirements.  

(c) Inspections  
Landlord shall have the right to inspect the Premises at any reasonable time or times to determine the necessity of 
repair. Whether or not such inspection is made, the duty of Landlord to make repairs as outlined above in any area in 
Tenant’s possession and control shall not mature until a reasonable time after Landlord has received from Tenant 
written notice of the necessity of repairs, except in the event emergency repairs may be required and in such event 
Tenant shall attempt to give Landlord immediate notice considering the circumstances.  

(d) Landlord’s Work  
All repairs, replacements, alterations, or other work performed on or around the Premises by Landlord shall be done 
in such a way as to interfere as little as reasonably possible with the use of the Premises by Tenant. Tenant shall 
have no right to an abatement of Rent nor any claim against Landlord for any inconvenience or disturbance resulting 
from Landlord’s performance of repairs and maintenance pursuant to this Section 11. Landlord shall have no 
liability for failure to perform required maintenance and repair, unless written notice of such maintenance or repair 
is given by Tenant and Landlord fails to commence efforts to remedy the problem in a reasonable time and manner. 
Landlord shall have the right to erect scaffolding and other apparatus necessary for the purpose of making repairs or 
alterations to the Plaza Building. Work may be done during normal business hours. Tenant shall have no claim 
against Landlord for any interruption or reduction of services or interference with Tenant’s occupancy caused by 
Landlord’s maintenance and repair, and no such interruption or reduction shall be construed as a constructive or 
other eviction of Tenant.  
 
12. LIENS; TENANT’S TAXES  
Tenant shall keep the Premises free from all liens, including mechanic’s liens, arising from any act or omission of 
Tenant or those claiming under Tenant. Landlord shall have the right to post and maintain on the Premises or the 
Plaza Building such notices of nonresponsibility as are provided for under the lien laws of the state in which the 



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 9 
   
   

Premises are located. Tenant shall be responsible for and shall pay when due all taxes assessed during the Term 
against any leasehold or personal property of any kind owned by or placed upon or about the Premises by Tenant.  

13. GARBAGE AND SERVICES  
Tenant shall pay promptly for all water and electricity as set forth in Section 4 of this Lease.  Tenant may use 
Landlord’s garbage and recycling bins at no charge, but is responsible for placing the garbage in the bins in sealed 
trash bags on a daily basis and depositing recycling into appropriate receptacles.  Tenant shall haul its own compost 
off-site daily.  Tenant shall comply with any recycling programs required by any Law or reasonably required by 
Landlord. Landlord shall not be liable or responsible for any interruption of utility service to the Premises and any 
such interruption shall not entitle Tenant to any abatement of rent, unless such interruption is caused solely by the 
negligence of Landlord.  

14. ICE, SNOW, AND DEBRIS  
Tenant shall keep the walks in front of the Premises free and clear of ice, snow, rubbish, debris, and obstructions. 
Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from any injury whether to Landlord or Landlord’s property or 
to any other person or property caused by Tenant’s failure to perform Tenant’s obligations under this Section 14. 
Tenant’s obligations under this Section 14 shall be performed at Tenant’s cost and expense. Landlord reserves the 
right to cause the removal of ice, snow, debris and obstruction from the area in front of the Premises and Tenant 
shall pay the cost thereof within ten (10) days after billing therefor.  

15. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION  
Neither party shall be liable to the other for any loss or damage caused by fire or any of the risks enumerated in a 
standard multiperil insurance policy, including sprinkler leakage insurance if the Premises have sprinklers, to the 
extent that any such insurance actually pays any such loss or damage. All claims or rights of recovery for any and all 
such loss or damage, however caused, are hereby waived. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, said 
absence of liability shall exist whether or not such loss or damage is caused by the negligence of either Landlord or 
Tenant or by any of their respective agents, servants, or employees.  

16. INJURY TO TENANT’S PROPERTY  
Landlord shall not be liable for any injury to the goods, stock, merchandise, or any other property of Tenant or to 
any person in or upon the Premises or to the leasehold improvements in the Premises resulting from fire or collapse 
of the Plaza Building or any portion thereof or any other cause, including but not limited to damage by water or gas, 
or by reason of any electrical apparatus in or about the Premises. Tenant shall carry adequate insurance coverage at 
its sole cost and expense to cover the risks described in this section.  

17. DAMAGE OR DESTRUCTION  
(a) Partial Destruction  

If the Premises shall be partially damaged by fire or other cause, and Section 17(b) below does not apply, the 
damages to the Premises shall be repaired by Landlord, and all Base Rent until such repair shall be made shall be 
apportioned according to the part of the Premises that is usable by Tenant, except when such damage occurs because 
of the fault of Tenant. The repairs shall be accomplished with all reasonable dispatch. Landlord shall bear the cost of 
such repairs, unless the damage occurred from a risk that would not be covered by a standard fire insurance policy 
with an endorsement for extended coverage, including sprinkler leakage, and the damage was the result of the fault 
of Tenant, in which event Tenant shall bear the expense of the repairs.  

(b) Substantial Damage 
If the Plaza Building is twenty-five percent (25%) or more destroyed during the Term by any cause, Landlord may 
elect to terminate the Lease as of the date of damage or destruction by notice given to Tenant in writing not more 
than sixty (60) days following the date of damage. In such event all rights and obligations of the parties shall cease 
as of the date of termination. In the absence of an election to terminate, Landlord shall proceed to restore the 
Premises, if damaged, to substantially the same form as prior to the damage or destruction, so as to provide Tenant 
usable space equivalent in quantity and character to that before the damage or destruction. Work shall be 
commenced as soon as reasonably possible, and thereafter proceed without interruption, except for work stoppages 
on account of matters beyond the reasonable control of Landlord. From the date of damage until the Premises are 
restored or repaired, Base Rent shall be abated or apportioned according to the part of the Premises usable by 



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 10 
   
   

Tenant, unless the damage occurred because of the fault of Tenant. Landlord shall bear the cost of such repairs 
unless the damage occurred from a risk that would not be covered by a standard fire insurance policy with an 
endorsement for extended coverage, including sprinkler leakage, and the damage was the result of the fault of 
Tenant, in which event Tenant shall bear the expense of the repairs.  

(c) Restoration  
If the Premises are to be restored by Landlord as above provided in this Section 17, Tenant, at its expense, shall be 
responsible for the repair and restoration of all items that were initially installed at the expense of Tenant (whether 
the work was done by Landlord or Tenant) or for which an allowance was given by Landlord to Tenant, together 
with Tenant’s stock in trade, trade fixtures, furnishings, and equipment; and Tenant shall commence the installation 
of the same promptly upon delivery to it of possession of the Premises and Tenant shall diligently prosecute such 
installation to completion.  

18. BANKRUPTCY  
Subject to Section 22, the Lease shall not be assigned or transferred voluntarily or involuntarily by operation of law. 
It may, at the option of Landlord, be terminated, if Tenant be adjudged bankrupt or insolvent, or makes an 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or files or is a party to the filing of a petition in bankruptcy, or commits an 
act of bankruptcy, or in case a receiver or trustee is appointed to take charge of any of the assets of Tenant or 
sublessees or assignees in or on the Premises, and such receiver or trustee is not removed within thirty (30) days 
after the date of his appointment, or in the event of judicial sale of the personal property in or on the Premises upon 
judgment against Tenant or any sublessees or assignee hereunder, unless such property or reasonable replacement 
therefor be installed on the Premises. To the extent permitted by law, this Lease or any sublease hereunder shall not 
be considered as an asset of a debtor-in-possession, or an asset in bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or other 
judicial proceedings.  

19. DEFAULT  
The following shall be events of default:  

a) Failure of Tenant to pay any Rent when due or failure of Tenant to pay any other charge required 
under this Lease within ten (10) days after it is due, after notice and ten (10) day cure period.  

b) Failure of Tenant to execute the documents described in Section 23 or 25 within the time required 
under such Sections; failure of Tenant to provide or maintain the insurance required of Tenant pursuant to Section 
5(b); or failure of Tenant to comply with any Laws as required pursuant to Section 6 within 24 hours after written 
demand by Landlord.  

c) Failure of Tenant to comply with any term or condition or fulfill any obligation of the Lease (other 
than the failures described in Section 19a) or 19b) above) within ten (10) days after written notice by Landlord 
specifying the nature of the default with reasonable particularity. If the default is of such nature that it cannot be 
completely remedied within the ten (10)-day period, this provision shall be complied with if Tenant begins 
correction of the default within the ten (10)-day period and thereafter proceeds with reasonable diligence and in 
good faith to effect the remedy as soon as practicable. Landlord shall not be obligated to give written notice for the 
same type of default more than twice; at Landlord’s option, a failure to perform an obligation after the second (2nd

d) The abandonment of the Premises by Tenant or the failure of Tenant for fifteen (15) days or more 
to occupy the Premises for one or more of the designated purposes of this Lease unless such failure is excused under 
other provisions of this Lease.  

) 
notice shall be an automatic event of default, without notice or any opportunity to cure.  

e) The bankruptcy or insolvency of Tenant or the occurrence of other acts specified in Section 18 of 
this Lease that give Landlord the option to terminate.  

f) The assignment or subletting or purported assignment or subletting of Tenant’s interest under this 
Lease in violation of Section 22.  



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 11 
   
   

20. REMEDIES ON DEFAULT  
In the event of a default, Landlord may, at Landlord’s option, exercise anyone or more of the rights and remedies 
available to a landlord in the state in which the Premises are located to redress such default, consecutively or 
concurrently, including the following:  

a) Landlord may elect to terminate Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises or any portion 
thereof by written notice to Tenant. Following such notice, Landlord may re-enter, take possession of the Premises, 
and remove any persons or property by legal action or by self-help with the use of reasonable force and without 
liability for damages. To the extent permitted by law, Landlord shall have the right to retain the personal property 
belonging to Tenant that is on the Premises at the time of re-entry, or the right to such other security interest therein 
as the law may permit, to secure all sums due or that become due to Landlord under this Lease. Perfection of such 
security interest shall occur by taking possession of such personal property or otherwise as provided by law.  

b) Following re-entry by Landlord, Landlord may relet the Premises for a term longer or shorter than 
the Term and upon any reasonable terms, including the granting of rent concessions to the new tenant. Landlord may 
alter, refurbish, or otherwise change the character or use of the Premises in connection with such reletting. Landlord 
shall not be required to relet for any use or purpose that Landlord may reasonably consider injurious to its property 
or to any tenant Landlord may reasonably consider objectionable. No such reletting by Landlord following a default 
by Tenant shall be construed as an acceptance of the surrender of the Premises. If rent received upon such reletting 
exceeds the Rent received under this Lease, Tenant shall have no claim to the excess.  

c) Landlord shall have the right to recover from Tenant the following damages:  

a. All unpaid or other charges for the period prior to re-entry, plus interest at the greater of 
fifteen percent (15%) per annum or a rate equal to five (5) percentage points in excess of the discount rate, 
including any surcharge on the discount rate, on ninety (90)-day commercial paper declared by the Federal 
Reserve Bank in the Federal Reserve District in which Portland, Oregon, is located on the date the charge 
was due (the “Interest Rate

b. An amount equal to the Rent lost during any period during which the Premises are not 
relet, if Landlord uses reasonable efforts to relet the Premises. If Landlord lists the Premises with a real 
estate broker experienced in leasing commercial property in the metropolitan area in which the Premises 
are located, such listing shall constitute the taking of reasonable efforts to relet the Premises.  

”).  

c. All costs incurred in reletting or attempting to relet the Premises, including but without 
limitation, the cost of clean-up and repair in preparation for a new tenant, including any improvements to 
the Premises and the cost of correcting any defaults or restoring any unauthorized alterations and the 
amount of any real estate commissions and advertising expenses.  

d. The difference between the Rent reserved under this Lease and the amount actually 
received by Landlord after reletting, as such amounts accrue.  

e. Reasonable attorney fees and legal expenses incurred in connection with the default, 
whether or not any litigation is commenced.  

d) Landlord may sue periodically to recover damages as they accrue throughout the Term and no 
action for accrued damages shall be a bar to a later action for damages subsequently accruing. To avoid a 
multiplicity of actions, Landlord may obtain a decree of specific performance requiring Tenant to pay the damages 
stated in Section 20c) above as they accrue. Alternatively, Landlord may elect in anyone action to recover accrued 
damages, plus damages attributable to the remaining Term equal to the difference between the Rent under this Lease 
and the reasonable rental value of the Premises for the remainder of the Term.  

e) In the event Tenant remains in possession following default and Landlord does not elect to reenter, 
Landlord may recover all back Rent and other charges, and shall have the right to cure any nonmonetary default and 
recover the cost of such cure from Tenant, plus interest from the date of expenditure at the Interest Rate. In addition, 
Landlord shall be entitled to recover attorney fees reasonably incurred in connection with the default, whether or not 
litigation is commenced. Landlord may sue to recover such amounts as they accrue, and no one action for accrued 
damages shall bar a later action for damages subsequently accruing.  



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 12 
   
   

f) The foregoing remedies shall not be exclusive but shall be in addition to all other remedies and 
rights provided under applicable law, and no election to pursue one remedy shall preclude resort to another remedy.  

21. SURRENDER AT EXPIRATION  
(a) Condition of Premises 

Upon expiration of the Term or earlier termination, Tenant shall deliver all keys to Landlord and surrender the 
Premises in first-class condition and broom clean. Improvements, alterations, wiring, cables, or conduit constructed 
by or for Tenant shall not be removed or restored to the original condition unless the terms of Landlord’s consent 
provides otherwise or unless Landlord requests Tenant to remove all or any of such improvements, alterations, 
wiring, cables, or conduit, in which event Tenant shall remove those designated by Landlord for removal and restore 
the Premises at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. Depreciation and wear from ordinary use for the purpose for which 
the Premises were let need not be restored, but all repair for which Tenant is responsible shall be completed to the 
latest practical date prior to such surrender. Tenant’s obligations under this Section 21 shall be subject to the 
provisions of Section 17 relating to damages or destruction.  

(b) Fixtures 
i. All fixtures placed upon the Premises during the Term, other than Tenant’s trade fixtures, 

shall, at Landlord option, become the property of Landlord. Movable furniture, decorations, floor covering 
other than hard surface bonded or adhesively fixed flooring, curtains, drapes, blinds, furnishings and trade 
fixtures shall remain the property of Tenant if placed on the Premises by Tenant; provided, however, if 
Landlord granted Tenant an allowance for improvements, installation, floor coverings, curtains, drapes, 
blinds or other items, such items shall at Landlord’s option become the property of Landlord, 
notwithstanding the installation thereof by Tenant.  

ii. If Landlord so elects, Tenant shall remove any or all fixtures, wiring, cables, or conduit 
that would otherwise remain the property of Landlord, and shall repair any damage resulting from the 
removal. If Tenant fails to remove such fixtures, wiring, cables, or conduit, Landlord may do so and charge 
the cost to Tenant with interest at the Interest Rate. Tenant shall remove all furnishings, furniture, and trade 
fixtures that remain the property of Tenant and shall repair any damage resulting from the removal. If 
Tenant fails to do so, this shall be an abandonment of the property, and following ten (10) days’ written 
notice, Landlord may remove or dispose of it in any manner without liability. Tenant shall be liable to 
Landlord for the cost of removal and transportation to storage, with interest on all such expenses from the 
date of expenditure at the Interest Rate.  

iii. The time for removal of any property or fixtures that Tenant is required to remove from 
the Premises upon termination shall be as follows:  

(1) On or before the date the Lease terminates because of expiration of the Term or 
because of a default under Section 19.  

(2) Within ten (10) days after written notice from Landlord requiring such removal 
where the property to be removed is a fixture that Tenant is not required to remove except after 
such notice by Landlord, and such date would fall after the date on which Tenant would be 
required to remove other property.  

(c) Holdover  
If Tenant does not vacate the Premises at the time required, Landlord shall have the option to treat Tenant as a tenant 
from month to month, subject to all the provisions of this Lease, except the provision for the Term, and except the 
Base Rent provided herein shall double during the period of the month-to-month tenancy. Failure of Tenant to 
remove fixtures, furniture, furnishings or trade fixtures or to repair any damage caused by such removal that Tenant 
is required to remove and repair under this Lease shall constitute a failure to vacate to which this Section 21(c) shall 
apply if the property not removed or repaired will interfere with occupancy of the Premises by another tenant or with 
occupancy by Landlord for any purpose, including preparation for a new tenant.  



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 13 
   
   

22. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING  
(a) Landlord’s Consent 

Tenant shall not, either voluntarily or by operation of law, sell, assign, or transfer this Lease or sublet the Premises 
or any part thereof, or assign any right to use the Premises or any part thereof (each a “Transfer

(b) Payment to Landlord and Termination of Lease 

”) without the prior 
written consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, and any attempt to do so without 
such prior written consent shall be void and, at Landlord’s option, shall terminate this Lease. If Tenant requests 
Landlord’s consent to any Transfer, Tenant shall promptly provide Landlord with a copy of the proposed agreement 
between Tenant and its proposed transferee and with all such other information concerning the business and 
financial affairs of such proposed transferee as Landlord may request. Landlord may withhold such consent unless 
the proposed transferee (i) is satisfactory to Landlord as to credit, managerial experience, net worth, character, and 
business or professional standing, (ii) is a person or entity whose possession of the Premises would not be 
inconsistent with Landlord’s commitments with other tenants or with the mix of uses Landlord desires at the 
Property, (iii) will occupy the Premises solely for the use authorized under this Lease, (iv) expressly assumes and 
agrees in writing to be bound by and directly responsible for all Tenant’s obligations hereunder, and (v) will conduct 
a business that does not adversely impact the use of the Property’s common areas. Landlord’s consent to any such 
Transfer shall in no event release Tenant from its liabilities or obligations hereunder, including any renewal term, 
nor relieve Tenant from the requirement of obtaining Landlord’s prior written consent to any further Transfer. 
Landlord’s acceptance of rent from any other person shall not be deemed to be a waiver by Landlord of any 
provision of this Lease or a consent to any Transfer. No modification, amendment, assignment, or sublease shall 
release Tenant, any assignee, or any guarantor of its liabilities or obligations under this Lease.  

i. Landlord may, as a condition to its consideration of any request for consent to a proposed 
Transfer, impose a fee in the amount of Seven Hundred Fifty and No/100 Dollars ($750.00) to cover 
Landlord’s administrative expenses and Tenant shall also be responsible to promptly pay all Landlord’s 
reasonable legal fees and expenses in connection therewith. Such fee shall be (i) payable by Tenant upon 
demand, and (ii) retained by Landlord, regardless of whether such consent is granted.  

ii. If any such proposed Transfer provides for the payment of, or if Tenant otherwise 
receives, rent, additional rent, or other consideration for such Transfer that is in excess of the Rent and all 
other amounts Tenant is required to pay under this Lease (regardless of whether such excess is payable on 
a lump-sum basis or over a term), then in the event Landlord grants its consent to such proposed Transfer, 
Tenant shall pay Landlord the amount of such excess as it is received by Tenant. Any violation of this 
paragraph shall be deemed a material and noncurable breach of this Lease.  

iii. If Tenant proposes a sublease or assignment, Landlord shall have the option to terminate 
this Lease and deal directly with the proposed sublessee, assignee, or any third party with regard to the 
Premises.  

iv. If Tenant is a corporation, an unincorporated association, a partnership, a limited 
partnership, or a limited liability company, the transfer, assignment or hypothecation of any stock or 
interest in such entity in the aggregate in excess of twenty-five percent (25%) shall be deemed a Transfer 
of this Lease within the meaning and provisions of this Section 22.  

(c) Pre-Arranged Sublease 
Tenant may sublease this Lease for a period not to exceed four (4) weeks per Lease Year corresponding with 
Tenant’s anticipated closures of its restaurant under Section 6(h), with Landlord’s prior written consent, which 
Landlord may withhold based on the considerations set forth in Section 22(a), above.  A sublease in accordance with 
this Section 22(c) shall be exempt from and shall not trigger the provisions of Section 22(b), above. To request 
Landlord’s consent, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord, at least thirty (30) days prior to the proposed sublease term, 
the following: (i) a fully executed sublease between Tenant and the subtenant containing at least those terms set 
forth in Exhibit C to this Lease; and (ii) the insurance certificates of the subtenant required as set forth in Exhibit 
C.  Landlord shall notify Tenant within ten (10) business days whether Landlord approves or disapproves of the 
proposed sublease and any additional conditions of Landlord’s consent to the sublease, using, as appropriate, the 
form of consent letter attached to this Lease as Exhibit D.   



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 14 
   
   

23. SUBORDINATION  
Tenant’s interest hereunder shall be subject and subordinate to all mortgages, trust deeds, and other financing and 
security instruments in place upon the Commencement Date or placed on the Premises by Landlord from time to 
time (hereafter “Mortgage

23

”), except that no assignment or transfer of Landlord’s rights hereunder to a lending 
institution as collateral security in connection with a Mortgage shall affect Tenant’s right to possession, use, and 
occupancy of the Premises so long as Tenant shall not be in default under any of the terms and conditions of this 
Lease. The provisions of this Section  shall be self-operating. Nevertheless, Tenant agrees to execute, 
acknowledge and deliver to Landlord within ten (10) days after Landlord’s written request, an instrument in 
recordable form that expressly subordinates Tenant’s interest hereunder to the interests of the holder of any 
Mortgage, and that includes any other reasonable provisions requested by the holder or prospective holder of any 
Mortgage. At Landlord’s request, Tenant shall furnish Landlord current balance sheets, operating statements, and 
other financial statements in the form as reasonably requested by Landlord or by the holder or prospective holder of 
any Mortgage, certified by Tenant as accurate and current. Tenant agrees to sign an authorization for Landlord to 
conduct a check of Tenant’s credit as requested by Landlord from time to time.  

24. TRANSFER OF THE PROPERTY  
If the Property is sold or otherwise transferred by Landlord or any successor to Landlord, Tenant shall attorn to the 
purchaser or transferee and recognize it as the landlord under this Lease, and, provided the purchaser or transferee 
assumes all obligations under this Lease thereafter accruing, the transferor shall have no further liability hereunder.  

25. ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE  
Tenant shall from time to time, upon not less than ten (10) days’ prior notice, submit to Landlord, or to any person 
designated by Landlord, a statement in writing, in the form submitted to Tenant by Landlord, certifying that this 
Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or if there have been modifications, identifying the same by the 
date thereof and specifying the nature thereof), that to the knowledge of Tenant no uncured default exists hereunder 
(or if such uncured default does exist, specifying the same), the dates to which the Rent and other sums and charges 
payable hereunder have been paid, that Tenant has no claims against Landlord and no defenses or offsets to rental 
except for the continuing obligations under this Lease (or if Tenant has any such claims, defenses, or offsets, 
specifying the same), and any other information concerning this Lease as Landlord reasonably requests.  

26. PERFORMANCE BY LANDLORD  
Landlord shall not be deemed in default for the nonperformance or for any interruption or delay in performance of 
any of the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Lease if the same shall be due to any labor dispute, strike, 
lockout, civil commotion, or like operation, invasion, rebellion, hostilities, military or usurped power, sabotage, 
governmental regulations or controls, inability to obtain labor, services or materials, through acts of God, or other 
cause beyond the reasonable control of Landlord, providing such cause is not due to the willful act or neglect of 
Landlord.  

27. LANDLORD’S RIGHT TO CURE DEFAULT  
If Tenant shall fail to perform any of the covenants or obligations to be performed by Tenant, Landlord, in addition 
to all other remedies provided herein, shall have the option (but not the obligation) to cure such failure to perform 
after fifteen (15) days’ written notice to Tenant. All Landlord’s expenditures incurred to correct the failure to 
perform shall be reimbursed by Tenant upon demand with interest from the date of expenditure at the legal rate of 
interest if not defined. Landlord’s right to cure Tenant’s failure to perform is for the sole protection of Landlord and 
the existence of this right shall not release Tenant from the obligation to perform all the covenants herein provided 
to be performed by Tenant, or deprive Landlord of any other right Landlord may have by reason of default of this 
Lease by Tenant.  
 
28. INSPECTION  
Landlord, Landlord’s agents, and representatives, shall have the right to enter upon the Premises at any time in the 
event of emergency and, in other events, at reasonable times after prior verbal notice for the purpose of inspecting 
the same, for the purpose of making repairs or improvements to the Premises or the Plaza Building, for showing the 
Premises during the final ninety (90) days of the Term, or for any other lawful purpose.  



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 15 
   
   

29. FOR SALE AND FOR RENT SIGNS  
During the period of one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the date for the termination of this Lease, Landlord may 
post on the Premises or in the windows thereof signs of moderate size notifying the public that the Premises are “for 
sale” or “for rent” or “for lease.”  

30. NOTICES  
Any notice required or permitted under this Lease shall be in writing and shall be deemed given when actually 
delivered or when deposited in the United States mail as certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, 
addressed to the addresses set forth in the Summary of Fundamental Provisions of this Lease or to such other 
address as may be specified from time to time by either of the parties in the manner above provided for the giving of 
notice. Notice may also be given by facsimile or telecopy transmission and shall be effective upon the date shown in 
a transmittal record when sent to the party at the facsimile or telecopy number set out in the Summary of 
Fundamental Provisions of this Lease or such other number as provided by either party, as long as a copy of any 
such notice is deposited in the United States mail to such party at the above-mentioned address on the same date the 
electronic transmission is sent.  

31. BROKERS  
The parties covenant, warrant, and represent that neither has engaged any broker, agent, or finder who would be 
entitled to any commission or fee in connection with the negotiation and execution of this Lease. Each party agrees 
to indemnify and hold harmless the other against and from any claims for any brokerage commissions and all costs, 
expenses, and liabilities in connection therewith, including attorney fees and expenses, arising out of any charge or 
claim for a commission or fee by any broker, agent, or finder on the basis of any agreements made or alleged to have 
been made by or on behalf of Tenant.  

32. LATE CHARGES  
Tenant acknowledges that late payment by Tenant to Landlord of any Rent or other charge due hereunder will 
cause Landlord to incur costs not contemplated by this Lease, the exact amount of which will be extremely difficult 
to ascertain. Such costs may include, without limitation, processing and accounting charges and late charges that 
may be imposed on Landlord under the terms of any Mortgage. Accordingly, if any Rent or other charge is not 
received by Landlord within ten (10) days after it is due, Tenant shall pay to Landlord a late charge equal to                             
twenty-five percent (25%) of the overdue amount. The parties hereby agree that such late charge represents a fair 
and reasonable estimate of the costs incurred by Landlord by reason of the late payment by Tenant. Acceptance of 
any late charge by Landlord shall in no event constitute a waiver of Tenant’s default with respect to the overdue 
amount in question, nor prevent Landlord from exercising any of the other rights arid remedies granted hereunder.  

33. NO PERSONAL LIABILITY  
The liability of Landlord to Tenant for any default by Landlord under the terms of this Lease shall be limited to the 
interest of Landlord in the Plaza Building and the Property, and neither Landlord nor any of its owners, principals, 
employees, or agents shall be liable for any deficiency.  

34. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS  
a. This Lease does not grant any rights of access to light or air over any part of the Property.  

b. Time is of the essence of this Lease.  

c. The acceptance by Landlord of any Rent or other benefits under this Lease shall not constitute a 
waiver of any default.  

d. Any waiver by Landlord of the strict performance of any of the provisions of this Lease shall not 
be deemed to be a waiver of subsequent breaches of the same character or of a different character, occurring either 
before or subsequent to such waiver, and shall not prejudice Landlord’s right to require strict performance of the 
same provision in the future or of any other provision of this Lease.  

e. This Lease contains the entire agreement of the parties and supersedes all prior written and oral 
agreements and representations and there are no implied covenants or other agreements between the parties, except 
as expressly set forth in this Lease.  



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 16 
   
   

f. Neither Landlord nor Tenant is relying on any representations except as expressly set forth in this 
Lease.  

g. The parties acknowledge and agree that any calculations of square footage in the Premises and on 
the Property are approximations. Except as provided herein, no recalculation of square footage shall affect the 
obligations of Tenant under this Lease, including without limitation, the amount of Base Rent or other Rent payable 
by Tenant under this Lease.  

h. This Lease shall not be amended or modified except by agreement in writing, signed by the parties 
hereto.  

i. Subject to the limitations on the assignment or transfer of Tenant’s interest in this Lease, this 
Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties, their respective heirs, personal representatives, 
successors, and assigns.  

j. No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to Landlord or Tenant shall be exclusive of any 
other remedy herein provided or provided by law, but each remedy shall be cumulative.  

k. In interpreting or construing this Lease, it is understood that Tenant may be more than one person, 
that if the context so requires, the singular pronoun shall be taken to mean and include the plural, and that generally 
all grammatical changes shall be made, assumed, and implied to make the provisions hereof apply equally to 
corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, and individuals.  

l. Section headings are for convenience and shall not affect any of the provisions of this Lease.  

m. If any provision of this Lease or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is, at any 
time or to any extent, held to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease, or the application of such 
provision to persons or circumstances other than those to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be 
affected thereby, and each provision of this Lease shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by 
law.  

n. All agreements (including, but not limited to, indemnification agreements) set forth in this Lease, 
the full performance of which are not required prior to the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, shall 
survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease and be fully enforceable thereafter.  

35. QUIET ENJOYMENT  
Landlord warrants that as long as Tenant complies with all terms of this Lease, it shall be entitled to possession of 
the Premises free from any eviction or disturbance by Landlord or parties claiming through Landlord. Neither 
Landlord nor its managing agent shall have any liability to Tenant for loss or damages arising out of the acts, 
including criminal acts, of other tenants of the Plaza Building or third parties, and no such acts shall constitute an 
eviction, construction or otherwise.  

36. ANTI-TERRORISM LAW  
(a) Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord as follows:  

i. Neither Tenant, its constituents, or affiliates, nor any of their respective agents 
(collectively, the “Tenant Parties”) is in violation of any law relating to terrorism or money laundering, 
including, but not limited to, Executive Order No. 13224 on Terrorist Financing, the U.S. Bank Secrecy 
Act, as amended by the Patriot Act, the Trading with the Enemy Act, the International Emergency 
Economic Powers Act and all regulations promulgated thereunder, all as amended from time to time 
(collectively, “Anti-Terrorism Law

ii. None of the Tenant Parties is a “

”).  

Prohibited Person

iii. None of the Tenant Parties: (1) conducts any business or transactions or makes or 
receives any contribution of funds, goods, or services in violation of any Anti-Terrorism Law; or              

.” A Prohibited Person means any of 
the following:  (1) A person or entity that is “specially designated” on the most current list published by the 
U.S. Treasury Department Office of Foreign Asset Control or that is owned, controlled by, or acting for or 
on behalf of any such person or entity; (2) A person or entity with whom Landlord is prohibited from 
dealing by any Anti-Terrorism Law:  (3) A person or entity that commits, threatens, or conspires to commit 
or supports “terrorism,” as defined in any Anti-Terrorism Law.  



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 17 
   
   

(2) engages in or conspires to engage in any transaction that evades or avoids, has the purpose of evading 
or avoiding, or attempts to violate any of the prohibitions of any Anti-Terrorism Law.  

(b) Tenant covenants that it shall not:  
i. Conduct any business or transaction or make or receive any contribution of funds, goods, 

or services in violation of any Anti-Terrorism Law;  

ii. Engage in or conspire to engage in any transaction that evades or avoids, has the purpose 
of evading or avoiding, or attempts to violate any of the prohibitions of any Anti-Terrorism Law.  

iii. Tenant agrees promptly to deliver to Landlord (but in any event within ten (10) days of 
Landlord’s written request) any certification or other evidence requested from time to time by Landlord, in 
its reasonable discretion, confirming Tenant’s compliance with the foregoing.  

37. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
Within fifteen (15) days after Landlord’s request, Tenant will furnish Tenant’s most recent audited financial 
statements (including any notes to them) to Landlord, or, if no such audited statements have been prepared, such 
other financial statements (and notes to them) as may have been prepared by an independent certified public 
accountant or, failing those, Tenant’s internally prepared financial statements. Tenant will discuss its financial 
statements with Landlord and will give Landlord access to Tenant’s books and records in order to enable Landlord 
to verify the financial statements. Landlord will not disclose any aspect of Tenant’s financial statements except to  
(a) Landlord’s lenders or prospective purchasers of the Plaza Building who have executed a sales contract with 
Landlord, (b) in litigation between Landlord and Tenant, and (c) if required by any court order.  
 
38. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL  
To the maximum extent permitted by law, Landlord and Tenant each waive their right to trial by jury in any 
litigation arising out of or with respect to this Lease.  

39. EXHIBITS AND ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS  
Exhibits attached hereto are referred to in this Lease and by this reference incorporated herein. Additional 
provisions, if any, are set forth in Riders attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein.  

40. REPRESENTATIONS; PREPARATION  
THIS LEASE, ATTACHMENTS, AND AMENDMENTS WERE PREPARED AT THE DIRECTION OF 
LANDLORD AND TENANT, AND BOTH LANDLORD AND TENANT HAVE BEEN ADVISED AND HAD 
AN OPPORTUNITY TO SEEK INDEPENDENT COUNSEL TO REVIEW THIS LEASE, ATTACHMENTS, 
AND AMENDMENTS. THE RULE OF CONSTRUCTION THAT A WRITTEN AGREEMENT IS CONSTRUED 
AGAINST THE PARTY PREPARING OR DRAFTING SUCH AGREEMENT SHALL SPECIFICALLY NOT BE 
APPLICABLE TO THE INTERPRETATION OR ENFORCEMENT OF THIS LEASE, ATTACHMENTS, AND 
AMENDMENTS. NO REPRESENTATION OR RECOMMENDATION IS MADE BY BOMA PORTLAND OR 
THE REAL ESTATE BROKERS INVOLVED IN THIS TRANSACTION CONCERNING THE LEGAL 
SUFFICIENCY OR TAX CONSEQUENCES ARISING FROM THIS LEASE.  
 

 
[Remainder of Page Left Blank – Signatures Follow on Next Page] 

 
 
  



 

Metro / Table 6 Lease Agreement v6   
Page 18 
   
   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Lease in duplicate as of the day and 
year first above written.  
 
Landlord:      Tenant: 
 
METRO, an Oregon municipal corporation   TABLE 6, a sole proprietorship  
 
 
             
Martha J. Bennett, Chief Operating Officer   Cynthia Hymer 
                                                                                                                                                 
                                                                                                                                                 
Address:       Address: 
600 NE Grand Ave.      Table 6 c/o Cynthia Hymer 
Portland, OR  97232     9628 N. Smith St.                                                                                            

Portland, Oregon 97203                                                                                                           
 
 

Exhibits:  

The following Exhibits are attached hereto and incorporated as a part of this Lease:  

Exhibit “A”  - Premises  
Exhibit “B”  - Options to Extend 
Exhibit “C” - Required Sublease Terms 
Exhibit “D” - Form of Landlord Consent to Sublease 



 

  Please Initial 
Exhibit A 
  ________   ________ 
  Landlord        Tenant 
 

EXHIBIT A  

SHOWING PREMISES AND LICENSE AREA

 

• 

1 

_ r-

,;::0 
x 
'S 
'1 

I 
I I I I 
I License Atea 
I I I 
I I I 
I I 

• 10i) a.~ f'Ma"l 10 
~1'R!'J.J..!'}~rl'!.Lnn 

Shopd",winr,s k 
d~b robe provide::! h)' 
D~M"J As,odiION 
sru 28, 6..?99 
);Ia,k ArI~";d~~ 

~~ "'" _ / '-rr- -, 

~---' 

~ r-L)NlER 

, --,.". 

, I 



 

  Please Initial 
Exhibit B 
  ________   ________ 
  Landlord        Tenant 
 

EXHIBIT B 

OPTIONS TO EXTEND 

 Provided that Table 6 has not assigned this Lease and is not subletting any or all of the Premises (it being 
intended that all rights pursuant to this provision are and shall be personal to the original Tenant under this Lease 
and shall not be transferable or exercisable for the benefit of any Transferee), and provided Tenant is not in default 
under this Lease at the time of exercise or at any time thereafter until the beginning of such extension of the Term, 
Tenant shall have the option (the “Extension Option”) to extend the Term for two (2) additional consecutive periods 
of  three (3) years (each, an “Extension Period”), by giving written notice to Landlord of the exercise of an 
Extension Option at least three (3) months, but not more than six (6) months, prior to the expiration of the initial 
Term, or the first Extension Period, as applicable.  The exercise of an Extension Option by Tenant shall be 
irrevocable and shall cover the entire Premises leased by Tenant pursuant to this Lease.  Upon such exercise, the 
Term of the Lease shall automatically be extended for the Extension Period without the execution of any further 
instrument by the parties; provided that Landlord and Tenant shall, if requested by either party, execute and 
acknowledge an instrument confirming the exercise of the Extension Option.   

The Extension Option shall terminate if not exercised precisely in the manner provided in this Exhibit B.  
Any extension of the Term shall be upon all the terms and conditions set forth in this Lease and all Exhibits thereto, 
except that:  (i) Tenant shall have only one further option to extend the Term of the Lease, or no further options after 
the second Extension Option is exercised; (ii) Landlord shall not be obligated to contribute funds toward the cost of 
any remodeling, renovation, alteration or improvement work in the Premises; and (iii) Base Rent for the Extension 
Period shall be Two Hundred Dollars ($200.00) more than the Base Rent in effect during the month immediately 
prior to the commencement of the applicable Extension Period. 



 

  Please Initial 
Exhibit C 
  ________   ________ 
  Landlord        Tenant 
 

EXHIBIT C 

REQUIRED SUBLEASE TERMS 

 
Use.   Subtenant shall use the Premises for the following use:  Restaurant and catering with counter and/or table 
service, selling food and beverages to eat in or to take-out, and for no other purpose.  Subtenant’s use of the 
Premises shall be consistent with the use of the Premises by Tenant and shall comply with the Lease.  Subtenant 
shall comply with each and every term of the Lease as if subtenant were the tenant under the Lease, in strict 
compliance with the Lease.  Subtenant shall not use the Premises in any manner which would constitute a violation 
of the Lease.  Subtenant agrees that it will commit no act or omission which would cause the Lease to be in default. 

Primacy of the Lease.  The sublease shall be subject and subordinate at all times to the Lease between Landlord and 
Tenant and all of its provisions, covenants and conditions.  In case of any conflict between the provisions of the 
Lease and the provisions of the sublease, the provisions of the Lease shall prevail unaffected by the Sublease. 

Defaults.  The sublease shall not release or discharge Tenant from any liability under the Lease between Landlord 
and Tenant, and Tenant shall remain liable and responsible for the full performance and observance of all of the 
provisions, covenants and conditions set forth in the Lease on the part of Tenant to be performed and observed.  Any 
breach or violation of any provision of the Lease by the subtenant shall be deemed to be and shall constitute a 
default by Tenant in fulfilling such provision.   

Insurance.  Subtenant shall maintain the insurance required under the Lease and shall, in addition to naming Tenant 
as an additional insured on its insurance policy, name Landlord as an additional insured on its insurance policy.  
Subtenant shall provide to Tenant and Landlord evidence of its insurance coverage in compliance with the Lease 
prior to the commencement date of sublease.   

Indemnity.  Subtenant hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Tenant and Landlord from and against any and 
all losses, liabilities, claims, costs, and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising out of or in any way 
related to Subtenant’s failure to perform its obligations under the sublease or arising out of its use of the Premises. 

  



 

  Please Initial 
Exhibit D 
  ________   ________ 
  Landlord        Tenant 
 

EXHIBIT D 

FORM OF LANDLORD CONSENT TO SUBLEASE 

[date] 
 
[address] 
 
  RE: Landlord Consent to Sublease 
 
Dear Table 6: 

Landlord hereby consents to the subletting of the Premises, as defined in a Retail Lease dated _________________, 
2014, by and between Metro and Table 6 (the “Master Lease”) by Table 6 to           [name of subtenant]            , 
pursuant to a sublease (the “Sublease

Nothing contained in this consent shall: 

”) dated _____________, ___________, such consent being subject to and 
upon the following terms and conditions: 

(a)  Operate as a consent to or approval or ratification by Landlord of any of the provisions of the 
Sublease or as a representation or warranty by Landlord, and Landlord shall not be bound or estopped in any way by 
the provisions of the Sublease; or 

(b) Be construed to modify, waive or affect (i) any of the provisions, covenants or conditions in the 
Master Lease, (ii) any of Tenant's obligations under the Master Lease, or (iii) any rights or remedies of Landlord 
under the Master Lease or otherwise or to enlarge or increase Landlord’s obligations or Tenant’s rights under the 
Master Lease or otherwise; or 

(c) Be construed to waive any present or future breach or default on the part of Tenant under the 
Master Lease.  In case of any conflict between the provisions of this Consent and the provisions of the Sublease, the 
provisions of this Consent shall prevail unaffected by the Sublease. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

__________________________________ 
on behalf of Metro 



Table 6 Staff Report for Res. 14-4586 (MD-14-59344) 

 

STAFF REPORT 
 
IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION  NO. 14-4586, FOR THE PURPOSE OF DECLARING THE 
PLAZA BUILDING SURPLUS PROPERTY, EXEMPTING THE TENANT FROM PAYING EXCISE 
TAX, AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A LEASE WITH TABLE 6    
        

Date: November 24, 2014     Prepared by: Rob Smoot 
                                                                                                                     503.797.1689  

 Rob.Smoot@OregonMetro.gov 
BACKGROUND 
 
On the Metro Regional Center campus, located at 600 NE Grand Avenue, Portland, Oregon 97232-2736 (the 
"MRC"), is a self-contained space situated in the northwest comer of the MRC containing 1,600 square feet, 
referred to as the "Plaza Building." 
 
Since 2002, a food service provider has leased the Plaza Building, serving the employees and guests of the MRC, 
the public and local businesses. Last June, Aramark, the last tenant of the Plaza Building, vacated the space. Staff 
contacted potential tenants and advertised a request for proposals for a new food service tenant/operator to lease 
the Plaza Building.  
 
Metro conducted an employee survey in June 2014 to determine the type of food provider Metro employees 
prefer.  Metro staff and leadership were clear that they wanted to find a tenant that could provide fresh, local, 
healthy and sustainable food options in the Plaza Building, for an affordable price. It was also clear from the 
survey that the food provider should be one that could prepare a variety of food types to satisfy the diverse 
preferences of our staff. Other key evaluation parameters included in the RFP were diversity of workforce and 
plans for sustainability.  
 
Three proposals were received and evaluated by a five member panel. The members of this panel were carefully 
selected for their expertise. They included a sustainability expert from OCC, an equity/diversity expert from 
Metro, a finance expert from Metro, a food service expert from OCC and a business expert from PDC.  
 
Following the panel evaluation, the two top scoring proposers provided lunch to 40 Metro staff members, who 
each provided an evaluation of the food. We also received 95 responses to a second survey asking staff to select 
which proposer’s 10-day menu they preferred. Based on evaluations and survey results, staff recommends Table 6 
as the new tenant and has negotiated a three-year lease with an option for two extensions. 
 
Table 6 operated in the MRC plaza this past summer under the name of Eleanora’s Cookbook. Table 6 will 
prepare and serve home-style meals for breakfast and lunch. They bake bread and do some cooking on-site, but 
will not be grilling indoors. The Plaza Building will seat approximately 35 people inside, and Table 6 will have 
the right to use a small portion of the MRC plaza as weather permits for additional seating or outdoor grilling. 
 
ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 
 
1. Known Opposition  -  None 
 
2. Legal Antecedents  -  Metro Code section 2.04.026(2) requires Metro Council approval for any contract to 

lease any real property owned by Metro.  
 
ORS Chapter 279.826 allows public agencies to lease real or personal property not needed for public use.  
 
Metro Code section 7.01.020 provides for users of Metro facilities to pay excise tax, unless exempted as 
provided therein.  

 
3. Anticipated Effects -  A Café/Deli is an excellent use of the Plaza Building.  Table 6 will provide the 

neighborhood with an affordable breakfast and lunch option during the work week. It is intended to promote a 



Table 6 Staff Report for Res. 14-4586 (MD-14-59344) 

 

positive image for Metro in revitalizing the neighborhood, and bringing people together. This use is consistent 
with the original vision for this space as retail use. 

 
Table 6 has offered to cater our in-house events such as Metro’s monthly Employee Service Award luncheon, 
New Employee Orientation, Policy, and Advisory Committee meetings.  This would be another benefit to 
Metro. 

  
Surplus Property: In accordance with State Law, the Metro Council must find that the Plaza Building is not 
needed for public use in order to execute the lease. 
 
Excise taxes: Table 6 desires to lease the Plaza Building from Metro, conditioned on an exemption from 
Metro excise tax (to the extent the tax is not fully paid through Table 6’s lease payment).  Imposing the Metro 
excise tax would be inconsistent with customary food service industry practice and might preclude leasing the 
Plaza Building to food service, deli or any other retail operation. Staff therefore recommends an exemption to 
the Metro excise tax for Table 6. The lease of the Plaza Building in 2002 to Big Town Hero, and more 
recently, the lease of the restaurant at the Glendoveer Golf Course to The Ring Side East in 2012, also 
included an exemption from paying excise tax on sales. 
 
Lease Instrument: The lease attached in Exhibit A of Resolution 14-4586 is a modified Building Owners and 
Managers Association (BOMA) form lease. 
 
Rent: The rent will start at $200 per month until January 1, 2016; and then increase to $500 per month. On or 
before the twelfth (12th) month and the eighteenth (18th) month of the Term, Table 6 shall submit to Metro a 
complete and correct financial statement showing in reasonable detail Table 6’s income and expenses for the 
twelve months or eighteen (18) months prior, as applicable.  The parties will negotiate in good faith any 
changes a party may desire to Base Rent or Additional Rent based on the Income Statements.   
 
Parking: Metro shall provide Table 6 one parking space at no charge in the adjacent garage.  
 
Effective Date and Terms: The lease calls for two three-year optional renewals. The lease will become 
effective upon the date of the last signature on the document; anticipated to be on or before December 15, 
2016. 
 
Improvements: Table 6 is responsible for all tenant improvements/repairs in the Plaza Building. 
Improvements/repairs include improved lighting, food preparation area, interior walls, and seating. Metro will 
be responsible for any improvements/repairs required to the HVAC and building exterior, except signage. No 
such needs are known or expected this fiscal year. 
 
Plaza: Metro will designate a portion of the MRC plaza for open-air dining. 
 
Signage: Only Metro approved signage may be used.  
 
Utilities, Insurance, and Other Expenses: Table 6 is responsible for electricity, water, insurance, security and 
janitorial. 

 
4. Budget Impacts  -  Lease payments for the first year will provide a total $2,400 of revenue to Metro. 

Payments thereafter will total $6,000 annually. This action will place the Plaza Building on the property tax 
rolls. We do not currently know what the impact will be, but will build this into the 2015-2016 budget year. 
We will review over time to better determine the proper split with the tenant. 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
  
The Chief Operating Officer recommends approval of Resolution 14-4586. 



Agenda Item No. 2.5  

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 14-4587, For the Purpose of Confirming the 
Council President’s Reappointment of Chris Erickson to the 

Metro Audit Committee 
 
 

Consent  Agenda  

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



Agenda Item No. 2.6  

 
 
 
 

Consideration of Council Meeting Minutes for November 
13, 2014 

 
Consent  Agenda  

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



Agenda Item No. 3.1 

 
 
 
 

Ordinance No. 14-1349, For the Purpose of Annexing to the 
Metro District Boundary Approximately 14.81 Acres Located 
North of NW Springville Road and East of NW Kaiser Road in 

the North Bethany Area of Washington County 
 

ORDINANCES (FIRST READ) 

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF ANNEXING TO THE 
METRO DISTRICT BOUNDARY APPROXI-
MATELY 14.81 ACRES LOCATED NORTH OF NW 
SPRINGVILLE ROAD AND EAST OF NW KAISER 
ROAD IN THE NORTH BETHANY AREA OF 
WASHINGTON COUNTY 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Ordinance No. 14-1349 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating Officer 
Martha Bennett with the Concurrence of 
Council President Tom Hughes 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Polygon Northwest Company LLC has submitted a complete application for 
annexation of 14.81 acres (“the territory”) located north of NW Springville Road and east of NW Kaiser 
Road in the North Bethany area to the Metro District; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Metro Council added the North Bethany area to the UGB, including the territory, 
by Ordinance No. 02-987A on December 5, 2002; and 
 

WHEREAS, Title 11 (Planning for New Urban Areas) of the Urban Growth Management 
Functional Plan requires annexation to the district prior to application of land use regulations intended to 
allow urbanization of the territory; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Metro has received consent to the annexation from the owners of the land in the 
territory; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed annexation complies with Metro Code 3.09.070; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council held a public hearing on the proposed amendment on December 11, 

2014; now, therefore, 
 
 THE METRO COUNCIL ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. The Metro District Boundary Map is hereby amended, as indicated in Exhibit A, attached 
and incorporated into this ordinance. 

 
2. The proposed annexation meets the criteria in section 3.09.070 of the Metro Code, as 

demonstrated in the Staff Report dated November 18, 2014, attached and incorporated 
into this ordinance. 

 
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ___ day of December 2014. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 _________________________________________  
Tom Hughes, Council President 
 

 
Attest: 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Alexandra Eldridge, Recording Secretary 

 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Alison Kean, Metro Attorney 

 

Page 1 Ordinance No. 14-1349 
 



Proposal No. AN-0514

NW
 14

6T
H 

AV
E

NW ENERGIA ST

NW
16

0 T
H

A V
E

NW
 M

CG
RE

GO
R 

TE
R

NW FRENCH LN

NW SPRINGVILLE RD

NW KYLE PL

NW GRAF ST

NW GREENWOOD DR

NW
SH

EL
SA

M
TE

R

N W
STARFLOW

ER
DR

NW SWEETGALE CT

NW
 15

9T
H 

AV
E

N W FESCUE CT

NW
BENNY DR

NW LINDY LN

NW
KA IS ER

RD

NW
 14

5T
H 

PL

NW SNO WLI L
Y

DR

NW
 G

OL
DE

NW
EE

D 
DR

NW SWEETGALE LN NW M A R GU ERITE LN

NW DAWNWOOD DR

NW 159TH PL

NW COUNTRYSIDE CT

NW TWOPONDS DR
NW

ALF ALF A DR
NW FAWNLILY DR

NW RICH CT

NW REMEMBRANCE CT

NW TWINFLOWER DR

NW GARGANY ST

NW TAENNLER CT

NW  CANTON S T

NW BRUGGER RD

NW OLD GERMANTOWN RD

NW ROSSETTA ST

NW
 C

ON
NE

RY
 TE

R

NW DEERFOOT LN

NW
 14

2N
D 

TE
R

NW NIGHTSHADE DR

NW RYEGRASS ST

NW
GERBER TER

NW
WESTBRO OK WAY

Annexation to the Metro District Boundary Washington County

Research Center
600 NE Grand Ave
Portland, OR 97232-2736
(503) 797-1742
http://www.oregonmetro.gov/drc

1:10,000IProposal No. AN-0514 Metro District Boundary

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

! ! !

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

Clark

Washington

Clackamas

Multnomah

Yamhill

Columbia

Marion

1N1W17

0 840 1,680
FeetArea to be annexed

Taxlots

Metro District Boundary

The information on this map was derived from digital databases on Metro's GIS.  Care
was taken in the creation of this map.  Metro cannot accept any responsibility for
errors, omissions, or positional accuracy.  There are no warranties, expressed or implied,
including the warranty of merchantabil ity or fitness for a particular purpose,
accompanying this product.  However, notification of any errors will be appreciated.

Exhibit A

Area 
to be 
Annexed

Area
to be 

Annexed



STAFF REPORT 
 
 

IN CONSIDERATION OF ORDINANCE NO. 14-1349, FOR THE PURPOSE OF ANNEXING 
TO THE METRO BOUNDARY APPROXIMATELY 14.81 ACRES LOCATED NORTH OF 
NW SPRINGVILLE ROAD AND EAST OF NW KAISER ROAD IN THE NORTH BETHANY 
AREA OF WASHINGTON COUNTY  
 

              
 
Date: November 18, 2014 Prepared by: Tim O’Brien  
   Principal Regional Planner 
 
BACKGROUND 
CASE:  AN-0514, Annexation to Metro District Boundary 
 
PETITIONER: Polygon Northwest Company, LLC  
  109 E 13th Street  
  Vancouver, WA 98660 
 
PROPOSAL:  The petitioner requests annexation of three parcels to the Metro District boundary. The 

applicant is currently in the process of annexing the subject properties to the necessary 
service districts in Washington County.  

 
LOCATION: The area is located in the North Bethany Area of Washington County, north of NW 

Springville Road and east of NW Kaiser Road. The area is 14.81 acres in size. A map of 
the area can be seen in Attachment 1. 

 
ZONING: The property is zoned for residential and institutional use (R-9 NB, R-15 NB R-24 NB & 

INST NB) by Washington County. 
 
The land was added to the UGB in 2002 and is part of the North Bethany Subarea Plan that was adopted 
by Washington County. The land must be annexed into the Metro District for urbanization to occur.  
 
APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA 
The criteria for an expedited annexation to the Metro District Boundary are contained in Metro Code 
Section 3.09.070. 
 
3.09.070 Changes to Metro’s Boundary 

(E) The following criteria shall apply in lieu of the criteria set forth in subsection (d) of section 
3.09.050. The Metro Council’s final decision on a boundary change shall include findings and 
conclusions to demonstrate that: 

1. The affected territory lies within the UGB; 
 
Staff Response: 
The subject parcel was brought into the UGB in 2002 through the Metro Council’s adoption of Ordinance 
No. 02-987A.   
 

2. The territory is subject to measures that prevent urbanization until the territory is annexed to 
a city or to service districts that will provide necessary urban services; and 

 

Staff Report in support of Ordinance No. 14-1349     Page 1 of 2 



Staff Response: 
The conditions of approval for Ordinance No. 02-987A include a requirement that Washington County 
apply interim protection measures for areas added to the UGB as outlined in Urban Growth Management 
Functional Plan Title 11: Planning for New Urban Areas. Title 11 requires that new urban areas be 
annexed into the Metro District Boundary prior to urbanization of the area. Washington County also 
requires the land to be annexed into the appropriate sanitary sewer, water, park and road service districts 
prior to urbanization occurring. The applicant is currently moving forward with the necessary annexation 
requirements with Washington County. These measures ensured that urbanization would occur only after 
annexation to the necessary service districts is completed. 
 

3. The proposed change is consistent with any applicable cooperative or urban service 
agreements adopted pursuant to ORS Chapter 195 and any concept plan.  

 
Staff Response: 
The property proposed for annexation is part of Washington County’s North Bethany County Service 
District, established by the County Board of Commissioners on June 7, 2011. The proposed annexation is 
consistent with that agreement and is required by Washington County as part of a land use application. 
The inclusion of the property within the Metro District is consistent with all applicable plans.  
 
ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 
 
Known Opposition: There is no known opposition to this application.   
 
Legal Antecedents: Metro Code 3.09.070 allows for annexation to the Metro District boundary. 
 
Anticipated Effects: This amendment will add approximately 14.81 acres to the Metro District. The land 
is currently within the UGB in unincorporated Washington County. Approval of this request will allow 
for the urbanization of the parcels to occur consistent with the North Bethany Subarea Plan. 
 
Budget Impacts: The applicant was required to file an application fee to cover all costs of processing this 
annexation request, thus there is no budget impact. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
  
Staff recommends adoption of Ordinance No. 14-1349. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Staff Report in support of Ordinance No. 14-1349     Page 2 of 2 



Proposal No. AN-0514

NW
 14

6T
H 

AV
E

NW ENERGIA ST

NW
16

0 T
H

A V
E

NW
 M

CG
RE

GO
R 

TE
R

NW FRENCH LN

NW SPRINGVILLE RD

NW KYLE PL

NW GRAF ST

NW GREENWOOD DR

NW
SH

EL
SA

M
TE

R

N W
STARFLOW

ER
DR

NW SWEETGALE CT

NW
 15

9T
H 

AV
E

N W FESCUE CT

NW
BENNY DR

NW LINDY LN

NW
KA IS ER

RD

NW
 14

5T
H 

PL

NW SNO WLI L
Y

DR

NW
 G

OL
DE

NW
EE

D 
DR

NW SWEETGALE LN NW M A R GU ERITE LN

NW DAWNWOOD DR

NW 159TH PL

NW COUNTRYSIDE CT

NW TWOPONDS DR
NW

ALF ALF A DR
NW FAWNLILY DR

NW RICH CT

NW REMEMBRANCE CT

NW TWINFLOWER DR

NW GARGANY ST

NW TAENNLER CT

NW  CANTON S T

NW BRUGGER RD

NW OLD GERMANTOWN RD

NW ROSSETTA ST

NW
 C

ON
NE

RY
 TE

R

NW DEERFOOT LN

NW
 14

2N
D 

TE
R

NW NIGHTSHADE DR

NW RYEGRASS ST

NW
GERBER TER

NW
WESTBRO OK WAY

Annexation to the Metro District Boundary Washington County

Research Center
600 NE Grand Ave
Portland, OR 97232-2736
(503) 797-1742
http://www.oregonmetro.gov/drc

1:10,000IProposal No. AN-0514 Metro District Boundary

!

!

!!!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

! ! !

!
!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

Clark

Washington

Clackamas

Multnomah

Yamhill

Columbia

Marion

1N1W17

0 840 1,680
FeetArea to be annexed

Taxlots

Metro District Boundary

The information on this map was derived from digital databases on Metro's GIS.  Care
was taken in the creation of this map.  Metro cannot accept any responsibility for
errors, omissions, or positional accuracy.  There are no warranties, expressed or implied,
including the warranty of merchantabil ity or fitness for a particular purpose,
accompanying this product.  However, notification of any errors will be appreciated.

Attachment 1

Area 
to be 
Annexed

Area
to be 

Annexed



Agenda Item No. 4.1  

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 14-4588, For the Purpose of Authorizing the 
Metro Chief Operating Officer to Execute the 2014 Metro – 

Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement  
 
 

RESOLUTIONS  
 

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



Page 1 Resolution No. 14-4588 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING 
THE METRO CHIEF OPERATING 
OFFICER TO EXECUTE THE 2014 
METRO -  OREGON ZOO FOUNDATION 
AGREEMENT 

)
)
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION NO. 14-4588 
 
Introduced by Metro Attorney Alison R. 
Kean in concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes 

 
 

 WHEREAS, The Oregon Zoo Foundation is a tax-exempt, non-profit Oregon corporation 
organized and operated exclusively for charitable, scientific, and educational purposes permitted by 
Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (“OZF”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the exclusive purpose of the OZF is to support and benefit the Oregon Zoo, a Metro-
owned and operated facility, and Metro has enjoyed a long and productive relationship with the OZF that 
serves as an important ingredient to the success of the Oregon Zoo; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the relationship between Metro and OZF has been governed by an agreement 
originally executed March 29, 1985, and periodically updated as follows: by amendment on November 
28, 1989, and April 2, 1997, amended and fully restated on May 9, 2002, and amended and fully restated 
on July 14, 2011 (the “Metro - OZF Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the primary purposes of the Metro - OZF Agreement are to: 1) link the missions of 
the two organizations in support of building a world class zoo; 2) establish the roles and responsibilities 
of the two entities while defining the clear separation between the two organizations; 3) govern the 
disbursement of funds raised by OZF to the Zoo; and 4) ensure transparency and maximum benefit for the 
Zoo; and   
 
 WHEREAS, Metro and OZF now wish to restate and replace the Metro - OZF Agreement to 
make the following improvements to the supporting relationship:  1) establish service level agreements to 
govern shared marketing and communications services; 2) institute a funding model that clearly maps the 
flow of funds from OZF to the Zoo; and 3) establish a grant request process to bring more structure and 
transparency to the process of obtaining OZF funding support for particular projects, now therefore 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED that the Metro Council authorizes the Metro Chief Operating Officer to 
execute the 2014 Metro – Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement, attached as Exhibit A. 
 
 ADOPTED by the Metro Council this    day of December 2014. 
 
 

 
Tom Hughes, Council President 

 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
       
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 1 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

2014 METRO – OREGON ZOO FOUNDATION AGREEMENT 
 

This Metro-Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement (“Agreement”), effective __________, 2014 (the 
“Effective Date”) is entered into by and between Metro, a municipal corporation and political subdivision 
of the state of Oregon, organized in accord with state law and the Metro Charter (“Metro”), and the 
Oregon Zoo Foundation, an independent Oregon non-profit public benefit corporation, recognized as tax 
exempt under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (“OZF” or “Foundation”), also collectively 
referred to herein as (“Party” or “Parties”).   
  

PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT 
 

The purpose of this Agreement is to formalize the working relationship between the Oregon Zoo 
Foundation and Metro.  Metro desires to continue to receive the support of the foundation, its board 
members, members and employees.  OZF and Metro wish to assure the continued success and prosperous 
growth of the Oregon Zoo in the future.   

 
RECITALS 

 
A. Metro, a municipal corporation, owns and operates The Oregon Zoo (also, the “Zoo”), pursuant to 

Oregon law and Metro Charter.  The terms “Metro” and “Zoo” are used interchangeably herein. 
 
B. OZF is an independent tax-exempt Oregon nonprofit public benefit corporation organized to 

support the Zoo via fundraising, advocacy and community relations in consultation and 
collaboration with Metro.  OZF is governed by a volunteer Board of Trustees composed of 
community leaders and representatives of leading businesses and organizations (OZF Board). 

 
C. Metro and OZF are committed to working collaboratively to achieve the shared goal of making 

the Zoo a world-class institution and a leader in best practices for animal welfare, guest services, 
conservation action and education. 

 
D. Metro acknowledges that OZF is an invaluable asset to the Zoo, and OZF’s historic fund raising 

and support has made it an essential ongoing partner in sustaining the Zoo and its mission.  OZF’s 
independent 501(c)(3) status provides the Zoo with the opportunity to benefit from charitable 
giving that Metro would otherwise not receive, and the flexibility of this funding, applied to 
facilitate work that Metro could not otherwise perform, has provided much needed assistance to 
the Zoo. To enable OZF to best facilitate this charitable giving, Metro and OZF agree that 
stewardship of zoo donors is a shared interest best accomplished through collaboration on 
mutually beneficial programs and processes and coordinated strategic planning of messages, 
events and funding priorities. 

 
E. A framing principal that guides all that follows is the understanding that the Oregon zoo is a 

treasured community asset that provides a special bond for the region and its citizens. As such, 
both parties agree to pursue activities in a manner that enhances the zoo vision and mission 
relative to conservation, education and animal welfare, while also maintaining and enhancing the 
quality of the on-campus experience afforded to the visitors. The ability to enhance both the 
mission and experience associated with the zoo is the clearest way to ensure that the zoo brand 
maintains the highest standing possible. 

 

Page 1 of 95



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 2 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

F. Both Metro and OZF wish to amend the agreement between OZF and Metro dated July 1, 2011, 
and entitled “Metro – Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement.” 

 
H. The purpose of this Agreement is to establish the roles and responsibilities of Metro and OZF 

with respect to each other and their shared goals. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE: 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

Metro and OZF, in reliance on the above recitals and in consideration of the mutual covenants 
and agreements set forth herein, and for other valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which 
are hereby acknowledged, agree to the following terms: 
 
1. Metro – OZF Relationship 
 

1.1 Metro and OZF agree that, during the term hereof, each party shall act in its individual 
capacity and not as agents, employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one 
another, and that nothing in this Agreement, nor the Parties’ acts or failures to act 
hereunder, shall constitute or be construed by the parties, or by any third person, to create 
an employment, partnership, joint venture, association or joint employer relationship 
between them.  Metro and OZF agree that, as independent and separate entities, each 
shall maintain a staff and management structure independent of the other during the term 
hereof. 

 
1.2 Metro is subject to Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) rule and 

regulation.  OZF, by GASB definition, is a component unit of Metro and has been 
reported as such since 2003. OZF agrees to provide to Metro audited financial statements 
in a timely manner to allow Metro to continue to meet the GASB requirements.  OZF 
agrees that, if GASB rules change during the term of this Agreement, OZF will provide 
Metro with any and all financial information and reporting needed by Metro to allow 
Metro to fully comply with GASB requirements. 

 
2. OZF Duties and Responsibilities.  OZF shall: 

 
2.1 Purpose.  OZF shall maintain articles of incorporation establishing that the sole and 

exclusive purpose of OZF is to support and benefit the Oregon Zoo. 
 
2.2 Operate the Foundation through the OZF Director, who is the Foundation’s chief 

executive officer responsible for day-to-day operation of the Foundation and management 
of the OZF staff.  

 
2.3 Use of Funds. Ensure that all funds raised, donated or contributed to OZF in excess of 

those necessary to cover OZF expenses or earmarked by donors or the OZF Board to 
support operation of the Foundation are disbursed in support of the Zoo vision, strategy 
and Master Plan, including world-wide conservation efforts and other programs 
supported and approved by the Zoo or in reimbursement of Zoo expenses in accordance 
with the OZF/Zoo Service Level Agreements and Funding and Distribution Model (see 
Sections 3.7 and 5.12 below).   

 

Page 2 of 95



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 3 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

2.4 Advocacy.  In coordination and collaboration with the Zoo Director, advocate in support 
of, and foster community pride and involvement with, the Zoo. 

 
2.5 OZF Membership Services.  Provide Membership Services, which shall be defined as 

including, but not limited to: personnel and general administrative costs to service 
members, materials, mailings, social media efforts, acquisition and renewal costs for 
members, and costs for member events. 

 
2.6 Perform such other services to benefit the Zoo as agreed to by the Parties, provided that 

all OZF services and activities will be consistent with maintaining its status as a tax-
exempt, non-profit corporation. 

 
2.7 Undertake the activities set forth in this Section 2 at OZF’s expense except as provided in 

Section 5 of this Agreement or as otherwise agreed to by the Parties. 
 
2.8 Operate in compliance with Metro policies and code provisions governing Metro 

Facilities, including those policies and provisions pertaining to naming rights and 
sponsorships set forth in Metro Code, Chapter 2.16, “Naming of Facilities,” and Metro 
Code, Chapter 2.04, Section 2.04.054(b). 

 
2.9 Duties on Dissolution.  Upon dissolution of OZF, after payment or provision for payment 

of all OZF liabilities, assets of OZF shall be distributed to Metro, a Metro approved tax-
exempt successor operating the Oregon Zoo, or to another Metro approved tax-exempt, 
non-profit corporation established for the purpose of supporting the Oregon Zoo.  Use of 
such OZF assets are subject to the restrictions in paragraph 3.11 below. 

 
2.10 Changes to Articles and Bylaws.  OZF shall promptly provide Metro with written notice 

and an updated copy of its articles of incorporation and corporate bylaws any time they 
are amended, restated or otherwise changed. 

 
2.11 OZF Annual Operating Budget.  Maintain all fiscal records relating to its activities in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  The OZF shall adopt and 
publish an annual operating budget on or before July 7 of each fiscal year.  During the 
budgeting process OZF will collaborate with finance staff of the Oregon Zoo to provide 
preliminary budget information and make every reasonable effort to provide updates 
regarding changes in the budget and related assumptions prior to presentation to the OZF 
board of trustees for approval. 

 
2.12 Upon termination of this Agreement, cease using the Oregon Zoo name, and cease 

representing the Zoo in fundraising activity.  
  
2.13 The OZF shall purchase and maintain at OZF’s expense, the types of insurance listed 

below covering OZF, its employees and agents.  The OZF shall provide Metro with a 
certificate of insurance complying with this Agreement within thirty (30) days of 
executing this Agreement.  Notice of any material change or policy cancellation shall be 
provided to Metro thirty (30) days prior to any change. 

 
2.13.1 The most recently approved ISO (Insurance Services Offices) Commercial 

General Liability policy, or its equivalent, written on an occurrence basis, with 
limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and $1,000,000 in the 
aggregate, providing coverage against claims for bodily injury, death, personal 

Page 3 of 95



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 4 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

injury, property damage, contractual liability, premises and products /completed 
operations.  Said Commercial General Liability policy shall name Metro, its 
elected officials, officers, employees and agents as additional insureds.  OZF’s 
coverage will be primary as respects Metro. 

 
2.13.2 Workers’ Compensation insurance providing coverage for Oregon statutory 

requirements, including Employer’s Liability Insurance with limits not less than 
$500,000 each accident. 

 
2.13.3 Automobile Liability Insurance with limits not less than $1,000,000 each 

occurrence, combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage 
including coverage for owned, non-owned, and hired vehicles, including loading 
and unloading operations.  If coverage is written with an aggregate limit, the 
aggregate limit shall not be less than $1,000,000.  Said Automobile Liability 
Insurance policy shall name Metro, its elected officials, officers, employees and 
agents as additional insureds.  

 
2.13.4 Non-Profit Directors and Officers Insurance to protect the directors, officers and 

board members (past, present, and future) of OZF.  Coverage shall include 
employment practices liability coverage, which must also include employees as 
insureds, with limits not less than $1,000,000.  

 
2.13.5 Crime and employee dishonesty insurance covering all OZF officers and 

employees, with limits of not less than $1,000,000, with a deductible of no more 
than $10,000. 

 
3. Metro Duties and Responsibilities.  Metro shall: 
 

3.1 Operate the Zoo, including the volunteer, education and conservation programs, and, 
through the Zoo Director, manage the Zoo operations, staff and volunteers. 

 
3.2 Through the Zoo Director and in collaboration with the OZF, establish the vision, 

strategy and Master Plan for the Zoo, as approved by the Metro Chief Operating Officer 
and the Metro Council. 

 
3.3 Through the Zoo Director, manage the implementation of the Zoo vision, strategy and 

Master Plan. 
 
3.4 Through the Zoo Director, consult and collaborate with OZF in its efforts to develop and 

provide financial and community support for the zoo and actively engage in the 
solicitation and cultivation of donors to the OZF. 

 
3.5 Through the Zoo Director, undertake the lead role in external public relations for the Zoo, 

engaging the public in support of the Zoo vision, strategy and Master Plan.  The Zoo 
Director shall serve as the official public spokesperson for the Zoo. 

 
3.6 Grant permission to OZF to use its name, “The Oregon Zoo” in OZF’s name and fund 

raising materials with membership drives, newsletters, annual reports and such other 
matters as the Parties shall agree.  Other OZF uses for “The Oregon Zoo” shall be 
mutually pre-approved by the Zoo Director and the OZF Director prior to use.   

 

Page 4 of 95



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 5 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

3.7 Provide OZF the following services:  
 

3.7.1 OZF staff office space, OZF meeting space, and other indoor or outdoor space as 
agreed by the Parties, telephone and internet services, utilities, and any other 
needed services associated with using the office space provided.  Employee 
parking in Zoo controlled spaces is limited.  The Zoo expects to transition to a 
paid model for employee spaces in the future.  When implemented, the 
methodology for parking space assignment and monthly fees for OZF staff will 
be consistent with the method used for non-represented Zoo employees. 

 
3.7.2 Living collections, guest services, facilities maintenance, information and 

marketing services pursuant to the OZF/Zoo Services Level Agreements, 
attached hereto as Attachment A. 

 
3.8 Confidential Information.  Metro and OZF agree to keep confidential all records or 

information identified by the originating party as “Confidential Information.”   
“Confidential Information” means any information received, held by, or disclosed to 
either party to this agreement by the other, either directly or indirectly in writing, orally, 
graphically, electronically or by inspection of tangible objects, including without 
limitation information, records, documents, and databases.   Confidential Information 
may also include information disclosed to OZF or Metro by third parties.  Confidential 
Information shall be identified as such by means of the mark “Confidential,” or if 
electronic, if saved in a directory titled “Confidential.”  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Metro’s disclosure of Confidential Information shall be governed by the Oregon Public 
Records law, (ORS Chapter 192) which requires public disclosure by Metro of most 
information held by Metro that is deemed to be “public records” upon request of a 
member of the public.  An exception to disclosure exists for confidential submissions; 
however Metro cannot guarantee that it will protect the confidentiality of OZF’s 
Confidential Information if Metro receives a public records request and order by the 
Multnomah County District Attorney seeking disclosure of the Confidential 
Information.  In the event Metro receives such a request by a member of the public, 
Metro shall promptly provide OZF of notice of such request, and a copy of Metro’s 
response denying it.  If said denial is appealed to the Multnomah County District 
Attorney, Metro will provide OZF with prompt notice of the appeal and an opportunity to 
defend the denial on Metro’s behalf.  If the appeal results in an order by the District 
Attorney requiring disclosure of the Confidential Information, Metro will provide OZF 
with prompt notice of the order and an opportunity to: (a) appeal the District Attorney’s 
decision to the State courts on Metro’s behalf and receive a ruling there from; or (b) 
allow OZF to apply for injunctive relief from the applicable Oregon authority to prevent 
Metro from disclosing the Confidential Information to the media or other members of the 
public. 

 
3.9 Provide reciprocal Zoo admission for members of recognized societies formed under the 

auspices of national and/or international zoos, provided that said reciprocal admission 
shall be reviewed annually by the Zoo Director and OZF Director and may be limited or 
terminated by mutual agreement. 

 
3.10 Provide space for special events and member events pursuant to the attached Service 

Level Agreement(s).  The nature and dates of these events shall be determined by the 
Parties’ mutual agreement and in coordination with the Zoo Director and staff. 

 

Page 5 of 95



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 6 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

3.11 If Metro receives OZF assets as a result of termination or dissolution, Metro shall 
maintain and distribute such funds as restricted funds for the exclusive benefit of the Zoo, 
and subject to any additional restrictions placed on those funds by donors. 

 
4. Coordination Between Metro and OZF.  Metro and OZF will coordinate their efforts to 

accomplish their goals and purposes as effectively as possible, recognizing that transparency and 
extensive and consistent communication between the two organizations is essential to the strength 
of the relationship.  Specifically: 

 
4.1 The Zoo Director and two Metro Councilors, appointed by the Metro Council President, 

shall serve as non-voting ex-officio members of the OZF Board.  The Councilors shall 
not be counted for purposes of calculating OZF Board quorum and voting requirements.  
Metro and the OZF shall ensure that each are fully informed of all relevant developments 
occurring at their respective institutions, through one-on-one meetings between the OZF 
Director and the Zoo Director, and mutual participation in all relevant operational 
meetings of the Parties. 

 
4.2 An Annual Report will be jointly published by OZF and the Oregon Zoo. 
 
4.3 The OZF Board and the Metro Council shall meet annually to share information about 

OZF and the Zoo, review past fiscal year accomplishments, new fiscal year plans and 
priorities and present and discuss the Annual Report. 

 
5. OZF Memberships, Allocation of Membership Revenues, Sponsorships and Contributions.   
 

5.1 Funding and Distribution Model.  The primary purpose of the Foundation is to provide 
resources to support the funding priorities of the Oregon Zoo.  In doing so, the 
Foundation is guided by the “Funding and Distribution Model” attached hereto as 
Attachment B.  The purpose of the Funding and Distribution Model is to align the 
Foundation’s role as a funding organization in support of the zoo’s strategic objectives, 
give greater clarity as to the intended use of funds and provide a structure that provides 
transparency and engages the community. Funds will be provided to the zoo through a 
granting process that is further spelled out in the Large Grant and Advancement Grant 
policies attached hereto as Attachments C and D.  
 

5.2 OZF Membership 
 
5.2.1 Basic Memberships. Until updated pursuant to paragraph 5.2.2, OZF shall 

disburse annually to the Oregon Zoo the sum of $ 2,000,000 (two million).  The 
annual disbursement amount is to represent revenues from the sale of 
memberships below the “Donor Club” level, currently the “Household” level and 
below, or its future equivalent (“Basic Membership levels”) less a provision for 
the cost of administration of the membership program. Such funds shall be 
disbursed quarterly to the Oregon Zoo and, except as provided in this paragraph, 
are not subject to the OZF administrative reimbursement/granting process in the 
“Funding and Distribution model.” 

 
5.2.2 The amount of funds disbursed to the Oregon Zoo as revenue from the sale of 

Basic Membership levels shall be calculated and reviewed by the Oregon Zoo 
and OZF annually in December for a July implementation and adjusted to 65% of 
total revenue from Basic Membership levels as disclosed in the Statement of 

Page 6 of 95



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 7 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

Activities of OZF’s audited financial statements.  The 65% ratio is a guideline 
that should be reviewed in the event of a material change in membership 
demographics or revenue.  

 
5.2.3 For years in which there is an admissions fee increase implemented at the Oregon 

Zoo, such increase shall be calculated into the base membership fee using the 
AZA acknowledge national average ratio of the price of a zoo membership to the 
price of admission; currently the cost of admission for a family of two adults and 
two children multiplied by 2.5, The pro-rata percentage membership increase 
shall be added to the required disbursement amount in the interim until such 
increase is reflected in the amounts disclosed in OZFs annual audited financial 
statements.  Any change to admissions fee or fee structure should be coordinated 
between parties and determined at least six months prior to adoption. 

 
5.2.4 Donor Club Membership.  Revenues from the sale of memberships at the current 

“Patron,” “Sponsor” and “Benefactor” level or above (“Donor Club”), or their 
future equivalents, shall be directed to OZF to be distributed in accordance with 
the “Funding and Distribution Model” process. 

 
5.3 Strategic Sponsorships. 

 
5.3.1    Pursuant to the OZF Strategic Sponsorship Policy (see below), OZF and Metro 

shall enter into sponsorships for the purpose of securing financial support for the 
zoo’s conservation, education and animal welfare programs (“Strategic 
Sponsorships”).   

 
5.3.2  Strategic sponsorships must align with and support the Zoo’s mission, priorities 

and organizational objectives as well as broader Metro values including Respect 
and Sustainability. OZF will refrain from entering into strategic sponsorship 
agreements with companies that are inconsistent with Metro’s, the zoo’s and 
OZF’s missions and values and/or have the potential to damage the zoo’s or 
OZF’s image due to the nature of the sponsor’s products, services or reputation. 

 
5.3.3 Selection Criteria. In determining which corporations or other entities may be 

accepted for the strategic sponsorship program and continue as sponsors, OZF 
shall consider the following criteria: whether the sponsor’s products or services 
and mission and values are compatible with and support Metro’s, the Oregon 
Zoo’s and OZF’s missions and values; potential sponsors must not compete with 
zoo vendors who have exclusivity rights; the sponsor must have a high degree of 
integrity, strong corporate reputation and track record of maintaining a high level 
of product or service quality; and the sponsor must demonstrate ethical business 
practices and a positive public image.  (See OZF Strategic Sponsorship Policy 
and Sponsorship Steering Committee Description and Process attached hereto as 
Attachments E and F) 

 
5.3.4 Revenue Sharing.  To reimburse the Zoo for expenses in connection with the 

Strategic Sponsorship Program, revenue received from Strategic Sponsors shall 
be initially disbursed to the Oregon Zoo based on the ratio of 40% (FORTY 
PERCENT) to the Oregon Zoo and 60% (SIXTY PERCENT) to OZF to be used 
in accordance with the Funding and Distribution Model. The continuance of the 

Page 7 of 95



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 8 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

60/40 ratio is a guideline that shall be reviewed annually to validate the 
appropriateness of this revenue sharing ratio. 

 
5.4 Capital Campaigns.  

 
5.4.1 To reimburse OZF the costs of conducting a capital campaign, funds raised 

pursuant to fundraising for a capital project (Capital Campaign) will be disbursed 
to the Oregon Zoo based on the ratio of 90% (NINETY PERCENT) to the 
Oregon Zoo (“Capital Campaign Zoo Allocation”) and 10% (TEN PERCENT) to 
OZF.  Any Capital Campaign Zoo Allocation will be disbursed directly to the 
Oregon Zoo for use consistent with the Capital Campaign, including the cost of 
donor recognition, and, except as provided in this paragraph, is not subject to the 
OZF administrative reimbursement/granting process in the Funding and 
Distribution Model process.  

 
5.4.2 In the event OZF wishes to pursue fundraising for a Capital Campaign in support 

of the Oregon Zoo that is not included in the Master Plan, OZF must enter into a 
project agreement with Metro.   

 
5.4.3 At the end of each Capital Campaign, OZF and Metro will meet to conduct a 

review of the campaign and produce an executive summary of campaign 
achievements, an evaluation of the ratio of total donations to cost and staff time 
invested, and lessons learned.  

 
5.5 Other Contributions. Unless otherwise provided for in this Section, all other gifts, 

contributions, bequests and funds raised by or donated to OZF in support of the Oregon 
Zoo shall be directed to OZF to be distributed to the Oregon Zoo in accordance with the 
Funding and Distribution Model process. 

 
5.6 OZF agrees to promptly deposit all funds it receives from any source, unless otherwise 

directed by the donor, to bank accounts controlled by the OZF Board.  The OZF Board 
will direct the future investment and disposition of these funds consistent with the terms 
and objectives of this Agreement, the Funding and Distribution Model and according to 
OZF’s approved investment policies. 

 
6. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement shall become effective when signed by both Parties.  The 

term shall be five years, and shall automatically renew annually for successive five year terms, 
unless terminated in accord with section 7. 

 
7. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by either Party for cause or convenience, 

subject to the requirements set forth in this section.  The rights and obligations of the parties set 
forth in sections 2.9, 2.12, 3.11, 7.3 and 9 shall survive and not be limited by any termination of this 
Agreement.  Notices of termination must be issued in one of the two forms set forth below: 

 
7.1 Termination for Cause.  If either party determines that a material breach of the terms of 

this Agreement has occurred, the aggrieved party shall promptly provide written notice of 
such breach, reasonably documenting said breach and demanding that the breach be 
cured.  The breaching party shall thereafter cure said breach within 10 days of receipt of 
said notice.  If the breaching party fails to so cure, or under circumstances where the 
breach cannot reasonably be cured within a 10-day period, fails to begin curing such 
violation within the 10-day period, or after 10-days has expired fails to continue 

Page 8 of 95



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 9 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

diligently to cure the breach until finally cured, the aggrieved party may, at its sole 
discretion, immediately submit the matter to mediation in accord with Section 10.7 
(“Mediation”).  If the aggrieved party is unable to resolve the breach to its satisfaction via 
Mediation, the aggrieved party may provide written notice of termination, which notice 
shall be effective immediately upon receipt.  The exercise of this termination right shall 
not extinguish or prejudice the terminating party’s right to seek damages and enforcement 
of the terms of this Agreement in a court of competent jurisdiction with respect to any 
breach that has not been cured. 

 
7.2 Termination for Convenience.  The party wishing to terminate for convenience shall 

promptly notify the other party in writing of the decision to terminate and submit the 
matter to Mediation.  The purpose of the Mediation shall be to negotiate in good faith the 
continuation of the relationship on the same, similar or different terms.  If the parties are 
unable to agree upon the continuation of the relationship through Mediation, the 
terminating party shall notify the other party of this failure and the Agreement shall 
immediately terminate.   

 
7.3 Orderly Transition Period.  To minimize disruption to existing programs and the financial 

support of the Oregon Zoo, in the event of termination under this paragraph, OZF and 
Metro shall cooperate in good faith to effect an orderly transition not to exceed 60 days 
from the date termination becomes effective. 

 
8. Amendments.   

 
8.1 This Agreement may be amended at any time by a written agreement signed by both 

Parties. 
 
8.2 Attachments A-F may be revised and replaced from time to time as needed without 

formal approval of the Parties’ governing bodies, by mutual agreement of the Metro 
Chief Operating Officer or designee and the OZF Director.  Said revised attachments 
shall be only be effective when signed and dated by the Metro Chief Operating Officer or 
designee and OZF Director. 

 
9. Indemnification. 
 

9.1 OZF agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Metro, its elected officials, officers, 
agents and employees, against all loss, damage, expenses, and liability, whether arising in 
tort, contract or by operation of any statute or common law, relating to or arising out of 
any claims, demands, judgments or other determination that OZF is not an independent 
contractor as set forth in Section 1.1. 

 
9.2 OZF shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Metro, its elected officials, officers, 

agents and employees, against all loss, damage, expenses, judgments, claims and liability, 
whether arising in tort, contract or by operation of any statute or common law, arising out 
of OZF’s performance of, or failure to perform, this Agreement. 

 
9.3 Metro shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless OZF and its officers, agents and 

employees, against all loss, damage, expenses, judgments, claims and liability, whether 
arising in tort, contract or by operation of any statute or common law, arising out of or in 
any way connected to Metro’s performance of, or failure to perform, this Agreement, 

Page 9 of 95



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 10 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

subject to the limitations and conditions of the Oregon Constitution and the Oregon Tort 
Claims Act, ORS Chapter 30. 

 
9.4 The foregoing indemnification, defense, and hold harmless provisions are for the sole and 

exclusive benefit of OZF, Metro, and their respective elected officials, officers, 
employees, and agents, and are not intended, nor shall they be construed, to confer any 
rights on or liabilities to any person or persons other than Metro, OZF and their 
respective elected officials, officers, employees and agents. 

 
9.5 Each Party hereby waives any and every claim during the term of this Agreement or any 

extension or renewal thereof for any loss or damage covered by an insurance policy to the 
extent that such loss or damage is recovered under said insurance policy.  Inasmuch as 
the waiver will preclude the assignment of any aforesaid claim by way of subrogation (or 
otherwise) to an insurance company (or any other person) the Parties are advised to give 
each insurance company written notice of terms of such waiver, and to have insurance 
policies properly endorsed, if necessary. 

 
10. Miscellaneous Provisions. 

 
10.1 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties 

on the matter addressed herein, and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous oral or 
written communications, agreements or representations relating to its subject matter, 
including, but not limited to, that certain agreement between Metro and the Friends of the 
Washington Park Zoo, dated March 29, 1985, amended as of November 28, 1989 and 
April 2, 1997, and amended and fully restated as of May 9, 2002, and that certain 
agreement between OZF and Metro dated July 1, 2011, and entitled “Metro – Oregon 
Zoo Foundation Agreement”.  No waiver, consent, modification or change of terms of 
this Agreement shall bind either Party unless in writing and signed by both Parties.  The 
failure of a Party to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver 
by any Party of that or any other provision. 

 
10.2 Agreement Subject to Regulatory Requirements.  Metro and OZF agree that the terms of 

this Agreement and the Parties’ duties hereunder are subject to federal, state and local 
regulatory requirements, including but not limited to requirements imposed by the City of 
Portland as conditions of land use approval. 

 
10.3 Notices.  Notices will be deemed received upon personal service or upon deposit in the 

United States Mail, certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested addressed as 
follows: 

 
To OZF: Oregon Zoo Foundation 
  OZF Director 
  4001 SW Canyon Road 
  Portland, Oregon 97221 
  Fax No. (503) 223-9323 
  Phone No.  (503) 220-5747 
 
To Metro: Metro 
  Office of Metro Attorney 
  600 NE Grand Avenue 
  Portland, Oregon 97232-2736 

Page 10 of 95



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 11 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

  Fax No.  (503) 797-1792 
  Phone No.  (503) 797-1534 
 
Copy to: Oregon Zoo 
  Oregon Zoo Director 
  4001 SW Canyon Road 
  Portland, Oregon 97221 
  Fax No. (503) 226-6836 
  Phone No.  (503) 220-2450 

 
The foregoing addresses may be changed by written notice, given in the same manner.  
Notice given in any manner other than the manner set forth above shall be effective when 
received by the Party for whom it is intended.  Telephone and fax numbers are for 
information only. 

 
10.4 No Benefit to Third Parties.  Metro and OZF are the only Parties to this Agreement and 

as such are the only Parties entitled to enforce its terms.  Nothing in this Agreement gives 
or shall be construed to give or provide any benefit, direct, indirect, or otherwise to third 
parties unless third persons are expressly described as intended to be beneficiaries of its 
terms. 

 
10.5 Headings/Construction.  Titles of the sections of this Agreement are inserted for 

convenience of reference only and shall be disregarded in construing or interpreting any 
of its provisions.  In construing this Agreement, singular pronouns shall be taken to mean 
and include the plural and the masculine pronoun shall be taken to mean and include the 
feminine and the neuter, as the context may require. 

 
10.6 Waivers.  No waiver made by either Party with respect to the performance, or manner or 

time thereof, of any obligation of the other Party or any condition inuring to either Party’s 
benefit under this Agreement shall be considered a waiver of any other rights of that 
Party. No waiver by either Party of any provision of this Agreement or any breach 
thereof, shall be of any force or effect unless in writing; and no such waiver shall be 
construed to be a continuing waiver. 

 
10.7 Mediation. The parties agree to promptly submit disagreements and disputes to 

nonbinding mediation, including concerning termination of the Agreement pursuant to 
Article 7 above.  Unless otherwise agreed to by the parties, such mediation shall take 
place promptly in Portland, Oregon. The mediator and the ground rules for mediation 
shall be determined by mutual agreement. Each party shall pay its own costs for the 
mediation (including attorney fees), and shall share equally the costs of the mediator.  In 
the event the parties are unable to agree to a mediator within thirty days of either party’s 
written request for mediation, or a party fails or refuses to proceed with the mediation, 
then the other party may file suit in the Circuit Court of the State of Oregon for 
Multnomah County at Portland, Oregon, to select a mediator and compel mediation.  The 
mediation process must be conducted and conclude within 45-days of the selection of the 
mediator.  In the event there is an emergency or a matter of sufficient urgency of any sort 
that an immediate hearing/decision is needed to resolve the issue, dispute, emergency, or 
matter, then any party may file suit in the Circuit Court of the State of Oregon for 
Multnomah County at Portland, Oregon, to seek an injunction, a mandatory injunction, or 
other suitable relief.  Each party shall pay its own costs for such suit, action or proceeding 
(including attorney fees).  Except as set for the above, neither party may commence 

Page 11 of 95



 D R A F T (as of 11-19-14)  
 

Page 12 of 12 – Metro/Oregon Zoo Foundation Agreement - 2014 
 

litigation on any claim unless such claim has been properly raised and considered in the 
mediation process provided herein.  Metro and OZF agree to submit to the jurisdiction of 
the Circuit Court of the State of Oregon for Multnomah County and consent to service of 
process by e-mail or fax, followed by certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed in 
accordance with the notice provision set forth herein.      

 
10.8 Choice of Law/Place of Enforcement.  This Agreement shall be construed, governed and 

enforced in accord with the laws of Oregon.  Any action or suit to enforce or construe any 
provision of this Agreement by any Party shall be brought in the Circuit Court of the 
State of Oregon for Multnomah County, or the United States District Court for the 
District of Oregon in Portland, Oregon. 

 
10.9 Severability. In the event that any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall 

for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, in whole or in part, or in 
any other respect, then such provision or provisions shall be deemed null and void and 
shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the Agreement, which shall remain 
operative and in full force and effect to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

 
10.10 Successors and Assigns.  Subject to and except as otherwise set forth herein, the benefits 

conferred by this Agreement, and the obligations assumed hereunder, shall inure to the 
benefit of and bind the successors and assigns of the Parties. 

 
10.11 The signature of the OZF Chair below has been duly authorized by OZF Board of 

Directors. 
 
/ / / 
 
/ / / 
 
 
METRO 
 
 
By:       
 Martha Bennett 
 Chief Operating Officer 

Date:       
 

OREGON ZOO FOUNDATION 
 
 
By:       
 Kim Overhage 
 Chair, OZF Board of Trustees 

Date:       
 

 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
A. OZF/Zoo Service Level Agreements 
B. Funding and Distribution Model 
C. OZF Large Grant Policy 
D. OZF Advancement Grants Policy 
E. OZF Strategic Sponsorship Policy 
F. Sponsorship Steering Committee Description and Process 

Page 12 of 95



 

Draft OZF-GS Service Level Agreement Rev5a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

 
Guest Services Service Level Agreement (SLA) 

for the Oregon Zoo Foundation 

by the Oregon Zoo 

 
Effective Date: XX‐XX‐XXXX 
 
 
 

Document Owners:  Zoo Director 

OZF Director 

 

Version 
 

Version  Date  Description  Author 

1.0  XX‐XX‐XXXX  Service Level Agreement  Cary Stacey 

1.1  XX‐XX‐XXXX  Service Level Agreement Revised   

       

 

Approval 

(By signing below, all Approvers agree to all terms and conditions outlined in this Agreement.) 

 

Approvers  Role  Signed  Approval Date 

Metro COO  Oversight of 
Service Provider 
(zoo) 

  XX‐XX‐XXXX 

OZF Board Chair  Client    XX‐XX‐XXXX 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 13 of 95Exhibits A



 

2 
Draft OZF-GS Service Level Agreement Rev5a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Table	of	Contents	
 
1. Agreement Overview   3  

2. Purpose, Goals & Objectives  3  

3. Governance and Periodic Review  3  

4. Roles and Responsibilities  4  

4.1 General Expectations  4  

5. Service Agreement  5  

5.1 Service Scope and Requirements by Activity  5  

Catering and event planning  5  

Admissions  6  

Office support  7  

5.2 Service Assumptions  7  

6. Service Management  8  

6.1 Service Requests  8  

6.2 Decision Making and Dispute Resolution   8  

Appendix A: Service costs  9  

Page 14 of 95Exhibits A



 

3 
Draft OZF-GS Service Level Agreement Rev5a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

1. Agreement Overview 
 
This Agreement  represents  a  Service  Level Agreement  (“SLA”)  between  the Oregon  Zoo  and  the 
Oregon  Zoo  Foundation  for  the  provision  of  guest  services  required  to  support  and  sustain  the 
Oregon Zoo Foundation. 
 
This SLA remains valid until superseded by a revised SLA mutually endorsed by the stakeholders. 
 
This SLA outlines the parameters of all guest services covered as they are mutually understood by 
the primary  stakeholders.  This  SLA does not  supersede  current processes  and procedures unless 
explicitly stated herein. 

2. Purpose, Goals & Objectives 
 

The purpose of  this SLA  is  to ensure  that  the proper elements and  commitments are  in place  to 
provide consistent guest services support and delivery to the Oregon Zoo Foundation by the Oregon 
Zoo in support of the two organizations’ shared goals.  

 
The shared goals of Oregon Zoo Guest Services and the Oregon Zoo Foundation are to: 

 Make the zoo a world‐class institution and a world‐wide leader in creating engaging 
experiences and advancing the highest level of animal welfare, environmental literacy and 
conservation science 

 Build community awareness of the Oregon Zoo’s mission  
 Support OZF in meeting the needs of OZF members, sponsors, donors, board and staff; and 

the community at large 
 Ensure efficient use of resources 
 Commit to planning ahead and ensuring capacity for contingencies 
 Represent the zoo in a professional manner 
 Provide high quality service 

 
The objectives of this SLA are to: 
 

 Provide clear reference to service ownership, accountability, roles and/or responsibilities. 
 Present a clear, concise and measurable description of service provision to the customer. 
 Match perceptions of expected service provision with actual service support and delivery. 

 

3. Governance and Periodic Review   
 

This SLA  is valid  from  the Effective Date outlined herein and  is valid until  further notice. This SLA 
should  be  reviewed  at  a minimum  once  per  fiscal  year;  however,  in  lieu  of  a  review  during  any 
period specified, the current SLA will remain in effect.  
 
The  directors  of  the  Oregon  Zoo  and  the  Oregon  Zoo  Foundation  (“Document  Owners”)  are 
responsible for facilitating regular reviews of this document and may delegate mutually agreed upon 
staff  to manage  document  updates.  Contents  of  this  document may  be  amended  as  required, 

Page 15 of 95Exhibits A



 

4 
Draft OZF-GS Service Level Agreement Rev5a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

provided mutual  agreement  is obtained  from  the primary  stakeholders  and  communicated  to  all 
affected parties. The Document Owners will incorporate all subsequent revisions and obtain mutual 
agreements / approvals as required.  
 
The Metro Chief Operating Officer and the OZF board chair are responsible for final approval of SLA 
revisions. 

 
Directors: Oregon Zoo and Oregon Zoo Foundation 
Review Period: One year 
Previous Review Date: N/A 
Next Review Date: XX‐XX‐XXXX 

 

4. Roles and Responsibilities 
 

The following roles and responsibilities are represented in this SLA: 
 
Oregon Zoo Guest Services 
Guest Services is in the role of service provider with the responsibility of providing catering, event 
services and admissions.  
 
Oregon Zoo Foundation 
OZF is in the role of client, with the responsibilities of being a proactive, responsive and respectful 
customer. 

 

4.1.  General Expectations 
 

 Active coordination of ongoing guest services provided to and on behalf of the zoo and OZF. 

 Consistent and timely pre‐ and post‐event communications between the zoo and OZF regarding 
on‐grounds events impacting the zoo and OZF. 

 
Both parties agree to uphold the following elements of a successful working relationship: 

 Active support of shared goals, focus on work 

 Shared clear expectations 

 Respect and professionalism 

 Clear lines of communication 

 Appreciation and acknowledgement 

 Responsive and timely execution of commitments 

 Commitment to continuous improvement and learning 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16 of 95Exhibits A



 

5 
Draft OZF-GS Service Level Agreement Rev5a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

5. Service Agreement  
 

The  following  detailed  service  parameters  are  the  responsibility  of  the  Service  Provider  in  the 
ongoing support of this SLA.  

 

5.1.  Service Scope by Activity 
 

Catering and event planning 
 

Zoo Guest Services responsibilities and/or 
requirements in support of this activity include:  

OZF responsibilities and/or requirements in 
support of this activity include:  

Providing food and beverage services  Providing written expectations of need per event
 
Attending planning meetings as needed 
 
Providing no fewer than ten business days’ 
notice of event details 
 

Minimum attendance guarantee due 14 business 
days prior to event 

 

Final attendance guarantee due 7 business days 
prior to event 

 

Reasonable availability of client 
representative(s) during event to assist in 
resolving a service related incident. 
 
All food and beverage items, costs, functions, 
equipment and services purchased for the OZF 
event shall be documented on the “Zoo Event 
Profile,” to be approved by the Zoo and OZF and 
submitted to the Zoo no later than 14 days prior 
to the event.   

Securing permits 

Supplying audiovisual equipment and placing 
special orders 

Providing operations support for event site prep, 
including setup and breakdown of tables, chairs 
and canopies; litter crew; custodial; pressure 
washing; and storage and transport of items and 
donated product. 

Providing security services   

Coordinating with the Facilities and Maintenance 
division and the Living Collections division for 
Program Animals when requested 

 

Coordinating with the Education Division to 
manage volunteers at events 

 
Additional Service Provider responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this SLA in the area of 
catering and event planning include:  
 

 Keep client abreast of any process changes. 

Page 17 of 95Exhibits A



 

6 
Draft OZF-GS Service Level Agreement Rev5a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

 Provide high quality catering and event services. 

 Provide timely responses to event related requests. 

 Appropriate notification to client in the event of changes or other issues related to event. 
 
Additional Client responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this SLA in the area of catering 
and event planning include:  
 

 Payment for costs, with the exception of certain large scale events, are maintained 
consistent with zoo interdepartmental charges (see Appendices A and B).  

 For certain large scale events, as identified by the Guest Services Manager, that typically 
have a larger impact on Guest Services as a whole, such as ZooLaLa, an agreed‐upon cost 
and responsibility structure will be identified and discussed in planning stages, including 
mutually agreed‐upon staffing levels. In the event that OZF does not agree upon 
identification of a large scale event, parties will refer to the Decision‐Making and Dispute 
Resolution structure cited in 6.2 of this SLA.  

 If the event provides for per‐person charges, OZF shall pay the zoo for every person served 
at each event at the per‐person charges specified on the Zoo Event Profile(s); if the number 
of persons served at the event(s) is less than the guaranteed attendance, OZF shall pay the 
per‐person charges on the basis of the guaranteed attendance. The Zoo reserves the right to 
count guests as they enter (or at a mutually agreeable time when an accurate count may be 
made) during each event which is billed on a per‐person basis. 

 OZF shall give Zoo Food & Beverage the right of first refusal to provide food or beverages at 
all meetings or events, with the exception of donated beverages.  

 No OZF staff or exhibitor may dispense any food or beverage items or samples from exhibits, 
booths or any other areas within the zoo. OZF exhibitors having the need to distribute food 
or beverage samples related to their business must submit a written request to the Zoo 
Food and Beverage Manager and obtain permission before doing so. Exhibitors having the 
need to distribute food or beverage samples unrelated to their business shall order these 
items via the zoo catering.  

 OZF shall comply with all applicable local and state liquor laws, and further agrees that 
neither OZF nor OZF’s guests will request, proffer, or serve alcoholic beverages to any 
minors, or to any persons who, in the opinion of the zoo, are intoxicated. 

 OZF will work directly with the third‐party Gift Shop contractor after obtaining approval 
from the zoo. 

 OZF contractors will adhere to in‐house rules as outlined in the zoo’s Contractor Work Rules 
and Event Licensing Agreement, which are available online in the Policies section of Zoogle. 

 
Admissions 
 
Zoo Guest Services responsibilities and/or 
requirements in support of this activity include:  

OZF responsibilities and/or requirements in 
support of this activity include:  

Providing ticketing services through gate 
admissions and scanner personnel 

Providing event ticket lists to admissions staff 

Handling walk‐up member transactions and 
interactions 
 

Providing active communication about 
membership program 
 

Page 18 of 95Exhibits A



 

7 
Draft OZF-GS Service Level Agreement Rev5a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Collecting donations  
 
Processing donations (pending integration of 
finance software) 
 
Coordinating with Metro Information Services on 
finance software issues 
 
Facilitating training to admissions staff to carry 
out OZF and Zoo goals 

Providing regular and ongoing communications 
about member benefits 
 
Keeping membership collateral and forms 
regularly stocked 
 
Providing three months’ notice of changes to 
membership pricing and benefits structure 
 
Providing membership representatives during 
regular weekday business hours to handle 
complaints and requests 

Providing Zoomer driver services and/or Zoo 
Train stationmaster services upon request.  

 

 
Additional Service Provider responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this SLA in the area of 
admissions include:  
 

 Provide high quality admissions services. 

 Facilitate regular check‐ins with OZF regarding customer service levels. 
 
Shared responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this SLA in the area of admissions include: 

 Both parties will collaborate on developing admissions strategies related to OZF events and  
promotions 

 Both parties will monitor shared software systems to ensure effective integration and work 
processes 

 Costs associated with shared software upgrades or improvements may be shared or borne 
by either party, subject to joint decision of the zoo director and OZF director. 

 

Office support 
 

Zoo Guest Services responsibilities and/or 
requirements in support of this activity include:  

OZF responsibilities and/or requirements in 
support of this activity include:  

Office cleaning  Provide access to offices 

Office moves  Advance notice of five to ten business days 

Furniture assembly  Advance notice of five to ten business days 

 

5.2.  Service Assumptions 
 
Catering and event planning 
 
Assumptions related to in‐scope services and/or components include: 

 Staff changes will be communicated and documented to client. 

 Oregon Zoo Foundation uses only in‐house catering and event services unless otherwise 
agreed upon by both parties. 

 
 

Page 19 of 95Exhibits A



 

8 
Draft OZF-GS Service Level Agreement Rev5a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Admissions 
 
Assumptions related to in‐scope services and/or components include: 

 Membership services in the reception office shall be available when Oregon Zoo gates 
are open. 

 

6. Service Management 
 
The following sections provide for effective support of in‐scope services. 

 

6.1.   Service Requests 
 

In support of services outlined  in  this SLA, Guest Services will acknowledge  receipt of service 
related incidents and/or requests submitted by OZF within two business days1.  
 

6.2.   Decision Making and Dispute Resolution 
 
It is assumed that the responsible OZF staff and responsible Guest Services staff will work 
together to resolve decisions regarding services. Should a breakdown occur, the following 
dispute resolution levels should be followed: 
 
Catering and event planning 
 

 First level: OZF Event Manager/Department Manager (Catering, Food and Beverage, 
Security, Operations Support, Event Tech, Admissions) 

 Second level: OZF Event Manager/Guest Services Division Manager 

 Third level: OZF Event Manager and OZF Director/Zoo Division Manager and Deputy 
Director 

 Fourth level: OZF Director/Zoo Director 
 

Admissions 

 First level: OZF Membership and Development Systems Manager/Admissions 
Department Manager  

 Second level: OZF Membership and Development Systems Manager/Guest Services 
Division Manager 

 Third level: OZF Membership and Development Systems Manager and OZF Director/Zoo 
Division Manager and Deputy Director 

 Fourth level: OZF Director/Zoo Director 

 
   

                                                           
1 While it is understood that the Oregon Zoo is a 24/7 operation, “business days” refers to Mondays through Fridays. 

Page 20 of 95Exhibits A



 

9 
Draft OZF-GS Service Level Agreement Rev5a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Appendix A | Service costs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*Except as noted in “large scale events” 

Provided by guest services   Costs to OZF 
Labor for regular events (Food, 
gate admission, event set up, 
security, operations support) 

No charge*  

Setup and breakdown for regular 
events 

No charge*  

Labor for large‐scale events 
(Food, admissions, event set up 
and breakdown, security, 
operations support) 

Charged for labor 

Food and non‐alcoholic beverages  50% of retail list price 

Alcohol  OZF pays full price 

Linens, in‐house  OZF pays at cost 

Permits  Special permit charges 
related solely to an OZF 
event, with the exception of 
Fire Marshal and noise 
ordinance permits, shall be 
paid for by the Foundation  

Mutually agreed upon event 
space  

No charge 

Audiovisual, in‐house  No charge 

Coordination with Facilities and 
Maintenance, Living Collections 
Program Animals 

No charge 

Special orders  OZF pays rental costs 

Admissions, including reception 
office, ticketing, scanners, Zoomer 
driver and stationmaster services 
upon request 

No charge* 

Security  No charge* 

Operations support  No charge* 

Page 21 of 95Exhibits A



Page 22 of 95Exhibits A



 

Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

 
Information Services Service Level Agreement (SLA) 

for the Oregon Zoo Foundation by Metro  

 
Effective Date: XX‐XX‐XXXX 
 
 
 

Document Owners:  Zoo Director 

OZF Director 

 

Version 
 

Version  Date  Description  Author 

1.0  XX‐XX‐XXXX  Service Level Agreement  Cary Stacey 

1.1  XX‐XX‐XXXX  Service Level Agreement Revised   

       

 

Approval 

(By signing below, all Approvers agree to all terms and conditions outlined in this Agreement.) 

 

Approvers  Role  Signed  Approval Date 

Metro COO  Oversight of 
Service Provider 
(zoo) 

  XX‐XX‐XXXX 

OZF Board Chair  Client    XX‐XX‐XXXX 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 23 of 95Exhibits A



 

2 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Table	of	Contents	
 
1. Agreement Overview   3  

2. Purpose, Goals & Objectives  3  

3. Governance and Periodic Review  3  

4. Roles and Responsibilities  4  

4.1 General Service Level Expectations  4  

5. Service Agreement  5  

5.1 Service Scope  5  

5.2 Client Requirements  5  

5.3 Service Provider Requirements  5  

5.4 Service Assumptions  5  

6. Service Management  6  

6.1 Service Requests  6  

6.2 Decision Making and Dispute Resolution  6  

Appendix A | Metro IS Service Agreement and Management  7  

Appendix B | Information Technology: Acceptable Use  12  

 

Page 24 of 95Exhibits A



 

3 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

1. Agreement Overview 
 
This Agreement represents a Service Level Agreement (“SLA”) between Metro and the Oregon Zoo 
Foundation  for  the provision of  Information Services  required  to  support and  sustain  the Oregon 
Zoo Foundation.  
 
This SLA remains valid until superseded by a revised SLA mutually endorsed by the stakeholders. 
 
This  SLA  outlines  the  parameters  of  all  Information  Services  covered  as  they  are  mutually 
understood  by  the  primary  stakeholders.  This  SLA  does  not  supersede  current  processes  and 
procedures unless explicitly stated herein. 

2. Purpose, Goals & Objectives 
 

The purpose of  this SLA  is  to ensure  that  the proper elements and  commitments are  in place  to 
provide  consistent  Information  Services  support  and  delivery  by  Metro  to  the  Oregon  Zoo 
Foundation in support of the Oregon Zoo’s and the Oregon Zoo Foundation’s shared goals.  

 
The shared goals of the Oregon Zoo and the Oregon Zoo Foundation are to: 

 Make the zoo a world‐class institution and a world‐wide leader in creating engaging 
experiences and advancing the highest level of animal welfare, environmental literacy and 
conservation science 

 Build community awareness of the Oregon Zoo’s mission  
 Support OZF in meeting the needs of members, sponsors, donors, board and staff; and the 

community at large 
 Ensure efficient use of resources 
 Commit to planning ahead and ensuring capacity for contingencies 
 Represent the zoo in a professional manner 
 Provide high quality service 

 
The objectives of this SLA are to: 
 

 Provide clear reference to service ownership, accountability, roles and/or responsibilities. 
 Present a clear, concise and measurable description of service provision to the customer. 
 Match perceptions of expected service provision with actual service support and delivery. 
 

3. Governance and Periodic Review   
 

This SLA  is valid  from  the Effective Date outlined herein and  is valid until  further notice. This SLA 
should  be  reviewed  at  a minimum  once  per  fiscal  year;  however,  in  lieu  of  a  review  during  any 
period specified, the current SLA will remain in effect.  
 
The  directors  of  the  Oregon  Zoo  and  the  Oregon  Zoo  Foundation  (“Document  Owners”),  in 
consultation  with  Metro’s  Information  Services  director,  are  responsible  for  facilitating  regular 

Page 25 of 95Exhibits A



 

4 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

reviews  of  this  document  and may  delegate mutually  agreed  upon  staff  to manage  document 
updates. Contents of  this document may be amended as  required, provided mutual agreement  is 
obtained  from  the primary stakeholders and communicated  to all affected parties. The Document 
Owners will  incorporate  all  subsequent  revisions  and  obtain mutual  agreements  /  approvals  as 
required.  
 
The Metro Chief Operating Officer and the OZF board chair are responsible for final approval of SLA 
revisions. 
 

Directors: Oregon Zoo and Oregon Zoo Foundation 
Review Period: One year 
Previous Review Date: N/A 
Next Review Date: XX‐XX‐XXXX 

 

4. Roles and Responsibilities 
 

The following roles and responsibilities are represented in this SLA: 
 
Metro Information Services 
Information Services is in the role of service provider with the responsibility of providing Information 
Services.  
 
Oregon Zoo 
The Oregon Zoo shares software and other information assets with OZF. 
 
Oregon Zoo Foundation 
OZF is in the role of client, with the responsibilities of being a proactive, responsive and respectful 
customer. 

 

4.1.  General Service Level Expectations 
 

Both parties agree to uphold the following elements of a successful working relationship: 

 Active support of shared goals, focus on work 

 Shared clear expectations 

 Respect and professionalism 

 Clear lines of communication 

 Appreciation and acknowledgement 

 Responsive and timely execution of commitments 

 Commitment to continuous improvement and learning 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26 of 95Exhibits A



 

5 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

5. Service Agreement 
 

The  following  detailed  service  parameters  are  the  responsibility  of  the  Service  Provider  in  the 
ongoing support of this SLA.  

 

5.1.  Service Scope 
 
Information Services assists the day‐to‐day operations of Oregon Zoo Foundation through the 
maintenance and support of supported applications as well as virtualized and non‐virtualized server 
and desktop systems, Internet and wide area network connectivity. A complete list of supported 
applications appears in Appendix A of this document.  
 
Information Services also provides resources for projects as well as on a scheduled and as‐needed 
basis for all IT services, including helpdesk and networking. Regular work related to server, network, 
e‐mail, account management, backups and other back office efforts will be completed on an 
ongoing basis according to pre‐approved schedules contained in Appendix A of this document.   

 

5.2. Client Requirements 
 

Client responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this SLA include:  
 

 Following IS system for making service requests (see Appendix A) 

 Abiding by acceptable use policy (See Appendix B) 

 Reasonable availability of client representative(s) when resolving a service related 
incident or request. 

 

5.3.   Service Provider Requirements 
 

Service Provider responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this SLA include:  
 

 Meeting response times. 

 Keeping OZF informed of security risks and compliance laws 

 
5.4.  Service Assumptions 

 
Assumptions related to in‐scope services and/or components include: 

 All parties will jointly address information assets and services to support OZF business 
practices and strategy. 

 All parties recognize that while information services are shared, Metro IS is solely 
responsible for managing Metro’s network. 

 Non‐standardized hardware and software are not covered in this SLA. 

 OZF will follow the Metro IS prioritization system to seek approval regarding new work 
involving Metro information assets and services. 

 Changes to services will be communicated and documented to all stakeholders. 

Page 27 of 95Exhibits A



 

6 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

6. Service Management 
 

6.1.   Service Requests 
 

In support of services outlined in this SLA, responsible Information Services staff will 
acknowledge receipt of to service related incidents and/or requests submitted by OZF within 
two business days1. 

 

6.2.   Decision Making and Dispute Resolution 
 

It is understood that disputes arising from the interpretation of this MOU will be resolved 
through open communication between the Information Services director and the Oregon Zoo 
Foundation director.  If disputes cannot be resolved at this level, the Deputy Chief Operations 
Officer will be requested to resolve the disagreement.  

                                                           
1 While it is understood that the Oregon Zoo is a 24/7 operation, “business days” refers to Mondays through Fridays. 

Page 28 of 95Exhibits A



 

7 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Appendix A | Metro IS Service Agreement and Management 
 

 
Metro Memorandum of Understanding 

Service Agreement and Management 
 

Services 

Business Hours Metro Business hours are 8:00AM  until 5:00 PM, Monday - Friday 

Response Time  For non-emergencies: 
 Send an e-mail to HelpDesk@oregonmetro.gov which will ensure that your 

request is routed quickly, efficiently and accurately. If time is of the essence, 
include a level of urgency in the subject line of the message, such as Urgent.  This 
is the preferred method. 

 If it is impractical to send an e-mail, call 503.797.1722; note that emails requests 
are more visible and may be more quickly addressed than voicemail 

Non-emergencies during business hours will have a response time of best effort.  Non-
emergencies during non-business hours will be responded to on the next business day.  

Emergency Calls Emergency requests are characterized by a failure of mission-critical systems or loss of 
connectivity in a section of the wide area network or the Internet. 

During normal Metro Resource Center business hours, emergency requests will have a 
response time of 1-Hour. (Note that “response” if the first tech to start the 
troubleshooting process, it is not a guaranteed resolution of the issue.) 
 Send an e-mail to HelpDesk@oregonmetro.gov but start the e-mail subject line 

with the word CRITICAL.  This is the preferred method.  Please include a call 
back telephone number. 

 If it is impractical to send an e-mail, call 503.797.1722. 

During Metro Resource Center non-business hours, emergency requests will have a 
response time of 2-Hours. 
 Send an e-mail to HelpDesk@oregonmetro.gov but start the e-mail subject line 

with the word CRITICAL.  This is the preferred method.  Please include a call 
back telephone number.  Note that after hours staff will get notified of these 
events. 

If it is impractical to send an e-mail, call 503.894.1125. 

Emergency Contacts Listed in Appendix of this document.  The list will be reviewed annually by 
Information Services and Oregon Zoo Foundation to ensure all are being responded 
to as needed.   

Maintenance Schedules 

 

Maintenance schedules provide the ability to apply patches, fixes, security updates and 
refresh hardware, software and pieces of network infrastructure in order to maintain, 
enhance and protect the transport, operation and safety of data and operations.  While 
there is no specific timeframe that can be provided for system maintenance, generally 
speaking, after 11PM will be considered. Any system maintenance that requires down 
time or possible disruption in service prior to 11 PM must be pre-approved and proper 

Page 29 of 95Exhibits A



 

8 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

downtime notification must be done.  A list of supported infrastructure, desktop, 
applications and Oregon Zoo Foundation contacts for pre-approved downtime and 
the downtime notification is included in the Appendix of this document. 

Backups Regular backups will be performed daily, generally speaking, after 9 PM and kept off-
site. Test recovery is done on an ad-hoc basis when requests are submitted, but testing 
of the backup integrity is part of the backup process. 

 
Specific system schedules: 

 Network Attached Storage backups (i.e. Work, Team, etc.) are done weekly 
and retained for four weeks. 

 Exchange email system is backed up four times a week and retained for 12 
weeks. 

 Full VMware backups of REP2010 and OZF-SAGE servers are done nightly 
and retained for four weeks. 

Recovery 
All hardware and software issues will be covered by the Information Services Help 
Desk procedures.  Data recovery, when required, will be completed in accordance with 
Business Continuity Planning standards, to be developed in conjunction with Oregon 
Zoo Foundation personnel and may require retrieval of tapes from off-site storage.   

Application Support Provides operational support of the applications as listed in the Appendix of this 
document, such as troubleshooting and correction of processing or interfacing issues, 
patches, fixes and upgrades.  These applications may be supported, in some cases, by a 
vendor support contract.  In such cases, Information Services will help facilitate 
support and network connections and will represent the facilities on any updates or 
implementations, when requested and provide status updates.  If desktop or software is 
not supported by a vendor support contract, support will be provided by Information 
Services.  

Infrastructure Provides telephone support2, multi-function printer support, connectivity to local, 
wide-area data communication networks and the Internet.  System failures that require 
outside contracting assistance, such as with telephony outages, multi-function printer 
access, wide area, Internet or complex application issues will be initiated by 
Information Services.  In such cases, Information Services will help facilitate support 
and network connections and will represent the facilities on any updates or 
implementations, when requested and provide status updates.   

Project Participation and 
Consulting 

Provides expertise to participate and consult on infrastructure, desktop and applications 
as listed in the Appendix of this document. 

Desktop Support Provides for standard desktop software applications (such as Adobe, Office, etc.), 
including installation and support of workstation hardware and software required to 
perform the job, and provides local and remote access to electronic mail as listed in 
the Appendix of this document. 

Down Time Notification Occasionally, systems may be taken off line for either scheduled or unscheduled 
maintenance.  Before such an occurrence, individuals on the emergency contact list 
will be notified and emails will go out in accordance with the down time notification 
listing in the Appendix.  For patches, updates and fixes that directly affect the 
consumer, Information Services resources will be staged to ensure full operation. 

Hardware Standards Standards for hardware are imperative for supporting IT efficiencies, operation and 
integration.  Approved Oregon Zoo Foundation representatives will work with the 
Help Desk staff to find appropriate hardware and software.  Finance and Regulatory 

                                                           
2 Currently, Information Services does NOT support phone systems; however once the new Cisco phones are 
deployed, then Information Services will take support responsibilities. 

Page 30 of 95Exhibits A



 

9 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Services will support Information Services in adhering to those standards.  If a 
business need justifies an exception to the standard, it will be proposed to the standards 
committee as an exception with associated benefits, risk and costs.3 

 
 
Backup Schedule 

Application	Name	 Type	(full,	
incremental	

Date	&	Time	 Frequency	

Abila Full Sunday – Saturday, after hours Daily 

Bigfoot Full Sunday – Saturday, after hours Daily 

Crystal Reports Full Sunday – Saturday, after hours Daily 

Data Storage (Network) Full Sunday – Saturday, after hours Daily 

Exchange Full Sunday – Saturday, after hours Daily 

Raiser’s Edge Full Sunday – Saturday, after hours Daily 

USI EBMS Full Sunday – Saturday, after hours Daily 

 
 
Information Services Emergency Contact List 
1.1.1 	

Contact Name 
Title / 
Function 

Location or 
Organization 

Application 
Business 
Hours 

After Hours 

First Response 
Cell Phone 

Help Desk 
and on-call 
cellular phone 

All 
Emergencies 

Application 
Name, 
desktop 
related 

8-5 M-F 
503.797.1722 

503.894.1125 

Les McCarter 

Infrastructure 
and Desktop 
Services 
Manager 
Escalation 
Level I 

Metro 
Regional 
Center 

Any issues 
8-5 M-F 
503.974.6464 

503.974.6464 

Thomas Yee Application 
Manager 

Metro 
Regional 

Any issues 
8-5 M-F 
503.813.7546 

503.577.8257 

                                                           
3 This language will be updated pending FRS ruling whether or not Metro IS can facilitate purchasing from Metro 
vendors for OZF approved needs.  OZF to provide reimbursement back to Metro IS for vendor charges. 

Page 31 of 95Exhibits A



 

10 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Escalation 
Level I 

Center 

Rachel Coe 
IS Director-
Escalation 
Level II 

Metro 
Regional 
Center 

Any issues 
8-5 M-F 
503.797.1598 

503.970.0095 

 
 
 
Oregon Zoo Foundation Emergency Contact List   
1.1.2 	

Contact Name 
Title / Function / 

Authorization 
Location or 

Organization 
Application / 
Technology 

Business Hours After Hours 

Jani Iverson Director Oregon Zoo 
Foundation 

Any issues 8-5 M-F 
503.220.5747 

503.382.7775 

Jody Brassfield Finance Manager Oregon Zoo 
Foundation 

Any issues 8-5 M-F 
503.220.5751 

 

Christine 
Alexander 

Development 
Systems 

Administrator 

Oregon Zoo 
Foundation 

Any issues 8-5 M-F 
503.220.5739 

 

Supported Areas 

Application	Name	 Services	Not	Supported	*	

Abila Application support, project participation and consulting 

Adobe No Exceptions 

Bigfoot No Exceptions 

Crystal Reports Application support, project participation and consulting 

Data Storage (Network) No Exceptions 

Exchange No Exceptions 

Gateway Galaxy No Exceptions 

Multi-function Printer Metro does not have ultimate support for printers and 
copiers which will come from vendor, but Metro will 
provide best effort to support the upfront configuration and 
daily use of features. Furthermore, Metro will provide 
guidance on device purchasing and leverage any Metro 
offerings when possible. 

Page 32 of 95Exhibits A



 

11 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Office No Exceptions 

PCI Compliance Application support4,5 

Raiser’s Edge Application support 

SharePoint Zoogle No Exceptions 

Telephone1  

USI EBMS No Exceptions 

*No Exceptions would imply that all of the following services are supported: maintenance schedules, 
backup, recovery, application support, infrastructure, project participation and consulting, desktop 
services and hardware standards 
1 Currently, Information Services does NOT support phone systems; however once the new Cisco phones 
are deployed, then Information Services will take support responsibilities. 
 
Downtime Notification 

Initial	Contact	 Down	time	during	business	
hours?	

Type	of	Issue	 Email	Notification	

All Emergency contact 
staff 

No (inform during business 
hours, if possible) 

All Issues yes 

    

 

   

                                                           
4 This area is a work in progress and may need future updating to cover IS responsibilities. 
5 OZF is responsible for its own training plan and security policy  

Page 33 of 95Exhibits A



 

12 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Appendix B | Information Technology: Acceptable Use 
 
 

 

Subject  Information Technology: Acceptable Use 
Section  Information Services; Human Resources 
Approved by  Martha Bennett, Chief Operating Officer; MERC Commission 

	
	

	

	

2 POLICY 
 

Information,	computer	systems	and	devices	are	made	available	to	users	
to	 optimize	 employee	 productivity	 in	 support	 of	 Metro’s	 business	
processes.	 The	 purpose	 of	 this	 policy	 is	 to	 inform	 technology	users	of	
the	 appropriate	 and	 acceptable	 use	 of	 information,	 computer	 systems	
and	 devices.	

	
	

	

3 Applicable to 
 

All employees and other users of Metro agency information-related 
technology, services or systems. 

	
Where	provisions	of	an	applicable	collective	bargaining	agreement	
directly	conflict	with	this	 policy,	the	provisions	of	that	agreement	will	
prevail.	

	

4 Definitions 
 

Access: To instruct, communicate with, store data in, retrieve data from, or 
otherwise make use of any resources of a computer, computer system or 
computer network. 

	
Computer Software: Computer programs, procedures and associated 
documentation concerned with the operation of a computer system. 

	

Page 34 of 95Exhibits A



 

13 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Encryption: Use of a process to transform data into a form in which the 
data is unreadable or unusable without the use of a confidential process or 
key. 

	
Information System: Computers, hardware, software, storage media, 
networks, operational procedures and processes used in the collection, 
processing, storage, sharing or distribution of information within, or with 
access beyond ordinary public access to, Metro’s	shared	 computer and 
network infrastructure. 

	
Technology Asset: A data processing device that performs logical, 
arithmetic or memory functions, including the components of a computer 
and all input, output, processing, storage, software or communication 
facilities that are connected or related to such a device in a system or 
network. Technology assets include, but are not limited to, computers, 
tablets, telephones, and other messaging devices. 
 
 

Technology Services: Information systems that are functioning on the public network subscribed 
to by Metro, including services found on the Internet that hold and process mail, files or streams of 
information. 

	
Users: All Metro employees, volunteers, vendors and contractors who access Metro information 
assets, and all others authorized to use Metro information technology for the purpose	of	
accomplishing	Metro’s	business	objectives	and	processes. 

	
	

5 Guidelines 
 

1. Users have no right to expect that any information 
created on, kept on, or transmitted through the 
Metro information system is private. 

a. All information created or kept on Metro information systems, including email, is 
subject to review for compliance with public records law, regardless of whether the 
content is business-related or personal. 

b. Metro documents, communications and work products stored on personally owned 
devices are also subject to public records law. The use of personally owned 
electronic devices such as home computers, laptops, smart phones and tablets to 
access Metro’s	internal	networks may subject the personal device to review and 
possible disclosure. 

c. Metro may monitor all electronic communications and information contained on its 
systems. Metro may monitor any and all email traffic passing through its email 
system as well as website visits, other computer transmissions, and any stored	
information	created	or	received	using	Metro’s	information	systems. 

d. Metro will disclose or maintain the confidentiality of information in accordance with 
applicable law. 

2. Metro information systems and devices are provided for business purposes only; however, 
Department Directors may approve limited, incidental personal use consistent with the terms of 
this policy. 

Page 35 of 95Exhibits A



 

14 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

3. Metro expects employees to comply with normal standards of professional and personal 
courtesy and conduct in their use of email and other electronic communications. 

4. The Information Services Department is responsible for issuing guidance, consistent with this 
policy, to address changing technology or business needs. At a minimum, newly issued guidance 
will be posted on the IS intramet page and notification will be emailed   to employees with 
Metro email addresses. 

5. Violation of terms of this policy may result in the limitation, suspension or revocation of access 
to Metro information systems and can lead to other disciplinary action up to and including 
termination. 

	

6 Procedures 
 

6.1 General security protocols 
1. All users must be authorized by Information Services to use Metro technology assets. 

2. Users are responsible for the security of their passwords and accounts. Users must keep 
their passwords confidential. Passwords must be changed on a regular basis and should be 
complex enough that they cannot be easily discovered. Users of Metro information 
systems	shall	respect	 the	confidentiality	of	other	users’	 information. Users shall not 
attempt to: 

a. access third-party systems without prior authorization by the system owners; 

b. obtain	other	users’	login	names	or	passwords; 

c. attempt to defeat or breach computer or network security measures; 

d. intercept, access, or monitor electronic files or communications of other users or 
third parties without approval from the author or responsible business owners; 

e. review the files or information of another user without a specific business need to do 
so. 

3. Remote	access:	Users may access Metro networks and email from remote locations only 
with proper authorization and through the use of agency-approved and agency- provided 
remote access systems or software. 

a. Telecommuting is subject to applicable Metro policies and collective bargaining 
agreements. 

4. Software:	Non-approved software, including but not limited to desktop and workgroup 
applications, screen savers, browsers, application plug-ins and games, may not be downloaded 
or installed from the Internet, portable computer and storage devices, or other external sources 
without prior approval from Metro Information Services. 

a. Approved software is listed on the IS Department intramet page. 

b. Employees who have an ongoing business need to download non-approved 
software may request an exception from the requirement to obtain prior approval 
each time. Such requests must be supported	by	the	employee’s	 supervisor and 
submitted to the IS Department in writing. IS will evaluate the request	with	due	
consideration	to	the	employee’s	business need,	Metro’s	 operational readiness, and 
the potential security impact. If the request is granted in whole or in part, IS will 
provide a written description of the expanded approval. 

c. The IS Director has final authority over software approval decisions. 

Page 36 of 95Exhibits A



 

15 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

5. Privately	owned	electronic	devices:	Privately owned devices may not be connected to 
Metro networks, wireless access points, computers or other equipment without prior approval 
from Metro Information Services. 

a. Privately owned devices such as laptops, smart phones and tablets may be 
connected to the email server over the public internet in accordance with IS 
Department guidance. 

b. Hardware devices that are not required for assigned work must not be attached to a 
Metro-provided computer. All hardware attached to Metro systems must be 
appropriately configured, protected and monitored so it will not compromise Metro 
technology assets. 

6. Instant	messaging	and	streaming	video/audio:	Departments may allow the use of 
Instant Messaging (IM) and other communications or messaging alternatives for business 
purposes. Departments may also allow the use of streaming video/audio for business purposes. 
However, these uses must be approved, documented, and adequately secured and must 
comply with Metro records and information management policies. The IS Department is 
authorized to monitor IM communications and video/audio streams as needed for business or 
legal reasons. Technology assets must not be used in a manner that impairs the availability, 
reliability or performance of Metro business processes and systems or unduly contributes to 
system or network congestion. 

7. Users are required to report evidence of computer viruses, security breaches, or 
unauthorized access to the IS help desk as soon as possible. 

8. Metro-provided email systems and Internet access for the public must be secured 
appropriately in order to protect Metro technology assets. 

9. Metro may employ additional security controls, such as limited workstation access, in order 
to protect Metro technology assets and maintain a secure environment. 

10. Information Services is responsible for monitoring the use of information systems and assets. 
At a minimum, IS will monitor on a random basis and for cause. Monitoring systems or 
processes will be used to create usage reports and the resulting reports will be reviewed by 
Information Services management for compliance. 

	
	

6.2 Restriction of personal use of Metro technology assets 
11. Internet use increases the risk of exposing Metro technology assets to security breaches. Metro 

can only accept this risk for business uses. 

a. Business use includes accessing information related to employment with Metro, such 
as accessing benefit-related information. Approved sites for this purpose are	the	
Oregon	Public	Employees’	Retirement	System	(PERS),	Employee	Assistance 
Program (EAP), Oregon Savings Growth Plan and union contract information. 

b. Department Directors may determine whether to allow limited incidental 
personal internet use, such as to check weather conditions or in case of 
emergency. 

c. Metro	has	discretion	to	determine	if	an	employee’s	use	is	personal	or	business.	
Employees will not be disciplined for personal use without an opportunity to explain 
any business reasons for the use. 

12. Email is to be used for Metro-related business only, except as follows: 

a. Department Directors may allow employees limited, incidental personal use as long 
as it does not violate other requirements of this policy and there is no significant cost 
to the agency. 

Page 37 of 95Exhibits A



 

16 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

b. Email may be used for union business to the extent allowed in the applicable 
collective bargaining agreement. 

13. Metro employees are responsible for exercising good judgment regarding the reasonableness	
of	personal	use	of	Metro’s	technology	assets.	No	personal	use	of	Metro	 information 
systems shall interfere with staff productivity, pre-empt any business activity, consume more 
than a trivial amount of resources, or be used for personal gain. 

a. Users may not use Metro technology systems to play computer games, regardless 
of whether Internet-based, personal, or included with approved software 
applications. 

b. Metro systems may not be used for hosting or operating personal Web pages; non-
business-related postings to Internet groups, chat rooms, or list services; or creating, 
sending or forwarding chain emails. 

c. Metro information systems, other than the intramet bulletin board, may not be used for 
personal solicitation. Systems may not be used to lobby, solicit, recruit, sell or 
persuade for or against commercial ventures, products, religious or political causes, or 
outside organizations. 

	

6.3 Prohibited uses 
14. Metro networks and systems shall not be used to intentionally view, download, store, 

transmit, or retrieve any information, communication or material that: 

a. is harassing or threatening; is obscene, pornographic or sexually explicit; 

b. is defamatory; 

c. fosters hate, bigotry, discrimination or prejudice or makes discriminatory reference 
to race, age, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, religious or political beliefs, 
national origin, health or disability; 

d. is untrue or fraudulent; 

e. is illegal or promotes illegal activities; 

f. is intended for personal profit; 

g. facilitates Internet gaming or gambling; or 

h. contains offensive humor. 

15. Under certain circumstances, there may be legitimate business reasons to access materials that 
are otherwise prohibited. Employees should obtain supervisor approval before accessing such 
materials. 

16. Users shall not intentionally destroy data in an attempt to misrepresent data in Metro 
information systems. 

17. Personal hardware or software may not be used to encrypt any Metro-owned information 
except with express prior permission and direction from Information Services. 

18. Users shall not send email or other electronic communication that attempts to hide the identity 
of the user or represent the user as someone else. Users shall not utilize proxy devices or 
servers to hide their identity or to circumvent existing security. No use of scramblers, remailer 
services, drop-boxes or identity-stripping methods is permitted. 

	

Page 38 of 95Exhibits A



 

17 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

6.4 Additional legal requirements 
19. All information created on or stored within Metro’s	applications, systems, devices and 

networks, whether on or off-premises, is the sole property of Metro and subject to its sole 
control, except as required by contract. In addition, all Metro documents, communications 
and work products are the sole property of Metro, regardless of whether the information is 
stored, accessed or transmitted via Metro-owned or personally owned devices such as 
computers, tablets, and cell phones. 

a. No part of Metro agency systems or information is or may become the private 
property of any system user. 

b. Metro owns all legal rights to control, transfer, or use all or any part or product of its 
systems. 

c. Metro is under no obligation to store or forward the	contents	of	an	individual’s	
email inbox, outbox or contact list either during or after their employment. 

20. Use of Metro information systems must comply with copyrights, licenses, contracts, intellectual 
property rights and laws associated with data, software programs and other materials made 
available through those systems. 

21. Users	must	comply	with	Metro’s	records	retention	policies. 
	

7 Responsibilities 
 

Employees: 
	

 Take reasonable steps to ensure the physical security of Metro technology assets and passwords 
and report missing, lost or stolen Metro technology assets to their supervisor immediately. 

 Use Metro technology assets in a manner consistent with the Acceptable Use Policy, seeking 
answers to any questions about the policy from their supervisor or the IS help desk as 
needed. 

	
Supervisors: 

	

 Ensure that authorized users have received training on acceptable use through the Metro 
Learning Center software or have received and signed a hard copy of the policy. 

 Submit new account request forms for new employees. 

 Review and update employee access when requested. 

 Ensure employees are using Metro technology assets in a manner consistent with the 
Acceptable Use Policy and guard against inappropriate use of such assets by employees. 

 Coordinate	with	the	agency’s	Information	Services	and Human Resources Departments on 
violations of acceptable use of Metro technology assets. 

	
Department directors: 

	

 Ensure that department purchases for Metro technology assets are restricted to only those 
necessary for the conduct of official business and that standards for hardware and software are 
followed. 

 Ensure appropriate usage of Metro technology assets and compliance with applicable rules 
and policies. 

Page 39 of 95Exhibits A



 

18 
Draft OZF-IS Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

	
Information Services: 

	

 Implement firewall, anti-virus, role provisioning, password controls, web surfing and Email 
filtering mechanisms, ensure their maintenance, and monitor logs and reports for system 
performance and compliance. 

 Report policy violations to the Human Resources Department and/or supervisory staff as 
appropriate. 

 

 Create hardware and software standards with the help of a technical standards committee 
and publish hardware and software standards on at least an annual basis. 

 Review policy annually to determine applicability. Publicize new guidance on the 
intramet and by email. 

 Update filters by employee or group to include items required as part of the job when 
directed by a manager. 

	
Human Resources Department: 

	

 Alert Information Services of policy violations when appropriate. 
	

8 Related References 
 
 

 Information Services Department intramet page: 

http://imet.metroregion.org/index.cfm/go/by.web/id=3265 

 Social Media policy 
 
  

Page 40 of 95Exhibits A



 

Draft OZF-Living Collections Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 

 

Living Collections Service Level Agreement (SLA) 

for the Oregon Zoo Foundation 

by the Oregon Zoo 

 
Effective Date: XX‐XX‐XXXX 
 
 
 

Document Owners:  Zoo Director 

OZF Director 

 

Version 
 

Version  Date  Description  Author 

1.0  XX‐XX‐XXXX  Service Level Agreement  Cary Stacey 

1.1  XX‐XX‐XXXX  Service Level Agreement Revised   

       

 

Approval 

(By signing below, all Approvers agree to all terms and conditions outlined in this Agreement.) 

 

Approvers  Role  Signed  Approval Date 

Metro COO  Oversight of 
Service Provider 
(zoo) 

  XX‐XX‐XXXX 

OZF Board Chair  Client    XX‐XX‐XXXX 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 41 of 95Exhibits A



 

2 
Draft OZF-Living Collections Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 
  

Table	of	Contents	
 
1. Agreement Overview   3  

2. Purpose, Goals & Objectives  3  

3. Governance and Periodic Review  3  

4. Roles and Responsibilities  4  

4.1 General Service Level Expectations  4  

5. Service Agreement  5  

5.1 Service Scope  5  

5.2 Customer Requirements  5  

5.2 Service Provider Requirements  5  

5.4 Service Assumptions  6  

6. Service Management  6  

6.1 Service Requests  6  

6.2 Decision Making and Dispute Resolution  6  

Appendix A: OZF Tours Process and Definitions 2014    7  

 

Page 42 of 95Exhibits A



 

3 
Draft OZF-Living Collections Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 
  

1. Agreement Overview 
 
This Agreement  represents  a  Service  Level Agreement  (“SLA”)  between  the Oregon  Zoo  and  the 
Oregon Zoo Foundation  for  the provision of Living Collections Division access  required  to  support 
and sustain the efforts of Oregon Zoo Foundation.  
 
This SLA remains valid until superseded by a revised SLA mutually endorsed by the stakeholders. 
 
This  SLA  outlines  the  parameters  of  all  Living  Collections  Division  services  covered  as  they  are 
mutually understood by  the primary stakeholders. This SLA does not supersede current processes 
and procedures unless explicitly stated herein. 

2. Purpose, Goals & Objectives 
 

The purpose of  this SLA  is  to ensure  that  the proper elements and  commitments are  in place  to 
provide Living Collections access to the Oregon Zoo Foundation by the Oregon Zoo in support of the 
two organizations’ shared goals.  

 
The shared goals of the Oregon Zoo and the Oregon Zoo Foundation are to: 

 Make the zoo a world‐class institution and a world‐wide leader in creating engaging 
experiences and advancing the highest level of animal welfare, environmental literacy and 
conservation science 

 Build community awareness of the Oregon Zoo’s mission  
 Support OZF in meeting the needs of members, sponsors, donors, board and staff; and the 

community at large 
 Ensure efficient use of resources 
 Commit to planning ahead and ensuring capacity for contingencies 
 Represent the zoo in a professional manner 
 Provide high quality service 

 
The objectives of this SLA are to: 
 

 Provide clear reference to service ownership, accountability, roles and/or responsibilities. 
 Present a clear, concise and measurable description of service provision to the customer. 
 Match perceptions of expected service provision with actual service support and delivery. 

3. Governance and Periodic Review   
 

This SLA  is valid  from  the Effective Date outlined herein and  is valid until  further notice. This SLA 
should  be  reviewed  at  a minimum  once  per  fiscal  year;  however,  in  lieu  of  a  review  during  any 
period specified, the current SLA will remain in effect.  
 
The  directors  of  the  Oregon  Zoo  and  the  Oregon  Zoo  Foundation  (“Document  Owners”)  are 
responsible for facilitating regular reviews of this document and may delegate mutually agreed upon 

Page 43 of 95Exhibits A



 

4 
Draft OZF-Living Collections Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 
  

staff  to manage  document  updates.  Contents  of  this  document may  be  amended  as  required, 
provided mutual  agreement  is obtained  from  the primary  stakeholders  and  communicated  to  all 
affected parties. The Document Owners will incorporate all subsequent revisions and obtain mutual 
agreements / approvals as required.  

 
The Metro Chief Operating Officer and the OZF board chair are responsible for final approval of SLA 
revisions. 

 
Directors: Oregon Zoo and Oregon Zoo Foundation 
Review Period: One year 
Previous Review Date: N/A 
Next Review Date: XX‐XX‐XXXX 

 

4. Roles and Responsibilities 
 

The following roles and responsibilities are represented in this SLA: 
 
Living Collections 
Living Collections is in the role of service provider with the responsibility of providing access to 
animals, staff, facilities and grounds managed by Living Collections.  
 
Oregon Zoo Foundation 
OZF is in the role of client, with the responsibilities of being a proactive, responsive and respectful 
customer. 

 

4.1.  General Service Level Expectations 
 

 Consistent and timely communications between the zoo and OZF regarding access to Living 
Collections resources. 

 Active coordination of mutually agreed‐upon deliverables. 

 Recognition of Living Collections staff expertise in animal welfare and that OZF acts as a conduit 
between Living Collections staff and OZF audiences. 

 
Both parties agree to uphold the following elements of a successful working relationship: 

 Active support of shared goals, focus on work 

 Shared clear expectations 

 Respect and professionalism 

 Clear lines of communication 

 Appreciation and acknowledgement 

 Responsive and timely execution of commitments 

 Commitment to continuous improvement and learning 
 
 
 

Page 44 of 95Exhibits A



 

5 
Draft OZF-Living Collections Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 
  

5. Service Agreement 
 

The  following  detailed  service  parameters  are  the  responsibility  of  the  Service  Provider  in  the 
ongoing support of this SLA.  

 

5.1.  Service Scope 
 
This SLA provides for a full range of services required to support and sustain the Oregon Zoo 
Foundation. 
 
The following services are covered by this SLA:  

 

 Front‐of‐house and behind‐the‐scenes tours 

 Access to program animals 

 Access to Living Collections resources outside of visitor hours 

 Horticultural maintenance of grounds related to OZF events 

 

5.2. Client Requirements 
 

Client responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this SLA include:  
 

 Submit requests for all services, except horticultural, through zoo director’s office 
through BTS Outlook calendaring system. 

 Provide no fewer than 10 business days’ notice of requests for all services, except 
horticultural; exceptions must be mutually agreed upon by both parties. 

 Provide up to three months’ notice for horticultural requests, with a minimum advance 
notice of one month.  

 OZF qualifies OZF guests for different levels of tours (See Appendix A: OZF Tours Process 
and Definitions 2014). 

 OZF event manager works with curators as a first point of contact. 

 Reasonable flexibility of expectations based upon animal health and safety, to be 
determined by Living Collections staff. 

 Reasonable availability of client representative(s) when resolving a service related 
incident or request. 

 

5.3.   Service Provider Requirements 
 

Service Provider responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this SLA include:  
 

 Execute requests 

 Meet qualified levels of approved tours (as possible) based upon predefined needs (See 
Appendix A: OZF Tours Process and Definitions 2014).  

 Immediate notification to client in the event of change in plans or need for contingency. 

 

Page 45 of 95Exhibits A



 

6 
Draft OZF-Living Collections Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 
  

5.4.  Service Assumptions 
 
Assumptions related to in‐scope services and/or components include: 
 

 Parties will attend pre‐planning meetings before events as needed 

 Parties will convene an annual planning session 

 Changes to services will be communicated and documented to all stakeholders. 

6. Service Management 
 
Effective  support  of  in‐scope  services  is  a  result  of  maintaining  consistent  service  levels.  The 
following  sections provide  relevant details on  service  availability, monitoring of  in‐scope  services 
and related components. 

 

6.1.   Service Requests 
 

In support of services outlined in this SLA, responsible Living Collections staff will acknowledge 
receipt  of  service  related  incidents  and/or  requests  submitted  by  OZF within  two  business 
days1.  

 

6.2.   Decision Making and Dispute Resolution 
 

It is assumed that the responsible OZF staff and responsible Living Collections staff will work 
together to resolve decisions regarding services. Should a breakdown occur, the following 
dispute resolution levels should be followed: 
 

 First level: Responsible OZF staff member/Responsible Curator 

 Second level: OZF Director/Deputy Director of Living Collections 

 Third level: OZF Director/Zoo Director  
  

                                                           
1 While it is understood that the Oregon Zoo is a 24/7 operation, “business days” refers to Mondays through Fridays. 

Page 46 of 95Exhibits A



 

7 
Draft OZF-Living Collections Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 
  

Appendix A | OZF Tours Process and Definitions 2014  
 
OZF Tours – Process  
1. Responsible OZF Staff requests approval for tour with OZF Director.  

a. OZF staff and OZF Director will vet and determine appropriate qualified tour level. 
2. Responsible OZF staff fills out BTS Tour Request Form to identify characteristics of group and request. 

a. Indicate 1st and 2nd animal choice areas/dates 
b. Indicate any additional requested LC/Zoo staff 

3. Responsible OZF Staff submits request via email to Zoo Director and Living Collections Deputy Director 
copied to the Zoo Director’s executive assistant (EA). 

a. EA will log requests and track approvals. 
4. Once Zoo Director and Living Collections Deputy Director approve request, EA contacts appropriate zoo 

Curator to schedule tour and serves as the point person between OZF and zoo staff.  
5. Once approvals are received and Curator has agreed to tour request specifics, EA will send an Outlook 

appointment to curator, staff and the requestor utilizing the “BTS Tours” Outlook calendar 
a. EA will coordinate with the respective Living Collections staff. 
b. EA will invite the Zoo Director ONLY if they are needed and only when the qualified tour level is 

appropriate  
c. Curator will inform EA of all keeper staff to add to the “BTS Tours” Outlook appointment  

6. Requestor of BTS and/or responsible zoo staff will notify EA if there are any changes to the BTS event and 
work on appropriate alternate or reschedule if needed 

7. EA will update “BTS Tours” Outlook appointment if there are changes to the BTS event. 
8. “BTS Tours” Outlook appointments will be updated as appropriate and in a timely fashion to keep staff 

informed of any changes to timing, staff, or detail 
 
Note:   OZF event requests follow steps 1‐3.  

Steps 4‐7 are executed by the OZF Event manager (Not the EA) utilizing the same “BTS Tours” Outlook 
calendaring system.  This process was developed to reduce the amount of information lost in translation 
as event details are updated much more frequently.  

 

Examples of Qualified Tour Levels: 
 

Level One: 
No animal interaction   
No behind the scenes 
OZF or Zoo guide interaction 
Example:  
‐Guided tour through area or zoo campus  
 
Level Two: 
No animal interaction 
No behind the scenes 
Viewing of animals from front of exhibit 
Curator/keeper interaction    
Examples:  
‐Viewing cougars receiving enrichment while a keeper talks about animals 
‐Guided tour through an area or the zoo campus before gates open 
 

Level Three: 
Limited animal interaction 
Limited behind the scenes (no guarantee of animal viewing) 

Page 47 of 95Exhibits A



 

8 
Draft OZF-Living Collections Service Level Agreement Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 
  

Keeper interaction with curator leading tour (keeper comes in for a brief demo and leaves) 
Exclusive opportunity 
Examples: 
‐ Viewing of Steller Cove feeding or training from the upper deck 
‐ Wild Life Live behind the scenes tour with viewing of painting/enrichment 
‐Train shed tour and train ride with staff 
 
Level Four:  
Animal interaction 
Behind the scenes 
Keeper interaction with curator leading tour (keeper comes in for a brief demo and leaves) 
Higher level Exclusive opportunity 
Examples:  
‐ Tiger/leopard training/enrichment 
‐ Giraffe/Rhino feeding 
‐ Penguin behind the scenes tour and feeding 
‐ Train shed tour and train ride with engineer 
 

Level Five: 
Exclusive animal interaction 
Behind the scenes 
Curator or Zoo Director 
Extra exclusive opportunity 
Examples:  
‐Enrichment tree at orangutans and/or training 
‐Watch Rama/Program Animal paint – Donor gets to take the painting 
‐Polar bear training 
 

Level Six: 
Rare/Exclusive Opportunity 
Examples:  
‐Conservation ‐ Turtle/butterfly release 
‐Condor tour at off site location  
‐UNO or education field trip 
 
Assumptions for all: 

 Curators used whenever possible due to classification as salaried employees 

 Keepers used sparingly to minimize overtime 

 Zoo staff keep experiences at the agreed upon level so as to support further donor cultivation – we don’t 
want to give it all away too quickly 

 
 

Page 48 of 95Exhibits A



 

 
Draft OZF-FM Service Level SLA Rev3 
Updated November 5, 2014 

 
Facilities and Maintenance Service Level Agreement (SLA) 

for the Oregon Zoo Foundation 

by the Oregon Zoo 

 
Effective Date: XX‐XX‐XXXX 
 
 
 

Document Owners:  Zoo Director 

OZF Director 

 

Version 
 

Version  Date  Description  Author 

1.0  XX‐XX‐XXXX  Service Level SLA  Cary Stacey 

1.1  XX‐XX‐XXXX  Service Level SLA Revised   

       

 

Approval 

(By signing below, all Approvers agree to all terms and conditions outlined in this SLA.) 

 

Approvers  Role  Signed  Approval Date 

Metro COO  Oversight of 
Service Provider 
(zoo) 

  XX‐XX‐XXXX 

OZF Board Chair  Client    XX‐XX‐XXXX 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 49 of 95Exhibits A



 

2 
Draft OZF-FM Service Level SLA Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 

Table	of	Contents	
 
1. Agreement Overview   3  

2. Purpose, Goals & Objectives  3  

3. Governance and Periodic Review  3  

4. Roles and Responsibilities  4  

5. Service Agreement  5  

5.1 Service Scope  5  

5.2 General Service Level Expectations  5  

5.3 Customer Requirements  5  

5.4 Service Provider Requirements  5  

5.5 Service Assumptions  6  

6. Service Management  6  

6.1 Service Requests  6  

6.2 Decision Making and Dispute Resolution  6  

Page 50 of 95Exhibits A



 

3 
Draft OZF-FM Service Level SLA Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 

1. Service Level Agreement Overview 
 
This  document  represents  a  Service  Level  Agreement  (“SLA”)  between  the Oregon  Zoo  and  the 
Oregon Zoo Foundation for the provision of facilities and maintenance services required to support 
and sustain the Oregon Zoo Foundation.  
 
This SLA remains valid until superseded by a revised SLA mutually endorsed by the stakeholders. 
 
This SLA outlines the parameters of all guest services covered as they are mutually understood by 
the primary  stakeholders.  This  SLA does not  supersede  current processes  and procedures unless 
explicitly stated herein. 

2. Purpose, Goals & Objectives 
 

The purpose of  this SLA  is  to ensure  that  the proper elements and  commitments are  in place  to 
provide  consistent  facilities  and  maintenance  service  support  and  delivery  to  the  Oregon  Zoo 
Foundation by the Oregon Zoo in support of the two organizations’ shared goals.  

 
The shared goals of the Oregon Zoo and the Oregon Zoo Foundation are to: 

 Make the zoo a world‐class institution and a world‐wide leader in creating engaging 
experiences and advancing the highest level of animal welfare, environmental literacy and 
conservation science 

 Build community awareness of the Oregon Zoo’s mission  
 Support OZF in meeting the needs of members, sponsors, donors, board and staff; and the 

community at large 
 Ensure efficient use of resources 
 Commit to planning ahead and ensuring capacity for contingencies 
 Represent the zoo in a professional manner 
 Provide high quality service 

 
The objectives of this SLA are to: 
 

 Provide clear reference to service ownership, accountability, roles and/or responsibilities. 
 Present a clear, concise and measurable description of service provision to the customer. 
 Match perceptions of expected service provision with actual service support and delivery. 

3. Governance and Periodic Review   
 

This SLA  is valid  from  the Effective Date outlined herein and  is valid until  further notice. This SLA 
should  be  reviewed  at  a minimum  once  per  fiscal  year;  however,  in  lieu  of  a  review  during  any 
period specified, the current SLA will remain in effect.  
 
The  directors  of  the  Oregon  Zoo  and  the  Oregon  Zoo  Foundation  (“Document  Owners”)  are 
responsible for facilitating regular reviews of this document and may delegate mutually agreed upon 
staff  to manage  document  updates.  Contents  of  this  document may  be  amended  as  required, 
provided mutual  agreement  is obtained  from  the primary  stakeholders  and  communicated  to  all 

Page 51 of 95Exhibits A



 

4 
Draft OZF-FM Service Level SLA Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 

affected parties. The Document Owners will incorporate all subsequent revisions and obtain mutual 
agreements / approvals as required.  
 
The Metro Chief Operating Officer and the OZF board chair are responsible for final approval of SLA 
revisions. 

 
Directors: Oregon Zoo and Oregon Zoo Foundation 
Review Period: One year 
Previous Review Date: N/A 
Next Review Date: XX‐XX‐XXXX 

 

4. Roles and Responsibilities 
 
The following roles and responsibilities are represented in this SLA: 
 
Facilities and Maintenance 
Facilities and Maintenance is in the role of service provider with the responsibility of providing 
service and infrastructure support to OZF business operations and events.  
 
Oregon Zoo Foundation 
OZF is in the role of client, with the responsibilities of being a proactive, responsive and respectful 
customer. 

 

4.1.  General Service Level Expectations 
 

 Timely and responsive communications between the zoo and OZF regarding service, 
infrastructure and on‐grounds events needs 

 Recognition that Facilities and Maintenance staff act as a provider and conduit to seeing 
facilities and maintenance requests through to completion. 

 
Both parties agree to uphold the following elements of a successful working relationship: 

 Active support of shared goals, focus on work 

 Shared clear expectations 

 Respect and professionalism 

 Clear lines of communication 

 Appreciation and acknowledgement 

 Responsive and timely execution of commitments 

 Commitment to continuous improvement and learning 

 
 
 
 

Page 52 of 95Exhibits A



 

5 
Draft OZF-FM Service Level SLA Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 

5. Service Agreement 
 

The  following  detailed  service  parameters  are  the  responsibility  of  the  Service  Provider  in  the 
ongoing support of this SLA.  

 

5.1.  Service Scope 
 
This SLA provides for a full range of services required to support and sustain the Oregon Zoo 
Foundation. 
 
The following services are covered by this SLA:  

 

 Provide basic office maintenance, including utilities and telephone1 support 

 Upon approval of the zoo director for OZF office space modifications, manage or 
coordinate new construction, fabrication or modification. The funding of such space 
modifications will be agreed to by the zoo and OZF directors prior to implementation. 

 Facilitate special projects or services, such as stage production, related to OZF events 

 Provide Zoo Train access and engineer services related to OZF events 

 Provide access to zoo fleet vehicles for transport needs with regard to zoo facilities 

 

5.2. Client Requirements 
 

Client responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this SLA include:  
 

 Use Facilities and Maintenance work order system for non‐emergency requests 

 Use dispatch system for emergency requests 

 Identify decision‐maker for new construction, fabrication or modification projects and 
special projects or services related to OZF events 

 Assist in development of design plans, timeline and specifications for new construction, 
fabrication or modification projects and special projects or services related to OZF 
events 

 Be active stakeholders in the process for new construction, fabrication or modification 
projects and special projects or services related to OZF events 

 Reasonable availability of client representative(s) when resolving a service related 
incident or request. 

 

5.3.   Service Provider Requirements 
 

Service Provider responsibilities and/or requirements in support of this SLA include:  
 

 Meet response times. 

 In the event that Facilities and Maintenance cannot directly execute requests due to 
capacity or priority challenges, Facilities and Maintenance staff will assess alternatives, 
including costs that may be borne by OZF and/or the use of outside contractors. 

                                                           
1 Metro Information Services will assume telephone support at a future date. 

Page 53 of 95Exhibits A



 

6 
Draft OZF-FM Service Level SLA Rev3a 
Updated November 5, 2014 

 In the event that Facilities and Maintenance uses outside contractors, staff will give 
timely notice to allow OZF to budget for said contractors.  

 

5.4.  Service Assumptions 
 
Assumptions related to in‐scope services and/or components include: 
 

 Changes to services will be communicated and documented to all stakeholders. 

 Facilities and Maintenance will provide services outlined in this SLA based on mutually 
agreed‐upon scope and availability. 

 OZF will assist in establishing priorities around Facilities and Maintenance requests. 

6. Service Management 
 
Effective  support  of  in‐scope  services  is  a  result  of  maintaining  consistent  service  levels.  The 
following  sections provide  relevant details on  service  availability, monitoring of  in‐scope  services 
and related components. 

 

6.1.   Service Requests 
 

In support of services outlined in this SLA, responsible Facilities and Maintenance staff will 
acknowledge receipt of service related incidents and/or requests submitted by OZF within two 
business days2.  

 

6.2.   Decision Making and Dispute Resolution 
 

It is assumed that the responsible OZF staff and responsible Facilities and Maintenance staff 
will work together to resolve decisions regarding services. Should a breakdown occur, the 
following dispute resolution levels should be followed: 
 

 First level: Responsible OZF staff member/Facilities Manager 

 Second level: OZF Director/Deputy Director of Operations 

 Third level: OZF Director/Zoo Director 
 

                                                           
2 While it is understood that the Oregon Zoo is a 24/7 operation, “business days” refers to Mondays through Fridays. 

Page 54 of 95Exhibits A



 

DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 
 

 
Marketing Service Level Agreement (SLA) 

for the Oregon Zoo Foundation 

by the Oregon Zoo 

 
Effective Date: XX‐XX‐XXXX 
 
 
 

Document Owners:  Zoo Director 

OZF Director 

 

Version 
 

Version  Date  Description  Author 

1.0  XX‐XX‐XXXX  Service Level Agreement  Cary Stacey 

1.1  XX‐XX‐XXXX  Service Level Agreement Revised   

       

 

Approval 

(By signing below, all Approvers agree to all terms and conditions outlined in this Agreement.) 

 

Approvers  Role  Signed  Approval Date 

Metro COO  Oversight of 
Service Provider 
(zoo) 

  XX‐XX‐XXXX 

OZF Board Chair  Client    XX‐XX‐XXXX 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 55 of 95Exhibits A



 

2 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Table	of	Contents	
 
1. Agreement Overview   3  

2. Purpose, Goals & Objectives  3  

3. Governance and Periodic Review  3  

4. Roles and Responsibilities  4  

5. Service Agreement  5  

5.1 General Service Level Expectations  5  

5.2 Service Scope and Requirements by Activity  6  

Zoo communications strategy and planning    6  

OZF communications strategy and planning    6  

Brand identity    7  

Zoo activity or event‐driven messaging   7  

OZF activity or event‐driven messaging    8  

Zoo advocacy and campaigns    9  

OZF fundraising campaigns    10  

Sponsorship program    10  

Membership program    15  

5.3 Service Assumptions  16  

6. Service Management  16  

6.1 Service Requests  16  

6.2 Decision Making and Dispute Resolution  17  

Appendix A | Cost responsibilities  18  

Appendix B | Crisis Communications Protocol  19  

Page 56 of 95Exhibits A



 

3 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

1. Agreement Overview 
 
This Agreement  represents  a  Service  Level Agreement  (“SLA”)  between  the Oregon  Zoo  and  the 
Oregon Zoo Foundation for the provision of communication, marketing and design services required 
to support and sustain the Oregon Zoo Foundation.  
 
This SLA remains valid until superseded by a revised SLA mutually endorsed by the stakeholders. 
 
This SLA outlines  the parameters of all communication, marketing and design  services covered as 
they  are mutually understood by  the primary  stakeholders.  This  SLA does not  supersede  current 
processes and procedures unless explicitly stated herein. 

2. Purpose, Goals & Objectives 
 

The purpose of  this SLA  is  to ensure  that  the proper elements and  commitments are  in place  to 
provide  consistent  communication,  marketing  and  design  service  support  and  delivery  to  the 
Oregon Zoo Foundation by the Oregon Zoo in support of the two organizations’ shared goals.  

 
The shared goals of  the Oregon Zoo Marketing and Communications division and  the Oregon Zoo 
Foundation are to: 

 Make the zoo a world‐class institution and a world‐wide leader in creating engaging 
experiences and advancing the highest level of animal welfare, environmental literacy and 
conservation science 

 Build community awareness of the Oregon Zoo’s mission  
 Invest in a strong brand that is recognized by the community using shared images, messages 

and other elements 
 Maintain a strategic, high‐value, year‐round sponsorship program 
 Coordinate messaging among overlapping audiences 
 Practice clear, open and timely communications 
 Ensure efficient use of resources 
 Commit to planning ahead and ensuring capacity for contingencies 

 
The objectives of this SLA are to: 
 

 Provide clear reference to service ownership, accountability, roles and/or responsibilities. 
 Present a clear, concise and measurable description of service provision to the customer. 
 Match perceptions of expected service provision with actual service support & delivery. 
 

 

3. Governance and Periodic Review   
 

This SLA  is valid  from  the Effective Date outlined herein and  is valid until  further notice. This SLA 
should  be  reviewed  at  a minimum  once  per  fiscal  year;  however,  in  lieu  of  a  review  during  any 
period specified, the current SLA will remain in effect.  
 

Page 57 of 95Exhibits A



 

4 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

The  directors  of  the  Oregon  Zoo  and  the  Oregon  Zoo  Foundation  (“Document  Owners”)  are 
responsible for facilitating regular reviews of this document and may delegate mutually agreed upon 
staff  to manage  document  updates.  Contents  of  this  document may  be  amended  as  required, 
provided mutual  agreement  is obtained  from  the primary  stakeholders  and  communicated  to  all 
affected parties. The Document Owners will incorporate all subsequent revisions and obtain mutual 
agreements / approvals as required.  
 
The Metro Chief Operating Officer and the OZF board chair are responsible for final approval of SLA 
revisions. 

 
Directors: Oregon Zoo and Oregon Zoo Foundation 
Review Period: One year 
Previous Review Date: N/A 
Next Review Date: XX‐XX‐XXXX 

 

4. Roles and Responsibilities 
 

While both the Oregon Zoo Marketing and Communications Division and the Oregon Zoo 
Foundation serve as partners in promoting the Oregon Zoo to external audiences, roles and 
responsibilities vary depending on the project. Roles may shift at different stages of certain projects 
and in some cases overlap.  
 
Definition of Roles: 

 Lead – responsible (per your definition below) for planning, development, implementation and 
completion of task; takes final direction from Reviewer/Approver; accountability for ensuring 
timely communication to involved parties, quality control, deadlines and deliverables.  

 Collaborator – directly impacted by success or failure of task; involved in early stage planning 
and priority setting; assigned supporting roles by Lead, including execution of work; shares 
responsibility for communicating with stakeholders. 

 
Definition of Responsibilities: 

 Responsible – take initiative, develop alternatives, analyze situation, make initial 
recommendation, accountable if nothing happens  

 Review/Approve – consulted throughout all phases; holds preliminary and final decision making 
authority; has sign‐off or veto decision; may choose alternatives; accountable for decision 
quality 

 Consulted – consulted prior to decision; provides information that influences decision; no veto 
power 

 Informed – notified of decision 
 
Roles and Responsibilities 

Activity  Zoo Marketing & 
Communications 

OZF 

Zoo communications strategy and 
planning 

Lead, Responsible  Collaborator, Consulted 

Page 58 of 95Exhibits A



 

5 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

5.  Service Agreement 
 

The  following  detailed  service  parameters  are  the  responsibility  of  the  Service  Provider  in  the 
ongoing support of this SLA.  

 

5.1. General Expectations 
 

Both parties commit to the following shared expectations: 

 Consistent and timely communications between the zoo and OZF regarding vision, issues, 
strategic projects or developments impacting the zoo and OZF. 

 Active coordination of ongoing communications services provided to and on behalf of the zoo 
and OZF, including those involving external vendors. 

 Collaborative engagement in shaping communications strategy, with the zoo responsible for 
strategy implementation and quarterly reporting. 

 Maintenance of positive relationships with the media, industry partners, vendors and 
communications staff at the zoo and OZF. 

 Storytelling that communicates the community impact and value of the zoo and OZF in our 
region and around the world. 

 
Both parties agree to uphold the following elements of a successful working relationship: 

 Active support of shared goals, focus on work 

 Shared clear expectations 

 Respect and professionalism 

 Clear lines of communication 

 Appreciation and acknowledgement 

 Responsive and timely execution of commitments 

 Commitment to continuous improvement and learning 

 

OZF communications strategy and 
planning 

Collaborator, Consulted  Lead, Responsible 

Brand identity  Lead, Responsible  Collaborator, Informed 
 

Zoo activity or event‐driven 
messaging 

Lead, Responsible  Collaborator, Consulted 

OZF activity or event‐driven 
messaging 

Collaborator, Consulted  Lead, Responsible 

Zoo advocacy and campaigns  Lead, Responsible   Collaborator, Consulted 
 

OZF fundraising campaigns  Collaborator, Informed 
 

Lead, Responsible  
 

Sponsorship program   Collaborator, Informed 
(Sponsorship Steering 
Committee) 

Lead, Responsible 

Membership program  Collaborator, Informed  Lead, Responsible 
 

Page 59 of 95Exhibits A



 

6 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

5.2.  Service Scope and Requirements by Activity 
 

Zoo communications strategy and planning 
This activity includes support for the zoo strategic communications plan, crisis communications and 
reputation management.  
 

Zoo Marketing & Communications 
responsibilities and/or requirements in support 
of this activity include:  

OZF responsibilities and/or requirements in 
support of this activity include:  

ROLE: Lead  ROLE: Collaborator 

Lead Communications Steering Committee 
 

Serve on Communications Steering Committee 

Responsible for developing, implementing, 
maintaining, monitoring, and reporting progress 
of strategic communications plan 

Responsible for communicating schedules and 
timelines to help inform strategic 
communication plan 

Responsible for communicating zoo’s strategic 
communication priorities 

Responsible for communicating zoo’s strategic 
communication priorities 

Responsible for integrating OZF schedules in zoo 
strategic communications timelines 

Responsible for communicating OZF’s strategic 
communication priorities  

Responsible for developing, implementing, 
maintaining, monitoring, and reporting progress 
(to Communications Steering Committee) of zoo 
strategic communications 

Responsible for communicating schedules and 
timelines 

Lead crisis communications strategy and 
execution 

Responsible for supporting execution of crisis 
communication strategy 

Responsible for maintaining crisis 
communications protocol (see Appendix B) 

Consult on revisions and decisions related to 
crisis communication protocol (see Appendix B) 

 
OZF communications strategy and planning 
This activity includes implementation of OZF’s strategic and operational plan. 
 

Zoo Marketing & Communications 
responsibilities and/or requirements in support 
of this activity include:  

OZF  responsibilities  and/or  requirements  in 
support of this activity include:  

ROLE: Collaborator  ROLE: Lead 

Responsible for integrating zoo schedules in OZF 
strategic communications timelines 

Responsible for communicating Zoo’s strategic 
communication priorities  

Responsible for developing, implementing, 
maintaining, monitoring, and reporting progress 
(to Communications Steering Committee) of OZF 
strategic communications 

Responsible for communicating schedules and 
timelines 

 
 

Brand identity 
This activity includes maintaining consistency and high quality across identity assets—including 
logos and symbols, typography, color palette, photo and video library—that represent both 

Page 60 of 95Exhibits A



 

7 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

organizations; maintaining shared style guide and institutional voice optimized for each party’s 
work. 
 
While both organizations have individual logos, the brand philosophy is to represent the Oregon Zoo 
and the Oregon Zoo Foundation as “one‐zoo”.  This requires coordination of brand identity elements 
which will allow for the appropriate brand connection and / or differentiation where appropriate.  

 

Zoo Marketing & Communications 
responsibilities and/or requirements in support 
of this activity include:  

OZF  responsibilities  and/or  requirements  in 
support of this activity include:  

ROLE: Lead  ROLE: Collaborator   

Responsible for developing, implementing and 
maintaining brand standards.  

Consult on development and implementation of 
brand standards. 

ROLE: Collaborator  ROLE: Lead 

Responsible for providing access to style guide; 
responsible for maintaining version control. 

 

Consult on and integrate OZF components into 
zoo style guide (e.g. voice and tone for OZF 
writing, web style guide sponsor recognition 
guidelines) 

Responsible for communicating additional brand 
guidelines or direction; communicate about 
locations where OZF strategic communications 
priorities require different style or tone than is 
stipulated in zoo style guide. 

Responsible for upholding brand standards in 
projects managed with external zoo vendors. 

Responsible for upholding brand standards in 
projects managed with external OZF vendors.   

 
Zoo activity or event‐driven messaging 
This includes all marketing and communications activities related to the zoo’s implementation of the 
zoo’s strategic plan, strategic communications plan and any related activities supporting internal 
customers and the business and operations of the zoo.  
 

Zoo Marketing & Communications 
responsibilities and/or requirements in support 
of this activity include:  

OZF  responsibilities  and/or  requirements  in 
support of this activity include:  

ROLE: Lead  ROLE: Collaborator 

Responsible for planning and development of 
key messages and marketing plans related to 
activity, event or initiative. 
 

Consult on planning and development of 
messages related to activity, event or initiative. 

Responsible for defining message needs and 
target audiences. 

Consult on message needs and target audiences. 

Responsible for maintaining content calendar, 
informed by zoo strategic communications plan. 
 

Consult on content calendar; communicate OZF 
strategic communications priorities or 
storytelling opportunities related to activity, 
event or initiative. 

Responsible for decisions about content 
development.    

Consult on content development, as necessary. 

Responsible for production of copy, video and 
photo assets, as deemed necessary, to support 

Responsible for repurposing copy, video and 
photo assets into member and donor 

Page 61 of 95Exhibits A



 

8 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

the communication of activity, event or 
initiative.  

publications 

Responsible for outreach to media, general 
public, zoo and Metro. 

Responsible for outreach to members, donors 
and prospects.  

Responsible for managing related contact lists.   Responsible for managing related contact lists.  

Informed of OZF outreach plans and execution.  Informed of zoo outreach plans and execution. 

Responsible for distribution of messages about 
activity, marketing plans, event or initiative 
through methods zoo deems appropriate, 
including press releases, web storytelling, social 
media, public speaking opportunities 

Responsible for distribution of messages about 
activity, event or initiative through methods OZF 
deems appropriate. 

 

OZF activity or event‐driven messaging 
This activity includes specific messages or communications about activities and events initiated by 
OZF, rather than the zoo.  
 

Zoo Marketing & Communications 
responsibilities and/or requirements in support 
of this activity include:  

OZF  responsibilities  and/or  requirements  in 
support of this activity include:  

ROLE: Collaborator   ROLE: Lead 

Consult on planning and development of key 
messages related to activity, event or initiative. 

Responsible for planning and development of 
key messages related to activity, event or 
initiative. 

Informed of outreach plans and execution. 
 
 

Responsible for defining message needs and 
target audiences.  
 
Responsible for communicating outreach plans 
and content development. 

Review and approve for brand alignment.  Responsible for production of copy, video and 
photo assets, as deemed necessary, to support 
the communication of activity, event or 
initiative. 
 
Responsible for managing outside vendors and 
covering associated costs. 

Responsible for outreach to media, general 
public, zoo and Metro, as deemed necessary by 
OZF. 

Review/approve final messages to be distributed 
by zoo. 
 
Responsible for outreach to members, donors 
and prospects.  

Consulted on content development as 
necessary. 

Responsible for decisions about content 
development.    

  Responsible for donor recognition in OZF 
publications. 

Responsible for implementing on‐grounds donor 
recognition. 
 

Responsible for recognizing donors on grounds 
at the zoo. 
 

Page 62 of 95Exhibits A



 

9 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Responsible for providing design services for 
fabrication, installation and maintenance of on‐
grounds donor recognition. 
 
Responsible for informing OZF of change in 
donor recognition location. 

Review/approve designs. 
 
Responsible for tracking updates and sunset of 
donor recognition. 

Responsible for providing web access to OZF for 
managing content related to OZF activity or OZF 
event‐driven messaging. 

Responsible for maintaining all web pages 
related to OZF activity or event‐driven 
messaging on Zoo website. 
 
Responsible for maintaining third party 
transaction sites. 

Responsible for ensuring social media posts align 
with voice and tone.  
 
Responsible for editing and posting content in 
social media.  
 

Responsible for communicating social media 
goals and timelines. 
 
Responsible for drafting content for social media 
and send at least 5 business days before post.  

 
Zoo advocacy and campaigns 
This activity includes initiatives and campaigns to educate and engage visitors and the community in 
advocacy around the zoo’s priority conservation topics. 
 

Zoo Marketing & Communications 
responsibilities and/or requirements in support 
of this activity include:  

OZF  responsibilities  and/or  requirements  in 
support of this activity include:  
 

ROLE: Lead  ROLE: Collaborator 

Responsible for developing marketing 
communications, promotion and engagement 
activities involved in campaign. 
 
Responsible for consulting with OZF when 
fundraising is involved.  

Informed of campaign activities. 
 
Consult when fundraising is involved. 

ROLE: Collaborator  ROLE: Lead 

Responsible for not using public funds to support 
political campaigns. 
 
Responsible for providing access to image library 
and standard messaging for political campaigns 

Responsible for adhering to advocacy process 
outlines in MOU to initiate a political campaign. 

 

OZF fundraising campaigns 
This activity includes development and implementation of fundraising campaigns including 
establishing campaign goals, targets, schedule, materials and any related promotion or advertising.   
  
It also can include member and donor acquisition efforts and annual fund activities. 
 

Page 63 of 95Exhibits A



 

10 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Zoo Marketing & Communications 
responsibilities and/or requirements in support 
of this activity include:  

OZF  responsibilities  and/or  requirements  in 
support of this activity include:  

ROLE: Collaborator  ROLE: Lead 

Informed of OZF fundraising and campaign plans 
including media placement and schedule of 
communications and other activities. 

Informs Zoo Marketing & Communications of 
campaign scope 

Responsible for incorporating fundraising 
campaigns into zoo’s existing plans/activities 
where appropriate 

Responsible for planning, marketing and 
executing fundraising campaigns 

Consult on brand and message alignment  Responsible for defining message needs and 
target audiences and determining look and feel, 
overall design of materials. 

Review and approve accuracy of zoo information 
included in OZF campaign materials 

Review and approve materials 

Responsible for supporting distribution of 
fundraising campaign information as defined by 
OZF  

Responsible for determining  appropriate 
channels for distribution 

  Responsible for graphic design and copywriting 

  Responsible for securing media buys and placing 
ads 

Responsible for including fundraising campaign 
information, as approved by OZF, in zoo press 
releases. 

Responsible for providing content to be included 
in press releases. 

  Responsible for tracking media coverage  

Review/approve branded elements. 
 
Informed of campaign plans.  

Responsible for managing and executing 
acquisition campaigns  

 

Sponsorship program 
This activity requires collaborative engagement between the zoo and foundation to sustain and 
grow a robust year‐round sponsorship program. This activity includes strategy development, sales, 
service to sponsors and activation and fulfillment of sponsorship contracts.  
 

Zoo Marketing & Communications 
responsibilities and/or requirements in support 
of this activity include:  

OZF  responsibilities  and/or  requirements  in 
support of this activity include:  

GOVERNANCE ROLE: Collaborator  GOVERNANCE ROLE: Lead 

Responsible for participating in Sponsorship 
Steering Committee meetings and presenting 
issues that may affect Sponsorship Packaging 
strategy to Sponsorship Steering Committee 

Responsible for facilitating Sponsorship Steering 
Committee meetings (See Appendix XX: 
Sponsorship Steering Committee Process) 

Responsible for presenting Media Partnership 
proposals to Steering Committee for input    
 
Responsible for securing Media Partnerships and 
ensuring those benefits are in balance with 

Consult on Media Partnerships via Sponsorship 
Steering Committee to review and make 
recommendations if necessary to maintain 
brand value  
 

Page 64 of 95Exhibits A



 

11 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Signature Partner rights and benefits.  ‐   

Responsible for developing style guide (see 
Appendix XX) on application of sponsor logos 
and recognition, taking into account IEG 
valuation.   

Consult on style guide in regards to application 
of sponsor logos and recognition.  
 
Informed of decisions.  

Review/approve all sales and fulfillment 
materials or templates for zoo brand alignment.  
(“evergreen” elements only) 

Responsible for design development and 
production of all sales, service or fulfillment 
materials or templates.  

  Responsible for managing sponsor activation 
fund. 

SALES ROLE: Collaborator  SALES ROLE: Lead 

Responsible for providing OZF with access to 
webpages in the Corporate Relations area of the 
zoo website. 

Responsible for maintaining all webpages 
related to sponsorship options and availability in 
the Corporate Relations area of the zoo website 
according to the style guide 

  Responsible for identifying prospects 

Informed of general proposals  Responsible for outreach to corporate contacts 
and identifying sponsor goals and priorities 

Responsible for setting deadlines for sponsor 
inclusion in marketing campaigns. 
 
Responsible for helping to identify alternatives 
for sponsors that sign on after deadlines.   

Responsible for meeting deadlines associated 
with sponsor inclusion in marketing campaigns. 
 
Consult on alternatives for sponsors that sign on 
after deadlines. 

Responsible for reviewing marketing‐related 
elements of sponsorship proposals 
 
Consult/collaborate on customized activation 
ideas and elements. 
 
Responsible for allowing access to image library 
for proposal needs 

Responsible for developing customized package 
proposals; consulting with zoo Marketing and 
Communications and other relevant zoo 
stakeholders throughout development; and 
previewing proposal with Sponsorship Steering 
Committee. 

Informed of final proposal/addendum. 
 
Consult on addendums via participation in 
Sponsorship Steering Committee. 

Responsible for presenting proposal to prospect 
and managing negotiation process. 
 
Responsible for bringing addendum to 
Sponsorship Steering Committee for review and 
approval. 

Informed of finalized agreement.  Responsible for contracting with corporate 
sponsors and providing Marketing and 
Communications with copies of commitments 
within five business days.  

FULFILLMENT ROLE: Lead, Collaborator  FULFILLMENT ROLE: Lead, Collaborator 

Responsible for maintaining sponsor 
promotional information and ensuring elements 
are incorporated into all relevant marketing 
assets.   

Responsible for obtaining toolkit of promotional 
information from sponsor (including, but not 
limited to, logo/brand guidelines and files, URL, 
quotes from leadership).  
 

Page 65 of 95Exhibits A



 

12 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Responsible for sharing toolkit with Marketing 
and Communications by established deadlines 
and forwarding toolkit updates as requested by 
sponsor.   

Responsible for ensuring sponsor, zoo and media 
partner logo guidelines are followed.  

Responsible for ensuring sponsor logo guidelines 
are followed. 

  Responsible for including sponsors in relevant 
OZF publications.  

Consult on sponsor toolkit development.  
 
Responsible for providing access to image 
library, logo use guidelines, key messages, 
quotes from zoo leadership, stories and video 
for use in toolkit. 
 
Responsible for supplying marketing and 
communications goals and targets for related 
events for use with sponsor toolkit. 
 
Review/approve final toolkit content. 

Responsible for developing and maintaining 
sponsor toolkit for branded messages in print, 
web and social media, including quotes from zoo 
leadership, photos and zoo logo obtained from 
Marketing. 

Responsible for including sponsor mentions in 
zoo press releases.  

Consult on zoo press releases with sponsor 
mentions and review/approve same.  

Responsible for designing and coordinating 
placement of sponsor recognition on digital 
displays.  

Review/approve digital recognition. 

Responsible for providing content pages on zoo 
website. 

Responsible for implementing and maintaining 
website recognition for sponsors on content 
pages, according to style guide, on zoo website.  

Consult on design and content for web pages co‐
created with sponsors 

Responsible for producing design and content 
for web pages co‐created with sponsors 

Responsible for developing and implementing 
marketing and communications plans for all 
sponsored events or programs, Responsible for 
ensuring all rights and benefits outlined in 
contracts are included.  
 
Responsible for establishing timelines for 
content development, review and production to 
include a three business day internal review 
process with OZF and five business day review 
process with sponsors. 
Responsible for graphic design and content and 
incorporating sponsor logos and mentions as 
appropriate.   
This may include, but is not limited to: graphic 
elements, event logos,  print ads, web content 
and  advertising,  social media, on‐grounds 

Informed of zoo marketing and communications 
plans for sponsored events or programs.  
 
Consult on integration plans with zoo staff 
involved in sponsored event or program. 
Responsible for communicating integration plans 
with marketing.  
 
 
 
 
Consult on sponsor logo placement and 
mentions in graphic design and content as 
appropriate.   Allow a three business day internal 
review process prior to submitting to sponsor for 
final approval of logo/name mentions. 
 

Page 66 of 95Exhibits A



 

13 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

signage and collateral, out of home, radio, TV, 
press releases, etc..  
 
Responsible for providing OZF with draft graphic 
design and content for review, revision and 
approval of appropriate name or logo use with 
sponsors per timeline as outlined above. 
 
 

Responsible for facilitating five business day 
review with sponsors, revision and approval 
process of draft ad design and content with 
sponsors.  
 
 

Responsible for managing relationships with 
advertisers. 
 
Responsible for maintaining paid advertising 
schedule and deadlines.  
 
Responsible for managing media buys and ad 
placements. 

Informed of paid advertising schedule and 
deadlines.  

Responsible for managing contractors and 
ensuring sponsor logo and brand guidelines are 
incorporated as appropriate.  
Responsible for establishing process of 
communication between contractor and OZF to 
obtain information needed for recaps. 
 
All other review and approval processes remain 
the same as when working with the Marketing 
and Communications Division directly. 
 
 

Consult on sponsor interests and reporting 
needs with promoters and media partners. 
 
Consult on, review and approve sponsor 
mentions outside of style guide, sponsor toolkit 
or established marketing and communications 
plans to be distributed by promoters and media 
partners (e.g., e‐blasts, microsites). 
 
Responsible for coordinating five‐day review, 
revisions and approval of sponsor mentions in 
promotional messages with sponsors.  

Responsible for recommending alternatives of 
equal value to meet sponsorship rights and 
benefits, taking into account IEG valuation, if 
unable to execute addendum.  
 
Present alternatives to Sponsorship Steering 
Committee for review and approval. 

Consult on alternatives of equal value to meet 
sponsorship contracted rights and benefits.  
 
Present alternatives to Sponsorship Steering 
Committee for review and approval. 

 
Responsible for communicating progress of 
marketing tasks for sponsored events or 
programs to zoo and OZF staff. 

Responsible for managing tracking sheets to 
ensure promotional rights and benefits are met 
for sponsored events or programs. 

Responsible for communicating media 
placement and marketing plan activities to OZF. 
 
Responsible for allowing access to resources 
needed to complete recaps such as image 
library, web and social media analytics, etc. 

Responsible for managing and communicating 
deadlines for tracking data to supply recap 
reports in a timely manner.  
 
Responsible for tracking and documenting media 
placement and impressions for recap reports 

Mutually responsible for defining which data  Mutually responsible for defining which data 

Page 67 of 95Exhibits A



 

14 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

must be collected for sponsor recap reports.  must be collected for sponsor recap reports. 

Mutually responsible for agreeing on roles and 
responsibilities for gathering data for sponsor 
recap reports. 

Mutually responsible for agreeing on roles and 
responsibilities for gathering data for sponsor 
recap reports. 

Responsible for graphic design and content 
development for stand‐alone recognition 
elements. Responsible for providing OZF with 
draft graphic design and content for review, 
revision and approval following standard review 
period protocol. 
 
Responsible for seeking approval for costs 
associated with stand‐alone sponsor benefits 
 
Responsible for printing/producing/ and 
installing signage.  
 
Responsible for identifying locations for sponsor‐
provided stand‐alone banners or signage.   
 
 

Responsible for maintaining schedule of 
sponsors’ stand‐alone recognition on grounds 
and informing marketing when signage 
changes/revisions are required.  
 
Responsible for coordinating five‐day review, 
revisions and approval of appropriate name and 
logos usage with sponsors 
 
 
 

SERVICE ROLE: Collaborator  SERVICE ROLE: Lead 

Consult/collaborate on cross‐promotional 
opportunities. 

Responsible for presenting cross‐promotional 
opportunities to sponsor. 

Consult on sponsor‐created promotional offers, 
fundraising offers and promotional campaigns 
(through Sponsorship Steering Committee). 
 
Review/approve any use of zoo logo in 
promotions.  
 
Responsible for developing supporting 
marketing and communications plans where 
necessary, and determining associated costs. 

Responsible for oversight of sponsor‐created 
promotional offers, fundraising offers and 
promotional campaigns. 
 

ACTIVATION ROLE: Collaborator  ACTIVATION ROLE: LEAD 

Consult on and informed of customized 
activation.  

Responsible for planning and implementing on‐
site activation opportunities; coordinating with 
sponsors to create activation strategies to fit 
their goals. 

 

 

 
Membership program 
This activity includes communications and marketing efforts related to the management of the zoo’s 
membership program and subsequent delivery of benefits, stewardship of members/donors, 
planning for strategic growth of the program and upholding zoo brand identity for member 
audiences. 

Page 68 of 95Exhibits A



 

15 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

 

Zoo Marketing & Communications 
responsibilities and/or requirements in support 
of this activity include:  

OZF  responsibilities  and/or  requirements  in 
support of this activity include:  

ROLE: Collaborator  ROLE: Lead 

  Responsible for delivering and promoting 
member benefits related to publications. 

Informed of timelines and plans for foundation 
publications. Informed about steps to supply 
content for members.  

Responsible for informing zoo about publication 
timelines and guidelines for suggesting or 
submitting additional content 

Informed of member benefits related to events 
developed by OZF. 

Responsible for delivering and promoting 
member benefits related to events  

Review/approve messages outside of existing 
messaging   

Responsible for drawing from existing zoo 
messaging, like web event calendar or press 
releases. 
 
Responsible for developing new messaging and 
routing for zoo review. 

Informed via Major Events committee and 
Master Calendar 

Responsible for planning and executing special 
member events (e.g. Sunrise at the Zoo) 

Consult on opportunities for member events as 
needed. 
 
Responsible for developing promotional offers 
 
Responsible for serving as a point of contact for 
zoo and Metro departments internal clients 
interested in marketing to members 

Responsible for consulting with zoo on 
opportunities to promote and provide special 
access to members for zoo events and programs 

  Responsible for promoting zoo activities and 
retail offerings 
 
Responsible for timing of member publications 
and communication to members.  

Responsible for providing web access to OZF for 
membership‐related pages. 

Responsible for maintaining content on all 
membership‐related web pages. 

Review/approve to ensure brand alignment  Responsible for maintaining membership brand 
(colors, photo choices, etc.) 

Responsible for redesign and production of 
membership collateral, including but not limited 
to brochures, cards, welcome packages and 
application forms, in relation to gate fee or 
brand changes. 
 
Review and approve refreshed membership 
collateral for brand alignment. 
 

Consult on, review and approve zoo redesign of 
membership collateral in relation to gate fee or 
brand changes. 
 
Responsible for contracting out design and 
production to refresh and reprint membership 
collateral in between zoo‐prompted redesigns. 
 
 

  Responsible for managing the data and records 

Page 69 of 95Exhibits A



 

16 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

of each member household 

  Responsible for tracking and encouraging 
renewals and upgrades 

  Responsible for encouraging additional 
investment in the zoo 

Responsible for directing membership‐related 
inquiries to foundation or requesting 
information needed to respond 

Responsible for responding to inquiries from 
existing members and the general public 
regarding membership 

Responsible for responding to zoo‐related 
inquiries from existing members and the general 
public 

Responsible for directing zoo‐related inquiries to 
zoo staff or requesting information needed to 
respond 

Informed of changes.  Responsible for planning and executing 
communications related to changes in 
membership program policies or prices 

Responsible for designing and producing on‐
grounds membership and directional signage. 

Review/approve sign content and graphics. 

 

 

5.3.  Service Assumptions 
 
Assumptions related to in‐scope services and/or components include: 

 The parties will jointly participate in 18‐month planning process to commit needed resources. 

 The parties will ensure that public information materials are accurate and routinely identify 
the zoo’s affiliation with Metro in a manner consistent with Metro communication standards. 

 The parties are jointly responsible for using and updating internal communication 
documents, such as the strategic communications plan, Crisis Communications Protocol (see 
Appendix B) and style guide. 

 The zoo will maintain and provide access to a master calendar listing zoo initiatives, 
programs, projects and events, an internal calendar and content calendar. 

 The zoo will consult with OZF regarding web redesign. 

 The zoo will facilitate resolution of website issues with Metro Information Services. 

 The zoo will provide training to OZF on webpage management and updates or any other 
systems needed to carry out work. 

 The zoo will consult with OZF in planning for Marketing and Communications surveys or 
opinion research and will provide the OZF with access to all Zoo survey data. 

 The OZF may draw from zoo‐produced information about offerings and events for internal 
and external audiences for its own communication purposes. Such information can be found 
in general web content, web calendar, press releases and social media. 

 The zoo will develop and communicate key messages to OZF regarding newsworthy events, 
which OZF will in turn disseminate to its internal and external audiences. 

 

6. Service Management 
 

 

Page 70 of 95Exhibits A



 

17 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

6.1.  Service Requests 
 

In support of services outlined in this SLA, responsible Marketing and Communications staff will 
acknowledge receipt of service related incidents and/or requests submitted by OZF within two 
business days1 
 

6.2.   Decision Making and Dispute Resolution 
 

It is assumed that responsible staff persons will work together to resolve decisions regarding 
services. Should a breakdown occur, the following dispute resolution levels should be followed: 
 

 First level: Responsible OZF Staff Person/Marketing and Communications Division 
Manager 

 Second level: Responsible OZF Staff Person and OZF Director/ Director of 
Communications and Strategic Development for Metro Visitor Venues 

 Third level: OZF Director/Zoo Director 

   

                                                           
1 While it is understood that the Oregon Zoo is a 24/7 operation, “business days” refers to Mondays through Fridays. 

Page 71 of 95Exhibits A



 

18 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Appendix A | Cost responsibilities 
 
Content pending 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

Page 72 of 95Exhibits A



 

19 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

Appendix B | Crisis Communications Protocol 
 

Oregon Zoo 

Crisis/Issues Communication Protocol 

Introduction 

 
The Oregon Zoo Crisis/Issues Communication Protocol provides a road map for communicating with employees, 
stakeholders, visitors, news media and the general public during code incidents or other situations, as determined 
by the zoo director, in which immediate, timely and accurate information is necessary to be disseminated.  
 
The Oregon Zoo shows its commitment to public service by ensuring transparency and proactive communication in 
the event of an emergency/crisis situation or when significant issues arise.  These events can take many forms, 
from sudden catastrophic emergencies to an uprising of negative public perception. Accurate, timely, and open 
communication is critical to maintain the trust of our public while preserving the zoo’s image and reputation.  The 
following plan is designed to ensure communications are managed effectively with positive outcomes. 
 
Important guidelines for all employees and volunteers 
 
Only authorized employees should speak with the media on behalf of the zoo.  All media inquiries should be 
referred to the Marketing and Communications division at extension 5716.   
 
Verified information will be shared with all audiences as soon as it is available.  The zoo will follow a protocol that 
ensures Metro leadership, Metro Council, zoo leadership, zoo staff and volunteers and Oregon Zoo Foundation 
staff and board members are informed in the appropriate order.  This ensures the necessary resources and 
support for dealing with the situation are in place and that all parties can perform any necessary duties before 
information is released to the media and general public.   
 
What is considered a crisis or issue? 
 
Any situation that could: 
 damage Oregon Zoo’s reputation or image 
 affect the health and welfare of an animal, employee, volunteer, or guest 
 a situation that receives or could potentially receive media attention 
 some, but not all, incident response issues 
 
Examples of a crisis are: 
 natural disasters including floods, tornadoes, winter storms and fires 
 animal health issues—significant animal illnesses, injuries or deaths (whether natural, accidental, or euthanized)  
 animal escapes and/or animal and people interactions 
 human diseases or epidemics affecting zoo staff or visitors (food‐borne illnesses) 
 a disgruntled employee or other employee personnel issue 
 union negotiating issues or a strike by union employees 
 loss of funding or fiscal mismanagement 
 zoo visitor, employee, volunteer, or contractor/sub‐contractor injury or death 
 animal rights activist activities  
 other controversial issues related to the zoo, including environmental concerns 
 criminal incidents, such as personal threats, civil unrest, guest domestic issues, and violence in the workplace 

Page 73 of 95Exhibits A



 

20 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

 illegal activity on zoo property 
 acts of terrorism 
Zoo emergency response codes most likely to require crisis communications: 
  Code Orange – Active crime 
  Code Gold – Dangerous animal escape 
  Code Bronze – Person in exhibit with dangerous animal 
   
Protocols and practices 
When a crisis occurs, the first priority is to secure the safety of the employees, visitors and animals involved. Once 
confirmed, the Zoo Director or designee directs the Marketing and Communications Manager to implement the 
Oregon Zoo Crisis Communication Protocol.  
 
The following steps will be followed. 
 
1. Inform appropriate staff about the situation using the Crisis Communication Phone Tree. 

 
2. Assemble the core communications team / identify other support necessary.  

 
Core communications team members may include: 
 Key zoo staff  and management involved 
 Communications/ PR agency  
 Office of Metro Attorney 
 Designated spokesperson(s)                                                                                                                                                                               
 Public agencies, contractors or vendors involved 
 OZF communications manager 

 
3. Gather and verify facts from on‐site staff involved in situation.   
 
4. Open shared and protected activity log document. The purpose of the activity log is to provide a real‐time 

source of accurate information and sequence of events following the incident for communication core team 
and EMT members only.  

 
Team members will be required to log any activity and communications that they are involved with outside of 
the core communications or EMT sessions. This document will also be useful during the evaluation discussion 
after the issue has been resolved.  

 
5. Create a stand‐by statement for the media as well as for internal communication to staff and volunteers and 

public messaging to trustees, sponsors, donors, zoo members, as necessary. This statement, which should be 
distributed within 1.5 hours of incident occurring, needs to include: 

 
*Note, OZF needs as much time as possible to prepare email distribution list for members. 
 

 Brief description of what occurred 
 Assurance of safety and well‐being of those involved and at zoo, if possible 
 Preliminary warnings if deemed appropriate by security and/or law enforcement 
 Description of current activity in response and future activities to be expected  
 Expression of empathy and compassion for those involved if injured 
 Example statements: 

 
‐We are still gathering all the facts. 
‐Safety and security is out top priority. 
‐We will get back to the media as soon as we have more information. 
‐We will know more at X time and be available to brief news media at that time. 

Page 74 of 95Exhibits A



 

21 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

‐Thank you for your interest. 
 

6. Core communications team is responsible for disseminating the approved scripts to public‐facing 
personnel.  

 
7. Create written materials regarding the crisis, including media release, fact sheets, and Q & A message 

points, internal and stakeholder messages. 
 

a. For instances involving politically sensitive, potentially controversial or any topics of which Metro 
Councilors are likely to be contacted by the news media or their constituents, the core 
communications team should consult with Metro communications, legal and/or visitor venues 
for guidance on communication protocols. 

 
8. If appropriate, collect photographs, video and other information resources to provide to public and or 

news media. 
 

9. Submit draft written materials to marketing/communications manager for initial review and approval. 
Final approval by the zoo director or designee is required prior to public release of any materials.  
 

10. Distribute key information in the following order: 
 First priority – key zoo staff, Metro Senior Leadership Team, Metro Council, Oregon Zoo 

Foundation Director and Board 
 

 Second priority – all zoo staff, volunteers, partners, key donors 
 

 Third priority ‐ media, public (this includes zoo members) 
 

11. Designate primary and secondary spokesperson(s) and rehearse and brief on the key messages and 
questions that may be asked during news conference or individual media interviews.  

a. Identify three key messages to articulate. 
b. Consider worst case scenario questions and develop draft responses and/or pivot messages for 

approval by marketing/communications manager, then zoo director or designee. 
 

12. If needed, select a team to help answer incoming media calls and calls from the public regarding incident. 
Identify and include individuals on the team in this document. Include logistical plan for space, phone 
lines, etc. 

a. Inform Metro communications how to refer incoming calls from public and news media (i.e., all 
calls should be referred to Hova Najarian.) 

b. If communication response is expected to last beyond one business day, identify additional team 
members to assist and provide relief. Create multi‐day assignments and schedule if necessary. 

 
13. Distribute written materials internally to employees (including Switchboard) and volunteers via email. 

Identify communications core team member to serve as internal communications liaison, collect 
questions and track down information.   

 
14. Distribute talking points for Metro Councilors to use if contacted by constituents or news media. 

 
15. Distribute news release to media (see contact list), post message to website, Facebook and Twitter. If 

necessary/appropriate, make follow‐up calls to media. 
a. Copy core communications team, EMT, Metro communications on news release email. If 

appropriate, send to OZF Board, Metro communications, COO, Deputy COO and Council.  
 

Page 75 of 95Exhibits A



 

22 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

16. Plan media availability/news conference if individual interviews will be burdensome on spokespeople 
and/or zoo director. 

a. Provide at least 2 hours advance notice to media and stakeholders. 
b. Identify centrally located, easily accessible site that is served by electrical power.  
c. Set up podium, microphone, chairs and table for materials, including media packets. 
d. Assign communications core team responsibilities, including: 

i. Greet and accommodate media 
ii. Brief and prepare spokespeople 
iii.  Create media packets or media flash drives which may include fact sheets, news 

release, backgrounders, expert contact information 
iv. Emcee to open and close conference 

 
17. Establish boundaries for media and public, including limitations on access to zoo grounds if necessary. A 

member of the communications core team will act as escorts for media as appropriate. 
 

18. Create and disseminate updates as necessary to keep messages current and accurate. If anticipating 
receiving additional information, inform audiences of when they can expect to receive updates. 

a. If necessary, plan additional future press conferences/briefings  
 

19. As necessary, designate additional personnel to answer incoming calls and e‐mails from the media and 
the public. 

 
20. Monitor news coverage and keep management team, senior staff, Metro COO, DCOO, Communications 

Director and GMVV apprised of coverage content. 
 

21. Correct information with calls to reporters, and if necessary, letters to the editor. 
 

22. Continue to send out updates and respond to media inquiries until the crisis is resolved. Multiple news 
conferences may be necessary if information is developing over several days’ time and media is camped 
out. 

 
23. Contact AZA (animal‐related crisis, protests, etc.) or other partner organizations if appropriate. 

 
24. Hold a follow‐up meeting with the Crisis Task Force to evaluate management of the crisis within five days 

of crisis resolution. Create a “lessons learned” list and update the Crisis Communication and other plans 
as necessary. 
 
 

Definitions  

 AZA – Association of Zoos and Aquariums, the zoo’s accrediting industry organization that leads species 
conservation research, establishes and monitors animal care and welfare standards and defines and 
recommends industry best practices 

 COO ‐ Metro’s chief operating officer, the chief executive overseeing Metro; reports to the Metro Council 
(Martha Bennett) 

 DCOO – Metro’s deputy chief operating officer who oversees the following departments: finance and 
regulatory services, human resources, information services, parks and environmental services, 
sustainability center and internal communications; reports to COO (Scott Robinson) 

 EMT – Zoo’s emergency management team, responsible for implementing key steps during emergencies; 
includes director, deputy director, senior manager on duty or designee, marketing and communications 
manager, facilities and sustainability manager, guest services or admissions manager, finance manager, 
receptionist/dispatch 

Page 76 of 95Exhibits A



 

23 
DRAFT OZF/Marketing SLA Rev 6b: Updated Nov. 5, 2014 

 GMVV – Metro’s general manager of visitor venues; oversees Oregon Zoo in addition to Oregon 
Convention Center, Portland Center for the Performing Arts and Portland Expo Center (Teri Dresler) 

 PCI – Public Communications Inc., staffed by Jill Allread, principal of the company who serves as expert 
communications consultant to the zoo director and marketing/communications 
 

 
 
Checklist 
 
The following checklist is designed to remind communications core team of essential tasks that may be easily 
forgotten during a crisis. 
1. Are team roles and responsibilities clearly defined within the core communications team and with the EMT? 
2. Is the team adequately staffed to handle the duties before them?  
3. Are the resources available to complete the tasks? 

 Are computers, network, Wi‐Fi, land/cell phone service, power working? Batteries charged? 
 Is staff knowledgeable about the processes to post to Facebook, Twitter and the Oregon Zoo website and 

distribute news releases to the media list? 
4. Are any team members personally affected and, if so, can they receive the necessary support to continue 

working? 
5. Is food and water necessary to adequately prepare and sustain staff? 
6. Do any topics to be communicated need legal review/approval? 
7. How/when should PCI or other outside contract services be consulted? 
8. Have the key stakeholders and audiences been considered in planning and implementation? 

 Employees 
 Volunteers 
 Metro GMVV, COO, DCOO, Communications Director 
 Metro Council 
 OZF Board 
 Metro Senior Leadership Team 
 General public and zoo members  
 AZA and/or other zoos 
 Zoo contractors 
 Donors  
 Partners 

 
9. Do any stakeholders require special attention or status updates as the situation develops? 
10. Is there a need to revise key messages as the situation develops? 
11. Has any misinformation been reported that requires clarification/correction? 
12. What worked well and needs improvement? 
 

 
 

Page 77 of 95Exhibits A



Page 78 of 95



W
o
rl
d
 c
la
ss
 z
o
o
/c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
e
n
ga
ge
m
e
n
t

C
o
m
m
u
n
ity En

gage
m
e
n
t/Fu

n
d
 raisin

g

Oregon Zoo FoundationOregon Zoo Operations

Surplus

Mission: Creating a 
better future for wildlife

OZF Funding Model 11.24.14

Support zoo through OZF granting 
process and zoo specific grants

OZF Mission: To foster community pride and involvement in the Oregon Zoo and to secure 
financial support for the zoo’s conservation, education and animal welfare programs.

OZF 
Operating
Reserves

Endowment Endowment Endowment

EducationConservation Animal 
Welfare

CommunityThe Community

Membership, corporate sponsorship, individual and 
corporate contributions, events, grants, planned gifts, etc.

$1M unrestricted net assets available

Basic memberships, 
zoo‐specific grants/gifts 
& on‐grounds support

Environmental 
Literacy

Conservation 
Leaders

Diversity

Research Endo Lab

Fellowships

Welfare
Activities

REC

Future for 
Wildlife

PNW Asia Africa
South 
America

Education

Animal Welfare

Conservation

Page 79 of 95Exhibits B



Page 80 of 95



Updated 11.2.14 

 

OZF Funding and Distribution Model Description 

 The primary purpose of the Foundation is to provide resources to support the funding priorities of the 

Oregon Zoo. The intention of the Funding and Distribution Model is threefold: alignment of the 

Foundation’s role as a funding organization in support of the Zoo’s strategic objectives, a Foundation 

balance sheet that provides clarity as to the intended use of funds and a structure that provides 

transparency and engages the community.  

 The Funding and Distribution Model starts with the community as its base. Funds are provided by the 

community and then distributed through the granting process of the Foundation. Those 

items/programs that are funded are communicated back to the donors and the community at large, 

providing a direct connection between funds raised and outcomes delivered and, generating interest 

in future support efforts. 

 Stakeholders include private individuals, corporations, foundations and other organizations, and funds 

include membership, contributions, sponsorships, events, grants and campaign activity.  

 These funds flow into the Foundation. Membership flows through to the Zoo as proscribed in the 

Metro‐OZF Agreement. Zoo‐specific grants and donor‐designated gifts are held by the Foundation until 

gift terms are met by the Zoo. 

 The remaining funds cover Foundation overhead, maintain OZF operating reserves* and $1 million in 

unrestricted funds available to the Zoo or OZF for unscheduled events (the purchase of Lily and Tusko 

is a good example).  *Note: The OZF Board of Directors voted to maintain an operating reserve in 

addition to the 3 board‐designated endowments. 

 The unrestricted surplus at the end of the fiscal year is available to support the three board‐designated 

priority areas which are aligned with the Zoo’s strategic mandates: Animal Welfare; Conservation; 

Education. 

 The total amount for annual distribution to the Zoo will be a combination of appropriations from the 

endowed funds and surplus uncommitted/unrestricted funds available at the conclusion of the fiscal 

year‐end.  

 Total combined funds (endowment appropriations plus any surplus unrestricted funds) will be made 

available to the Zoo through a granting process conducted by a review committee comprising Zoo and 

Foundation representatives. 

 Notwithstanding any point above, in addition to the flow of basic membership dollars per the Metro‐

OZF Agreement, the zoo may submit requests for, and the OZF Board may approve on a case‐by‐case 

basis, funds in support of enhancing the on‐grounds visitor experience.   

 Allocation of funds between the priority areas will be determined during the granting cycle. If available 

funds are not fully allocated during the granting cycle of a year, a recommendation will be made by the 

review committee as to which priority area should receive the funds.  

 Funds not distributed through the granting process may be available to be invested in the 

endowments representing each funding priority area, if recommended by the review committee. 

These endowments provide investment income that is available to the granting process, in accordance 

with OZF investment and spending policies, and also assist in fundraising activities for planned giving.  

 The OZF Board of Trustees will have final approval of the grants to be distributed. 

 The information gathered about projects and initiatives throughout the granting process‐‐through the 

application materials and follow up reporting‐‐helps Foundation staff engage the community and 

donors in the outcomes of their donations and the work of the Zoo. 

Page 81 of 95Exhibits B



Page 82 of 95



 

Page | 1    last updated 9.25.14 

 

OREGON ZOO FOUNDATION LARGE GRANTS 
IN SUPPORT OF CONSERVATION, EDUCATION AND ANIMAL WELFARE 

 

 
Introduction 
The Oregon Zoo Foundation is the support organization for the Oregon Zoo. It does business as an IRS‐
recognized 501(c)(3) non‐profit organization. The purpose of the large grants program is to encourage staff 
innovation and to fund impactful projects in education, conservation and animal welfare that would 
otherwise not be included in the Oregon Zoo’s operational budget. It will also help the Foundation garner 
the information necessary to report out to our donors.   
 
Purpose and Restrictions 
Grants will fund programs that support the Zoo’s strategic focus areas: 

 Make animal welfare a guiding principle 

 Educate and inspire our community 

 Be conservation leaders 

 Implement phase one of the master plan 

 Further a culture of excellence 

 Grow usable net resources to support our mission 
 
This program is designed to support programs and solutions that: 

 Align with the Oregon Zoo and Oregon Zoo Foundation vision and values 

 Are approved by the Zoo Director 

 Have defined outcomes and a plan for measuring success 

 Fill a clear, expressed need 

 Would otherwise lack full funding and are over and above existing activities 

 Benefit many—the more people/animals impacted, the better  
 
Restrictions: 

 Salaries may only be requested if they are part of a time‐limited pilot or research project 

 Grant funds must be used for the purpose stated in the application 

 Funds not used within the fiscal year do not roll over to the next without approval from the Foundation 
 
Reporting Requirements 
Successful applicants are asked to submit a report on the use and impact of the funds within one year of 
award of funds. This should include: 

 Brief narrative of the project’s progress 

 The impact of the project, including number of people and animals served as well as evaluation results 

 Any challenges encountered, how they were overcome and lessons learned 

 Detailed comparison of budgeted to actual expenses and any additional revenue sources 

 Quotes from those impacted and photographs where possible (the Foundation can help coordinate 
collection of quotes or capturing photos if needed) 

 
For a multi‐year award, you are required to submit annual interim reports and a final report when the 
project is complete and the grant award is expended. 
   

Page 83 of 95Exhibit C



 

Page | 2    last updated 9.25.14 

 

OREGON ZOO FOUNDATION 
LARGE GRANT APPLICATION  

 
Through generous philanthropic support from our community, the Oregon Zoo Foundation provides grants 
that bolster efforts around education, conservation and animal welfare at the Oregon Zoo. A successful 
grant request will assist the zoo in meeting its strategic priorities, ensure the effective stewardship of 
Oregon Zoo Foundation donors’ intentions, and provide measurable results and impact.   
 
Instructions 

 Grant applications may be prepared by any Oregon Zoo staff member. Staff should work their managers 
and deputy director while developing this request to ensure the proposed project will have the 
necessary implementation support if funded.  

 Do not hesitate to contact the Foundation with questions.  

 Be specific and concise. Do not exceed the space allocated in this application. 

 For requests over $10,000, or requests that include salary/benefits, attach a detailed project budget 
including expected expenses and revenue. 

 Send completed applications to Mavia Haight, Grants Manager, mavia.haight@oregonzoo.org 
 

 
Requestor name:             Title:              
 
Phone:             Email:            
 
Date:            
 
Title of project:                
 
Amount requested $:               
    New program/project  
    Expansion of existing program/project  
 
Funds needed by fiscal year: (For multi‐year pilot or research projects only)   
FY15 $:               
FY16 $:               
FY17 $:             
 
 
 
Requestor Signature          Signature of Finance Manager     

 
 

Signature of Deputy Director of Operations        Signature of Deputy Director of Living Collections    
 

 
Signature of Zoo Director   (for requests over $10,000) 
 
 
 

Page 84 of 95Exhibit C



 

Page | 3    last updated 9.25.14 

 

 

Project description: Provide a brief (no more than three sentence) summary of the proposed project.       
 
Strategic mandate: Check all that apply. 

 Make animal welfare a guiding principle 
  Educate and inspire our community 
  Be conservation leaders 
  Implement phase one of the master plan 
  Further a culture of excellence 
 Grow usable net resources to support our mission  

 

How does your project support this/these focus area(s)?       
 
Rational and program description: What problem or opportunity does this project address? How was this 
identified? How will you respond to this need?            
 
Time frame: When will the project begin and end? What key milestones do you anticipate?            
 
Who is responsible for your project? Briefly describe your project leaders and the role that each will play in 
the project.            
  
Outcomes and impact: Explain who benefits from the grant and in what ways. Provide specific and 
measurable expected outcomes.            
 
Evaluation: How will you know you have achieved these outcomes? How will you measure and document 
the success of the project?            
 
Expenses: How will the grant funds be used? Please provide a detailed outline or attach a program budget. 
           
 
Total cost of the project:  $           
 
Other support: Describe any additional funding sources, including potential and pending funding.            
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 85 of 95Exhibit C



Page 86 of 95



 

Page | 1    last updated 9.25.14 

 

OREGON ZOO FOUNDATION 
ADVANCEMENT GRANTS 

SEPTEMBER 2014 
 
By amplifying the Oregon Zoo's accomplishments in conservation, education and animal welfare, the 
Oregon Zoo Foundation ignites interest and investment in a better future for wildlife. The Foundation funds 
Advancement Grants to provide support for targeted needs and innovative solutions identified by zoo staff 
and has allocated $10,000 for the spring 2014 cycle. Grant size will vary, averaging $1,000‐$2,000 or less.  
 
Purpose 
Grants will fund: 

 Technology with innovative applications  

 Training, including travel, education or conference participation with a direct impact on zoo work 
 

This program is designed to support solutions that: 

 Are in alignment with the Oregon Zoo’s strategic plan 

 Advance the Oregon Zoo and OZF vision and values 

 Fill a clear, expressed need 

 Would otherwise lack full funding 

 Are supported by the applicant’s department leadership 
 

Restrictions: 

 Each work group may only submit one application 

 Grant funds must be used for the purpose stated in the application 

 Funds not used within one year of notification do not roll over  
 

Selection 
The OZF grants manager will coordinate the program with the direction of the It Matters committee, a 
volunteer council representing a cross‐section of zoo departments. The committee will review qualifying 
applications and make funding recommendations. Recipients will be notified following these meetings and 
receive instruction on how to access grant funds.  
 

Timeline 
March 

 Advancement Grants application is available on Zoogle on March 1st.   

 Applications due to appropriate deputy director on March 20th. 

 Applications are due to OZF on March 30th.  
 

April 

 Committee meets to review applications and determine funding allocations.  

 Recipients and their supervisors are notified following the meeting.     

 The amount allocated is made available by OZF. To access allocated funds, zoo departments indicate 
the cost center number and process through the regular accounts payable authorization.  

 
Reporting Requirements 
Successful applicants are asked to submit a report within one year of selection. This should include: 

 Brief narrative of how the grant was spent and the impact of the project 

 Detailed outline of actual expenses and any additional revenue sources 

 Quotes from those impacted and photographs, where possible (not mandatory but encouraged)

Page 87 of 95Exhibit D



 

Page | 2    last updated 9.25.14 

 

OREGON ZOO FOUNDATION 
ADVANCEMENT GRANTS APPLICATION  

 
Instructions 

 Grant applications may be prepared by any Oregon Zoo staff member or volunteer. 

 Completed applications must include the approval of the division manager and deputy director. 

 Be specific and concise. Do not exceed the space allocated in this application. 

 Please note that partial funding may be approved. 

 Send completed applications to Mavia Haight, OZF Grants Manager, mavia.haight@oregonzoo.org. 

 Applications are due March 30th by 5 p.m. Grants will be announced in April. 
 
 
 
Requestor name:             Title:              
 
Phone:             Email:            
 
Date:            
 
Title of project:                
 
Amount requested $:              
 
 
Requestor Signature          Signature of Department Manager    
 

 
Signature of Deputy Director    

Type of project : Please check one. 
  Education/training  
  Technology  
  Work related travel    
  Other            

 
Strategic mandate: What Oregon Zoo strategic mandate does this further? Check all that apply. 

 Make animal welfare a guiding principle 
  Educate and inspire our community 
  Be conservation leaders 
  Implement phase one of the master plan 
  Further a culture of excellence 
 Grow usable net resources to support our mission  

 
Brief description: Please provide a brief summary of the project or program in need of funding. How does it 
further the zoo strategic mandate(s)?             
 
Goals and objectives: What do you hope to accomplish?            
 
Need/Opportunity: What is the need or opportunity for this project, training, equipment, etc.?            
 

Page 88 of 95Exhibit D



 

Page | 3    last updated 9.25.14 

 

Expenses: How will the grant be used? For example, if requesting funds for a workshop, what is the fee and 
what are the specific related expenses? If requesting for technology, what is the cost of the equipment, 
including the make/model?            
 
Total cost of the project:  $           
 
Amount covered by your department's operational budget:  $            
 
Other support: Describe any additional funding sources, including potential/pending funding.            
 
Outcomes and impact: Explain who benefits from the grant and in what ways. Answer as best as you can, 
using approximate figures if needed. Include those directly and indirectly impacted.              
 
Success: How will you know the project or purchase has been successful?            
 
Additional information: Add anything else you would like the committee to know.            
 
 
Thank you for your application! 

Page 89 of 95Exhibit D



Page 90 of 95



 
Oregon Zoo Foundation 

Corporate Sponsorship Policy 
 

Page | 1    Last updated 9.18.14 

 
I. Purpose 

This policy governs the Oregon Zoo Foundation’s (“OZF” or “foundation”) corporate sponsorship 
program. OZF enters into corporate sponsorships for the purpose of supporting the work and 
mission of the Oregon Zoo (“zoo”) and furthering the mission of OZF in fostering community pride 
and involvement in the Oregon Zoo and securing financial support for the zoo’s conservation, 
education and animal welfare programs. This policy defines the considerations through which OZF 
assesses the desirability of partnering with potential sponsors and implementation of the corporate 
sponsorship program. 

 
II. Sponsorship Approval 

A. Corporate sponsorship must align with and support the Oregon Zoo’s mission priorities and 
organizational objectives. OZF will refrain from entering into corporate sponsorship agreements 
with companies that are inconsistent with the zoo’s and OZF’s mission and/or have the potential 
to damage the zoo’s or OZF’s image due to the nature of the companies’ products, services or 
reputation. 

B. Selection criteria. The following criteria will be used in determining which corporations will be 
accepted for the corporate sponsorship program: 

 The company’s products or services must be compatible with and complement the Oregon 
Zoo’s and OZF’s mission and values; 

 Potential sponsors must not compete with zoo vendors who have exclusivity rights; 

 The company must have a high degree of integrity, strong corporate reputation and track 
record of maintaining a high level of product or service quality; and 

 The company must demonstrate ethical business practices and a positive public  image 
C. Coordination with Oregon Zoo. The final decision of selection of participating corporate 

sponsors rests with OZF. In making that decision, OZF will collaborate with and give careful 
consideration to input from the Oregon Zoo and Metro. 

D. Termination of sponsorship. Consistent with the terms of the Sponsorship Agreement, if a 
partner’s reputation or integrity is called into question by OZF, the Oregon Zoo and/or the 
public, in close consultation with the Oregon Zoo, OZF will consider terminating the corporate 
partnership relationship. 

 
III. Corporate sponsorship program implementation 

A. The policy provisions below regarding implementation are subject to and need to be consistent 
with the contractual terms of the Sponsorship Agreement with the corporate partner as well as 
the applicable provisions of the Agreement between Metro and OZF and accompanying Service 
Level Agreements. 

B. Oregon Zoo’s responsibilities. The responsibilities of the Oregon Zoo in implementing the 
sponsorship program, including approval of promotional materials, programming (events, 
programs, initiatives, etc) and making available its social networks are set forth in the Service 
Level Agreements. 

C. Documentation. OZF will generate sponsorship contracts and create a master document with 
detailed and consistent language that protects the Oregon Zoo’s best interests and prevents 
discrepancies among corporate sponsors.  

D. Programming/promotional materials. Pursuant to the Service Level Agreement, OZF will 
coordinate with the Oregon Zoo on all corporate sponsor content and/or programming, 

Page 91 of 95Exhibit E



 
Oregon Zoo Foundation 

Corporate Sponsorship Policy 
 

Page | 2    Last updated 9.18.14 

including print and electronic media materials, promotional pieces, ad copy and artwork. The 
Oregon Zoo will decide which events, programs and/or initiatives a corporation may tie to 
and/or create and will have final approval over all content. The Oregon Zoo retains ownership 
and control of all Oregon Zoo themed promotions and materials. All materials produced by the 
Oregon Zoo for a corporate sponsorship program are under the sole ownership of the Oregon 
Zoo. 

E. Logo use. In accordance with the Sponsorship Agreement, Oregon Zoo and its corporate 
sponsors have the right to use each other’s marks and logos during the specified timeframe with 
established pre‐approval procedures in place. With Oregon Zoo’s approval, a corporate sponsor 
may be identified by either its corporate name or brand in the corporate sponsor’s promotional 
literature and may use its respective corporate or brand logo. OZF will coordinate with Oregon 
Zoo for approval of the use of any of Oregon Zoo’s marks/logos by corporate sponsors. 

F. Mailings/membership lists. Corporate sponsors will send any marketing materials they would 
like mailed by OZF to OZF for approval. OZF will facilitate approved mailings to various Oregon 
Zoo audiences. Incremental postage and handling fees will be billed to the corporate sponsor. 
OZF manages and will maintain control of all membership lists. Mailing lists will not be released 
to the corporate sponsor. 

G. Assignment/third‐party promotions. Corporate sponsors are not allowed to assign rights or 
conduct third‐party promotions without OZF and the Oregon Zoo’s approval.  

 
IV. Resources/In‐Kind Values 

A. Use of funds. Sponsorship fees and monies raised are unrestricted and are to be used at OZF’s 
discretion only, not the corporate sponsors. 

B. Expenses. Each corporate sponsor must pay all expenses for implementing their own 
promotions (e.g., product/literature distribution).  

C. Resource commitments. Oregon Zoo’s marketing partnership financial commitments are 
unrestricted, with the exception of pre‐approved, budget‐relieving, in‐kind products or services 
or added‐value products or services (e.g., media commitment). Payments must be detailed to 
ensure full value is delivered.  
Values to be used for in‐kind donations: 

o Budget relieving (e.g., services, products, advertising) 
 $1 to $1 

o Awareness building (media inventory) 
 If completely unrestricted: $1 to $1 
 If any strings attached , $.50 sponsor credit for $1 media (e.g., require $100,000 

media commitment for $50,000 sponsorship package) 
o Added value/non‐essential 
  Discount 50 percent   

 
V. Periodic Review 

 The Audit and Finance Committee of the OZF Board of Trustees shall periodically (but no less 
frequently than every five years) review this policy and propose to the full Board of Trustees any 
revisions the committee determines necessary or appropriate in order for the Sponsorship 
Policy to accurately reflect the policies and mission of OZF. 

Page 92 of 95Exhibit E



Sponsorship Steering Committee Description & Process – DRAFT (9/5/14) 

 

 
SPONSORSHIP STEERING COMMITTEE 
 

Description  Members 

The primary goal of the Sponsorship Steering Committee is to build stronger, 
more integrated working relationships among Oregon Zoo Foundation and 
Oregon Zoo staff and divisions that interface with corporate sponsor 
partners.  
 
The purpose of the committee is three‐fold: to maximize opportunities, 
monitor performance and to coordinate servicing. The committee will meet 
as needed to fulfill these activities. 
 
Committee responsibilities include: 

 Identifies and develops assets to maximize Oregon Zoo’s collective 
sponsorship potential 

 Identifies unique opportunities for companies to activate their partnerships 

 Coordinates sales and servicing efforts 

 Identifies opportunities to upgrade and/or transition corporate sponsor 
partnerships 

 Approves all customized proposals, activities and substitutions   

 Oversees and ensures sponsor contract obligations are met 
 
General Meeting Agendas: 

1. Hot topics – review current negotiations, etc.  
2. Review prospects 
3. Review existing sponsors’ performance 
4. Activation – strategize, review ideas and approve actions and next steps 

Committee Chair: 
OZF Corporate & 
Foundation Relations 
Manager (CFR) 
 
Members: 
• Zoo Director 
• Foundation Director 
• Deputy Director of 
Operations 

• Marketing Director 
• Marketing and Public 
Events staff (MPE) 

• Education Curator 
• Guest Services Manager 
• OZF Communications 
Manager  

• Deputy Director of Living 
Collections (as needed)  

• Metro Venues Director 
of Communications and 
Strategic Development 

 

   

Page 93 of 95Exhibit F



Sponsorship Steering Committee Description & Process – DRAFT (9/5/14) 

 

 
SPONSORSHIP PROCESS 

Steps  Description  Responsible  
Overall Packaging 
Strategy 

 Oversee Zoo’s corporate sponsorship strategy – approve 
packages supported by IEG’s packaging valuation. 

 Identify and review sponsor activation concepts. 

Sponsorship 
Steering Committee 
 

Identify Prospects   Identify and connect key colleagues across the 
organization to ensure corporate constituencies are 
leveraged to maximize outcomes for the Zoo. 

 Work with identified corporate prospects.  
 

 Sponsorship 
Steering 
Committee  

 OZF Corporate & 
Foundation 
Relations Manager 
(CFR) 

Customization    Develop and approve custom options for activation 
packages before they are offered to sponsors. 

 Ensure ideas support the Zoo’s strategic plan.  

 Identify items that have budgetary impacts and determine 
if they are appropriate and how they will be managed (i.e., 
who will pay for what to activate the partnership). 

Sponsorship 
Steering Committee  

Sales and Proposal 
Development 

 Serve as main point of contact and driver of all corporate 
sponsor partnerships.  

 Oversee sales and servicing of approved corporate sponsor 
packaging opportunities.  

 Tailor sales materials, packages, marketing platforms and 
activation ideas based on conversations with each 
company. 

 Coordinate pitches and prevent unintentional overlap of 
corporate sponsor solicitations. 

OZF CFR 
 
 

Customization    Develop creative ideas and customized packages based on 
prospect interests and committee’s approval. 

 Consult with lead staff to develop custom options. 

 Review event marketing plans when appropriate.  

OZF CFR and Zoo 
MPE staff 

Sponsor Contracts   Final contract language reviewed and approved by Metro 
legal counsel. 

Metro 

Sponsor Contract 
Addendums 

 Reviewed by Sponsorship Steering Committee. 
 

 Signed by Zoo and OZF Directors. 

Sponsorship 
Steering Committee 
Directors 

Activation Plan   Facilitate partner‐specific meetings to discuss activation 
strategies.  

 Create initial tracking method for implementing and 
communicating sponsor contract deliverables.  

OZF CFR 
 

Implementation   Work with zoo divisions and OZF to coordinate fulfillment 
of sponsor benefits.  

OZF CFR; OZF 
Communications 
Manager 

Marketing 
Implementation 

 Ensure marketing rights and benefits outlined in sponsor 
contracts are completed.  
 

Zoo MPE staff 

Media/Marketing 
Tracking 

 Coordinate all partner recognition – ensure recognition in 
all communications is consistent and proportionate to the 

OZF CFR  
 

Page 94 of 95Exhibit F



Sponsorship Steering Committee Description & Process – DRAFT (9/5/14) 

 

value received from the sponsor  – with the cooperation of 
all divisions that support sponsorships. 

 Track partner objectives, marketing platforms, spends and 
activation efforts.  

Reporting   Produce customized fulfillment reports for each partner, 
outlining benefits delivered. 

 Review fulfillment reports and facilitate debrief discussion 
with the committee to identify lessons learned, areas for 
improvement and program successes. 

OZF CFR 

Continued Support 
of Relationship 

 Serve as account manager and main contact for all 
corporate sponsor partnerships.  

 Oversee servicing for all corporate sponsor partnerships.  

 Help plan and facilitate any annual meetings with 
corporate partners.  

OZF CFR 

Renewals    Negotiate all aspects of corporate sponsor partnership, 
including renewals. 

OZF CFR 

 

Page 95 of 95Exhibit F



Agenda Item No. 4.2  

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 14-4582, For the Purpose of Accepting the 
Draft Urban Growth Report as Support for Determination of 

Capacity of the Urban Growth Boundary  
 
 

RESOLUTIONS  
 

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



Page 1 - Resolution No. 14-4582 
 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF ACCEPTING THE 
DRAFT URBAN GROWTH REPORT AS 
SUPPORT FOR DETERMINATION OF 
CAPACITY OF THE URBAN GROWTH 
BOUNDARY 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 RESOLUTION NO. 14-4582 
 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating Officer Martha 
Bennett with the Concurrence of Council 
President Tom Hughes 
 

 
 WHEREAS, state law requires Metro to determine the capacity of the urban growth boundary 
(UGB) to accommodate the next 20 years’ worth of population and employment growth by the end of 
December 2014; and 
 

WHEREAS, regarding housing, ORS 197.296(3) requires Metro to inventory the supply of 
buildable lands within the UGB, determine the housing capacity of the buildable lands, and analyze 
housing need by type and density range in order to determine the number of dwelling units and amount of 
land needed for each housing type for the next 20 years; and 

 
WHEREAS, regarding employment land, Goal 14 and its implementing rules require Metro to 

inventory existing vacant and developed employment lands within the UGB and to provide an adequate 
supply of land to accommodate demonstrated need for employment opportunities; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Metro convened a peer review panel consisting of economists and demographers to 
review the assumptions and results of its population and employment forecasts; and 
 
 WHEREAS, from February 2013 to September 2013 Metro convened a technical working group 
consisting of public and private sector experts to develop a methodology for identifying the region’s 
buildable land inventory; and 
 

WHEREAS, from October 2013 to December 2013 Metro made available to all local jurisdictions 
in the region its preliminary buildable land inventory; and 

 
WHEREAS, Metro incorporated local jurisdiction input on the buildable land inventory; and 

 
WHEREAS, in March and April of 2014 Metro convened public and private sector experts to 

discuss methods for determining how much of the region’s buildable land inventory may be market-
feasible by the year 2035; and 
 

WHEREAS, in April 2014 Metro convened public and private sector experts to review 
assumptions about space usage by different employment sectors; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on July 15, 2014 Metro published a Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report that 
incorporates the regional forecast and buildable land inventory and assesses the capacity of the existing 
UGB to accommodate the range of new dwelling units and jobs included in the forecast; and 
 
 WHEREAS, state law requires Metro to provide capacity to encourage the availability of 
dwelling units at price ranges and rent levels, and of transportation choices, that are commensurate with 
the financial capabilities of households expected over the planning period; and 
 



Page 2 - Resolution No. 14-4582 
 

 WHEREAS, as part of the 2014 Draft Urban Growth Report, Metro published a draft Housing 
Needs Analysis that showed the effects on housing affordability and household transportation costs of 
forecast growth under existing policies and investment levels; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Metro sought and received comments on the draft analyses of housing and 
employment capacity from its Metro Policy Advisory Committee (MPAC), its Metro Technical Advisory 
Committee (MTAC), its Transportation Policy Alternatives Committee (TPAC), local governments in the 
region, public, private and non-profit organizations; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Metro Council intends to continue a discussion in 2015 regarding several policy 
considerations reflected in the Draft Urban Growth Report including, but not limited to: land readiness for 
job creation and community development; the market feasibility of the region’s buildable land inventory; 
the possible outcomes of implementing existing plans and policies, including implications for the region’s 
housing mix; actions needed to provide family-friendly housing and workforce housing; and city plans for 
urban reserves; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Metro Council held a public hearing on the draft analysis on December 4, 2014; 
now, therefore,  
 
 BE IT RESOLVED that:  

1. The Council accepts the 2014 Draft Urban Growth Report dated September 2014, 
attached and incorporated into this resolution as Exhibit A, as a draft analysis of need for 
capacity in the UGB to accommodate growth to the year 2035 and for actions the Council 
may take to add housing and employment capacity by ordinance in 2015, pursuant to 
ORS 197.296(6) and statewide planning goals 14 and 10. 

 
2. Acceptance of Exhibit A by the Council meets Metro’s responsibility under state law to 

analyze the capacity of the UGB in order to accommodate growth to the year 2035 as a 
preliminary step toward providing sufficient capacity to accommodate that growth.  The 
Council will formally adopt the Urban Growth Report by ordinance in 2015, along with 
any actions the Council may take to add housing and employment capacity. 

 

ADOPTED by the Metro Council this 4th day of December 2014 
  

 
       
Tom Hughes, Council President 

Approved as to form: 
 
 
       
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 

 

 



2014 URBAN 
GROWTH REPORT

September / 2014

Investing 
in our 
communities
2015 – 2035

Revised Draft

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 2

If you picnic at Blue Lake or take your kids to the 
Oregon Zoo, enjoy symphonies at the Schnitz or auto 
shows at the convention center, put out your trash or 
drive your car – we’ve already crossed paths.

So, hello. We’re Metro – nice to meet you.

In a metropolitan area as big as Portland, we can 
do a lot of things better together. Join us to help the 
region prepare for a happy, healthy future.

Metro Council President
Tom Hughes

Metro Councilors
Shirley Craddick, District 1
Carlotta Collette, District 2
Craig Dirksen, District 3
Kathryn Harrington, District 4
Sam Chase, District 5
Bob Stacey, District 6

Auditor
Suzanne Flynn

If you have a disability and need accommodations, call  
503-220-2781, or call Metro’s TDD line at 503-797-1804. 
If you require a sign language interpreter, call at least 48 
hours in advance. Activities marked with this symbol are 
wheelchair accessible: 

Bus and MAX information 
503-238-RIDE (7433) or trimet.org

Printed on recycled-content paper. 14226-R

Stay in touch with news, stories and things to do. 
oregonmetro.gov/connect

To learn more about the growth management 
decision and the urban growth report, visit 
oregonmetro.gov/growth

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 3

2014 URBAN 
GROWTH REPORT

Revised Draft

Investing in our communities
2015 – 2035

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



APPENDICES
APPENDIX 1A Population and   
 employment forecast  
 for the Portland-  
 Vancouver-Hillsboro   
 metropolitan statistical  
 area (2015 - 2035)

APPENDIX 1B Frequently asked  
 questions about  
 population and   
 employment forecasting

APPENDIX 1C Summary of regional  
 forecast advisory panel  
 discussions and   
 conclusions

APPENDIX 1D A brief description of 
  Metro’s population 
 forecast model

APPENDIX 2 Buildable land inventory  
 methodology

APPENDIX 3 Buildable land inventory  
 results

APPENDIX 4 Housing needs analysis

APPENDIX 5 Residential development  
 trends

APPENDIX 6 Employment demand  
 analysis

APPENDIX 7 Large industrial site   
 demand analysis

APPENDIX 8 Employment trends

APPENDIX 9 Employment land site  
 characteristics

APPENDIX 10 Opportunity maps

APPENDIX 11 MetroScope scenario   
 specifications

APPENDIX 12 Housing and  
 transportation cost 
 burden analysis

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Introduction .........................................................................................................5
 Working together ..................................................................................... 6
 Achieving desired outcomes ........................................................................................... 6
 Successes and challenges ........................................................................ 7
 How we accommodate growth ........................................................................................7

Outcomes-based approach to growth management .......................................7
How has the region been growing?....................................................................8
 Residential buildable land inventory ............................................................................ 8
 Residential development trends .............................................................. 8
 Employment trends ................................................................................. 9
 Land readiness or land supply? ...................................................................................... 9
 Changes in our communities  ........................................................................................10
 Unintended consequences of redevelopment ........................................12
 Opportunities for workforce housing  ..........................................................................12
 Growth without services and facilities ........................................................................12
 Commuting trends: The jobs-housing balance ...................................... 13
 A bigger picture ................................................................................................................ 13

How many more people and jobs should we expect in the future? ..............14
 Managing uncertainty ....................................................................................................14 
 Population and job growth in the seven-county Portland/Vancouver  
 metropolitan area ...................................................................................14
 Population and job growth in the Metro urban growth boundary ......... 15

How much room for growth is there inside the UGB? ................................... 16
 Didn’t the state legislature just expand the UGB? .....................................................16
 Estimating residential growth capacity ................................................. 17
 How do developers evaluate redevelopment potential? ...........................................19
 How should policymakers evaluate development potential ...................................19
 Estimating employment growth capacity ............................................. 20
 Different jobs have different space needs ................................................................... 20

Is there a regional need for additional growth capacity? ............................. 21
 What the numbers show .................................................................................................21
 Does the region need more land for housing growth? ............................ 21
 What about Damascus?  ............................................................................................... 22
 Providing housing opportunities  ................................................................................ 23
 Impact of Millennials on housing ................................................................................ 23
 Does the region need more land for industrial job growth? .................. 24
 Investing in job creation ................................................................................................ 24
 How should the region prioritize investments in large industrial site  
 readiness? ...............................................................................................25
 The Portland Harbor ........................................................................................................25
 Does the region need more land for commercial job growth? ............... 26
 Keeping shopping and services close by ..................................................................... 26

Conclusion ..........................................................................................................27
 Local leadership ......................................................................................27
 Metro’s role .............................................................................................27
 Investing in our communities ................................................................27

Next steps ...........................................................................................................28
References ..........................................................................................................29

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 5

As the Portland metropolitan region 
grows, our shared values guide policy 
and investment choices to accommodate 
growth and change, while ensuring our 
unique quality of life is maintained for 
generations to come.

Metro, local jurisdictions and many other partners work 
together to guide development in the region. This means 
striking a balance between preservation of the farms and 
forests that surround the Portland region, supporting the 
revitalization of existing downtowns, main streets and 
employment areas, and ensuring there’s land available for 
new development on the edge of the region when needed. 

Oregon law requires that every five years, the Metro 
Council evaluate the capacity of the region’s urban growth 
boundary to accommodate a 20-year forecast of housing 
needs and employment growth. The results of that 
evaluation are provided in the urban growth report. 

While complying with the requirements of state law, 
the urban growth report serves as more than just an 
accounting of available acres inside the urban growth 
boundary. It plays a vital role in the implementation of the 
region’s 50-year plan that calls for the efficient use of land, 
redevelopment before expansion, and the preservation of 
the region’s resources for future generations.

Introduction

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 6

WORKING TOGETHER
The population and employment range forecasts in the urban growth report 
help inform Metro, local jurisdictions, and other public and private sector 
partners as they consider new policies, investments, and actions to maintain 
the region’s quality of life and promote prosperity.

The urban growth report, once accepted in its final form by the Metro Council 
in December 2014, will serve as the basis for the council’s urban growth 
management decision, which will be made by the end of 2015.

But the work does not end with the council’s decision. Implementation will 
require coordination of local, regional and state policy and investment actions. 
In its role as convener for regional decision-making, Metro is committed to 
building and maintaining partnerships and alignments among the different 
levels of government and between the public and private sectors.

U R B A N  G R O W T H
B O U N D A R Y  ( U G B )

U R B A N  R E S E R V E S

R U R A L  R E S E R V E S

Population Jobs

1.
1 

M
il

li
o

n

1.
5

 M
il

li
o

n

1.
8

-2
.0

 M
il

li
o

n

5
6

2
, 7

0
0

7
5

6
, 0

0
0

8
6

0
, 0

0
0

-1
.4

 M
il

li
o

n

Acres

2
3

2
, 0

0
0

2
5

8
, 0

0
0

E S T I M A T E D
R A N G E

E S T I M A T E D
R A N G E

2010 203519902010 203519902010 20351990

Past growth-future forecast  
Population and job growth within the Metro urban growth boundary  
1990-2035

ACHIEVING DESIRED OUTCOMES
To guide its decision-making, the Metro 
Council, on the advice of the Metro Policy 
Advisory Committee (MPAC), adopted six 
desired outcomes, characteristics of a 
successful region:

People live, work and play in vibrant 
communities where their everyday needs 
are easily accessible.

Current and future residents benefit 
from the region’s sustained economic 
competitiveness and prosperity.

People have safe and reliable transportation 
choices that enhance their quality of life.

The region is a leader in minimizing 
contributions to global warming.

Current and future generations enjoy clean 
air, clean water and healthy ecosystems.

The benefits and burdens of growth and 
change are distributed equitably.

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 7

SUCCESSES AND CHALLENGES
The region’s longstanding commitment to protecting farms and forests, 
investing in existing communities, and supporting businesses that export 
goods and services is paying off in economic growth. From 2001 to 2012, 
the Portland region ranked third among all U.S. metropolitan areas for 
productivity growth, outpacing the Research Triangle in North Carolina, the 
Silicon Valley in California, and several energy producing regions in Texas.i 
Likewise, the region’s walkable downtowns, natural landscapes, and renowned 
restaurants, breweries, and vineyards are well known around the world. In 
2013, visitors to Clackamas, Multnomah and Washington counties spent $4.3 
billion dollars, supporting 30,100 jobs in the region.ii These successes are no 
accident – they demonstrate that prosperity, livability and intentional urban 
growth management are compatible.

However, Metro and its partners also have challenges to face when it comes to 
planning for additional population and employment growth. These include 
making sure that workforce housing is available in locations with access 
to opportunities, providing more family-friendly housing choices close to 
downtowns and main streets, delivering high quality transportation options 
that help people get where they need to go, ensuring freight mobility, and 
protecting and enhancing the environment.

Outcomes-based approach to growth 
management
A core purpose of the urban growth report is to determine whether the current 
urban growth boundary (UGB) has enough space for future housing and 
employment growth. Considerable care and technical engagement have gone 
into the assessment of recent development trends, growth capacity, and the 
population and employment forecasts provided in this report. However, this 
kind of analysis is necessarily part art and part science. State laws direct the 
region to determine what share of growth can “reasonably” be accommodated 
inside the existing UGB before expanding it but ultimately, how the region 
defines “reasonable” will be a reflection of regional and community values. 

HOW WE ACCOMMODATE GROWTH 
URBAN AND RURAL RESERVES Areas 
outside the current UGB designated by 
Metro and the three counties through a 
collaborative process. Urban reserves are 
the best places for future growth if urban 
growth expansions are needed over the 
next 50 years. Rural reserves are lands that 
won’t be urbanized for the next 50 years.

INFILL Development on a tax lot where the 
original structure has been left intact and 
the lot is considered developed.

REDEVELOPMENT Development on a tax 
lot where the original structure has been 
demolished and there is a net increase in 
housing units.

VACANT LAND Land inside the UGB that’s 
not developed.

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 8

How has the region been growing? 
The Portland region’s original urban growth boundary was adopted in 1979. As 
depicted in Map 1, the UGB has been expanded by about 31,400 acres. During 
the same time period, the population inside the UGB has increased by over half 
a million people. This represents a 61 percent increase in population inside an 
urban growth boundary that has expanded by 14 percent.

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT TRENDS
From 1998 to 2012, 94 percent of the new residential units were built inside the 
original 1979 boundary. During these 14 years, post-1979 UGB expansion areas 
produced about 6,500 housing units compared to the approximately 105,000 
units produced in the original 1979 UGB. With a couple of notable exceptions, 
UGB expansion areas have been slow to develop because of challenges with 
governance, planning, voter-approved annexation, infrastructure financing, 
service provision, and land assembly. Development of Wilsonville’s Villebois 
and Hillsboro’s Witch Hazel communities demonstrates that new urban areas 
can be successful with the right combination of factors such as governance, 
infrastructure finance, willing property owners, and market demand. There 
are also challenges in our existing urban areas. Infill and redevelopment have 
been focused in a few communities while many downtowns and main streets 
have been slow to develop.

The 2040 Growth Concept, the Portland region’s 50-year plan for growth, calls 
for focusing growth in existing urban centers and transportation corridors, 
and making targeted additions to the urban growth boundary when needed. 
To achieve this regional vision, redevelopment and infill are necessary. During 
the six years from 2007 through 2012, which included the Great Recession, 
the region saw levels of redevelopment and infill that exceeded past rates. 

Lake Oswego

Milwaukie

Newberg Oregon
City

Portland

Sherwood

Tigard

Troutdale

Tualatin

Vancouver

West
Linn

Wilsonville

Beaverton

Canby

Damascus

Dundee

Forest
Grove

Gladstone

Gresham

Happy Valley

Hillsboro

Y
A

M
H

IL
L

C
O

.
CL

A
C

KA
M

A
S 

C
O

.

Y A M H I L L C O .

W A S H I N G T O N C O .

C L A C K A M A S C O .

M U L T N O M A H C O .

C
L

A
C

K
A

M
A

S
C

O
.

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
C

O
.

CLARK CO.

M U L T N O M A H C O .

M
U

L
T

N
O

M
A

H
C

O
.

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
C

O
.

CENTRAL

EAST
MULTNOMAH

INNER
I-5

INNER
CLACKAMAS

INNER
WESTSIDE

OUTER
I-5

OUTER
I-5

OUTER
CLACKAMAS

OUTER
WESTSIDE

OUTER
WESTSIDE

INNER
NORTH
& EAST

30

U

0 2 4
Miles

Map saved 6/3/2014 at T:\2014UGR\Maps\UGB_History.mxd

Urban Growth Boundary
History, 1979-2014
July, 2014 (DRAFT)

Urban growth boundary, 2014

County boundary

Major arterials

Rivers and lakes

1979
1980
1981
1982
1983
1984
1985
1986
1987
1988
1989

1990
1991
1992
1993
1995
1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001

2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2011
2012
2013
2014 Grand Bargain

MAP 1 Metro UGB expansions over time (1979 - 2014)

FIGURE 1 Net new multifamily units by 
density inside UGB (built 2007-2012)

FIGURE 2 Net new multifamily developments 
by density inside UGB (built 2007-2012)

RESIDENTIAL BUILDABLE LAND 
INVENTORY 
If the region’s historic annual housing 
production records (high and low from 1960 
to 2012) are any indication, how long might 
the residential buildable land inventory 
last?

SINGLE FAMILY 10 to 52 years

MULTIFAMILY 28 to 354 years

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 9

Policy considerations
HEALTHY DEBATE AND INFORMED 
DECISION-MAKING
Though this report strives for completeness, 
balance, and accuracy, there is always 
room for debate. At the end of 2014, the 
Metro Council will be asked to decide if 
the report provides a reasonable basis 
for moving forward and making a growth 
management decision in 2015. Throughout 
this document, policy questions and topics 
that have been raised by Metro Council 
and involved stakeholders are called out 
for further discussion by policymakers and 
members of the community. 

During this time period, 58 percent of the net new residential units built inside 
the UGB were through redevelopment (46 percent) or infill (12 percent) and 
42 percent were on vacant land. There are a variety of views on whether the 
recession explains this uptick in redevelopment and infill or whether this is an 
indication of people wanting to live in existing urban areas with easy access 
to services and amenities. What is clear is that development challenges exist 
in both urban areas and past expansion areas. In some cases, however, market 
demand in existing urban areas appears to have overcome those challenges.

During this same six years, new residential development was evenly split 
between multifamily and single-family units with a total of 12,398 single-
family and 12,133 multifamily residences built. The average density of new 
single-family development was 7.6 units per acre (5,766 square foot average 
lot size) and multifamily development was 41.8 units per acre. The highest 
density multifamily developments also tended to be the largest, so while there 
were many smaller developments, the statistics are dominated by the large 
high-density developments. This pattern is clear in Figures 1 and 2 (p. 8), which 
depict the number of units and developments built per net acre, indicating 
levels of density.

EMPLOYMENT TRENDS
As in most regions, many people in the Portland region lost their jobs in the 
Great Recession. With the ensuing recovery, total employment in the region 
was essentially unchanged when comparing 2006 and 2012. However, the 
recession did lead to some major changes across industries. Private education 
recorded the highest growth rate at 25.4 percent from 2006 to 2012, while 
health and social assistance employers saw the largest net gain in employment 
with the addition of just over 14,000 jobs during the same period. Construction 
saw the largest decline, with a loss of around 9,600 jobs, or 20.2 percent of 
total jobs, in the industry as of 2006. The loss of construction jobs reflects the 
housing crash that brought residential construction nearly to a halt for several 
years. Appendix 8 describes the region’s employment trends in greater detail.

Aggregating to the sector level, industrial and retail employment declined 
from 2006 to 2012 while service and government employment increased (Table 
1).

LAND READINESS OR LAND 
SUPPLY? 

For better or worse, our state land use 
planning system asks Metro to focus on 
counting acres of land to determine the 
region’s 20-year growth capacity. Over the 
years, it’s become clear that land supply 
alone isn’t the cause or the solution for 
all of the region’s challenges. Working 
together, we must make the most of the 
land we already have inside the urban 
growth boundary to ensure that those lands 
are available to maintain, improve, and 
create the kinds of communities that we all 
want – today and for generations to come. 

Working together, we can:

•	 ensure that communities have 
governance structures in place that can 
respond to growth and change

•	 provide the types of infrastructure and 
services that signal to the development 
community a site or area is primed for 
investment

•	 make the strategic investments needed 
to clean up and reuse neglected lands.

Table 1 Employment in the three-county area by aggregated sector 2006-2012  
(Clackamas, Multnomah, Washington) | Source Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages

Sector 2006 
Employment

2012 
Employment

Net Change Percent 
Change

Avg. Annual 
Growth Rate

Industrial 244,951 218,311 -26,640 -10.9% -1.9%

Retail 86,921 84,475 -2,446 -2.8% -0.5%

Service 396,470 419,516 23,046 5.8% 0.9%

Government 103,736 108,582 4,846 4.7% 0.8%

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 1 0

Policy considerations
CHANGES IN OUR COMMUNITIES
People around the region are concerned 
about new development in their 
communities. The concern exists not just 
in existing urban areas experiencing a new 
wave of development, but also in areas 
added to the urban growth boundary. With 
population growth expected to continue, 
change is inevitable. What policies and 
investments are needed to ensure that 
change is for the better?

From 2006 to 2012, there was also a change in where jobs were located in the 
three-county area (Map 2). While about 25 percent of all jobs could still be 
found in the central part of the region, the subarea experienced a loss of about 
2,300 jobs, or 1.2 percent. The inner I-5 area saw a decline in employment of 
roughly 2,200 jobs, or 11.0 percent of 2006 employment. This area was home to 
many firms involved in real estate and finance, industries that were hard hit by 
the housing collapse and recession. Many businesses in the area, like mortgage 
and title companies, contracted or closed during this time period. For example, 
the Kruse Way area in Lake Oswego had an office vacancy rate of 22.4 percent 
in 2012. In the southeastern part of the region, the outer Clackamas and outer 
I-5 subareas together lost about 3,400 jobs or 3.2 percent. In contrast, the outer 
Westside experienced the greatest increase in employment, gaining about 
5,800 jobs, an increase of 5.6 percent. The East Multnomah subarea also gained 
jobs, increasing employment by 1,800 or 2.7 percent.

Map 2 Employment gains and losses in Metro UGB 2006 - 2012

Figure 3 Total employment by subarea for 2006 and 2012
 

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 1 1

The Villebois community is one of only a few urban growth 
boundary expansion areas that has been developed. The roughly 
500-acre area was brought into the UGB in 2000. With plans for 
about 2,600 households, the area quickly rebounded from the 
recession and is now about half built. Residents benefit from a 
variety of amenities such as parks, plazas, and community centers.

Case study
VILLEBOIS, WILSONVILLE

Adjacent to MAX and streetcar stops, construction is now underway 
on a site that was previously a parking lot. Once built, the develop-
ment will provide over 600 rental apartments, plazas, office and 
retail space, more than 1,000 underground car parking places, and 
space to park more than 1,000 bikes – all in a central location.

Case study
HASSALO ON 8TH, LLOYD DISTRICT, 
PORTLAND

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 12

Map 3 Change in median family income 2000-2012

UNINTENDED CONSEQUENCES OF REDEVELOPMENT 
Our region has made a commitment to ensuring its decisions improve quality 
of life for all. Yet, like many metropolitan areas, we’ve struggled to make 
good on that intent. Investments made to encourage redevelopment and 
revitalization have too often disproportionately impacted those of modest 
means. The consequence has been that people with lower incomes have often 
been displaced from their long-time communities when redevelopment in the 
city center drives up land values and prices follow.

Map 3 shows the change in median family income around the region over the 
last decade. There is a clear trend of incomes increasing in close-in Northwest, 
Northeast, and Southeast Portland, Lake Oswego, and West Linn, while 
incomes have stagnated or decreased elsewhere. Outlying areas like outer 
east Portland, Gresham, Cornelius, and Aloha stand out as having decreasing 
incomes. In many cases, increases in incomes in central locations and 
decreases elsewhere indicate displacement of people from their communities 
as housing prices increase.

Lake Oswego

Milwaukie

Newberg Oregon
City

Portland

Sherwood

Tigard

Troutdale

Tualatin

Vancouver

West
Linn

Wilsonville

Beaverton

Canby

Damascus

Dundee

Forest
Grove

Gladstone

Gresham

Happy Valley

Hillsboro

Y
A

M
H

IL
L

C
O

.
CL

A
C

KA
M

A
S 

C
O

.

Y A M H I L L C O .

W A S H I N G T O N C O .

C L A C K A M A S C O .

M U L T N O M A H C O .

C
L

A
C

K
A

M
A

S
C

O
.

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
C

O
.

CLARK CO.

M U L T N O M A H C O .

M
U

L
T

N
O

M
A

H
C

O
.

W
A

S
H

IN
G

T
O

N
C

O
.

CENTRAL

EAST
MULTNOMAH

INNER
I-5

INNER
CLACKAMAS

INNER
WESTSIDE

OUTER
I-5

OUTER
I-5

OUTER
CLACKAMAS

OUTER
WESTSIDE

OUTER
WESTSIDE

INNER
NORTH
& EAST

OUTER
CLACKAMAS

30

U

0 2 4
Miles

Map saved 6/3/2014 at T:\2014UGR\Maps\PctChange_MedianFamilyIncome_2000_2010.mxd

Change In Median Family Income
By Census Tract, 2000 to 2008-2012
July, 2014 (DRAFT)

Urban growth boundary

County boundary

Major arterials

Rivers and lakes

20.1% to 93.7%

10.1% to 20.0%

2.1% to 10.0%

-1.9% to 2.0%

-9.9% to -2.0%

-19.9% to -10.0%

-51.3% to -20.0%

In
cr

ea
se

De
cr

ea
se

N
o 

ch
an

ge

Data sources: US Census 2000 (DP03, adjusted to 2012 US dollars) 
and American Community Survey 2008-2012 (S1903).

Policy considerations
OPPORTUNITIES FOR WORKFORCE 
HOUSING
Market-rate workforce housing is typically 
provided by existing housing stock, not 
new construction. Yet, existing housing in 
locations with good access to jobs is often 
too expensive for the region’s workforce. 
What policies, investments, innovative 
housing designs and construction 
techniques could provide additional 
workforce housing in locations with good 
transportation options? Who has a role?

GROWTH WITHOUT SERVICES AND FACILITIES
Over the last couple of decades, the trend of depopulation of the urban core and 
the movement of the middle class to the suburbs has reversed in many regions 
in the U.S. The Portland metropolitan region is no exception. While there have 
been positive outcomes, this has also led to displacement and concentrations of 
poverty in places that lack adequate services and facilities like sidewalks and 
transit. Additional information about access to opportunity around the region 
can be found in Appendix 10. Information about housing and transportation 
cost burdens can be found in Appendix 12.

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 1 3

COMMUTING TRENDS: THE JOBS-HOUSING BALANCE
For years, leaders have talked about a jobs-housing balance – ensuring there 
are homes close to employment areas. But evidence and common sense tell us 
that people’s lives don’t neatly line up with the available housing inventory. 
Some people work at or close to home, some commute from one end of the 
region to the other, and some live halfway between where they work and their 
spouse works. In other words, putting homes next to major employers doesn’t 
necessarily cut down on commuting.

However, services and amenities near residential areas can make our lives 
outside of jobs and commutes easier and help create strong local economies. 
When people can go out to eat, do their shopping, visit the bank or see a doctor 
close to where they live, they spend less time going somewhere and more time 
with friends and family, actively enjoying their communities and the region.

Map 4 illustrates the region’s commute patterns. Using Washington County as 
an example (2011 data):iii

•	 about 120,000 people who live in Washington County also work there

•	 about 118,000 people who live outside Washington County work in 
Washington County

•	 about 104,000 people who live in Washington County work outside 
Washington County.

Policy considerations
A BIGGER PICTURE
Regional and local policies and investments 
also interact with actions taken in 
neighboring cities, Clark County and Salem. 
What are the best policies for using land 
efficiently and reducing time spent in 
traffic?

TRAVEL COMMUTE PATTERNS
2011 commute patterns from cities/places in the Portland metropolitan region
Lines connect a person’s place of residence to place of employment
Line thickness represents number of people

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 1 4

How many more people and jobs should 
we expect in the future?
A core question this report addresses is how many more people and jobs 
should the region plan for between now and the year 2035. In creating the 
2035 forecast, Metro convened a peer review group consisting of economists 
and demographers from Portland State University, ECONorthwest, Johnson 
Economics, and NW Natural. The forecast assumptions and results in this 
report reflect the recommendations of this peer review panel. A summary of 
the peer review can be found in Appendix 1C.

However, even with a peer review of the forecast, some forecast assumptions 
will turn out to be incorrect. For that reason, the population and employment 
forecasts in this report are expressed as ranges, allowing the region’s 
policymakers the opportunity to err on the side of flexibility and resilience 
in choosing a path forward. As with a weather forecast, this population and 
employment range forecast is expressed in terms of probability. The baseline 
forecast (mid-point in the forecast range) is Metro staff’s best estimate of what 
future growth may be. The range is bounded by a low end and a high end. There 
is a ninety percent chance that actual growth will occur somewhere in this 
range, but the probability of ending up at the high or low ends of the range is 
less.

Appendix 1B describes the accuracy of past forecasts. These typically have been 
reliable, particularly when it comes to population growth. For example, Metro’s 
1985 to 2005 forecast proved to be off by less than one percent per year for both 
population and employment over the 20-year time frame.

POPULATION AND JOB GROWTH IN THE SEVEN-COUNTY 
PORTLAND/VANCOUVER METROPOLITAN AREA
To “show our work” and to understand our region in its economic context, this 
analysis starts with a forecast for the larger seven-county Portland/Vancouver/
Hillsboro metropolitan area.2 Full documentation of the metropolitan area 
forecast is available in Appendix 1A. It is estimated that there will be about 
470,000 to 725,000 more people in the seven-county area by the year 2035. 
Mid-point in the forecast range, or best estimate, is for 600,000 more people. 
This amount of growth would be consistent with the region’s past growth; 
the seven-county area grew by about 600,000 people between 1985 and 2005 
and by about 700,000 from 1990 to 2010. Adding 600,000 people would be 
comparable to adding the current population of the city of Portland to the area.

The forecast calls for 120,500 to 648,500 additional jobs in the seven-county 
Portland/Vancouver metropolitan area between 2015 and 2035. The forecast 
range for employment is wider than the forecast range for population since 
regional employment is more difficult to predict in a fast-moving global 
economy. Unexpected events like the Great Recession, technological advances, 
international relations, and monetary policy can lead to big changes. Mid-
point in the forecast range, or best estimate, is for 384,500 additional jobs. This 
amount of growth would surpass the 240,000 additional jobs that were created 
in the seven-county metropolitan area during the 20-year period from 1990 to 
2010, which included job losses from the recession.

Policy considerations
MANAGING UNCERTAINTY

What are the risks and opportunities of 
planning for higher or lower growth in the 
forecast range?

Recognizing that the two forecasts are 
linked, are there different risks when 
planning for employment or housing 
growth?

Are there different risks when planning 
for land use, transportation, or for other 
infrastructure systems?

Who bears the public and private costs and 
benefits associated with different growth 
management options?

2 The seven-county Portland/Vancouver metropolitan area includes Clackamas, Clark, Columbia, 
Multnomah, Skamania, Washington, and Yamhill counties. 

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 1 5

POPULATION AND JOB GROWTH IN THE METRO UGB
A market-based land and transportation computer model is used to determine 
how many of the new jobs and households in the seven-county area are likely 
to locate inside the Metro urban growth boundary. The model indicates that 
about 75 percent of new households and jobs may locate inside the UGB. 
The share of regional growth accommodated inside the boundary varies 
depending on what point in the forecast range is chosen. More detail can be 
found in Appendices 4 and 6. It is estimated that there will be about 300,000 
to 485,000 additional people inside the Metro urban growth boundary 
between 2015 and 2035 (Figure 4). At mid-point in this range, the UGB will have 
about 400,000 additional people. This would be comparable to adding more 
than four times the current population of the city of Hillsboro to the UGB . The 
population forecast is converted into household growth for this analysis.

It is estimated that there will be about 85,000 to 440,000 additional jobs in 
the Metro UGB between 2015 and 2035 (Figure 5). At mid-point in this range, 
there would be about 260,000 additional jobs between 2015 and 2035. This job 
forecast is converted into demand for acres for this analysis.

Figure 4 Population history and forecast for Metro UGB 1979 - 2035

Figure 5 Employment history and forecast for Metro UGB, 1979-2035

History

Mid-point

Mid-point

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 1 6

How much room for growth is there 
inside the UGB?
Cities and counties around the region plan for the future and prioritize 
investments that support their community’s vision. In most cases, however, 
long-term plans for downtowns, main streets and employment areas are 
more ambitious than what is actually built or redeveloped. One task of this 
analysis is to help us understand how the market might respond to long-term 
community plans in the next 20 years.

To analyze the region’s growth capacity, detailed aerial photos of all the land 
inside the urban growth boundary were taken. Factoring in current adopted 
plans and zoning designations, the photos were used to determine which 
parcels of land were developed and which were vacant. Methodologies for 
assessing the redevelopment potential and environmental constraints of the 
land were developed over the course of a year by Metro and a technical working 
group consisting of representatives from cities, counties, the state and the 
private sector (see pages 30-31 for a complete list of technical working group 
members).

After settling on the methodology described in Appendix 2, Metro produced 
a preliminary buildable land inventory that local cities and counties had 
more than two months to review. The draft buildable land inventory 
described in Appendix 3 reflects refined local knowledge about factors such as 
environmental constraints including wetlands, steep slopes, and brownfield 
contamination. Maps 4 through 7 illustrate the buildable land inventory 
reviewed by local jurisdictions. They are available at a larger scale in Appendix 
3. The buildable land inventory is considered a “first cut” at determining the 
region’s growth capacity. For a variety of reasons described in the next section, 
not all of it may be developable in the 20-year time frame.

DIDN’T THE STATE LEGISLATURE 
JUST EXPAND THE UGB? 

Signed into state law in the spring of 
2014, HB 4078 codifies the fundamental 
principles behind our region’s decision 
about urban and rural reserves. The 
legislation provides greater protection for 
farms, forests and natural areas, offers 
predictability to our communities, home 
builders and manufacturers, and makes 
our land use system more efficient. The 
legislation also expanded the UGB in 
several locations in Washington County 
and described how Metro must account for 
those lands in this urban growth report.

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 1 7

ESTIMATING RESIDENTIAL GROWTH CAPACITY
Current plans and zoning allow for a total of almost 1.3 million residences 
inside the urban growth boundary after accounting for environmental 
constraints and needs for future streets and sidewalks. About half of that 
potential capacity is in use today. This urban growth report does not count all 
of this capacity since doing so would assume that every developed property 
in the region will redevelop to its maximum density in the next twenty 
years. A rational developer will only build products that are expected to sell. 
Redevelopment requires market demand, which is a function of a number of 
factors, including expected population growth. This affects whether a property 
will be redeveloped and at what density.

Map 4 Employment 
vacant buildable tax 
lots (reviewed by local 
jurisdictions)

Map 5 Employment 
infill and 
redevelopment 
candidate tax lots 
(reviewed by local 
jurisdictions)

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 1 8

Map 6 Residential 
vacant buildable tax 
lots (reviewed by local 
jurisdictions)

Map 7 Residential 
redevelopment 
candidate tax lots 
(reviewed by local 
jurisdictions)

Acknowledging this complexity, Metro staff convened representatives from 
cities, counties, the state and the private sector to establish consensus for 
estimating how much of the region’s buildable land inventory might be 
absorbed by the year 2035 (see pages 30-31 for a complete list of technical 
working group members). Redevelopment and infill are most common in 
locations where there is significant demand for housing, so the growth 
capacity from redevelopment and infill rises with assumptions for population 
growth. For this reason, the region’s residential growth capacity is expressed as 
a range. The amount of growth capacity that the region has depends, in part, on 
the point in the household forecast range for which the Metro Council chooses 
to plan. Appendix 4 describes the approach for identifying the 20-year capacity 
range for housing.

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 1 9

Case study
4TH MAIN, HILLSBORO
With a shared vision for an active, historic main street area, Metro, 
the City of Hillsboro and the Federal Transit Administration worked 
together to attract private sector redevelopment of a city block adjacent 
to the Hillsboro Central MAX station. 4th Main offers 71 market-rate 
apartments, underground parking, and active retail along main street. 
The existing 1950s era vacant bank building on site is being updated for 
restaurant and retail use. When 4th Main opened in May 2014, over half 
the units were leased.

HOW DO DEVELOPERS EVALUATE REDEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL?
The construction of new infill (original structure intact) and redevelopment (original 
structure demolished) projects is increasing in some places, fueled by a renewed interest in 
and market demand for housing and jobs close to the urban core. In order to realize a return 
on an investment, given the higher costs of urban redevelopment, investors will evaluate 
the redevelopment potential of the site by considering the following:

•	 Where is the site located? Is it an up and coming area?

•	 What is the value of the existing building or structure on the site? What is the value of the 
land? At what point does the building become worth less than the land it sits on?

•	 What is the developer allowed to build under the local zoning code?

•	 What are the construction costs and fees for the new building?

•	 How much will the developer be able to sell or rent space for in the new building?

Policy considerations
HOW SHOULD POLICYMAKERS 
EVALUATE DEVELOPMENT 
POTENTIAL?
Since the adoption of the 2040 Growth 
Concept, there has often been skepticism 
about the viability of redevelopment as a 
source of growth capacity. Our region’s 
history shows that developing urban growth 
boundary expansion areas is difficult as 
well. Aside from developing a concept plan, 
what other factors support the likelihood 
that an urban reserve will be developed if 
brought into the UGB?

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 2 0

ESTIMATING EMPLOYMENT GROWTH CAPACITY
To determine the UGB’s employment growth capacity, analysis began with 
the creation of a buildable land inventory. As with the residential analysis, 
employment capacity depends on demand since different types of jobs have 
different space needs. For instance, an office job will have very different 
location and space needs than a warehouse job. Metro staff convened a group 
of public and private sector experts to help update these employment demand 
factors. Appendix 6 describes the approach for identifying the 20-year 
capacity range. (See pages 30-31 for a complete list of technical working group 
members).

Different jobs have different space needs

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 2 1

Is there a regional need for additional 
growth capacity?
Under state law, Metro’s analysis must assess regional, not local or subregional, 
growth capacity needs. While some local jurisdictions may desire additional 
land for growth, this analysis is required to keep those needs in the regional 
context, knowing that other locations in the region may have greater growth 
capacity.

This analysis uses a probabilistic range forecast. The baseline forecast (middle 
of the range) has the highest probability. Though there is a 90 percent chance 
that growth will occur within the range, it is less probable at the low and high 
ends of the range. 

DOES THE REGION NEED MORE LAND FOR HOUSING 
GROWTH?
Regional growth management policy alone cannot ensure adequate housing 
choices. Other elements that influence what kind of housing gets built include 
tax policy, lending practices, local plans and decisions, public investments, 
market demand, and developer responses. All of these factors impact housing 
production.

Appendix 4 describes in detail the residential demand analysis and 
includes estimates of potential demand by housing type (single-family and 
multifamily), tenure (own and rent), average density, as well as detail about 
demand from different household income brackets. For accounting purposes, 
the detailed analysis uses rigid supply and demand categories – for instance, 
single-family and multifamily. In reality, demand for these two housing 
types is somewhat fluid, particularly as average household sizes continue to 
decrease. By 2035, about 60 percent of new households are expected to include 
just one or two people. 

WHAT THE NUMBERS SHOW
Population and employment forecasts in 
the urban growth report are expressed as 
ranges based on probability. Mid-point in 
the forecast range is Metro’s best estimate 
of what future growth may be. It is less 
probable that growth will occur at the high 
or low ends of the range forecast.

This analysis looks at long-term capacity 
needs for:

•	 single-family and multifamily housing

•	 general industrial employment uses

•	 large industrial sites

•	 commercial employment uses.

This analysis finds that currently adopted 
plans can accommodate new housing at 
the low, middle or high ends of the growth 
forecast range. If policymakers choose to 
plan for the high end of the growth range, 
there is a need for additional capacity for 
new jobs.

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 22

Policymakers have the challenge of balancing the type of housing and 
neighborhoods people prefer with funding realities, governance and 
annexation challenges. They also must consider regional and community 
goals such as preserving the character of existing neighborhoods, reducing 
carbon emissions, preserving farms and forests, and creating vibrant 
downtowns and main streets. To inform that discussion, Metro and a group of 
public and private sector partners conducted a study on residential preferences 
across the region and will make results available to policymakers in the early 
fall of 2014.

The capacity estimation method recommended by Metro’s public and private 
sector advisory group recognizes that infill and redevelopment depend on 
demand. Consequently, the capacity from those two sources increases with 
greater household demand (i.e., a higher growth forecast results in a greater 
housing capacity).

Table 2 and Table 3 summarize the more detailed analysis of residential needs 
provided in Appendix 4.3 

Table 2 Metro UGB single-family residential market analysis of existing plans and policies 
(2015-2035)3

Buildable land 
inventory

Market-adjusted 
supply

Market-adjusted 
demand 

Surplus/
need

Low growth forecast

118,000

75,900 64,000 +11,900

Middle (baseline) 
growth forecast 90,000 76,900 +13,100

High growth forecast 97,000 90,800 +6,200

Buildable land 
inventory

Market-adjusted 
supply

Market-adjusted 
demand 

Surplus/
need

Low growth forecast

273,300

118,400 89,300 +29,100

Middle (baseline) 
growth forecast 130,100 120,500 +9,600

High growth forecast 165,100 145,900 +19,200

Single-family dwelling units

Multifamily dwelling units

Table 3 Metro UGB multifamily residential market analysis of existing plans and policies  
(2015-2035)3

Policy considerations
WHAT ABOUT DAMASCUS?
With its ongoing community and political 
challenges, how much of Damascus’ 
growth capacity should be counted during 
the 2015 to 2035 time frame is more of a 
policy question than a technical question. 
For this analysis, Metro staff followed the 
advice of its technical advisory group and 
used a market-based model to determine 
that about half of Damascus’ estimated 
buildable land inventory capacity could 
be counted in the “market-adjusted” 
residential supply. For modeling purposes, 
it was assumed that development 
challenges will persist in Damascus for 
another decade, delaying its availability 
to the market. If Damascus’ capacity is 
not available, it may become somewhat 
more difficult to provide new single-family 
housing inside the existing urban growth 
boundary. Does the region have other 
options for making up for Damascus’ 
capacity if it is not counted?

Over the last several decades, communities around the region adopted plans 
for job and housing growth that emphasize making the most of existing 
downtowns, main streets and employment areas. Based on those existing plans 
and estimates of what is likely to be developed in the next twenty years, this 
analysis finds that the region can accommodate new housing at the low, middle 
or high ends of the growth forecast range. 

This analysis should not be understood as prescribing a future for the region. 
It remains up to policymakers to decide whether these projected outcomes 
are desirable and, if not, what plans and investments are needed to achieve a 
different outcome that matches the public’s preferences, values and funding 
priorities, as well as state laws governing growth management. 

3 These tables reflect two necessary corrections identified by Metro staff in September 2014. First, in one 
step of the July 2014 draft report’s calculations for housing demand, household data for the entire seven-
county metropolitan area were used instead of data limited to the area within the Metro urban growth 
boundary. As a result the July draft report overestimated demand for single-family housing within the 
urban growth boundary. A second correction related to lands added to the urban growth boundary by the 
Oregon Legislature in March 2014 under House Bill 4078. At the request of the city of Forest Grove, this 
revised report counts lands added near Forest Grove as industrial, rather than residential. This reduces 
regional capacity for housing, but increases the regional surplus of industrial land.

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 2 3

Policy considerations
PROVIDING HOUSING OPPORTUNITIES
As policymakers consider their options for responding to housing needs, there are 
considerations to keep in mind.

If policymakers decide that a urban growth boundary expansion is needed to provide room 
for housing, where should that expansion occur? Metro is aware of two cities in the region 
that are currently interested in UGB expansions for housing – Sherwood and Wilsonville. Both 
cities had residential land added to the UGB in 2002 that they have not yet annexed. Sherwood 
requires voter-approved annexation and voters have twice rejected annexing the area. What is a 
reasonable time frame for seeing results in past and future UGB expansion areas?

Given that the region has ample growth capacity for multifamily housing but a more finite supply 
of single-family growth capacity, should policymakers consider ways to encourage “family-
friendly” housing in multifamily and mixed-use zones? To what extent might that address single-
family housing needs in this analysis? Are there ways to ensure that housing in downtowns and 
along main streets remains within reach of families with moderate or low incomes?

State land use laws and regional policy call for efficient use of any land added to the UGB. 
However, over the years very little multifamily housing has been built in UGB expansion areas. 
What is the right mix of housing types in areas added to the UGB in the future and how are they 
best served?

How might policymakers balance residential preferences with other concerns such as 
infrastructure provision, transportation impacts, affordability, and environmental protection?

IMPACT OF MILLENNIALS ON 
HOUSING
Millennials, those born since 1980, are the 
biggest age cohort the U.S. has ever had 
(bigger than the Baby Boomer cohort) and 
will have a significant influence on the types 
of housing that are desired in the future. 
Today, 36 percent of the nation’s 18 to 31-
year olds are living with their parents.i This 
has variously been attributed to student 
loan debt, high unemployment or fear of 
losing a job, and stricter mortgage lending 
standards. Builders have responded by 
reducing their housing production and 
focusing on apartment construction. What 
will these trends mean for home ownership, 
housing type, and location choices in the 
longer term?

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 2 4

DOES THE REGION NEED MORE LAND FOR INDUSTRIAL JOB 
GROWTH?
Industrial employment includes a wide range of jobs like high tech 
manufacturers, truck drivers, and metal workers. Since it is common to find 
commercial jobs (offices, stores, restaurant, etc.) in industrial zones, this 
analysis shifts a portion of the overall industrial redevelopment supply into the 
commercial category.

Table 4 summarizes regional needs for general industrial employment growth, 
expressed in acres.4 Additional detail about this analysis can be found in 
Appendix 6. The need for large industrial sites (sites with over 25 buildable 
acres) is described separately. At mid-point in the forecast range, there is no 
regional need for additional land for general industrial employment uses. At 
the high end of the forecast range, there is a deficit. However, there are limited 
areas in urban reserves that may eventually be suitable for industrial uses.

Table 4 Metro UGB general industrial acreage needs 2015 to 20354

Note: reflecting real market dynamics where commercial uses locate in industrial zones, the market 
adjustment shifts some of the region’s industrial redevelopment supply into the commercial land 
supply. The amount varies by demand forecast.

Policy considerations
INVESTING IN JOB CREATION
Metro has been actively engaged in the 
question of regional investment priorities 
since the release of the 2008 Regional 
Infrastructure Analysis and consequential 
discussion with regional community and 
business leaders through the Community 
Investment Initiative. From these 
efforts, Metro established the Regional 
Infrastructure Supporting our Economy 
(RISE) team to deliver regionally significant 
projects and new infrastructure investment 
to enhance the local and regional economy. 
Are there areas where RISE should focus its 
attention to ensure the region can generate 
job growth?

Buildable land 
inventory

Market-
adjusted supply

Demand Surplus/
need

Low growth forecast

7,300

6,000 1,200 +4,800

Middle (baseline) 
growth forecast 5,200 3,800 +1,400

High growth forecast 5,200 6,500 -1,300

General industrial employment (acres)

Located between the Columbia and 
Sandy rivers and bordered by the 
Troutdale Airport and Marine Drive, 
this 700-acre superfund site is being 
redeveloped with a mix of industrial 
uses, natural areas and utility and trail 
access. The Port of Portland is working closely with local, regional and state 
jurisdictions to redevelop this former aluminum plant brownfield site and 
return it to productive industrial use with a traded-sector job focus. The 
Port has invested over $37 million in the acquisition and redevelopment 
of the site. Today, a portion of the site is home to FedEx Ground’s regional 
distribution center. Another $48 million in investment is needed to make 
the remainder of the site ready to market to industrial employers. At full 
build-out, this industrial development is projected to result in 3,500 direct 
jobs, $410 million in personal income and $41 million in state and local 
taxes annually (all jobs).

Case study
TROUTDALE 
REYNOLDS 
INDUSTRIAL PARK

4 This table reflects a necessary correction 
identified by Metro staff in September 2014. The 
correction related to lands added to the urban 
growth boundary by the Oregon Legislature in 
March 2014 under House Bill 4078. At the request 
of the city of Forest Grove, this revised report 
counts lands added near Forest Grove as industrial, 
rather than residential with a small amount of 
commercial.

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 2 5

HOW SHOULD THE REGION PRIORITIZE INVESTMENTS IN 
LARGE INDUSTRIAL SITE READINESS?
The region’s economic development strategy focuses on several sectors with 
anchor firms that sometimes use large industrial sites (over 25 buildable 
acres). These firms are important because they often pay higher-than-average 
wages, export goods outside the region (bringing wealth back), produce 
spin off firms, and induce other economic activity in the region. However, 
forecasting the recruitment of new firms or growth of existing firms that use 
large industrial sites is challenging since these events involve the unique 
decisions of individual firms. To produce an analysis that is as objective as 
possible, the estimate of future demand for large industrial sites is based on 
the employment forecast. That assessment and its caveats are described in 
Appendix 7.

The analysis finds that there may be demand for eight to 34 large industrial 
sites between 2015 and 2035. There are currently 50 large vacant industrial 
sites inside the UGB that are not being held for future expansion by existing 
firms.5 This does not include sites added to the UGB in 2014 under HB 4078. 
To exhaust this supply of sites by 2035, the region would need to attract five 
major industrial firms every two years. In addition to this inventory of 50 sites, 
there are 24 sites inside the UGB that are being held by existing firms for future 
expansion (growth of existing firms is implicit in the demand forecast). Given 
this total supply of 74 large industrial sites and the fact that there are only two 
areas in urban reserves (near Boring and Tualatin) that may be suitable for 
eventual industrial use, policymakers can consider whether to focus on land 
supply or site readiness.

There are a limited number of areas in urban reserves that may be suitable for 
eventual industrial use. Therefore, this demand analysis may be more useful 
for informing the level of effort that the region may wish to apply to making 
its existing large industrial sites development-ready. Existing sites typically 
require actions such as infrastructure provision, wetland mitigation, site 
assembly, brownfield cleanup, annexation by cities, and planning to make sites 
development-ready. Many of these same development-readiness challenges 
exist in the two urban reserve areas that may eventually be suitable for 
industrial use. Metro and several public and private sector partners continue to 
work to understand the actions and investments that are needed to make more 
of the region’s large industrial sites development-ready.

5 This inventory is preliminary as of June 16, 2014, and will be confirmed by Metro and its 
partners before Metro Council consideration of the final UGR. This work is being conducted by 
Mackenzie for an update of the 2012 Regional Industrial Site Readiness project. However, the 
inventory is not expected to change enough to result in a different conclusion regarding there 
being no regional need for additional UGB expansion.

Policy considerations
THE PORTLAND HARBOR
The harbor is a unique environmental, 
recreational and economic asset that 
cannot be replaced elsewhere in the 
Portland region. For more than a century, 
the harbor has played a critical role in 
the history of trade and manufacturing in 
our region. Today, the harbor needs to be 
cleaned up to continue providing benefits. 
What is the appropriate balance between 
environmental and economic goals? What 
investments and policies can advance those 
goals?

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 2 6

DOES THE REGION NEED MORE LAND FOR COMMERCIAL 
JOB GROWTH?
The commercial employment category includes a diverse mix of jobs such as 
teachers, restaurant workers, lawyers, doctors and nurses, retail sales people, 
and government workers. Generally, these are population-serving jobs that 
are located close to where people live. Table 5 summarizes regional needs for 
commercial employment growth, expressed in acres.6 Additional detail about 
this analysis can be found in Appendix 6. At mid-point in the forecast range, 
there is no regional need for additional land for commercial employment uses. 
At the high end of the forecast range, there is a deficit. However, it may not be 
desirable to locate commercial uses on the urban edge unless those uses are 
integrated with residential development.

Table 5 Metro UGB commercial acreage needs 2015 to 20356

Note: reflecting real market dynamics where commercial uses locate in industrial zones, the market 
adjustment shifts some of the region’s industrial redevelopment supply into the commercial land 
supply. The amount varies by demand forecast.

Buildable land 
inventory

Market-
adjusted supply

Demand Surplus/
need

Low growth forecast

4,200

4,100 1,400 +2,700

Middle (baseline) 
growth forecast 4,400 3,600 +800

High growth forecast 5,000 5,700 -700

Commercial employment (acres)

Policy considerations
KEEPING SHOPPING AND  
SERVICES CLOSE BY
It makes sense to locate commercial uses 
close to where people live. If the Metro 
Council chooses to plan for a high growth 
scenario, are there places where it makes 
sense to expand the UGB for a mix of 
residential and commercial uses?

6 This table reflects a necessary correction identified by Metro staff in September 2014. The correction 
related to lands added to the urban growth boundary by the Oregon Legislature in March 2014 under 
House Bill 4078. At the request of the city of Forest Grove, this revised report counts lands added near 
Forest Grove as industrial, rather than residential with a small amount of commercial. Making this 
correction reduces the region’s commercial buildable land inventory by 100 acres.

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 2 7

Conclusion
The 2014 urban growth report is more than an accounting of available acres 
and forecast projections. It provides information about development trends, 
highlights challenges and opportunities, and encourages policymakers to 
discuss how we can work together as a region to help communities achieve 
their visions. This region has seen tremendous change and progress over 
the last 20 years and we know change will continue. Our shared challenge is 
to guide development in a responsible and cost-effective manner so that we 
preserve and enhance the quality of life and ensure that the benefits and costs 
of growth and change are distributed equitably across the region. 

LOCAL LEADERSHIP
Examples of strong partnerships abound already. At the local level, cities and 
counties are working closely with the private sector to bring new vibrancy to 
downtowns, more jobs to employment areas, and to provide existing and new 
neighborhoods with safe and convenient transportation options. Residential 
and employment areas as varied as Beaverton’s Creekside District, Portland’s 
South Waterfront, Hillsboro’s AmberGlen, Wilsonville’s Villebois, the Gresham 
Vista Business Park and many others, both large and small, are pointing the 
way to our region’s future.

METRO’S ROLE
At the regional level, Metro supports community work with a variety of 
financial and staff resources. The Community Planning and Development 
Grant program has funded over $14 million in local project work to support 
development readiness. The RISE (Regional Infrastructure Supporting our 
Economy) program is designed to deliver regionally significant projects and 
spur infrastructure investment. The Transit-Oriented Development Program 
provides developers with financial incentives that enhance the economic 
feasibility of higher density, mixed-used projects served by transit. Corridor 
projects such as the Southwest Corridor and East Metro Connections Plan 
are bringing together Metro, local jurisdictions, educational institutions, 
residents, businesses and others to develop comprehensive land use and 
transportation plans for individual areas that will support local community 
and economic development goals. 

INVESTING IN OUR COMMUNITIES
These are just a few examples of the kind of work that’s happening all across 
the region. While the Metro Council’s growth management decision must 
address the question of whether to adjust the region’s urban growth boundary, 
the more difficult questions center on how to find the resources needed to 
develop existing land within our communities and new land in urban growth 
boundary expansion areas in a way that meets community and regional goals. 
Many of these questions and policy considerations are highlighted throughout 
this urban growth report to support policy discussions in the 2015 growth 
management decision and beyond.

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 2 8

Next steps
JULY THROUGH DECEMBER 2014 The urban growth report helps inform policy 
discussions for the Metro Policy Advisory Committee (MPAC) and Metro 
Council.

DECEMBER 2014 The Metro Council will consider a final urban growth report 
that will serve as the basis for its growth management decision in 2015. The 
Metro Policy Advisory Committee will be asked to advise the council on 
whether the urban growth report provides a reasonable basis for its subsequent 
growth management decision.

JULY 2014 – MAY 2015 Local and regional governments will continue to 
implement policies and investments to create and enhance great communities 
while accommodating anticipated growth.

MAY 2015 Local jurisdictions interested in urban growth boundary expansions 
in urban reserves must complete concept plans for consideration by MPAC and 
the Metro Council.

SEPTEMBER 2015 Metro’s chief operating officer makes a recommendation for 
the Metro Council’s growth management decision that becomes the basis 
for MPAC and council discussion during fall 2015. The recommendation 
will take into account the final urban growth report, assessments of urban 
reserve areas, actions that have been taken at the regional or local level – 
such as measures that lead to more efficient land use and adopted concept 
plans for urban reserves – and other new information that may influence our 
understanding of future growth in the region.

BY THE END OF 2015 If any additional 20-year capacity need remains, the Metro 
Council will consider UGB expansions into designated urban reserves. The 
Metro Policy Advisory Committee will be asked to advise the council on the 
growth management decision.

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 2 9

i U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, Per Capita Real GDP by Metro Area, accessed online 4/29/14

ii Dean Runyan and Associates, 2013 Preliminary Travel Impacts for Portland Metro, accessed online 
4/30/14 at http://www.travelportland.com/about-us/visitor-statistics-research/ 

iii U.S. Census Bureau, OnTheMap Application and LEHD Origin-Destination Employment Statistics 
(Beginning of Quarter Employment, 2nd Quarter of 2002-2011)

iv Pew Research Center, A Rising Share of Young Adults Live in Their Parent’s Home, August 1, 2013, 
accessed online 5/20/14 at http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/files/2013/07/SDT-millennials-living-with-
parents-07-2013.pdf

References
Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 3 0

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
Metro staff
Ted Reid, project manager for 2015 urban growth management decision
Martha Bennett, chief operating officer
Elissa Gertler, planning and development director
John Williams, deputy director community development
Roger Alfred, senior assistant attorney
Betsy Breyer, GIS specialist
Clint Chiavarini, senior GIS specialist
Rayna Cleland, senior visual communications designer
Sonny Conder, principal researcher
Paulette Copperstone, program assistant 
Jim Cser, associate researcher and modeler
Laura Dawson-Bodner, record and information analyst
Dan Hunt, GIS specialist
Peggy Morell, senior public affairs specialist
Tim O’Brien, principal planner
Juan Carlos Ocaña-Chiu, senior public affairs specialist
Maribeth Todd, associate researcher and modeler
Dennis Yee, chief economist

THE FOLLOWING PEOPLE GRACIOUSLY LENT THEIR EXPERTISE TO INFORM THIS 
REPORT 

2014 Urban Growth Report: buildable land inventory technical 
working group
The following people advised Metro staff on the methods used for identifying the region’s 
buildable land inventory. Additional review of the preliminary inventory was provided by 
numerous city and county staff.

Jill Sherman, Gerding Edlen
Eric Cress, Urban Development Partners NW
Steve Kelley, Washington County
Brian Hanes, Washington County
Erin Wardell, Washington County
Colin Cooper, Hillsboro
Ali Turiel, Hillboro
Emily Tritsch, Hillsboro
Ken Rencher, Beaverton
Mike Rizzitiello, Beaverton
Larry Conrad, Clackamas County
Denny Egner, Lake Oswego (through June 2013), Milwaukie
Chris Neamtzu, Wilsonville
Chuck Beasley, Multnomah County
Adam Barber, Multnomah County
Tom Armstrong, Portland
Tyler Bump, Portland (alternate)
Brian Martin, Gresham
Mike Tharp, Norris, Beggs, and Simpson
Bob LeFeber, Commercial Realty Advisors

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



pg / 3 1

Drake Butsch, First American Title Company
Stuart Skaug, CB Richard Ellis
Dan Grimberg, Arbor Homes
Jeff Bacharach, Bacharach Law
Andrew Tull, 3J Consulting
Justin Wood, Home Builders Association of Metropolitan Portland
Anne Debbaut, DLCD
Jennifer Donnelly, DLCD
Tom Hogue, DLCD
Gordon Howard, DLCD
Jerry Johnson, Johnson Economics
Eric Hovee, E.D. Hovee and Associates

2014 Urban Growth Report: residential supply range technical working 
group
This group advised Metro staff on how much of the residential buildable land inventory’s 
redevelopment supply may be developable in the 20-year time horizon.

Erin Wardell, Washington County
Jeannine Rustad, Hillsboro
Emily Tritsch, Hillsboro
Gordon Howard, DLCD
Anne Debbaut, DLCD
Jennifer Donnelly, DLCD
Tom Armstrong, Portland
Justin Wood, Home Builders Association
Jerry Johnson, Johnson Economics
Eric Hovee, E.D. Hovee and Associates

2014 Urban Growth Report: employment land technical working group
This group advised Metro staff on how various employment sectors use building space (square 
feet per employee and floor-area ratios).

Bob LeFeber, Commercial Realty Advisors
Mark Childs, Capacity Commercial
Steve Kountz, Portland
Tyler Bump, Portland
Brian Owendoff, Capacity Commercial
Mike Tharp, Norris, Beggs, and Simpson

2014 Urban Growth Report: regional forecast advisory panel
Dr. Tom Potiowsky, Chair, Northwest Economic Research Center, PSU
Dr. Jennifer Allen, Institute for Sustainable Solutions, PSU
Jerry Johnson, Johnson Economics
Dr. Jason Jurjevich, Population Research Center, PSU
Dave Lenar, NW Natural
Dr. Randall Pozdena, ECONorthwest
Steve Storm, NW Natural

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



oregonmetro.gov/growth

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Appendix 1a 
Population and employment forecast for the Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro 
metropolitan statistical area (2015 - 2035) 

Introduction 
Under ORS 195.025, Metro is the governing body responsible for coordinating all planning activities 
affecting land uses in the urban portions of Clackamas, Multnomah and Washington Counties, which are 
contained within the metropolitan service district boundary. The purpose for this coordinating 
responsibility is to assure an integrated comprehensive plan for the entire urbanized area. The 
coordinating body – Metro – is required by ORS 195.036 to establish and maintain a population forecast 
(and employment forecast) for the entire area within in its boundary for use in maintaining and updating 
comprehensive plans, and shall coordinate the regional forecast with the local governments in its 
boundary. ORS 197.299 directs Metro to complete an assessment of urban growth boundary sufficiency 
that includes a complete inventory, determination and analysis of need every 5 years. The regional 
forecast becomes an essential piece of determining need for housing and employment in the analysis of 
buildable land supply sufficiency. 

What’s been updated in the 2014 regional forecast? 
• IHS Global Insight U.S. macroeconomic (November 2013) provides the economic backdrop for 

the regional forecast past year 2040. 
• 2012 National Population Projections for future birth rates, death rates and immigration provide 

the basis for adjusting regional population trends going forward. 
• Economic equations in the regional econometric model have been re-estimated and the overall 

model re-calibrated to reflect the latest historical data available for employment (U.S. Bureau of 
Labor Statistics (BLS)), income and wages (Bureau of Economic analysis (BEA)), input-output 
coefficients (BEA), and population (Census, Oregon and Washington). 

What trends can be seen in the 2014 regional forecast? 
• Historically weak U.S. economic recovery dampening the outlook for U.S. gross domestic 

product (GDP) 
• Resulting in less economic stimulus for the region in future years (current baseline employment 

outlook is close to the “lower middle-third” of the range forecast that was adopted by the Metro 
Council in 2010) 

• Downshift in U.S. population projection – fertility and immigration adjusted lower 
• Resulting in lower natural population increase in the region 
• Net in-migration is expected to be on par with historical trends (just not as robust as the 

forecast from 5-years ago) 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 1 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• A slower national economy and lower demographic growth factors combine to make a more 
muted regional population outlook (current baseline population forecast is lower than the 
“lower middle-third” forecast) 

The Great Recession (Dec. 2007 to June 2009) continues to weigh heavily against the future growth 
projections. The recession eliminated (from peak to trough) nearly 100,000 jobs in the Portland-
Vancouver-Hillsboro, OR-WA MSA. The bi-state MSA (metropolitan statistical area) is comprised of 7 
counties (Clackamas, Columbia, Multnomah, Washington and Yamhill counties in Oregon and Clark and 
Skamania counties in Washington)1

The national outlook from IHS Global Insight projects much lower U.S. GDP growth as compared to the 
2009 vintage regional forecast. Less GDP growth means lower job growth expectations for the U.S. job 
market and the regional job outlook. The regional job market has been slow to respond to economic 
stimuli and is just now barely back to pre-recession levels. Meanwhile, the population and labor force in 
the region has continued to grow, but weaker-than-expected job growth continues to sideline potential 
workers. So, the “actual” unemployment is at least double the reported headline unemployment rate 
and there are much larger numbers of under-employed workers than normal. The weak job market has 
hurt recent graduates and younger aged workers the most, and their lack of engagement in the real 
economy is expected have a long-lasting impact that will linger to dampen the economic recovery for 
more years to come. 

. Nearly 5 years after the recession, the regional economy continues 
to struggle with lackluster job growth, stubbornly high unemployment and low business/consumer 
confidence. The recovery has been unusually feeble and this anemic growth expansion provides a 
weaker basis going forward for the regional forecast. 

The weaker recovery is expected to keep migration levels at moderate levels similar to historical levels. 
The regional forecast does not anticipate unusually large net in-migration flow. 

The U.S. population is projected to grow at a slower pace over the coming years than was projected 5 
years ago. The 2012 Census national population updates projects significantly lower foreign immigration 
and fertility rates. A lower fertility rate and a delay before a woman has her first child means that the 
typical American woman will bear fewer children during her lifetime. The Census also asserts that net 
immigration levels will be 24.4 million fewer than previous expectations. Factoring in the downsizing in 
immigration levels and lower fertility rates translates into lower expectations of in-migration and lower 
natural population increase in the region population than previously anticipated. 

  

1 The Whitehouse OMB is responsible for metropolitan area delineations. This link provides official notice and 
information about the standards and practices for update of metropolitan statistical areas: 
http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/inforeg_statpolicy/#ms . 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 2 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/inforeg_statpolicy/#ms�


What a difference 5-years makes in between the 2014 regional forecast 
(baseline trend) vs. 2009 regional forecast (“lower middle-third”) 
 

 2009 vintage regional 
forecast (lower middle-third) 

2014 vintage regional 
forecast (baseline) 

Difference 

 Population Employment Population Employment Population Employment 
2000 1,927,881 973,230 1,927,881 973,230 0 0 
2005 2,092,906 983,680 2,067,325 983,530 -25,581 -150 
2010 2,258,600 986,300 2,226,000 968,830 -32,600 -17,470 
2015 2,494,800 1,090,800 2,342,500 1,100,000 -152,300 9,200 
2020 2,682,900 1,189,600 2,519,200 1,228,100 -163,700 38,500 
2025 2,853,700 1,282,100 2,671,800 1,311,600 -181,900 29,500 
2030 3,015,600 1,380,200 2,814,100 1,399,800 -201,500 19,600 
2035 3,167,900 1,486,900 2,937,900 1,484,500 -230,000 -2,400 
2040 3,322,300 1,596,100 3,052,100 1,571,300 -270,200 -24,800 
APR% 
(2000-40) 1.37% 1.24% 1.16% 1.20%   
Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro, OR-WA, MSA 
Source: 2009 UGR, 2014 UGR 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 3 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Com
paring Portland M

etro's population forecasts and other forecasts
M

etro Regional Population Forecasts
O

EA / O
FM

 Regional Population Forecast
IHS G

lobal Insight Portland M
SA Population Forecast

(7-county*  M
SA)

(7-county M
SA)

(7-county M
SA)

(5-county PM
SA)

(7-county M
SA)

(7-county M
SA)

2010 release
%

APR
2014 release

%
APR

2012/13 
release

%
APR

Sep 2001 
release

%
APR

Sep 2008 
release

%
APR

Sep. 2013 
release

%
APR

2000
1,927,881

2.0%
1,927,881

2.0%
2000

1,927,881
2.0%

2000
1,875,000

2.0%
1,942,000

2.1%
1,940,510

2.1%
2005

2,092,906
1.7%

2,067,325
1.4%

2005
2,067,325

1.4%
2005

2,019,000
1.5%

2,297,000
3.4%

2,072,256
1.3%

2010
2,226,009

1.2%
2,226,000

1.5%
2010

2,229,899
1.5%

2010
2,155,000

1.3%
2,474,000

1.5%
2,236,413

1.5%
2015

2,494,800
2.3%

2,342,500
1.0%

2015
2,346,849

1.0%
2015

2,284,000
1.2%

2,637,000
1.3%

2,380,688
1.3%

2020
2,682,900

1.5%
2,519,200

1.5%
2020

2,509,701
1.4%

2020
2,419,000

1.2%
2,794,000

1.2%
2,525,884

1.2%
2025

2,853,700
1.2%

2,671,800
1.2%

2025
2,678,730

1.3%
2025

2,558,000
1.1%

2,947,000
1.1%

2,651,944
1.0%

2030
3,015,600

1.1%
2,814,100

1.0%
2030

2,840,509
1.2%

2030
3,096,000

1.0%
2,769,572

0.9%
2035

3,167,900
1.0%

2,937,900
0.9%

2035
2,987,264

1.0%
2035

3,245,000
0.9%

2,884,610
0.8%

2040
3,322,300

1.0%
3,052,100

0.8%
2040

3,121,048
0.9%

2040
2,997,777

0.8%
2010-40 APR%

1.3%
1.1%

1.1%
1.1%

1.1%
1.0%

source: M
etro Research Center (baseline m

edium
 grow

th scenario)
source: O

regon O
ffice of Econom

ic Analysis,
source: IHS Global Insight Regional Services

Kanhaiya Vaidya
(2013 release)                 

* 7 counties = Clackam
as, Colum

bia, M
ultnom

ah, W
ashington,

W
ashington O

ffice of Financial M
anagem

ent
Yam

hill, Clark and Skam
ania

(2012 release)

O
EA O

regon Population Forecasts
Census O

regon State Population Projections
IHS G

lobal Insight O
regon Population Forecasts

2004 release
%

APR
2013 release

%
APR

1996 
release

%
APR

2005 
release

%
APR

2008 release
%

APR
O

ct. 2013 
release

%
APR

2000
3,436,750

1.5%
3,431,100

1.5%
2000

3,397,000
1.6%

3,421,399
1.4%

2000
3,436,350

1.5%
3,434,800

1.5%
2005

3,618,200
1.0%

3,626,900
1.1%

2005
3,613,000

1.2%
3,596,083

1.0%
2005

3,638,420
1.1%

3,621,200
1.1%

2010
3,843,900

1.2%
3,837,300

1.1%
2010

3,803,000
3,790,996

1.1%
2010

3,920,340
1.5%

3,842,100
1.2%

2015
4,095,708

1.3%
4,001,600

0.8%
2015

3,992,000
1.0%

4,012,924
1.1%

2015
4,178,350

1.3%
4,006,900

0.8%
2020

4,359,258
1.3%

4,252,100
1.2%

2020
4,177,000

4,260,393
1.2%

2020
4,408,740

1.1%
4,195,800

0.9%
2025

4,626,015
1.2%

4,516,200
1.2%

2025
4,349,000

0.9%
4,536,418

1.3%
2025

4,624,020
1.0%

4,370,500
0.8%

2030
4,891,225

1.1%
4,768,000

1.1%
2030

N
/A

4,833,918
1.3%

2030
4,826,450

0.9%
4,529,100

0.7%
2035

5,154,793
1.1%

4,995,200
0.9%

2035
N

/A
N

/A
2035

5,016,980
0.8%

4,680,900
0.7%

2040
5,425,408

1.0%
5,203,000

0.8%
2040

N
/A

N
/A

2040
5,200,410

0.7%
4,825,700

0.6%
2010-40 APR%

1.2%
1.0%

0.9%
1.2%

0.9%
0.8%

source: O
regon O

ffice of Econom
ic Analysis,

source: U
.S. Census , State Population Projections

source: IHS Global Insight Regional Services
http://w

w
w

.oregon.gov/DAS/O
EA/Pages/dem

ographic.aspx 
http://w

w
w

.census.gov/population/projections/data/state/index.htm
l 

Census U
.S. Population Projection

IHS G
lobal Insight U

.S. Population Forecast
Pew

 Research U
.S. Population Projection

W
orld Bank U

.S. Population Projection
U

.N
. U

.S. Population Projection

2012 release
%

APR
Apr 2008 
release

N
ov 2013 
release

%
APR

2008 release
%

APR
2013 release

%
APR

2012 release
%

APR
2000

281,421,906
1.4%

2000
282,841,119

282,790,000
1.5%

2000
281,646,000

1.4%
2000

282,163,000
1.4%

2000
284,594,000

1.6%
2005

295,516,599
1.0%

2005
297,336,781

296,460,000
0.9%

2005
295,709,000

1.0%
2005

2005
298,166,000

0.9%
2010

309,349,689
0.9%

2010
310,852,451

310,064,000
0.9%

2010
309,653,000

0.9%
2010

309,307,000
0.9%

2010
312,247,000

0.9%
2015

321,362,789
0.8%

2015
324,286,814

321,937,000
0.8%

2015
2015

2015
325,128,000

0.8%
2020

333,895,553
0.8%

2020
337,732,931

334,474,000
0.8%

2020
340,219,000

0.9%
2020

330,963,000
0.7%

2020
337,983,000

0.8%
2025

346,407,223
0.7%

2025
351,404,489

346,978,000
0.7%

2025
2025

2025
350,626,000

0.7%
2030

358,471,142
0.7%

2030
365,583,894

359,025,000
0.7%

2030
371,822,000

0.9%
2030

352,612,000
0.6%

2030
362,629,000

0.7%
2035

369,662,023
0.6%

2035
379,902,031

370,192,000
0.6%

2035
2035

2035
373,468,000

0.6%
2040

380,015,683
0.6%

2040
N

/A
380,530,000

0.6%
2040

403,648,000
0.8%

2040
370,573,000

0.5%
2040

383,165,000
0.5%

2010-40 APR%
0.7%

0.8%
0.7%

0.9%
0.6%

0.7%
source: U

.S. Census
source: IHS Global Insight

source: Pew
 Research Center

source: W
orld Bank

Source: Population Division, U
nited N

ations
2012 N

ational Population Projection
Long-term

 U
.S. Trend Projection

Jeffrey S. Passel and D'Vera Cohn
http://datatopics.w

orldbank.org/hnp/popestim
ates 

W
orld Population Prospects: The 2012 Revision.

http://w
w

w
.census.gov/population/projections/data/national/index.htm

l 
Social &

 Dem
ograpphic Trends, Feb. 11, 2008

http://esa.un.org/unpd/w
pp/unpp/p2k0data.asp 

w
w

w
,pew

researcg.org

Portland MSAOregon StateUnited States

Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 4 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

mailto:kanhaiya.l.vaidya@state.or.us
http://www.oregon.gov/DAS/OEA/Pages/demographic.aspx
http://www.census.gov/population/projections/data/state/index.html
http://datatopics.worldbank.org/hnp/popestimates
http://www.census.gov/population/projections/data/national/index.html
http://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/unpp/p2k0data.asp


Comparing Portland Metro's employment forecasts and other forecasts

(5-county MSA) (7-county*  MSA) (7-county*  MSA) (7-county* MSA) (Oregon part of MSA)
2002 

release %APR
2010 

release %APR
2014 

release %APR
Sep. 2013 

release %APR
Aug. 2004 

release %APR
2000 958,020 2.9% 973,230 2.9% 973,230 2.9% 2000 973,500 3.0% 2000 852,630 2.8%
2005 1,043,510 1.7% 983,680 0.2% 983,530 0.2% 2005 983,400 0.2% 2005 848,960 -0.1%
2010 1,168,700 2.3% 965,500 -0.4% 968,830 -0.3% 2010 968,700 -0.3% 2010 918,800 1.6%
2015 1,273,140 1.7% 1,090,800 2.5% 1,100,040 2.6% 2015 1,079,500 2.2% 2015 973,920 1.2%
2020 1,387,730 1.7% 1,189,600 1.7% 1,228,140 2.2% 2020 1,175,100 1.7% 2020 1,011,780 0.8%
2025 1,515,530 1.8% 1,282,100 1.5% 1,311,570 1.3% 2025 1,212,900 0.6% 2025 1,050,270 0.7%
2030 1,380,200 1.5% 1,399,790 1.3% 2030 1,252,600 0.6% 2030 1,096,800 0.9%
2035 1,486,900 1.5% 1,484,460 1.2% 2035 1,294,200 0.7% 2035 1,148,310 0.9%
2040 1,596,100 1.4% 1,571,290 1.1% 2040 1,349,800 0.8% 2040 1,201,390 0.9%

2010 to 2040  APR% 1.7% 1.6% 1.1% 0.9%

source: Metro Research Center (baseline medium growth scenario) source: IHS Global Insight source: OED, Art Ayre
* 7 counties = Clackamas, Columbia, Multnomah, Washington, Yamhill, Clark & Skamania

(Oregon) (Oregon)
2010 

release %APR
2014 

release %APR
Jun. 2014 

release %APR
Aug. 2004 

release %APR
2000 1,617,800 2.5% 1,617,900 2.5% 2000 1,618,000 2.7% 2000 1,606,700 2.5%
2005 1,654,300 0.4% 1,654,400 0.4% 2005 1,654,100 0.4% 2005 1,620,900 0.2%
2010 1,728,200 0.9% 1,602,100 -0.6% 2010 1,601,800 -0.6% 2010 1,751,280 1.6%
2015 1,908,600 2.0% 1,836,200 2.8% 2015 1,756,400 1.9% 2015 1,857,480 1.2%
2020 2,071,800 1.7% 2,061,200 2.3% 2020 1,898,400 1.6% 2020 1,934,560 0.8%
2025 2,224,100 1.4% 2,163,500 1.0% 2025 1,952,800 0.6% 2025 2,013,080 0.8%
2030 2,384,900 1.4% 2,270,900 1.0% 2030 2,007,300 0.6% 2030 2,108,480 0.9%
2035 2,558,300 1.4% 2,379,200 0.9% 2035 2,071,900 0.6% 2035 2,215,530 1.0%
2040 2,855,900 2.2% 2,493,100 0.9% 2040 2,159,000 0.8% 2040 2,326,810 1.0%

2010 to 2040  APR% 1.7% 1.5% 1.0% 1.0%

source: Metro Research Center source: IHS Global Insight source: OED, Art Ayre

Feb 2001 
release %APR

Apr 2008 
release %APR

Nov 2013 
release %APR

Dec. 2013 
release %APR

2000 131.76 2.4% 131.79 2.4% 131.89 2.4% 2000 132.03        2.4%
2005 138.68 1.0% 133.69 0.3% 133.74 0.3% 2005 134.00        0.3%
2010 147.51 1.2% 140.77 1.0% 129.91 -0.6% 2010 130.27        -0.6%
2015 154.93 1.0% 147.99 1.0% 140.54 1.6% 2012 134.43        0.3%
2020 162.00 0.9% 153.39 0.7% 149.56 1.3% 2022 149.75        1.1%
2025 168.84 0.8% 159.61 0.8% 153.48 0.5% 2025
2030 167.03 0.9% 159.25 0.7% 2030
2035 175.06 0.9% 164.47 0.6% 2035
2040 170.63 0.7% 2040

2010 to 2040  APR% 0.9% 0.9% (in millions)

source: IHS Global Insight
Long-term U.S. Trend Projection source: BLS, last updated Dec. 19, 2013

IHS Global Insight U.S. Employment Forecast (in millions) Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS)
U.S. Employment Forecast

Metro Regional Employment Forecasts

Metro's Oregon Employment Forecasts IHS Global Insight Portland 
Oregon Employment Forecast

IHS Global Insight Portland 
MSA Employment Forecast

Oregon Employment Department
Oregon Employment Forecast

Portland M
SA

O
regon State

U
nited States

Oregon Employment Department
MSA Employment Forecast

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 5 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Population Range Projections through Year 2060
(7-county MSA)
Probabilistic Population Forecast Range

POPULATION POPULATION - annual pct. chg.
 Low - 5% mid-lo 1/3 Pop. Base mid-hi 1/3 High - 95%  Low - 5% mid-lo Pop. Base mid-hi High - 95%

1990 1,523,741 1.8%

1995 1,749,224 2.8%

2000 1,927,881 2.0%

2005 2,067,325 1.4%

2010 2,226,009 1.5%

2015 2,294,400 2,331,100 2,342,501 2,353,887 2,390,000 0.6% 0.9% 1.0% 1.1% 1.4%

2020 2,438,500 2,500,500 2,519,163 2,538,425 2,598,800 1.2% 1.4% 1.5% 1.5% 1.7%

2025 2,560,500 2,645,800 2,671,777 2,698,584 2,780,600 1.0% 1.1% 1.2% 1.2% 1.4%

2030 2,672,800 2,780,900 2,814,058 2,847,884 2,953,600 0.9% 1.0% 1.0% 1.1% 1.2%

2035 2,760,900 2,896,800 2,937,885 2,980,976 3,113,600 0.7% 0.8% 0.9% 0.9% 1.1%

2040 2,840,600 3,001,500 3,052,078 3,102,751 3,261,900 0.6% 0.7% 0.8% 0.8% 0.9%

2050 2,992,900 3,217,200 3,284,438 3,352,973 3,576,600 0.5% 0.7% 0.7% 0.8% 0.9%

2060 3,143,400 3,444,700 3,534,390 3,626,500 3,915,600 0.5% 0.7% 0.7% 0.8% 0.9%

Annual Percentage Rate (APR):
1960-80 2.12%
1980-00 1.83%
2000-20 1.18% 1.31% 1.35% 1.39% 1.50%
2020-40 0.77% 0.92% 0.96% 1.01% 1.14%

500000 

1000000 

1500000 

2000000 

2500000 

3000000 

3500000 

4000000 

4500000 

60 65 70 75 80 85 90 95 00 05 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 

2013-2060 Population Forecast 
(Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro, OR-WA MSA) 

90-95 Perc. 

10-90 Perc. 

5-10 Perc. 

5 Perc. 

Forecast 

lo-mid 1/3 

hi-mid 1/3 

Actual 

History 

Forecast 
Range 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 6 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Employment Range Projections through Year 2060
(7-county MSA)
Nonfarm Job Forecast Range

EMPLOYMENT e-p ratio EMPLOYMENT - annual pct. chg.
Low mid-lo 1/3 Job Base mid-hi 1/3 High (base) Low mid-lo HH Base mid-hi High

1990 730,268 0.48 4.4%

1995 845,611 0.48 3.0%

2000 973,222 0.50 2.9%

2005 983,526 0.48 0.2%

2010 968,800 0.44 -0.3%

2015 995,700 1,094,600 1,100,000 1,105,300 1,204,300 0.47 0.5% 2.5% 2.6% 2.7% 4.4%

2020 1,048,900 1,219,000 1,228,100 1,237,500 1,407,400 0.49 1.0% 2.2% 2.2% 2.3% 3.2%

2025 1,075,600 1,298,800 1,311,600 1,324,800 1,547,600 0.49 0.5% 1.3% 1.3% 1.4% 1.9%

2030 1,101,700 1,383,300 1,399,800 1,416,600 1,697,900 0.50 0.5% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.9%

2035 1,116,200 1,463,700 1,484,500 1,506,300 1,852,800 0.51 0.3% 1.1% 1.2% 1.2% 1.8%

2040 1,123,600 1,545,300 1,571,300 1,597,400 2,019,000 0.51 0.1% 1.1% 1.1% 1.2% 1.7%

2050 1,135,700 1,655,300 1,689,900 1,725,200 2,329,300 0.51 0.1% 0.7% 0.7% 0.8% 1.4%

2060 1,156,200 1,763,500 1,809,400 1,856,600 2,687,400 0.51 0.2% 0.6% 0.7% 0.7% 1.4%

Annual Percentage Rate (APR):
1960-80 3.74%
1980-00 2.60%
2000-20 0.38% 1.13% 1.17% 1.21% 1.86%
2020-40 0.34% 1.19% 1.24% 1.28% 1.82%

0 

250,000 

500,000 

750,000 

1,000,000 

1,250,000 

1,500,000 

1,750,000 

2,000,000 

2,250,000 

2,500,000 

2,750,000 

3,000,000 

60 65 70 75 80 85 90 95 00 05 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 

2013-2060 Employment Forecast 
(Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro, OR-WA MSA) 

90-95 Perc. 

10-90 Perc. 

5-10 Perc. 

5 Perc. 

Forecast 

Actual 

History 

Forecast 
Range 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 7 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Household Range Projections through Year 2060
(7-county MSA)
Household Forecast Range

HOUSEHOLDS HOUSEHOLD - annual pct. chg.
Low mid-lo 1/3 HH Base mid-hi 1/3 High HH Size Low mid-lo HH Base mid-hi High

1990 593,100 593,092 593,100 2.57 1.5%

1995 671,800 679,640 671,800 2.60 2.8%

2000 742,300 746,625 742,300 2.58 1.9%

2005 798,800 801,794 798,800 2.58 1.4%

2010 867,794 2.60 1.6%

2015 880,300 894,400 898,746 903,100 917,000 2.61 0.3% 0.6% 0.7% 0.8% 1.1%

2020 946,100 970,200 977,439 984,900 1,008,400 2.57 1.5% 1.6% 1.7% 1.7% 1.9%

2025 1,004,600 1,038,000 1,048,227 1,058,700 1,090,900 2.53 1.2% 1.4% 1.4% 1.5% 1.6%

2030 1,063,300 1,106,300 1,119,466 1,132,900 1,175,000 2.50 1.1% 1.3% 1.3% 1.4% 1.5%

2035 1,114,400 1,169,200 1,185,775 1,203,200 1,256,700 2.47 0.9% 1.1% 1.2% 1.2% 1.4%

2040 1,158,500 1,224,200 1,244,782 1,265,400 1,330,300 2.45 0.8% 0.9% 1.0% 1.0% 1.1%

2050 1,221,600 1,313,200 1,340,587 1,368,600 1,459,800 2.45 0.5% 0.7% 0.7% 0.8% 0.9%

2060 1,283,000 1,406,000 1,406,000 1,480,200 1,598,200 2.45 0.5% 0.7% 0.5% 0.8% 0.9%

Annual Percentage Rate (APR):
1990-00 2.33%
2000-20 1.19% 1.32% 1.36% 1.39% 1.51%
2020-40 1.02% 1.17% 1.22% 1.26% 1.39%

2010-40 diff 290,700 356,400 377,000 397,600 462,500

250000 

450000 

650000 

850000 

1050000 

1250000 

1450000 

1650000 

1850000 

60 65 70 75 80 85 90 95 00 05 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50 55 60 

2013-2060 Household Forecast 
(Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro, OR-WA MSA) 

90-95 Perc. 
10-90 Perc. 
5-10 Perc. 
5 Perc. 
Forecast 
Actual 

History 

Forecast 
Range 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 8 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Baseline medium growth scenario

Population and Demographic Forecast, 2010 to 2040
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

                                   1990 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

Components of Population (in thousands)                                           

Population (7 counties)            1,523.7 1,927.9 2,067.3 2,226.0 2,342.5 2,519.2 2,671.8 2,814.1 2,937.9 3,052.1

  Pct. Chg. (5-year avg.)          1.8 2.0 1.4 1.5 1.0 1.5 1.2 1.0 0.9 0.8

  Annual Avg. Change               26.5 35.8 27.9 31.7 23.3 35.3 30.5 28.5 24.8 22.8

                                                                                                                   

Births, annual avg.                  22.2 26.9 28.2 29.4 29.7 31.4 32.8 33.8 34.6 35.1

  Crude Birth Rate                 15.2 14.4 13.9 13.5 12.9 12.8 12.5 12.3 12 11.7

Deaths, annual avg.                      12.0 14.0 14.9 15.2 16.8 18.7 21 23.5 26.1 28.3

  Crude Death Rate                 8.2 7.5 7.4 7.0 7.3 7.6 8.0 8.5 9.0 9.4

Natural Increase                   10.2 12.9 13.3 14.2 12.9 12.6 11.8 10.3 8.5 6.8

                                                                                                                   

Net Migration (5-year avg.)        16.5 23.1 17.2 14.8 10.9 24.4 20.6 19.7 17.7 17.5

  %Migration Growth Share          62.3 64.6 61.6 46.6 46.9 69.2 67.4 69.1 71.3 76.7

                                                                                                                   

Regional Population Cohorts                                                                         

under 5 years old 112.6 134.8 140.2 145.3 151.1 155.2 160.9 166.4 170.7 174

5 to 9 years old 113.2 140.7 143.7 146.1 154 159.4 164 169 173.4 177.3

10 to 14 years old 107.3 136 141.9 147.5 155 161.7 166.2 170.8 175 179.1

15 to 19 years old 99 128.9 136.2 143.5 155.7 163.1 168.2 172.8 176.8 180.9

20 to 24 years old 101.7 127.2 133.2 138.9 162.2 171.5 177.1 181.7 185.2 189

25 to 29 years old 124 147.6 157.2 166.8 163.9 176.8 184.1 189.6 193.3 196.8

30 to 34 years old 139.4 152.1 160.5 168.7 164.3 176.6 185.7 192.8 197.5 201.4

35 to 39 years old 142.8 159.3 162.3 164.8 167.2 176.2 185 193.1 199.2 204

40 to 44 years old 126.7 162.7 161.2 159.1 170.7 176.1 182.9 190.8 197.6 203.5

45 to 49 years old 92.5 155 157.8 159.9 171 175.1 180.1 186.6 193.5 200

50 to 54 years old 67.6 130 144.2 159.3 164.7 171.2 176 181.6 187.8 194.4

55 to 59 years old 57.2 90.9 116.9 149.9 148.1 160.4 168 174.1 180 186.4

60 to 64 years old 57.2 62.9 88.3 123.8 122.3 140.8 153.1 161.8 168.7 175.3

65 to 69 years old 56.5 50.5 64.9 83.2 94.7 114.8 130.9 142.8 151.8 159.3

70 to 74 years old 46.4 48.3 51.7 55 70.5 87.6 104.1 118 129 137.9

75 to 79 years old 34.9 43.3 42.4 41.3 51 62.9 76.6 90 101.6 111.3

80 to 84 years old 23.8 30.9 32.7 34.5 34.4 41.5 50.9 61.4 71.4 80.4

85 years or older 20.9 26.8 32.1 38.2 41.6 48.1 57.9 70.8 85.5 101.1

Total 1,523.7 1,927.9 2,067.3 2,226.0 2,342.5 2,519.2 2,671.8 2,814.1 2,937.9 3,052.1

                                                                                                                   

Population Share by Age  (in percents)                                                            

under 5 years old 7.39 6.99 6.78 6.53 6.45 6.16 6.02 5.91 5.81 5.7

5 to 9 years old 7.43 7.3 6.95 6.56 6.58 6.33 6.14 6 5.9 5.81

10 to 14 years old 7.04 7.05 6.86 6.63 6.62 6.42 6.22 6.07 5.96 5.87

15 to 19 years old 6.49 6.68 6.59 6.45 6.65 6.48 6.3 6.14 6.02 5.93

20 to 24 years old 6.67 6.6 6.44 6.24 6.92 6.81 6.63 6.46 6.31 6.19

2014 Urban Growth Report Appendix Metro Research Center 6/24/2014Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 9 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Baseline medium growth scenario

Population and Demographic Forecast, 2010 to 2040
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

                                   1990 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

25 to 29 years old 8.14 7.65 7.60 7.49 7 7.02 6.89 6.74 6.58 6.45

30 to 34 years old 9.15 7.89 7.76 7.58 7.01 7.01 6.95 6.85 6.72 6.6

35 to 39 years old 9.37 8.26 7.85 7.4 7.14 6.99 6.93 6.86 6.78 6.68

40 to 44 years old 8.31 8.44 7.80 7.15 7.29 6.99 6.85 6.78 6.73 6.67

45 to 49 years old 6.07 8.04 7.63 7.19 7.3 6.95 6.74 6.63 6.59 6.55

50 to 54 years old 4.44 6.75 6.97 7.16 7.03 6.8 6.59 6.45 6.39 6.37

55 to 59 years old 3.75 4.71 5.66 6.73 6.32 6.37 6.29 6.19 6.13 6.11

60 to 64 years old 3.75 3.26 4.27 5.56 5.22 5.59 5.73 5.75 5.74 5.74

65 to 69 years old 3.71 2.62 3.14 3.74 4.04 4.56 4.9 5.07 5.17 5.22

70 to 74 years old 3.04 2.51 2.50 2.47 3.01 3.48 3.9 4.19 4.39 4.52

75 to 79 years old 2.29 2.25 2.05 1.86 2.18 2.5 2.87 3.2 3.46 3.65

80 to 84 years old 1.56 1.6 1.58 1.55 1.47 1.65 1.91 2.18 2.43 2.63

85 years or older 1.37 1.39 1.55 1.71 1.78 1.91 2.17 2.52 2.91 3.31

                                                                                                                   

Population Groups (in thousands)                                                                  

Children under 18 years old        398.9 496.8 497.4 525.1 553.5 574.2 592 609.9 625.2 639

  Pct. of Children                 26.2 25.8 24.1 23.6 23.6 22.8 22.2 21.7 21.3 20.9

Working age (16 to 64)    982.9 1,284.3 1,399.6 1,506.1 1,559.0 1,655.3 1,726.6 1,790.3 1,844.2 1,895.5

  Pct. Working-Age Pop.            64.5 66.6 67.7 67.7 66.6 65.7 64.6 63.6 62.8 62.1

65 years and older 181.5 198.3 225.2 252.2 292.3 354.9 420.5 483 539.2 589.9

  Pct. Retirement Age              11.9 10.3 10.9 11.3 12.5 14.1 15.7 17.2 18.4 19.3

                                                                                                                   

Percent of Women of Child-bearing Age                                                         

Women, 15 to 44 years old          24.1 22.9 22.3 21.3 21.1 20.8 20.4 20 19.7 19.4

                                                                                                                                                        

Dependency Ratio (working age = 16 to 64 years old) (in percents)                                                        

Kids (under 16 years old)      36.6 34.7 31.6 31 31.5 30.7 30.4 30.2 30.1 29.9

Seniors (65+ years old)            18.5 15.4 16.1 16.7 18.7 21.4 24.4 27 29.2 31.1

Total Dependency Ratio             55.0 50.1 47.7 47.8 50.3 52.2 54.7 57.2 59.3 61

                                                                                                                   

Households by Age of Head Person (in thousands)                                                         

   Households, total               593.1 746.6 801.8 857.4 896.5 980.9 1056 1125.8 1187.3 1244

Share of Household by Age (in percents)                                                                               

   15 to 24 years old              5.3 5.9 5 4 4.3 4.1 4 3.8 3.7 3.6

   25 to 34 years old              21.7 19.3 18.9 18.2 17 16.7 16.3 15.8 15.3 14.9

   35 to 44 years old              25.7 23.5 21.9 20.1 20 19.1 18.5 18.1 17.7 17.4

   45 to 54 years old              15.9 22 21.4 20.5 20.6 19.4 18.5 18 17.7 17.4

   55 to 64 years old              11.4 12.3 15.3 18.8 17.7 18.1 17.9 17.5 17.3 17.1

   65 to 74 years old              11.19 8.23 9.15 10.15 11.6 12.98 14 14.57 14.88 15.03

   75 to 84 years old              6.69 6.56 5.96 5.33 5.72 6.39 7.26 8.08 8.76 9.26

   85 years or older               2.17 2.17 2.54 2.91 3.04 3.22 3.6 4.12 4.72 5.33

2014 Urban Growth Report Appendix Metro Research Center 6/24/2014Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 10 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Baseline medium growth scenario

Population and Demographic Forecast, 2010 to 2040
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

                                   1990 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

                                                                                                                   

State-level Forecasts (in percents)                                                         

CA Population                      2.43 1.34 1.11 0.8 0.74 0.75 0.77 0.71 0.64 0.56

CA Employment                      3.02 3.13 0.43 -1.19 1.46 1.73 1.33 1.22 1.12 0.97

WA Population                      2.04 1.46 1.2 1.45 0.65 1.19 1.31 1.17 1.02 0.91

WA Employment                      4.61 2.93 0.48 0.07 1.75 2.09 1.51 1.37 1.34 1.29

OR Population                      1.24 1.45 1.1 1.18 0.74 1.13 1.13 1.03 0.91 0.82

OR Employment                      4.04 2.53 0.45 -0.64 2.77 2.34 0.97 0.97 0.94 0.94

                                                                                                                   

U.S. Population (% chg.)           0.97 1.16 0.95 0.9 0.75 0.77 0.74 0.68 0.61 0.55

        16 years and older         1.02 1.29 1.16 1.12 0.9 0.83 0.78 0.74 0.7 0.62

2014 Urban Growth Report Appendix Metro Research Center 6/24/2014Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 11 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Age Adjusted Fertility Rates, 2010 to 2040
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

Both Sexes for all Race and Ethnicities* Total 
Fertility rates per 10,000 persons Fertility

10-14 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 TFR
1990 3.720 253.582 655.352 620.866 469.911 218.043 46.326 3.773 2.27
2000 2.920 197.718 535.133 537.668 460.196 212.201 41.825 2.789 1.99
2010 2.033 139.326 439.108 491.527 474.094 248.740 59.715 4.689 1.86
2011 2.033 139.326 439.108 491.527 474.094 248.740 59.715 4.689 1.86
2012 2.033 139.326 439.108 491.527 474.094 248.740 59.715 4.689 1.86
2013 2.031 139.174 438.730 491.442 473.666 248.211 59.499 4.666 1.86
2014 2.029 139.021 438.352 491.356 473.239 247.682 59.283 4.643 1.86
2015 2.027 138.868 437.974 491.270 472.811 247.153 59.067 4.620 1.85
2016 2.025 138.716 437.595 491.185 472.384 246.624 58.851 4.597 1.85
2017 2.022 138.563 437.217 491.099 471.956 246.095 58.635 4.573 1.85
2018 2.020 138.410 436.839 491.013 471.529 245.566 58.419 4.550 1.85
2019 2.018 138.258 436.461 490.928 471.101 245.037 58.203 4.527 1.85
2020 2.016 138.105 436.083 490.842 470.674 244.509 57.987 4.504 1.84
2021 2.013 137.952 435.705 490.756 470.246 243.980 57.771 4.481 1.84
2022 2.011 137.800 435.327 490.671 469.819 243.451 57.555 4.458 1.84
2023 2.009 137.647 434.949 490.585 469.391 242.922 57.339 4.434 1.84
2024 2.007 137.494 434.570 490.500 468.964 242.393 57.124 4.411 1.84
2025 2.004 137.342 434.192 490.414 468.536 241.864 56.908 4.388 1.84
2026 2.002 137.189 433.814 490.328 468.109 241.335 56.692 4.365 1.83
2027 2.000 137.036 433.436 490.243 467.681 240.806 56.476 4.342 1.83
2028 1.998 136.884 433.058 490.157 467.254 240.277 56.260 4.319 1.83
2029 1.996 136.731 432.680 490.071 466.826 239.748 56.044 4.295 1.83
2030 1.993 136.578 432.302 489.986 466.399 239.220 55.828 4.272 1.83
2031 1.991 136.426 431.923 489.900 465.971 238.691 55.612 4.249 1.82
2032 1.989 136.273 431.545 489.814 465.544 238.162 55.396 4.226 1.82
2033 1.987 136.121 431.167 489.729 465.116 237.633 55.180 4.203 1.82
2034 1.984 135.968 430.789 489.643 464.689 237.104 54.964 4.180 1.82
2035 1.982 135.815 430.411 489.558 464.261 236.575 54.748 4.156 1.82
2036 1.980 135.663 430.033 489.472 463.834 236.046 54.533 4.133 1.82
2037 1.978 135.510 429.655 489.386 463.407 235.517 54.317 4.110 1.81
2038 1.976 135.357 429.277 489.301 462.979 234.988 54.101 4.087 1.81
2039 1.973 135.205 428.898 489.215 462.552 234.460 53.885 4.064 1.81
2040 1.971 135.052 428.520 489.129 462.124 233.931 54 4.041 1.81

* Fertility rates are combined together on a weighted-average basis. The weights are
derived from 2010 Census estimates of persons by race and held constant through the
forecast period. Rates reflect change over time on the basis of fertility assumptions included
in the Census 2012 National Population Projections. Rates are denominated by total population.

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 12 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Age Adjusted Mortality Rates, 2010 to 2040
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

Both Sexes for all Race and Ethnicities* Mortality rates per 10,000 persons

0-4 5-9 10-14 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44
1990 20.648 2.908 1.023 8.298 9.362 9.148 12.078 14.117 23.951
2000 12.028 1.872 0.657 5.327 6.648 5.897 8.643 12.523 18.520
2010 12.594 1.574 0.542 4.737 5.975 5.395 8.000 9.707 15.086
2011 12.594 1.574 0.542 4.737 5.975 5.395 8.000 9.707 15.086
2012 12.594 1.574 0.542 4.737 5.975 5.395 8.000 9.707 15.086
2013 12.487 1.561 0.532 4.646 5.829 5.278 7.814 9.489 14.771
2014 12.385 1.561 0.523 4.549 5.701 5.158 7.635 9.289 14.450
2015 12.267 1.540 0.515 4.457 5.570 5.036 7.460 9.077 14.137
2016 12.164 1.508 0.509 4.351 5.451 4.920 7.302 8.886 13.844
2017 12.056 1.460 0.498 4.278 5.336 4.804 7.143 8.695 13.545
2018 11.960 1.458 0.492 4.177 5.208 4.701 6.970 8.502 13.261
2019 11.873 1.445 0.482 4.115 5.099 4.588 6.825 8.318 12.981
2020 11.774 1.435 0.478 4.032 4.993 4.487 6.664 8.148 12.712
2021 11.663 1.432 0.470 3.923 4.868 4.382 6.512 7.955 12.449
2022 11.571 1.431 0.463 3.851 4.771 4.282 6.367 7.802 12.182
2023 11.482 1.429 0.456 3.776 4.671 4.182 6.236 7.629 11.925
2024 11.383 1.403 0.449 3.709 4.563 4.078 6.095 7.453 11.680
2025 11.287 1.400 0.444 3.624 4.462 3.999 5.970 7.302 11.438
2026 11.189 1.399 0.440 3.548 4.363 3.899 5.832 7.148 11.197
2027 11.091 1.367 0.431 3.466 4.269 3.811 5.709 7.003 10.962
2028 11.009 1.365 0.429 3.398 4.173 3.729 5.583 6.844 10.739
2029 10.918 1.349 0.420 3.340 4.082 3.653 5.461 6.699 10.518
2030 10.818 1.307 0.413 3.259 3.997 3.566 5.343 6.555 10.290
2031 10.729 1.295 0.403 3.210 3.906 3.487 5.239 6.431 10.089
2032 10.639 1.295 0.393 3.154 3.827 3.421 5.127 6.301 9.890
2033 10.554 1.291 0.389 3.075 3.744 3.346 5.011 6.179 9.703
2034 10.480 1.280 0.388 3.016 3.668 3.276 4.915 6.040 9.505
2035 10.396 1.280 0.382 2.968 3.602 3.208 4.823 5.919 9.316
2036 10.320 1.268 0.381 2.902 3.521 3.127 4.712 5.789 9.112
2037 10.235 1.266 0.375 2.849 3.440 3.068 4.606 5.662 8.919
2038 10.151 1.265 0.367 2.789 3.375 2.988 4.497 5.546 8.737
2039 10.086 1.253 0.360 2.734 3.286 2.927 4.393 5.424 8.539
2040 10.012 1.240 0.358 2.689 3.235 2.859 4.299 5.292 8.360

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 13 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



1990
2000
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040

Age Adjusted Mortality Rates, 2010 to 2040
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

Both Sexes for all Race and Ethnicities* Mortality rates per 10,000 persons

45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85+
28.136 47.007 101.996 124.555 210.041 313.093 302.599 792.841 2017.935
29.443 42.399 67.506 119.162 262.106 225.973 438.568 754.515 1579.668
30.948 37.984 59.300 87.836 145.948 180.642 390.415 572.357 1384.974
30.948 37.984 59.300 87.836 145.948 180.642 390.415 572.357 1384.974
30.948 37.984 59.300 87.836 145.948 180.642 390.415 572.357 1384.974
30.334 37.259 58.319 86.474 144.079 178.787 387.190 568.698 1378.846
29.720 36.547 57.334 85.133 142.231 176.965 384.001 565.072 1372.762
29.128 35.860 56.380 83.823 140.433 175.144 380.818 561.456 1366.739
28.523 35.190 55.434 82.526 138.614 173.359 377.675 557.896 1360.755
27.964 34.519 54.509 81.238 136.849 171.585 374.557 554.335 1354.829
27.415 33.875 53.594 79.988 135.108 169.836 371.492 550.812 1348.948
26.854 33.238 52.704 78.749 133.376 168.114 368.443 547.337 1343.124
26.335 32.614 51.818 77.552 131.685 166.400 365.418 543.870 1337.355
25.798 32.004 50.976 76.353 130.024 164.731 362.482 540.538 1331.973
25.291 31.416 50.119 75.190 128.382 163.082 359.568 537.203 1326.641
24.792 30.822 49.313 74.038 126.768 161.446 356.700 533.912 1321.368
24.312 30.255 48.479 72.920 125.164 159.838 353.835 530.655 1316.138
23.828 29.689 47.670 71.801 123.588 158.237 351.018 527.397 1310.946
23.351 29.141 46.909 70.695 122.039 156.657 348.201 524.190 1305.820
22.898 28.590 46.133 69.615 120.512 155.092 345.433 520.990 1300.728
22.443 28.070 45.381 68.569 118.977 153.552 342.677 517.809 1295.693
22.013 27.548 44.624 67.505 117.498 152.021 339.949 514.672 1290.703
21.578 27.048 43.895 66.489 116.033 150.498 337.268 511.556 1285.764
21.171 26.563 43.206 65.520 114.638 149.074 334.693 508.590 1281.155
20.779 26.084 42.529 64.552 113.251 147.655 332.148 505.666 1276.586
20.386 25.612 41.862 63.632 111.881 146.257 329.649 502.753 1272.064
19.994 25.185 41.191 62.691 110.545 144.859 327.145 499.861 1267.585
19.628 24.718 40.549 61.779 109.225 143.488 324.675 496.980 1263.149
19.211 24.245 39.865 60.810 107.806 141.952 321.781 493.415 1255.930
18.840 23.795 39.197 59.871 106.386 140.428 318.902 489.890 1248.745
18.465 23.351 38.532 58.916 105.007 138.921 316.046 486.376 1241.608
18.095 22.904 37.891 58.009 103.635 137.437 313.232 482.880 1234.514
17.721 22.470 37.254 57.102 102.283 135.960 310.437 479.425 1227.464

* Mortality rates by race are combined together on a weighted-average basis. The weights are 
derived from 2010 Census estimates of persons by race and held constant through the
forecast period. Rates for men and women are  averaged together. Projected rates
are based on the Census 2012 National Population Projections.

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 14 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



B
as

el
in

e 
m

ed
iu

m
 g

ro
w

th
 s

ce
n

ar
io

H
o

u
se

h
o

ld
 H

e
ad

sh
ip

 R
at

e
s 

an
d

 H
o

u
se

h
o

ld
 S

iz
e

 F
o

re
ca

st
P

o
rt

la
n

d
-H

ill
sb

o
ro

-V
an

co
u

ve
r,

 O
R

-W
A

 M
SA

   
   

   
   

   
   

1
9

9
0

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
5

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
5

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
5

2
0

3
0

2
0

3
5

2
0

4
0

A
ge

-s
p

ec
if

ic
 H

o
u

se
h

o
ld

 H
e

ad
sh

ip
 R

at
e

 A
ss

u
m

p
ti

o
n

s

1
5

 t
o

 2
4

 y
ea

r 
o

ld
s 

 
0

.1
6

0
.1

7
1

0
.1

4
7

0
.1

2
3

0
.1

2
1

0
.1

2
1

0
.1

2
1

0
.1

2
1

0
.1

2
1

0
.1

2
1

2
5

 t
o

 3
4

 y
ea

r 
o

ld
s 

 
0

.4
8

8
0

.4
8

2
0

.4
7

3
0

.4
6

5
0

.4
6

4
0

.4
6

4
0

.4
6

4
0

.4
6

4
0

.4
6

4
0

.4
6

4

3
5

 t
o

 4
4

 y
ea

r 
o

ld
s 

 
0

.5
6

5
0

.5
4

5
0

.5
3

8
0

.5
3

2
0

.5
3

1
0

.5
3

1
0

.5
3

1
0

.5
3

1
0

.5
3

1
0

.5
3

1

4
5

 t
o

 5
4

 y
ea

r 
o

ld
s 

 
0

.5
8

5
0

.5
7

6
0

.5
6

3
0

.5
5

0
.5

5
0

.5
5

0
.5

5
0

.5
5

0
.5

5
0

.5
5

5
5

 t
o

 6
4

 y
ea

r 
o

ld
s 

 
0

.5
9

0
.5

9
9

0
.5

9
4

0
.5

8
8

0
.5

8
8

0
.5

8
8

0
.5

8
8

0
.5

8
8

0
.5

8
8

0
.5

8
8

6
5

 t
o

 7
4

 y
ea

r 
o

ld
s 

 
0

.6
4

3
0

.6
2

2
0

.6
2

6
0

.6
2

9
0

.6
2

9
0

.6
2

9
0

.6
2

9
0

.6
2

9
0

.6
2

9
0

.6
2

9

7
5

 t
o

 8
4

 y
ea

r 
o

ld
s 

 
0

.7
0

9
0

.6
6

0
.6

3
2

0
.6

0
4

0
.6

0
1

0
.6

0
1

0
.6

0
1

0
.6

0
1

0
.6

0
1

0
.6

0
1

8
5

 y
ea

rs
 a

n
d

 o
ve

r 
  

0
.6

5
4

0
.6

0
5

0
.6

3
0

.6
5

5
0

.6
5

6
0

.6
5

6
0

.6
5

6
0

.6
5

6
0

.6
5

6
0

.6
5

6

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 -
 M

SA
1

,5
2

3
,7

4
0

1
,9

2
7

,8
8

1
2

,0
6

7
,3

2
5

2
,2

2
6

,0
0

9
2

,3
4

2
,5

0
1

2
,5

1
9

,1
6

3
2

,6
7

1
,7

7
7

2
,8

1
4

,0
5

8
2

,9
3

7
,8

8
5

3
,0

5
2

,0
7

8

H
o

u
se

h
o

ld
s 

- 
M

SA
5

9
3

,0
9

2
7

4
6

,6
2

5
8

0
1

,7
9

4
8

5
7

,3
7

9
8

9
6

,5
1

9
9

8
0

,8
7

2
1

,0
5

5
,9

7
8

1
,1

2
5

,7
5

5
1

,1
8

7
,3

1
1

1
,2

4
4

,0
3

4

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

  

H
o

u
se

h
o

ld
 S

iz
e 

(p
er

so
n

s 
p

er
 h

o
u

se
h

o
ld

)

P
o

rt
la

n
d

 M
SA

2
.5

7
2

.5
8

2
.5

8
2

.6
0

2
.6

1
2

.5
7

2
.5

3
2

.5
0

2
.4

7
2

.4
5

U
.S

.  
   

   
   

  
2

.6
5

2
.6

4
2

.6
2

2
.6

5
2

.6
0

2
.5

5
2

.5
3

2
.5

2
.4

7
2

.4
4

2
0

1
4

 U
rb

an
 G

ro
w

th
 R

e
p

o
rt

 A
p

p
en

d
ix

M
et

ro
 R

e
se

ar
ch

 C
en

te
r

6
/2

4
/2

0
1

4
Dr

af
t 2

01
4 

U
rb

an
 G

ro
w

th
 R

ep
or

t 
Ap

pe
nd

ix
 1

a,
 P

ag
e 

15
 o

f 6
4

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Employment-Population Ratio
(Total Nonfarm Payroll Employment / Total Population)

Portland Oregon Washington California United
MSA State State State States

1970 0.370031 0.339759 0.316209 0.347811 0.345713
1975 0.390162 0.360125 0.338692 0.364347 0.356436
1980 0.434323 0.396675 0.389205 0.416125 0.397082
1985 0.422572 0.385401 0.388724 0.407311 0.408418
1990 0.47926 0.441752 0.440322 0.41925 0.436916
1995 0.483482 0.448478 0.42822 0.39191 0.439527
2000 0.504819 0.472864 0.460002 0.427765 0.466392
2005 0.475749 0.45789 0.443821 0.413488 0.451118
2010 0.435233 0.418195 0.414358 0.374135 0.418981
2015 0.4696 0.461959 0.437437 0.387639 0.436547
2020 0.48752 0.490309 0.457267 0.406942 0.447142
2025 0.490897 0.486422 0.461898 0.418191 0.442322
2030 0.497426 0.485082 0.466474 0.428989 0.443571
2035 0.505281 0.485631 0.473839 0.439416 0.444289
2040 0.514827 0.488494 0.48283 0.448343 0.448407

0.3 

0.35 

0.4 

0.45 

0.5 

0.55 

19
70

 
19

75
 

19
80

 
19

85
 

19
90

 
19

95
 

20
00

 
20

05
 

20
10

 
20

15
 

20
20

 
20

25
 

20
30

 
20

35
 

20
40

 

Employment - Population Ratio 

Portland MSA 

Oregon State 

Washington State 

California State 

United States 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 16 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Employment Forecast, 2010 to 2040
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

                                 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010
(Employment in thousands)                                         
Nonfarm Wage & Salary Jobs 587.98 730.27 845.61 973.23 983.53 968.83
                                                                                 
Manufacturing, TOTAL 108.69 124.91 135.34 143.3 123.42 107.02
  Durables, total                78.1 89.04 96.28 107.52 93.6 79.64
    Wood Products                7.65 7.94 6.36 5.91 5.88 3.53
    Primary Metals               6.55 8.5 6.76 7.73 6.01 5.47
    Fab. Metals                  9.91 10.76 13.2 13.67 12.52 11.17
    Machinery Mfg.               7.12 9.2 10.48 10.44 8.38 7.08
    Computer & Electronics       27.88 28.12 32.7 41.21 36.48 33.27
    Transportation Equipment            6.74 9.51 9.56 11.16 8.95 6.3
    Other Durable Goods         12.24 15.01 17.23 17.4 15.37 12.83
Nondurables, total               30.59 35.88 39.06 35.78 29.82 27.38
    Food Processing              8.76 9.53 9.63 8.87 8.56 9.48
    Paper                        6.72 7.52 7.12 6.52 4.98 3.63
    Other Nondurables            15.12 18.83 22.31 20.39 16.27 14.27

                                                
Nonmanufacturing (private)      395.78 501.11 595.38 699.43 722.47 714.43
Natural Resources & Mining               2.07 2.05 2.01 1.88 1.78 1.07
Construction                             22.26 36.87 45.34 53.17 58.46 45.05
Wholesale Trade                          35.54 41.62 49.07 55.58 56.29 53.23
Retail Trade                             67.67 82.56 92.46 106.78 104.83 101.16
  Auto                                   9.11 10.83 12.18 14.24 14.16 11.37
  Food                                   11.59 15.18 16.62 18.78 18.55 19.86
  Other                                  46.97 56.55 63.66 73.76 72.12 69.94
TWU                                      23.65 31.72 35.01 38.63 36.88 33.28
Information Services                     16.14 16.14 19.03 25.96 23.09 22.46
  Publishing                             4.67 4.49 6.49 9.73 9.12 9.07
  Internet, etc.                         11.47 11.64 12.54 16.23 13.97 13.39
Financial Activities                     42.03 49.96 55.43 64.85 68.22 61.92
  Finance & Insurance                    27.93 30 33.12 41.57 43.85 39.96
  Real Estate                            14.1 19.96 22.3 23.28 24.37 21.95
Pro. Business Services                   57.1 77.51 104.63 130.45 128.5 127.8
  Pro., Sci., Tech.                      22.73 36.31 43.88 48.51 49.08 53.04
  Mgmt. of Co.                           8.63 10.2 14.92 20.19 20.25 23.22
  Admin Sup. & Waste Mgmt.               25.75 30.99 45.83 61.74 59.17 51.55
Education & Health                       55.65 73.47 87.35 102.92 119.83 139.38
  Education                              8.21 11.68 14.07 18.03 20.95 24.9
  Health                                 47.43 61.79 73.29 84.89 98.87 114.48
Leisure + Hospitality                    51.47 63.57 75.97 85.78 90.08 94.48
  Arts, ent. & rec.                      6.9 9.91 11.77 13.05 13.22 13.64
  Lodgings & Food                        44.57 53.66 64.19 72.73 76.86 80.83
Other Services                           22.2 25.65 29.09 33.42 34.51 34.6
  Social Orgs., & Churches               6.56 11.96 13.16 15.33 15.12 16.29
  Other                                  10.94 13.69 15.93 18.09 19.38 18.31

                                                
Government, TOTAL                        96.03 112.73 122.23 137.66 144.84 154.35
  Fed. Defense                           7.97 8.48 7.34 7.16 7.12 6.96
  Civilian. Govt. Total                  88.07 104.24 114.89 130.5 137.64 147.38
  Civilian. Federal                      16.94 18.8 17.96 18.89 18.36 18.58
  State & Local                          71 85 97 112 119 129

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 17 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                 
(Employment in thousands)
Nonfarm Wage & Salary Jobs
                                 
Manufacturing, TOTAL
  Durables, total                
    Wood Products                
    Primary Metals               
    Fab. Metals                  
    Machinery Mfg.               
    Computer & Electronics       
    Transportation Equipment            
    Other Durable Goods         
Nondurables, total               
    Food Processing              
    Paper                        
    Other Nondurables            

Nonmanufacturing (private)      
Natural Resources & Mining               
Construction                             
Wholesale Trade                          
Retail Trade                             
  Auto                                   
  Food                                   
  Other                                  
TWU                                      
Information Services                     
  Publishing                             
  Internet, etc.                         
Financial Activities                     
  Finance & Insurance                    
  Real Estate                            
Pro. Business Services                   
  Pro., Sci., Tech.                      
  Mgmt. of Co.                           
  Admin Sup. & Waste Mgmt.               
Education & Health                       
  Education                              
  Health                                 
Leisure + Hospitality                    
  Arts, ent. & rec.                      
  Lodgings & Food                        
Other Services                           
  Social Orgs., & Churches               
  Other                                  

Government, TOTAL                        
  Fed. Defense                           
  Civilian. Govt. Total                  
  Civilian. Federal                      
  State & Local                          

Employment Forecast, 2010 to 2040
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040
                                                

1100.04 1228.14 1311.57 1399.79 1484.46 1571.29
                                                

119.11 123.1 123.23 123 124.37 127.16
90.21 93.57 94.43 94.76 96.74 100.01

4.2 4.62 4.36 4.16 3.91 3.77
5.82 5.15 4.85 4.62 4.45 4.35

13.53 13.17 12.67 12.39 12.26 12.33
8.89 8.64 8.3 8.13 7.97 7.9

36.42 40.33 42.93 44.39 47.31 51.08
7.23 6.36 5.76 5.39 5.13 4.83

14.12 15.29 15.56 15.69 15.71 15.76
28.9 29.54 28.8 28.24 27.63 27.15

10.39 9.82 9.6 9.53 9.5 9.5
3.3 3.03 2.62 2.31 2.01 1.79

15.21 16.68 16.58 16.41 16.12 15.86
                                                

827.69 937.9 1011.01 1087.06 1158.79 1229.74
1.44 1.73 1.49 1.39 1.28 1.25

59.92 72.49 79.78 90.11 99.27 110.88
60.22 66.67 71.15 75.45 79.55 82.72

113.41 123.25 129.7 137.66 144.63 150.66
12.03 13.81 14.76 15.64 16.33 17.05

22.5 24.57 26.21 28 29.67 30.93
78.88 84.87 88.73 94.03 98.64 102.69
37.84 41.44 42.44 43.86 45.01 46.05
23.46 26.79 29.89 32.64 35.56 38.31

9.55 11.3 13.34 15.46 17.62 19.45
13.92 15.5 16.56 17.18 17.95 18.86
65.66 68.26 70.15 72.6 75.54 78.74
42.58 43.34 44.35 46 48.34 50.98
23.08 24.92 25.8 26.6 27.2 27.75

161.58 196.35 217.42 235.18 251.66 270.47
65.62 77.4 84.37 91.13 97.68 104.45

27.6 33.44 37.44 40.68 43.6 46.35
68.37 85.51 95.6 103.38 110.39 119.67

155.44 176.68 193.55 211.05 227.46 240.78
27.58 28.66 28.92 30.63 32.58 34.43

127.86 148.02 164.62 180.42 194.88 206.34
110.69 121.87 128.88 136.45 144.1 151.01

16.66 19.09 19.78 20.78 21.83 22.73
94.03 102.78 109.1 115.67 122.27 128.28
38.02 42.37 46.57 50.66 54.72 58.88
17.24 19.25 21.26 23.16 24.98 26.73
20.78 23.12 25.3 27.5 29.75 32.15

                                                
159.86 173.66 183.84 196.31 207.94 221.08

6.62 6.51 6.51 6.57 6.63 6.68
153.25 167.15 177.33 189.73 201.31 214.4

17.58 17.4 16.6 17.66 17.54 18.57
136 150 161 172 184 196

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 18 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Employment (percent change)
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

                                 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010
( average annual percent change)

Total Nonfarm W & S                      0.18 4.43 2.98 2.85 0.21 -0.3
                                                                                         
Manufacturing, TOTAL                     -1.91 2.82 1.62 1.15 -2.94 -2.81
          Durables, total                -2.59 2.66 1.58 2.23 -2.73 -3.18
    Wood Products                        -3.77 0.75 -4.34 -1.46 -0.09 -9.73
    Primary Metals                       -2.21 5.33 -4.47 2.72 -4.92 -1.85
    Fab. Metals                          -3.65 1.65 4.17 0.71 -1.75 -2.27
    Machinery Mfg.                       -6.95 5.25 2.63 -0.07 -4.3 -3.31
    Computer & Electronics               -1.05 0.17 3.07 4.73 -2.4 -1.83
    Transp. Equipment                    -4.32 7.14 0.09 3.15 -4.31 -6.79
     Other Durable Goods                 -0.45 4.16 2.8 0.2 -2.45 -3.56
Nondurables, total                       -0.01 3.24 1.71 -1.74 -3.58 -1.69
    Food Processing                      0.46 1.72 0.21 -1.63 -0.71 2.06
    Paper                                -1.51 2.28 -1.08 -1.75 -5.22 -6.13
    Other Nondurables                    0.42 4.49 3.45 -1.78 -4.41 -2.6

                        
Nonmanufacturing (private)        0.8 4.83 3.51 3.27 0.65 -0.22
Natural Resources & Mining               -0.75 -0.2 -0.37 -1.37 -1.1 -9.66
Construction                             -4.52 10.63 4.22 3.24 1.91 -5.08
Wholesale Trade                          -0.32 3.2 3.35 2.52 0.25 -1.11
Retail Trade                             0.66 4.06 2.29 2.92 -0.37 -0.71
  Auto                                   1.04 3.52 2.39 3.16 -0.11 -4.29
  Food                                   5.2 5.55 1.83 2.48 -0.25 1.37
  Other                                  -0.36 3.78 2.4 2.99 -0.45 -0.61
TWU                                      0.77 6.05 1.99 1.99 -0.92 -2.03
Information Services                     -0.58 0 3.35 6.41 -2.31 -0.56
  Publishing                             7.54 -0.77 7.64 8.42 -1.27 -0.13
  Internet, etc.                         -3.02 0.31 1.49 5.3 -2.96 -0.84
Financial Activities                     -0.08 3.52 2.1 3.19 1.02 -1.92
  Finance & Insurance                    -0.28 1.44 2 4.65 1.08 -1.84
  Real Estate                            0.32 7.19 2.25 0.86 0.92 -2.07
Pro. Business Services                   3.85 6.3 6.18 4.51 -0.3 -0.11
  Pro., Sci., Tech.                      2.95 9.83 3.86 2.03 0.23 1.56
  Mgmt. of Co.                           2.27 3.41 7.9 6.24 0.06 2.78
  Admin Sup. & Waste Mgmt.               5.29 3.78 8.14 6.14 -0.85 -2.72
Education & Health                       2.25 5.71 3.52 3.33 3.09 3.07
  Education                              3.14 7.3 3.79 5.08 3.05 3.51
  Health                                 2.1 5.43 3.47 2.98 3.1 2.97
Leisure + Hospitality                    0.87 4.31 3.63 2.46 0.98 0.96
  Arts, ent. & rec.                      0.87 7.49 3.51 2.08 0.26 0.63
  Lodgings & Food                        0.87 3.78 3.65 2.53 1.11 1.01
Other Services                           1.44 2.93 2.55 2.81 0.64 0.06
  Social Orgs., & Churches               -0.08 12.76 1.93 3.09 -0.27 1.5
  Other                                  2 4.59 3.08 2.58 1.39 -1.14

                        
Government, TOTAL                        0.54 3.26 1.63 2.41 1.02 1.28
  Fed. Defense                           3.25 1.25 -2.85 -0.5 -0.11 -0.44
  Civilian. Govt. Total                  0.32 3.43 1.96 2.58 1.07 1.38
  Civilian. Federal                      0.25 2.11 -0.91 1.01 -0.57 0.24
  State & Local                          0.33 3.73 2.55 2.86 1.34 1.55

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 19 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                 
( average annual percent change)

Total Nonfarm W & S                      
                                         
Manufacturing, TOTAL                     
          Durables, total                
    Wood Products                        
    Primary Metals                       
    Fab. Metals                          
    Machinery Mfg.                       
    Computer & Electronics               
    Transp. Equipment                    
     Other Durable Goods                 
Nondurables, total                       
    Food Processing                      
    Paper                                
    Other Nondurables                    

Nonmanufacturing (private)        
Natural Resources & Mining               
Construction                             
Wholesale Trade                          
Retail Trade                             
  Auto                                   
  Food                                   
  Other                                  
TWU                                      
Information Services                     
  Publishing                             
  Internet, etc.                         
Financial Activities                     
  Finance & Insurance                    
  Real Estate                            
Pro. Business Services                   
  Pro., Sci., Tech.                      
  Mgmt. of Co.                           
  Admin Sup. & Waste Mgmt.               
Education & Health                       
  Education                              
  Health                                 
Leisure + Hospitality                    
  Arts, ent. & rec.                      
  Lodgings & Food                        
Other Services                           
  Social Orgs., & Churches               
  Other                                  

Government, TOTAL                        
  Fed. Defense                           
  Civilian. Govt. Total                  
  Civilian. Federal                      
  State & Local                          

Employment (percent change)
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

2.57 2.23 1.32 1.31 1.18 1.14
                                                

2.16 0.66 0.02 -0.04 0.22 0.44
2.52 0.73 0.18 0.07 0.42 0.67
3.57 1.92 -1.16 -0.95 -1.21 -0.74
1.22 -2.38 -1.2 -0.98 -0.73 -0.45
3.92 -0.54 -0.77 -0.45 -0.2 0.11
4.65 -0.57 -0.79 -0.42 -0.4 -0.18
1.83 2.06 1.26 0.67 1.28 1.54
2.79 -2.54 -1.95 -1.32 -0.99 -1.21
1.94 1.61 0.35 0.16 0.02 0.06
1.09 0.44 -0.5 -0.39 -0.43 -0.35
1.84 -1.12 -0.45 -0.15 -0.05 0

-1.88 -1.69 -2.89 -2.53 -2.68 -2.36
1.29 1.87 -0.12 -0.21 -0.36 -0.32

                                                
2.99 2.53 1.51 1.46 1.29 1.2
6.13 3.71 -2.84 -1.48 -1.64 -0.46
5.87 3.88 1.93 2.47 1.95 2.24

2.5 2.05 1.31 1.18 1.06 0.78
2.31 1.68 1.02 1.2 0.99 0.82
1.13 2.81 1.33 1.17 0.86 0.87
2.53 1.78 1.3 1.32 1.17 0.84
2.44 1.47 0.89 1.17 0.96 0.81

2.6 1.83 0.48 0.66 0.52 0.46
0.88 2.69 2.22 1.77 1.73 1.5
1.04 3.42 3.38 3 2.64 2
0.78 2.17 1.33 0.74 0.88 0.99
1.18 0.78 0.55 0.69 0.8 0.83
1.28 0.36 0.46 0.73 1 1.07
1.01 1.55 0.7 0.61 0.44 0.41

4.8 3.97 2.06 1.58 1.36 1.45
4.35 3.36 1.74 1.55 1.4 1.35
3.52 3.91 2.29 1.67 1.4 1.23
5.81 4.58 2.26 1.58 1.32 1.63
2.21 2.59 1.84 1.75 1.51 1.14
2.07 0.77 0.18 1.16 1.24 1.11
2.24 2.97 2.15 1.85 1.55 1.15
3.22 1.94 1.13 1.15 1.1 0.94
4.08 2.76 0.71 0.99 0.99 0.81
3.07 1.79 1.2 1.18 1.12 0.96

1.9 2.19 1.91 1.7 1.55 1.48
1.14 2.23 2.01 1.72 1.52 1.37
2.57 2.16 1.82 1.68 1.58 1.57

                                                
0.7 1.67 1.15 1.32 1.16 1.23

-1.01 -0.32 -0.01 0.19 0.17 0.17
0.78 1.75 1.19 1.36 1.19 1.27
-1.1 -0.21 -0.93 1.24 -0.13 1.14
1.04 2 1.42 1.37 1.32 1.28

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 20 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



High Growth Scenario
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040
           (in thousands)                                                           
Nonfarm Employment, Civ.  total     1,204.3 1,407.4 1,547.6 1,697.9 1,852.8 2,019.0
  Private nonfarm emp.              1,045.6 1,233.3 1,362.3 1,498.9 1,641.0 1,792.8
                                                                                          
Manufacturing, total                135.97 151.29 157.08 161.27 167.74 175.59
Durable Goods                       103.39 115.88 121.44 125.2 131.36 138.74
  Wood Products                     4.98 6.01 6.12 6.27 6.35 6.54
  Primary Metals                    6.68 6.36 6.07 5.85 5.74 5.71
  Fab. Metals                       14.26 14.08 13.68 13.66 13.83 14.26
  Machinery                         9.82 9.98 9.79 9.79 9.79 9.91
  Electronics                       41.69 50.64 56.09 59.1 64.44 70.59
     Computers                      32.36 39.6 44.27 47.29 52.14 57.6
     Oth. Elect.                    9.33 11.04 11.83 11.81 12.29 12.99
  Transport. Eq.                    10 10.91 11.57 12.1 12.53 12.74
  Oth. Durables                     15.96 17.9 18.12 18.44 18.67 18.98
Non-Durable Goods                   32.59 35.42 35.64 36.07 36.39 36.85
  Food Proc.                        11.42 11.15 11.03 11 11 11.01
  Paper                             4.02 4 3.64 3.33 3.02 2.77
  Other Non-Dur.                    17.15 20.28 20.97 21.73 22.36 23.06
                                                                                          
Non-Mfg. (private)                  909.65 1,082.03 1,205.21 1,337.58 1,473.25 1,617.18
Natural Resources                   1.67 1.97 1.7 1.58 1.46 1.44
Construction                        74.43 93.52 104.9 120.5 135.97 155.05
Trade, Transport & Utilities        223.9 248.37 262.12 278.33 293.33 307.04
Wholesale Trade                     62.63 69.4 73.97 78.45 82.77 86.21
Retail Trade                        120.85 134.05 141.83 151.6 160.52 169.02
  Auto parts                        13.53 16.27 17.23 18.34 19.2 20.17
  Food & Bev.                       25.21 28.78 31.38 34.22 37.08 39.83
  Other Retail                      82.11 89 93.21 99.05 104.24 109.01
TWU                                 40.42 44.92 46.32 48.28 50.05 51.81
Information                         26.35 31.28 35.65 39.55 43.63 47.65
  Printing                          11.84 15.08 18.19 21.22 24.2 26.85
  Internet, etc.                    14.51 16.21 17.46 18.33 19.43 20.8
Financial Activities                70.69 76.39 80.86 86.04 92.02 98.5
  Finance & Insurance               45.4 47.73 50.29 53.72 58.05 62.79
  Real Estate                       25.29 28.66 30.57 32.32 33.97 35.71
Pro. Business                       185.47 252.71 302.51 351.86 403.69 462.23
  Pro., Sci., Tech.                 71.87 90.55 103.59 117.39 132.09 148.33
  Management of Companies           32.16 42.12 50.09 57.66 65.48 73.67
  Admin & Waste Mgmt.               81.44 120.03 148.84 176.81 206.12 240.23
Edu. & Health                       166.92 195.82 220.51 247.44 274.86 300.57
  Education                         32.41 34.56 35.25 37.5 39.82 41.85
  Health Care                       134.51 161.26 185.26 209.95 235.04 258.72
Leisure & Hospitality               117.1 131.33 140.04 149.32 158.91 168.11
  Arts, Entertain. & Rec.           18.62 22.45 24.19 26.15 28.15 30.06
  Accomm. & Food Ser.               98.48 108.88 115.84 123.17 130.76 138.05
Other Services                      43.11 50.65 56.93 62.94 69.4 76.61
  Social Orgs.                      21.18 26.09 29.93 33.5 37.4 41.76
  Other                             21.93 24.55 26.99 29.45 32 34.84
                                                                                          
Government, total                   166.33 181.77 193.07 206.9 219.66 234.17
  Military                          7.61 7.71 7.76 7.84 7.89 7.95
  Civilian Federal 18.89 19.49 19.21 20.95 21.26 22.93
  State & Local                     139.83 154.57 166.1 178.11 190.51 203.29

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 21 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Medium Growth Scenario
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040
           (in thousands)                                                           
Nonfarm Employment, Civ.  total     1,100.0 1,228.1 1,311.6 1,399.8 1,484.5 1,571.3
  Private nonfarm emp.              946.8 1,061.0 1,134.2 1,210.1 1,283.2 1,356.9
                                                                                    
Manufacturing, total                119.11 123.1 123.23 123 124.37 127.16
Durable Goods                       90.21 93.57 94.43 94.76 96.74 100.01
  Wood Products                     4.2 4.62 4.36 4.16 3.91 3.77
  Primary Metals                    5.82 5.15 4.85 4.62 4.45 4.35
  Fab. Metals                       13.53 13.17 12.67 12.39 12.26 12.33
  Machinery                         8.89 8.64 8.3 8.13 7.97 7.9
  Electronics                       36.42 40.33 42.93 44.39 47.31 51.08
     Computers                      28.48 31.88 34.32 36.02 38.93 42.48
     Oth. Elect.                    7.94 8.45 8.62 8.37 8.39 8.6
  Transport. Eq.                    7.23 6.36 5.76 5.39 5.13 4.83
  Oth. Durables                     14.12 15.29 15.56 15.69 15.71 15.76
Non-Durable Goods                   28.9 29.54 28.8 28.24 27.63 27.15
  Food Proc.                        10.39 9.82 9.6 9.53 9.5 9.5
  Paper                             3.3 3.03 2.62 2.31 2.01 1.79
  Other Non-Dur.                    15.21 16.68 16.58 16.41 16.12 15.86
                                                                                    
Non-Mfg. (private)                  827.69 937.9 1,011.01 1,087.06 1,158.79 1,229.74
Natural Resources                   1.44 1.73 1.49 1.39 1.28 1.25
Construction                        59.92 72.49 79.78 90.11 99.27 110.88
Trade, Transport & Utilities        211.47 231.36 243.28 256.98 269.18 279.43
Wholesale Trade                     60.22 66.67 71.15 75.45 79.55 82.72
Retail Trade                        113.41 123.25 129.7 137.66 144.63 150.66
  Auto parts                        12.03 13.81 14.76 15.64 16.33 17.05
  Food & Bev.                       22.5 24.57 26.21 28 29.67 30.93
  Other Retail                      78.88 84.87 88.73 94.03 98.64 102.69
TWU                                 37.84 41.44 42.44 43.86 45.01 46.05
Information                         23.46 26.79 29.89 32.64 35.56 38.31
  Printing                          9.55 11.3 13.34 15.46 17.62 19.45
  Internet, etc.                    13.92 15.5 16.56 17.18 17.95 18.86
Financial Activities                65.66 68.26 70.15 72.6 75.54 78.74
  Finance & Insurance               42.58 43.34 44.35 46 48.34 50.98
  Real Estate                       23.08 24.92 25.8 26.6 27.2 27.75
Pro. Business                       161.58 196.35 217.42 235.18 251.66 270.47
  Pro., Sci., Tech.                 65.62 77.4 84.37 91.13 97.68 104.45
  Management of Companies           27.6 33.44 37.44 40.68 43.6 46.35
  Admin & Waste Mgmt.               68.37 85.51 95.6 103.38 110.39 119.67
Edu. & Health                       155.44 176.68 193.55 211.05 227.46 240.78
  Education                         27.58 28.66 28.92 30.63 32.58 34.43
  Health Care                       127.86 148.02 164.62 180.42 194.88 206.34
Leisure & Hospitality               110.69 121.87 128.88 136.45 144.1 151.01
  Arts, Entertain. & Rec.           16.66 19.09 19.78 20.78 21.83 22.73
  Accomm. & Food Ser.               94.03 102.78 109.1 115.67 122.27 128.28
Other Services                      38.02 42.37 46.57 50.66 54.72 58.88
  Social Orgs.                      17.24 19.25 21.26 23.16 24.98 26.73
  Other                             20.78 23.12 25.3 27.5 29.75 32.15
                                                                                    
Government, total                   159.86 173.66 183.84 196.31 207.94 221.08
  Military                          6.62 6.51 6.51 6.57 6.63 6.68
  Civilian Federal 17.58 17.4 16.6 17.66 17.54 18.57
  State & Local                     135.67 149.75 160.73 172.07 183.77 195.83

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 22 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Low Growth Scenario
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040
           (in thousands)                                                           
Nonfarm Employment, Civ.  total     995.75 1048.92 1075.56 1101.69 1116.19 1123.62
  Private nonfarm emp.              102.24 94.91 89.39 84.73 81 78.71
                                                                                    
Manufacturing, total                102.24 94.91 89.39 84.73 81.01 78.73
Durable Goods                       77.03 71.26 67.43 64.32 62.13 61.28
  Wood Products                     3.42 3.23 2.59 2.04 1.47 1
  Primary Metals                    4.95 3.95 3.64 3.39 3.17 2.99
  Fab. Metals                       12.81 12.26 11.65 11.11 10.69 10.39
  Machinery                         7.96 7.3 6.81 6.46 6.14 5.88
  Electronics                       31.15 30.03 29.77 29.68 30.19 31.57
     Computers                      24.6 24.16 24.37 24.75 25.71 27.37
     Oth. Elect.                    6.55 5.86 5.41 4.94 4.49 4.2
  Transport. Eq.                    4.46 1.81 -0.04 -1.32 -2.27 -3.09
  Oth. Durables                     12.28 12.68 13 12.94 12.75 12.53
Non-Durable Goods                   25.21 23.65 21.96 20.41 18.88 17.45
  Food Proc.                        9.35 8.49 8.16 8.05 8 7.99
  Paper                             2.59 2.07 1.6 1.28 1.01 0.8
  Other Non-Dur.                    13.26 13.09 12.19 11.08 9.87 8.66
                                                                                    
Non-Mfg. (private)                  745.74 793.77 816.82 836.55 844.33 842.32
Natural Resources                   1.2 1.49 1.29 1.19 1.09 1.06
Construction                        45.41 51.46 54.65 59.72 62.58 66.72
Trade, Transport & Utilities        199.05 214.34 224.45 235.63 245.04 251.82
Wholesale Trade                     57.81 63.93 68.32 72.46 76.33 79.23
Retail Trade                        105.96 112.46 117.57 123.73 128.74 132.31
  Auto parts                        10.52 11.36 12.28 12.94 13.45 13.92
  Food & Bev.                       19.78 20.36 21.04 21.77 22.25 22.02
  Other Retail                      75.66 80.74 84.24 89.01 93.03 96.37
TWU                                 35.27 37.95 38.55 39.45 39.97 40.29
Information                         20.58 22.3 24.14 25.73 27.5 28.97
  Printing                          7.25 7.52 8.48 9.71 11.04 12.06
  Internet, etc.                    13.32 14.79 15.66 16.02 16.46 16.91
Financial Activities                60.63 60.14 59.45 59.15 59.06 58.97
  Finance & Insurance               39.76 38.95 38.41 38.27 38.64 39.17
  Real Estate                       20.88 21.18 21.04 20.88 20.42 19.79
Pro. Business                       137.69 139.99 132.32 118.5 99.64 78.72
  Pro., Sci., Tech.                 59.37 64.25 65.16 64.86 63.26 60.57
  Management of Companies           23.04 24.76 24.79 23.69 21.71 19.03
  Admin & Waste Mgmt.               55.29 50.99 42.37 29.95 14.66 -0.88
Edu. & Health                       143.96 157.54 166.58 174.66 180.07 180.99
  Education                         22.75 22.76 22.59 23.76 25.34 27.02
  Health Care                       121.21 134.79 143.99 150.89 154.73 153.97
Leisure & Hospitality               104.29 112.4 117.72 123.58 129.3 133.92
  Arts, Entertain. & Rec.           14.7 15.73 15.36 15.41 15.51 15.4
  Accomm. & Food Ser.               89.58 96.68 102.36 108.17 113.79 118.52
Other Services                      32.93 34.1 36.21 38.38 40.05 41.16
  Social Orgs.                      13.3 12.4 12.59 12.82 12.56 11.69
  Other                             19.63 21.69 23.62 25.56 27.49 29.46
                                                                                    
Government, total                   153.4 165.55 174.61 185.72 196.21 207.99
  Military                          5.63 5.31 5.26 5.31 5.36 5.42
  Civilian Federal 16.26 15.3 14 14.37 13.83 14.2
  State & Local                     131.51 144.94 155.35 166.04 177.02 188.37

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 23 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Location Quotients
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA
                                 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040
Manufacturing, total             1.06 1.09 1.12 1.18 1.24 1.22 1.19 1.18 1.19 1.21 1.25
                                                                                                                         
Durable Goods, total             1.24 1.29 1.34 1.42 1.51 1.44 1.39 1.4 1.43 1.48 1.54
  Wood Products                  2.19 1.53 1.3 1.43 1.38 1.06 1.01 1 0.97 0.94 0.92
  Primary Metal                  1.85 1.46 1.68 1.75 2.03 1.86 1.47 1.38 1.43 1.55 1.79
  Fabricated Metal               1 1.13 1.06 1.12 1.17 1.11 0.97 0.91 0.92 0.93 0.93
  Machinery                      0.98 1.01 0.97 0.98 0.95 0.98 0.87 0.82 0.83 0.87 0.91
  Electrical Machinery           2.22 2.69 3.07 3.77 4.08 4.32 4.39 4.5 4.68 4.78 4.85
  Transportation Equipment       0.67 0.67 0.74 0.69 0.63 0.59 0.52 0.5 0.47 0.44 0.43
                                                                                                                         
Non-durable Goods, total         0.77 0.79 0.76 0.77 0.82 0.83 0.81 0.78 0.76 0.75 0.74
  Food Processing                0.95 0.86 0.77 0.79 0.88 0.89 0.76 0.7 0.66 0.64 0.62
  Paper                          1.74 1.54 1.46 1.4 1.23 1.13 0.97 0.83 0.7 0.59 0.52
                                                                                                                         
Non-manufacturing, total         1.02 1.02 1.01 1.01 1 1 1.01 1.01 1.01 1.01 1
                                                                                                                         
  Natural Resources              0.4 0.44 0.42 0.38 0.2 0.2 0.22 0.18 0.17 0.15 0.14
  Construction                   1.05 1.19 1.06 1.08 1.09 1.16 1.1 1.09 1.09 1.11 1.12
  Retail Trade                   0.94 0.92 0.95 0.93 0.94 0.94 0.97 1.01 1.02 1.02 1.02
    Motor Vehicle & Parts        1.09 1.04 1.04 1 0.94 0.84 0.95 1 1.03 1.04 1.05
    Food & Beverage Stores       0.82 0.8 0.85 0.89 0.95 0.98 1.05 1.11 1.16 1.2 1.23
    Other Retail                 0.95 0.94 0.96 0.93 0.94 0.95 0.96 0.98 0.98 0.98 0.96
  Transp., Warehouse, & Utilities 1.13 1.08 1.04 1.02 0.94 0.92 0.87 0.85 0.84 0.85 0.88
  Information, total             0.9 0.93 0.97 1.03 1.11 1.12 1.11 1.11 1.14 1.14 1.12
    Publishing                   0.77 0.99 1.27 1.37 1.6 1.75 2.03 2.42 2.72 2.94 3.06
    Internet & Other             0.96 0.9 0.85 0.88 0.92 0.9 0.83 0.77 0.75 0.71 0.68
  Finance Activities             1.13 1.12 1.13 1.13 1.08 1.06 1.07 1.06 1.05 1.03 1.03
    Finance & Insurance          0.9 0.9 0.98 0.98 0.93 0.93 0.94 0.9 0.89 0.87 0.86
    Real Estate                  1.83 1.76 1.57 1.55 1.52 1.44 1.44 1.49 1.54 1.55 1.57
  Pro. Business Services         1.07 1.13 1.06 1.03 1.02 1.03 1.05 1.01 0.97 0.94 0.91
    Pro., Sci., & Tech.          1.2 1.2 0.98 0.95 0.96 0.98 1.03 0.94 0.86 0.8 0.75
    Mgmt. of Companies           0.92 1.23 1.52 1.56 1.66 1.73 1.97 2.22 2.49 2.75 3.01
    Admin. Support               1 1.05 1.02 0.99 0.93 0.92 0.9 0.88 0.87 0.85 0.84
  Edu. & Health Care             1 0.91 0.92 0.94 0.96 0.94 0.94 0.96 0.97 0.97 0.97
    Educational                  1.04 0.97 1.02 1.01 1.06 1.07 1.09 1.14 1.18 1.2 1.22
    Health Care                  1 0.9 0.9 0.92 0.94 0.91 0.91 0.94 0.95 0.94 0.93
  Leisure & Hospitality          1.03 1 0.98 0.96 0.97 0.97 0.98 1 1.01 1 0.99
    Arts, Entertainment & Rec.   1.31 1.12 0.99 0.95 0.96 1.05 1.12 1.12 1.04 0.98 0.95
    Accommodation & Food         0.99 0.99 0.98 0.96 0.97 0.96 0.96 0.98 1 1.01 1
  Other Services                 0.9 0.88 0.88 0.87 0.87 0.89 0.95 1.01 1.03 1.07 1.11                                                                                                                         
Government, Civilian total       0.92 0.87 0.9 0.9 0.92 0.92 0.91 0.89 0.89 0.9 0.91
  Federal, Civilian                                                                                                      
  State & Local                  0.84 0.82 0.84 0.85 0.89 0.9 0.89 0.87 0.89 0.9 0.92

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 24 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Personal Income (includes nominal and inflation adjusted fig.)
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

                             1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005
75 80 85 90 95 00 05

    (annualized percent change)
Personal Income  (MSA) 11.36 13.26 6.73 8.19 7.5 7.55 3.33
 + Wage Disbursement         10.04 13.16 4.78 8.71 7.41 8.59 2.62
 - Social Ins. Contribution  15.93 15.53 8.21 9.91 7.94 7.41 2.94
 + Transfer Payments         17.95 10.47 8.82 5.88 8.32 5.91 6.63
 + Other Labor Income        17.06 17.79 7.75 8.16 7.84 6.63 5.29
 + Farm Proprietors Inc.     10.37 -2.6 5.83 19.69 -12.15 -32.26 55.54
 + Bus. Proprietors Inc.     9.17 11.47 5.77 10.47 7.61 9.47 3.84
 + Div., Interest, & Rent    10.84 16.89 11.73 7.95 7.67 5.57 1.6
 + Res. Adjustment           94.81 -163.04 241.98 1.17 -20.49 -244.33 19.65
                                                                                     
Personal Income   (MSA)                                                         
(in millions)                $8,028 $14,963 $20,724 $30,720 $44,100 $63,463 $74,750
   % change                  11.36 13.26 6.73 8.19 7.5 7.55 3.33
 inflation adjusted (2000$)  $26,642 $30,530 $34,716 $42,406 $50,602 $62,696 $67,043
   % change                  4.4 2.76 2.6 4.08 3.6 4.38 1.35
                                                                                     
Per Capita Income  (MSA) $6,738 $11,183 $15,003 $20,159 $25,212 $32,918 $35,923
   % change                  9.24 10.66 6.05 6.09 4.58 5.48 1.76
 inflation adjusted (2000$)  $22,502 $22,758 $25,040 $27,833 $28,931 $32,521 $32,221
   % change                  2.57 0.23 1.93 2.14 0.78 2.37 -0.19
                                                                                     
Average Household Inc.  (MSA) $51,796 $64,888 $85,000 $93,229
   % change                  4.61 5.55 1.87
 inflation adjusted (2000$)  $72,376 $75,371 $85,000 $84,643
   % change                  0.81 2.43 -0.08
                                                                                     
U.S. Personal Income Components - Nominal Levels                         
    (annualized percent change)                         
Personal Income              9.74 11.51 8.72 6.75 5.06 6.58 4.21
 + Wage Disbursement         8.11 11.01 7.62 6.69 4.51 7.14 3.36
 - Social Ins. Contribution  14.05 13.21 11.08 7.82 5.38 5.79 4.36
 + Transfer Payments         17.88 10.46 8.74 6.96 8.12 4.26 6.9
 + Other Labor Income        15.94 16.16 8.73 6.11 5.67 5.66 7.12
 + Farm Proprietors Inc.     11.24 -11.84 12.38 8.93 -7.3 7.4 8.06
 + Bus. Proprietors Inc.     8.29 10.63 6.83 8.15 7.49 9.45 5.13
 + Div., Interest, & Rent    10.2 14.65 13.51 6.88 3.97 5.7 3.06

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 25 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                             

    (annualized percent change)
Personal Income  (MSA)
 + Wage Disbursement         
 - Social Ins. Contribution  
 + Transfer Payments         
 + Other Labor Income        
 + Farm Proprietors Inc.     
 + Bus. Proprietors Inc.     
 + Div., Interest, & Rent    
 + Res. Adjustment           
                             
Personal Income   (MSA)
(in millions)                
   % change                  
 inflation adjusted (2000$)  
   % change                  
                             
Per Capita Income  (MSA)
   % change                  
 inflation adjusted (2000$)  
   % change                  
                             
Average Household Inc.  (MSA
   % change                  
 inflation adjusted (2000$)  
   % change                  
                             
U.S. Personal Income Compon    
    (annualized percent change)
Personal Income              
 + Wage Disbursement         
 - Social Ins. Contribution  
 + Transfer Payments         
 + Other Labor Income        
 + Farm Proprietors Inc.     
 + Bus. Proprietors Inc.     
 + Div., Interest, & Rent    

Personal Income (includes nominal and inflation adjusted fig.)
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040
10 15 20 25 30 35 40

                                                        
3.3 5.19 6.12 4.81 4.57 4.45 4.44

2.51 5.02 5.44 4.6 4.59 4.44 4.43
2.54 5.67 6.37 4.87 4.49 4.32 4.33

10.52 3.09 5.03 5.35 5.42 4.98 4.73
2.33 4.79 5.76 4.73 4.53 4.59 4.63

-197.69 11.33 1.12 2.17 2.19 3.2 5.21
0.23 5.67 5.57 4.9 4.87 4.61 4.36
2.16 7.97 9.31 4.99 3.81 3.88 4.08

14.41 -35.97 -5.38 -4.62 -4.63 -4.5 -4.47
                                                        
                                                        

$87,940 $113,240 $152,425 $192,794 $241,065 $299,650 $372,295
3.3 5.19 6.12 4.81 4.57 4.45 4.44

$70,804 $84,083 $102,933 $118,531 $134,748 $151,602 $169,905
1.1 3.5 4.13 2.86 2.6 2.39 2.31

                                                        
$39,505 $48,339 $60,503 $72,155 $85,660 $101,990 $121,975

1.92 4.12 4.59 3.59 3.49 3.55 3.64
$31,807 $35,893 $40,858 $44,362 $47,882 $51,601 $55,667

-0.26 2.45 2.63 1.66 1.54 1.51 1.53
                                                        
$102,569 $126,311 $155,397 $182,574 $214,136 $252,377 $299,264

1.93 4.25 4.23 3.28 3.24 3.34 3.47
$83,593 $94,222 $105,425 $112,765 $120,247 $128,274 $137,206

-0.25 2.42 2.27 1.36 1.29 1.3 1.36
                                                        
                                                        
                                                        

3.23 4.5 5.02 4.32 4.39 4.32 4.35
2.3 4.12 4.64 4 4.32 4.2 4.26

2.41 4.76 5.44 4.32 4.31 4.2 4.25
8.53 3.36 4.84 5.34 5.41 5.01 4.77
2.99 2.69 4.68 3.79 3.98 4.03 4.2

-0.16 16.9 -1.12 -2.17 -2.19 -3.2 -5.21
1.13 6.58 4.69 4.76 5.12 4.91 4.67
2.34 6.36 6.71 4.39 3.58 3.83 4.11

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 26 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Personal Income (includes nominal and inflation adjusted fig.)
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

                             1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005
                                                     
U.S. Personal Income                                 
(in billions)                $1,335 $2,302 $3,497 $4,847 $6,276 $8,633 $10,610
     % change                9.74 11.51 8.72 6.75 5.06 6.58 4.21
   inflation adjusted (2000$) $4,270 $4,810 $5,596 $6,387 $7,092 $8,633 $9,356
     % change                2.81 2.41 3.07 2.68 1.87 4.01 1.62
                                                     
U.S. Per Capita Income       $6,173 $10,095 $14,646 $19,341 $23,509 $30,527 $35,790
     % change                8.62 10.34 7.73 5.72 3.73 5.36 3.23
   inflation adjusted (2000$) $19,750 $21,101 $23,438 $25,489 $26,565 $30,527 $31,560
     % change                1.76 1.33 2.12 1.69 0.59 2.82 0.67
                                                     
U.S. Avg. Household Inc. $18,442 $28,099 $39,757 $51,425 $62,150 $80,665 $93,663
     % change                7.24 8.79 7.19 5.28 3.72 5.35 3.03
   inflation adjusted (2000$) $58,999 $58,729 $63,623 $67,772 $70,229 $80,665 $82,594
     % change                0.47 -0.09 1.61 1.27 0.58 2.81 0.47
                                                                                     
U.S. Consumer Price Index    53.8 82.4 107.6 130.7 152.4 172.2 195.3

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 27 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                             
                             
U.S. Personal Income         
(in billions)                
     % change                
   inflation adjusted (2000$)
     % change                
                             
U.S. Per Capita Income       
     % change                
   inflation adjusted (2000$)
     % change                
                             
U.S. Avg. Household Inc.
     % change                
   inflation adjusted (2000$)
     % change                
                             
U.S. Consumer Price Index    

Personal Income (includes nominal and inflation adjusted fig.)
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040
                                                        
                                                        

$12,435 $15,494 $19,790 $24,454 $30,315 $37,452 $46,332
3.23 4.5 5.02 4.32 4.39 4.32 4.35

$9,818 $11,101 $12,870 $14,443 $16,227 $18,068 $20,082
0.97 2.49 3 2.33 2.36 2.17 2.14

                                                        
$40,105 $48,128 $59,169 $70,476 $84,437 $101,170 $121,757

2.3 3.71 4.22 3.56 3.68 3.68 3.77
$31,666 $34,481 $38,478 $41,624 $45,198 $48,807 $52,774

0.07 1.72 2.22 1.58 1.66 1.55 1.57
                                                        
$106,166 $124,906 $150,952 $178,222 $210,815 $250,002 $297,221

2.54 3.3 3.86 3.38 3.42 3.47 3.52
$83,825 $89,488 $98,166 $105,261 $112,847 $120,608 $128,826

0.3 1.32 1.87 1.41 1.4 1.34 1.33
                                                        

218.1 240.3 264.8 291.5 321.7 356.9 397.3

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 28 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Industry Wage Rates  (nominal dollars)
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

                               1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010
 Hourly Wage Rates (annualized percent change)

Lumber & Wood Products                 2.3 3.1 5.6 2.6 6.7 0.7
Primary Metal Mfg.                     3.4 4.2 3 4 5.3 3.1
Fabricated Metal Mfg.                  2.9 3.3 3 4 2.7 3
Machinery Mfg.                         4.5 4.2 3.7 6.3 3.9 3.1
Computer & Electronics                 6.9 5.6 9 12.5 -2 5
Transportation Equipment               5 3.1 2.2 5.3 -0.2 4.7
Other Durables                         4.2 3.3 3.8 3.9 3.6 2.7
                                                                                        
Food Manufacturing                     2.6 1.5 3.9 4 2.2 1.2
Paper Manufacturing                    6.3 1.8 4.1 1.8 3.2 0.2
Other Nondurables                      3.2 3.9 3.7 4.3 1.3 2.5
                                                                                        
Wholesale Trade                        3.5 4.1 4.7 6.3 3.7 3
Retail Trade                           3.1 2.7 4.1 4.1 2 1.1
Transport., Warehousing & Util.         2.2 3.6 2.4 5.2 -0.5 2.5
Information                            6.2 3.5 5.6 7.8 3.6 3.3
Finance & Insurance                    6.1 6 5.5 5.3 6.5 1.9
Real Estate Rental & Leasing           3.9 4.7 3.6 5.5 6.9 0.2
Pro., Sci., & Tech. Services           6.8 7.8 4.2 5.7 -1.9 3.3
Management of Co.                      3.8 7.3 4.2 12.7 -3.8 1.2
Admin. & Waste Support                 4.1 1.1 3.7 6.3 1.6 3.4
Educational Services                   4.5 3.7 3.9 3.5 2.8 3.1
Health Services                        6.2 5 4.5 3.6 1.3 2.8

                                                 
Federal Govt., Civilian                6.9 4.3 5 2.8 5.6 3.3
State & Local Govt.                    7.8 2.5 4.2 3.3 3.9 2.9

                        
Industry Hourly Wage Rates (nominal dollars)         

Lumber & Wood Products         7.02 7.87 9.15 12.05 13.66 18.89 19.56
Primary Metal Mfg.             10.55 12.44 15.25 17.69 21.56 27.87 32.46
Fabricated Metal Mfg.          9 10.37 12.22 14.19 17.29 19.75 22.84
Machinery Mfg.                 9.03 11.24 13.81 16.59 22.57 27.35 31.92
Computer & Electronics         8.81 12.32 16.15 24.8 44.7 40.42 51.56
Transportation Equipment       10.71 13.65 15.86 17.71 22.96 22.76 28.57
Other Durables                 7.53 9.26 10.9 13.11 15.84 18.91 21.57

                                                 
Food Manufacturing             8.56 9.74 10.49 12.73 15.45 17.2 18.22
Paper Manufacturing            11.32 15.35 16.76 20.45 22.41 26.22 26.44
Other Nondurables              8.22 9.62 11.64 13.94 17.21 18.33 20.78

                                                 
Wholesale Trade                10.1 11.97 14.64 18.38 24.9 29.84 34.52
Retail Trade                   5.67 6.6 7.55 9.23 11.31 12.48 13.16

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 29 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                               

Lumber & Wood Products         
Primary Metal Mfg.             
Fabricated Metal Mfg.          
Machinery Mfg.                 
Computer & Electronics         
Transportation Equipment       
Other Durables                 
                               
Food Manufacturing             
Paper Manufacturing            
Other Nondurables              
                               
Wholesale Trade                
Retail Trade                   
Transport., Warehousing & Util.
Information                    
Finance & Insurance            
Real Estate Rental & Leasing   
Pro., Sci., & Tech. Services   
Management of Co.              
Admin. & Waste Support         
Educational Services           
Health Services                

Federal Govt., Civilian        
State & Local Govt.            

Lumber & Wood Products         
Primary Metal Mfg.             
Fabricated Metal Mfg.          
Machinery Mfg.                 
Computer & Electronics         
Transportation Equipment       
Other Durables                 

Food Manufacturing             
Paper Manufacturing            
Other Nondurables              

Wholesale Trade                
Retail Trade                   

Industry Wage Rates  (nominal dollars)
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2040
 Hourly Wage Rates (annualized percent change)

3 1.9 2.4 2.6 2.6 2.6 2.6
0.8 3.1 3 2.7 2.5 2.4 2.4
1.2 2.1 2.3 2.3 2.2 2.2 2.2
4.1 3.9 3.8 3.8 3.6 3.6 3.6
3.5 5 5.2 4.9 4.9 4.7 4.7
0.6 2.7 2.4 2.3 2.2 2.2 2.2
1.5 2.4 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.4 2.4

                                                        
1.5 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.9 1.9

2 2.4 2.3 2.4 2.3 2.3 2.3
1.6 2.3 2.3 2.3 2.2 2.2 2.2

                                                        
3.1 3.2 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.4

2 2.6 2.3 2.3 2.2 2.2 2.2
0.9 2 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.7 1.7
2.3 4.3 3.9 3.9 3.8 3.8 3.8
3.6 3.9 3.8 3.9 3.7 3.7 3.7
2.7 3.6 3.7 3.5 3.5 3.4 3.4
1.9 4 3.4 3.1 3 3.1 3.1
4.5 4.5 3.4 3.3 3.2 3.2 3.2
2.1 2.4 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5
1.7 2.8 2.8 2.7 2.7 2.6 2.6
2.3 2.9 2.8 2.7 2.6 2.6 2.6

                                                        
2.9 2.6 2.9 3.8 3.5 3.6 3.6
3.2 2.8 3.1 3.2 3.1 3.1 3.1

                                                        
Industry Hourly Wage Rates (nominal dollars)

22.67 24.93 28.04 31.91 36.29 41.23 41.23
33.79 39.45 45.66 52.14 58.9 66.26 66.26
24.27 26.98 30.16 33.76 37.71 42.06 42.06
39.04 47.19 56.84 68.37 81.74 97.75 97.75
61.21 78.11 100.42 127.64 161.91 204.14 204.14
29.51 33.75 37.91 42.47 47.43 52.9 52.9
23.27 26.26 29.75 33.71 38.07 42.93 42.93

                                                        
19.66 21.64 23.83 26.25 28.83 31.64 31.64
29.14 32.89 36.9 41.53 46.64 52.37 52.37
22.47 25.2 28.22 31.6 35.28 39.33 39.33

                                                        
40.3 47.13 55.58 65.81 77.72 91.68 91.68

14.51 16.48 18.45 20.62 23.01 25.64 25.64

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 30 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Industry Wage Rates  (nominal dollars)
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

                               1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010
Transport., Warehousing & Util. 10.38 11.55 13.75 15.51 19.96 19.42 21.95
Information                    8.17 11.01 13.07 17.18 25.03 29.92 35.23
Finance & Insurance            7.03 9.43 12.61 16.51 21.39 29.33 32.25
Real Estate Rental & Leasing   5.26 6.36 8.01 9.55 12.5 17.42 17.64
Pro., Sci., & Tech. Services   7.45 10.34 15.09 18.57 24.54 22.26 26.2
Management of Co.              11.22 13.54 19.3 23.66 43.08 35.51 37.75
Admin. & Waste Support         5.4 6.61 6.98 8.38 11.34 12.27 14.51
Educational Services           5.56 6.91 8.28 10.01 11.9 13.63 15.88
Health Services                7.1 9.59 12.21 15.22 18.16 19.33 22.22
                                                                                        
Federal Govt., Civilian        13.25 18.53 22.92 29.21 33.59 44.19 52.06
State & Local Govt.            8.28 12.08 13.67 16.76 19.74 23.95 27.67
                                                                                        
U.S. Consumer Price Index 82.4 107.6 130.7 152.4 172.2 195.3 218.1

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 31 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                               
Transport., Warehousing & Util.
Information                    
Finance & Insurance            
Real Estate Rental & Leasing   
Pro., Sci., & Tech. Services   
Management of Co.              
Admin. & Waste Support         
Educational Services           
Health Services                
                               
Federal Govt., Civilian        
State & Local Govt.            
                               
U.S. Consumer Price Index

Industry Wage Rates  (nominal dollars)
Portland-Hillsboro-Vancouver, OR-WA MSA

2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2040
22.91 25.32 27.71 30.31 33.07 36.04 36.04
39.53 48.88 59.29 71.8 86.59 104.2 104.2
38.49 46.67 56.35 68.09 81.84 98.18 98.18
20.15 24.02 28.83 34.3 40.73 48.17 48.17
28.72 34.9 41.33 48.1 55.8 64.85 64.85
47.06 58.66 69.19 81.42 95.4 111.54 111.54
16.09 18.11 20.47 23.21 26.28 29.73 29.73
17.25 19.79 22.76 26.05 29.74 33.87 33.87
24.94 28.79 32.99 37.73 42.99 48.9 48.9

                                                        
60.06 68.39 79.05 95.23 113.24 135.13 135.13

32.4 37.13 43.3 50.76 59.19 69.01 69.01
                                                        

240.3 264.8 291.5 321.7 356.9 397.3 397.3

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 32 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors

                                2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Total Nonfarm Wage and Salary Jobs, TOTAL                                         
Portland PMSA 973.8 966.5 945.0 935.2 955.6 985.1 1,017.0 1,036.6
   %ch       2.4 -0.75 -2.23 -1.04 2.19 3.09 3.24 1.93
U.S.         111.1 110.8 108.94 108.52 109.88 111.93 114.15 115.42
   %ch       2.13 -0.27 -1.68 -0.39 1.25 1.87 1.98 1.11

                                           
Manufacturing, TOTAL
Portland PMSA 143.32 135.86 123.82 118.11 120.22 123.42 126.62 126.06
   %ch       1.1 -5.21 -8.86 -4.61 1.78 2.66 2.59 -0.44
U.S.         17.27 16.44 15.26 14.51 14.31 14.23 14.16 13.88
   %ch       -0.33 -4.78 -7.2 -4.9 -1.34 -0.62 -0.49 -1.97
Durable Goods, total                                                                 
Portland PMSA 107.55 102.26 92.8 87.93 90.05 93.61 96.38 95.71
   %ch       2.09 -4.92 -9.25 -5.25 2.41 3.96 2.96 -0.69
U.S.         10.88 10.34 9.48 8.96 8.92 8.95 8.98 8.81
   %ch       0.43 -4.99 -8.24 -5.49 -0.43 0.34 0.3 -1.94
Wood Products                                                                 
Portland PMSA 5.91 5.68 5.54 5.53 5.69 5.88 5.95 5.58
   %ch       -3.17 -3.81 -2.49 -0.29 3.01 3.36 1.12 -6.17
U.S.         0.62 0.58 0.56 0.54 0.55 0.56 0.56 0.52
   %ch       -1.18 -6.35 -3.35 -3.17 2.29 1.71 -0.08 -7.8
Primary Metals                                                                 
Portland PMSA 7.73 6.69 6.26 5.58 5.72 6.01 6.29 6.57
   %ch       -2.9 -13.46 -6.46 -10.79 2.38 5.09 4.71 4.5
U.S.         0.62 0.57 0.51 0.48 0.47 0.47 0.46 0.46
   %ch       -0.51 -8.26 -10.79 -6.26 -2.18 -0.16 -0.52 -1.75
Fabricated Metals                                                                 
Portland PMSA 13.67 12.71 11.97 11.51 11.87 12.52 12.93 13.31
   %ch       0.73 -7.07 -5.77 -3.9 3.12 5.54 3.26 2.96
U.S.         1.75 1.68 1.55 1.48 1.5 1.52 1.55 1.56
   %ch       1.44 -4.35 -7.64 -4.51 1.21 1.68 2.03 0.62
Machinery Mfg.                                                                 
Portland PMSA 10.44 9.9 8.78 8.43 8.26 8.38 8.38 8.59
   %ch       2.97 -5.19 -11.28 -3.99 -2.07 1.52 0.01 2.49
U.S.         1.46 1.37 1.23 1.15 1.15 1.16 1.18 1.19
   %ch       -0.78 -5.95 -10.13 -6.48 -0.58 1.69 1.58 0.35
Computer & Electronics                                                                 
Portland PMSA 41.22 42.72 37.68 34.69 35.63 36.48 37.7 36.88
   %ch       7.33 3.64 -11.8 -7.94 2.71 2.41 3.33 -2.19
U.S.         1.82 1.75 1.51 1.36 1.32 1.32 1.31 1.27
   %ch       2.22 -3.93 -13.81 -10.1 -2.41 -0.46 -0.69 -2.68

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 33 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Total Nonfarm Wage and Salar   
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

                                           
Manufacturing, TOTAL
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Durable Goods, total
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Wood Products
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Primary Metals
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Fabricated Metals
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Machinery Mfg.
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Computer & Electronics
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
                                                                

1,036.0 975.6 968.8 987.5 1,006.5 1,026.9 1,067.1 1,100.0
-0.06 -5.83 -0.54 1.93 1.92 2.03 3.92 3.08

114.35 108.31 107.42 109.41 111.82 114.06 116.12 118.44
-0.93 -5.28 -0.82 1.85 2.21 2 1.81 2

123.16 109.08 107.02 111.05 114.18 115.58 118.38 119.11
-2.3 -11.43 -1.9 3.76 2.82 1.23 2.42 0.61
13.4 11.85 11.53 11.73 11.92 11.98 12.21 12.44

-3.41 -11.62 -2.69 1.72 1.65 0.48 1.93 1.85
                                                                

93.54 81.72 79.64 83.36 86.09 87.37 89.72 90.21
-2.27 -12.64 -2.55 4.67 3.27 1.49 2.69 0.55
8.46 7.28 7.06 7.27 7.46 7.52 7.75 8

-3.91 -13.94 -3.03 2.97 2.63 0.78 3.03 3.2
                                                                

4.82 3.73 3.53 3.28 3.38 3.42 3.68 4.2
-13.58 -22.61 -5.6 -7.04 3.26 1.02 7.62 14.22

0.46 0.36 0.34 0.34 0.34 0.35 0.4 0.5
-11.45 -21.34 -5.02 -1.55 0.45 2.9 15.72 25.21

                                                                
7.07 5.84 5.47 5.72 6.07 6.21 6.02 5.82
7.48 -17.34 -6.29 4.57 5.97 2.43 -3.07 -3.45
0.44 0.36 0.36 0.39 0.4 0.39 0.4 0.4

-3.02 -18.04 0.04 7.2 3.47 -1.82 0.76 0.74
                                                                

13.43 11.07 11.17 11.92 12.48 12.99 13.38 13.53
0.89 -17.55 0.79 6.73 4.75 4.06 3.02 1.13
1.53 1.31 1.28 1.35 1.41 1.44 1.49 1.56

-2.24 -14.12 -2.29 5.14 4.73 1.81 3.72 4.44
                                                                

8.33 7 7.08 7.72 7.94 8.29 8.72 8.89
-3 -16 1.16 8.94 2.92 4.35 5.23 1.94

1.19 1.03 1 1.06 1.1 1.1 1.13 1.16
0.04 -13.34 -3.21 5.97 4.04 0.58 2.42 2.47

                                                                
35.92 33.85 33.27 34.7 35.37 35.86 36.96 36.42

-2.6 -5.76 -1.73 4.3 1.92 1.4 3.05 -1.46
1.24 1.14 1.09 1.1 1.09 1.08 1.09 1.08
-2.2 -8.64 -3.73 0.82 -0.87 -0.97 0.76 -1.36

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 34 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Total Nonfarm Wage and Salar   
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

                                           
Manufacturing, TOTAL
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Durable Goods, total
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Wood Products
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Primary Metals
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Fabricated Metals
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Machinery Mfg.
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Computer & Electronics
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
                                        

1,131.9 1,159.5 1,183.0 1,206.4 1,228.1 1,244.9 1,261.4 1,278.8
2.89 2.44 2.03 1.97 1.81 1.36 1.32 1.38

120.95 123.07 124.54 125.6 126.29 126.83 127.38 127.95
2.12 1.75 1.19 0.85 0.55 0.43 0.43 0.44

119.24 120.24 121.44 122.46 123.1 123.38 123.63 123.99
0.11 0.84 1 0.84 0.53 0.22 0.21 0.29

12.59 12.66 12.69 12.7 12.65 12.57 12.46 12.4
1.26 0.56 0.21 0.07 -0.41 -0.63 -0.81 -0.53

                                                                
90.07 90.86 91.93 92.89 93.57 93.98 94.42 94.93
-0.15 0.88 1.17 1.04 0.73 0.44 0.47 0.54
8.17 8.24 8.24 8.24 8.21 8.15 8.08 8.05
2.18 0.79 0.02 0.08 -0.48 -0.7 -0.8 -0.46

                                                                
4.57 4.63 4.61 4.63 4.62 4.55 4.47 4.42

8.7 1.33 -0.47 0.44 -0.13 -1.47 -1.77 -1.24
0.57 0.56 0.55 0.56 0.55 0.54 0.52 0.52

12.04 -0.43 -1.99 0.88 -0.31 -2.62 -2.95 -1.51
                                                                

5.55 5.4 5.3 5.22 5.15 5.09 5.03 4.97
-4.5 -2.85 -1.86 -1.39 -1.28 -1.26 -1.2 -1.13
0.41 0.42 0.43 0.43 0.43 0.42 0.42 0.42
2.37 2.82 1.36 0.5 -0.29 -0.8 -0.84 -0.5

                                                                
13.58 13.55 13.42 13.28 13.17 13.05 12.92 12.81

0.35 -0.23 -0.96 -1.01 -0.87 -0.92 -1 -0.8
1.61 1.64 1.64 1.64 1.65 1.65 1.66 1.66
3.61 1.68 -0.12 0.28 0.47 0.26 0.08 0.16

                                                                
8.89 8.86 8.77 8.7 8.64 8.57 8.48 8.41

-0.01 -0.38 -0.91 -0.86 -0.71 -0.75 -1.03 -0.88
1.19 1.2 1.21 1.21 1.21 1.21 1.2 1.2
2.27 1.62 0.28 0.25 -0.07 -0.23 -0.47 -0.25

                                                                
35.95 36.84 38.22 39.4 40.33 41.13 42.02 42.87

-1.3 2.48 3.76 3.06 2.38 1.97 2.16 2.03
1.05 1.06 1.08 1.11 1.12 1.13 1.14 1.15

-2.25 0.7 2.38 1.88 1.3 0.87 0.85 0.77

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 35 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Total Nonfarm Wage and Salar   
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

                                           
Manufacturing, TOTAL
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Durable Goods, total
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Wood Products
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Primary Metals
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Fabricated Metals
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Machinery Mfg.
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Computer & Electronics
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
                                                                

1,295.7 1,311.6 1,328.8 1,346.4 1,363.3 1,380.6 1,399.8 1,417.3
1.33 1.22 1.31 1.32 1.26 1.27 1.39 1.25

128.56 129.3 130.18 131.12 132.13 133.13 134.16 135.11
0.48 0.58 0.68 0.73 0.77 0.76 0.77 0.71

123.94 123.23 123.09 123.13 122.98 122.91 123 123.1
-0.04 -0.57 -0.12 0.03 -0.12 -0.06 0.07 0.08
12.3 12.21 12.13 12.04 11.94 11.84 11.75 11.67

-0.76 -0.78 -0.64 -0.74 -0.82 -0.87 -0.77 -0.64
                                                                

95 94.43 94.41 94.58 94.55 94.59 94.76 94.96
0.07 -0.6 -0.02 0.17 -0.02 0.03 0.18 0.21
7.97 7.9 7.84 7.78 7.7 7.61 7.54 7.48

-0.89 -0.93 -0.72 -0.85 -1.01 -1.15 -0.98 -0.76
                                                                

4.37 4.36 4.35 4.3 4.22 4.17 4.16 4.12
-1 -0.31 -0.2 -1.11 -1.83 -1.14 -0.45 -0.85

0.51 0.51 0.51 0.51 0.49 0.49 0.49 0.49
-1.17 0.17 0.41 -1.41 -2.37 -1.27 0.18 -0.44

                                                                
4.93 4.85 4.8 4.76 4.72 4.66 4.62 4.59

-0.94 -1.47 -1.08 -0.77 -1.01 -1.13 -0.92 -0.66
0.42 0.41 0.4 0.4 0.39 0.38 0.37 0.36
-0.8 -1.15 -1.67 -2.1 -2.49 -2.47 -2.54 -2.42

                                                                
12.73 12.67 12.62 12.56 12.49 12.42 12.39 12.38
-0.64 -0.51 -0.38 -0.46 -0.56 -0.56 -0.28 -0.07
1.65 1.63 1.62 1.59 1.57 1.55 1.53 1.52

-0.55 -0.9 -1.14 -1.43 -1.45 -1.51 -1.23 -0.76
                                                                

8.35 8.3 8.27 8.23 8.2 8.16 8.13 8.11
-0.7 -0.62 -0.42 -0.38 -0.45 -0.49 -0.36 -0.19
1.19 1.19 1.18 1.16 1.15 1.13 1.11 1.09

-0.48 -0.62 -0.87 -1.24 -1.31 -1.64 -1.7 -1.55
                                                                

43.23 42.93 43.1 43.49 43.75 44.05 44.39 44.71
0.83 -0.68 0.4 0.88 0.6 0.68 0.78 0.72
1.14 1.12 1.1 1.1 1.09 1.08 1.08 1.08

-0.73 -1.91 -1.15 -0.7 -0.58 -0.57 -0.47 -0.42

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 36 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Total Nonfarm Wage and Salar   
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

                                           
Manufacturing, TOTAL
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Durable Goods, total
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Wood Products
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Primary Metals
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Fabricated Metals
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Machinery Mfg.
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Computer & Electronics
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors

2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039
                                                                

1,433.8 1,450.2 1,467.0 1,484.5 1,502.7 1,520.6 1,537.8 1,554.5
1.16 1.15 1.16 1.19 1.23 1.19 1.13 1.09

136.01 136.93 137.92 138.89 139.92 141.02 142.11 143.17
0.67 0.68 0.72 0.71 0.74 0.78 0.77 0.75

123.2 123.49 123.87 124.37 124.95 125.5 126.09 126.67
0.08 0.24 0.31 0.41 0.46 0.44 0.47 0.47

11.58 11.49 11.41 11.35 11.28 11.21 11.15 11.09
-0.81 -0.8 -0.63 -0.59 -0.63 -0.62 -0.55 -0.53

                                                                
95.2 95.64 96.13 96.74 97.41 98.06 98.74 99.43
0.25 0.46 0.52 0.63 0.69 0.67 0.7 0.7
7.41 7.34 7.29 7.25 7.2 7.15 7.12 7.08

-0.96 -0.91 -0.67 -0.6 -0.64 -0.63 -0.55 -0.53
                                                                

4.01 3.93 3.91 3.91 3.9 3.87 3.84 3.8
-2.59 -1.96 -0.58 -0.05 -0.2 -0.85 -0.7 -1.15
0.47 0.46 0.46 0.46 0.46 0.45 0.45 0.45

-3.62 -2.53 0.13 0.34 0.15 -1.05 -0.45 -1.23
                                                                

4.56 4.52 4.48 4.45 4.43 4.41 4.39 4.38
-0.73 -0.86 -0.81 -0.59 -0.43 -0.45 -0.48 -0.4
0.35 0.34 0.33 0.32 0.31 0.29 0.28 0.27

-2.61 -2.73 -2.73 -3.36 -3.83 -3.77 -3.7 -3.56
                                                                

12.34 12.3 12.27 12.26 12.27 12.27 12.29 12.31
-0.28 -0.36 -0.22 -0.09 0.07 0.05 0.12 0.19

1.5 1.49 1.48 1.47 1.46 1.45 1.44 1.44
-0.72 -0.88 -0.86 -0.8 -0.62 -0.52 -0.34 -0.14

                                                                
8.08 8.03 7.99 7.97 7.95 7.93 7.92 7.91

-0.45 -0.57 -0.46 -0.34 -0.23 -0.18 -0.14 -0.13
1.07 1.05 1.03 1.02 1 0.98 0.97 0.96
-1.7 -1.8 -1.86 -1.73 -1.79 -1.54 -1.37 -1.23

                                                                
45.21 45.93 46.6 47.31 48.05 48.8 49.58 50.38

1.12 1.57 1.46 1.54 1.55 1.57 1.6 1.6
1.08 1.08 1.09 1.1 1.11 1.11 1.12 1.13
0.17 0.55 0.63 0.71 0.76 0.83 0.88 0.9

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 37 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Total Nonfarm Wage and Salar   
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

                                           
Manufacturing, TOTAL
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Durable Goods, total
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Wood Products
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Primary Metals
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Fabricated Metals
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Machinery Mfg.
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Computer & Electronics
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors APR

2040 2041 2042 2043 2000-43
                                

1,571.3 1,585.5 1,598.9 1,610.4 1.2%
1.08 0.91 0.84 0.72

144.28 145.4 146.51 147.57 0.7%
0.77 0.77 0.77 0.72

127.16 127.63 128.15 128.7 - 0.2%
0.38 0.37 0.4 0.43

11.02 10.98 10.95 10.93 - 1.1%
-0.56 -0.4 -0.3 -0.14

                                
100.01 100.58 101.19 101.82 - 0.1%

0.59 0.56 0.61 0.63
7.04 7.02 7 7.01 - 1.0%

-0.52 -0.32 -0.18 0.02
                                

3.77 3.76 3.74 3.73 - 1.1%
-0.78 -0.18 -0.57 -0.39
0.44 0.44 0.44 0.44 - 0.8%

-0.75 0.09 -0.94 -0.18
                                

4.35 4.33 4.31 4.28 - 1.4%
-0.51 -0.6 -0.52 -0.51
0.26 0.25 0.25 0.24 - 2.2%

-3.59 -3.42 -3.17 -3.08
                                

12.33 12.35 12.37 12.4 - 0.2%
0.13 0.18 0.19 0.23
1.44 1.44 1.44 1.45 - 0.4%

-0.21 -0.04 0.11 0.34
                                

7.9 7.88 7.86 7.84 - 0.7%
-0.2 -0.2 -0.22 -0.26
0.95 0.94 0.93 0.93 - 1.0%

-1.04 -0.76 -0.64 -0.4
                                

51.08 51.73 52.43 53.14 0.6%
1.39 1.27 1.35 1.37
1.14 1.15 1.16 1.17 - 1.0%
0.68 0.63 0.67 0.71

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 38 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors

                                2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Transport. Equipment                                                                 
Portland PMSA 11.18 8.55 7.71 7.59 7.96 8.95 9.32 9
   %ch       -3.68 -23.48 -9.84 -1.6 4.95 12.46 4.08 -3.41
U.S.         2.06 1.94 1.83 1.78 1.77 1.77 1.77 1.71
   %ch       -1.51 -5.73 -5.61 -3 -0.48 0.31 -0.19 -3.23
Other Durable Goods                                                                 
Portland PMSA 17.4 16.01 14.86 14.61 14.93 15.37 15.81 15.77
   %ch       -0.9 -8 -7.18 -1.69 2.16 3 2.82 -0.21
U.S.         4.01 3.82 3.53 3.34 3.32 3.32 3.33 3.29
   %ch       0.61 -4.65 -7.64 -5.51 -0.52 -0.09 0.34 -1.2
Non-Durable Goods                                                                 
Portland PMSA 35.77 33.6 31.02 30.18 30.18 29.82 30.24 30.35
   %ch       -1.78 -6.08 -7.69 -2.68 -0.03 -1.19 1.43 0.36
U.S.         6.39 6.1 5.77 5.55 5.39 5.27 5.17 5.07
   %ch       -1.6 -4.42 -5.44 -3.94 -2.8 -2.21 -1.83 -2.02
Food Processing                                                                 
Portland PMSA 8.87 8.79 8.74 8.72 8.64 8.56 8.8 9.1
   %ch       -0.89 -0.84 -0.66 -0.19 -0.87 -0.97 2.82 3.4
U.S.         1.55 1.55 1.52 1.52 1.49 1.48 1.48 1.48
   %ch       0.19 -0.19 -1.64 -0.49 -1.54 -1.1 0.12 0.29
Paper                                                                        
Portland PMSA 6.52 6.3 5.6 5.38 5.15 4.98 4.94 4.66
   %ch       1.84 -3.32 -11.11 -4.01 -4.18 -3.24 -0.85 -5.74
U.S.         0.6 0.58 0.55 0.52 0.5 0.48 0.47 0.46
   %ch       -1.77 -4.47 -5.38 -5.55 -4.02 -2.28 -2.83 -2.63
Other Non-Durable Goods                                                                 
Portland PMSA 20.39 18.51 16.68 16.09 16.38 16.27 16.5 16.59
   %ch       -3.26 -9.24 -9.87 -3.55 1.82 -0.66 1.39 0.56
U.S.         4.23 3.98 3.7 3.51 3.4 3.31 3.22 3.13
   %ch       -2.22 -5.96 -6.93 -5.11 -3.17 -2.69 -2.55 -2.98

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 39 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Transport. Equipment
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Other Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Non-Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Food Processing
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Paper        
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Other Non-Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
                                                                

8.58 6.93 6.3 6.78 7.32 7.47 7.31 7.23
-4.74 -19.15 -9.12 7.55 7.99 2.08 -2.12 -1.09
1.61 1.35 1.33 1.38 1.46 1.49 1.52 1.55

-6.07 -16.17 -1.08 3.63 5.37 2.27 2.28 2.1
                                                                

15.39 13.28 12.83 13.25 13.53 13.13 13.65 14.12
-2.42 -13.69 -3.48 3.32 2.08 -2.97 3.96 3.47
3.18 2.76 2.65 2.71 2.76 2.77 2.84 2.91

-3.17 -13.17 -4.17 2.47 1.76 0.28 2.68 2.12
                                                                

29.62 27.36 27.38 27.69 28.1 28.22 28.67 28.9
-2.39 -7.63 0.05 1.13 1.47 0.43 1.59 0.81
4.94 4.56 4.46 4.45 4.46 4.46 4.46 4.44

-2.56 -7.64 -2.15 -0.24 0.06 -0.03 0.09 -0.48
                                                                

9.22 9.11 9.48 9.69 10.1 10.52 10.62 10.39
1.27 -1.1 4.02 2.2 4.2 4.23 0.91 -2.19
1.48 1.46 1.45 1.46 1.47 1.47 1.48 1.49

-0.23 -1.59 -0.38 0.53 0.66 0.04 0.86 0.77
                                                                

4.45 3.92 3.63 3.43 3.31 3.25 3.26 3.3
-4.48 -11.79 -7.43 -5.72 -3.4 -1.72 0.3 1.31
0.44 0.41 0.39 0.39 0.38 0.38 0.37 0.37

-2.88 -8.56 -3.03 -1.84 -2.08 -0.86 -0.48 -0.07
                                                                

15.96 14.32 14.27 14.57 14.69 14.44 14.79 15.21
-3.82 -10.24 -0.42 2.16 0.81 -1.69 2.38 2.85
3.02 2.7 2.62 2.61 2.61 2.61 2.6 2.57

-3.62 -10.48 -2.97 -0.43 0.05 0.05 -0.27 -1.26

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 40 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Transport. Equipment
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Other Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Non-Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Food Processing
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Paper        
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Other Non-Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
                                                                

7.05 6.79 6.63 6.51 6.36 6.2 6.06 5.96
-2.44 -3.71 -2.36 -1.78 -2.38 -2.52 -2.2 -1.67
1.58 1.57 1.55 1.53 1.48 1.44 1.41 1.38
1.63 -0.36 -1.26 -1.57 -3.08 -2.65 -2.57 -1.92

                                                                
14.48 14.8 14.97 15.14 15.29 15.39 15.44 15.48

2.57 2.22 1.15 1.14 0.98 0.63 0.32 0.29
2.95 2.98 2.98 2.98 2.97 2.96 2.94 2.92
1.61 0.9 0.11 -0.02 -0.4 -0.47 -0.65 -0.4

                                                                
29.17 29.37 29.51 29.57 29.54 29.4 29.21 29.06

0.94 0.71 0.47 0.19 -0.12 -0.47 -0.63 -0.53
4.42 4.43 4.45 4.45 4.44 4.42 4.38 4.35

-0.39 0.12 0.58 0.04 -0.27 -0.52 -0.84 -0.64
                                                                

10.23 10.09 9.98 9.89 9.82 9.75 9.7 9.66
-1.52 -1.32 -1.14 -0.87 -0.75 -0.71 -0.53 -0.41

1.5 1.52 1.55 1.56 1.57 1.58 1.58 1.59
0.78 1.1 1.59 0.92 0.85 0.57 0.14 0.36

                                                                
3.33 3.28 3.2 3.11 3.03 2.94 2.85 2.77

0.7 -1.45 -2.56 -2.57 -2.51 -3.08 -3.05 -2.86
0.37 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38
0.08 0.39 0.8 0.35 0.21 0.07 -0.29 -0.07

                                                                
15.61 16 16.34 16.57 16.68 16.71 16.66 16.63

2.67 2.49 2.11 1.38 0.71 0.15 -0.27 -0.2
2.54 2.53 2.53 2.51 2.49 2.46 2.42 2.38

-1.13 -0.5 -0.06 -0.55 -1.03 -1.29 -1.56 -1.39

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 41 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Transport. Equipment
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Other Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Non-Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Food Processing
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Paper        
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Other Non-Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
                                                                

5.86 5.76 5.68 5.59 5.52 5.45 5.39 5.33
-1.73 -1.64 -1.48 -1.43 -1.31 -1.23 -1.15 -1.12
1.35 1.34 1.33 1.33 1.33 1.32 1.31 1.3

-2.02 -1.2 -0.16 -0.12 -0.3 -0.76 -0.86 -0.42
                                                                

15.53 15.56 15.6 15.64 15.66 15.67 15.69 15.72
0.33 0.17 0.25 0.24 0.14 0.07 0.12 0.2
2.91 2.89 2.87 2.85 2.83 2.8 2.77 2.74

-0.57 -0.59 -0.64 -0.66 -0.82 -1.16 -1.08 -0.88
                                                                

28.94 28.8 28.67 28.55 28.43 28.33 28.24 28.13
-0.41 -0.48 -0.44 -0.44 -0.43 -0.35 -0.31 -0.37
4.33 4.31 4.29 4.26 4.25 4.23 4.21 4.2

-0.52 -0.5 -0.49 -0.54 -0.45 -0.35 -0.4 -0.43
                                                                

9.63 9.6 9.58 9.56 9.54 9.53 9.53 9.52
-0.31 -0.3 -0.21 -0.18 -0.17 -0.12 -0.08 -0.11

1.6 1.61 1.61 1.62 1.62 1.63 1.63 1.64
0.56 0.55 0.46 0.29 0.3 0.32 0.31 0.36

                                                                
2.69 2.62 2.56 2.49 2.43 2.36 2.31 2.25

-2.88 -2.59 -2.36 -2.54 -2.74 -2.69 -2.29 -2.57
0.37 0.37 0.37 0.37 0.37 0.37 0.38 0.38

-1.34 -0.84 0.06 0.12 0.21 0.33 0.27 0.2
                                                                

16.62 16.58 16.54 16.49 16.46 16.43 16.41 16.37
-0.05 -0.24 -0.27 -0.27 -0.23 -0.14 -0.15 -0.22
2.36 2.33 2.3 2.27 2.25 2.23 2.2 2.18

-1.11 -1.16 -1.23 -1.23 -1.1 -0.95 -1.02 -1.12

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 42 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Transport. Equipment
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Other Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Non-Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Food Processing
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Paper        
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Other Non-Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors

2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039
                                                                

5.28 5.22 5.18 5.13 5.08 5.02 4.96 4.89
-1.05 -0.97 -0.9 -0.9 -0.99 -1.1 -1.27 -1.37

1.3 1.29 1.29 1.28 1.27 1.26 1.25 1.24
-0.33 -0.47 -0.42 -0.37 -0.68 -0.74 -1.01 -1.19

                                                                
15.73 15.71 15.7 15.71 15.73 15.74 15.75 15.76

0.03 -0.11 -0.04 0.04 0.11 0.08 0.06 0.05
2.71 2.68 2.65 2.62 2.6 2.58 2.56 2.54

-1.15 -1.19 -1.09 -0.95 -0.97 -0.83 -0.71 -0.59
                                                                

28 27.86 27.74 27.63 27.54 27.44 27.35 27.25
-0.49 -0.51 -0.42 -0.39 -0.34 -0.35 -0.35 -0.37
4.17 4.15 4.12 4.1 4.08 4.05 4.03 4.01

-0.54 -0.61 -0.55 -0.57 -0.6 -0.59 -0.54 -0.54
                                                                

9.51 9.51 9.5 9.5 9.5 9.5 9.5 9.5
-0.08 -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 0 -0.01 0 -0.01
1.64 1.65 1.65 1.65 1.65 1.65 1.65 1.65
0.25 0.14 0.16 0.11 0.01 0.01 0.07 0.08

                                                                
2.18 2.12 2.06 2.01 1.97 1.92 1.88 1.83
-2.9 -3.02 -2.52 -2.39 -2.23 -2.39 -2.37 -2.45
0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38
0.04 0.03 0.08 0.03 -0.06 -0.02 0.05 0.11

                                                                
16.31 16.23 16.17 16.12 16.07 16.02 15.97 15.92
-0.39 -0.45 -0.38 -0.35 -0.3 -0.3 -0.3 -0.34
2.15 2.12 2.1 2.07 2.05 2.02 2 1.98

-1.23 -1.3 -1.21 -1.21 -1.19 -1.18 -1.15 -1.17

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 43 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Transport. Equipment
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Other Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Non-Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Food Processing
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Paper        
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       
Other Non-Durable Goods
Portland PMSA
   %ch       
U.S.         
   %ch       

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Manufacturing employment sectors APR

2040 2041 2042 2043 2000-43
                                

4.83 4.77 4.73 4.68 - 2.0%
-1.3 -1.16 -0.92 -0.95
1.22 1.21 1.2 1.2 - 1.2%

-1.23 -1.12 -0.43 -0.16
                                

15.76 15.75 15.75 15.74 - 0.2%
-0.01 -0.02 -0.03 -0.04
2.53 2.52 2.52 2.52 - 1.1%

-0.52 -0.28 -0.19 -0.04
                                

27.15 27.05 26.96 26.87 - 0.7%
-0.37 -0.34 -0.35 -0.32
3.98 3.96 3.94 3.93 - 1.1%

-0.64 -0.54 -0.51 -0.42
                                

9.5 9.5 9.5 9.5 0.2%
0.02 -0.03 0 0
1.65 1.65 1.65 1.65 0.1%

-0.09 -0.04 0.01 0.03
                                

1.79 1.75 1.71 1.67 - 3.1%
-2.37 -2.31 -2.25 -2.31
0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38 - 1.1%

-0.05 -0.13 -0.15 -0.05
                                

15.86 15.81 15.76 15.71 - 0.6%
-0.37 -0.3 -0.35 -0.29
1.95 1.93 1.91 1.9 - 1.8%

-1.21 -1.04 -1.03 -0.88

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 44 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors

                                2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Total Non-Manufacturing                                                                 
Portland PMSA                   699.4 698.6 686.5 682.7 697.6 722.5 749.8 766.6
   %ch                          2.6 -0.1 -1.7 -0.6 2.2 3.6 3.8 2.2
U.S. (millions)                 93.8 94.4 93.7 94.0 95.6 97.7 100.0 101.5
   %ch                          2.6 0.6 -0.7 0.4 1.7 2.3 2.3 1.6
Natural Resources               
Portland PMSA                   1.9 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.8 1.7 1.6
   %ch                          -9.9 -7.5 -4.6 0.7 0.8 5.5 -5.3 -2.9
U.S. (millions)                 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.7 0.7
   %ch                          0.1 1.1 -3.9 -1.8 3.2 6.2 9.1 5.7
Construction                    
Portland PMSA                   53.2 54.0 51.6 50.1 53.9 58.5 63.2 65.3
   %ch                          1.5 1.6 -4.5 -3.0 7.5 8.5 8.1 3.4
U.S. (millions)                 6.8 6.8 6.7 6.7 7.0 7.3 7.7 7.6
   %ch                          3.72 0.57 -1.63 0.3 3.53 5.17 4.86 -0.81
Wholesale Trade                 
Portland PMSA                   55.58 56.29 54.63 54.79 55.11 56.29 57.47 58.13
   %ch                          3.6 1.28 -2.95 0.29 0.59 2.13 2.1 1.16
U.S. (millions)                 5.93 5.77 5.65 5.61 5.66 5.76 5.9 6.02
   %ch                          0.68 -2.69 -2.08 -0.8 0.95 1.78 2.46 1.89
Retail Trade                    
Portland PMSA                   106.78 103.42 100.51 99.59 101.25 104.83 107.59 109.78
   %ch                          1.75 -3.14 -2.81 -0.91 1.67 3.53 2.63 2.04
U.S. (millions)                 15.28 15.24 15.03 14.92 15.06 15.28 15.36 15.52
   %ch                          2.06 -0.26 -1.39 -0.73 0.96 1.46 0.49 1.05
Transportation, Warehousing
    and Utilities
Portland PMSA                   38.63 38.43 37.3 36.51 37.03 36.88 37.48 37.82
   %ch                          0.61 -0.53 -2.94 -2.1 1.4 -0.39 1.63 0.91
U.S. (millions)                 5.01 4.97 4.82 4.76 4.81 4.92 5.02 5.1
   %ch                          2.18 -0.81 -3.07 -1.23 1.12 2.15 2.04 1.55
Information                     
Portland PMSA                   25.96 25.91 23.83 22.52 22.49 23.09 23.98 24.77
   %ch                          8.88 -0.18 -8.05 -5.5 -0.11 2.67 3.87 3.27
U.S. (millions)                 2.59 2.61 2.43 2.26 2.21 2.16 2.14 2.13
   %ch                          7.52 0.51 -6.83 -6.84 -2.47 -2.3 -0.98 -0.25
Financial Activities            
Portland PMSA                   64.85 65.05 65.58 66.43 66.07 68.22 70.63 70.37
   %ch                          -0.51 0.31 0.81 1.3 -0.55 3.26 3.53 -0.37
U.S. (millions)                 7.78 7.9 7.96 8.08 8.11 8.2 8.37 8.35
   %ch                          0.42 1.5 0.69 1.52 0.35 1.13 2.06 -0.23

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 45 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Total Non-Manufacturing         
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Natural Resources               
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Construction                    
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Wholesale Trade                 
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Retail Trade                    
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Transportation, Warehousing
    and Utilities
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Information                     
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Financial Activities            
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
                                                                

764.2 716.8 714.4 731.0 747.4 766.1 798.2 827.7
-0.3 -6.2 -0.3 2.3 2.2 2.5 4.2 3.7

100.9 96.5 95.9 97.7 99.9 102.1 103.9 106.0
-0.6 -4.4 -0.6 1.9 2.3 2.2 1.8 2.0

                                                
1.6 1.2 1.1 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.4

-5.1 -21.5 -12.3 -1.7 -9.4 1.8 16.4 27.6
0.8 0.7 0.7 0.8 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9
5.9 -9.4 1.5 11.8 8.0 3.0 2.7 0.9

                                                
60.8 49.5 45.1 46.6 48.2 49.5 55.2 59.9
-6.9 -18.7 -8.9 3.4 3.5 2.8 11.3 8.6
7.2 6.0 5.5 5.5 5.6 5.8 6.1 6.6

-6.1 -16.01 -8.27 0.26 1.99 2.93 4.23 9.14
                                                

57.83 54.35 53.23 54.62 55.86 57.48 58.96 60.22
-0.51 -6.02 -2.06 2.62 2.26 2.91 2.57 2.14
5.94 5.59 5.45 5.54 5.67 5.76 5.82 5.93

-1.21 -6.01 -2.41 1.67 2.37 1.53 1.02 1.81
                                                

108.56 101.15 101.16 102.38 103.93 105.12 109.26 113.41
-1.11 -6.83 0.02 1.2 1.52 1.14 3.94 3.8
15.28 14.52 14.44 14.67 14.87 15.18 15.38 15.4
-1.49 -5 -0.53 1.57 1.35 2.06 1.33 0.14

                                                

37.58 34.19 33.28 33.67 33.77 35.01 36.61 37.84
-0.64 -9.02 -2.65 1.16 0.29 3.68 4.58 3.36
5.07 4.8 4.74 4.85 4.97 5.03 5.11 5.26

-0.56 -5.32 -1.14 2.34 2.37 1.26 1.6 2.89
                                                

24.6 22.87 22.46 22.42 22.47 23.23 23.32 23.46
-0.68 -7.05 -1.79 -0.15 0.19 3.42 0.38 0.61

2.1 2.01 1.95 1.93 1.94 1.96 1.97 1.98
-1.31 -4.58 -2.93 -1.16 0.78 1.19 0.2 0.67

                                                
67.77 63.81 61.92 61.6 62.2 63.25 64.11 65.66

-3.7 -5.84 -2.97 -0.51 0.97 1.69 1.36 2.42
8.2 7.84 7.7 7.7 7.79 7.89 7.9 7.9

-1.72 -4.46 -1.81 0.01 1.15 1.28 0.16 0.04

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 46 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Total Non-Manufacturing         
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Natural Resources               
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Construction                    
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Wholesale Trade                 
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Retail Trade                    
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Transportation, Warehousing
    and Utilities
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Information                     
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Financial Activities            
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
                                                                

856.1 880.0 899.7 919.6 937.9 953.0 967.1 982.1
3.4 2.8 2.3 2.2 2.0 1.6 1.5 1.6

108.4 110.4 111.9 112.9 113.6 114.3 114.9 115.6
2.2 1.9 1.3 0.9 0.7 0.6 0.6 0.6

                                                                
1.7 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.7 1.7 1.6 1.6

18.9 5.9 -1.3 -1.8 -1.7 -3.3 -3.2 -2.6
0.9 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
3.2 1.3 1.0 -0.4 0.2 1.2 0.9 -0.5

                                                                
64.4 67.2 69.0 70.8 72.5 73.7 74.8 76.3

7.5 4.4 2.6 2.6 2.4 1.7 1.5 1.9
7.2 7.7 7.9 8.0 8.1 8.1 8.2 8.3

9.53 5.89 2.44 1.52 1.16 0.73 0.73 1.12
                                                                

61.47 62.87 64.2 65.48 66.67 67.69 68.56 69.45
2.07 2.27 2.13 1.98 1.82 1.54 1.29 1.29
6.07 6.2 6.29 6.36 6.39 6.43 6.46 6.48
2.36 2.14 1.6 0.98 0.59 0.55 0.44 0.4

                                                                
116.71 118.89 120.39 121.89 123.25 124.42 125.5 126.77

2.91 1.87 1.27 1.25 1.12 0.95 0.87 1.01
15.46 15.52 15.53 15.5 15.43 15.33 15.23 15.12

0.37 0.42 0.06 -0.18 -0.46 -0.65 -0.67 -0.73
                                                                

39 39.95 40.57 41.05 41.44 41.68 41.84 42.03
3.04 2.44 1.55 1.18 0.96 0.57 0.39 0.46
5.44 5.61 5.73 5.76 5.77 5.77 5.77 5.76
3.41 3.08 2.15 0.6 0.12 0.04 -0.05 -0.1

                                                                
24.07 24.75 25.38 26.07 26.79 27.47 28.15 28.81

2.6 2.79 2.55 2.72 2.78 2.54 2.46 2.35
2.04 2.11 2.16 2.21 2.27 2.32 2.39 2.45
3.14 3.53 2.02 2.44 2.55 2.56 2.77 2.75

                                                                
66.78 67.05 67.29 67.75 68.26 68.61 68.97 69.35

1.7 0.41 0.35 0.69 0.76 0.51 0.52 0.55
7.87 7.81 7.75 7.74 7.74 7.73 7.73 7.74

-0.35 -0.87 -0.67 -0.23 0.02 -0.13 0.03 0.1

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 47 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Total Non-Manufacturing         
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Natural Resources               
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Construction                    
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Wholesale Trade                 
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Retail Trade                    
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Transportation, Warehousing
    and Utilities
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Information                     
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Financial Activities            
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
                                                                

996.9 1,011.0 1,026.0 1,041.2 1,056.0 1,071.0 1,087.1 1,102.6
1.5 1.4 1.5 1.5 1.4 1.4 1.5 1.4

116.3 117.1 118.1 119.1 120.2 121.3 122.4 123.4
0.6 0.7 0.8 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.8

                                                                
1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4

-3.1 -2.1 -0.8 -1.6 -2.5 -2.0 -0.5 -0.6
1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.9

-0.7 -0.6 -0.3 -0.4 -0.3 -0.2 -0.5 -0.5
                                                                

77.8 79.8 81.9 83.9 85.8 87.8 90.1 92.3
2.1 2.5 2.6 2.5 2.3 2.3 2.6 2.4
8.4 8.5 8.7 8.9 9.0 9.2 9.4 9.5

1.38 1.83 2.14 1.94 1.64 1.65 2.03 1.68
                                                                

70.37 71.15 71.94 72.84 73.71 74.57 75.45 76.38
1.33 1.1 1.12 1.25 1.2 1.16 1.18 1.24
6.52 6.55 6.58 6.61 6.6 6.59 6.57 6.55

0.5 0.55 0.48 0.44 -0.14 -0.25 -0.25 -0.34
                                                                

128.17 129.7 131.31 132.91 134.46 136.01 137.66 139.34
1.11 1.19 1.25 1.22 1.17 1.15 1.21 1.22

15.07 15.08 15.1 15.14 15.21 15.27 15.33 15.39
-0.29 0.06 0.13 0.27 0.48 0.4 0.37 0.39

                                                                

42.25 42.44 42.7 43 43.29 43.56 43.86 44.18
0.51 0.45 0.61 0.71 0.66 0.63 0.7 0.72

5.8 5.87 5.93 5.95 5.96 5.98 5.97 5.95
0.72 1.17 1 0.31 0.25 0.23 -0.11 -0.39

                                                                
29.39 29.89 30.39 30.89 31.43 32.01 32.64 33.27

2.02 1.71 1.66 1.64 1.76 1.84 1.97 1.93
2.49 2.5 2.51 2.53 2.55 2.58 2.61 2.66

1.3 0.6 0.49 0.51 0.89 1.08 1.44 1.64
                                                                

69.75 70.15 70.48 70.91 71.41 71.98 72.6 73.16
0.57 0.58 0.47 0.61 0.7 0.8 0.86 0.78
7.75 7.76 7.75 7.76 7.79 7.83 7.87 7.9
0.14 0.12 -0.1 0.13 0.35 0.51 0.52 0.44

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 48 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Total Non-Manufacturing         
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Natural Resources               
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Construction                    
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Wholesale Trade                 
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Retail Trade                    
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Transportation, Warehousing
    and Utilities
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Information                     
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Financial Activities            
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors

2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039
                                                                

1,116.6 1,130.3 1,144.3 1,158.8 1,173.9 1,188.7 1,202.9 1,216.5
1.3 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.2 1.1

124.4 125.5 126.5 127.5 128.7 129.8 131.0 132.1
0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9

                                                                
1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3

-3.3 -3.8 -1.2 0.7 0.7 -0.2 -0.6 -1.1
0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9

-0.3 -0.3 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.0 -0.2
                                                                

93.8 95.3 97.1 99.3 101.7 104.0 106.3 108.7
1.7 1.5 1.9 2.3 2.4 2.3 2.3 2.2
9.6 9.7 9.7 9.9 10.1 10.2 10.4 10.6

0.75 0.48 0.96 1.59 1.81 1.64 1.65 1.56
                                                                

77.21 77.99 78.76 79.55 80.35 81.1 81.75 82.3
1.08 1.01 1 1 1.01 0.93 0.81 0.67
6.53 6.52 6.51 6.49 6.48 6.47 6.46 6.44

-0.26 -0.2 -0.15 -0.23 -0.19 -0.16 -0.19 -0.28
                                                                

140.73 141.95 143.24 144.63 146.09 147.45 148.68 149.78
0.99 0.86 0.91 0.97 1.01 0.93 0.84 0.74

15.46 15.53 15.6 15.67 15.73 15.82 15.9 15.97
0.43 0.45 0.47 0.42 0.42 0.55 0.5 0.48

                                                                

44.43 44.62 44.81 45.01 45.25 45.51 45.72 45.9
0.56 0.44 0.42 0.45 0.53 0.57 0.47 0.4
5.93 5.9 5.88 5.85 5.81 5.77 5.74 5.69

-0.32 -0.4 -0.38 -0.6 -0.64 -0.62 -0.63 -0.73
                                                                

33.89 34.43 35 35.56 36.12 36.69 37.29 37.86
1.85 1.61 1.65 1.61 1.56 1.6 1.63 1.52
2.69 2.72 2.76 2.79 2.82 2.86 2.92 2.98
1.47 1.08 1.2 1.1 1.07 1.47 2.02 2.09

                                                                
73.6 74.16 74.83 75.54 76.21 76.9 77.55 78.11

0.6 0.76 0.91 0.95 0.89 0.89 0.85 0.73
7.92 7.96 8.02 8.09 8.14 8.2 8.25 8.29
0.24 0.54 0.77 0.81 0.67 0.67 0.64 0.47

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 49 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Total Non-Manufacturing         
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Natural Resources               
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Construction                    
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Wholesale Trade                 
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Retail Trade                    
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Transportation, Warehousing
    and Utilities
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Information                     
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Financial Activities            
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors APR

2040 2041 2042 2043 2000-43
                                

1,229.7 1,241.5 1,251.7 1,260.1 1.4%
1.1 1.0 0.8 0.7

133.3 134.4 135.6 136.6 0.9%
0.9 0.9 0.9 0.8

                                
1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 - 0.9%

-1.1 0.1 0.0 -0.3
0.9 0.9 0.9 0.9 1.0%

-0.1 0.0 -0.1 -0.2
                                

110.9 113.2 115.5 117.8 1.9%
2.0 2.1 2.0 2.0

10.7 10.9 11.0 11.2 1.2%
1.32 1.48 1.41 1.4

                                
82.72 82.95 82.96 82.72 0.9%

0.5 0.28 0.01 -0.29
6.42 6.4 6.39 6.37 0.2%

-0.32 -0.28 -0.2 -0.27
                                

150.66 151.35 151.76 151.84 0.8%
0.59 0.46 0.27 0.05

16.05 16.11 16.16 16.18 0.1%
0.51 0.38 0.26 0.17

                                

46.05 46.12 46.14 46.05 0.4%
0.32 0.17 0.03 -0.18
5.66 5.63 5.61 5.59 0.3%

-0.64 -0.47 -0.31 -0.35
                                

38.31 38.71 39.1 39.34 1.0%
1.18 1.07 0.98 0.63
3.01 3.06 3.12 3.18 0.5%
1.26 1.53 2 1.93

                                
78.74 79.35 79.89 80.37 0.5%

0.8 0.78 0.68 0.61
8.34 8.39 8.44 8.49 0.2%
0.62 0.65 0.58 0.56

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 50 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors

                                2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Professional Business Services  
Portland PMSA                   130.45 127.48 121.67 117.89 122.09 128.5 134.82 136.43
   %ch                          5.36 -2.28 -4.56 -3.11 3.56 5.25 4.92 1.2
U.S. (millions)                 16.67 16.48 15.97 15.98 16.39 16.95 17.57 17.95
   %ch                          4.49 -1.15 -3.07 0.06 2.52 3.44 3.66 2.13
Education & Health Services     
Portland PMSA                   102.91 106.55 110.99 113.62 115.64 119.83 123.22 127.75
   %ch                          2.27 3.53 4.16 2.38 1.77 3.62 2.83 3.68
U.S. (millions)                 15.11 15.64 16.2 16.59 16.95 17.37 17.82 18.32
   %ch                          2.13 3.53 3.57 2.39 2.18 2.48 2.62 2.79
Leisure & Hospitality           
Portland PMSA                   85.78 85.47 84.82 85.59 87.64 90.08 94.09 97.96
   %ch                          1.5 -0.36 -0.76 0.9 2.4 2.79 4.45 4.12
U.S. (millions)                 11.86 12.03 11.99 12.18 12.49 12.81 13.11 13.43
   %ch                          2.74 1.46 -0.39 1.58 2.6 2.57 2.31 2.43
Other Services                  
Portland PMSA                   33.42 34.18 33.89 33.98 34.74 34.51 35.65 36.62
   %ch                          3.13 2.28 -0.86 0.26 2.23 -0.67 3.31 2.72
U.S. (millions)                 5.17 5.26 5.37 5.4 5.41 5.39 5.44 5.49
   %ch                          1.6 1.73 2.17 0.53 0.16 -0.27 0.79 1.02
Fed. Government, Civilian       
Portland PMSA                   18.89 18.13 17.97 18.56 18.42 18.36 17.97 17.98
   %ch                          4 -4.05 -0.89 3.3 -0.78 -0.31 -2.13 0.07
U.S. (millions)                 2.87 2.76 2.77 2.76 2.73 2.73 2.73 2.74
   %ch                          3.44 -3.55 0.08 -0.19 -1.06 0.02 0.04 0.1
State & Local Government        
Portland PMSA                   111.61 113.33 115.77 114.95 117.86 119.28 120.98 124.29
   %ch                          2.2 1.54 2.16 -0.71 2.53 1.2 1.43 2.73
U.S. (millions)                 17.93 18.36 18.74 18.82 18.89 19.07 19.24 19.48
   %ch                          2.18 2.41 2.11 0.41 0.36 0.98 0.89 1.26

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 51 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Professional Business Services  
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Education & Health Services     
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Leisure & Hospitality           
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Other Services                  
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Fed. Government, Civilian       
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
State & Local Government        
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
                                                

136.55 124.92 127.8 133.55 138.66 143.08 151.93 161.58
0.08 -8.52 2.3 4.5 3.83 3.19 6.19 6.35

17.74 16.58 16.72 17.33 17.93 18.54 19.2 20.07
-1.15 -6.56 0.89 3.6 3.48 3.39 3.59 4.51

                                                
132.57 135.16 139.38 143.08 145.2 147.29 151.78 155.44

3.77 1.96 3.12 2.66 1.48 1.44 3.05 2.41
18.84 19.19 19.53 19.89 20.32 20.68 20.94 21.2

2.82 1.88 1.76 1.82 2.19 1.76 1.26 1.24
                                                

99.26 94.46 94.48 96.75 99.64 103.55 108.08 110.69
1.32 -4.84 0.01 2.41 2.98 3.92 4.38 2.41

13.44 13.07 13.04 13.35 13.75 14.16 14.42 14.59
0.09 -2.74 -0.21 2.35 2.97 2.98 1.86 1.15

                                                
37.13 35.26 34.6 35.27 36.48 37.6 37.9 38.02

1.39 -5.04 -1.86 1.93 3.45 3.05 0.81 0.32
5.51 5.37 5.33 5.36 5.44 5.48 5.51 5.47

0.4 -2.71 -0.66 0.56 1.42 0.89 0.41 -0.63
                                                

18.32 18.56 18.58 18.01 17.51 17.43 17.72 17.58
1.91 1.27 0.11 -3.08 -2.75 -0.46 1.64 -0.78
2.76 2.83 2.98 2.86 2.82 2.75 2.8 2.78
0.94 2.52 5.15 -3.93 -1.53 -2.5 1.95 -0.56

                                                
128.74 129.57 128.81 127.5 127.41 127.78 132.8 135.67

3.58 0.64 -0.58 -1.01 -0.07 0.29 3.93 2.16
19.74 19.72 19.51 19.23 19.1 19.11 19.17 19.32

1.32 -0.1 -1.05 -1.45 -0.69 0.06 0.3 0.79

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 52 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Professional Business Services  
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Education & Health Services     
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Leisure & Hospitality           
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Other Services                  
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Fed. Government, Civilian       
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
State & Local Government        
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
                                                                

170.26 177.69 184 190.51 196.35 201.1 205.69 210.29
5.37 4.36 3.55 3.54 3.07 2.42 2.28 2.24
20.8 21.38 21.82 22.3 22.77 23.23 23.76 24.28
3.63 2.81 2.06 2.2 2.09 2.04 2.25 2.21

                                                                
159.91 164.58 168.9 173 176.68 180.09 183.35 186.68

2.87 2.92 2.63 2.42 2.13 1.93 1.81 1.82
21.66 22.11 22.53 22.83 22.98 23.11 23.21 23.29

2.18 2.07 1.92 1.33 0.66 0.54 0.44 0.37
                                                                

113.23 115.7 117.81 119.95 121.87 123.29 124.58 126.03
2.29 2.18 1.83 1.81 1.6 1.17 1.04 1.17

14.71 14.91 15.06 15.14 15.17 15.17 15.16 15.13
0.84 1.36 1.02 0.54 0.2 -0.01 -0.08 -0.2

                                                                
38.56 39.44 40.39 41.37 42.37 43.24 44.04 44.9

1.41 2.3 2.41 2.43 2.41 2.05 1.86 1.93
5.45 5.46 5.47 5.44 5.42 5.41 5.4 5.39

-0.42 0.18 0.2 -0.48 -0.36 -0.24 -0.18 -0.29
                                                                

17.3 17.13 16.96 16.81 17.4 16.64 16.56 16.47
-1.57 -0.99 -1.02 -0.84 3.46 -4.36 -0.49 -0.55
2.73 2.7 2.67 2.64 2.78 2.63 2.61 2.6
-1.9 -1.18 -1.21 -0.93 5.12 -5.45 -0.55 -0.42

                                                                
139.2 142.13 144.91 147.47 149.75 151.93 154.09 156.22

2.6 2.1 1.96 1.77 1.55 1.45 1.42 1.38
19.51 19.73 20 20.25 20.49 20.73 20.98 21.21

1.01 1.11 1.36 1.26 1.19 1.15 1.2 1.11

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 53 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Professional Business Services  
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Education & Health Services     
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Leisure & Hospitality           
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Other Services                  
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Fed. Government, Civilian       
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
State & Local Government        
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
                                                                

214.15 217.42 221.22 224.91 228.25 231.55 235.18 238.57
1.84 1.52 1.75 1.67 1.49 1.45 1.57 1.44

24.72 25.14 25.63 26.11 26.56 27 27.46 27.89
1.79 1.73 1.94 1.87 1.72 1.66 1.7 1.55

                                                                
190.13 193.55 196.95 200.42 203.93 207.47 211.05 214.43

1.85 1.79 1.76 1.76 1.75 1.73 1.73 1.6
23.41 23.55 23.7 23.89 24.14 24.39 24.63 24.87

0.51 0.6 0.62 0.81 1.05 1.04 0.98 0.98
                                                                

127.58 128.88 130.28 131.79 133.28 134.81 136.45 138.13
1.23 1.02 1.09 1.16 1.13 1.15 1.22 1.23

15.11 15.08 15.08 15.14 15.23 15.33 15.43 15.52
-0.16 -0.17 0.03 0.35 0.6 0.68 0.63 0.63

                                                                
45.78 46.57 47.36 48.18 48.98 49.8 50.66 51.51

1.97 1.73 1.71 1.72 1.67 1.66 1.73 1.67
5.39 5.41 5.43 5.47 5.51 5.55 5.58 5.59
0.09 0.35 0.45 0.6 0.79 0.68 0.49 0.26

                                                                
16.51 16.6 16.7 16.79 16.88 16.96 17.66 17.16

0.25 0.6 0.56 0.54 0.53 0.53 4.1 -2.86
2.62 2.65 2.69 2.73 2.76 2.8 2.98 2.88
0.71 1.38 1.36 1.34 1.33 1.31 6.31 -3.24

                                                                
158.38 160.73 163.02 165.27 167.5 169.77 172.07 174.44

1.38 1.48 1.43 1.38 1.35 1.35 1.36 1.38
21.39 21.52 21.64 21.77 21.89 22.01 22.12 22.2

0.84 0.62 0.58 0.57 0.56 0.57 0.47 0.36

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 54 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Professional Business Services  
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Education & Health Services     
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Leisure & Hospitality           
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Other Services                  
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Fed. Government, Civilian       
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
State & Local Government        
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors

2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039
                                                                

241.86 245.33 248.51 251.66 255.13 258.76 262.33 266.18
1.38 1.43 1.3 1.27 1.38 1.42 1.38 1.47

28.34 28.81 29.24 29.66 30.12 30.59 31.05 31.54
1.62 1.65 1.52 1.44 1.53 1.55 1.51 1.6

                                                                
217.76 221.04 224.28 227.46 230.59 233.5 236.17 238.58

1.55 1.51 1.47 1.42 1.38 1.26 1.14 1.02
25.14 25.4 25.67 25.91 26.16 26.42 26.66 26.87

1.06 1.07 1.04 0.93 0.98 0.98 0.91 0.78
                                                                

139.63 141.15 142.64 144.1 145.62 147.12 148.5 149.78
1.09 1.09 1.06 1.03 1.05 1.03 0.94 0.86

15.63 15.74 15.84 15.94 16.03 16.15 16.26 16.38
0.66 0.71 0.66 0.62 0.59 0.74 0.69 0.73

                                                                
52.28 53.08 53.88 54.72 55.59 56.45 57.28 58.09

1.51 1.52 1.52 1.56 1.59 1.54 1.47 1.41
5.6 5.62 5.64 5.65 5.67 5.68 5.71 5.73

0.27 0.32 0.31 0.22 0.27 0.29 0.39 0.39
                                                                

17.27 17.36 17.45 17.54 17.63 17.73 17.82 17.91
0.65 0.53 0.53 0.53 0.53 0.52 0.52 0.51
2.92 2.95 2.99 3.03 3.06 3.1 3.14 3.17
1.27 1.25 1.24 1.23 1.21 1.2 1.19 1.18

                                                                
176.77 179.07 181.4 183.77 186.19 188.6 191 193.43

1.34 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.32 1.3 1.27 1.27
22.28 22.37 22.47 22.56 22.65 22.74 22.83 22.91

0.39 0.41 0.42 0.4 0.42 0.4 0.38 0.37

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 55 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
Professional Business Services  
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Education & Health Services     
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Leisure & Hospitality           
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Other Services                  
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
Fed. Government, Civilian       
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          
State & Local Government        
Portland PMSA                   
   %ch                          
U.S. (millions)                 
   %ch                          

Annual Employment (Portland MSA and U.S.)
Nonmanufacturing employment sectors APR

2040 2041 2042 2043 2000-43
                                

270.47 274.51 278.4 282.05 1.8%
1.61 1.49 1.42 1.31
32.1 32.66 33.22 33.77 1.7%
1.77 1.72 1.72 1.66

                                
240.78 242.46 243.8 244.71 2.0%

0.92 0.7 0.55 0.37
27.08 27.26 27.44 27.6 1.4%

0.78 0.69 0.66 0.55
                                

151.01 152.01 152.67 153.05 1.4%
0.82 0.66 0.44 0.24
16.5 16.62 16.72 16.81 0.8%
0.71 0.72 0.64 0.55

                                
58.88 59.61 60.28 60.91 1.4%

1.37 1.24 1.12 1.05
5.75 5.77 5.79 5.81 0.3%
0.42 0.35 0.38 0.33

                                
18.57 18.1 18.22 18.31 - 0.1%

3.67 -2.49 0.61 0.51
3.35 3.25 3.29 3.33 0.3%
5.59 -2.84 1.14 1.13

                                
195.83 198.29 200.79 203.33 1.4%

1.24 1.26 1.26 1.26
23 23.1 23.2 23.3 0.6%

0.39 0.41 0.43 0.44

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 56 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



U.S. Population and Labor Force Measures

                                1970 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000
U.S.  Population (in millons)
Population (U.S.)               205.4 216.2 228.0 238.7 250.6 267.0 282.8
  Pct. Chg. (5-year avg.)       1.09 1.03 1.06 0.93 0.97 1.27 1.16
  Annual Avg. Change 2.2 2.2 2.4 2.2 2.4 3.3 3.2
                                                                                        
Population by Age (in millons)
0 to 4 years old                17.2 16.1 16.5 17.9 18.9 19.6 19.2
5 to 15 years old               44.8 42.5 38.8 37.4 38.7 42.6 45.2
16 to 21 years old              22.6 25.2 25.9 23.4 22.4 21.7 24.3
22 to 54 years old              82.0 89.6 99.3 109.4 118.2 127.9 134.5
55 to 64 years old              18.7 20.1 21.8 22.1 21.1 21.4 24.5
65 to 84 years old              18.7 20.9 23.5 25.8 28.2 30.1 30.8
85 years and older              1.4 1.8 2.3 2.7 3.1 3.7 4.3
                                                                
Population Share by Age (in percent)
0 to 4 years old                8.37 7.42 7.24 7.48 7.54 7.34 6.79
5 to 16 years old               21.80 19.64 17.00 15.68 15.45 15.95 15.98
17 to 21 years old              10.99 11.67 11.36 9.82 8.94 8.14 8.58
22 to 54 years old              39.91 41.45 43.55 45.83 47.15 47.90 47.57
55 to 64 years old              9.11 9.29 9.55 9.26 8.42 8.00 8.66
65 to 84 years old              9.12 9.68 10.30 10.81 11.27 11.29 10.90
85 years and older              0.70 0.85 1.00 1.12 1.23 1.39 1.52
                                                                        
Population Change  (annual pct. change)
0 to 4 years old                -2.71 -1.37 0.57 1.58 1.14 0.73 -0.41
5 to 16 years old               0.79 -1.06 -1.81 -0.69 0.67 1.93 1.19
17 to 21 years old              3.20 2.27 0.51 -1.97 -0.90 -0.61 2.22
22 to 54 years old              1.28 1.80 2.07 1.96 1.55 1.59 1.02
55 to 64 years old              1.80 1.42 1.62 0.31 -0.93 0.24 2.78
65 to 84 years old              1.49 2.25 2.32 1.91 1.82 1.30 0.46
85 years and older              5.66 4.99 4.53 3.24 2.84 3.73 3.01
                                                
Labor Force (in millons)
Population 16 years and older   143.4 157.7 172.7 183.4 193.0 204.8 218.4
Labor Force, total              82.8 93.8 107.0 115.9 125.9 133.1 142.6
  16 to 64 years old            79.6 90.8 103.9 113.0 122.4 129.2 138.3
  65 years and older            3.2 3.0 3.1 2.9 3.5 3.9 4.3
Participation Rate (in percent)                                                         
Labor Force, total              57.7 59.5 61.9 63.2 65.2 65.0 65.3
  16 to 64 years old            64.6 67.3 70.7 72.9 75.7 75.6 75.4
  65 years and older            16.0 13.0 11.9 10.2 11.0 11.5 12.4
                                                                        
Employment & person-hour                                                  
Nonfarm Empl. (millions) 71.0 77.1 90.5 97.5 109.5 117.3 131.9
Unempl. Rate (percent)     5.0 8.5 7.2 7.2 5.6 5.6 4.0
Average Weekly Hours            35.9 34.6 33.7 33.9 33.3 33.4 33.4
  Mfg. Workweek (hours) 39.8 39.4 39.7 40.5 40.5 41.3 41.2
    Durable Mfg.                40.5 40.0 40.3 41.3 41.2 42.1 41.8
    Nondurable Mfg.             39.0 38.6 38.8 39.4 39.6 40.1 40.3
                                                                        
Productivity Measures  (annual pct. change)
GDP / Employment                0.28 1.04 0.39 1.79 0.98 1.17 1.92
FRB Ind. Production, all 3.23 1.76 4.55 2.25 2.94 3.22 5.80
FRB Ind. Production, Mfg. 3.50 1.78 4.22 1.72 2.62 2.89 5.15
                                                                        
Employment Cost Index  (annual pct. change)
  Pvt. Sector wages & salaries  7.88 6.01 3.72 3.07 3.67

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 57 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



                                
U.S.  Population
Population (U.S.)               
  Pct. Chg. (5-year avg.)       
  Annual Avg. Change
                                
Population by Age
0 to 4 years old                
5 to 15 years old               
16 to 21 years old              
22 to 54 years old              
55 to 64 years old              
65 to 84 years old              
85 years and older              
                                
Population Share by Age
0 to 4 years old                
5 to 16 years old               
17 to 21 years old              
22 to 54 years old              
55 to 64 years old              
65 to 84 years old              
85 years and older              
                                
Population Change
0 to 4 years old                
5 to 16 years old               
17 to 21 years old              
22 to 54 years old              
55 to 64 years old              
65 to 84 years old              
85 years and older              
                                
Labor Force
Population 16 years and older   
Labor Force, total              
  16 to 64 years old            
  65 years and older            
Participation Rate (in percent) 
Labor Force, total              
  16 to 64 years old            
  65 years and older            
                                
Employment & person-hour          
Nonfarm Empl. (millions)
Unempl. Rate (percent)     
Average Weekly Hours            
  Mfg. Workweek (hours)
    Durable Mfg.                
    Nondurable Mfg.             
                                
Productivity Measures
GDP / Employment                
FRB Ind. Production, all
FRB Ind. Production, Mfg. 
                                
Employment Cost Index
  Pvt. Sector wages & salaries  

U.S. Population and Labor Force Measures

2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040
(in millons)

296.5 310.1 321.9 334.5 347.0 359.0 370.2 380.5
0.95 0.9 0.75 0.77 0.74 0.68 0.61 0.55

2.7 2.7 2.4 2.5 2.5 2.4 2.2 2.1

(in millons)
19.9 20.2 20.9 21.6 21.9 22.1 22.3 22.8
45.2 45.2 45.2 46.1 47.8 49.3 49.9 50.4
25.3 26.8 25.5 25.4 25.5 26.2 27.6 28.1

138.5 140.3 141.5 142.4 145.3 149.7 154.3 158.7
30.8 37.0 40.9 42.7 41.1 38.8 38.6 40.7
32.0 35.0 41.6 49.5 57.9 63.9 65.8 65.6

4.8 5.6 6.4 6.7 7.4 9.0 11.7 14.2

(in percent)
6.72 6.51 6.49 6.47 6.32 6.15 6.03 6.00

15.23 14.59 14.03 13.79 13.78 13.73 13.49 13.25
8.54 8.63 7.93 7.58 7.36 7.29 7.45 7.39

46.71 45.25 43.95 42.56 41.88 41.70 41.68 41.69
10.38 11.92 12.70 12.78 11.83 10.81 10.43 10.70
10.80 11.30 12.92 14.80 16.68 17.81 17.77 17.23

1.61 1.80 1.97 2.01 2.15 2.51 3.15 3.73
                                                                

 (annual pct. change)
0.74 0.28 0.69 0.69 0.28 0.12 0.24 0.44

-0.02 0.04 -0.03 0.42 0.72 0.61 0.25 0.20
0.87 1.10 -0.92 -0.14 0.13 0.49 1.05 0.40
0.58 0.26 0.17 0.12 0.41 0.60 0.60 0.56
4.66 3.75 2.04 0.88 -0.80 -1.12 -0.11 1.07
0.76 1.81 3.48 3.55 3.17 2.02 0.57 -0.07
2.17 3.15 2.64 1.19 2.03 3.87 5.33 4.01

(in millons)
231.4 244.6 255.9 266.7 277.2 287.6 297.9 307.3
149.3 153.9 159.2 164.3 167.7 171.6 176.5 181.8
144.0 147.2 150.2 153.3 154.7 157.2 161.7 167.1

5.3 6.7 8.9 11.0 12.9 14.4 14.8 14.7
                                                                

64.5 62.9 62.2 61.6 60.5 59.7 59.2 59.2
74.0 72.1 72.3 72.8 73.0 73.2 73.4 73.5
14.3 16.5 18.6 19.6 19.8 19.8 19.1 18.4

                                                                
                                                                

133.7 129.9 140.5 149.6 153.5 159.3 164.5 170.6
5.1 9.6 6.4 5.1 5.1 4.9 4.9 5.0

32.6 32.3 32.7 32.5 32.5 32.5 32.5 32.5
40.6 41.1 41.5 41.2 41.0 41.0 41.0 41.0
41.1 41.3 41.8 41.3 41.0 41.0 41.0 41.0
39.9 40.8 41.0 41.0 41.0 41.0 41.0 40.9

                                                                
 (annual pct. change)

2.24 1.34 0.78 1.62 1.85 1.65 1.75 1.64
0.81 -1.66 3.12 3.05 2.93 2.78 2.51 2.46
0.69 -1.04 3.12 2.84 2.38 2.15 1.99 1.89

                                                                
 (annual pct. change)

3.00 2.49 1.96 2.61 2.57 2.57 2.50 2.47

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 58 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



IHS Global Insight U.S. Macroeconomic Outlook

Key U.S. Economic Forecast Indicators

                                  1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005

Components of GDP  inflation adjusted (in pct. change)

Gross Domesitc Product            2.7 3.7 3.3 3.4 2.6 4.3 2.5

Consumption                       3.2 3.2 3.8 3.3 2.8 4.6 3.1

  Durables                        5.1 3.4 7.7 3.7 3.8 9.8 6.7

    Computers                                     105.9 43.8 51.4 59.6 30.7

    Software                                      103.5 49.6 51.9 42.2 29.5

    Info. Processing Equipment    2.6 0.6 54.9 39.8 48.9 53.7 30.4

  Nondurables                     1.4 2.6 2.5 2.4 2.1 3.6 2.7

    Food                          1 2.1 1.7 2.4 0.9 2.1 2.2

    Gasoline & other fuels        1.6 -0.7 1.1 1.9 1.8 1.2 0.2

    Clothing & footwear           3.8 5.9 5.5 3.7 3.8 5.1 3.8

Gross Domestic Investments        1.3 7.2 5.6 1.4 4.6 8.9 2.4

  Nonresidential Fixed Investments 2.4 7.9 5 2 4.7 9.9 0.8

    Industrial Equipment          1.3 4 -0.2 0.5 4.3 3.9 -1.6

    Computer Equipment            24.6 61.9 42.5 14.6 29.2 39.1 8.1

    Transportation Equip.         3.3 5 3.7 -2.9 8.4 6.7 -0.6

    Structures/Buildings          -0.8 7.8 3 -2.1 -2 4.9 -4.6

  Residential Fixed Investments   0.8 3.6 4.6 0.1 3.4 5.2 6.5

    Equipment                     7.5 6.6 5.1 2.6 0.6 4.4 5.3

    Structures/Buildings          0.4 3.9 4.4 0 3.5 6.4 6.5

Exports                           6.9 7.5 0.4 11 7.2 7 1.8

  Goods                           7.4 8.1 -0.5 11 7.8 8.2 1.4

  Services                        5.6 5.4 3.4 11 5.7 4.1 2.6

Imports                           1.3 6.5 8.6 5.3 7 11.6 4.3

Federal Spending                  -2.4 2.3 5.2 2.4 -2.2 -0.1 4.8

State & Local Spending            3.1 1.2 1.7 3.8 2.2 3.4 1.2
                                                                                          

Inflation Measures  inflation adjusted (in pct. change)

GDP Deflator                      6.6 7.2 5.2 3.1 2.4 1.7 2.4

Consumer Price Index              6.7 8.9 5.5 4 3.1 2.5 2.5

  excluding Food & Energy         5.7 8.4 6.2 4.4 3.5 2.4 2.1

Producer Price Index              9.6 9 2.8 2.4 1.4 1.3 3.5

Employment Cost Index                     7.9 6 3.7 3.1 3.7 3
                                                                                          

Interest Rates (in percents)                 

Fed Funds                         5.8 13.4 8.1 8.1 5.8 6.2 3.2

3-month Treasury Bill             5.8 11.4 7.5 7.5 5.5 5.8 3.1

30-Year Treasury Bond                     11.3 10.8 8.6 6.9 5.9 4.6

30-Year Fixed Mortgage            9 13.8 12.4 10.1 8 8.1 5.9
                                                                                          

Personal Income  inflation adjusted (in pct. change)

  Nominal                         9.6 11.1 8.7 6.9 5.1 6.6 4.2

  Inflation adjusted              2.7 2.1 3 2.8 1.9 4 1.6
                                                                                          

Other Key U.S. Economic Measures                  

Oil Prices (nominal $/barrel)                     

  W. Texas Intermediate                           27.9 24.5 18.4 30.3 56.5

  Refiners Acquistion Cost        10.4 28.2 26.7 22.3 17.2 28.2 50.3

  Domestic Crude                  8.4 24.2 26.7 22.4 17.3 29.1 53

  Imported Crude                  13.9 34 27 22.2 17.1 27.7 48.9

Exchange Rate Indexes (2009=1.0)   (weighted, inflation-adjusted)

  Major Trading Partners          1.225 1.088 1.47 1.083 1.04 1.303 1.075

  Other Important Partners                1.025 1.488 1.404 1.265 1.283 1.181

Housing Starts (in millions)      1.16 1.3 1.741 1.203 1.361 1.573 2.073

  Single-family                   0.891 0.855 1.071 0.901 1.082 1.232 1.719

  Multi-family                    0.269 0.445 0.671 0.303 0.279 0.341 0.354

Consumer Sentiment (U. Mich.) 70.4 64.4 93.2 81.6 92.2 107.6 88.6

2014 Urban Growth Report Appendix Metro Research Center 6/24/2014Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 59 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



IHS Global Insight U.S. Macroeconomic Outlook

                                  

Components of GDP

Gross Domesitc Product            

Consumption                       

  Durables                        

    Computers                     

    Software                      

    Info. Processing Equipment    

  Nondurables                     

    Food                          

    Gasoline & other fuels        

    Clothing & footwear           

Gross Domestic Investments        

  Nonresidential Fixed Investments

    Industrial Equipment          

    Computer Equipment            

    Transportation Equip.         

    Structures/Buildings          

  Residential Fixed Investments   

    Equipment                     

    Structures/Buildings          

Exports                           

  Goods                           

  Services                        

Imports                           

Federal Spending                  

State & Local Spending            
                                  

Inflation Measures

GDP Deflator                      

Consumer Price Index              

  excluding Food & Energy         

Producer Price Index              

Employment Cost Index             
                                  

Interest Rates 

Fed Funds                         

3-month Treasury Bill             

30-Year Treasury Bond             

30-Year Fixed Mortgage            
                                  

Personal Income

  Nominal                         

  Inflation adjusted              
                                  

Other Key U.S. Economic Measures  

Oil Prices (nominal $/barrel)     

  W. Texas Intermediate           

  Refiners Acquistion Cost        

  Domestic Crude                  

  Imported Crude                  

Exchange Rate Indexes (2009=1.0)

  Major Trading Partners          

  Other Important Partners        

Housing Starts (in millions)      

  Single-family                   

  Multi-family                    

Consumer Sentiment (U. Mich.)

Key U.S. Economic Forecast Indicators

2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

 inflation adjusted (in pct. change)

0.8 2.4 2.9 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.4

1 2.4 2.6 2.2 2.3 2.3 2.3

0.7 6.7 4.5 4.3 4.7 4.7 4.9

17.5 17.1 14.9 13.9 14.3 14.2 14.2

15 8.2 8 6.7 7.2 7.1 7.1

16 12.8 11.7 10.6 11 10.9 11

0.8 1.9 2.1 2.1 2.3 2.5 2.6

0.4 2 1.9 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.3

-1.1 -0.5 -0.1 -0.7 -1 -1.1 -1.5

1 2.4 3.3 3.1 4 3.8 3.7

-4.5 6.7 3.8 2.5 2.3 2.3 2.6

-0.5 5.6 4.9 3 2.8 2.8 3

-3.8 8.3 2.6 2.2 2.5 2.8 2.8

10.2 4.7 12.6 9.2 5.3 4.3 4.3

-7.1 11.6 2.7 2.1 3.5 3.6 3.9

-2.8 4.4 5.2 1.6 1.6 1.3 1.6

-15.2 11.4 1.4 0.3 0.6 0.3 0.7

-2.2 4.8 3.7 3.9 4.1 4.4 4.3

-15.4 11.6 1.4 0.2 0.6 0.2 0.7

4.9 4.6 6.6 5.9 5.4 5.3 4.8

4.7 4.7 6.9 6.6 5.9 5.9 5.2

5.6 4.3 5.9 4.3 4.3 4 3.7

0.6 3.9 3.7 3.6 3.9 4 4

4.2 -1.8 -0.4 0.2 1.2 1.1 1.3

0.3 -0.8 1.1 1 1.1 1.1 1.3
                                                        

 inflation adjusted (in pct. change)

1.9 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.8 1.9 2

2.2 2 2 1.9 2 2.1 2.2

2 1.9 2 1.9 2 2.1 2.2

3.3 2.3 1.4 1.4 1.3 1.4 1.5

2.5 2 2.6 2.6 2.6 2.5 2.5
                                                        

                        (in percents)                        

0.2 0.4 4 4 4 4 4

0.1 0.4 3.7 3.7 3.7 3.7 3.7

4.3 4.2 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.8

4.7 4.9 6.6 6.6 6.6 6.6 6.6
                                                        

 inflation adjusted (in pct. change)

3.2 4.5 5 4.3 4.4 4.3 4.3

1 2.5 3 2.3 2.4 2.2 2.1
                                                        

                                                        

                                                        

79.4 96.1 106.8 117.6 129.9 142.1 155.6

76.7 94.3 106.6 118.3 130.6 142.8 156.3

77.9 95.6 109.1 121.3 133.6 145.8 159.3

75.9 93.2 104.1 115.4 127.7 139.9 153.4

  (weighted, inflation-adjusted)

0.994 1.016 0.978 0.955 0.936 0.921 0.908

0.948 0.804 0.695 0.647 0.621 0.605 0.591

0.586 1.472 1.609 1.557 1.557 1.515 1.498

0.471 1.045 1.11 1.061 1.011 0.972 0.959

0.114 0.427 0.499 0.496 0.545 0.542 0.538

71.8 88.7 88.9 88.9 90.3 90.1 90.2

2014 Urban Growth Report Appendix Metro Research Center 6/24/2014Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 60 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



IHS Global Insight U.S. Macroeconomic Outlook

U.S. Industrial Productivity Measures for key industries

                           1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

U.S. Manufacturing Productivity Measures (Federal Reserve Board)

(annualized average percent change)

Total Industrial Production 2.6 2.9 5.1 0.7 -1.0 3.1 2.8 2.4 2.2 2.0 1.9

                                                                                                                   

Manufacturing, total       3.0 3.5 5.9 1.0 -1.4 3.4 3.2 3.0 2.8 2.6 2.5

                                                                                                                   

Nondurable Goods           2.8 1.8 1.3 0.5 -2.0 1.0 2.4 2.0 2.0 2.2 2.3

  Food Processing          1.9 1.9 1.6 1.2 0.0 1.7 2.1 1.6 1.7 1.6 1.6

  Paper                    2.5 1.9 -0.4 -1.3 -2.8 0.2 1.8 1.5 1.7 1.8 1.9

                                                                                                                   

Durable Goods              3.3 4.8 9.4 1.5 -0.9 5.6 4.2 3.8 3.5 3.0 2.9

  Wood Products            2.9 1.6 2.6 1.3 -8.6 8.2 1.4 -0.1 -0.1 -0.4 0.2

  Primary Metals           2.6 1.9 1.0 -1.0 -0.9 3.2 3.6 2.3 0.2 -0.8 -1.1

  Fabricated Metals        0.8 3.3 3.2 -1.2 -2.8 5.2 2.8 1.7 1.2 1.2 1.4

  Machinery                2.3 3.3 2.9 -1.3 -1.6 6.1 3.5 2.5 2.1 1.8 2.0

  Computer & Electronics   8.1 14.3 30.7 7.5 7.7 7.0 7.5 7.8 7.3 5.4 5.1

  Transport Equipment      2.2 1.4 4.0 1.1 -1.8 6.6 3.5 2.8 3.2 3.3 2.5

                                                                                                                   

                                                                                                                   

U.S. Manufacturing Productivity Measures (Federal Reserve Board)                                                                                        

(index 2002=100)                                                                                                   

Total Industrial Production 62.2 71.8 92.2 95.5 90.6 105.7 121.6 136.7 152.1 167.9 184.4

                                                                                                                   

Manufacturing, total       56.8 67.3 89.8 94.4 87.9 103.7 121.4 140.6 161.7 183.5 207.9

                                                                                                                   

Nondurable Goods           82.4 89.9 95.9 98.3 88.7 93.5 105.1 116.3 128.6 143.2 160.6

  Food Processing          78.1 85.8 92.7 98.6 98.6 107.4 119.3 129.3 140.4 152.1 164.5

  Paper                    100.1 110.1 107.7 100.7 87.2 88.0 96.0 103.3 112.6 123.1 135.1

                                                                                                                   

Durable Goods              42.7 54.0 84.8 91.2 87.3 114.9 140.8 169.4 201.6 234.1 270.1

  Wood Products            80.7 87.3 99.3 105.9 67.6 100.5 107.7 107.2 106.9 104.9 105.7

  Primary Metals           87.1 95.6 100.3 95.2 91.1 106.4 126.7 142.2 143.4 137.7 130.2

  Fabricated Metals        70.0 82.5 96.6 90.9 79.0 101.6 116.7 127.3 135.1 143.7 154.0

  Machinery                71.9 84.8 97.7 91.6 84.6 113.7 135.1 153.1 170.1 186.4 206.0

  Computer & Electronics   7.2 14.0 53.6 76.9 111.6 156.5 225.3 328.1 466.0 606.3 778.5

  Transport Equipment      67.7 72.7 88.3 93.0 85.0 117.3 139.4 160.4 187.8 220.4 249.9

2014 Urban Growth Report Appendix Metro Research Center 6/24/2014Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 61 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



IHS Global Insight, U.S. Macroeconomic Outlook

U.S. Components of National Income
(Nominal billions of dollars unless otherwise noted)

                             1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005

U.S. National Income Accounts                                                         

                      

Total Personal Income        1,366.9 2,316.8 3,515.9 4,904.5 6,276.5 8,632.8 10,610.3

   pct. chg. (annualized)    9.6 11.1 8.7 6.9 5.1 6.6 4.2

Inflation-adjusted           4,503.2 5,267.0 6,204.8 7,272.6 8,219.8 10,384.3 11,499.4

   pct. chg. (annualized)    3.1 3.2 3.3 3.2 2.5 4.8 2.1

                                                                                     

Wage & Salary Disbursements  814.9 1,373.4 1,982.6 2,741.2 3,418.0 4,825.9 5,692.9

Social Security Contributions 89.9 167.2 282.8 412.1 535.5 709.4 878.0

Transfer Payments to Persons 170.0 279.5 424.9 594.9 879.0 1,083.0 1,512.0

Other Labor Income           88.6 163.9 258.7 395.0 520.5 685.5 966.8

Proprietors, total           118.2 171.6 241.1 354.5 484.5 757.8 979.0

   Farm                      22.0 11.7 21.0 32.2 22.0 31.5 46.4

   Businesses (nonfarm)      96.2 159.9 220.1 322.3 462.4 726.3 932.6

Dividends, Interest and Rent 220.2 411 748.9 1,030.40 1,252.00 1,651.90 1,920.60

                                                                                     

(annualized percent change)                                                          

Wage & Salary Disbursements  8.1 11 7.6 6.7 4.5 7.1 3.4

Social Security Contributions 14 13.2 11.1 7.8 5.4 5.8 4.4

Transfer Payments to Persons 17.9 10.5 8.7 7 8.1 4.3 6.9

Other Labor Income           12.2 13.1 9.6 8.8 5.7 5.7 7.1

Proprietors, total           8.7 7.7 7 8 6.4 9.4 5.3

   Farm                      11.2 -11.8 12.4 8.9 -7.3 7.4 8.1

   Businesses (nonfarm)      8.2 10.7 6.6 7.9 7.5 9.4 5.1

Dividends, Interest and Rent 10.4 13.3 12.7 6.6 4 5.7 3.1

2014 Urban Growth Report Appendix Metro Research Center 6/24/2014Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 62 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



IHS Global Insight, U.S. Macroeconomic Outlook

                             

U.S. National Income Accounts

                      

Total Personal Income        

   pct. chg. (annualized)    

Inflation-adjusted           

   pct. chg. (annualized)    

                             

Wage & Salary Disbursements  

Social Security Contributions

Transfer Payments to Persons 

Other Labor Income           

Proprietors, total           

   Farm                      

   Businesses (nonfarm)      

Dividends, Interest and Rent 

                             

(annualized percent change)  

Wage & Salary Disbursements  

Social Security Contributions

Transfer Payments to Persons 

Other Labor Income           

Proprietors, total           

   Farm                      

   Businesses (nonfarm)      

Dividends, Interest and Rent 

U.S. Components of National Income
(Nominal billions of dollars unless otherwise noted)

2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

                                                        

                                                        

12,435.2 15,494.0 19,790.4 24,453.6 30,314.9 37,452.1 46,332.2

3.2 4.5 5 4.3 4.4 4.3 4.3

12,232.4 14,048.6 16,411.0 18,561.0 20,997.6 23,545.3 26,344.0

1.2 2.8 3.2 2.5 2.5 2.3 2.3

                                                        

6,377.5 7,803.7 9,789.1 11,911.9 14,713.9 18,078.1 22,267.3

989.0 1,247.7 1,625.9 2,008.6 2,480.7 3,047.1 3,751.9

2,276.9 2,686.2 3,402.2 4,412.0 5,740.9 7,330.5 9,251.6

1,120.4 1,279.6 1,608.3 1,936.8 2,353.8 2,868.3 3,523.2

1,032.7 1,457.3 1,801.4 2,238.2 2,839.4 3,576.0 4,462.1

46.0 100.4 94.9 85.0 76.1 64.7 49.5

986.7 1,356.9 1,706.5 2,153.2 2,763.3 3,511.4 4,412.5

2,156.50 2,934.90 4,060.70 5,033.20 6,001.40 7,241.20 8,856.90

                                                        

                                                        

2.3 4.1 4.6 4 4.3 4.2 4.3

2.4 4.8 5.4 4.3 4.3 4.2 4.2

8.5 3.4 4.8 5.3 5.4 5 4.8

3 2.7 4.7 3.8 4 4 4.2

1.1 7.1 4.3 4.4 4.9 4.7 4.5

-0.2 16.9 -1.1 -2.2 -2.2 -3.2 -5.2

1.1 6.6 4.7 4.8 5.1 4.9 4.7

2.3 6.4 6.7 4.4 3.6 3.8 4.1

2014 Urban Growth Report Appendix Metro Research Center 6/24/2014Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1a, Page 63 of 64

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



IH
S 

G
lo

b
al

 In
si

gh
t

La
te

st
 U

.S
. c

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
an

d
 o

u
tl

o
o

k 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
2

0
0

8
2

0
0

9
2

0
1

0
2

0
1

1
2

0
1

2
2

0
1

3
2

0
1

4
2

0
1

5
2

0
1

6

R
ea

l G
D

P
 (

%
 c

h
an

ge
) 

   
   

   
   

   
-0

.3
-2

.8
2

.5
1

.8
2

.8
1

.7
2

.5
3

.1
3

.3

P
ay

ro
ll 

Em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

(c
h

. i
n

 m
il.

) 
  

-0
.8

-6
-0

.9
1

.6
2

.2
2

.2
2

.2
2

.5
2

.7

Fe
d

er
al

 F
u

n
d

s 
R

at
e 

(p
ct

.)
   

   
   

 
1

.9
3

0
.1

6
0

.1
8

0
.1

0
.1

4
0

.1
1

0
.1

4
0

.3
7

2
.1

5

1
0

-y
r.

 T
-N

o
te

 Y
ie

ld
 (

p
ct

.)
   

   
   

3
.7

3
.3

3
.2

2
.8

1
.8

2
.3

2
.9

3
.2

3
.8

B
re

n
t 

C
ru

d
e 

P
ri

ce
 (

$
/b

b
l)

   
   

   
 

9
7

.9
6

1
.6

7
9

.8
1

1
1

1
1

1
.8

1
0

7
.7

1
0

3
.9

9
9

.2
9

7
.9

C
P

I (
%

 c
h

an
ge

) 
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

3
.8

-0
.3

1
.6

3
.1

2
.1

1
.4

1
.4

1
.7

1
.9

H
o

u
si

n
g 

St
ar

ts
 (

m
il.

) 
   

   
   

   
 

0
.9

8
0

.6
0

.6
4

0
.6

6
0

.8
4

0
.9

7
1

.2
1

1
.5

7
1

.7
4

C
o

n
su

m
e

r 
Se

n
ti

m
e

n
t 

   
   

   
   

   
 

6
3

.8
6

6
.3

7
1

.8
6

7
.4

7
6

.5
7

8
.5

8
2

.3
8

8
.7

8
9

.4

U
n

em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

R
at

e 
(p

er
ce

n
t)

   
   

  
5

.8
9

.3
9

.6
8

.9
8

.1
7

.5
6

.9
6

.4
5

.9

so
u

rc
e:

 IH
S 

G
lo

b
a

l I
n

si
g

h
t,

 J
a

n
u

a
ry

 2
0

1
4

 U
.S

. M
a

cr
o

ec
o

n
o

m
ic

 O
u

tl
o

o
k

2
0

1
4

 U
rb

an
 G

ro
w

th
 R

e
p

o
rt

 A
p

p
en

d
ix

M
et

ro
 R

e
se

ar
ch

 C
en

te
r

6
/2

4
/2

0
1

4
Dr

af
t 2

01
4 

U
rb

an
 G

ro
w

th
 R

ep
or

t 
Ap

pe
nd

ix
 1

a,
 P

ag
e 

64
 o

f 6
4

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Appendix 1b 
Frequently asked questions about population and employment forecasting 

 
How does Metro develop its employment and population forecasts? 
We rely on computer models to forecast and help foresee future trends (and ranges) in employment 
and population growth in the region. The region is the Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro MSA (i.e., Portland 
MSA). Our computer model is a statistical, regression-based economic representation of the regional 
economy. The econometric model is integrated with a traditional cohort-component population model. 
The econometric portion of the model predicts regional employment, income and wage trends while the 
cohort model predicts regional population growth. (This econometric model also has tie-ins to 
MetroScope – an integrated land use distribution model – and a Transportation Demand Model (TDM) 
to complete Metro’s suite of detailed socio-economic, land use and transportation models). 

What counties make up the Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro MSA? 
The U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) has the responsibility of delineation and periodically 
refreshing the counties that make up metropolitan statistical areas (MSA). The recent rendition of the 
Portland MSA includes the following counties in two states. 

Oregon counties: Washington counties: 
• Clackamas • Clark 
• Columbia • Skamania 
• Multnomah  
• Washington  
• Yamhill  

 
Metro updates its regional definition and associated models whenever there is an official change in MSA 
delineations. 

Why does Metro produce a forecast for the larger metropolitan area instead of the urban growth 
boundary, counties and cities? 
Eventually, in coordination with cities and counties, Metro does produce forecasts for smaller 
geographies. However, we start with the seven-county MSA for several reasons, including: 

• The most current population and employment numbers from the federal government are for 
the MSA geography. We want to make sure we can tie our forecast to actual historic numbers. 

• We need to understand the larger context of the economic region before forecasting greater 
detail. 

• We’re “showing our work” instead of jumping to forecasts for smaller geographies. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 1 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



What are the key assumptions for the regional population forecast? 
A population forecast is comprised of 3 primary components: 

• Births 
• Deaths 
• (Net) Migration. 

 
Demographers use the term ”natural increase” to describe births and deaths added together. “Net 
migration” takes into account migration inflows minus migration outflows. The mechanics of any 
population model are simply adding together estimates of natural increases and net migration to arrive 
at a population forecast.  Extrapolating natural increase and net migration into future years yields a 
population forecast. 

The regional population forecast thus depends on projection rates for births, deaths and migration. The 
birth and death rate projections are assumptions derived from Census data and specifically adjusted for 
age. Race, ethnicity and sex are also major factors that affect birth and death rates. Differences caused 
by these factors are factored into the projections.  The migration component derives from a regression 
analysis that considers economic trends with observed net migration data and is integrated with the 
Metro economic forecast. (The notion being that migration ebbs and flows with business cycles and 
economic trends.) 

Birth rates – Metro relies on the U.S. Census Bureau to supply births rate assumption for future forecast 
years. These rates are age-adjusted according to the birth mother’s age. Because these birth rates are 
for the U.S., Metro re-calibrates these birth rates so that they align with historical age-adjusted birth 
rates observed in the Portland MSA for the last 15 years. 

Death rates – Metro relies on the U.S. Census Bureau and Centers for Disease Control (CDC) to supply 
death rate assumptions. These rates are adjusted according to age bracket. Because these death rates 
are for the U.S., Metro re-calibrates the death rates so that they align with historical regional age-
adjusted rates observed for the last 15 years. 

Net Migration – Metro bases its migration forecast on historical trends. The historical net-migration 
estimates are provided by Portland State University Population Research Center. The Metro migration 
forecast is tied into the regional econometric model and regional forecast. We have found statistically 
significant socio-economic relationship between annual migration rates and the pace of regional 
economic activity. We exploit this relationship within the Metro regional econometric model to predict 
net migration flows to the MSA region. 

What data sources are used in preparing the population forecast? 
• Portland State University Population Center – basic county population estimates, 

http://www.pdx.edu/prc/population-estimates-0  
• Washington State Office of Financial Management, http://www.ofm.wa.gov/pop/  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 2 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://www.pdx.edu/prc/population-estimates-0�
http://www.ofm.wa.gov/pop/�


• U.S. Census Bureau, National Population Projections, 
http://www.census.gov/population/projections/data/national/index.html  

• Oregon county vital statistics, 
http://public.health.oregon.gov/BirthDeathCertificates/VitalStatistics/annualreports/CountyDat
aBook/Pages/cdb.aspx  

• Washington State county vital statistics, 
http://www.doh.wa.gov/DataandStatisticalReports/VitalStatisticsData.aspx  

What are the main economic drivers for the regional employment forecast? 
The Metro regional employment forecast is based on projections from a structural econometric model. 
What this means is that for each key regional industry, we use statistics – i.e., regression analysis – to 
forecast what direction we think the employment in the industry will grow. The focus is to define an 
econometric or statistical relationship between the dependent variable (industry employment) and a set 
of one or more independent variables. This statistical relationship typically describes how we 
understand regional employment will grow over time with expected variations in the independent 
variable(s). Metro keeps this regional econometric model up to date with the most recent data available 
as it prepares the regional forecast. 

For us to forecast regional employment trends, we need to have assumptions about future values for 
the independent variables in each regression equation. As we have done so in previous regional 
employment forecasts, we get future estimates for these independent variables from IHS Global Insight. 
IHS is the leading provider of diverse global market and economic information. IHS is a global 
information company with world-class experts in the pivotal areas shaping today's business landscape, 
including energy, economics, geopolitical risk, sustainability and supply chain management. 

The Global Insight 30-year Long-term U.S. macroeconomic outlook serves up the economic drivers that 
are the cornerstone for the Metro regional forecast. The economic drivers (or variables) include: 

• forecasts of GDP and its components (e.g., consumption, investments, imports/exports and 
government spending) 

•  interest and inflation rates 
• foreign exchange rates 
• production and productivity 
• demographics 

What data sources go into preparing the employment forecast? 
• IHS Global Insight - U.S. macro-economic drivers (variables include GDP components, interest 

rates, foreign exchange rates, inflation rates, production and productivity, etc.), 
http://www.ihs.com/index.aspx (data are proprietary and on paid subscription) 

• U.S. Census, http://www.census.gov/  
• Bureau of Labor Statistics, http://www.bls.gov/home.htm  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 3 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://www.census.gov/population/projections/data/national/index.html�
http://public.health.oregon.gov/BirthDeathCertificates/VitalStatistics/annualreports/CountyDataBook/Pages/cdb.aspx�
http://public.health.oregon.gov/BirthDeathCertificates/VitalStatistics/annualreports/CountyDataBook/Pages/cdb.aspx�
http://www.doh.wa.gov/DataandStatisticalReports/VitalStatisticsData.aspx�
http://www.ihs.com/index.aspx�
http://www.census.gov/�
http://www.bls.gov/home.htm�


• Bureau of Economic Analysis, http://www.bea.gov/  
• Oregon Employment Department, http://www.qualityinfo.org/olmisj/CEW  

How are the “range forecasts” created by Metro? 
To recognize that forecasts carry an element of uncertainty, Metro generates a forecast range for total 
regional population and employment by industry sector and sums the industry ranges for total regional 
employment. The ranges represent a 90% confidence interval that future employment and population 
for the region will fall within this growth band. Another way of saying is that 10% of the time we might 
expect growth to be faster or slower so that population and employment growth in these instances will 
fall outside of the confidence interval. 

Since the methodology for creating the population and employment forecasts are different, the 
approach for creating ranges plays to the strengths of each methodology. 

Population Range Methodology – The regional population forecast employs a standard cohort-
component approach for projecting future population growth. Recall that the cohort-component relies 
on a set of assumptions for age-adjusted birth and death rates and net migration. Since these are 
assumptions, it’s not much of a stretch to imagine that these assumptions could be wrong or have some 
standard error to them. Further, if we imagine that each of these assumptions is in actuality a 
continuous random variable, then it is possible to assign a probability density function that describes the 
expected value of the population component rate assumptions and to then ascribe a standard forecast 
error that is akin to a standard deviation to account for some uncertainty in these assumptions. 

Having no prior knowledge of what the true shape of the probability density function is for the 
population components, we assert that the error distribution for each population component is 
normally distributed. A normal distribution is useful and a unique error distribution can be defined by a 
mean and a standard deviation. We assume that the expected values in the baseline forecast 
assumptions represent the mean of the normal distribution while the standard deviation is represented 
by estimating the standard error of the forecast for each birth and death rate component. 

Applying a monte carlo computation method, each population component is randomized 10,000 times 
and each time a new alternative population simulation is calculated. Because of the properties of a 
normal distribution, the chance of one of the alternative population forecasts is more likely to fall closer 
to the expected or mean value represented by the baseline population forecast than near the tail ends. 
By tabulating all 10,000 alternative population simulations into a crosstab, we end up having a 
population forecast range or interval. Within in this interval, we can easily infer from the tabulation 
what percentage of forecast alternatives fall within 1, 2 or more standard deviations from the forecast 
baseline (or mean). By repeating the simulations many times and tabulating these results, we may infer 
from these random draws a confidence interval that is “bell-shaped”. 

Employment Range Methodology – The regional employment forecast is computed from a regional 
econometric model that is rooted in regression analysis. This means that for each equation there is a 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 4 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://www.bea.gov/�
http://www.qualityinfo.org/olmisj/CEW�


forecast standard error calculated from the regression. From here, it is straight forward to infer a 1- or 
2-standard deviation forecast range for each industry sector. The range is computed by taking the 
baseline forecast as an anchor point and adding/subtracting twice the value of the forecast error. This 
range represents a 90% confidence interval or 2 standard deviations. 
 
What importance is attributed to the Metro baseline forecast for population and employment? 
The baseline population (and employment) forecast serves as an anchor point for the range forecast. 
The range represents statistically a confidence interval (typically 2 standard deviations or equal to 90%) 
for the uncertainty the forecaster has over the forecast. The confidence bands usually grow wider over 
time as the forecast years increase away from the forecast base year. Typically, the base year for 
demographic data is a decennial census year (e.g., 2010) and the employment and other economic 
variables will vary with most base years set in the case of this forecast as 2013 (part year). 

Why doesn’t Metro use the population estimates from PSU’s Population Research Center (PRC)? 
Population estimates aren’t the same as a population forecast or projection. As the PRC says on its 
website, population estimates are annual population estimates prepared by the center as current year 
estimates for the years in the decade between the most recent decennial census and the next decennial 
census.  (source: http://www.pdx.edu/prc/population-estimates-0 ) 

Why doesn’t Metro use the population forecasts from PSU’s Population Research Center (PRC)? 
The timing of PRC’s population forecast for the Metro area is out of sync with when Metro needs this 
information for the analysis to go into the 2014 Urban Growth Report. 

PSU and DLCD are now working together to come up with a schedule to forecast population growth of 
the State and its counties and cities. But an agreement for this work has not yet been hammered out 
and forecast work has not yet begun. Meanwhile, Metro has need for this information now in order stay 
on schedule with meeting its 5-year mandate to review the region’s capacity for accommodating a 
future 20-year growth expectation.  

Is the Metro population forecast coordinated with PSU’s Population Research Center (PRC)? 
Yes. Metro and PRC formally reviewed and shared component assumptions for population growth of the 
region. Metro shared its forecast methodology with PRC and had them scrutinize the approach, 
component assumptions and review the forecast results for the baseline and range. PRC staff also 
participated in Metro’s regional forecast review panel (see next question). 

Was the regional forecast peer reviewed? 
Yes. Metro convened a panel of experts from the region to review the veracity of the 2014 regional 
forecast (and range). The panel met twice. The first time was to discuss the U.S. macro-economic 
outlook (IHS Global Insight), review the model’s structure and to provide preliminary feedback on the 
general tone and direction of the forecast assumptions. The second meeting was to confirm the veracity 
of the baseline and discuss factors and assumptions that could influence the direction and magnitude of 
a high and low growth forecast scenarios.  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 5 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://www.pdx.edu/prc/population-estimates-0�


Members of the peer review panel included staffs from Portland State University (PSU) Population 
Research Center, PSU center for sustainability, PSU Northwest Economic Research Center (panel chaired 
by Dr. Thomas Potiowsky), NW Natural, Johnson Economics and EcoNorthwest Consulting. A summary 
of the panel’s discussions is included in the Urban Growth Report’s appendices. 

Has the 2014 regional forecast been coordinated with local governments? 
As yet, no. The regional forecast will be reviewed and coordinated with local jurisdictions in the context 
of Metro’s growth distribution process depicted in Figure 1. This step takes place after state 
acknowledgement of the Metro Council’s decision to adopt a regional forecast. When the time comes, 
the regional forecast will be distributed to traffic analysis zones (TAZ) for households and employment. 
In turn, TAZ estimates (which are smaller than census tracts) may be subtotaled to approximate 
population (or employment) by city limits. This work requires detailed coordination with cities and 
counties. 

 

Figure 1: Illustration of Forecast, Legislative & Growth Coordination Cycle 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 6 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



What’s different about regional vs. county forecasts (or other smaller geographies)? 
Smaller geographies – even counties – historically experience broader growth trend fluctuations than 
regional or state forecasts. Bigger areas benefit from larger numbers that tend to smooth out local 
variations that are hard to predict or near impossible to expect. We see the regional and county 
differences play out in the forecast because of specific geographic disparities and advantages. For 
example, why did the high tech economy sprout in Silicon Forest in Washington County and not 
Clackamas or Multnomah? This historical idiosyncrasy creates regional and subregional growth rate 
differences that show up in the county-level job forecasts. Migration and differences in housing 
preferences and the mix of housing supply in each county played a role in bolstering suburban 
population growth during the 1980’s and 90’s. This too led to variations between county vs. regional 
growth rates. 

What modeling tools does Metro use to prepare forecasts areas smaller than the Portland-Vancouver-
Hillsboro metropolitan statistical area? Why? 
MetroScope, which is a mathematical economic model developed to analyze and simulate urban growth 
and predict future development patterns. It is what scientists call an integrated land use and 
transportation model. It is state-of-the-art market equilibrium model which is capable of forecasting 
where population and employment will locate in the future. It is a model that explicitly considers where 
people live and work in the future after taking into account regulatory, market trends, and socio-
economic factors that could impact the ease of future transportation and commuting, the price of real 
estate, and the availability of land supply for housing and industry growth. These are factors that a 
traditional cohort-component population model is not capable of assessing. 

The smallest geography for which Metro produces forecasts is the Transportation Analysis Zone (TAZ). 
The TAZ forecast is primarily used by Metro and local area transportation forecasters and modelers. TAZ 
are pretty small areas – about ¼ the size of a typical census tract. There are over 2,100 TAZ geographic 
units in the Portland region. This data is used as inputs in modeling congestion, transit, and traffic flows 
for transportation and corridor planning projects. Examples of recent uses include the Columbia River 
Crossing (CRC) Study, Southwest Corridor Planning Project (SWCP0, East Metro Connections Plan 
(EMCP), and updates to the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP). 

Why are forecasts sometimes incorrect? 
Creating a forecast requires us to make assumptions or guesses about events that have not yet 
occurred, and if those future actual events don't match our assumptions about them, the forecast can 
be incorrect. Forecasts are not always correct – whether the models are founded on statistical 
relationships or cognitive – because the models we use are necessarily simplifications of the real world. 
If events in the real world drift away from the theoretical and practical underpinnings of our models, the 
forecast results from our model will look very different from the events that unfold in the future. 

Forecasts are often not always correct due to unforeseen fluctuations in the inputs we use to make the 
forecast. And even when we are able to predict these fluctuations, we may be wrong about the 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 7 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



magnitude of change in these factors. Sometimes these fluctuations are simply measurement errors 
which are eventually revised or re-benchmarked according to better and more full accounting by federal 
and state statistical agencies. Regardless of the type of error – whether it’s measurement error or a 
judgment error about how input assumptions will impact the forecast – these discrepancies in what we 
call inputs are partly to blame for forecasts that are not always correct. 

The models we use are mathematical constructs of reality based on statistical relationships and 
observed over many years. If these statistical correlations break down in the future, regardless of how 
accurately we predict the input assumptions, the relationships between the input drivers and the 
forecasts are likely to be led astray from actual future events. 

In sum, error sources include: 

1. Historical estimates could be wrong (re-benchmarked/revised in later years when more/better 
data become available) 

2. Socio-economic drivers / assumptions could be wrong (independent variables used in the 
forecasting of employment are themselves forecasts and likely based on other forecast 
assumptions) 

3. Unanticipated  and very large economic shocks are unanticipated  
4. Theoretical basis for the forecast could be wrong 
5. Statistical relationships assumed from econometric analysis do not carry forward into the future 

and therefore could lead to wrong conclusions. 

Why do population forecasts seem more accurate than employment forecasts? 
Population forecasts generally reveal themselves to be closer to actual trends because the factors / 
input assumptions that drive the forecast are more predictable. We have to rely on future assumptions 
about mortality and birth rates and future migration levels in order to forecast regional population 
growth.  

Mortality and birth rates vary over time, but generally these variations happen slowly and in relatively 
predictable patterns. Additionally, the differences between national rates and regional rates are 
generally similar so we can very reasonably rely on national data sets to predict regional natural 
population increases.  

Predicting migration is a more difficult problem and suffers from greater historical deviations. Moreover, 
past migration trends may not be directly comparable to future levels because of the potential for 
sweeping economic fluctuations that could swing the migration level wildly up or down according to 
regional business cycles. 

Why do employment forecasts have greater uncertainty? 
Employment (and economic) forecasts are generally less accurate because there are so many more 
variables involved that we are able to consider only part of the economic picture.  There is a much 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 8 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



higher degree of uncertainty in the variables we use to predict regional employment. Besides more 
uncertainty in the input variables, the economic relationship between the regional economy and 
national/global economy is also subject to wider economic shifts. In other words, past performance is no 
guarantee of future results.  
 
How do Metro’s past Metro forecasts hold up when compared with actual growth? 
Metro has looked back at three forecasts: 1985, 2000, and 2010 vintage forecasts. There’s not enough 
history gone by to make a legitimate comparison of the 2010 regional forecast. This leaves the 1985 and 
2000 forecasts for comparison. 

1985 vintage regional forecast 
The 1985 regional forecast shows a -9.4 percent forecast error in population. This is a pretty accurate 
forecast given that it has a less than 1% annual error rate (-9.4% / 15 years = -0.62%). The negative sign 
indicates population grew faster than projected. This is not surprising since the region experienced an 
unexpected higher level of migration in the late 80’s and early 90’s as “equity migrants” cashed out of 
lucrative homes in southern California and settled here in the Portland area due to its milder climate 
and attractive real estate opportunities. 

The 1985 regional forecast showed a miniscule percent forecast error in employment of -3.3 percent by 
the end of its 20 year forecast horizon in 2005. This forecast was remarkably accurate despite the 
economic turmoil (positive and negative) that played out during the 20 year time frame. 

Lastly, in terms of business cycle comparisons, both 1985 and 2005 are roughly at the same stage of the 
business cycle – i.e., both are trending up and somewhere in the middle of the peak and trough of their 
respective recessions. For trend analysis point of view, this is a fair comparison. 

2000 vintage regional forecast 
The 2000 regional forecast shows a 3.2 percent forecast error in population.  Averaged over 10 years, 
this represents a pretty close difference between the forecast and actual events. 
 
The 2000 regional forecast shows a very wide error margin in employment of 22.1% (or a difference of 
211,688 jobs by 2010). The mitigating reason for this wide margin was of course the Great Recession. In 
terms of trend comparison purposes, this is the worst comparison to make because the 2000 base year 
was a peak business cycle year while 2010 is trough business cycle year. Without the recession (or 
comparing peak to peak in the trend) the regional economy would have yielded about 200,000 more 
jobs on a trend basis, but the unforeseen Great Recession caused instead a loss of 70,000 annual jobs 
(2008-10). 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 9 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



19
90

20
05

19
80

19
90

20
00

20
05

20
10

D
iff

er
en

ce
%

D
iff

er
en

ce
D

iff
er

en
ce

%
D

iff
er

en
ce

7-
co

un
ty

 M
S

A
N

/A
N

/A
1,

34
1,

54
2

1,
52

3,
74

1
1,

92
8,

33
9

2,
06

7,
32

5
2,

22
6,

00
9

4-
co

un
ty

 re
gi

on
1,

41
0,

50
0

1,
73

9,
57

2
1,

24
2,

64
5

1,
41

2,
34

4
1,

78
9,

91
5

1,
91

9,
22

0
2,

06
6,

39
9

-1
,8

44
-0

.1
%

-1
79

,6
48

-9
.4

%
3-

co
un

ty
 re

gi
on

1,
17

7,
37

3
1,

42
4,

26
4

1,
05

0,
41

8
1,

17
4,

19
1

1,
44

4,
67

7
1,

52
4,

94
3

1,
64

1,
03

6
3,

18
2

0.
3%

-1
00

,6
79

-6
.6

%
C

la
ck

am
as

 C
ou

nt
y

28
4,

06
7

36
2,

47
7

24
1,

91
1

27
8,

85
0

33
8,

39
1

35
9,

30
8

37
5,

99
2

5,
21

7
1.

9%
3,

16
9

0.
9%

M
ul

tn
om

ah
 C

ou
nt

y
59

7,
72

8
65

2,
51

0
56

2,
64

7
58

3,
88

7
66

0,
48

6
67

4,
86

2
73

5,
33

4
13

,8
41

2.
4%

-2
2,

35
2

-3
.3

%
W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
C

ou
nt

y
29

5,
57

8
40

9,
27

7
24

5,
86

0
31

1,
55

4
44

5,
80

0
49

0,
77

3
52

9,
71

0
-1

5,
97

6
-5

.1
%

-8
1,

49
6

-1
6.

6%

19
90

20
05

19
80

19
90

20
00

20
05

20
10

D
iff

er
en

ce
%

D
iff

er
en

ce
D

iff
er

en
ce

%
D

iff
er

en
ce

7-
co

un
ty

 M
S

A
N

/A
N

/A
58

2,
70

0
73

0,
40

0
97

3,
30

0
98

3,
60

0
96

8,
80

0
4-

co
un

ty
 re

gi
on

68
6,

90
0

91
0,

01
0

55
6,

21
0

69
8,

43
0

93
3,

31
0

94
1,

48
1

92
7,

53
2

-1
1,

53
0

-1
.7

%
-3

1,
47

1
-3

.3
%

3-
co

un
ty

 re
gi

on
59

5,
40

0
78

0,
01

0
49

1,
13

1
60

7,
16

7
81

0,
32

5
80

7,
11

8
79

3,
01

9
-1

1,
76

7
-1

.9
%

-2
7,

10
8

-3
.4

%
C

la
ck

am
as

 C
ou

nt
y

84
,4

00
12

0,
00

0
62

,1
02

92
,2

68
13

3,
05

6
14

3,
62

1
13

6,
80

5
-7

,8
68

-8
.5

%
-2

3,
62

1
-1

6.
4%

M
ul

tn
om

ah
 C

ou
nt

y
37

0,
40

0
43

3,
00

0
33

4,
76

6
37

5,
76

8
45

3,
25

4
42

8,
30

5
42

1,
45

2
-5

,3
68

-1
.4

%
4,

69
5

1.
1%

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

C
ou

nt
y

14
0,

60
0

22
7,

01
0

94
,2

63
13

9,
13

1
22

4,
01

5
23

5,
19

2
23

4,
76

2
1,

46
9

1.
1%

-8
,1

82
-3

.5
%

7-
co

un
ty

 M
S

A
: 

4-
co

un
ty

:
3-

co
un

ty
:

fo
re

ca
st

 s
ou

rc
e:

 M
et

ro
 D

at
a 

R
es

ou
rc

e 
C

en
te

r

C
la

ck
am

as
, M

ul
tn

om
ah

 &
 W

as
hi

ng
to

n

O
re

go
n:

 C
la

ck
am

as
, C

ol
um

bi
a,

 M
ul

tn
om

ah
, W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
&

 Y
am

hi
ll.

W
as

hi
ng

to
n:

  C
la

rk
 &

 S
ka

m
an

ia

C
la

ck
am

as
, M

ul
tn

om
ah

, W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

&
 C

la
rk

19
90

20
05

19
90

20
05

A 
R

eg
io

na
l P

op
ul

at
io

n 
&

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t F
or

ec
as

t t
o 

19
90

 &
 2

00
5

Po
rt

la
nd

 M
et

ro
po

lit
an

 A
re

a 
 : 

 J
ul

y 
19

85
A 

se
rv

ic
e 

of
 th

e 
In

te
rg

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l R

es
ou

rc
e 

C
en

te
r, 

M
et

ro
po

lit
an

 S
er

vi
ce

 D
is

tr
ic

t

Fo
re

ca
st

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t
Ac

tu
al

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t (
B

LS
)

Fo
re

ca
st

 P
op

ul
at

io
n

Ac
tu

al
 P

op
ul

at
io

n 
(C

en
su

s 
or

 P
SU

)

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 10 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



20
00

20
05

20
10

20
15

20
20

20
25

20
30

19
80

19
90

20
00

20
10

D
iff

er
en

ce
%

D
iff

er
en

ce
D

iff
er

en
ce

%
D

iff
er

en
ce

7-
co

un
ty

 M
SA

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

1,
34

1,
54

2
1,

52
3,

74
1

1,
92

8,
33

9
2,

22
6,

00
9

5-
co

un
ty

 P
M

SA
1,

87
4,

45
0

2,
04

9,
19

0
2,

23
3,

89
0

2,
39

4,
10

0
2,

57
1,

10
0

2,
76

8,
20

0
2,

95
5,

30
0

1,
29

7,
97

7
1,

47
7,

89
5

1,
87

4,
44

9
2,

16
5,

59
2

1
0.

0%
68

,2
98

3.
2%

4-
co

un
ty

 re
gi

on
1,

78
9,

46
0

1,
95

6,
30

0
2,

13
4,

30
0

2,
28

7,
00

0
2,

45
5,

70
0

2,
64

3,
70

0
2,

82
1,

00
0

1,
24

2,
64

5
1,

41
2,

34
4

1,
78

9,
91

5
2,

06
6,

39
9

-4
55

0.
0%

67
,9

01
3.

3%
3-

co
un

ty
 re

gi
on

1,
42

2,
31

6
1,

54
3,

52
8

1,
69

7,
00

6
1,

77
5,

61
8

N
/A

N
/A

2,
17

7,
84

0
1,

05
0,

41
8

1,
17

4,
19

1
1,

44
4,

67
7

1,
64

1,
03

6
-2

2,
36

1
-1

.5
%

55
,9

70
3.

4%
C

la
ck

am
as

 C
ou

nt
y

33
6,

41
3

36
5,

03
5

40
4,

27
8

44
7,

79
4

N
/A

N
/A

61
8,

77
9

24
1,

91
1

27
8,

85
0

33
8,

39
1

37
5,

99
2

-1
,9

78
-0

.6
%

28
,2

86
7.

5%
M

ul
tn

om
ah

 C
ou

nt
y

64
3,

96
2

68
3,

94
9

73
4,

98
0

74
4,

63
2

N
/A

N
/A

86
3,

17
0

56
2,

64
7

58
3,

88
7

66
0,

48
6

73
5,

33
4

-1
6,

52
4

-2
.5

%
-3

54
0.

0%
W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
C

ou
nt

y
44

1,
94

1
49

4,
54

5
55

7,
74

8
58

3,
19

2
N

/A
N

/A
69

5,
89

0
24

5,
86

0
31

1,
55

4
44

5,
80

0
52

9,
71

0
-3

,8
59

-0
.9

%
28

,0
38

5.
3%

20
00

20
05

20
10

20
15

20
20

20
25

20
30

19
80

19
90

20
00

20
10

D
iff

er
en

ce
%

D
iff

er
en

ce
D

iff
er

en
ce

%
D

iff
er

en
ce

7-
co

un
ty

 M
SA

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

58
2,

70
0

73
0,

40
0

97
3,

30
0

96
8,

80
0

5-
co

un
ty

 P
M

SA
95

8,
02

0
1,

04
3,

49
0

1,
16

8,
68

0
1,

27
3,

20
0

1,
38

7,
70

0
1,

51
5,

50
0

1,
64

1,
50

0
57

2,
60

0
71

8,
77

0
96

0,
91

0
95

6,
99

2
-2

,8
90

-0
.3

%
21

1,
68

8
22

.1
%

4-
co

un
ty

 re
gi

on
93

0,
90

0
1,

01
1,

86
0

1,
13

4,
00

0
1,

23
4,

90
0

1,
34

5,
60

0
1,

46
9,

00
0

1,
59

0,
10

0
55

6,
21

0
69

8,
43

0
93

3,
31

0
92

7,
53

2
-2

,4
10

-0
.3

%
20

6,
46

8
22

.3
%

3-
co

un
ty

 re
gi

on
83

2,
84

1
90

3,
45

9
1,

00
9,

98
7

1,
08

6,
22

4
N

/A
N

/A
1,

40
7,

99
9

49
1,

13
1

60
7,

16
7

81
0,

32
5

79
3,

01
9

22
,5

16
2.

8%
21

6,
96

8
27

.4
%

C
la

ck
am

as
 C

ou
nt

y
13

4,
63

9
14

6,
25

6
16

6,
06

0
18

8,
96

4
N

/A
N

/A
25

1,
28

4
62

,1
02

92
,2

68
13

3,
05

6
13

6,
80

5
1,

58
3

1.
2%

29
,2

55
21

.4
%

M
ul

tn
om

ah
 C

ou
nt

y
46

1,
86

7
49

2,
50

7
54

2,
43

4
57

2,
84

9
N

/A
N

/A
70

5,
72

9
33

4,
76

6
37

5,
76

8
45

3,
25

4
42

1,
45

2
8,

61
2

1.
9%

12
0,

98
2

28
.7

%
W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
C

ou
nt

y
23

6,
33

5
26

4,
69

7
30

1,
49

2
32

4,
41

1
N

/A
N

/A
45

0,
98

6
94

,2
63

13
9,

13
1

22
4,

01
5

23
4,

76
2

7-
co

un
ty

 M
S

A
: 

O
re

go
n:

 C
la

ck
am

as
, C

ol
um

bi
a,

 M
ul

tn
om

ah
, W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
&

 Y
am

hi
ll.

W
as

hi
ng

to
n:

  C
la

rk
 &

 S
ka

m
an

ia

5-
co

un
ty

 P
M

S
A

O
re

go
n 

S
ta

te
: C

la
ck

am
as

, C
ol

um
bi

a,
 M

ul
tn

om
ah

, W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

&
 Y

am
hi

ll;
 W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
S

ta
te

: C
la

rk

4-
co

un
ty

:
C

la
ck

am
as

, M
ul

tn
om

ah
, W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
&

 C
la

rk
3-

co
un

ty
:

C
la

ck
am

as
, M

ul
tn

om
ah

 &
 W

as
hi

ng
to

n

20
10

20
00

20
00

20
10

Fo
re

ca
st

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t
Ac

tu
al

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t (
B

LS
, O

R
 &

 W
A 

La
bo

r D
ep

t.)

Ec
on

om
ic

 R
ep

or
t t

o 
th

e 
M

et
ro

 C
ou

nc
il:

 2
00

0-
20

30
 R

eg
io

na
l F

or
ec

as
t

Pr
op

os
ed

 F
in

al
 D

R
AF

T;
 R

el
ea

se
d 

M
ar

ch
 2

00
2,

 R
ev

is
ed

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 2

00
2

M
et

ro
 D

at
a 

R
es

ou
rc

e 
C

en
te

r, 
G

en
 2

.3
 T

AZ
 fo

re
ca

st
 a

llo
ca

tio
n,

 fi
na

l d
ra

ft 
ci

rc
a 

20
06

Fo
re

ca
st

 P
op

ul
at

io
n

Ac
tu

al
 P

op
ul

at
io

n 
(C

en
su

s)

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 11 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



20
10

20
25

20
35

20
40

19
80

19
90

20
00

20
10

D
iff

er
en

ce
%

D
iff

er
en

ce
7-

co
un

ty
 M

SA
2,

22
6,

00
9

2,
85

1,
36

8
3,

14
7,

27
0

3,
28

5,
70

4
1,

34
1,

54
2

1,
52

3,
74

1
1,

92
8,

33
9

2,
22

6,
00

9
0

0%
4-

co
un

ty
 re

gi
on

2,
06

6,
39

9
2,

57
1,

05
2

2,
84

7,
55

1
2,

98
3,

52
0

1,
24

2,
64

5
1,

41
2,

34
4

1,
78

9,
91

5
2,

06
6,

39
9

0
0%

3-
co

un
ty

 re
gi

on
1,

64
1,

03
6

2,
00

3,
86

0
2,

23
9,

60
3

2,
36

3,
32

7
1,

05
0,

41
8

1,
17

4,
19

1
1,

44
4,

67
7

1,
64

1,
03

6
0

0%
C

la
ck

am
as

 C
ou

nt
y

37
5,

99
2

50
4,

08
5

55
7,

17
4

58
7,

51
4

24
1,

91
1

27
8,

85
0

33
8,

39
1

37
5,

99
2

0
0%

M
ul

tn
om

ah
 C

ou
nt

y
73

5,
33

4
87

5,
55

5
97

0,
63

9
1,

02
7,

70
2

56
2,

64
7

58
3,

88
7

66
0,

48
6

73
5,

33
4

0
0%

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

C
ou

nt
y

52
9,

71
0

62
4,

22
0

71
1,

79
0

74
8,

11
1

24
5,

86
0

31
1,

55
4

44
5,

80
0

52
9,

71
0

0
0%

20
10

20
25

20
35

20
40

19
80

19
90

20
00

20
10

D
iff

er
en

ce
%

D
iff

er
en

ce
7-

co
un

ty
 M

SA
97

0,
03

3
1,

29
7,

93
0

1,
49

1,
09

1
1,

59
4,

15
1

58
2,

70
0

73
0,

40
0

97
3,

30
0

96
8,

80
0

1,
23

3
0.

1%
4-

co
un

ty
 re

gi
on

91
6,

39
6

1,
22

9,
81

0
1,

41
2,

60
7

1,
51

3,
84

0
55

6,
21

0
69

8,
43

0
93

3,
31

0
92

7,
53

2
-1

1,
13

6
-1

.2
%

3-
co

un
ty

 re
gi

on
78

9,
12

9
1,

04
2,

39
0

1,
19

0,
58

7
1,

27
6,

42
9

49
1,

13
1

60
7,

16
7

81
0,

32
5

79
3,

01
9

-3
,8

90
-0

.5
%

C
la

ck
am

as
 C

ou
nt

y
13

7,
94

6
18

3,
23

0
21

0,
44

4
22

7,
48

3
62

,1
02

92
,2

68
13

3,
05

6
13

6,
80

5
1,

14
1

0.
8%

M
ul

tn
om

ah
 C

ou
nt

y
41

9,
16

4
53

3,
81

8
59

7,
33

1
62

6,
71

0
33

4,
76

6
37

5,
76

8
45

3,
25

4
42

1,
45

2
-2

,2
88

-0
.5

%
W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
C

ou
nt

y
23

2,
01

9
32

5,
34

2
38

2,
81

2
42

2,
23

6
94

,2
63

13
9,

13
1

22
4,

01
5

23
4,

76
2

-2
,7

43
-1

.2
%

7-
co

un
ty

 M
S

A
: 

O
re

go
n:

 C
la

ck
am

as
, C

ol
um

bi
a,

 M
ul

tn
om

ah
, W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
&

 Y
am

hi
ll.

W
as

hi
ng

to
n:

  C
la

rk
 &

 S
ka

m
an

ia

5-
co

un
ty

 P
M

S
A

O
re

go
n 

S
ta

te
: C

la
ck

am
as

, C
ol

um
bi

a,
 M

ul
tn

om
ah

, W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

&
 Y

am
hi

ll;
 W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
S

ta
te

: C
la

rk

4-
co

un
ty

:
C

la
ck

am
as

, M
ul

tn
om

ah
, W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
&

 C
la

rk
3-

co
un

ty
:

C
la

ck
am

as
, M

ul
tn

om
ah

 &
 W

as
hi

ng
to

n

20
10

20
10

Fo
re

ca
st

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t
Ac

tu
al

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t (
B

LS
, O

R
 &

 W
A 

La
bo

r D
ep

t.)

20
10

-2
04

0 
R

eg
io

na
l F

or
ec

as
t a

nd
 G

ro
w

th
 D

is
tr

ib
ut

io
n 

(G
AM

M
A 

TA
Z 

Fo
re

ca
st

 D
is

tr
ib

ut
io

n)
Fi

na
l D

ra
ft,

 D
ec

em
be

r 2
01

2 
(M

et
ro

 o
rd

in
an

ce
 #

`1
2-

12
92

A)
M

et
ro

 R
es

ea
rc

h 
C

en
te

r -
 E

co
no

m
ic

 L
an

d 
U

se
 F

or
ec

as
tin

g

Fo
re

ca
st

 P
op

ul
at

io
n

Ac
tu

al
 P

op
ul

at
io

n 
(C

en
su

s)

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1b, Page 12 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

 
 

Appendix 1c 
Summary of Regional Forecast Advisory Panel Discussions and Conclusions 

 
See attached memo from Dr. Tom Potiowsky (PSU) to Ted Reid (Metro) 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1c, Page 1 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Northwest Economic Research Center                                     

                                                                                                                         
 
 

 
 

530A Urban Center 
506 SW Mill St. 

Portland, OR 97207 
(503) 725-8167 

pdx.edu/nerc 

 
To:  Ted Reid, Senior Regional Planner, METRO 
From: Dr. Tom Potiowsky - Director, Northwest Economic Research Center 
 Janai Kessi, Research Associate, Northwest Economic Research Center 
RE:  Summary of Metro Forecast Advisory Panel Discussions and Conclusions 

Metro Regional Forecast Advisory Panel Summary Report 

Composition of the advisory panel 

Advisory board members have professional backgrounds in economics, demographics or a closely 
related field. The panel will be chaired by Dr. Tom Potiowsky.  Members include: 

Dr. Tom Potiowsky, Chair (Director, Northwest Economic Research Center, PSU) 
Dr. Jennifer Allen (Director, Institute for Sustainable Solutions, PSU) 
Jerry Johnson, (Principal, Johnson Economics) 
Dr. Jason Jurjevich (Assistant Director of the Population Research Center, PSU) 
Dave Lenar (Business Operations Analyst, NW Natural) 
Dr. Randall Pozdena (Managing Director, Senior Economist, ECONorthwest) 
Steve Storm (Program Manager of Economic Research and Financial Analysis, NW Natural) 
Dennis Yee (Chief Economist, Metro) 
 
The Metro Regional Forecast Advisory Panel met two times over a three month period to 
review the methodology and outputs of Metro’s forecast. Each of these meetings had specific 
objectives.  

Objectives of the first meeting on December 13, 2013: 
• “Panel members have a shared understanding of their group charge” 
• “Metro staff have the benefit of the panel’s advice on the input assumptions that should 

be incorporated into the upcoming regional population, employment, and household 
forecast” 

 

Objectives of the second meeting on February 19, 2014: 
• “The preliminary results of the regional population, employment, and household 

forecast” 
• “The proposed probabilistic approach to establishing the range forecast” 
• “Possible scenarios that could lead to high or low growth within the range forecast” 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1c, Page 2 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Northwest Economic Research Center                                     

                                                                                                                         
 
 

 
 

530A Urban Center 
506 SW Mill St. 

Portland, OR 97207 
(503) 725-8167 

pdx.edu/nerc 

This summary report outlines the results of the panel discussion at each of these meetings and 
concludes with a summary of key points that were raised by advisory panel members. The 
discussion can be characterized as falling into four main topics: 

• First, panel members discussed input assumptions for the forecast model 
• Second, panel members reviewed and critiqued the preliminary forecast 
• Third, panel members provided insight into potential scenarios that could influence high 

or low growth within the range forecast 
• Fourth, panel members stated their opinions on the reasonableness of the preliminary 

forecast 

Input Assumptions for the Metro Forecast Model  

Metro’s forecast is primarily used for regional growth management decisions. The forecast is an 
input for the decision areas such as comprehensive plans, transportation planning, land use 
planning, and job growth. The Metro Forecast is part of a five year cycle and uses a range 
forecast to capture uncertainty. The baseline forecast is grounded in the most recent IHS Global 
Insight forecast. 

Discussion of State and National Trends 

The first advisory panel meeting began with several presentations covering two main topic 
areas, population and employment growth. The presenters discussed both observed and 
expected trends in these topic areas.  

Some key discussion points that arose from these presentations and the ensuing discussions 
were as follows: 

• Job polarization - The hollowing out of the middle wage jobs is a real issue both 
nationally and in Oregon. 

o One possible response to this issue could be to direct more policy toward 
fostering job training and growth in NAICS 54 – Professional, Scientific, and 
Technical Services 

• Fertility rates - There was mention that the decline in fertility rates could significantly 
affect population forecasts if the rates fell below what was anticipated. 

o Predicting fertility rates is challenging due to various factors such in migration of 
Hispanic populations and other ethnicities with traditionally higher fertility rates 
than the majority population – i.e., White, Non-Hispanic. 

o However, in recent years Mexico has seen a decline in fertility rates and this is 
affecting the degree to which Mexican immigrants offset the U.S. fertility rate. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1c, Page 3 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Northwest Economic Research Center                                     

                                                                                                                         
 
 

 
 

530A Urban Center 
506 SW Mill St. 

Portland, OR 97207 
(503) 725-8167 

pdx.edu/nerc 

o It is very challenging to capture the variability in fertility rates at the sub regional 
level. For instance within the Portland Metro region there are pockets of high 
and low fertility rates, but clearly delineating these sub regions is challenging. 

• Shifts in housing Starts - Housing start estimates should be revised. This is due to 
“overhang” – excess supply from foreclosures and pre-recession buildup. Also there is 
variability in the types of housing starts. 

o There is a trend toward lower cost apartment units in multi-family. 
o Also there is a trend toward larger single family units being built. More square 

feet per single family start. 
• Shifting live/work decisions - Commuting patterns seem to suggest that people are 

living in the city and commuting to the suburbs. This may indicate a shift in preferences. 
 

Discussion of Input Assumptions to Incorporate into the Forecast Model 

The first meeting concluded with a discussion of key variables to consider including in the 
forecast model. Many of these variables are not easily quantified making it difficult to 
incorporate them in the model. The advisory panel recognized this and considered alternative 
ways to use proxy variables or to simply develop a more qualitative discussion around certain 
topics that may introduce uncertainty into the model’s outputs.  

The key points of discussion are as follows:   
• Global trade and other macroeconomic effects 

o Consideration should be given to variables, such as exchange rates and currency 
data. 

o Offshoring, re-shoring, and on-shoring could influence industry mix and 
economic growth, therefore they should be considered in the model assumption 
conversation. 

• Climate change and related legislative measures 
o Legislation, such as a carbon tax, could result in shifts in economic activity and 

land use patterns. These potential effects should be included in the forecast 
model. 

o Climate change may affect population migration patterns. These potential 
effects should be considered in the model. 
 A statement was made that climate change effects could already be 

embedded in the migration data due to migration forecasts being based 
in historical trends. This is barring a catastrophic event of course. 

• Fertility rates, specifically the uncertainty of future rates 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1c, Page 4 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Northwest Economic Research Center                                     

                                                                                                                         
 
 

 
 

530A Urban Center 
506 SW Mill St. 

Portland, OR 97207 
(503) 725-8167 

pdx.edu/nerc 

o There was a suggestion that the model be run for super low fertility rates. But 
there was mention that a natural decrease in fertility rates are expected to occur 
anyway. 
 There was a suggestion that consideration be made for those counties 

that have high concentrations of foreign born residents relative to other 
counties. 

• Compare forecast outputs with past forecasts 
o A general consensus was that current forecast outputs should be compared to 

outputs of previous forecasts. This would provide some narrative around how 
well the forecasts are matching the reality of what plays out over time. 

 

Review and Critique of the Preliminary Forecast 

The review of the preliminary forecast outputs began with a statement that Global Insight’s 
words in their most recent forecast are more optimistic than their numbers. This narrative 
carried over into the discussion of Metro’s preliminary forecast outputs. Key points that 
emerged were related to what many on the panel perceived to be a conservative population 
growth estimate. There was minimal discussion regarding the employment forecast. Some key 
points of this discussion are highlighted below: 

• Death trend for preliminary forecast is higher than the 2000 forecast 
o A note was made that the death trends are a bit higher for the preliminary 

forecast than the 2000 forecast. This is a little unexpected given the assumption 
that life expectancy should increase over time. 

o A note was made to check the data and underlying assumptions 
• Stability of migration data 

o A question was raised regarding the stability of migration data used in the 
forecast model 
 The answer was that yes migration data in Oregon has been quite stable 

for more than 20 years.  
• Inclusion of Housing data 

o A question was asked whether housing data is included in the forecast model. 
The answer was that no, there is no housing price data included in the model 
inputs. 

o A suggestion was made that there may be a market balancing of population. The 
response to this suggestion was that MetroScope usually shows a 60/40 split in 
single family/multifamily builds. But more recently it has shifted more toward a 
50/50 split. Metro is currently conducting a study on this particular shift in 
housing demand. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1c, Page 5 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Northwest Economic Research Center                                     

                                                                                                                         
 
 

 
 

530A Urban Center 
506 SW Mill St. 

Portland, OR 97207 
(503) 725-8167 

pdx.edu/nerc 

• Age breakout of forecasted population 
o Recent trends indicate that Oregon is retaining more of its older residents. These 

residents are not fleeing to the SW (i.e., Arizona) as they have in the past. 
Knowing how well the forecast outputs are capturing this trend would be 
important. 

• Declining population growth rate 
o A question was asked regarding what the compounded population growth rate 

estimates were for the 2008 five year forecast and now the most recent forecast. 
The answer was 1.3% (2008) and 1.0% (Preliminary). More discussion followed 
regarding the national shift down in population growth. The Census Bureau is 
adopting a structural view of this downward shift. 

o In regard to the downward shift, a statement was made that low fertility rates as 
well as declining immigration are underappreciated as a major driver of this trend. 

o A question was asked regarding how much of the population growth shift is due to 
structural changes v. business cycle effects. Several panel members suggested that it 
may be more structural due to generational changes, such as delayed family 
formation due to student loan debt and rising cost of living. But this also is due to 
shifts in fertility rates, though this variable is a puzzle due to the unknowns within 
racial and ethnic sub populations (e.g., Hispanic) and also changing immigration 
policies. A statement was made that if the surprisingly high forecasted death rates 
are adjusted to be more in line with what is expected the population growth rate 
may bump up a bit. 

• Potential issues with applying forecast model distributions to rates 
o A technical question was raised regarding the statistical ramifications of applying 

distributions to rates. The ensuing discussion concluded with the decision to utilize 
the log normal assumption. 

• Fertility and death rate variables should not be weighted equally 
o A suggestion was made that it would be wise to not use equal probability for 

population forecast variables. For example death rates tend to be more stable over 
time and hence easier to predict than fertility rates, which depend on harder to 
predict issues (e.g., immigration patterns, family formation) 

• Employment growth trends near population growth 
o The panel members agreed that it seems plausible that employment growth should 

trend near to population growth rates. That being said there was a suggestion that 
the growth rate may actually be higher if people are working two jobs. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1c, Page 6 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Northwest Economic Research Center                                     

                                                                                                                         
 
 

 
 

530A Urban Center 
506 SW Mill St. 

Portland, OR 97207 
(503) 725-8167 

pdx.edu/nerc 

Potential Scenarios for High or Low Growth within the Range Forecast 

The final advisory panel meeting closed with a discussion of “game changers” (e.g., climate 
change, declining mobility). These “game changers” could serve as points of discussion 
regarding the justification of high or low estimates for the forecast range. The results of this 
discussion are outlined below: 

• Climate change 
o The panel agreed that the upside rage for the population growth forecast should be 

greater than the downside range due to climate change and the potential for mass 
migration to Oregon with its more temperate and abundant climate. 

o Climate change could also affect population migration through shifts in economic 
activity. For example if national defense spending declines due to energy 
independence, there may be fewer defense contracts, shifting employment from the 
defense industry to other industries. Given Oregon’s position as a good spot for 
alternative energy development we may see migration of workers from other 
locales. 

• Declining mobility 
o A statement was made that there has been a drop in mobility rates since the 1980s. 

This decline in mobility definitely affects migration patterns. 
• The rise of “new Portlands” 

o Attention should be given to the implications of the rise of other “new Portlands”, 
especially in the rust belt. Pittsburgh was given as an example. 

• Technical issues of “range” forecast 
o Forecast Error Bands.  Taking the first or second standard deviations about the 

expected path to find forecast ranges.   
o Alternative Policy Combos.  High and low scenarios of policy assumptions (taxes, 

productivity, …) and taking the expected path then applying forecast error bands  
o Monte Carlo Simulation.  Using the probability distribution of policy or event 

variables to forecast a range of results.   

Reasonableness of the Preliminary Forecast Numbers 

In general the panel members agreed that the population growth rate seemed conservative. 
Some members thought it was more conservative than others, but they all agreed that if certain 
issues, such as the surprisingly high death rates, were addressed and adjusted the forecast 
outputs may be more in alignment with what they deemed as reasonable. The panel members 
agreed that the employment growth rate seemed plausible. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1c, Page 7 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Northwest Economic Research Center                                     

                                                                                                                         
 
 

 
 

530A Urban Center 
506 SW Mill St. 

Portland, OR 97207 
(503) 725-8167 

pdx.edu/nerc 

Another general agreement among panel members was that the up and downside forecast 
ranges should not be evenly split. In other words there may be more of a chance for population 
growth to be higher than expected and the model should seek to incorporate this greater 
likelihood. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1c, Page 8 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

Appendix 1d 
A brief description of Metro’s population forecast model 

Forecast Method 
Metro utilizes the cohort component method to project the total population size of the Portland-
Vancouver-Hillsboro, OR-WA MSA (Portland MSA) as well as each 5-year age group for a future forecast 
horizon of at least 20 years. The cohort component technique uses the components of demographic 
change to project population growth. The technique projects the population by age groups, but unlike 
other standard population models the demographic attributes of sex and race are blended. This 
projection method is based on the components of demographic change including births, deaths, and 
migration.  Recognizing that vital statistics differ significantly across race and sex, the Metro model uses 
weighted averages for the components of demographic change.  

Implementation 
The cohort component equation simply projects the total population size – in 5-year age groups – by 
estimating the number of residents who survive or are expected to be alive in the future. Add to this 
survived population number, the number births that take place and the number of net migrants in order 
to arrive at the total future population size. 

Assumptions 
When the cohort component method is used as a projection method, it assumes the components of 
demographic change for mortality, fertility, and migration. The Metro cohort population model arrays 
fertility rates in 5 year age groups for the population between ages 10 to 49. Age specific fertility rates 
are calculated from census of population and vital birth statistics for the Portland MSA. Similarly age 
specific mortality rates are calculated from the same sources for each 5-year age group.  

The base year is pegged to the 2010 Census.  

Future year annual estimates for mortality and fertility are assumed to change over time to reflect 
observed on-going demographic trends including improvements in life expectancy, delays in pregnancy 
in the age of the mother and overall lowering total fertility rate. The changes in the vital assumptions 
mirror the latest assumptions adopted in the 2012 U.S. Census national population projection. The 
Metro model implicitly considers differences in birth and death rates by race and sex in a blend of these 
vital rates for the forecast of future population. A blended rate – each for births and deaths – in which 
the weights are based on the 2010 share of Portland MSA population by race and sex. 

The total fertility rate (TFR) assumed falls to 1.81 in 2040 as compared to the 2010 estimated TFR of 
1.86, representing a modest decrease in fertility rates projected for the next 30 years.  Life expectancies 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1d, Page 1 of 2

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

are expected to improve; this is reflected in a modest decrease in the age specific mortality rates for 
each age group. The largest improvement in the survival rate is seen in retirement-age cohorts. 

Net migration for the Portland MSA is calculated from Metro’s in-house economic model. This model 
assumes regional net migration is tied into the relative economic performance between our region and 
neighboring economies and the U.S.  For example, migration rates increase when Washington State 
employment grows faster and conversely, when California employment grows relatively slower, regional 
migration surges ahead. In contrast, the relationship between the region and the U.S. is found to be 
correlated with relative payroll wages. The estimated relationship predicts that when regional wages 
surge faster than the U.S., migration into the region increases. The Metro migration equation ties in the 
economic projections of employment and wages from Metro’s economic model directly with the cohort 
population model.  

Net migration from the Metro migration equation is split into age groups consistent with the cohort 
population model. The shares for splitting migration into 5-year age groups are assumed to remain 
constant through the projection period. The initial shares are derived from decennial Census data. 

The cohort component approach produces a “baseline” projection of future population size. The 
demographic assumptions for each component of population is assumed to be based on values that will 
generate a growth scenario that represents the forecasters best guess using available information. 

Probability model and the range population projection 
Metro requires a population range forecast for its planning purposes. This is represented by 5 growth 
scenarios: high, medium-high, baseline, medium-low, and low. The basis for these alternatives is a 
monte carlo simulation approach that perturbs the population components for births, deaths and 
migration within the historical variance or a perceived standard forecast error of each population 
component. 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 1d, Page 2 of 2

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Appendix 2 
Methodology for determining the 2014 Urban Growth Report’s buildable 
land inventory 

Background 
Under state land use regulations, Metro is required to ensure an adequate supply of buildable land 
inside the urban growth boundary (UGB) to accommodate 20 years of population and employment 
growth. Metro conducts this analysis every five years in its Urban Growth Report (UGR). The UGR is the 
basis for the Metro Council’s growth management decision. One of the underpinnings of this report is a 
buildable land inventory (BLI) that includes vacant and redevelopable land supply estimates. This 
document provides a summary of the assumptions and methods developed for the 2014 UGR’s regional 
BLI. During the fall of 2013, all jurisdictions in the region were provided with an opportunity to review 
the draft BLI and to suggest revisions to the results that reflect local knowledge about specific 
properties. 

The Urban Growth Report goes through subsequent steps to determine how much of this buildable land 
inventory may be market feasible in the 20-year planning timeframe. Additional detail about market 
feasibility can be found in the residential and employment demand analysis appendices. 

Peer review of methods 
During the spring and summer of 2013, Metro staff worked closely with a technical working group that 
included about 25 developers, engineers, brokers, economic consultants, and planners from jurisdictions 
around the region to develop a regional BLI methodology. This work built on efforts undertaken to 
develop a BLI that was an input assumption for the 2035/40 Growth Distribution, which was adopted by 
the Metro Council in the fall of 2012. The BLI benefited from extensive engagement with local 
jurisdiction planners over the course of two years.  In many instances, these advisory groups discussed 
the ambiguity inherent in developing 20-year capacity estimates, particularly on a regional scale. On 
several topics, the group advised Metro that there was not a clear “right” or “wrong” answer, but 
helped Metro staff to arrive at methods that are, on the whole, reasonable for a regional analysis, and 
that use the best available information. 

Measurement Uncertainty in the BLI 
The land supply and capacity estimates prepared using the procedures and methods reflected in this 
paper are intended to reflect up to a 40 to 50 year land supply. The rationale for this derives from being 
consistent with trying to model future real estate development for a 20 year span and holding up to a 
mandate in keeping with a 20 year land supply in the 1st and the 20th year. We say the estimate 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 1 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



approximates a 40 to 50 year supply because some sensitivity analysis – particularly with key factor such 
as redevelopment assumptions, future residential densities, right of way allowances, environmental 
assumptions and a host of other complex capacity calculation assumptions – indicates some uncertainty 
in the statistical factors to arrive at a buildable land inventory measurement. The margin of error for 
redevelopment and infill is greater than the vacant part of the buildable land inventory, but both 
categories are subject to a degree of measurement uncertainty. 

General methodology 
Step 1: Identify vacant tax lots (and complement developed tax lots) by zoning class 

Step 2: Remove tax lots from the BLI that don’t have the potential to provide residential or employment 
growth capacity (e.g., parks) 

Step 3: Calculate deductions for environmental resources1

Step 4: Calculate deductions for “future streets”

 

2

Step 5: Calculate BLI estimates (BLI includes capacity estimates for vacant and redevelopment) 

 

a) Single Family Residential (SFR) 
b) Multifamily residential (MFR) and Mixed Use Residential Capacity (MUR) 
c) Employment (industrial3

Identify vacant and developed land by zoning (or comp plan) 

 and commercial) 

Issue: 
Previous iterations of the BLI focused only on vacant land, and capacity for redevelopment was treated 
separately using a refill rate4

Solution: 

. The current BLI methodology treats vacant and redevelopment as 
separate categories for clarity and to avoid any double counting of capacity on the partially vacant lots. 
However, Metro’s vacant lands inventory (a basis for the BLI) includes some “partially vacant” land. 

The region’s buildable land inventory is sorted into redevelopment and vacant capacity (the 
identification screens / filters are inherently different). Tax lots that were previously categorized as 

1 Environmental resources considered include Metro’s Title 3, Title 13, FEMA flood way and steep slopes over 25%.  
2 The BLI accounts for future streets on a tax lot-by-tax lot basis. The buildable area of each tax lot is reduced on 
the basis of individual tax lot size. 
3 Large industrial sites (25 or more net buildable acres) were inventoried in a separate process that relied on work 
done as part of the 2011/2012 Regional Industrial Site Readiness Project, which was a partnership between Metro, 
the Port of Portland, Business Oregon, the Portland Business Alliance, NAIOP, and local jurisdictions. The inventory 
of large industrial sites will be completed in the spring of 2014. 
4 The refill rate is the share of the region’s future growth that is expected to be accommodated through infill and 
redevelopment. However, the refill rate does not identify the locations where infill and redevelopment may occur. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 2 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



“partially vacant” are categorized into one or the other condition (i.e., vacant or developed for purposes 
of counting regional capacity). Developed tax lots are subjected to economic screens (described in this 
document) to determine whether they should be counted as potential redevelopment capacity. 

 
Vacant land definition5

• Any tax lot that is fully vacant (Metro aerial photo) 
: 

• Tax lot  with less than 2,000 sq. ft. developed AND developed part is under 10% of entire tax lot 
• Tax lots that are 95% or more “vacant” from the GIS vacant land inventory6

 
 

Developed land definition: 
• Part vacant / part developed tax lots are considered developed and will be treated in the 

redevelopment filter 
 
Rationale: 
Categorizing tax lots as vacant or developed (and potentially redevelopable) more closely aligns the 
inventory approach with that of other local governments and state administrative rules, which refer to 
vacant and redevelopable land. Lands previously defined as “partially vacant” are still inventoried, but 
are simply redefined to fit into the vacant or developed categories. Tax lots with fewer than 2,000 sq. ft. 
developed and a developed part that is less than 10% of the entire tax lot are considered completely 
vacant with the understanding that tax lots with this condition resemble a fully vacant tax lot. The 
developed portion would minimally impact new development. In case of tax lots in employment zones 
that do not pass through various redevelopment filters, for relatively large tax lots greater than 1 acre, 
we apply a final screen to include “land banked” parcels into the BLI. 

Addendum (5/14): 
Oregon law requires Metro to periodically – in 5 year cycles – review and take action to ensure that the 
current UGB has the capacity to absorb 20 years of residential development and economic growth. It 
follows then that for modeling and forecasting future land development that we try to mimic to the best 
of current knowledge a rational expectation for UGB capacities and replenishment in each 5 year 
interval. We model a rolling 20-year capacity of the BLI by metering in additional redevelopment, infill 
and vacant capacity for each 5-year interval. To simulate this, we have to have at the outset a 
reasonable estimate of redevelopment for at least 40 years (20 years to begin with and another 20+ 
years estimated for the last year of the forecast horizon year), which we in subsequent 5-year periods 

5Small inconsistencies in the alignment of the tax lot GIS layer and the vacant/developed GIS layer create slivers 
along property boundaries.  In order to deal with this issue, any tax lot that is 95% or more vacant is considered 
“fully vacant”. 
6 GIS taxlot layers change over time as the counties update their parcel base.  Because of this, over time, the 
vacant land layer may develop inconsistencies, resulting in slivers of vacant or developed land that intrude on 
adjacent taxlots.  Setting a 95% threshold prevents full vacant taxlots from being categorized as “developed”. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 3 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



meter in more. Urban reserves serve as additional vacant land that is also metered in at 5 year intervals 
to simulate future UGB expansions and so forth (though it should be noted that urban reserves are not 
counted in the UGR analysis). 

Looking at the redevelopment (and infill) inventories in this BLI, we don’t have information to tell us 
which tax lot(s) will redevelop and which ones won’t during the next 20 years. Our recourse is to utilize a 
simulation approach that can identify how much of the potential inventory of redevelopment may be 
expected to redevelop in 20 years. We opt to use MetroScope in order to estimate redevelopment 
absorption and apply this scenario information to the BLI for the 20-year estimate of redevelopment. 

Remove tax-exempt lots, parks, and major utility easements 
Issue: 
Some vacant tax lots (e.g., parks) should not be recognized as carrying capacity for employment and/or 
housing going into the future.  

 Solution: 
Remove the following types of tax lots from the residential (and employment) BLI based on Assessor 
PCA code designations, owner names, assessed values and other data sources: 

• Tax exempt with property codes for city, state, federal and Native American designations 
• Schools 
• Churches and social organizations7

• Private
 

8

• Rail properties
 “streets” 

9

• Tax lots under 1,000 sq. ft. (0.023 gross acres) 
  

• Parks, open spaces and where possible private residential common areas 
 

Use the best available GIS data to remove parks, rail yards and railroad properties, major petroleum, 
natural gas lines and BPA power line right of ways.  The area defined as “utility easements” is a GIS data 
layer that identifies major trunk lines for petroleum, natural gas and BPA’s high voltage electric lines, 
and excludes all else. Parks is a data layer maintained by Metro that includes all parks in the region (e.g., 
community parks, regional parks, open space areas, golf courses, private common areas, and 
cemeteries).  

 
EXCEPTIONS: 
Included in Residential Capacity Calculations the following list of exemptions: 

7 Based solely on tax exempt codes. 
8 This was used for SFR, MFR and MUR zoning only.  It proved problematic for COM and IND zoning 
9 The Metro Data Resource Center finished collecting and compiling together a comprehensive rail yards and 
railroad properties geodatabase. For the UGR study, we utilize this brand new database to filter out unbuildable 
tax lots from the BLI data. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 4 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• Housing Authorities (not just Portland) 
 
Included in Employment Capacity Calculations the following list of exemptions: 

• Port of Portland 
• Portland Development Commission 

 
Rationale: 
Tax lots that are not capable of supporting future employment and/or housing because of use 
restrictions should be removed from the BLI. 

Calculate Environmental Constraints 
Issue: 
Local governments vary in how they implement environmental regulations found in Urban Growth 
Management Functional Plan Title 3 (Water Quality and Flood Management) and Title 13 (Nature in 
Neighborhoods). Moreover, estimation of residential housing capacity of tax lots (TL) with 
environmental impact may vary substantially on a case by case basis. Typically, density transfers from 
the environmentally impacted portion of a tax lot to the unconstrained part of the tax lot may vary 
significantly depending on the environmental impact and city regulations. 

The capacity calculations for environmentally constrained tax lots recognize residential density transfers 
and Title 13’s more flexible protections, which are applied on a site-by-site basis during the 
development review process. Generally, under Title 13, development is to avoid, minimize, or mitigate 
(in that order) designated habitat areas. Typically, precise delineations of habitat conservation areas are 
identified during the site development process. Therefore, the data and BLI calculation methods are 
more appropriate at a higher geographic scale than individual tax lots. The residential capacity 
computation (though accurate at a regional or subregional scale) may NOT accurately portray the 
precision needed to calculate the environmental deduction for each tax lot. This may also affect the 
calculation for the transfer of density from the environmentally constrained area to the unconstrained 
part for individual tax lots, but we believe that on balance, the variance in the calculation of net density 
and net residential capacity offset each other over the entire region. 

The BLI technical working group was asked to provide advice on how to handle capacity assumptions in 
Title 13 areas. The group agreed that counting full residential capacity was not appropriate, but that 
discounting all capacity was not appropriate either. Metro staff then sent an e-mail inquiry out to all 
local jurisdictions in the region to determine their jurisdictions’ historic development experience in Title 
13 areas. Metro staff received varied responses with many caveats that preclude meaningful 
summarization. In the end, this inquiry did not produce a clear answer. Aside from the fact that Title 13 
gets interpreted on a site-by-site basis, another challenge is that local implementation of Title 13 is fairly 
recent, which means that there is not a lot of development experience from which to draw (particularly 
in light of the Great Recession). Given this ambiguity and the fact that Title 13 areas comprise a 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 5 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



relatively small portion of the region’s single-family zoned vacant land (approximately 5.5%) and even 
less of its multi-family zoned vacant land (approximately 0.5%), Metro staff determined that the most 
reasonable approach was to rely on percentages found in the Title 13 Model Ordinance. This is the best 
available information and is being used on the advice of the BLI technical working group. 

 
Solution: 
Most areas that are considered environmentally sensitive fall into multiple categories of overlap 
including Titles 3 and 13, or are in a floodway or flood prone soils, or include steep slopes or some other 
ecosystem feature. Metro employs an environmental hierarchy to classify the environmental features to 
avoid double counting the capacity deduction for the BLI. BLI reductions will reflect the higher assumed 
protections when environmental features are overlapping. 
 
Methods differ for single-family, multi-family, and employment lands. Generally, using the best available 
GIS data: 

• Remove 100% of the area of floodways  
• Recognize environmental constraints such as slopes over 25% and as defined by cities and 

counties under Title 3 and Title 13. In many instances, the delineation of the environmental 
buffers are GIS modeled data; where available we utilize environmental buffers from local 
government GIS data 

• By assumption, permit 1 dwelling unit (DU) per residentially-zoned (SFR, MFR, MUR) tax lot if 
environmental encumbrances would limit development such that by internal calculations no 
(zero) dwelling units would otherwise be permitted (“essentially avoid takings”) 

 
As a result, we define the following land area calculations (used in formulas below): 
Vacant buildable = Calculated area of TL – utility easements – parks – railroads – tax exempt sites 
Net unconstrained10

 
 = vacant buildable – environmental constraints 

The “calculated area of TL” is the GIS calculation of area (sq. ft.) of the tax lot as defined in Metro’s GIS 
tax lot data layer. (Generally, individual tax lots are not affected by utility easements, parks, railroads or 
other tax exempt uses, but on a regional scale, these factors add up to be somewhat significant and 
therefore handled in the regional BLI calculations for the UGR capacity estimates.) Environmental 
constraints are handled as follows (by land use type): 
 
Single-family residential 

1. Floodways: 100% removed 
2. Slopes > 25% and Title 3 treated the same way: 100% removed 

10 This is the calculation for SFR, MFR and MUR.  The calculation for COM and IND is a 100% deduction of 
environmental constraints. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 6 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



a. If tax lot > (or equal to) 50% constrained, follow the ”maximum capacity rule” (defined 
below) to add back units11

b. If tax lot is <50% constrained, assume 90% of unconstrained area is in BLI (i.e., apply 
10% discount to vacant buildable acres)

 

12

3. Title 13: 50% of Title 13 constrained acres removed from BLI (consistent with Title 13 model 
Ordinance). 

 

4. Assume at least one unit per tax lot, even if fully constrained 
 
Multi-family residential 

1. Floodways: 100% removed 
2. Slopes > 25%: 100% removed 
3. Title 3: remove 50% of the constrained land with the other 50% considered buildable 
4. Title 13: 15%  of Title 13 constrained acres removed from BLI (consistent with Title 13 Model 

Ordinance) 
5. Assume at least one unit per tax lot, even if fully constrained 

  
Industrial and commercial 
Employment zoned land applies a simple approach of netting out all constrained land. This is based on 
the input of the BLI technical working group, which indicated that constrained areas are typically 
avoided altogether by new commercial or industrial employment uses. 
 

1. Floodways: 100% removed 
2. Slopes >25%: 100% removed 
3. Title 3: 100% removed with the exception of the Portland Harbor Access Land where a 70% 

discount rate is applied13

4. Title 13: 100% removed 
 

Calculate deductions for “future streets” 
This BLI methodology sets aside a portion of the vacant land supply (not redevelopment supply) in order 
to accommodate future streets and sidewalks. This assumption is calculated on a per tax lot basis: 

• Tax lots under 3/8 acre assume 0% set aside for future streets 
• Tax lots between 3/8 acre and 1 acre assume a 10% set aside for future streets 
• Tax lots greater than an acre assume an 18.5% set aside for future streets 
• Industrial (IND) zoning assumes a 10% set aside regardless of size. 

 

11 This add back represents Metro’s approach for estimating / calculating the density transfer to mitigate the loss 
of potential development productivity for dwelling units. 

12 Based on feedback from BLI working group, including local experience. 

13 Based on input from City of Portland staff. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 7 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



The basis for these net street deduction ratios derive from previous research completed by the Data 
Resource Center and local jurisdictions for the the 2002 UGR. 

Calculate single-family residential capacity 

Single-family residential vacant land methods: 
Rationale: A multi-step approach has been developed that accounts for environmental impacts and 
provides a means for explicitly estimating potential transfer of density from the constrained portion of a 
tax lot to the unconstrained portion. The approach corrects for over estimation of partial single-family 
(SF) capacity by rounding down capacity estimates to a whole number.  
 
If a vacant tax lot is unconstrained by environmental impacts, the formula is simply to compute the 
maximum number of whole dwelling units permitted by the zoning district. 
 
Example: 10,500 sq. ft. tax lot and zoning district allows a minimum lot size of 5,000 sq. ft.  (10,500 / 
5,000) = 2.1 dwelling unit capacity rounded down to 2.0 DU 
 
Our approach for both redevelopment and vacant tax lots otherwise considers the potential to achieve 
transfer of density from areas in a tax lot constrained by environmental considerations. Two (2) different 
capacity calculations are made on vacant SF tax lots to account for environmental constraints. The DU 
capacity for each tax lot is the minimum calculated by the two methods, with a floor of at least 1 SF unit 
per tax lot14

 

. The floor is an allowance for any vacant and fully constrained tax lot in order to recognize 
the development potential of 1 DU capacity in the BLI. 

Calculations: 
The maximum capacity rule is applied to single-family tax lots with environmental constraints (slopes 
greater than 25% and/or Title 3 constraints and/or Title 13 constraints). The rule would take the 
minimum number of units based on these guidelines: 

1. Tax lot size / minimum zoned lot size; or 
2. Unconstrained portion of lot / 2000 sq. ft. (1000 sq. ft. in Portland) 15

 
 

Example of environmental conditions of two typical tax lots: 
• 11,000 sq ft lot 
• 5,000 sq ft minimum lot size zoning 

 

14 Note: This only applies to vacant tax lots.  If a tax lot is already developed and environmental constraints would 
not allow any additional units to be built, it can have a minimum capacity of zero additional units. 

15 Assuming 2,000 sq. ft. in the above calculations was a recommendation of the 2035 Growth Distribution 
subcommittee (and 1,000 sq. ft. for areas in Portland), which was based in part on a review of regulation, physical 
dimensions (i.e., building footprint) of a prototypical higher density SFR development form, and practical 
development knowledge. 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 8 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Scenario A: 
• 6,500 sq ft unconstrained 
• 4,500 sq ft environmentally constrained 
• If unconstrained: 11,000/5,000 = 2 units maximum 
• With constraint: 6,500/2,000 = 3 units possible 
• Applying maximum capacity rule: 2 units (zoning maximum takes precedence) 

 
Scenario B: 

• 2,500 sq ft unconstrained 
• 8,500 sq ft environmentally constrained 
• If unconstrained: 11,000/5,000 = 2 units maximum 
• With constraint: 2,500/2,000 = 1 unit possible 
• Applying maximum capacity rule: 1 unit possible (constraint overrides zoning maximum) 

Single-family residential developed land methods (infill): 
Rationale: There are a finite number of single-family tax lots in the region. As a result, over the next 20-
year period, it may become increasingly attractive for homeowners of oversized SF tax lots to subdivide. 
Any single family zoned tax lot with a developed SF home was subjected to 1) an oversize tax lot screen 
to determine if the tax lot exceeded today’s zoned minimum lot size (per Metro’s regionalized zoning 
crosswalk table); 2) if the ratio of entire tax lot square footage to the minimum zoned lot size is between 
2.5 and 5, an additional economic-based filter is used to remove from the BLI any lots with high-valued 
SF homes meeting this criteria. A $300,000 building value is assumed as an appropriate threshold for 
removal from the SF infill supply. The intent is to recognize that owners of large tax lots with relatively 
expensive homes are not likely to subdivide their tax lot. 
 
SF Infill Filters: 

• Must have single family zoning (per Metro’s standardized regional zone class) 
• If the tax lot is zoned SFR and classified by Metro as developed, it was assumed that one (1) SF 

unit presently exists on the tax lot regardless of what’s indicated on the assessor’s land use 
code.  The one exception to this rule is for tax lots in SFR zoning that have current land use for 
an apartment (according to Metro’s MF database), and these parcels were not considered in 
calculating infill potential for single family infill supply (Rationale for this was that any infill of 
such land use would by zoning yield a SFR unit with the concomitant loss of the MFR units, 
which we believed unlikely). 

• Lot size threshold > 2.5 times the minimum zoned lot size (2.2 for City of Portland only); lots 
greater than 2.5 times (or 2.2 for Portland) would be added to the SF infill supply, except: 

• Lots that meet the size thresholds are run through an additional economic eligibility filter before 
being included in the SF infill supply. In addition to meeting the size threshold, the assessor’s 
real market building value must be below $300,000 to be counted in the SF infill supply. 
Rationale: lots with really expensive homes would be excluded from the SF infill supply. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 9 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• Tax lots with an oversize threshold exceeding 5 (anywhere in region) are passed through into 
the infill supply regardless of building value. Rationale is that the remaining buildable area is 
close to an acre or more and real estate economics being what we expect would very likely see 
significant infill pressures. 

Example: an existing developed SF tax lot that’s 13,000 sq. ft. and a minimum lot size for the zone class 
of 5,000 sq. ft.  13,000 / 5,000 = 2.6; this TL is eligible for infill with the capacity for 1 more DU (2.6 – 1 
= 1.6  rounded down yields 1 more infill unit). 
 
Calculations of eligible infill tax lots and the additional net DU added: 
The net additional infill SF DU is the minimum of calculated by the following 2 computations. Many SF 
tax lots end up with zero additional infill units. 
 

1. Additional DU infill= (Calculated area of TL  – max lot size) / min lot size (rounded down to a 
whole number); can equal 0 

 
2. Additional DU infill = (net unconstrained sq. ft. / 2,000 sq. ft. (1000 sq. ft. in Portland)), rounded 

down to a whole number; can equal 0 
 
Calculated area of TL = GIS calculation of the tax lot 
Max lot size = in the GIS tax lot layer database, each single family zone class has, by definition, a top-end 
value for lots to be classified for each SF residential category 
Min lot size =  in the GIS tax lot layer database, each single family zone class has, by definition, a low-end 
value for lots to be classified for each SF residential category (please refer to the Metro “Standardized 
Regional Zone Class” table. 
 
Net unconstrained16

Calculate multi-family residential capacity (including mixed-use residential) 

 = vacant buildable – environmental constraints 

Method for Vacant and Redevelopment Capacity Calculation (MFR and MUR) 
If the tax lot is zoned MF (or MUR) and vacant, the BLI capacity estimate is simply the number of units 
per acre permitted by the zoning class multiplied by the vacant buildable acres, which in the case of the 
unconstrained tax lot is the area of the tax lot.  

If the tax lot is zoned MF and vacant, but it is partly constrained by an identified environmental set aside 
(such as local ordinances implementing Title 3 or Title 13), the formula for estimating the BLI capacity 
tests the available size of the unconstrained part of tax lot to determine how much theoretically 
permissible density could be transferred to the unconstrained half. (See formula in this section.) 

16 This is the calculation for SFR, MFR and MUR.  The calculation for COM and IND is a 100% deduction of 
environmental constraints. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 10 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Redevelopment Rationale: The following redevelopment filters are first applied to each developed tax 
lot within a regional MF or MUR zone class. In order to be added to the multifamily redevelopment BLI, 
redevelopment would have to add at least 50% more units over the number of units which already exist, 
or produce at least 3 units total. The rationale is that developers would not tear down and redevelop an 
apartment or condo units unless he could yield a significant gain in rents and dwelling units.  A threshold 
of 50% was recommended by the subcommittee that advised Metro staff on the BLI assumptions for the 
2035/40 growth distribution.  

• Redevelopment of multi-family structure must add at least 50% more units; if it doesn’t, the tax 
lot is not eligible for redevelopment 

• If the structure is a commercial (or industrial) building or single family dwelling unit (in an MFR 
or MUR zone), the redevelopment must yield at least 3 or more dwelling units 

• Redevelopment must pass through an economic filter first before evaluation of additional DU 
through redevelopment (see below for economic filter thresholds) 

 
Different economic redevelopment thresholds are assumed to determine which sites in today’s MUR or 
MFR zone classes might be eligible for adding to the redevelopment portion of the BLI. These economic 
filter thresholds are described next. 
 
Multifamily and Mixed Use Residential Redevelopment filter: 
The economic screen for determining which tax lots could potentially be candidates for redevelopment 
is based on a ratio of total real market value17

Table 1

 (land and improvements) to area of the tax lot (square 
feet). If the real market value per square foot is less than the strike price, the tax lot is assumed eligible 
for redevelopment. The rationale for the strike price thresholds is that developers have a profit motive. 
For the purposes of this BLI, it is assumed that developers may want to redevelop a property if the 
potential profit justifies property acquisition costs. Strike price values were developed in consultation 
with economic consultants and the BLI technical working group, which included developers with market 
knowledge. The strike prices are based on current market conditions, but are pushed to a modest 
degree to acknowledge that demand (and willingness to pay) will increase over the 20-year timeframe. 
As depicted in  and Figure 1 below, strike prices vary by market subarea. Additional analysis was 
completed on historic redevelopment to determine whether these strike prices are reasonable. The 
analysis found in the addendum at the end of this document indicates that the strike prices used for 
completing the BLI are reasonable given what has been observed with actual redevelopment. 
 
  

17 Source: county tax assessors 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 11 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 1: Residential redevelopment strike prices by market subarea (for MFR and MUR zone classes) 

 Redevelopment strike price per square foot (land and 
improvements) 

Market Subarea18 Multi-family zoning  Mixed-use residential zoning 
Central City $130 $130 
N/NE Portland central corridors $70 $80 
Eastside urban $70 $80 
Suburban $10 $12 
 

 
Figure 1: Mixed-Use Residential and Multi-Family Residential redevelopment market subarea analysis geographies 

 
These economic filters define the BLI’s supply of tax lots that may redevelop over a 20-year timeframe. 
The UGR goes through a separate step of using land use and transportation modeling to estimate what 
portion of that redevelopment supply is likely to redevelop over the 20-year timeframe. Using these 
numbers, this redevelopment supply is then expressed as a range in the UGR. 
 

18 During Local Review, the City of Portland identified the Gateway district as an area that did not fit these general 
rules for redevelopment.  Therefore, a strike price of $24/sq. ft. was applied in Gateway based on several real-
world redevelopments that have recently occurred in Gateway. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 12 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Formula for calculating density transfers on environmentally constrained tax lots (for MFR and MUR 
Redevelopment and Vacant tax lots): 
The formulas below make a distinction between low density vs. high density zoning for MFR and MUR 
categories of zoning. In Metro’s standardized zone class designations, high density zoning refers to 
classes: MFR 7 and MUR 8 to MUR 10. Both sets of calculations consider how much additional BLI 
capacity can be gained with respect to tax lots that have identified environmental constraints.  

1. Low Density (LD) MFR or MUR zoning capacity calculation formula: 

LD => if (1,000 sq. ft < unconstrained part < 5000 sq. ft.) => min (allowed by zoning or 1 DU / 1000 sq. ft.) 
LD => if (unconstrained part > 5,000 sq. ft.) => apply zoning density to entire tax lot. 
 

2. High Density (HD) MFR or MUR zoning capacity calculation formula: 
 
HD => if (unconstrained part <10,000 sq. ft.) => 1 DU/1000 sq. ft. of unconstrained area. 
HD => if (unconstrained part >10,000 sq. ft.) => apply zoning density to entire tax lot. 
 

Net unconstrained = Vacant buildable – env. constraints 
 
Note: the deduction for environmental constraints is defined in previous sections of this report. 

 
For a tax lot with low density MFR or MUR zoning, if the unconstrained portion of the lot is at least 5,000 
sq. ft., then the DU capacity for that lot is calculated by simply applying zoning density to the entire 
buildable area of the tax lot (net of utility and park areas and other allowed easements).  This approach 
assumes a full density transfer from any constrained portions of the lot to the unconstrained portion of 
the lot would theoretically be achievable if the unconstrained area is at least 5,000 sq. ft.  The same 
applies for high density MFR and MUR zoning, except that the unconstrained area must be at least 
10,000 sq. ft. to achieve a full density transfer.  If the unconstrained portion of the tax lot is under the 
specified limits (5,000 or 10,000 sq. ft. – these thresholds were  suggested by the TAZ subcommittee as a 
reasonable threshold), the number of dwelling units theoretically buildable is the minimum of: 1) the 
number of DU permissible based on zoning multiplied by the number of buildable of acres (buildable = 
Calculated area of TL – utility easements – parks); or 2) net unconstrained sq. ft. / 1000 sq. ft. (net 
unconstrained = TL sq. ft. – utility – parks – env. constraints). 

Employment Capacity Calculations for Commercial and Industrial  

 Method for Vacant and Redevelopment Capacity Calculation 
The vacant land supply is identified using Metro’s vacant land inventory, which is derived annually from 
aerial photo information. Capacity to accommodate employment is determined by zoning (i.e., 
industrial, commercial, multiple use employment and mixed use residential zone classes). Similar to the 
residential BLI, the employment BLI estimate includes capacity from vacant land and potential 
redevelopment.  
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 13 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



The employment BLI removes a select set of tax lots (vacant and developed) that for a variety of reasons 
should not receive any capacity calculations (e.g., parks and open spaces and other defined easements). 
These tax lots are removed from the employment inventory much like the residential inventory. They 
receive no carrying capacity for employment (or residential) uses. 
 
The supply of employment land is measured in acres.  All tax lots with commercial and industrial zoning 
were subjected to a series of preliminary screens first, as for residential, to exclude the following types 
of properties, for example: 

• Tax exempt properties (except for Port and PDC codes) 
• Schools19

• Rail properties 
 

• Parks and open spaces20

 
 

The unconstrained buildable area, net of environmental and other constraints was calculated as follows: 
Vacant buildable = Calculated area of TL – utility easements – parks 
Net unconstrained = Vacant buildable –100% of environmentally constrained area 

 
Tax lots that have been identified as part vacant (at least ½ an acre undeveloped) are considered 
developed and go through a set of redevelopment screens/filters in order to identify which tax lots have 
the potential to redevelop during the next 20-year time horizon. 
 
Because “part vacant” land is now being classed as “developed” in this approach, there remain some tax 
lots with large vacant pieces that do not get through the economic filters and into the redevelopment 
supply. The assumed economic threshold values which identify which tax lots have potential to be 
redeveloped are not well suited and calibrated to identify partially developed tax lots with significant 
amounts of undeveloped real estate. A final screen for these so called “land banked” parcels was 
applied by adding back into the redevelopment supply the net unconstrained vacant portion of any lot 
with at least 1 acre of unconstrained vacant land.   
 
In these cases, these two steps, the preliminary screening calculation of unconstrained area, are 
sufficient to identify the employment capacity on vacant land.  For the redevelopment supply, the 
developed tax lots are subjected to a set of economic criteria shown in Table 2 and Table 3.  Tax lots 
must meet both criteria (size and strike price) to be considered eligible for the redevelopment supply in 
the BLI. To be included in the BLI, the unconstrained area of a tax lot must be larger than the threshold 
acreage AND it must have a square foot value less than the applicable strike price. 
 

19 Metro maintains a school GIS data layer which will be used in screening out land for the BLI. Note: abandoned 
school properties or school sites that are no longer actively used as a school (and considered surplus) will be 
included in the BLI. 

20 Metro maintains a parks and open spaces GIS data layer (i.e., ORCA = open recreation and conservation area) 
which will be the data source used in screening out land for the BLI. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 14 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



The rationale for the tax lot size thresholds is that a developer would be less likely to redevelop a small 
tax lot because there are likely to be higher construction costs associated with fitting the development 
on a small parcel. Additionally, by their very nature, small parcels are not likely to produce 
redevelopment supply that is significant in the context of a regional BLI. 
 
The rationale for the strike price thresholds is that developers have a profit motive. They may redevelop 
a property if the potential profit justifies property acquisition costs. Redevelopment strike prices were 
developed with the assistance of economic consultants and the BLI technical working group. 
 
Table 2: Commercial redevelopment economic filter by market subarea 

COMMERCIAL LAND 
  Redevelopment strike price ($/sq ft for 

land and improvements) 
Zone class Tax lot size (acres) 

greater than 
Regional Centers, 

Town Centers, 
Station 

Communities21

Everywhere else 
in UGB 

 
Central 
Commercial (CC) 

.249 $15 $12 

General 
Commercial (CG) 

.249 $15 $12 

Commercial 
Neighborhood 
(CN) 

.249 $15 $12 

Commercial Office 
(CO) 

.249 $15 $12 

Note: Downtown Portland is zoned MUR, so is handled with the residential redevelopment methods. 
 Real market value from county assessors is used for calculating values 
 

  

21 Officially adopted center boundaries were used where possible. In other cases, analysis geographies were used. 
In the case of Station Communities, the Station Community buffers, as depicted on the 2040 Map, were used. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 15 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 3: Industrial redevelopment economic filter by market subarea 

INDUSTRIAL LAND 
  Redevelopment strike price ($/sq ft for land and 

improvements) 
Zone class Tax lot size (acres) 

greater than 
Entire UGB Subarea #322 Everywhere else 

in UGB 
 

Light Industrial (IL) .99 $5 - - 
Heavy Industrial 
(IH) 

.99 $5 - - 

Office Industrial 
(IO) 

.99 - $10 $7 

Campus (business 
park) Industrial 
(IC) 

.99 - $10 $7 

Note:  Real market value from county assessors is used for calculating values 
 
These economic filters define the BLI’s supply of tax lots that may redevelop over a 20-year timeframe. 
The UGR goes through a separate step of using land use and transportation modeling and historic data 
to estimate what portion of that redevelopment supply is likely to redevelop over the 20-year 
timeframe. Using these numbers, this redevelopment supply is then expressed as a range in the UGR. 
 

Mixed Use capacity estimates (splitting residential and commercial capacity 
on MUR zoned tax lots) 
More and more tax lots in the region are designated in mixed use residential (MUR) zones. Predicting 
whether MUR-zoned areas throughout the region will be developed as residential or commercial (or 
what mix of the two) is a challenge. MUR districts in the Metro region almost universally do not require 
vertical mixed use, which is to say ground floor retail/service or office uses with above floor apartments 
(or condos). Horizontal mixed use, on the other hand, are a mix of retail, service, office and residential 
apartments – a mix then of employment and residential land uses usually on separate tax lots. 
 
Issue: In past modeling and forecasting efforts, Metro assumed that all MUR zones were 100% vertical 
mixed use. This meant that for purposes of counting employment BLI and residential BLI, the equivalent 
of one story of capacity would be counted in the employment BLI and the remaining capacity would be 
counted in the residential BLI. This is the theoretical maximum capacity for each MUR district. However, 
over the last 10 to 15 years, there have been few examples of vertical mixed use occurring in suburban 
MUR districts. Anecdotal evidence suggests that at most 5% residential and 95% employment was more 
the norm in some suburban mixed-use development in recent years. 
 
  

22 As depicted in Figure 1. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 16 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



MUR residential/non-residential capacity split formula: 
Employment capacity in mixed use residential areas, measured in acres, is calculated from the dwelling 
unit capacity determined in the residential supply.  For tax lots with MUR zoning: 

• Total effective acres = Total additional units allowed if 100% of lot is used for residential * 
acres per unit required at maximum zoned density 

• Residential effective acres = ResSplit * Total effective acres 
• Employment effective acres = EmpSplit * Total effective acres 

 
Assume: Residential split = 20% (Portland**: see map)23

   Non-residential split = 80% (Portland**: see map) 
 

 
** The split in Portland’s mixed use residential zone classes varied by area based on evidence from 
historic and on-going development trends. A map below depicts these locations and the individualized 
split formula for each subarea of the city. 
 

 

23 In the event that applying a split factor reduces the number of available residential units below 1 (i.e. 2 units x 
20% = 0.4 units) the number of residential units is rounded up to 1. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 17 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Rationale: For purposes of modeling and forecasting, we opt for a greater suburban residential split of 
20% to foreshadow the possibility that future market trends may drive more residential development 
than present trends would otherwise suggest. If projected market demand forces do not materialize 
during the forecast, this oversupply will not materially skew projections. 

New urban area capacity 
“New urban areas” are those areas that have been added to the UGB in recent years that do not yet 
have urban zoning or adopted comprehensive plans24

• Draft comprehensive plans 

. Consequently, planning documents, rather than 
GIS analysis, are typically the basis for how capacity in new urban areas is handled in the BLI. Possible 
sources of information include: 

• Adopted concept plans 
• Draft concept plans 
• Conditions of approval that were attached to the UGB expansion. 

The UGR goes through a subsequent step of determining, in consultation with local jurisdictions, what 
portion of the region’s capacity is likely to be developed in the 20-year timeframe. Examples of sources 
of information that can inform those determinations are local staff knowledge, status of planning and 
infrastructure provisions, market-based modeling, and the 2035 Growth Distribution. Please refer to the 
GIS shapefile for case-by-case capacity estimates when comprehensive plans or zoning plans were not 
used in calculations (i.e., in deference to other local input). 

  

24 This marks a change from the 2009 UGR, which asserted that any area that was added to the UGB from 1998 
onward was a new urban area, even if zoning ordinances had been adopted. The new method considers a 
narrower set of areas to be new urban areas. All other areas are handled according to the standard BLI methods 
described in this paper. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 18 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Addendum: assessment of historic multifamily redevelopment strike 
prices 
 

Multifamily housing accounts for about half of the new residential units that were constructed in the 
Portland region from 2007 to 2012.  More than 60% of multifamily development over this period came 
through redevelopment and infill on previously developed parcels, so this segment of the housing 
supply is a critical component in determining residential land needs over the next 20 years.  The 
buildable lands inventory (BLI) that has been developed for the current UGR includes a redevelopment 
component in order to account for this trend in the growth forecast.  This analysis reviews the criteria 
that were selected as “filters” for including tax lots in the redevelopment supply by examining the 
multifamily redevelopment and infill that have actually occurred in recent years. 

Building permit and assessor data, as well as Metro’s multifamily housing inventory, were used to 
identify new multifamily construction over the study period and determine the previous state of the 
land before the most recent development.  Developments were broadly divided into vacant, 
redevelopment and infill.  If there was no evidence of an existing structure on the tax lot going back to 
the year 2003, the lot was considered vacant prior to the new development.  If an existing structure was 
torn down to make way for the new development, this is considered redevelopment.  If the existing 
structure was not torn down and new development was added, with or without subdividing the tax lot, 
this is considered infill. 

For developments that were identified as redevelopment and infill, the tax lot information from prior 
years was joined to look at the assessed values, land use and other attributes of the lots before they 
were redeveloped.  In order to look at the land before any transactions or subdivisions toward 
redevelopment took place, the 2003 tax lots were chosen as the “pre-redevelopment” state of the land.  
For developments where the tax lots were not reconfigured during the redevelopment, it is fairly 
straightforward to directly join the old data to the new development.  For developments where tax lots 
were assembled for the new development, it is also fairly straightforward to add up the values of the 
underlying land, however some developments had multiple uses prior to redevelopment.  However, for 
the case where large lots were subdivided into multiple uses during redevelopment, it is harder to 
quantify the attributes of the land that was redeveloped and what portion should be assigned to any 
individual development on the property.   

So instead of looking backward from the perspective of the new developments, tax lots that 
redeveloped from the 2003 data were selected and joined with forward-looking data from the new 
developments.  The only information that could be consistently used from the new development data 
was the year of redevelopment and whether it was redevelopment or infill.  The primary economic filter 
for inclusion in the redevelopment supply is total assessed value per square foot of land.  Other 
attributes of interest may include lot size, previous land use, year built and building value.  The following 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 19 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



statistics are based on the 2003 tax lots that were converted to multifamily residential use through infill 
and redevelopment over the period 2007 to 2012.  Values in 2003$ were converted to 2013$ using the 
CPI factor 1.266, so 2013$ = 1.266 * 2003$. 

The following histogram displays the distribution of the redeveloped (and infilled) lots by the total 
assessed value per square foot of land.  It is important to note that more expensive lots are typically 
developed at much higher densities and therefore produce more than their share of residential units 
compared to the number of lots that are redeveloped.  The table of strike prices used for the 
redevelopment supply in the BLI is included following the histogram. 

Bin Frequency Cumulative % 
10 161 32.99% 
25 198 73.57% 
50 77 89.34% 
70 22 93.85% 

100 14 96.72% 
130 9 98.57% 

More 7 100.00% 
 

 

 Redevelopment strike price per square foot (land and 

0.00% 

10.00% 

20.00% 

30.00% 

40.00% 

50.00% 

60.00% 

70.00% 

80.00% 

90.00% 

100.00% 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

0 to 10 10 to 25 25 to 50 50 to 70 70 to 100 100 to 130 More than 
130 

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y 
(N

um
be

r o
f l

ot
s)

 

Bin (Total value per sq ft of land) 

Distribution of redeveloped lots by $/sq ft 

Frequency 

Cumulative % 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 20 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



improvements) 
Market Subarea25 Multi-family zoning  Mixed-use residential zoning 

Central City $130 $130 
N/NE Portland central corridors $70 $80 
Eastside urban $70 $80 
Suburban $10 $12 
 

The spatial distribution of the lot values is as expected, with the highest values in downtown Portland, 
intermediate values in inner Portland and Lake Oswego, and lower values in outer Portland and the 
suburbs.  The City of Portland also experienced the greatest overall level of multifamily redevelopment. 

 

25 During Local Review, the City of Portland identified the Gateway district as an area that did not fit these general 
rules for redevelopment.  Therefore, a strike price of $24/sq. ft. was applied in Gateway based on several real-
world redevelopments that have recently occurred in Gateway. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 21 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



The following tables show the number of redeveloped tax lots and the average value per square foot by 
the jurisdiction and the year of redevelopment. 

Jurisdiction Number of lots Average value per sq ft of land 
  Infill Redev Total Infill Redev Total 

CLACKAMAS 2 
 

2 3.43 
 

3.43 
FAIRVIEW 1 1 2 7.14 9.81 8.48 
GRESHAM 4 11 15 9.36 9.44 9.42 
LAKE OSWEGO 2 4 6 13.67 45.55 34.92 
MILWAUKIE 2 9 11 10.07 9.76 9.81 
OREGON CITY 3 1 4 9.90 20.63 12.59 
PORTLAND 70 328 398 19.95 29.59 27.89 
Unincorp Washington County 8 41 49 12.33 8.55 9.16 
WILSONVILLE  

1 1 
 

0.02 0.02 
Total 92 396 488 17.65 26.42 24.76 

 

Year built Number of lots Average value per sq ft of land 
  Infill Redev Total Infill Redev Total 

2007 20 101 121 18.83 21.59 21.13 
2008 30 119 149 14.18 21.16 19.75 
2009 11 75 86 13.17 43.05 39.23 
2010 9 25 34 14.85 16.16 15.81 
2011 7 39 46 19.64 21.48 21.20 
2012 15 37 52 27.03 34.92 32.65 
Total 92 396 488 17.65 26.42 24.76 

 

 

The market subareas for the redevelopment thresholds are defined in the following map.  These 
geographies were joined to the redeveloped tax lots to generate a histogram of values for each market 
area.  The table shows the total number of redeveloped tax lots in each value bin, while the chart shows 
the percentage distribution among value bins. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 22 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

Bin Central City Corridors 
Eastside 
Urban Suburban 

0 to 10 3 11 29 118 
10 to 25 3 27 86 82 
25 to 50 5 16 53 3 
50 to 70 10 1 10 1 
70 to 100 6 2 5 1 
100 to 130 8 0 1 0 
More than 
130 7 0 0 0 
Total 42 57 184 205 

 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 23 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

 

Urban renewal and other development incentives also contribute to redevelopment through direct 
subsidies, tax abatement, neighborhood improvements that increase achievable rents, and other 
mechanisms.  The following table shows the distribution of multifamily redevelopment in urban renewal 
areas using three different measures.  28.5% of the 2003 tax lots that redeveloped over the period 2007-
2012, and 27.3% of the new multifamily developments, fell within urban renewal areas.  These 
developments are typically higher density than multifamily units elsewhere in the region, so they 
accounted for 47.1% of the multifamily units that were added over the study period. 

 

Share in urban renewal areas 
2003 taxlots redeveloped 28.5% 
MF developments 27.3% 
MF units added 47.1% 

 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

0 to 10 10 to 25 25 to 50 50 to 70 70 to 100 100 to 
130 

More 
than 130 

Sh
ar

e 
of

 re
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

ta
x 

lo
ts

 
 

Total value per sq ft of land 

Value of redeveloped tax lots by market area 

Central City 

Corridors 

Eastside Urban 

Suburban 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 24 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 2, Page 25 of 25

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

Multifamily Rede v & Infill 

Urban renewa l areas 



Appendix 3 
Buildable land inventory results (revised as of 9/23/14) 

This appendix describes the results of the buildable land inventory methods described in Appendix 2. All 
cities and counties in the region were given over two months to review a preliminary inventory in the 
fall of 2013. This inventory incorporates edits submitted by local jurisdictions. This buildable land 
inventory should be understood as a first cut at understanding the growth capacity of the Metro UGB. 
As described in the 2014 UGR summary and appendices 4 (Housing Needs Analysis) and 6 (Employment 
Demand Analysis), not all of this inventory may be feasible in the 20-year planning horizon. Additional 
market feasibility considerations are incorporated into the analyses found in those documents. 

This revised draft incorporates a correction. This correction relates to lands added to the urban 
growth boundary by the Oregon Legislature in March 2014 under House Bill 4078. At the request 
of city of Forest Grove staff, this revised report counts lands added near Forest Grove as industrial 
rather than residential with a small amount of commercial. When the revised regional numbers are 
rounded at regional scale, this amounts to 200 additional acres of industrial land and 100 fewer 
acres of commercial land in the employment buildable land inventory. A second, minor correction 
affects only the detailed maps and tables in this appendix, but had already been incorporated into 
the remainder of the draft Urban Growth Report’s analysis. This second correction does not 
change the report’s analysis or conclusions. 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 3, Page 1 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Lake Oswego

Milwaukie

Newberg
Oregon

City

Portland

Sandy

Sherwood

Tigard

Troutdale

Tualatin

Vancouver

West
Linn

Wilsonville

Beaverton

Canby

Damascus

Dundee

Forest
Grove

Gladstone

Gresham

Happy Valley

Hillsboro

Y A M H I L L C O .
CLACKAMAS CO.

YAM
HILL

CO
.

W
ASHIN

GTO
N

CO
.

CLACKAM
AS

CO
.

M
U

LTN
O

M
AH

CO
.

C L A C K A M A S C O .
W A S H I N G T O N C O .

CO
LU

M
BIA

CO
.

M
U

LTN
O

M
AH

CO
.

S K A M A N I A C O .
C L A R K C O .

CLARK CO.
M

ULTNO
M

AH
CO

.

M U L T N O M A H C O .
W A S H I N G T O N C O .

30

0
2

4Miles
Map saved 9/18/2014 at T:\2014UGR\Maps\Vac_Residential_Sept2014_update.mxd

Unit Capacity (per taxlot)
0 - 15
16 - 60
61 - 160
161 - 1000
More than 1000

General Zoning Type
Single Family
Multi-Family
Mixed Use

2014 Vacant Buildable Land
Residential Land
September, 2014 (DRAFT)

Urban growth boundary
County boundary
Major arterials
Rivers and lakes

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 3, Page 2 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Lake Oswego

Milwaukie

Newberg
Oregon

City

Portland

Sandy

Sherwood

Tigard

Troutdale

Tualatin

Vancouver

West
Linn

Wilsonville

Beaverton

Canby

Damascus

Dundee

Forest
Grove

Gladstone

Gresham

Happy Valley

Hillsboro

Y A M H I L L C O .
CLACKAMAS CO.

YAM
HILL

CO
.

W
ASHIN

GTO
N

CO
.

CLACKAM
AS

CO
.

M
U

LTN
O

M
AH

CO
.

C L A C K A M A S C O .
W A S H I N G T O N C O .

CO
LU

M
BIA

CO
.

M
U

LTN
O

M
AH

CO
.

S K A M A N I A C O .
C L A R K C O .

CLARK CO.
M

ULTNO
M

AH
CO

.

M U L T N O M A H C O .
W A S H I N G T O N C O .

30

0
2

4Miles
Map saved 6/9/2014 at T:\2014UGR\Maps\Infill_redev_Residential_Sept2014_update.mxd

Unit Capacity (per taxlots)
0 - 15
16 - 60
61 - 160
161 - 1000
More than 1000

General Zoning Type
Single Family
Multi-Family
Mixed Use

Urban growth boundary
County Boundary
Major arterials
Rivers

2014 Potential
Redevelopment & Infill
Residential Land
September, 2014 (DRAFT)

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 3, Page 3 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Lake Oswego

Milwaukie

Newberg
Oregon

City

Portland

Sandy

Sherwood

Tigard

Troutdale

Tualatin

Vancouver

West
Linn

Wilsonville

Beaverton

Canby

Damascus

Dundee

Forest
Grove

Gladstone

Gresham

Happy Valley

Hillsboro

Y A M H I L L C O .
CLACKAMAS CO.

YAM
HILL

CO
.

W
ASHIN

GTO
N

CO
.

CLACKAM
AS

CO
.

M
U

LTN
O

M
AH

CO
.

C L A C K A M A S C O .
W A S H I N G T O N C O .

CO
LU

M
BIA

CO
.

M
U

LTN
O

M
AH

CO
.

S K A M A N I A C O .
C L A R K C O .

CLARK CO.
M

ULTNO
M

AH
CO

.

M U L T N O M A H C O .
W A S H I N G T O N C O .

30

0
2

4Miles
Map saved 9/18/2014 at T:\2014UGR\Maps\Vac_Employment_Sept2014_update.mxd

Employment Acres (per taxlot)
Less than 3 Acres
3 - 10
10 - 25
25 -50
More than 50 Acres

General Zoning Type
Commercial
Industrial
Mixed Use

2014 Vacant Buildable Land
Employment Land
September, 2014 (DRAFT)

Urban growth boundary
County boundary
Major arterials
Rivers and lakes

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 3, Page 4 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Lake Oswego

Milwaukie

Newberg
Oregon

City

Portland

Sandy

Sherwood

Tigard

Troutdale

Tualatin

Vancouver

West
Linn

Wilsonville

Beaverton

Canby

Damascus

Dundee

Forest
Grove

Gladstone

Gresham

Happy Valley

Hillsboro

Y A M H I L L C O .
CLACKAMAS CO.

YAM
HILL

CO
.

W
ASHIN

GTO
N

CO
.

CLACKAM
AS

CO
.

M
U

LTN
O

M
AH

CO
.

C L A C K A M A S C O .
W A S H I N G T O N C O .

CO
LU

M
BIA

CO
.

M
U

LTN
O

M
AH

CO
.

S K A M A N I A C O .
C L A R K C O .

CLARK CO.
M

ULTNO
M

AH
CO

.

M U L T N O M A H C O .
W A S H I N G T O N C O .

30

0
2

4Miles
Map saved 9/17/2014 at T:\2014UGR\Maps\Infill_redev_Employment_Sept2014_update.mxd

Employment Acres (per taxlot)
Less than 3 Acres
3 - 10
10 - 25
25 -50
More than 50 Acres

General Zoning Type
Commercial
Industrial
Mixed Use

Urban growth boundary
County boundary
Major arterials
Rivers and lakes

2014 Potential Redevelopment
Employment Land
September, 2014 (DRAFT)

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 3, Page 5 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Lake Oswego

Milwaukie

Newberg
Oregon

City

Portland

Sandy

Sherwood

Tigard

Troutdale

Tualatin

Vancouver

West
Linn

Wilsonville

Beaverton

Canby

Damascus

Dundee

Forest
Grove

Gladstone

Gresham

Happy Valley

Hillsboro

Y A M H I L L C O .
CLACKAMAS CO.

YAM
HILL

CO
.

W
ASHIN

GTO
N

CO
.

CLACKAM
AS

CO
.

M
U

LTN
O

M
AH

CO
.

C L A C K A M A S C O .
W A S H I N G T O N C O .

CO
LU

M
BIA

CO
.

M
U

LTN
O

M
AH

CO
.

S K A M A N I A C O .
C L A R K C O .

CLARK CO.
M

ULTNO
M

AH
CO

.

M U L T N O M A H C O .
W A S H I N G T O N C O .

!

!

! !
!

!
!

!

!!

!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

! ! ! !!! !
! !
!!
!
!
!!

!!!
! !! ! !
! ! ! ! !! !!

!
! ! !

!!

!

! !
!
! !

! ! !
!
!

!! !
!
!

! !
!

!
!!
!
! ! !!

!

! !

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
! !! !

!! !
! !

! !
!
!

!

!
!

!
!!

! !
!

!

!

!

!
!

!
! !

!
! !
!!

!
!

!
!

!
! !

!

!

!
!

! !

! ! !!
! !

!

!
!

!
! !

!
!

!! !

!

! !
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!!!
! !!!! !!!
!!

! ! ! ! !
!!!!!!

!
!

!!
!!
!

!! !!

!

!!!
!!!!!
!!!

! !
!!!!!!!!! !!

!
!

! !
!!!!! !
! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

! !!

!
!!

!

! !!

!
!

!

!!

!!
!

! !
!
! !
!

! !

!! !
!

!
!
!!

! !

!
!

!

!

! !
!

!
! !

!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!!!!
! !! !

!
!!!

!!
!! !

!!
!

!
! ! !! !!

!
! ! !

!!
!!

!

!

!!
!!

! !
! !

!
!!
!
!!

!
!!
!

!

!
!
!

!
!!

!
!
!
!

!

!

!

!

!
! !

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!!
!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

! !!

!

!
! ! !
!!
! !

!
!!

! !!! !!
! !

!
!

!

!

!

!
!! ! !
! !
! !

!
!

!

!
!

!!
!

! !

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!
!!

!!

!
!

!

!!
!

!

!
!

! !
!
!
!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!!

!

!!
!

!!!!

!

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!!

!

! !

!

!!

!

!
!

!
! ! !

!
!
!
!

!
!

! !

!
!

!
!

!

!!!
!

!
!!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!

! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

30

U

0
2

4Miles
Map saved 6/5/2014 at T:\2014UGR\Maps\Infill_redev_Employment_LandBank.mxd

Employment Acres (per taxlot)
!

Less than 3 Acres
!

3 - 10
!

10 - 25
!

25 -50
!

More than 50 Acres

General Zoning Type
!

Commercial
!

Industrial
!

Mixed Use

Urban growth boundary
County boundary
Major arterials
Rivers and lakes

2014 "Land Banked" Taxlots
Employment Land
July, 2014 (DRAFT)

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 3, Page 6 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



2014 Buildable Land Inventory (BLI) -- Em
ploym

ent Capacity Assum
ption   (Review

ed by Local Jurisdictions)
Does not include the Hillsboro industrial land added to the U

G
B by HB 4078

Capacity Sum
m

ary by City, Source, and Type
CO

M
 capacity includes capacity in CO

M
 and M

U
R zone classes

M
etro Research Center

D
RAFT   9/23/2014

"U
nincorp" = unincorporated areas inside M

etro U
G

B

Local G
overnm

ent
TO

TAL ACRES
Vacant

Redev
Vacant

Redev
Vacant

Redev
Vacant

Redev
IN

D
CO

M
M

U
R

%
 IN

D
%

 CO
M

%
 M

U
R

Vacant Total
Redev Total

%
 Vacant

%
 Redev

Clackam
as Total

3,060
666

737
566

1,091
53

188
513

903
1,403

241
1,416

46%
8%

46%
1,232

1,828
40%

60%
DAM

ASCU
S

1,375
340

200
305

531
15

29
290

502
539

44
792

39%
3%

58%
645

730
47%

53%
GLADSTO

N
E

68
1

57
3

7
3

7
0

0
58

10
0

85%
15%

0%
4

64
5%

95%
HAPPY VALLEY

489
127

16
154

191
15

0
140

191
143

15
331

29%
3%

68%
281

207
58%

42%
JO

HN
SO

N
 CITY

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0%
0%

0%
0

0
0%

0%
LAKE O

SW
EGO

28
2

9
4

13
0

0
4

13
10

1
17

37%
3%

60%
6

22
21%

79%
M

ILW
AU

KIE
60

1
42

8
9

0
6

8
2

43
7

10
72%

11%
17%

10
50

16%
84%

O
REGO

N
 CITY

308
43

101
50

113
0

19
50

94
145

19
144

47%
6%

47%
93

215
30%

70%
RIVERGRO

VE
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0%

0%
0%

0
0

0%
0%

W
EST LIN

N
14

1
0

9
4

0
1

9
3

1
1

12
6%

8%
87%

10
4

68%
32%

W
ILSO

N
VILLE

279
57

171
18

33
11

26
7

8
228

36
15

82%
13%

5%
75

204
27%

73%
U

N
IN

CO
RP-CLACK

441
95

142
15

189
9

100
6

90
237

108
96

54%
25%

22%
110

331
25%

75%

M
ultnom

ah Total
4,315

1,507
1,342

329
1,137

132
212

197
925

2,849
344

1,122
66%

8%
26%

1,837
2,479

43%
57%

FAIRVIEW
165

102
0

32
32

21
28

11
4

102
49

15
62%

29%
9%

134
32

81%
19%

GRESHAM
666

364
97

96
108

32
7

65
101

462
39

166
69%

6%
25%

461
205

69%
31%

M
AYW

O
O

D PARK
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0%

0%
0%

0
0

0%
0%

PO
RTLAN

D
2,434

649
753

131
901

64
161

67
740

1,402
225

807
58%

9%
33%

780
1,655

32%
68%

TRO
U

TDALE
328

247
6

42
32

4
6

38
26

253
11

64
77%

3%
20%

290
38

88%
12%

W
O

O
D VILLAGE

69
5

31
8

25
1

3
7

22
35

4
29

51%
7%

42%
13

56
19%

81%
U

N
IN

CO
RP-M

U
LT

653
140

454
20

39
10

7
10

32
594

17
42

91%
3%

6%
160

493
24%

76%

W
ashington Total

4,139
1,887

1,132
448

672
157

219
290

453
3,019

376
743

73%
9%

18%
2,335

1,803
56%

44%
BEAVERTO

N
335

32
72

121
109

3
12

119
98

105
14

216
31%

4%
64%

154
182

46%
54%

CO
RN

ELIU
S

109
35

1
18

54
18

54
0

0
36

72
0

33%
66%

0%
54

55
49%

51%
DU

RHAM
6

5
1

0
0

0
0

0
0

6
0

0
100%

0%
0%

5
1

84%
16%

FO
REST GRO

VE
163

95
0

14
53

1
4

14
49

95
5

63
59%

3%
38%

110
53

67%
33%

HILLSBO
RO

1,623
570

847
107

98
72

31
35

67
1,417

103
102

87%
6%

6%
677

945
42%

58%
KIN

G CITY
4

0
0

0
4

0
4

0
0

0
4

0
0%

0%
0%

0
4

0%
0%

SHERW
O

O
D

121
83

0
19

19
11

9
8

10
83

20
18

68%
17%

15%
102

19
84%

16%
TIGARD

178
25

28
40

84
18

25
22

58
54

44
80

30%
25%

45%
66

112
37%

63%
TU

ALATIN
272

210
7

15
40

15
40

0
0

216
56

0
79%

21%
0%

225
47

83%
17%

U
N

IN
CO

RP-W
ASH

1,328
831

176
112

209
19

39
93

170
1,007

58
263

76%
4%

20%
943

385
71%

29%

U
G

B TO
TAL

11,514
4,061

3,210
1,343

2,900
343

619
1,000

2,281
7,271

961
3,282

63%
8%

29%
5,404

6,110
47%

53%

Percent of Capacity by Land Type

This table reflects a necessary correction identified by M
etro staff in Septem

ber 2014. The correction relates to lands added to the urban grow
th boundary by the O

regon Legislature in M
arch 2014 under House Bill 4078. At the request of the city of Forest G

rove, this revised report counts lands added near Forest G
rove as industrial, rather than residential w

ith a sm
all am

ount of 
com

m
ercial. Since these lands are not yet annexed to the city, they appear as unincorporated W

ashington County.

Industrial
Com

m
ercial

Com
m

ercial on CO
M

Com
m

ercial on M
U

R
Total Capacity by Land Type

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 3, Page 7 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



2014 Buildable Land Inventory (BLI) -- Residential Capacity Assum
ption  (Review

ed by Local Jurisdictions)
Capacity Sum

m
ary by City, Source, and Type

M
F capacity includes capacity in M

FR and M
U

R zone classes
M

etro Research Center
DRAFT   9/23/2014

"U
nincorp" = unincorporated areas inside M

etro U
GB

Local Governm
ent

TO
TAL DU

Vacant
Infill

Vacant
Redev

Vacant
Redev

Vacant
Redev

SF
M

F - Low
M

F - High
%

 SF
%

 M
F - Low

%
 M

F - High
Vacant Total

Redev Total
%

 Vacant
%

 Redev

Clackam
as Total

60,614
17,220

23,106
7,178

13,110
5,957

11,019
1,221

2,091
40,326

16,976
3,312

67%
28%

5%
24,398

36,216
40%

60%
DAM

ASCU
S

19,557
6,654

8,900
1,765

2,238
1,765

2,238
0

0
15,554

4,003
0

80%
20%

0%
8,419

11,138
43%

57%
G

LADSTO
N

E
567

37
199

41
290

41
290

0
0

236
331

0
42%

58%
0%

78
489

14%
86%

HAPPY VALLEY
10,004

2,615
3,043

2,266
2,080

2,137
2,042

129
38

5,658
4,179

167
57%

42%
2%

4,881
5,123

49%
51%

JO
HN

SO
N

 CITY
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0%

0%
0%

0
0

--
--

LAKE O
SW

EG
O

1,475
513

497
44

421
44

421
0

0
1,010

465
0

68%
32%

0%
557

918
38%

62%
M

ILW
AU

KIE
1,236

244
933

23
36

23
28

0
8

1,177
51

8
95%

4%
1%

267
969

22%
78%

O
REG

O
N

 CITY
7,330

1,462
1,173

1,791
2,904

835
1,832

956
1,072

2,635
2,667

2,028
36%

36%
28%

3,253
4,077

44%
56%

RIVERG
RO

VE
36

31
5

0
0

0
0

0
0

36
0

0
100%

0%
0%

31
5

86%
14%

W
EST LIN

N
1,048

511
413

51
73

51
73

0
0

924
124

0
88%

12%
0%

562
486

54%
46%

W
ILSO

N
VILLE

3,852
1,275

1,485
531

561
531

561
0

0
2,760

1,092
0

72%
28%

0%
1,806

2,046
47%

53%
U

N
IN

CO
RP-CLACK

15,509
3,878

6,458
666

4,507
530

3,534
136

973
10,336

4,064
1,109

67%
26%

7%
4,544

10,965
29%

71%
0

0
M

ultnom
ah Total

255,834
9,823

14,709
23,775

207,527
8,678

50,815
15,097

156,712
24,532

59,493
171,809

10%
23%

67%
33,598

222,236
13%

87%
FAIRVIEW

1,124
212

209
367

336
367

336
0

0
421

703
0

37%
63%

0%
579

545
52%

48%
G

RESHAM
15,322

1,774
3,034

3,032
7,482

2,863
6,945

169
537

4,808
9,808

706
31%

64%
5%

4,806
10,516

31%
69%

M
AYW

O
O

D PARK
32

15
17

0
0

0
0

0
0

32
0

0
100%

0%
0%

15
17

47%
53%

PO
RTLAN

D
228,426

5,760
9,420

19,037
194,209

4,109
38,034

14,928
156,175

15,180
42,143

171,103
7%

18%
75%

24,797
203,629

11%
89%

TRO
U

TDALE
1,515

269
277

433
536

433
536

0
0

546
969

0
36%

64%
0%

702
813

46%
54%

W
O

O
D VILLAG

E
620

24
15

64
517

64
517

0
0

39
581

0
6%

94%
0%

88
532

14%
86%

U
N

IN
CO

RP-M
U

LT
8,795

1,769
1,737

842
4,447

842
4,447

0
0

3,506
5,289

0
40%

60%
0%

2,611
6,184

30%
70%

0
0

W
ashington Total

74,880
20,870

32,295
9,224

12,491
8,664

11,563
560

928
53,165

20,227
1,488

71%
27%

2%
31,451

44,786
41%

59%
BEAVERTO

N
8,016

2,010
2,737

2,172
1,097

1,994
1,035

178
62

4,747
3,029

240
59%

38%
3%

4,182
3,834

52%
48%

CO
RN

ELIU
S

241
23

65
31

122
31

122
0

0
88

153
0

37%
63%

0%
54

187
22%

78%
DU

RHAM
42

25
17

0
0

0
0

0
0

42
0

0
100%

0%
0%

25
17

60%
40%

FO
REST G

RO
VE

5,429
1,473

1,966
532

1,458
532

1,458
0

0
3,439

1,990
0

63%
37%

0%
2,005

3,424
37%

63%
HILLSBO

RO
9,972

1,736
2,925

1,385
3,926

1,385
3,926

0
0

4,661
5,311

0
47%

53%
0%

3,121
6,851

31%
69%

KIN
G

 CITY
392

154
69

146
23

146
23

0
0

223
169

0
57%

43%
0%

300
92

77%
23%

SHERW
O

O
D

991
75

392
218

306
218

306
0

0
467

524
0

47%
53%

0%
293

698
30%

70%
TIG

ARD
8,513

1,892
4,351

955
1,315

952
995

3
320

6,243
1,947

323
73%

23%
4%

2,847
5,666

33%
67%

TU
ALATIN

539
37

314
136

52
136

52
0

0
351

188
0

65%
35%

0%
173

366
32%

68%
U

N
IN

CO
RP-W

ASH
40,745

13,445
19,459

3,649
4,192

3,270
3,646

379
546

32,904
6,916

925
81%

17%
2%

18,451
23,651

44%
56%

U
GB TO

TAL
391,328

47,913
70,110

40,177
233,128

23,299
73,397

16,878
159,731

118,023
96,696

176,609
30%

25%
45%

89,447
303,238

23%
77%

This table reflects a necessary correction identified by M
etro staff in Septem

ber 2014. The correction relates to lands added to the urban grow
th boundary by the O

regon Legislature in M
arch 2014 under House Bill 4078. At the request of the city of Forest Grove, this revised report counts lands added near Forest Grove as industrial, rather than residential w

ith a sm
all am

ount 
of com

m
ercial. Since these lands are not yet annexed to the city, they appear as unincorporated W

ashington County.

Percent of Capacity by Building Type
Single Fam

ily (SF)
M

ulti-Fam
ily (M

F)
M

F - Low
   ( < 75 DU

/acre )
M

F - High    (> 75 DU
/acre )

Total Capacity by Building Type

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 3, Page 8 of 8

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Appendix 4 
Housing Needs Analysis (revised as of 9/23/14) 

This revised draft incorporates two corrections described on the final page of this appendix. 

Introduction 
Metro is required under state law to complete a buildable land inventory (includes vacant, infill and 
redevelopment capacity) and an assessment of housing need at least every 5 years. The buildable land 
inventory methods and results are summarized in appendices 2 and 3, respectively. This report 
summarizes relevant Census data, key forecast assumptions, forecast results (derived from MetroScope 
scenarios1) and compares likely housing demand to the residential growth capacity of the current urban 
growth boundary. 

This analysis uses a range forecast. Once the Metro Council makes a growth management decision and 
chooses a point in the range forecast for which to plan, this Housing Needs Analysis will be updated to 
reflect that decision. A final Housing Needs Analysis will then be submitted for consideration by the 
state Land Conservation and Development Commission. 

What’s new in the 2014 Urban Growth Report housing needs analysis? 
• Eliminated the “residential refill rate2” in the calculation of housing need. 
• Replaced refill rate with direct measures of residential infill and redevelopment supply 

estimates; now included in the single family buildable land inventory (BLI) as infill capacity and 
the multifamily BLI as redevelopment capacity. The methodology for how Metro estimated 
single family infill and multifamily redevelopment is spelled out in the BLI methodology 
whitepaper (see Appendix 2).  

• Synchronized the BLI database with MetroScope Urban Growth Report (UGR) scenario(s) – thus 
enabling a tightly integrated MetroScope scenario(s) to fit with the UGR framework.3 This will 

1 3 scenarios: high growth forecast, medium-baseline growth forecast, and a low growth forecast scenario 
2 Previous Urban Growth Reports used a refill rate to describe the share of future residential growth that would be 
accommodated through redevelopment and infill. The refill rate was expressed as a percent share of demand and 
was not tied to the buildable land inventory. 
3 The integration of MetroScope within the analysis framework of the UGR provides a more substantial economic 
planning basis to: 1) improve the inventory of buildable lands, 2) accurately compare how the distribution of 
households by income bracket, age bracket and household size distributes to available housing supplies, 3) 
determine housing need by rent and price, 4) document the housing inventory by densities and types of residence 
by local jurisdiction, 5) and include infill and redevelopment in the evaluation of housing need. Utilizing 
MetroScope provides a stronger planning basis to test the likely market response/outcome and socio-economic 
impacts and tradeoffs of ordinances and incentives to increase population densities in urban areas while taking 
into account 1) key facilities [e.g., transportation infrastructure], 2) ESEE consequences of development [e.g., 
future settlement patterns after considering economic, social and environmental growth factors], 3) projected use 
of urban land [i.e., redevelopment].  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 1 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



lead to better coordination between the UGR and subsequent forecast allocation work. The 
MetroScope scenarios used for this analysis are intended to represent a continuation of 
currently adopted policies4. 

• Used the capture rate (i.e., the future share of residential growth and development in the Metro 
UGB relative to the MSA total) that is an output of a MetroScope scenario for making housing 
needs calculations (instead of using historically observed capture rate figures as with past 
UGRs). The capture rates used in this analysis are somewhat higher than historic observations 
(around 70% depending on scenario vs. 62.8% historical reading). 

• Required data on historic residential development trends are reported in a separate report 
(Appendix 5). 

What key aspects are the same in this housing needs analysis? 
• Using a range forecast to acknowledge uncertainty in the regional forecast. 
• Assuming no changes to currently adopted plans and zoning designations. 
• Buildable lands for residential uses are inventoried by housing location, type and density. 
• Only a portion of the buildable land inventory is expected to be market feasible in the 20-year 

planning timeframe. This report describes how 20-year estimates were made. 
• Number of needed (i.e., demanded) housing units are reported by price / rent ranges and 

average density. 
• The analysis reflects varied housing demand for different household sizes, incomes, and ages. 
• Manufactured homes (a construction technique, not a housing type) are assumed to be 

available to be placed in any jurisdiction in Metro which allows/permits for appropriate 
residential development densities. 

• Mimicking how real markets function, redevelopment and infill supply are linked to household 
demand (redevelopment and infill become more likely with higher market demand). At the 
higher end of the forecast demand range, there is increased redevelopment or infill supply. 

Data, Forecast and Methods 

Prospective Buildable Land Inventory (BLI) 
• The BLI is considered a year 2014 estimate of residential and non-residential (employment) 

supply.  The inventory has been reviewed and accepted by local jurisdictions. Data are individual 
tax lots and stored in a master geodatabase capable of being queried for the UGR and suitable 
for a MetroScope scenario. 

• BLI consists of identified vacant tax lots plus infill and redevelopment tax lots deemed capable of 
potential of supporting residential development in the future under existing plans and zone 
designations.  

4 As an example, current policies include but not limited to: 1) current zoning and comprehensive plans, 2) urban / 
rural reserves, 3) regional transportation plans (RTP), 4) system development charges (SDC), and 5) urban renewal 
areas (and/or development subsidies). 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 2 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• The BLI has parts that are deemed prospective because redevelopment and infill are not 
certainties. At this point, it is just as likely that a tax lot “eligible5” for redevelopment (or infill) 
does or does not actually redevelop. To the extent we can forecast where redevelopment 
happens, we utilize MetroScope – an integrated land use model – to make future estimates of 
the amount of realizable redevelopment and infill to count in the UGR inventory. 

• The infill and redevelopment supply inventory was designed to be ahead of the 20-year market 
for MetroScope modeling purposes. The rationale for this is to assume for the model a 20-year 
land supply on hand at the end of the 20-year forecast horizon. 

• For purposes of evaluating the Metro UGB, the geography of the supply inventory is clipped to 
the current UGB and the timeframe for the supply has to be estimated for a 20-year inventory, 
particularly for infill and redevelopment supply. 

• For MetroScope modeling, we utilize the longer time frame and additional BLI data estimates 
which include Clark County, rural and neighboring city capacity estimates. We necessarily 
include this information so that we can model the Metro UGB capture rate forecast from a 
seven-county MSA (Clackamas, Columbia, Multnomah, Washington and Yamhill  counties in 
Oregon and Clark and Skamania counties in Clark). 

• In summary, MetroScope, a market-based land use and integrated with a transportation model, 
is used to estimate how much of the infill and redevelopment capacity can be counted on as 
market feasible in the next 20 years. We count 100 percent of identified vacant land in the BLI, 
but will only count a fraction of the infill and redevelopment capacity in the BLI for the UGR 
need analysis in accord with forecast information derived from a MetroScope Scenario6. 

Forecast7 
• Regional range forecast (high, baseline and low growth scenarios) for population and 

employment, 2015 to 2035. Housing demands are derived from these growth range scenarios 
represented by the population and employment drivers for each forecast range and interval. 

• The population forecast is integrated with the employment forecast so that economic trends 
affect the migration component of population. Natural population increases (births – deaths) 
are estimated from birth and death rates found in the 2012 National Population Projections 
(source: Census data). Rates are adjusted so that they calibrate with birth and death rates of the 
last 10 years for the region.  

• Population forecast is converted into households by income bracket, age bracket (age is of the 
head of household), and household size (we call this distribution of household characteristics/ 
profile: an HIA matrix) 

• HIA households are converted into types of housing demand (i.e., needed housing by tenure and 
structure type). 

5 Eligibility requirements for infill and redevelopment are spelled out in Appendix 2. 
6 Additional MetroScope details may be found in Appendix 11. 
7 Regional forecast details may be found in Appendix 1a. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 3 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Housing needs general methodology 
1. Determine the portion of households in the regional MSA household forecast that may choose 

to locate in the Metro UGB. A MetroScope scenario predicts the outcome of residential capture 
rate. The capture rate measures the proportion of future housing development (i.e., growth) in 
the Metro UGB relative to growth in the MSA for years 2015 to 2035. Other things being equal, 
the capture rate varies according to the demand forecast. 

2. Sort year 2015 and 2035 projected households in the Metro UGB into socio-economic classes 
by: a) household size, b) income bracket, c) age bracket. This is a “3 dimensional matrix” of 
household size-income-age. Household size has 5 attribute levels. There are 8 income brackets 
and 5 age brackets. (We call this the 5 x 8 x 5 HIA matrix.) 

3. Estimate the growth by HIA class for 2015 to 2035 to array the 20 year growth in households in 
size, household income and age brackets. An HIA class in the matrix represents households in 
the same socio-economic strata based on household size, income and age bracket 
characteristics. 

4. Relate a set of residential housing preferences to each HIA class for tenure (own or rent) and 
housing structure type (single family or multi-family). Residential preference patterns for each 
HIA class are based on findings from a MetroScope scenario. Each HIA class is found to have 
proportional affinities to OSF (owner single family), OMF (owner multi-family), RSF (renter single 
family), and RMF (renter multifamily). These affinities are preferences used going forward to 
predict – by tenure and structure type – the Metro UGB housing demand forecast. 

5. Tally this housing need forecast by OSF, RSF, OMF and RMF (see: Table 3) 
6. Complete a gap analysis of projected housing need by type (SF – single family and MF – multi-

family) against the BLI (sorted by SF and MF), shown in Figure 9 to 11. 

Methodology step by step 

Step 1: Capture rate and Metro UGB job forecast 
From the regional MSA jobs forecast, we compute how much population (i.e., number of households) 
growth will locate inside the Metro UGB. A MetroScope UGR scenario provides residential location 
choice projections for population and households so we can compute Metro UGB household shares. 
Table 1 presents the MSA and UGB household estimates and projections for the baseline growth 
forecast. 

Table 1: Regional Household Forecast - baseline scenario (source: 2014-2040 Regional Range Forecast – Scen. #1462) 

 Metro UGB MSA Forecast 
 (7 counties) 

 percent share 
(UGB / MSA) 

2015 (base year) Households 613,000 898,700 68.2% 
2035 Households 820,100 1,185,800 69.2% 
    

2015 Housing Units (6.9 % vacancy rate) 655,500   
2035 Housing Units (4.0 % vacancy rate) 852,900   
     2015-35 Housing Growth Difference 197,400   

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 4 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• Total projected housing demand for the Metro UGB (2015 to 2035) is 197,400 dwelling units. 
• Percentage of Metro UGB growth was determined from MetroScope Scen. #1462 (baseline 

scenario) 
• MSA forecast for 7 counties includes Columbia, Clackamas, Multnomah, Washington and Yamhill 

counties in Oregon plus Clark and Skamania counties in Washington State. 
• 6.9 percent vacancy rate (source: U.S. Census, 2010) 
• 4.0 percent vacancy rate (source: 2009 UGR assumption) 
• Implied captured is 72 percent for years 2015 to 2035 (baseline - medium growth scenario) 

Step 2: Sort Metro UGB housing forecast into HIA classes 
For the sake of brevity, we do not show the year 2015 and year 2035 HIA matrices as they are 3-way 
tables that are each 5 by 8 by 5 in size (which equals a total of 200 cells), which do not lend themselves 
well to reporting in written form. 

Step 3: Estimate the growth in households by HIA8 
Instead, we summarize in Figure 1 the marginal summations of the HIA matrix for illustrative purposes 
for the change in households between 2015 and 2035. (The actual forecast projections by HIA class are 
available upon request.)  

   
 

   
 

H1 = 1 person household 
H2 = 2 person 
H3 = 3 person 
H4 = 4 person 
H5 = household with 5 or more 

I1 = under $15,000 
I2 = $15,000 to $24,999 
I3 = $25,000 to $34,999 
I4 = $35,000 to $49,999 

I5 = $50,000 to $74,999 
I6 = $75,000 to $99,999 
I7 = $100,000 to 
$149,999 
I8 = $150,000 and over 

Head of household: 
A1 = householder under 25 years 
A2 = 25 to 44 years old 
A3 = 45 to 54 
A4 = 55 to 64 
A5 = 65 years or older 

Figure 1: 2015 to 2035 HIA forecast marginal distributions (source: MetroScope Scen. #1462) 

8 Please note that we use the term “household” and “housing unit” interchangeably. This is because we are talking 
about units that are dimensioned by housing characteristics (i.e., tenure and type) as well as attributed with 
household characteristics (age, income and number of persons in a household who could occupy the unit). 

0 

20,000 

40,000 

60,000 

80,000 

h1 h2 h3 h4 h5 

Households by Size 

0 

10,000 

20,000 

30,000 

40,000 

i1 i2 i3 i4 i5 i6 i7 i8 

Household Income Brackets 

0 
20,000 
40,000 
60,000 
80,000 

100,000 

a1 a2 a3 a4 a5 

Household by Age 

39% 

28% 

19% 

12% 2% 

Households by Size 

h1 

h2 

h3 

h4 

h5 

15% 

15% 

14% 
14% 

12% 

12% 

11% 
7% 

Households by Income i1 

i2 

i3 

i4 

i5 

i6 

i7 

i8 

4% 

25% 

8% 

14% 

49% 

Households by Age 

a1 

a2 

a3 

a4 

a5 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 5 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• 61 percent of future households are expected to be of 1 or 2 persons. This is consistent with 
overall projected declines in average household sizes from 2.60 (in 2010) to 2.47 (in 2035) for 
the MSA region. Despite a decline in average household size, the absolute number of 
households with 3 or more persons increases in number by 2035 as compared to 2010 figures. 

• Note that the income brackets are not equally spaced. (They were by construction initially 
divided into 8 equal proportions to the extent possible given available Census categories.) The 
regional forecast overall anticipates proportionally fewer households in the middle income 
bracket with the numbers proportionally bifurcating into both lower and upper end income 
brackets in general. 

• The influence of the baby boom generation is felt by the large proportion of older householders 
at the margin (41 percent of the net change in population and households are in the retirement 
age group – 65 years and older, another 13% in pre-retirement – ages 55 to 64.) An increase in 
median age of the population is expected due to the increase proportion of retirement age 
householders, yet the number of householders in younger age categories is expected to increase 
in absolute numbers. 

Addendum: 

 

 
 
 
Baby Boomers 
(1946 to 1964) 
~80,000 housing 
 
Gen X 
(1965 to 1985) 
~70,000 housing 
 
Gen Y - Millennials 
(1985 to 2005) 
~50,000 housing 
 
Aren’t yet alive today 
or are dependents of 
existing households 
 
 
TOTAL HOUSING 
NEED ~ 200,000 units 

(approximate) 

Figure 2: Groupings of age cohorts by Generation (approximate) – medium baseline scenario (scen #1462) 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 

under 5 years old 
5 to 9 years old  

10 to 14 years old  
15 to 19 years old  
20 to 24 years old  
25 to 29 years old  
30 to 34 years old  
35 to 39 years old  
40 to 44 years old  
45 to 49 years old  
50 to 54 years old  
55 to 59 years old  
60 to 64 years old  
65 to 69 years old  
70 to 74 years old  
75 to 79 years old  
80 to 84 years old  

85 years or older 

(in thousands) 

Generational Changes in Population 
(Metro UGB) 

2015-35 Change 
in Population 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 6 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• As Figure 2 illustrates, there will be more demand for housing by structure type (i.e., SF or MF) 
and tenure (i.e., own or rent) of all types for each generation in the future. The numbers going 
forward (2015 to 2035) indicate an approximate need for more housing units to accommodate 
the needs for the increase in baby boomers, Gen X, and Millennials. 

• By 2035, the last of the baby boomers will all be of retirement age and the leading edge of the 
Gen X generation will also be entering retirement. Current Census information indicates 
homeownership remains fairly high and don’t begin tapering off until residents reach age 85. 
Even at 85 years and older, the current cohort data show homeownership still above 50%.  Baby 
boomers are said to be healthier than previous generations. With healthier lifestyles, it is 
conceivable (possible) that baby boomers and subsequent generations may age in place longer 
and maintain a higher ownership rate than current peers. This augurs for longer delays before 
senior householders choose to relinquish their single family home in favor of living in multifamily 
dwelling units or perhaps a group quarter living arrangement. 

• There has been nascent talk that Millennials (or even the tailing end of Gen Xers) are changing 
their “preferences” for structure type and opting for life in apartments. However, it is still early in 
their life cycle with many of them delaying when they marry and have kids. Census data would 
suggest that once couples form families, their preferences switch dramatically in favor of “single 
family style” development forms9.  

Steps 5 and 6 are detailed later in this report, beginning with 2010 Census data as a contextual backdrop 
to the housing need forecast. 

2010 Census of Population and Housing – the current housing story 

(unless otherwise noted, data are for the three-county area) 
 
Tenure (own / rent) and Age 
 

• Homeowners held a 22 percentage point edge 
over the number of renters in the Tri-counties 
(Clackamas, Multnomah, and Washington). 

• 392,300 owners 
• 253,100 renters 

 

 

9 Is it possible that single family development forms instead of developing horizontally as single family detached 
units or single family attached units as row houses but develop vertically as mid to high-rises apartments and 
condo units in more urban locations with 3 or more bedrooms to accommodate households with children? 
Presently, we see very little inventory and construction if any of the “vertical single family” development form. 

61% 

39% 

Housing Tenure 

Owner 

Renter 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 7 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• Absolute number of home owners peaked at 
middle age (45 to 54 year) 

• The drop in home ownership numbers in seniors 
came from a decline in the number of 
householders. 

• Retirees (65 and over) who owned homes out-
numbered renters 2 to 1 

 
• Share of home ownership by age rose and peaked 

up to age 75 before edging lower. 
• Ownership tapered slightly faster at 85 years and 

over (perhaps age becomes an issue in the 
upkeep and maintenance of owned homes). 

• Ownership share in the oldest cohort was more 
than half (55 percent). 

 
• Renters were more apt to be younger (under 35 

years). 
• The proportion of renters fell off with age, 

presumably when they were more likely to be 
married or starting families. 

 
 
Tenure and household size 
 

• 645,405 households in the 3-county area. 
• 411,400 households were 1 or 2 person 
• Household size was related to tenure choice. 
• 45 percent of single-person households owned 

(55 percent rent). 

 
• Home ownership increased with larger 

households (up to 4-person households, 73 
percent own) 

• Households with 2 or more residents were more 
likely to own (about 66 percent). 

 

0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 

    15 to 24 years 
    25 to 34 years 
    35 to 44 years 
    45 to 54 years 
    55 to 59 years 
    60 to 64 years 
    65 to 74 years 
    75 to 84 years 

    85 and over 

Age of Homeowners 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 

under 25 
25 to 34 years 
35 to 44 years 
45 to 54 years 
55 to 64 years 
65 to 74 years 
75 to 84 years 

85 and over 
Homeownership by Age 

own 

rent 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 

    15 to 24 years 
    25 to 34 years 
    35 to 44 years 
    45 to 54 years 
    55 to 59 years 
    60 to 64 years 
    65 to 74 years 
    75 to 84 years 

    85 and over 

Age of Renters 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

188,132 

223,236 

97,622 

82,264 

33,810 

12,450 

7,891 

0 100,000 200,000 300,000 

    1-person 
    2-person 
    3-person 
    4-person 
    5-person 
    6-person 

    7-or-more person 
Households by Household Size 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 

    1-person 
    2-person 
    3-person 
    4-person 
    5-person 
    6-person 

    7-or-more … 
Homeownership by Size 

own 

rent 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 8 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• Majority of people who own homes lived in 
households with 2 or more people, although 
there were over 80,000 1-person households who 
owned their own home. 

 
• Majority of renters were 1 or 2 person 

households. 
• 75,000 households with 3 or more persons 

rented. 

 
 
Housing Type: single family (SF) or multifamily (MF) 
and household size 
 

• 70 percent of households occupied a form of 
single family housing.  

• Single family units are defined in these charts as: 
1-unit detached or attached, and / or mobile, 
manufactured home 

 
• Larger households were more likely to occupy 

single family housing. 
• About half of the 1-person households occupied 

single family housing. 

 
• This graph shows the relationship between 

household size and housing type for the 3-county 
area. 

 

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 

    1-person 
    2-person 
    3-person 
    4-person 
    5-person 
    6-person 

    7-or-more person 

Homeownership by Household size 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 

    1-person 
    2-person 
    3-person 
    4-person 
    5-person 
    6-person 

    7-or-more person 
Rental by Household size 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

70% 

30% 

Housing Type: SF & MF splits 

SF 

MF 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

    1-person 

    2-person 

    3-person 

    4-person 

5 or more 

Housing Type by Household Size 

SF 

MF 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

0 100,000 200,000 300,000 

    1-person 

    2-person 

    3-person 

    4-person 

5 or more 

Housing Type & Household Size 

SF 

MF 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 9 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
Housing  Structure Type: single family (SF) or multifamily (MF) and household income bracket 
 

• Households with higher incomes were more likely 
to live in a SF structure. 

• Of the subset of low income bracket 
homeowners, some were headed up by retirees 
with fixed incomes. 

 
• The chart (right) shows the distribution or 

proportion of housing type by household income 
bracket. 

• Lower income household were more likely to 
occupy multifamily homes and higher income 
households were more likely to occupy single-
family homes. 
 

 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 

under $15,000 
$15,000 to $24,999 

$25,000 - $34,999 
$35,000 - $49,999 
$50,000 - $74,999 
$75,000 - $99,999 

$100,000 -$149,999 
$150,000 and over 

Likelihood to occupy SF housing 

SF/MF ratio 

0% 50% 100% 

under $15,000 
$15,000 to $24,999 

$25,000 - $34,999 
$35,000 - $49,999 
$50,000 - $74,999 
$75,000 - $99,999 

$100,000 -$149,999 
$150,000 and over 

Housing Type and Income 

SF 

MF 

source: 2007-11 ACS 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 10 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 2: 2010 Census, comparing household size, income, and age against demand by structure type and tenure relationships 

  
Table 2 summarizes the residential conditions for the Portland tri-county area for year 2010 based on 
data from the U.S. Census. This table summarizes the 5x8x5 HIA matrix for year 2010. 

• 70 percent of households occupied a 1-unit structure (i.e., a single family) 
• 30 percent of households occupied a multifamily residence – includes attached units of 2 or 

more (i.e., multifamily, duplex, triplex and other plexes are included in this category) 
• 61 percent of households owned their residence 
• 39 percent of households rented their residence 

The information in table 2 illustrates the historic relationship between household characteristics 
(household size, income bracket and age bracket) and housing characteristics (tenure and housing 
structure type (i.e., single family (SF) and multi-family(MF)). The projection for housing demand in the 
UGR does not use this Census information to forecast future housing demand. For that, MetroScope 

RESIDENTIAL HOUSING BY SOCIOECONOMIC CLASS (source: Census 2010)
geography: Tri-county (Clackamas, Multnomah, Washington) 6/11/14
time span: 2010 data

Household by size SF MF %SF %MF own rent %own %rent
1 person h1 29% 189,322     95,722 93,600 51% 49% 87,178 102,144 46% 54%

2 persons h2 35% 225,656     169,783 55,872 75% 25% 153,365 72,291 68% 32%
3 persons h3 15% 98,293       73,814 24,479 75% 25% 61,828 36,465 63% 37%
4 persons h4 12% 77,962       64,847 13,115 83% 17% 54,713 23,249 70% 30%

5 or more persons h5 8% 54,173       44,532 9,640 82% 18% 35,263 18,910 65% 35%
100% 645,405     448,698 196,707 70% 30% 392,346 253,059 61% 39%

HH by income bracket SF MF %SF %MF own rent %own %rent
under $15,000 i1 13% 83,675       32,424 51,251 39% 61% 22,977 60,699 27% 73%

$15,000 to $24,999 i2 11% 70,983       35,184 35,798 50% 50% 27,055 43,928 38% 62%
$25,000 - $34,999 i3 11% 70,453       38,706 31,747 55% 45% 31,374 39,079 45% 55%
$35,000 - $49,999 i4 15% 97,762       64,976 32,786 66% 34% 54,569 43,193 56% 44%
$50,000 - $74,999 i5 19% 122,254     95,367 26,887 78% 22% 83,000 39,253 68% 32%
$75,000 - $99,999 i6 12% 78,025       68,211 9,813 87% 13% 62,688 15,337 80% 20%

$100,000  - $149,999 i7 12% 75,719       70,307 5,412 93% 7% 67,646 8,074 89% 11%
$150,000 and over i8 7% 46,534       43,522 3,011 94% 6% 43,037 3,496 92% 8%

100% 645,405     448,698 196,707 70% 30% 392,346 253,059 61% 39%

HH by householder age SF MF %SF %MF own rent %own %rent
under 25 years old a1 5% 33,679       23,491 10,187 70% 30% 19,961 13,718 59% 41%

25 to 44 years old a2 34% 217,562     151,567 65,995 70% 30% 131,488 86,074 60% 40%
45 to 54 years old a3 21% 135,907     94,629 41,278 70% 30% 83,335 52,572 61% 39%
55 to 64 years old a4 19% 121,777     84,411 37,366 69% 31% 74,303 47,474 61% 39%
65 years or older a5 21% 136,480     94,599 41,881 69% 31% 83,258 53,222 61% 39%

100% 645,405     448,698 196,707 70% 30% 392,346 253,059 61% 39%

source: U.S. Census and Metro Research Center SF = 1 unit attached or detached, mfg. home MF = multifamily unit, apartment or condo

Demand for:

Demand for:

Demand for:

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 11 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



data are used and are tabulated in the next section of this report. The next section includes marginal 
details of the 5x8x5 HIA matrix used in forecasting residential demand for single and multi-family.  

UGR MetroScope scenario results 
Data in this section are derived from a MetroScope scenario that is intended to illustrate how the 
population and employment growth forecast may play out with a continuation of currently adopted land 
use and transportation policies. These modeled data inform the UGR’s assessment of future housing 
needs. 

Figures 3 to 5 illustrate the household characteristics in year 2010, the change in characteristics 
between 2015 and 2035, and the projected outlook in 2035. The UGR residential need estimate is based 
on these changes in residential composition and projected shift in housing demand between 2015 and 
2035 (figures shown are from the baseline medium growth scenario).  It is clear that shifts in housing 
preference are in part predicated on projected demographic shifts and the economy. It is also apparent 
that state (Washington and Oregon), regional, and local land-use policies in effect today (and 
presumably in future years) such as zoning ordinances, the UGB and urban reserves will have a profound 
impact on regulating housing demand and residential location choice. 

 
Figure 3: 2010 Household characteristics 

 

 
Figure 4: Change in Household characteristics (2015 to 2035) – baseline medium growth scenario 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

h1 h2 h3 h4 h5

Household by size

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%
18%
20%

i1 i2 i3 i4 i5 i6 i7 i8

Household by income

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

a1 a2 a3 a4 a5

Household by age

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

h1 h2 h3 h4 h5

Households by size

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%
18%
20%

i1 i2 i3 i4 i5 i6 i7 i8

Household by income

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

a1 a2 a3 a4 a5

Household by age

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 12 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
Figure 5: 2035 Household characteristics – baseline medium growth scenario 

According to the baseline medium growth forecast scenario: 

• 6 out of 10 net new households are expected to be 1 or 2 person. Figure 4 shows proportionally 
larger increases in 1 and 2 person households. 

• Average household size in the Tri-county is expected to fall from 2.54 (in 2010) to 2.48 (in 2035); 
marginal household size projected to be 2.30.  

• Partly due to the increase in numbers of 1-person households, there will be a larger share of 
lower income households at the margin – making up 42% of net new households, see Figure 4 
income brackets i1, i2, and i3 which are households with under $35,000 . 

• The lower to middle income category (i4 and i5 - $35,000 to $74,999) loses share between 2015 
and 2035, particularly indicative of the on-going economic pressures on middle-income 
Americans, Figure 4. 

• Largest increase in number of households by age will be seen in the retired cohort (65 years and 
older), Figure 4. 

Table 3 summarizes the anticipated shift in demand for residential housing based on MetroScope Scen. 
#1462 results10 (the baseline medium scenario). The tables and figures shown derive from the baseline 
medium growth scenario, but the reader should be aware that the values in the HIA matrix shown in 
Table 3 will necessarily show a shift in housing demand between tenure and structure type between the 
low, medium and high growth scenarios. The resulting shift in housing demand preferences in the Metro 
UGB for 2015 to 2035 is in part due to the obvious difference in population growth rates in the low, 
medium and high. The change is not only in demand, but the response in the consumer supply for 
housing must shift between the low to medium to high scenarios to accommodate increased housing 
demand outlook. Because the housing supply is unevenly distributed among cities, structure types are 
also unequally allocated (as evidenced by the BLI estimates), transportation accessibility varies (street 

10 The technical basis for the MetroScope scenario is outlined in Appendix 11. The appendix provides a basic 
overview of socio-economic, land use, real estate, transportation and policy/political assumptions. Although 
technical in nature, these specifications have the power to influence residential demand, the development form 
and composition of future housing (and employment) trends for cities and the region inside and outside the Metro 
UGB. The technical specifications reflect current policies  

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

h1 h2 h3 h4 h5

Households by size

0%
2%
4%
6%
8%

10%
12%
14%
16%
18%
20%

i1 i2 i3 i4 i5 i6 i7 i8

Household by income

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

a1 a2 a3 a4 a5

Household by age

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 13 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



networks differ), real estate values and neighborhood quality measures are not the same across the 
region, redevelopment and public investments are more prevalent in some cities than others, this uneven 
distribution of housing supply attributes creates opportunities for competitive imbalances in residential 
absorption between scenarios. (Addendum to explain in few economic details for why supply and 
demand factors necessarily shift between scenario alternatives.)   

Table 3: Baseline - medium growth scenario (MetroScope Scen #1462) – REVISED  

6 

For brevity, the HIA matrices for the high and low growth scenarios are not reported. However, it should 
be noted that the summary tables for the high and low growth differ from this medium baseline table on 
tenure and structure type preferences. Under the high growth scenario, the SF/MF ratio is 38 percent / 
62 percent and the aggregate tenure is unchanged, and we see small variations in individual household 
size, income bracket and age. Under the low growth scenario, the SF/MF ratio is 42 percent / 58 percent 
and unchanged in aggregate for tenure, with subtle variations in the details. 

RESIDENTIAL FORECAST PROJECTIONS BY SOCIOECONOMIC CLASS (MetroScope basis)
geography: Metro UGB 8/29/14
time span: 2015 to 2035
Scen #1462 (medium)

Households by size SF MF %SF %MF own rent %own %rent
1 person h1 40% 78,593       13,077 65,516 17% 83% 38,419 40,174 49% 51%

2 persons h2 28% 55,315       20,398 34,916 37% 63% 40,716 14,599 74% 26%
3 persons h3 19% 37,126       22,855 14,270 62% 38% 27,166 9,960 73% 27%
4 persons h4 11% 22,482       17,123 5,359 76% 24% 17,867 4,615 79% 21%

5 or more persons h5 2% 3,884          3,471 413 89% 11% 3,756 128 97% 3%
100% 197,400     76,926 120,474 39% 61% 127,923 69,477 65% 35%

HH by income bracket SF MF %SF %MF own rent %own %rent
under $15,000 i1 16% 30,797       5,423 25,374 18% 82% 10,301 20,496 33% 67%

$15,000 to $24,999 i2 15% 28,916       8,435 20,481 29% 71% 14,947 13,969 52% 48%
$25,000 - $34,999 i3 14% 28,297       9,288 19,009 33% 67% 16,300 11,997 58% 42%
$35,000 - $49,999 i4 14% 26,887       9,444 17,443 35% 65% 18,151 8,736 68% 32%
$50,000 - $74,999 i5 12% 23,696       9,045 14,650 38% 62% 18,209 5,487 77% 23%
$75,000 - $99,999 i6 12% 22,975       12,067 10,909 53% 47% 17,798 5,178 77% 23%

$100,000  - $149,999 i7 11% 21,371       12,486 8,885 58% 42% 18,168 3,203 85% 15%
$150,000 and over i8 7% 14,461       10,738 3,723 74% 26% 14,050 411 97% 3%

100% 197,400     76,926 120,474 39% 61% 127,923 69,477 65% 35%

HH by householder age SF MF %SF %MF own rent %own %rent
under 25 years old a1 4% 7,159          256 6,903 4% 96% 616 6,543 9% 91%

25 to 44 years old a2 24% 48,049       11,876 36,173 25% 75% 20,714 27,334 43% 57%
45 to 54 years old a3 8% 15,827       3,206 12,621 20% 80% 10,382 5,445 66% 34%
55 to 64 years old a4 14% 27,901       10,635 17,266 38% 62% 20,716 7,185 74% 26%
65 years or older a5 50% 98,464       50,953 47,511 52% 48% 75,495 22,968 77% 23%

100% 197,400     76,926 120,474 39% 61% 127,923 69,477 65% 35%

source: Metro Research Center SF = 1 unit attached or detached, mobile home MF = multifamily unit, apartment or condo

Demand for:

Demand for:

Demand for:

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 14 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 4: Baseline - medium growth scenario 

 
Note: “value class” refers to the aggregation of household characteristics attributed by household size, income, and age of 
householder (i.e., HIA) into eight household types as shown in Table 4. 

The MetroScope scenario model uses 400 types of households11 that are determined by household size, 
income, household age and whether children are present. To make analysis and presentation feasible, 

11 Household refers to the residents, not the residence. Although when we forecast which households demand 
which type of housing and tenure, the unit of measure switches to housing units. The difference between 
households and housing units is defined by an occupancy factor. 

Residential Demand by Value Class 5/19/2014

MetroScope UGR Scenario #1462 Results

UGB 2015

Value 
Class

Owner 
Single 
Family

Owner 
Multi-
family

Renter 
Single 
Family

Renter 
Multi-
family

Owner 
Single 
Family

Owner 
Multi-
family

Rental 
Single 
Family

Rental 
Multi-
family

1 32,134 3,981 2,304 17,174 85,062$    82,228$    594$        341$        

2 34,995 2,971 9,215 32,778 120,071    116,423    790          384          

3 41,831 3,116 6,715 28,651 146,220    146,930    969          449          

4 41,709 1,910 8,045 26,407 174,310    166,718    1,136       502          

5 45,403 2,308 5,827 21,694 211,744    203,193    1,314       570          

6 46,250 1,771 9,891 26,187 240,862    228,855    1,505       647          

7 43,644 1,112 10,938 24,263 308,826    278,718    1,814       763          

8 45,834 1,104 14,451 18,389 485,427    434,509    3,168       1,167       

331,800 18,273 67,386 195,543

54% 3% 11% 32%

UGB 2035

Value 
Class

Owner 
Single 
Family

Owner 
Multi-
family

Renter 
Single 
Family

Renter 
Multi-
family

Owner 
Single 
Family

Owner 
Multi-
family

Rental 
Single 
Family

Rental 
Multi-
family

1 36,699 14,726 2,454 27,487 126,987$  105,755$  764$        467$        

2 44,988 15,488 8,464 40,720 182,219    162,159    956          522          

3 46,189 11,101 5,430 36,715 225,363    210,320    1,113       591          

4 55,806 10,406 7,340 37,894 268,789    245,241    1,338       678          

5 53,118 8,079 7,735 34,186 321,264    297,240    1,587       774          

6 59,070 6,749 9,220 32,249 368,411    344,918    1,892       895          

7 53,702 3,203 10,059 29,589 454,937    429,537    2,309       1,065       

8 59,853 3,940 16,393 31,048 734,872    699,781    4,091       1,636       

409,425 73,692 67,095 269,888

50% 9% 8% 33%

Total Residential Demand (units) Residential Prices

Residential PricesTotal Residential Demand (units)

Est. Monthly Rent

Est. Monthly Rent

2015

2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 15 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



the 400 types have been simplified to eight household types (described as “value class” in some tables in 
this report). The value classes roughly correspond to income bracket, but are not precise because the 
classes also consider the impact that household size and age may have on residential preferences. These 
eight value classes thus correspond to household types and are ranked roughly commensurate with 
income generally increasing from value class one to value class eight. (see Table 4) 

• The market share for owner single family (OSF) is expected to fall to 50 percent in 2035, from 54 
percent in 2015. In total, the SF market share (own + rent) is 65 percent (54 percent OSF + 11 
percent RSF) in 2015 and 58 percent (50 percent OSF + 8 percent RSF) in 2035, a 7 percent drop 
in market share expected between 2015 and 2035. (In 2010, the Census estimated the SF 
market share to be about 70 percent). 

• Change in product type mix (2015 to 2035) is nearly equally divided by owner single family (37 
percent) and renter multi-family (36 percent).  

 
Figure 6: change in residential demand by type and tenure in the Metro UGB (2015-2035) - REVISED 

• Remaining market share of owner multifamily is expected to be driven by a 3 fold increase of 
condos between 2015 and 2035. This marks a significant change in consumer product demand. 

• Tenure rates (i.e., ownership) are about the same in 2015 (57 percent) and 2035 (59 percent).  
• The renter multifamily market (i.e., apartments for rent) is expected to edge up to 33 percent of 

the market from 32 percent. 
• There is little change expected in the renter single family market between 2015 and 2035 as 

evidenced in the 0 percent change shown in Figure 6. 

Owner 
single 
family, 

77,612, 37% 

Owner 
multi-family, 
55,418, 27% 

Renter 
single 

family, -293, 
0% 

Renter 
multi-family, 
74,335, 36% 

Change in Residential Demand 
2015-35 

source: MetroScope Scen #1462 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 16 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Residential buildable land inventory capacity 
The buildable land inventory includes capacity for about 390,000 dwelling units. Additional detail about 
the inventory can be found in Appendix 3. This estimate is less than what would be allowable under 
adopted local zoning codes since not all developed land will redevelop to its fully allowed extent in the 
next 20 years. Likewise, as described later in this report, not all the buildable land inventory is counted 
for this analysis.  

30 percent of the buildable land inventory’s capacity is for single family (SF) homes, of which there are 
about 118,000 units. SF capacity is defined to include single family detached units, single family attached 
units (e.g., duplexes, triplexes, row houses and townhomes), manufactured home capacity or any other 
unit type that may be considered as a standalone 1-unit structure.  

About 70 percent of the UGB’s residential buildable land inventory capacity is for multifamily residences. 
Multifamily (MF) capacity includes apartments and condominium units. Typically, this capacity is 
counted in multifamily residential (MFR) districts or mixed use residential / commercial (MUR) districts. 
Capacity for nearly 274,000 MF dwelling units is estimated in this prospective buildable land inventory. 

 

Addendum (September 2014): 

The initial capacity estimated for the urban reserves added to the Metro UGB by HB 4078 (2013) near the 
city of Forest Grove is denoted in Table 5.  

 Single 
Family 
(SFR5 
Units) 

Multi- 
Family 
(MUR2 
Units) 

Single 
Family 

Capacity 
(Acres) 

Multi- 
Family 

Capacity 
(Acres) 

Commercial 
(Acres) 

Industrial 
(Acres) 

Total 
(Acres) 

Forest Grove – N 570 572 91.7 31.4 7.9 0.0 131.0 
Forest Grove - S 107 108 17.2 5.9 1.5 0.0 24.6 

Total: 677 680 118.9 37.3 9.4 0.0 155.6 
Table 5: Preliminary estimates of residential and non-residential capacity for urban reserves added near Forest Grove by HB 
4078 (source: 2014 BLI) 

Additional comprehensive planning information and revisions given by the city of Forest Grove to Metro, 
the designated residential and commercial capacity estimates are now all moved into industrial. The net 
is a loss of 677 SF and 680 MF units from the BLI and 9.4 acres of neighborhood commercial that had 
been programmed into these two urban reserve locations. There is a net gain of 155.6 acres of adjusted 
industrial land for the BLI. These adjustments are summarized into the various UGR appendices. 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 17 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 6: 2014 Buildable Land Inventory by Regionalized Zone Class Designations - REVISED 

  

Redevelopment Vacant Total
SFR1 595 1,718 2,313
SFR2 636 1,938 2,574
SFR3 4,158 4,984 9,142
SFR4 1,096 1,577 2,673
SFR5 11,183 8,904 20,087
SFR6 11,183 6,046 17,229
SFR7 12,632 11,079 23,711
SFR8 9,332 5,625 14,957
SFR9 4,373 1,724 6,097
SFR10 2,772 1,703 4,475
SFR11 0 0 0
SFR12 2,655 975 3,630
SFR13 0 0 0
SFR14 4,791 509 5,300
SFR15 4,704 1,131 5,835
SFR16 0 0 0
MFR1 3,010 1,485 4,495
MFR2 8,234 2,314 10,548
MFR3 9,915 4,569 14,484
MFR4 2,802 584 3,386
MFR5 31,873 2,140 34,013
MFR6 0 0 0
MFR7 27,833 2,383 30,216
MUR1 2,458 2,329 4,787
MUR2 479 985 1,464
MUR3 1,583 1,874 3,457
MUR4 3,170 704 3,874
MUR5 4,164 2,451 6,615
MUR6 2,838 2,886 5,724
MUR7 2,871 978 3,849
MUR8 3,446 663 4,109
MUR9 94,834 4,898 99,732
MUR10 33,618 8,934 42,552

UGB total 303,238 88,090 391,328

Redev Vacant Total
SFR 70,110 47,913 118,023

MFR 83,667 13,475 97,142
MUR 149,461 26,702 176,163

303,238 88,090 391,328

(as of September 2014)
Current Dwelling Unit Capacity

Glossary of Regionalized Zone Class Designations 

Single Family Residential Zone Classes (SFR) 
SFR# where # = specified units per net acre 

Multi-family Residential Zone Classes (MFR): 
MFR1:    4 to 15 units per net acre 
MFR2:  16 to 20 
MFR3:  21 to 25 
MFR4:  26 to 30 
MFR5:  31 to 35 
MFR6:  36 to 45 
MFR7:  46 to 85 

Mixed Use Residential Zone Classes (MUR): 
MUR1:    4 to 15 units per net acre 
MUR2:  16 to 20 
MUR3:  21 to 25 
MUR4:  26 to 30 
MUR5:  31 to 35 
MUR6:  36 to 45 
MUR7:  46 to 65 
MUR8:  66 to 100 
MUR9:  101 to 125 
MUR10: 126 to 700 
 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 18 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 6 enumerates the distribution of residential capacity by generalized regional zone classes in the 
Metro UGB. The majority of the region’s potentially developable supply of housing is found in single 
family infill (18 percent) and multifamily redevelopment (60 percent). For reasons described later in this 
report, not all the infill and redevelopment inventory is counted in this UGR analysis. The rest is vacant 
capacity, which is all counted in the UGR analysis. Figure 7 illustrates the buildable land inventory 
capacity by jurisdiction for single family and multifamily housing. Figure 8 and Figure 9, respectively, 
illustrate the single family and multifamily capacity broken out by infill and vacant for each local 
jurisdiction. 

Figure 7: 2014 Residential Buildable Land Inventory (prospective) by jurisdiction - REVISED 

 
The figures include all vacant capacity and all prospective single family infill and multi-family redevelopment capacity. As noted 
elsewhere, all vacant capacity are used in the UGR net need computation, while about half (less than) of the prospective multi-
family redevelopment capacity is counted in the UGR net need computation. The capacity is deemed prospective because we 
do not fully count all redevelopment or infill unless growth projections indicate there is sufficient demand for the potential to 
be realized. The amount realized varies according to the amount of residential demand per scenario. 
  

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000

BEAVERTON
CORNELIUS
DAMASCUS

DURHAM
FAIRVIEW

FOREST GROVE
GLADSTONE

GRESHAM
HAPPY VALLEY

HILLSBORO
JOHNSON CITY

KING CITY
LAKE OSWEGO

MAYWOOD PARK
MILWAUKIE

OREGON CITY
PORTLAND

RIVERGROVE
SHERWOOD

TIGARD
TROUTDALE

TUALATIN
UNINCORP-CLACK
UNINCORP-MULT

UNINCORP-WASH
WEST LINN

WILSONVILLE
WOOD VILLAGE

Metro UGB Residential Dwelling Unit Capacity

Single Family
Multi-family

Disclaimer: Capacityinformation is unadjusted and are used for research 
purposes only. Data have been reviewed by local jurisdictions, but have 
yet to be approved by the Metro Council, DRAFT August 2014.

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 19 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 Figure 8: Prospective Single-family dwelling unit capacity included in buildable land inventory by jurisdiction - REVISED 

 
Note: axis dimensions changed 

0 5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000 30,000 35,000

BEAVERTON
CORNELIUS
DAMASCUS

DURHAM
FAIRVIEW

FOREST GROVE
GLADSTONE

GRESHAM
HAPPY VALLEY

HILLSBORO
JOHNSON CITY

KING CITY
LAKE OSWEGO

MAYWOOD PARK
MILWAUKIE

OREGON CITY
PORTLAND

RIVERGROVE
SHERWOOD

TIGARD
TROUTDALE

TUALATIN
UNINCORP-CLACK
UNINCORP-MULT

UNINCORP-WASH
WEST LINN

WILSONVILLE
WOOD VILLAGE

UGB Single Family Dwelling Unit Capacity

vacant infill

Disclaimer: Capacityinformation is unadjusted and are used for research 
purposes only. Data have been reviewed by local jurisdictions, but have 
yet to be approved by the Metro Council, DRAFT August 2014.

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 20 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
Figure 9: Prospective Multifamily dwelling unit capacity included in buildable land inventory by jurisdiction - REVISED 

 
Note: axis dimensions changed 
 

Market feasibility of the buildable land inventory 
This analysis begins with the premise that not all the region’s buildable land inventory is likely to be 
market feasible in the 20-year timeframe. Some reasons for this include: 

• Land assembly challenges 
• Infrastructure deficiencies 
• Annexation challenges 
• Financial feasibility of infill and redevelopment: 

o The buildable land inventory identifies possible candidates for redevelopment and infill 

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000

BEAVERTON
CORNELIUS
DAMASCUS

DURHAM
FAIRVIEW

FOREST GROVE
GLADSTONE

GRESHAM
HAPPY VALLEY

HILLSBORO
JOHNSON CITY

KING CITY
LAKE OSWEGO

MAYWOOD PARK
MILWAUKIE

OREGON CITY
PORTLAND

RIVERGROVE
SHERWOOD

TIGARD
TROUTDALE

TUALATIN
UNINCORP-CLACK
UNINCORP-MULT

UNINCORP-WASH
WEST LINN

WILSONVILLE
WOOD VILLAGE

UGB Multi-family Dwelling Unit Capacity

vacant
redevelopment

Disclaimer: Capacityinformation is unadjusted and are used for research 
purposes only. Data have been reviewed by local jurisdictions, but have 
yet to be approved by the Metro Council, DRAFT August 2014.

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 21 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



o Though without the necessary and sufficient demand prospective redevelopment and 
infill don’t happen, thus not all redevelopment and infill candidates will actually develop 
in the next 20 years 

o Not all sites that do redevelop will redevelop to the maximum density allowed under 
current zoning, so some loss in efficiency is likely 

Addendum: 

The list represents a few items that could foretell difficulty in absorbing the vacant, infill and 
redevelopment capacity identified in the buildable land inventory. Land assembly challenges suggest that 
a relative scarcity of larger to mid-size parcels may be a barrier to development at expected densities in 
the future. Moreover, a collection of smaller tax lots (and not necessarily contiguous) is not necessarily 
the same as one larger tax lot(s) because of economies of scale. In economic terms, economies of scale 
accrue cost advantages to firms or organizations due to size, output or scale of operation, with cost per 
unit of output generally decreasing with increasing scale and efficiency because fixed costs can be spread 
out over more housing units. In terms of residential development, smaller tax lots and parcels may not 
“pencil out” due to higher cost of construction per housing unit because of lower operational efficiencies 
because of small area, infill lots or physical encumbrances around redevelopment near existing 
improvements. 

Infrastructure deficiencies and financial feasibility concerns are immediate barriers to future 
development of “greenfields”, but may also be an impediment to redevelopment and infill. If the existing 
infrastructure (e.g., water, sewer, roads, gas lines, etc.) cannot adequately provide the necessary level of 
service to accommodate increased density levels, this may be a barrier. In unsettled new urban areas, if 
residents have no access to roads, utilities, and other infrastructure amenities are nonexistent, any 
prospective notions of future capacity are unrealizable.  

The lack of financial feasibility has been a growing issue for municipal organizations going forward as 
federal funding for roads, sewer and water works has been sharply scaled back in recent decades. 
Municipalities and utility districts generally have capital improvement programs, but these generally fall 
short for funding the infrastructure needed to open up prospective urban reserves.  

Annexation challenges and other political barriers pose possible obstacles to developing out the capacity 
estimated in the prospective buildable land inventory. Because annexations have a significant impact on 
the rights of individual landowners, developers, and city residents, many conflicts may arise to oppose or 
support adding rural lands to city limits. Voter approved annexation further deepens the potential 
challenges to city annexations. According to the League of Oregon Cities, the following cities in the Metro 
UGB require voter approval for annexation: King City, Lake Oswego, Oregon City, Sherwood and West 
Linn (source: http://www.orcities.org/Portals/17/A-Z/VoterAnnexation09132013.pdf). City annexations 
make available urban services such as sewer, water, and mass transit and make possible urban level 
development to occur. Challenges to city annexation thus may make governance and provision of urban 
services prohibitive to future land development at expected densities. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 22 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://www.orcities.org/Portals/17/A-Z/VoterAnnexation09132013.pdf


Given the prospective buildable land inventory, this housing needs analysis estimates how much of this 
inventory is likely to be market feasible supply between 2015 and 2035. Following the advice of Metro’s 
public and private sector technical advisory group, MetroScope, an integrated land use and 
transportation model was used to make those estimates. A detailed description of the inputs used for 
this modeling can be found in Appendix 11. To add perspective on possible rates of market absorption of 
the inventory, the following section extrapolates a variety of historic absorption alternatives.  

Testing the reasonableness of the potential supply: a comparison with 
hypothetical growth trends 
How long could the residential buildable land inventory in the current Metro UGB last (without additional 
replenishment) given different hypothetical absorption rate (i.e., consumption) assumptions? 

To provide some comparison with modeled results, this analysis examines how long the buildable land 
inventory might last with a variety of absorption alternatives based on history, ranging from the extreme 
(historical high and low growth scenarios that perpetuate for years) to more typical annual development 
rates for both single and multifamily structure types for a 20 year span. The range of historical data is 
from annual permits of single (SF) and multifamily (MF) from 1960 to 2012. The absorption rate is 
carried out for 20 years in a row to see how many years it would take to exhaust the inventory.  These 
are intended as hypothetical illustrations. 

Growth scenario alternatives considered: 

• Development rate at the historical minimum 
o Historical minimum for SF = 2,300 units (in 1982 – a recession year) 
o Historical minimum for MF = 793 units (in 1983 – a recession year) 

• Development rate at historical maximum  
o Historical maximum for SF = 12,348 units (in 1977) 
o Historical maximum for MF = 9,949 units ( in 1972) 

• Decade by decade average annual absorption rate 
o Historical Highs (9,582; 1990’s decade) and lows (3,311; 2010-12) for SF 
o Historical Highs (6,285; 1970’s decade) and lows (2,141; 2010-12) for MF 

• Average annual absorption rate for recession and non-recession years between 1960 to 2012 
o SF: development rate of recession years = 4,741 per year average 
o SF: development rate of non-recession years = 7,836 per year average 
o MF: development rate of recession years = 2,265 per year average 
o MF: development rate of non-recession years = 5,080 per year average 

• 1960 to 2012 absorption average over all years 
o SF = 6,960 average per year 
o MF = 4,283 average per year 

• UGR (MetroScope scenario) average annual absorption 
• Census (HIA based) average annual absorption  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 23 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Hypothetical absorption rate findings are shown in Table 7. 

• The UGR MetroScope scenario estimates current supply of SF capacity could last up to 24 years, 
which by comparison is most similar to the SF recession scenario at 25 years. 

• The Census-based scenario estimates current supply lasting up to 19 years for single family, 
which, by comparison, is most similar to the average absorption rate over the last 50+ years. 
(Not a surprising conclusion since the Census scenario is a cumulative sum total of all 
development in the region for all time and the last 50 years scenario is essentially the half-life 
for the modern era of this region.) 

• By all accounts, there is more than a 20 year inventory of multifamily product for all the 
scenarios considered based on the prospective supply given for the UGB. 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 24 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 7: hypothetical absorption scenarios for residential buildable land inventory inside the current UGB 

 

Modeled market absorption of the buildable land inventory 
For the following assessments, modeled absorption data (MetroScope scenario) are used (not Census 
nor  historic data). In Figures 10, 11 and 12, “adjusted” supply refers to the amount of the buildable land 
inventory that gets absorbed in the modeled growth scenario. It is this amount that is being counted as 
capacity in the Urban Growth Report. Different demand assumptions (from the range forecast) result in 
different amounts of redevelopment and infill supply in each scenario. 

Current estimate of Metro UGB SF capacity (SUPPLY): 119,100 units

Hypothetical - Years Available if SUPPLY is consumed at a rate of X  thousand  per year:
(hypothetical annual consumption rates)

historical minimum (2,300 in a year) 52 years
historical maximum (12,300 in a year) 10 years

decade average low (3,300 average) 36 years
decade average high (9,600 average) 12 years

recession years average (4,700 per year) 25 years
non-recession years average (7,200 per year) 15 years

1960 to 2012 average (7,000 per year) 17 years
   +/- 1 std. dev. +/- 5 years

MetroScope annual average absorption (5,000 per year) 24 years
Census (HIA) annual average preference rate (6,400 per year 19 years

Current estimate Metro UGB MF capacity (SUPPLY): 280,602 unadjusted units

Hypothetical - Years Available if MF SUPPLY is consumed at a rate of X  thousand  per year:
(hypothetical annual consumption rates)

historical minimum (800 in a year) 354 years
historical maximum (10,000 in a year) 28 years

decade average low (2,100 average) 131 years
decade average high (6,300 average) 45 years

recession years average (2,200 per year) 124 years
non-recession years average (5,100 per year) 55 years

1960 to 2012 average (4,300 per year) 66 years
   +/- 1 std. dev. +/- 22 years

MetroScope annual average absorption (4,500 per year) 26 years
Census (HIA) annual average preference rate (3,100 per year 38 years

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 25 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Low growth scenario summary of housing capacity needs 
At the low end of the range forecast for accommodating household growth, there is no need for 
additional growth capacity for multifamily or single-family housing. Detail is provided in Figure 10.  

Figure 10: summary of single family and multifamily housing capacity, demand, and need under the low growth scenario 
(Metro UGB, 2015-2035) - REVISED 

 

Addendum (Aug. 2014): adjusted prospective inventory for Forest Grove – switch residential capacity to 
industrial; corrected HIA housing matrix – switch HIA matrix from 7 county to Metro UGB  

URBAN GROWTH REPORT (HOUSING NEEDS CALCULATION) - MetroScope / BLI supply constraints MetroScope
9/16/14 Scen #1464

(rounded) (all vacant capacity is counted in UGR analysis)
Units Adjusted Units per Scen #1464

SF Demand (baseline) 64,000 SF Demand (baseline) 64,000
SF Infill 70,100 adjusted SF Infill 28,000 60% infill SF taxlots go undeveloped
SF Vacant 47,900 118,000 (total SF supply) SF Vacant 47,900 62% vacant SF taxlots go undeveloped

NET 54,000 surplus NET 11,900 surplus (Damascus partly included & Forest Grove adj.)

(rounded) (all vacant capacity is counted in UGR analysis)
Units Adjusted Units per Scen #1464

MF Demand (baseline) 89,300 MF Demand (baseline) 89,300
MF Redev 233,100 adjusted MF Redev 78,200 60% redev MF taxlots go possibly undeveloped

MF Vacant 40,200 273,300 (total MF supply) MF Vacant 40,200 72% vacant MF taxlots could go potentially undeveloped

NET 184,000 surplus NET 29,100 surplus (Damascus partly included & Forest Grove adj.)

SIN
GLE FAM

ILY
M

U
LTI-FAM

ILY

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

SF Supply (BLI max potential)

SF Infill

SF Vacant

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

MF Supply (BLI max potential)

MF Redev

MF Vacant

89,300

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

MF Demand (MetroScope)

MF Demand 
(baseline)

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

MF Supply (market adjusted)

adjusted MF 
Redev

MF Vacant

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

SF Supply (market adjusted)

adjusted SF Infill

SF Vacant

64,000

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

SF Demand (MetroScope)

SF Demand 
(baseline)

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 26 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Baseline (medium growth scenario) summary of housing capacity needs 
At the midpoint of the range forecast for household growth, there is no need for additional growth 
capacity for either single family or multifamily housing. Detail is provided in Figure 11. 

Figure 11: summary of single family and multifamily housing capacity, demand, and need under the baseline (medium) 
growth scenario (Metro UGB, 2015-2035) - REVISED 

 

Addendum (Aug. 2014): adjusted prospective inventory for Forest Grove – switch residential capacity to 
industrial; corrected HIA housing matrix – switch HIA matrix from 7 county to Metro UGB  

URBAN GROWTH REPORT (HOUSING NEEDS CALCULATION) - MetroScope / BLI supply constraints MetroScope
9/16/14 Scen #1462

(rounded) (all vacant capacity is counted in UGR analysis)
Units Adjusted Units per Scen #1462

SF Demand (baseline) 76,900 SF Demand (baseline) 76,900
SF Infill 70,100 adjusted SF Infill 42,100 40% infill SF taxlots go undeveloped
SF Vacant 47,900 118,000 (total SF supply) SF Vacant 47,900 34% vacant SF taxlots go undeveloped (less Forest Grove ~ 100 acres)

NET 41,100 surplus NET 13,100 surplus (Damascus partly included & Forest Grove adj.)

(rounded) (all vacant capacity is counted in UGR analysis)
Units Adjusted Units per Scen #1462

MF Demand (baseline) 120,500 MF Demand (baseline) 120,500
MF Redev 233,100 adjusted MF Redev 89,900 55% redev MF taxlots go possibly undeveloped
MF Vacant 40,200 273,300 (total MF supply) MF Vacant 40,200 24% vacant MF taxlots could go potentially undeveloped

NET 152,800 surplus NET 9,600 surplus (Damascus partly included & Forest Grove adj.)

SIN
GLE FAM

ILY
M

U
LTI-FAM

ILY

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

SF Supply (BLI max potential)

SF Infill

SF Vacant

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

MF Supply (BLI max potential)

MF Redev

MF Vacant

120,500

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

MF Demand (MetroScope)

MF Demand 
(baseline)

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

MF Supply (market adjusted)

adjusted MF 
Redev

MF Vacant

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

SF Supply (market adjusted)

adjusted SF Infill

SF Vacant

76,900

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

SF Demand (MetroScope)

SF Demand 
(baseline)

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 27 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



High growth scenario summary of housing capacity needs 
At the high end of the range forecast for household growth, there is no need for additional growth 
capacity for either single family or multifamily housing. Detail is provided in Figure 12. 

Figure 12: summary of single family and multifamily housing capacity, demand, and need under the high growth scenario 
(Metro UGB, 2015-2035) - REVISED 

 

Addendum (Aug. 2014): adjusted prospective inventory for Forest Grove – switch residential capacity to 
industrial; corrected HIA housing matrix – switch HIA matrix from 7 county to Metro UGB  

URBAN GROWTH REPORT (HOUSING NEEDS CALCULATION) - MetroScope / BLI supply constraints MetroScope
9/16/14 Scen #1465

(rounded) (all vacant capacity is counted in UGR analysis)
Units Adjusted Units per Scen #1465

SF Demand (baseline) 90,800 SF Demand (baseline) 90,800
SF Infill 70,100 adjusted SF Infill 49,100 30% infill SF taxlots go undeveloped
SF Vacant 47,900 118,000 (total SF supply) SF Vacant 47,900 30% vacant SF taxlots go undeveloped

NET 27,200 surplus NET 6,200 surplus (Damascus partly included & Forest Grove adj.)

(rounded) (all vacant capacity is counted in UGR analysis)
Units Adjusted Units per Scen #1465

MF Demand (baseline) 145,900 MF Demand (baseline) 145,900
MF Redev 233,100 adjusted MF Redev 124,900 40% redev MF taxlots go possibly undeveloped
MF Vacant 40,200 273,300 (total MF supply) MF Vacant 40,200 48% vacant MF taxlots could go potentially undeveloped

NET 127,400 surplus NET 19,200 surplus (Damascus partly included & Forest Grove adj.)

SIN
GLE FAM

ILY
M

U
LTI-FAM

ILY

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

SF Supply (BLI max potential)

SF Infill

SF Vacant

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

MF Supply (BLI max potential)

MF Redev

MF Vacant

145,900

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

MF Demand (MetroScope)

MF Demand 
(baseline)

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

MF Supply (market adjusted)

adjusted MF 
Redev

MF Vacant

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

SF Supply (market adjusted)

adjusted SF Infill

SF Vacant

90,800

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Units

SF Demand (MetroScope)

SF Demand 
(baseline)

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 28 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Summary of housing capacity needs 
Table 8 and Table 9 summarize residential capacity needs for the low, medium and high growth 
scenarios. At the low end of the forecast range and at the midpoint of the forecast range, there is no 
regional need for additional single-family or multifamily housing capacity. At the high end of the forecast 
range, there is a regional need for additional single-family housing capacity, but not multifamily.  

Addendum (Aug. 2014): Tables 8 and 9 summarize (and include corrections to) the market supply and 
demand estimates. A correction was made to the HIA housing demand matrix and a change to 
unincorporated Washington supply because of HB 4078 and Forest Grove. This overall results in less 
demand for SF units and more demand for MF units. 

Table 8: Metro UGB single-family residential needs 2015 to 2035 expressed in dwelling units - REVISED 

 Single-family dwelling units 
Buildable land 

inventory 
Market-
adjusted 
supply 

Demand Surplus or 
need 

Low growth forecast 
118,000* 

75,900 64,000 +11,900 
Middle (baseline) growth forecast 90,000 76,900 +13,100 
High growth forecast 97,000 90,800 +6,200 
*Forest Grove adjustment – residential to industrial change per HB 4078 – reduces SF capacity by 700 units 

Table 9: Metro UGB multifamily residential needs 2015 to 2035 expressed in dwelling units - REVISED 

 Multifamily dwelling units 
Buildable land 

inventory 
Market-
adjusted 
supply 

Demand Surplus or 
need 

Low growth forecast 
273,300** 

118,400 89,300 +29,100 
Middle (baseline) growth forecast 130,100 120,500 +9,600 
High growth forecast 165,100 145,900 +19,200 
**Forest Grove adjustment – residential to industrial change per HB 4078 – reduces MF capacity by 700 units 

 

Additional analysis details from MetroScope scenarios 
Three (3) MetroScope-Urban Growth Report Scenarios were prepared for the 2014 Urban Growth 
Report. The 3 scenarios included were derived from the “high”, “medium or baseline”, and “low” growth 
population and employment projections12.  The following section provides additional details about those 
scenarios. Appendix 11 describes in more detail the inputs used in creating each of these scenarios. 

 

12 Detailed specifications for the population and employment growth forecast may be found in Appendix 1a. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 29 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Average density by housing type 
As required under ORS 197.296, figure 13 shows the estimates of housing need by type and density 
range under each scenario alternative. 

Figure 13: Housing need by type and density range for three scenarios (2015- 2035, Metro UGB) - REVISED 

 

 

MetroScope UGR Scenarios, residential absorption estimates (2010 to 2035)
MetroScope UGR LOW -- Scenario #1464
MetroScope UGR MEDIUM -- Scenario #1462 (MetroScope Supply-side module)
MetroScope UGR HIGH -- Scenario #1465

Dwelling Unit Absorption % of DU Absorbed by Zoning

Zone 
Class

Nominal 
Units / 

Acre Low Medium High Low Medium High
SFR1 1 264 468 1,543 0.6% 0.6% 1.9%
SFR2 2 483 1,001 1,451 1.0% 1.4% 1.8%
SFR3 3 2,109 5,010 6,616 4.6% 6.8% 8.0%
SFR4 4 575 1,618 2,092 1.2% 2.2% 2.5%
SFR5 5 7,382 12,169 13,855 15.9% 16.5% 16.8%
SFR6 6 7,829 10,607 12,060 16.9% 14.4% 14.6%
SFR7 7 8,293 15,727 14,294 17.9% 21.3% 17.3%
SFR8 8 6,769 10,433 11,953 14.6% 14.1% 14.5%
SFR9 9 3,590 4,189 4,274 7.7% 5.7% 5.2%
SFR10 10 2,756 2,945 2,969 5.9% 4.0% 3.6%
SFR11 11 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
SFR12 12 1,415 2,299 2,732 3.1% 3.1% 3.3%
SFR13 13 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
SFR14 14 1,948 3,380 4,226 4.2% 4.6% 5.1%
SFR15 15 2,916 4,027 4,405 6.3% 5.5% 5.3%
SFR16 16 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
MFR1 12.3 533 1,737 2,503 0.5% 1.3% 1.6%
MFR2 17.8 903 1,859 3,352 0.8% 1.4% 2.2%
MFR3 23.3 4,483 6,945 9,557 4.1% 5.3% 6.3%
MFR4 29.4 565 716 792 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%
MFR5 33.4 15,988 20,073 22,474 14.5% 15.2% 14.7%
MFR6 40 0 0 0 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
MFR7 73.1 13,612 15,413 17,526 12.3% 11.7% 11.5%
MUR1 11.2 397 510 676 0.4% 0.4% 0.4%
MUR2 18.2 162 210 359 0.1% 0.2% 0.2%
MUR3 23.1 533 743 1,228 0.5% 0.6% 0.8%
MUR4 29.1 1,352 1,738 2,329 1.2% 1.3% 1.5%
MUR5 34.6 1,210 1,584 1,949 1.1% 1.2% 1.3%
MUR6 40.1 2,010 2,880 3,561 1.8% 2.2% 2.3%
MUR7 54.6 931 1,719 2,216 0.8% 1.3% 1.5%
MUR8 75.5 1,644 1,841 2,352 1.5% 1.4% 1.5%
MUR9 110.5 46,191 51,787 57,202 41.8% 39.3% 37.5%
MUR10 222.5 20,112 22,151 24,484 18.2% 16.8% 16.0%

TOTAL UNITS ABSORBED 156,956 205,780 235,031 Percent SF/MF split
single family subtotal 46,330 73,874 82,470 single family 30% 36% 35%

multifamily subtotal 110,626 131,905 152,562 multifamily 70% 64% 65%

Low Medium High
Single Family Average Density 7.6 7.4 7.2 di fferences  in projected absorption owe to:

estimates  approximating Metro UGB

Multifamily Average Density 104.9 99.8 96.7 and urban reserves  ca lculations ,

model  convergence between supply and demand

Average Density (all types) 76.2 66.6 65.3 modules , and vacancy rate forecasts

general 
zone 
class

single fam
ily product

m
ultifam

ily product

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 30 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Regional residential demand summary 
Table 10 summarizes scenario details for household, housing, and location choice for residents in the 
Metro UGB (i.e., forward looking capture rate). The MSA forecast is the starting point because the time-
series data (i.e., employment and population) is better for counties than for estimates of the data 
history of UGB’s. Moreover, the best economic / employment data arrive to us from federal and state 
employment sources as MSA. Historical data with sufficient and necessary detail are not available for 
the Metro UGB; also, the UGB is periodically amended while counties rarely change boundaries. Having 
static boundaries means that measurement errors are minimized and therefore economic and 
demographic forecasts are more reliable (as in the case of counties or MSA’s that are grouped together 
with the same counties). 

 

Table 10: housing needs forecast details 

UGR Forecast Details High 
(MS Scenario #1465) 

Medium 
(MS Scenario #1462) 

Low 
(MS Scenario #1464) 

2015 MSA Household 
Estimate (source: Metro 
Regional Forecast) 

917,000 898,700 880,300 

2035 MSA Household 
Forecast (source: Metro 
Regional Forecast) 

1,256,700 1,185,800 1,114,400 

    
2015 UGB Household 
Estimate (source: MetroScope 
UGR forecast scenario) 

625,900 
(68.3 percent share) 

613,000 
(68.2 percent share) 

603,600 
(68.6 percent share) 

2035 UGB Household 
Forecast (source: MetroScope 
UGR forecast scenario) 

870,900 
(69.3 percent share) 

821,100 
(69.2 percent share) 

768,000 
(68.9 percent share) 

    
Capture Rate (2015-35) 
(source: UGR calculation) 

72.0 percent 72.1 percent 70.2 percent 

    
2015 Vacancy Rate 
(source: 2010 Census) 

6.9 percent 6.9 percent 6.9 percent 

2035 Vacancy Rate 
(source: UGR assumption) 

4.0 percent 4.0 percent 4.0 percent 

    
2015-35 Housing 
Demand Forecast 
(source: UGR calculation) 

236,600 197,400 153,300 

 

As expected, the high growth regional scenario yields a greater housing unit demand (236,000 total 
units) for the Metro UGB relative to the metropolitan MSA forecast. Transitively, the medium (or so-
called baseline) scenario yields less growth than the high, but more growth than the low alternative. The 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 31 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



household projections were defined from the regional range forecast and the Metro UGB shares and 
capture rates were derived from MetroScope growth scenarios.  

The MetroScope scenarios used for this analysis differ only in the input assumptions for housing demand 
levels. This means that, for each scenario, the buildable land inventory and all other supply and 
transportation assumptions remained unchanged across all three. The difference is that the high growth 
socio-economic forecast is used for the high growth MetroScope scenario and so on. More population 
and employment growth generally generates more demand for housing and this level of growth will 
respond and play itself out in the Metro UGB housing markets a little differently in terms of price, 
location and residential ownership and structure type demand than in the case of baseline or the low 
growth forecast alternatives. 

Some of these scenario findings like location choice materialize in the capture rate being different for 
each scenario alternative. The capture rate (as illustrated in Table 10) don’t vary across scenarios very 
much, but compared to historical experience they are somewhat higher than the 63 percent calculated 
in prior analyses. The higher capture rate projected under the MetroScope scenarios is due to many 
factors, such as the dwindling residential housing supply going forward in neighbor cities and rural areas 
adjacent to Metro UGB. Clark County’s growth capacity, with its urban growth area, has fewer surpluses 
in the future as compared to the past. Likewise, as is currently being observed, existing urban areas in 
the Metro UGB continue to be a draw for growth. 

Modeled housing demand 
Demographic factors also play a role in some of the shift in housing type demand going forward. As 
noted in the regional forecast, the share of households made up of 1-person or 2-person households is 
expected to rise. This means that net new households are, other things being equal, have a greater 
propensity to demand multi-family (at least until they start forming families with children). Also, an 
aging population on balance also has a slightly higher affinity to shift into multi-family development 
forms, although as the Census data suggests, this doesn’t happen until at least until individuals are 
about 80 to 85  years old. 

Economic factors, in particular household income, play a function in determining tenure and the choice 
between single-family or multifamily development forms. The regional economic forecast predicts 
proportionally fewer middle-income bracket households and families, meaning a disproportionate rise 
in the number of lower income households. This results in a slight increase in renter multi-family (RMF) 
demand as seen in Table 11. 

There is also a rise in the very high income brackets predicted in the net change in households. 
Disproportionate increases in the number of high income households (especially in the high growth 
scenario) show up in higher home ownership (65 percent in high scenario, 64 percent in medium, 63 
percent in low) as compared to the 2010 Census which rang up 60 percent own and 40 percent rent. 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 32 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

Table 11: MetroScope Scenario Housing Need Alternatives – Household Demand by Tenure and Structure Type 

UGR Forecast 
Details 

Census Estimate 
(2010) 

High 
(Change: 2015 – 35) 

Medium 
(Change: 2015 – 35) 

Low 
(Change: 2015 – 35) 

Owner 1-unit 
structure (OSF) 

58 percent 38 percent 39 percent 40 percent 

Owner multi-
family (OMF) 

3 percent 27 percent 26 percent 25 percent 

Renter 1-unit 
structure (RSF) 

11 percent 0 percent 0 percent 2 percent 

Renter multi-
family (RMF) 

28 percent 35 percent 35 percent 33 percent 

     
Census definitions for structure types: 
Single family (SF)  = 1-unit detached, 1-unit attached, mobile home, and boat, RV, van, etc. 
Multi-family (MF) = 2 units or more 
 

 
Table 11 summarizes the shift between projected household characteristics (referring to HIA 
distribution) and their market-clearing demand for housing by type and tenure. Demand shifts 
materially between the 2010 Census and the future scenarios. But between scenarios, the variations are 
not very pronounced.  

The forecast scenarios show a major shift in the type of housing under demand, from single family (SF) 
to multi-family (MF). Pre-adoption of the Regional Framework Plan (RFP) in 1995, the UGB had a mix of 
about 70 percent SF and 30 percent MF. After the RFP and local government implementation of regional 
housing policies, the split between new SF and MF became 60 percent / 40 percent, SF over MF. More 
recently, during the Great Recession, the residential permit ratio between SF and MF became 50 / 50. 
The recession may have had an outsized impact on the residential development ratio between SF and 
MF units built, but there appears to be so far an increase favoring MF preferences over the last 10 to 15 
year span.  

Over the forecast period (2015 to 2035), the growth forecast alternatives derived from MetroScope 
clearly signal an even greater shift to MF. We surmise that –at least in part – the shrinking share of SF 
demand may owe to a shift in socio-economic patterns prompted by (1) a decline owing to smaller 
average household size – see Table 12, (2) a population that is increasingly getting older (rising median 
population age) – see Table 13, and a proportionate rise in lower income bracket households.  

The demand for housing type seems more likely to be influenced by the market clearing effect of what 
will be the supply of housing types which are implied under current state, regional, and local 
regulations. The breakdown of the buildable land inventory shows a maximum potential supply of 
multifamily registering a market share of 70 percent and 30 percent single-family (which includes in its 
definition 1-unit attached, 1-unit detached, duplexes and triplexes and manufactured homes). Aside 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 33 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



from the buildable land inventory and model inputs, a more practical consideration is that the region 
has struggled to urbanize past UGB expansion areas, which will be a primary source of future single-
family housing capacity. If traditional supplies of SF homes are limited by the market and regulations, 
how will the region accommodate future needs of families? The MetroScope scenarios suggest that the 
condo market (or a proxy for “vertical single family housing”) will need to expand significantly. Although 
the market share appears to be very small at this time, the forecast projects the housing market will 
move to accommodate the SF housing share by providing condominiums (i.e., owner multi-family) that 
will have the square footage and amenities to accommodate tomorrow’s families. The increase in owner 
multi-family is over 55,000 units between 2015 and 2035, from a 2015 estimate of 18,000 units (see 
Table 4 and Figure 6). This is a 3-fold increase in market share. 

Table 12: Baseline Forecast illustration of households by size 

  

Regional Forecast 
(medium scenario) 

Household 
Difference 

 

Household 
size 2015 2035 (2015-35) 

 
percent 

share 
1 person 1 192,978 271,571 78,593 40% 

2 persons (couple) 2 224,012 279,327 55,315 28% 

3 persons 3 101,343 138,469 37,126 19% 

4 persons 4 76,759 99,241 22,482 11% 

5 or more persons 5 60,408 64,292 3,884 2% 

 
Total 655,500 852,900 197,400 100 % 

 
Table 13: Baseline Forecast illustration of households by householder age 

  

Regional Forecast 
(medium scenario) Household Difference  

 

Age 
Bracket 2015 2035 (2015-35) 

 percent 
share 

under 25 years old 1 43,767 50,926 7,159 4% 
25 to 44 years old 2 247,003 295,051 48,049 24% 
45 to 54 years old 3 135,340 151,167 15,827 8% 
55 to 64 years old 4 108,192 136,093 27,901 14% 
65 years or older 5 121,199 219,662 98,464 50% 

 
Total 655,500 852,900 197,400 100 % 

 
A final point is that overall demand for housing (regardless of scenario) will be larger in 2035. The 
marginal shares of households by size, income and age are certainly shifting up (and down) over the 
forecast period and by these shifts have implications on residential demand, but taken all together there 
is absolute growth in every major category distribution for households. This leads to the conclusion that 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 34 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



there will be in absolute terms additional demand for housing of all types, by tenure (i.e., own or rent) 
and type (i.e., SF or MF). 

Urban renewal (residential reinvestment) capacity and absorption  
(source: MetroScope Scen. #1462) 

These scenarios include inputs that serve as proxies for existing investment programs such as urban 
renewal. The rationale behind urban residential incentives (at least how MetroScope models residential 
reinvestments in the region) is to simulate the kind of market action that might be anticipated areas 
with existing investment programs. Other things being equal, the residential redevelopment incentive 
makes these locations relatively more attractive because of a lower cost of construction, but realized 
growth won’t automatically gravitate to these areas unless there is sufficient demand or preference for 
these locations in the first place. Modeling the economic impact of these investment requires estimates 
for 1) the number of subsidized units (i.e., capacity) and 2) an investment amount. 

 The places identified for a residential investment assumption are specified by 1) urban renewal areas 
(URA), 2) Portland’s transit-oriented development tax abatement locations, and 3) Portland’s 
neighborhood prosperity initiative (NPI) sites. The incentivized capacity is defined based on the 
geography of the site or area and the number of residential dwelling units estimated as potentially 
redevelopable under the BLI. This residential redevelopment supply is then assumed to get (for 
modeling purposes) a lower cost of residential construction assumption. For locations designated 
central city, assume $50,000 incentive; regional center, assume $25,000 incentive; for all other incentive 
areas, assume $10,000. Over the years, these assumptions have been reviewed with local jurisdictions. 

Incentivized locations compete with other potentially developable areas for residential housing. All 
other market factors in the MetroScope model are active. The resulting modeling and forecasting effect 
of the incentives is that it tends to speed up the timing of market absorption making the area more 
attractive (other things being equal) for development to occur going forward.  

Figure 14 and Table 14 summarize the model’s incentive assumptions as well as modeled absorption of 
the incentivized units through 2035. As one can observe, the estimated total number of units receiving a 
form of residential reinvestment incentive is just under 88,000 dwelling units (or 22% of total capacity 
estimated for the Metro UGB). Overall incentivized housing unit absorption is about 80% and with about 
29% of single family (SF) units remaining and 20% of incentivized multi-family units undeveloped by year 
2035 . Generally, incentivized units will absorb more quickly than other residential capacity. 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 35 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Figure 14: Modeled incentivized capacity absorption (capacity that gets absorbed between 2015 and 2035 is shown in 
“green”. The purple segment of each bar represents the capacity that is still undeveloped by year 2035.) 

 
 

0 5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000

Central Eastside
Downtown Waterfront

North Macadam
Oregon Convention.Center

River District
South Park Blocks

Clackamas
Gateway Regional Center

Gresham
Hillsboro

Oregon.City
Tanasbourne/AmberGlen

Gladstone
Lake Oswego

Lents Town Center
Rockwood

Tigard
Education URA

Interstate Corridor
Villebois

NPI - 42nd Avenue
NPI - 82nd Avenue and Division

NPI - Cully Blvd
NPI - Division Midway

NPI - Parkrose
NPI - Rosewood

TOD - E 122nd Ave MAX Station
TOD - E 148th Ave MAX Station

TOD - E 162nd Ave MAX Station
TOD - NE 60th Ave MAX Station

TOD - NE 82nd Ave MAX Station
TOD - SE Division St

    

Absorbed

Unused Capacity

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 36 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 14: Urban Renewal Capacity and Absorption by the Numbers for each location 

 

 

MetroScope residential absorption projections by Jurisdiction 
(addendum) 

Tables 15, 16, and 17 summarize how much of the prospective residential capacity is absorbed between 
2015 and 2035, according to each MetroScope growth scenario13.  The supply of prospective residential 
units is included as a reference against absorption estimates. For modeling purposes, we consider the 
inventory to approximate 40+ years of residential supply if all vacant and redevelopment/infill are 
absorbed. Included in each table is the amount of residential absorption by jurisdiction and by structure 
type. 

Highlights of the baseline medium growth residential capacity consumption scenario: 

13 Directly tabulated MetroScope data will differ by thousands of dwelling units because of rounding errors innate 
to modeling in a partial general equilibrium model (like MetroScope) and vacancy rate assumptions applied in the 
UGR but not in a MetroScope scenario. 

Urban Renewal Location
Type SF MF Total SF MF Total SF MF Total SF MF Total

Central Eastside Central City 0 1,196 1,196 0 1,028 1,028 0 168 168 -- 14% 14%
Downtown Waterfront Central City 0 3,376 3,376 0 3,055 3,055 0 321 321 -- 9% 9%
North Macadam Central City 0 10,574 10,574 0 9,402 9,402 0 1,172 1,172 -- 11% 11%
Oregon Convention.Center Central City 0 7,105 7,105 0 5,871 5,871 0 1,234 1,234 -- 17% 17%
River District Central City 0 5,336 5,336 0 4,809 4,809 0 527 527 -- 10% 10%
South Park Blocks Central City 0 787 787 0 707 707 0 80 80 -- 10% 10%
Clackamas Regional Center 0 248 248 0 203 203 0 45 45 -- 18% 18%
Gateway Regional Center Regional Center 0 4,233 4,233 0 3,405 3,405 0 828 828 -- 20% 20%
Gresham Regional Center 14 365 379 9 303 312 5 62 67 39% 17% 18%
Hillsboro Regional Center 238 408 646 161 342 504 77 66 142 32% 16% 22%
Oregon.City Regional Center 0 886 886 0 254 254 0 632 632 -- 71% 71%
Tanasbourne/AmberGlen Regional Center 8 1,553 1,561 7 1,267 1,274 1 286 287 11% 18% 18%
Gladstone Town Center 10 0 10 9 0 9 1 0 1 8% -- 8%
Lake Oswego Town Center 3 33 36 2 28 30 1 5 6 26% 16% 16%
Lents Town Center Town Center 682 17,209 17,891 431 12,918 13,349 251 4,291 4,542 37% 25% 25%
Rockwood Town Center 0 1,135 1,135 0 855 855 0 280 280 -- 25% 25%
Tigard Town Center 67 337 404 33 274 307 34 63 97 50% 19% 24%
Education URA Non-Center UR 0 831 831 0 757 757 0 74 74 -- 9% 9%
Interstate Corridor Non-Center UR 194 19,036 19,230 184 14,594 14,778 10 4,442 4,452 5% 23% 23%
Villebois Non-Center UR 530 105 635 464 34 498 66 71 137 12% 67% 22%
NPI - 42nd Avenue NPI 14 813 827 13 609 622 1 204 205 8% 25% 25%
NPI - 82nd Avenue and Division NPI 38 2,690 2,728 36 2,144 2,180 2 546 548 5% 20% 20%
NPI - Cully Blvd NPI 4 1,960 1,964 4 1,392 1,396 0 568 568 5% 29% 29%
NPI - Division Midway NPI 0 507 507 0 431 431 0 76 76 -- 15% 15%
NPI - Parkrose NPI 2 339 341 2 256 258 0 83 83 22% 24% 24%
NPI - Rosewood NPI 61 248 309 23 193 216 38 55 93 62% 22% 30%
TOD - E 122nd Ave MAX Station Portland TOD 6 84 90 4 72 76 2 12 14 33% 15% 16%
TOD - E 148th Ave MAX Station Portland TOD 128 1,001 1,129 47 638 685 81 363 444 63% 36% 39%
TOD - E 162nd Ave MAX Station Portland TOD 4 54 58 1 39 40 3 15 18 63% 28% 31%
TOD - NE 60th Ave MAX Station Portland TOD 1 308 309 1 255 256 0 53 53 5% 17% 17%
TOD - NE 82nd Ave MAX Station Portland TOD 2 1,851 1,853 2 1,383 1,385 0 468 468 3% 25% 25%
TOD - SE Division St Portland TOD 1 978 979 1 774 775 0 204 204 6% 21% 21%

UGB Total 2,007 85,586 87,593 1,435 68,292 69,726 572 17,294 17,867 29% 20% 20%

Urban Renewal Capacity UR Capacity Absorbed Unused Capacity by 2035 % Capacity Remaining

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 37 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• As to be expected, more units are absorbed in the high scenario as compared to the medium and 
low growth alternatives. 

Observations on projected single family development: 

• The 2014 BLI estimates capacity for 118,000 single family (SF) units – 47,900 on vacant land and 
up to 70,100 infill units in the current Metro UGB. 

• From 2015 to 2035, the number of SF lots absorbed is expected to be nearly 74,000 units based 
on the assumptions folded into the baseline medium scenario (#1462). 

• Uninc. Washington County leads all jurisdictions with nearly 21,100 single family units developed 
during the 20-year period. 

• Regionwide, 63% (74,000 out of 118,000) of the prospective buildable inventory of single family 
is used.  

• By 2035, we anticipate nearly all vacant SF tax lots inside the Metro UGB to be absorbed in the 
baseline medium scenario. We anticipate what remains after 20 years will be infill lots that may 
be too difficult to build on or access. 

Observations on projected multi-family development: 

• The 2014 BLI estimates nearly 273,300 multi-family (MF) units of inventory potentially available 
if demand were sufficient to absorb all of this MF redevelopment supply. 

• However, not all the redevelopment supply is counted in the UGR because redevelopment 
doesn’t happen unless required by sufficient market demand to induce it to happen. 

• From 2015 to 2035, the number of MF units absorbed is expected to be about 142,000 units 
based on assumptions folded into the baseline medium scenario (#1462). 

• Multi-family development in the city of Portland (113,500 MF units absorbed) far outpaces any 
individual suburban city and exceeds the efforts of all other cities combined (18,400 units). In 
order for Portland to achieve the baseline expectations in MF absorption by 2035, the city will 
have to be very successful in redeveloping at higher densities than what will be torn down. 
Portland will have to absorb about half of its estimated redevelopment capacity from its 
recognized potential BLI (113,500 used out of 213,200 units). 

• City of Portland leads all jurisdictions with nearly 113,500 multi-family units developed for the 
next 20 years, with 54% of its prospective multi-family inventory used during the UGR period. 

• In general, cities near the suburban fringes of the Metro UGB find a majority of their prospective 
multi-family dwelling capacity going unused, for example, Damascus (96%), Happy Valley (87%), 
Oregon City (83%), Wilsonville (63%), Gresham (71%), uninc. Multnomah County (98%), Cornelius 
(83%), Forest Grove (78%), Sherwood (61%), and uninc. Washington County (61%). 

Excel files supporting this appendix: 

MARIO14.xlsx 
UGR-HNA 2014 model (LOW).xlsx 
UGR-HNA 2014 model (MEDIUM).xlsx 
UGR-HNA 2014 model (HIGH).xlsx 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 38 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 15 

  

Georgaphy
Current UGB

U
GR LO

W
 Forecast

2014 Buildable Land Inventory - Residential Capacity &
 Absorption

Units
DU (HH x 1.05)

O
utput

Supply Side
M

etro Research Center
DRAFT   8/19/2014

Scenario #1464
Tim

e Span
20 Years (2015-2025)

Local Governm
ent

SF
M

F
Total

SF
M

F
Total

SF
M

F
Total

SF
M

F
Total

Clackam
as Total

40,326
20,288

60,614
14,365

2,240
16,605

25,961
18,048

44,009
64%

89%
73%

DAM
ASCUS

15,554
4,003

19,557
4,191

96
4,287

11,363
3,907

15,270
73%

98%
78%

GLADSTO
NE

236
331

567
174

193
367

62
138

200
26%

42%
35%

HAPPY VALLEY
5,658

4,346
10,004

1,021
395

1,416
4,637

3,951
8,588

82%
91%

86%
JO

HNSO
N CITY

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
--

--
--

LAKE O
SW

EGO
1,010

465
1,475

524
288

812
486

177
663

48%
38%

45%
M

ILW
AUKIE

1,177
59

1,236
767

21
788

410
38

448
35%

64%
36%

O
REGO

N CITY
2,635

4,695
7,330

981
385

1,366
1,654

4,310
5,964

63%
92%

81%
RIVERGRO

VE
36

0
36

19
0

19
17

0
17

46%
--

46%
W

EST LINN
924

124
1,048

366
21

387
558

103
661

60%
83%

63%
W

ILSO
NVILLE

2,760
1,092

3,852
1,835

264
2,098

925
828

1,754
34%

76%
46%

UNINCO
RP-CLACK

10,336
5,173

15,509
4,487

577
5,064

5,849
4,596

10,445
57%

89%
67%

M
ultnom

ah Total
24,532

231,302
255,834

10,125
101,168

111,293
14,407

130,134
144,541

59%
56%

56%
FAIRVIEW

421
703

1,124
185

43
228

236
660

896
56%

94%
80%

GRESHAM
4,808

10,514
15,322

1,514
1,768

3,282
3,294

8,746
12,040

69%
83%

79%
M

AYW
O

O
D PARK

32
0

32
20

0
20

12
0

12
38%

--
38%

PO
RTLAND

15,180
213,246

228,426
6,962

99,033
105,995

8,218
114,213

122,431
54%

54%
54%

TRO
UTDALE

546
969

1,515
201

221
423

345
748

1,092
63%

77%
72%

W
O

O
D VILLAGE

39
581

620
14

1
15

25
580

605
65%

100%
98%

UNINCO
RP-M

ULT
3,506

5,289
8,795

1,230
101

1,331
2,276

5,188
7,464

65%
98%

85%

W
ashington Total

53,842
22,395

76,237
21,840

7,218
29,058

32,002
15,177

47,179
59%

68%
62%

BEAVERTO
N

4,747
3,269

8,016
3,097

1,222
4,320

1,650
2,047

3,696
35%

63%
46%

CO
RNELIUS

88
153

241
4

22
26

84
131

215
95%

85%
89%

DURHAM
42

0
42

12
0

12
30

0
30

72%
--

72%
FO

REST GRO
VE

3,439
1,990

5,429
1,073

226
1,298

2,366
1,764

4,131
69%

89%
76%

HILLSBO
RO

4,661
5,311

9,972
1,448

2,245
3,694

3,213
3,066

6,278
69%

58%
63%

KING CITY
223

169
392

164
65

228
59

104
164

27%
62%

42%
SHERW

O
O

D
467

524
991

152
63

214
315

461
777

68%
88%

78%
TIGARD

6,243
2,270

8,513
2,939

933
3,872

3,304
1,337

4,641
53%

59%
55%

TUALATIN
351

188
539

144
117

262
207

71
277

59%
38%

51%
UNINCO

RP-W
ASH

33,581
8,521

42,102
12,808

2,324
15,132

20,773
6,197

26,970
62%

73%
64%

UGB TO
TAL

118,700
273,985

392,685
46,330

110,626
156,956

72,370
163,359

235,729
61%

60%
60%

BLI Capacity
DU used 2015-2035

DU rem
aining in 2035

%
 DU rem

aining in 2035Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 4, Page 39 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 16 

  

Georgaphy
Current UGB

U
GR M

EDIU
M

 Forecast
2014 Buildable Land Inventory (BLI) -- Residential Capacity 

Units
DU (HH x 1.05)

O
utput

Supply Side
M

etro Research Center
DRAFT   8/19/2014

Scenario #1462
Tim

e Span
20 Years (2015-2025)

Local Governm
ent

SF
M

F
Total

SF
M

F
Total

SF
M

F
Total

SF
M

F
Total

Clackam
as Total

40,326
20,288

60,614
24,634

4,307
28,941

15,692
15,981

31,673
39%

79%
52%

DAM
ASCUS

15,554
4,003

19,557
9,305

152
9,457

6,249
3,851

10,100
40%

96%
52%

GLADSTO
NE

236
331

567
201

219
420

35
112

147
15%

34%
26%

HAPPY VALLEY
5,658

4,346
10,004

2,530
561

3,091
3,128

3,785
6,913

55%
87%

69%
JO

HNSO
N CITY

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
--

--
--

LAKE O
SW

EGO
1,010

465
1,475

583
324

907
427

141
568

42%
30%

38%
M

ILW
AUKIE

1,177
59

1,236
984

41
1,025

193
18

211
16%

31%
17%

O
REGO

N CITY
2,635

4,695
7,330

1,779
789

2,568
856

3,906
4,762

32%
83%

65%
RIVERGRO

VE
36

0
36

23
0

23
13

0
13

35%
--

35%
W

EST LINN
924

124
1,048

439
37

477
485

87
571

52%
70%

54%
W

ILSO
NVILLE

2,760
1,092

3,852
1,912

408
2,320

848
684

1,532
31%

63%
40%

UNINCO
RP-CLACK

10,336
5,173

15,509
6,877

1,775
8,652

3,459
3,398

6,857
33%

66%
44%

M
ultnom

ah Total
24,532

231,302
255,834

15,947
117,562

133,509
8,585

113,740
122,325

35%
49%

48%
FAIRVIEW

421
703

1,124
344

292
636

77
411

488
18%

58%
43%

GRESHAM
4,808

10,514
15,322

2,898
3,019

5,916
1,910

7,495
9,406

40%
71%

61%
M

AYW
O

O
D PARK

32
0

32
27

0
27

5
0

5
17%

--
17%

PO
RTLAND

15,180
213,246

228,426
10,276

113,525
123,801

4,904
99,721

104,625
32%

47%
46%

TRO
UTDALE

546
969

1,515
345

381
726

201
588

789
37%

61%
52%

W
O

O
D VILLAGE

39
581

620
28

222
250

11
359

370
27%

62%
60%

UNINCO
RP-M

ULT
3,506

5,289
8,795

2,028
125

2,153
1,478

5,164
6,642

42%
98%

76%

W
ashington Total

53,842
22,395

76,237
33,293

10,036
43,329

20,549
12,359

32,908
38%

55%
43%

BEAVERTO
N

4,747
3,269

8,016
3,478

2,116
5,594

1,269
1,153

2,422
27%

35%
30%

CO
RNELIUS

88
153

241
9

26
34

79
127

207
90%

83%
86%

DURHAM
42

0
42

15
0

15
27

0
27

65%
--

65%
FO

REST GRO
VE

3,439
1,990

5,429
1,821

433
2,253

1,618
1,557

3,176
47%

78%
58%

HILLSBO
RO

4,661
5,311

9,972
2,722

2,644
5,366

1,939
2,667

4,606
42%

50%
46%

KING CITY
223

169
392

182
112

294
41

57
98

18%
34%

25%
SHERW

O
O

D
467

524
991

194
161

355
273

363
636

58%
69%

64%
TIGARD

6,243
2,270

8,513
3,615

1,355
4,970

2,628
915

3,543
42%

40%
42%

TUAL ATIN
351

188
539

172
139

311
179

49
228

51%
26%

42%
UNINCO

RP-W
ASH

33,581
8,521

42,102
21,085

3,052
24,137

12,496
5,469

17,965
37%

64%
43%

UGB TO
TAL

118,700
273,985

392,685
73,874

131,905
205,780

44,826
142,080

186,905
38%

52%
48%

BLI Capacity
DU used 2015-2035

DU rem
aining in 2035

%
 DU rem

aining in 2035

Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 4, Page 40 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 17 

 

Georgaphy
Current UGB

U
GR HIGH Forecast

2014 Buildable Land Inventory (BLI) -- Residential Capacity 
Units

DU (HH x 1.05)

O
utput

Supply Side
M

etro Research Center
DRAFT   8/19/2014

Scenario #1465
Tim

e Span
20 Years (2015-2025)

Local Governm
ent

SF
M

F
Total

SF
M

F
Total

SF
M

F
Total

SF
M

F
Total

Clackam
as Total

40,326
20,288

60,614
30,012

6,318
36,330

10,314
13,970

24,284
26%

69%
40%

DAM
ASCUS

15,554
4,003

19,557
11,748

196
11,943

3,806
3,807

7,614
24%

95%
39%

GLADSTO
NE

236
331

567
223

233
456

13
98

111
6%

30%
20%

HAPPY VALLEY
5,658

4,346
10,004

3,811
764

4,576
1,847

3,582
5,428

33%
82%

54%
JO

HNSO
N CITY

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
--

--
--

LAKE O
SW

EGO
1,010

465
1,475

610
373

984
400

92
491

40%
20%

33%
M

ILW
AUKIE

1,177
59

1,236
1,094

47
1,141

83
12

95
7%

21%
8%

O
REGO

N CITY
2,635

4,695
7,330

2,146
1,440

3,586
489

3,255
3,744

19%
69%

51%
RIVERGRO

VE
36

0
36

23
0

23
13

0
13

35%
--

35%
W

EST LINN
924

124
1,048

476
44

520
448

80
528

48%
65%

50%
W

ILSO
NVILLE

2,760
1,092

3,852
1,817

537
2,354

943
555

1,498
34%

51%
39%

UNINCO
RP-CLACK

10,336
5,173

15,509
8,063

2,683
10,746

2,273
2,490

4,763
22%

48%
31%

M
ultnom

ah Total
24,532

231,302
255,834

18,840
133,121

151,962
5,692

98,181
103,872

23%
42%

41%
FAIRVIEW

421
703

1,124
397

533
930

24
170

194
6%

24%
17%

GRESHAM
4,808

10,514
15,322

3,580
4,565

8,145
1,228

5,949
7,177

26%
57%

47%
M

AYW
O

O
D PARK

32
0

32
30

0
30

2
0

2
7%

--
7%

PO
RTLAND

15,180
213,246

228,426
11,975

126,744
138,718

3,205
86,502

89,708
21%

41%
39%

TRO
UTDALE

546
969

1,515
458

630
1,088

88
339

427
16%

35%
28%

W
O

O
D VILLAGE

39
581

620
32

410
442

7
171

178
17%

29%
29%

UNINCO
RP-M

ULT
3,506

5,289
8,795

2,368
240

2,609
1,138

5,049
6,186

32%
95%

70%

W
ashington Total

53,842
22,395

76,237
33,618

13,123
46,740

20,224
9,272

29,497
38%

41%
39%

BEAVERTO
N

4,747
3,269

8,016
3,782

2,406
6,188

965
863

1,828
20%

26%
23%

CO
RNELIUS

88
153

241
10

79
89

78
74

152
88%

49%
63%

DURHAM
42

0
42

19
0

19
23

0
23

54%
--

54%
FO

REST GRO
VE

3,439
1,990

5,429
2,294

1,069
3,363

1,145
921

2,066
33%

46%
38%

HILLSBO
RO

4,661
5,311

9,972
3,374

3,218
6,592

1,287
2,093

3,380
28%

39%
34%

KING CITY
223

169
392

151
126

277
72

43
115

32%
26%

29%
SHERW

O
O

D
467

524
991

224
221

445
243

303
546

52%
58%

55%
TIGARD

6,243
2,270

8,513
4,165

1,543
5,708

2,078
727

2,805
33%

32%
33%

TUALATIN
351

188
539

179
155

334
172

33
205

49%
18%

38%
UNINCO

RP-W
ASH

33,581
8,521

42,102
19,419

4,306
23,725

14,162
4,215

18,377
42%

49%
44%

UGB TO
TAL

118,700
273,985

392,685
82,470

152,562
235,031

36,230
121,423

157,654
31%

44%
40%

BLI Capacity
DU used 2015-2035

DU rem
aining in 2035

%
 DU rem

aining in 2035Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 4, Page 41 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Errata (summary of 9/23/14 revisions to previous July 2014 draft) 
This revised draft reflects two corrections. Tables and graphs that have been revised in this draft are so 
noted. Finally, this draft provides additional explanation of several topics that have been of interest to 
policy makers and stakeholders. 

First, in one step of the report’s calculations of housing demand, data describing the relative shares of 
different household types for the larger seven-county area (instead of the urban growth boundary) were 
used by mistake. As a result, the July 2014 draft overestimated demand for single-family housing within 
the urban growth boundary. 

A second correction relates to lands added to the urban growth boundary by the Oregon Legislature in 
March 2014 under House Bill 4078, which addressed the designation of urban and rural reserves and 
made changes to the urban growth boundary. At the request of staff from the City of Forest Grove, the 
revised analysis counts lands added near Forest Grove as industrial, rather than residential. This has the 
effect of reducing the region’s residential capacity, but increasing its industrial capacity. 

• Corrected the legend for the household income pie chart seen in figure 1, page 5. 
• Added figure 2, “Generational Changes in Population, Metro UGB” and three additional bullets 

that illustrate and explain expected net increase in housing demand (2015 to 2035) for each 
generation of residents, pages 6 and 7. 

• Page 13, added a paragraph accompanying table 3 to explain demand (and supply) factors 
necessarily shift between scenario alternatives, which results in shifts in tenure and housing type. 

• Table 3, page 14 has been revised. It has been replaced with the corrected household, income 
and age bracket projections for the Metro UGB (was incorrectly reported with MSA proportions), 
most notable dropping the single family proportion to 39% (incorrectly reported as 45%) and 
raising the multifamily proportion to 61% (incorrectly reported as 55%). 

• Figure 6, page 16, has been revised to reflect the correction in adjusted residential demand for 
housing by type and tenure 

• Page 17, addendum disclosing the change in BLI due to a correction in the Forest Grove 
residential supply. 

• Table 6, page 18; figures 7 thru 9, pages 19-21  has been revised to reflect the correction to the 
BLI 

• Added additional context of possible market impediments to building out the buildable land 
inventory, page 22 

• Figures 10 thru 12 and summary tables 8 and 9  (pages 26-29) have been revised to reflect 
changes in the BLI (i.e., Forest Grove adjustment) and housing demand by tenure and type (i.e., 
Metro UGB correction). 

• Figure 13 has been revised to correctly show residential absorptions for years 2015 to 2035 
(earlier draft had dwelling unit absorption for 2015 to 2040). 

• Added a section describing residential absorption results for each scenario, beginning on page 
37. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 42 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• Residential absorption estimates (by scenario) by jurisdiction are shown in Tables 15 (low 
scenario), 16 (medium scenario), and 17 (high scenario). 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 4, Page 43 of 43

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Appendix 5 
Residential development trends 

To better understand how to plan for people’s future housing needs, it is useful to understand past 
residential development trends. This report includes some of the data required under ORS 197.296 (the 
“needed housing” statute). Additional statutory requirements are addressed in other appendices. 

ORS 197.296 

(5)(a) Except as provided in paragraphs (b) and (c) of this subsection, the determination of housing 
capacity and need pursuant to subsection (3) of this section must be based on data relating to land 
within the urban growth boundary that has been collected since the last periodic review or five years, 
whichever is greater. The data shall include: 

      (A) The number, density and average mix of housing types of urban residential development that 
have actually occurred; 

      (B) Trends in density and average mix of housing types of urban residential development; 

      (C) Demographic and population trends; [see Appendices 1a and 4 for additional information] 

      (D) Economic trends and cycles; and [see Appendices 1a and 8 for additional detail] 

      (E) The number, density and average mix of housing types that have occurred on the buildable lands 
described in subsection (4)(a) of this section. 

Definitions and data sources 
Single family houses were identified from Metro assessor data as tax lots with a land use designation of 
SFR or RUR (translated from PCA codes).  Building value, building square footage, year built and other 
attributes were also used to identify lots with a house on them. 

Multifamily dwellings were identified from Metro’s multifamily housing inventory.  The inventory 
includes the obvious apartments and high density condos, as well as some other less clearly defined 
housing types.  A duplex, triplex, or any other lot with multiple housing units under common ownership 
on a single tax lot would be included.  Any development with condo style tax lots is included, identified 
by individually owned units within a common lot owned by a condo association or similar organization.  
Single family housing developments with common areas owned by a Homeowners Association are not 
included in multifamily. Most attached single family houses have single family style tax lots and are not 
included in the multifamily database.  This analysis excludes dormitories and retirement facilities, which 
are typically a single room occupancy style of housing. 

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 1 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Infill refers to development that occurred on a tax lot that would be considered “developed” in Metro’s 
buildable lands inventory, where the original structure has been left intact.  Infill may include residential 
units being added to the same lot with existing development, as well as splitting lots off from the 
existing development for new residential units. 

Oversized single family lots are developed single family lots where zoning would allow for the lot to be 
subdivided and developed at a higher density of single family housing.  

Redevelopment refers to development that occurred on a tax lot that would be considered “developed” 
in Metro’s buildable lands inventory, where the original structure was demolished to make room for 
new construction.  Redevelopment may or may not involve subdividing or reconfiguring the original tax 
lot to accommodate new development. 

Vacant implies that development occurred on land that would be considered “vacant” in Metro’s 
buildable lands inventory, and the lot has no indication of prior development in the recent past and was 
not part of a developed tax lot in the recent past (generally back to 2003 for the purposes of this 
analysis – a consequence is that historic redevelopment and infill may be underestimated if a tax lot was 
previously developed, but has been vacant since 2003).  

This report focuses on net new units, which will differ from total reported building permits.  
Redevelopment is a significant source of land for new residential development, so this analysis subtracts 
the units that were demolished to make way for new housing so as not to overstate residential growth.  

Densities are reported as units per net acre.  When a large parcel is developed, a certain percentage of 
the area must be devoted to streets, parks and other common areas.  Because this analysis is based on 
tax lots after they have been subdivided and developed, these take-outs are already excluded from the 
land consumption statistics.    

Development trends by housing type 
This report provides data on residential development over the period 2007 to 2012, picking up where 
the last refill study left off in 2006.  Recent trends in residential development have been heavily 
influenced by the housing bust and resulting recession.  New development and housing prices dropped 
off substantially from 2006 through 2010, before slowly starting to recover in 2011 and 2012.  This trend 
is clearly visible in Figure 1, showing only a modest uptick in construction through 2012. 

 

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 2 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Figure 1: Net new housing units added to the UGB from 2007 to 2012 by type 

 

  

On average, the region produced about 4,100 housing units per year during this period, with a high of 
nearly 7,000 units in 2007 and a low of 2,200 units in 2010.  The mix of single family and multifamily 
housing units has fluctuated over the period in the range of 38.0% single family and 62.0% multifamily to 
66.4% single family and 33.6% multifamily.  Over the six year period, this averages out to about an even 
split between the two housing types. 

Table 1: Net new housing units in the UGB from 2007 to 2012 and shares of multifamily and single family housing 

Year built 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2007-2012 
Single family units 4,001 2,396 1,455 1,469 1,515 1,561 12,398 
Multifamily units 2,927 3,583 2,371 743 1,057 1,452 12,133 
Total units 6,928 5,979 3,826 2,212 2,572 3,013 24,531 
Share SF 57.8% 40.1% 38.0% 66.4% 58.9% 51.8% 50.5% 
Share MF 42.2% 59.9% 62.0% 33.6% 41.1% 48.2% 49.5% 

 

Development trends by density 
Housing densities of new construction varied over the period as well.  Single family housing reached a 
minimum average density of 6.9 units per acre, or 6,320 square feet of land per house in 2010, and a 
maximum of 8.2 units per acre, with an average lot size of 5,314 square feet, in 2011.  New multifamily 
developments were built at an average density of 41.8 units per net acre over the six year period.  
Development and density dropped off in 2010 and 2011, with only 743 multifamily units added at an 

0 

1,000 

2,000 

3,000 

4,000 

5,000 

6,000 

7,000 

8,000 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

Ho
us

in
g 

un
its

 

Year Built 

Multifamily units 

Single family units 

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 3 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



average density of 34.6 units per net acre in 2010.   Multifamily construction began picking up again in 
2012, when 1,452 units were built at a density of 71.8 units per net acre.  

Table 2: Average density of net new housing units in the UGB for single family, multifamily and all units combined; densities 
reported as average lot size and units per net acre 

Year built 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2007-2012 
Combined average lot size 4,035 2,754 2,480 4,620 3,729 3,448 3,429 

single family 5,897 5,515 5,381 6,320 5,314 6,091 5,766 
multifamily 1,490 908 700 1,258 1,456 607 1,041 

Combined average units/acre 16.6 31.9 41.6 16.2 17.1 38.3 24.5 
single family 7.4 7.9 8.1 6.9 8.2 7.2 7.6 
multifamily 29.2 48.0 62.2 34.6 29.9 71.8 41.8 

 

The highest density developments also tend to be the largest, so while there were many smaller low 
density developments the statistics are dominated by the large high density developments.  This pattern 
is clear in Figure 2 and Figure 3, which roughly mirror each other. 

 

Figure 2:  Net new multifamily units inside Metro UGB by density (2007-2012) 

 

0 

500 

1000 

1500 

2000 

2500 

3000 

3500 

4000 

4500 

N
um

be
r o

f u
ni

ts
 

Units per net acre 

Net new multifamily units by density  
(Metro UGB 2007-2012) 

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 4 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Figure 3:  Net new multifamily developments inside Metro UGB by density (2007-2012) 

 

 

Development trends by type of land 
The rest of this report further divides the statistics shown above into the three types of land that are 
accounted for in the buildable lands inventory: vacant, infill and redevelopment.   

Note: Infill and redevelopment generally refer to development that occurs on land that is already 
considered developed in the buildable lands inventory.  However, some of the development identified in 
this analysis as infill and redevelopment occurred on very large lots with a significant proportion of 
vacant land.  Lots that are at least 95% vacant are included as vacant land rather than developed in the 
buildable lands inventory.  Because the data used for this analysis are not directly comparable to the 
data used for the buildable lands inventory1, we have to create a proxy for these lots that are mostly 
vacant.  Lots that were at least five acres in size before subdivision, and had one single family house on 
them prior to the new development, have been moved to the vacant designation.  As an example, a five 
acre lot with 10,000 square feet delineated as developed would be just over 95% vacant. 

For the purposes of this analysis, the only difference between infill and redevelopment is whether the 
original structure is left standing when the new development occurs (if yes, then it is infill).  Infill 
accounted for about 20% of single family development, but less than 3% of multifamily units.  Many of 
the statistics in this report combine the two developed land types. 

1 By definition, development documented in this analysis did not occur on land in the 2014 UGR’s buildable land 
inventory. 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

N
um

be
r o

f d
ev

el
op

m
en

ts
 

Units per net acre 

Net new multifamily developments by density  
(Metro UGB 2007-2012) 

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 5 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Over the six year period from 2007 to 2012, redevelopment and infill accounted for about 58% of all 
residential units produced within the UGB, with around 42% developed on vacant land.  Single family 
houses were about evenly split, with 52% of units built on developed lots and 48% built on vacant lots.  
Multifamily units skewed more toward redevelopment, with about 64% of units built on developed land 
and 36% built on vacant land.  These shares are not directly comparable to the “refill rates” that have 
been reported in prior studies, due to changes in the definition of vacant and developed land (in 
particular partially vacant land) in the buildable lands inventory. 

Figure 4: Number of residential units by land source 

 

 

Figure 5: Number of housing units built on vacant and developed land, by housing type 

Year built 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2007-2012 
Single family 

       Redev/Infill 2,035 1,341 750 813 822 696 6,457 
Vacant 1,966 1,055 705 657 693 865 5,940 

Multifamily 
       Redev/Infill 1,798 2,243 1,897 409 679 709 7,735 

Vacant 1,129 1,340 474 334 378 743 4,398 
All residential units 

       Redev/Infill 3,833 3,584 2,647 1,222 1,501 1,405 14,192 
Vacant 3,095 2,395 1,179 991 1,071 1,608 10,338 

 

  

0 

500 

1,000 

1,500 

2,000 

2,500 

3,000 

3,500 

4,000 

4,500 

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

New Units by Land Type 
Redev/Infill 
Vacant 

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 6 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Figure 6: Number of housing units classified as infill, redevelopment and vacant, by housing type 

Year built 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2007-2012 
Infill 

       Single family 745 592 377 354 283 255 2,606 
Multifamily 157 103 28 17 13 28 346 

Redevelopment 
       Single family 1,290 749 373 459 539 441 3,851 

Multifamily 1,641 2,140 1,869 392 666 681 7,389 
Vacant 

       Single family 1,966 1,055 705 657 693 865 5,940 
Multifamily 1,129 1,340 474 334 378 743 4,398 

 

Single family houses categorized as infill and redevelopment were typically built on smaller lots 
compared to houses built on vacant land.  Figure 7 shows that the average lot size for a house built on 
vacant land was around 6,600 square feet from 2007 to 2012, while a house built on already developed 
land had an average lot size around 5,000 square feet.  For multifamily, units that were built on vacant 
land actually had a higher density than units on redeveloped land for 2007 and 2008.  However, this 
pattern reversed for 2009 to 2012, with redevelopment built at a higher density than vacant 
development. 

 

Figure 7: Average single family lot size by land source 

Year built 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2007-2012 
Redev/Infill 5,128 4,823 4,526 5,105 4,962 5,637 5,026 
Vacant 6,756 6,477 6,369 7,973 5,770 6,490 6,641 
All single family lots 5,897 5,515 5,381 6,320 5,314 6,091 5,766 
Average units/net acre 7.4 7.9 8.1 6.9 8.2 7.2 7.6 

  

Figure 8: Average multifamily lot size (i.e. land per unit) by land source 

Year built 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2007-2012 
Redev/Infill 1,576 940 615 1,208 995 551 992 
Vacant 1,353 855 1,039 1,319 2,285 659 1,128 
All multifamily units 1,490 908 700 1,258 1,456 607 1,041 
Average units/net acre 29.24 47.97 62.23 34.62 29.91 71.82 41.85 

 

  

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 7 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Development in UGB expansion areas 
The original Metro UGB was adopted in 1979. Since that time, over 31,000 acres have been added to 
accommodate residential and employment growth. From 2006 to 2012, 10,376 of the total 12,398 new 
single family units were built within the UGB as it existed in 1979.  2,022 single family units were built 
within areas added to the UGB since 1979. During that same time period, 12,075 of the 12,133 (nearly 
all) multifamily units were built within the 1979 UGB. 

Map 1 provides a visual depiction of the intensity of residential development activity inside the Metro 
UGB for a longer time period, from 1998 to 2012. From 1998 to 2012, 94% of the new residential units 
were built inside the original 1979 UGB. During these 14 years, post-1979 UGB expansion areas 
produced about 6,500 housing units while there were about 105,000 units produced in the original 1979 
UGB. With a couple of notable exceptions, UGB expansion areas have been slow to develop because of 
challenges with governance, planning, voter-approved annexation, infrastructure financing, service 
provision, and land assembly. 

Map 1: Intensity of residential development activity inside UGB 1998-2012 

 

  

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 8 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Single-family residential sales price statistics 
The following figures and tables summarize residential price trends inside the UGB. 

Figure 9: Average single-family residential sales price by county (inside UGB only) 

 

 

$0 

$50,000 

$100,000 

$150,000 

$200,000 

$250,000 

$300,000 

$350,000 

$400,000 

$450,000 

Sa
le

 p
ric

e 

Sale year 

Average sale price over time 
(Metro UGB, by county) 

Clackamas 

Multnomah 

Washington 

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 9 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Figure 10: Average single-family residential sales prices 2007-2012 by city (inside UGB only) 

 

 
 

$0 $100,000 $200,000 $300,000 $400,000 $500,000 $600,000 

Cornelius 
Gresham 

Troutdale 
Gladstone 
Milwaukie 

Fairview 
Hillsboro 

Forest Grove 
Oregon City 

Sherwood 
Beaverton 

UGB average 
Portland 

Tigard 
Damascus 

Tualatin 
Wilsonville 

Happy Valley 
West Linn 

Lake Oswego 

Average SF sale price 2007-2012 
(Metro UGB, selected cities) 

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 10 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Figure 11: Median single-family residential sales price by city (UGB only) over time 

 
 
 

$0 

$100,000 

$200,000 

$300,000 

$400,000 

$500,000 

$600,000 

$700,000 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 

Sa
le

 p
ric

e 

Sale year 

Median SF sale price over time 
(Metro UGB, selected cities) 

BEAVERTON 

GRESHAM 

HILLSBORO 

LAKE OSWEGO 

OREGON CITY 

PORTLAND 

SHERWOOD 

TIGARD 

WEST LINN 

UGB 

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 11 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Figure 12: Median single-family residential sales price for selected cities inside UGB (2007-2012) 

 
$0 $100,000 $200,000 $300,000 $400,000 $500,000 

Cornelius 
Gresham 
Fairview 

Troutdale 
Milwaukie 
Gladstone 

Forest Grove 
Hillsboro 

UGB average 
Oregon City 

Portland 
Beaverton 
Sherwood 

Tigard 
Damascus 

Tualatin 
Wilsonville 

Happy Valley 
West Linn 

Lake Oswego 

Median SF sale price 2007-2012 
(Metro UGB, selected cities) 

2014 Draft Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 5, Page 12 of 12

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 1 of 17 

Appendix 6 
Employment land demand analysis (revised 9/23/14) 

This revised draft incorporates a correction. This correction relates to lands added to the urban 
growth boundary by the Oregon Legislature in March 2014 under House Bill 4078. At the request of 
city of Forest Grove staff, this revised report counts lands added near Forest Grove as industrial rather 
than residential with a small amount of commercial. When the revised regional numbers are rounded 
at regional scale, this amounts to 200 additional acres of industrial land and 100 fewer acres of 
commercial land in the employment buildable land inventory. 

Background 
A healthy regional economy depends on many factors, including, for example, an educated workforce, 
positive national and global economic conditions, freight mobility, workers able to get to their jobs 
easily, access to specialized infrastructure, clustering of businesses to create markets and economic 
activity, and a buildable land supply to accommodate employment growth. This report assesses the final 
factor – the adequacy of employment land inside the urban growth boundary to accommodate 
anticipated job growth in the 2015 to 2035 timeframe. 

For this analysis, employment is divided into two general categories – general industrial and commercial. 
Demand for large industrial sites (over 25 net buildable acres per site) is described separately in 
Appendix 7. The approach for estimating the 20-year demand for industrial and commercial land 
(acreage) relies on a regional employment forecast by major economic sectors1 (NAICS). The sector 
details from this job forecast roll up into three categories each of industrial and commercial land 
demand. Industrial demand includes 1) general industrial manufacturing, 2) warehousing and 
distribution, and 3) tech / flex and business park. Commercial demand includes 1) office, 2) retail, and 3) 
institutional. 

The approach for estimating land supply (i.e., buildable land inventory measured in acres) includes 
various estimates of vacant land and identifying individual tax lots which have the potential to 
redevelop2. Additional steps are taken to “clean up” the inventory of vacant and redevelopable tax lots 
in order to account for environmental constraints and/or other issues that would make the tax lot 
entirely or partly undevelopable. This analysis concludes with a comparison of the land demand forecast 
and the supply / capacity estimates to determine whether a surplus or deficit exists for future 
commercial and industrial land needs. 

                                                           
1 See Appendices 1a, 1b, 1c, and 1d on the regional forecast for more specific forecast details, assumptions, inputs 
and growth scenario ranges. 
2 See Appendix 2 for details on the methodology for identifying the buildable land inventory and Appendix 3 for a 
summary of the inventory itself. 

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 2 of 17 

Notes and caveats 
• Demand for large industrial sites (sites over 25 net buildable acres) is described separately in 

Appendix 7. 
• The growing trend in some industry groups (such as warehousing / distribution, selected 

producer  goods industries and perhaps industries highly linked with maritime activities) toward 
increased mechanization and other labor saving techniques may underestimate land demand 
with this UGR analysis technique as industries that are becoming less reliant on employment 
may still actually have a need for more land. A methodology that utilizes employment growth 
(or loss) as an indicator (or driver) may incorrectly associate land demand. However, alternative 
land demand estimation methodologies are not well-defined at this time, so using the 
employment forecast remains the best practice. 

• The regional employment forecast could significantly diverge from future actual trends. The 
forecast is expressed as a range to acknowledge that uncertainty. 

• Factors (including future square foot per employee and floor area ratio) for conversion of 
employment forecasts to commercial and industrial land demand are based on what can be 
observed today and could be off significantly due to rapid technological change, other 
innovations and/or regulations in society that could cause these factors to shift significantly 
from current assumptions. 

• There are some rigid assumptions about the distribution of jobs by geographic subareas, 
building types, and Region 2040 land use design types (i.e., corridors, main streets, centers etc.) 
which could be relaxed based on MetroScope scenario information, but are presently fixed to 
historical distributions in the current analysis. 

General methodology: step by step instructions 
Figure 1 illustrates the following steps that are taken to compare supply and demand for employment 
land. 

1. Determine the portion of the regional MSA forecast that chooses to locate in the Metro UGB 
2. Assign forecasted jobs into six building types 
3. Apply square feet per employee assumptions to employment by building types and geographic 

location 
4. Distribute job forecast of six building types to subareas and 2040 land use design types 
5. (do not apply refill rate – infill redevelopment supply now handled by the buildable land 

inventory [BLI]) 
6. Assumptions for floor area ratios (FAR) applied to employment by building types and geographic 

locators  
7. Summarize building square footage demand 
8. Summarize acreage land demand 
9. UGR analysis comparing land demand and the buildable land inventory (BLI) supply / capacity 

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 3 of 17 

Figure 1: General approach for comparing supply and demand for employment land 

 

Methodology step by step 

Step 1: Capture rate and Metro UGB job forecast 
The regional MSA jobs forecast is a first step towards determining how much employment growth will 
locate inside the Metro urban growth boundary (UGB). A MetroScope Urban Growth Report (UGR) 
scenario (#1462) provides projections for employment by individual NAICS sectors so we can compute 
Metro UGB employment shares. Table 1 presents the MSA employment forecast (7-counties) and the 
projected share of jobs in the UGB for years 2015 and 2035. 

Table 1: MSA Employment Forecast at Midpoint of Range (source: Metro Regional Forecast – baseline trend scenario and 
MetroScope Scen. #1462)) 

 

2 Digit NAICS Sector 2010 2015 2035 2040 2015 2035 2040
11 & 21 Natural Resources                   1,070                 1,440              1,280              1,250        60% 73% 73%
23 Construction                        45,050               59,920             99,270             110,880    73% 72% 72%
31-33 Manufacturing, total                107,030              119,110           124,380           127,170    80% 78% 78%
42 Wholesale Trade                     53,230               60,220             79,550             82,720      84% 80% 80%
44-45 Retail Trade                        101,170              113,410           144,640           150,670    74% 70% 70%
22, 48-49 TWU                                 33,280               37,840             45,010             46,050      79% 77% 77%
51 Information                         22,460               23,470             35,570             38,310      82% 78% 78%
52   Finance & Insurance               39,960               42,580             48,340             50,980      82% 78% 78%
53   Real Estate                       21,950               23,080             27,200             27,750      82% 78% 78%
54   Pro., Sci., Tech.                 53,040               65,620             97,680             104,450    82% 78% 78%
55   Management of Companies 23,220               27,600             43,600             46,350      82% 78% 78%
56   Admin & Waste Mgmt.               51,550               68,370             110,390           119,670    82% 78% 78%
61   Education                         24,900               27,580             32,580             34,430      86% 83% 83%
62   Health Care                       114,480              127,860           194,880           206,340    80% 77% 77%
71   Arts, Entertain. & Rec.           13,640               16,660             21,830             22,730      74% 70% 70%
72   Accomm. & Food Ser.               80,830               94,030             122,270           128,280    74% 70% 70%
81 Other Services                      34,600               38,020             54,730             58,880      72% 71% 71%
92 Government 147,390              153,250           201,310           214,400    71% 72% 72%

TOTAL (excl. Natural Resources) 967,780              1,098,620        1,483,230        1,570,060  78% 75% 75%

Projected UGB Share RateTotal MSA Jobs

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 4 of 17 

The UGB share rate is simply calculated as follows: UGB jobs / MSA jobs. This is different than the 
capture rate, which describes the percent of new jobs that may locate in the Metro UGB. 

Table 2 summarizes the employment projections by sector for the Metro UGB. (Metro operated 
MetroScope – a land use real estate forecast distribution model – to estimate the amount of 
employment that chose to settle in the Metro UGB from 2010 to 2035.) 

(For brevity sake, in this section the methodology is illustrated using the baseline medium growth 
scenario. The same methodology is repeated for the high and low growth scenarios. The high growth 
forecast scenario will lead to more land demand while the low growth scenario will lead to a lower land 
demand result.) 

Table 2: Metro UGB Employment Forecast at Midpoint of Range (source: MetroScope Scen. #1462)) 

 

 
The formula for the capture rate is:  
Eq. (1):  Capture rate = (2035 job in UGB – 2015 job in UGB) / (2035 job in MSA – 2015 job in MSA) 
 
(Note: The capture rate formula is different than the annual share rate.) 
 
(Note: The annual employment shares and UGB capture rate figures change across different scenarios 
[as a scenario result, not as an input assumption]. This is calculated from a set of MetroScope scenarios 
that inform the location of where jobs will be situated either inside the Metro UGB or outside.) 
 
Using the formula (see equation 1) and employment data from Table 1 and Table 2 produces the 
capture rates by employment sector displayed in Figure 2. The capture rate is a computed variable and 

2 Digit NAICS Sector 2010 2015 2035 2040
11 & 21 Natural Resources                   644                          867                      937                      915             
23 Construction                        32,707                    43,503                71,598                79,972       
31-33 Manufacturing, total                85,377                    95,013                96,600                98,766       
42 Wholesale Trade                     44,819                    50,704                63,359                65,884       
44-45 Retail Trade                        74,678                    83,713                101,827              106,072     
22, 48-49 TWU                                 26,274                    29,875                34,633                35,433       
51 Information                         18,481                    19,312                27,886                30,034       
52   Finance & Insurance               32,881                    35,036                37,897                39,966       
53   Real Estate                       18,061                    18,991                21,324                21,755       
54   Pro., Sci., Tech.                 43,643                    53,995                76,577                81,885       
55   Management of Companies 19,106                    22,710                34,181                36,337       
56   Admin & Waste Mgmt.               42,417                    56,257                86,542                93,817       
61   Education                         21,297                    23,590                26,910                28,438       
62   Health Care                       92,115                    102,881              150,786              159,653     
71   Arts, Entertain. & Rec.           10,068                    12,297                15,368                16,002       
72   Accomm. & Food Ser.               59,664                    69,407                86,078                90,309       
81 Other Services                      25,034                    27,509                38,755                41,694       
92 Government 104,594                 108,753              143,968              153,329     

TOTAL (excl. Natural Resources) 751,862                 854,413              1,115,224          1,180,260 

Total Jobs estimated within UGB

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 5 of 17 

arrived at as a result of running a MetroScope scenario with a specified set of economic and 
demographic forecast assumptions and current land use policies and statewide regulations and seeing 
how the combination of these assumptions determine future development trends3. 

 

Figure 2: 2014 UGR Capture Rate Forecast Assumptions by Sector at forecast range midpoint (source: MetroScope Scen. 
#1462) 

 

Step 2: Summarize employment by NAICS4 into building types 
 

Table 3: Metro UGB Employment Forecast at Midpoint (source: MetroScope Scen. #1462) 

 
                                                           
3 Please see Appendix 11 for further MetroScope specification and forecast assumptions. 
4 NAICS stands for North American Industrial Classification System. It is a classification system to sort and organize 
employment into different industry categories based on similar production processes, technology and services. 

72%

65%

70%

62%

71%

72%

60%

62%

74%

74%

75%

73%

73%

65%

64%

68%

73%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Construction

Manufacturing

Wholesale

Retail

Transportation, Warehouse & Utilities

Information

Finance

Real Estate

Professional Services

Management

Admin, Waste

Education

Health & Social Services

Arts, Entertain, Rec

Accomm & Food Service

Other Services

Government

2015-35  Capture Rate Share of Metro UGB 
Employment by Industry Sector

Total Jobs in Metro UGB Change
Building Type 2010 2015 2035 2040 2015 - 2035 % APR
Office 253,506     290,162     392,878     418,186     102,717  1.5%
Institutional 100,636     109,678     150,766     159,925     41,089    1.6%
Flex 71,442        81,394        102,159     107,784     20,765    1.1%
General Industrial 87,557        100,094     120,108     126,557     20,014    0.9%
Warehousing/ Distribution 57,533        66,125        82,407        86,379        16,282    1.1%
Retail 180,544     206,095     265,969     280,514     59,875    1.3%

751,218     853,546     1,114,287  1,179,345  260,741  1.3%

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 6 of 17 

Total excludes jobs in natural resources (i.e., agriculture and mining) as they are tabulated outside the 
Metro UGB as non-urban employment. 

Table 3 is tallied from distributing individual NAICS employment (Metro UGB jobs) to each of the six 
building types.  

Table 4: Distribution of Employment by building type (source: E. D. Hovee & Company, LLC, 2009) 

 
(Note: the distribution of regional employment by building type does not change across scenarios.) 

Step 3: Square Feet per employee (SFE) assumptions 
Individual building types, firms, industries and densities vary substantially from place to place. Balancing 
between complexity and accuracy, this analysis divides the Metro UGB into 3 major subareas: a central 
hub, an inner ring and an outer ring. The hub and each ring reflect a different employment density 
assumption to reflect differences in building types, firms, industrial composition and land use patterns in 
each. Map 1 illustrates the geographic subareas of these rings. The following table shows the square 
feet per employee (SFE) assumptions, which have been vetted by a technical review panel. It is worth 
noting that the job forecast does not differentiate between full-time and part-time jobs. Part-time 
employees often share space with other employees on different shifts, which may reduce the SFE 
assumption below what may be observed anecdotally. 

NAICS Sectors Represented Office Institution Flex/BP
Gen 

Industrial
Ware-
house Retail check

11 & 21 Ag, Mining (excluded from UGB calc.)

23 Construction 14% 0% 18% 40% 18% 10% 100%

31-33 Manufacturing 8% 0% 24% 60% 8% 0% 100%

42 Wholesale Trade 8% 0% 22% 20% 40% 10% 100%

44-45 Retail Trade 5% 1% 6% 0% 12% 76% 100%

22, 48-49 Transportation, Warehouse & Utilities 15% 0% 12% 13% 55% 5% 100%

51 Information 25% 0% 25% 40% 0% 10% 100%

52 Finance 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 20% 100%

53 Real Estate 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 20% 100%

54 Professional Services 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 20% 100%

55 Management 79% 5% 8% 0% 0% 8% 100%

56 Admin, Waste 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 20% 100%

61 Education 30% 53% 5% 1% 1% 10% 100%

62 Health & Social Services 30% 53% 2% 0% 0% 15% 100%

71 Arts, Entertain, Rec 35% 0% 10% 0% 0% 55% 100%

72 Accomm & Food Service 20% 1% 7% 1% 1% 70% 100%

81 Other Services 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 20% 100%

92 Government 43% 35% 5% 1% 1% 15% 100%

Distribution of Employment to building type

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 7 of 17 

Table 5: Square Foot per Employee Forecast Assumptions (updated by technical review panel) 

 
(Note: Square foot per employee assumptions – SFE for short – do not vary across scenarios.) 

Map 1: Market Subareas (used in calculating and summarizing employment land need analysis) 

 

CENTRAL AREA
2009 UGR 2014 UGR

General Industrial 925                    925                  ind
Warehousing/ Distribution 800                    800                  ind

Flex 600                    600                  ind

Office 350                    300                  com

Retail 475                    425                  com

Institutional 600                    450                  com

100%
INNER RING

2009 UGR 2014 UGR

General Industrial 800                    800                  ind

Warehousing/ Distribution 1,250                1,250              ind

Flex 625                    625                  ind

Office 375                    300                  com

Retail 500                    450                  com

Institutional 625                    500                  com

100%
OUTER RING

2009 UGR 2014 UGR

General Industrial 600                    600                  ind

Warehousing/ Distribution 1,850                1,850              ind

Flex 990                    990                  ind

Office 375                    350                  com

Retail 550                    500                  com

Institutional 650                    600                  com

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 8 of 17 

Step 4: Distribute UGB employment forecast to subareas and design types 
Information about employment forecast distribution to different subareas and design types is too 
detailed to summarize in this report, but the spreadsheet for these calculations may be provided upon 
request. This step takes the Metro UGB forecast by building type (shown in step two) and further 
disaggregates those figures into an employment forecast arrayed (9 by 8 matrix) by subareas (see Map 
1) and 2040 land use design types for each of the six building types. 

Step 5: Apply refill rate (NOT USED IN THIS ANALYSIS) 
This step was used in past UGR analyses, but has been eliminated in the 2014 UGR. Instead, 
redevelopment supply is included in the buildable land inventory. The refill rate, formerly, was applied to 
the land demand forecast. For example, a general refill rate of 40 percent would reduce the amount of 
land need by 40 percent; the supply that the need would have been compared against would have 
excluded any direct measurement of redevelopment supply. Hence the old methodology compared a net 
demand (less refill) against vacant industrial and employment land supply. 

Step 6: Apply FAR assumptions to employment forecast (by geographic subareas and 2040 
land use design types) 
Floor-area ratios (FAR) are used to describe site utilization. See Figure 3 for examples of different FAR 
concepts. FARs vary for different uses. For brevity, we show the FAR projections for each building type 
as follows with each arrayed by subareas (central, inner Westside, inner north & east, inner Clackamas, 
inner I-5, outer Westside, east Multnomah county, outer Clackamas, and outer I-5/I-205) and by 2040 
design types (central city, corridors, regional centers, town centers, RSIA, industrial, employment, other 
neighborhoods). These FAR assumptions were vetted by a technical group consisting of public and 
private sector experts in industrial and commercial development.5 

                                                           
5 A list of members from various technical review committees are shown at the end of the UGR summary 
document. 

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 9 of 17 

Figure 3: Illustration of floor-area ratio (FAR) 

 

 

Floor Area Ratio Forecast Assumptions: 
 

Table 6: General Industrial (Manufacturing) FAR 

 

Table 7: Warehouse and Distribution FAR 

  

Subareas Central Corridors
Regional 

Center Town Center RSIA Industrial Employment Other

Central 1.00               1.00                      0.50                      0.60                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      
Inner Westside 1.00               0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner North & East 1.00               1.00                      0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner Clackamas 1.00               0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner I-5 1.00               0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Outer Westside 1.00               0.30                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
East Mult Co 1.00               0.30                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
Outer Clackamas 1.00               0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
Outer I-5/205 1.00               0.30                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      

Subareas Central Corridors
Regional 

Center Town Center RSIA Industrial Employment Other

Central 1.00               1.00                      0.50                      0.60                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      
Inner Westside 1.00               0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner North & East 1.00               1.00                      0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.25                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner Clackamas 1.00               0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.25                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner I-5 1.00               0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Outer Westside 1.00               0.30                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
East Mult Co 1.00               0.30                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
Outer Clackamas 1.00               0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
Outer I-5/205 1.00               0.30                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 10 of 17 

Table 8: Tech/Flex and business parks FAR 

 

Table 9: Office FAR 

 

Table 10: Retail FAR 

 

Table 11: Institutional FAR 

 

(Note: FAR assumptions do not vary across scenarios.) 

Step 8: Summarize land demand (in acres) 
The demand forecast by building type is into two categories such that: 

• industrial = general manufacturing + warehouse & distribution + tech flex 
• commercial = office +  retail + institutional. 

Subareas Central Corridors
Regional 

Center Town Center RSIA Industrial Employment Other

Central 1.00               1.00                      0.50                      0.60                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      
Inner Westside 1.00               0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner North & East 1.00               1.00                      0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.25                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner Clackamas 1.00               0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.25                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner I-5 1.00               0.30                      0.60                      0.60                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Outer Westside 1.00               0.30                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
East Mult Co 1.00               0.30                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
Outer Clackamas 1.00               0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
Outer I-5/205 1.00               0.30                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      

Subareas Central Corridors
Regional 

Center Town Center RSIA Industrial Employment Other

Central 1.00               5.00                      0.75                      0.60                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      
Inner Westside 1.00               0.45                      0.60                      0.60                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner North & East 1.00               3.00                      0.60                      0.60                      0.60                      0.40                      0.40                      0.40                      0.30                      
Inner Clackamas 1.00               0.45                      0.60                      0.60                      0.25                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner I-5 1.00               0.45                      0.60                      0.60                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Outer Westside 1.00               0.45                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
East Mult Co 1.00               0.45                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
Outer Clackamas 1.00               0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
Outer I-5/205 1.00               0.45                      0.50                      0.50                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      

Subareas Central Corridors
Regional 

Center Town Center RSIA Industrial Employment Other

Central 1.00               1.00                      0.40                      0.40                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      
Inner Westside 1.00               0.35                      0.45                      0.40                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner North & East 1.00               1.00                      0.35                      0.45                      0.40                      0.25                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner Clackamas 1.00               0.35                      0.45                      0.40                      0.25                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Inner I-5 1.00               0.35                      0.45                      0.40                      0.30                      0.30                      0.30                      
Outer Westside 1.00               0.30                      0.45                      0.40                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
East Mult Co 1.00               0.30                      0.45                      0.40                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
Outer Clackamas 1.00               0.40                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      
Outer I-5/205 1.00               0.30                      0.45                      0.40                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      

Subareas Central Corridors
Regional 

Center Town Center RSIA Industrial Employment Other

Central 1.00               5.00                      0.75                      0.90                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      0.50                      
Inner Westside 1.00               0.45                      0.90                      0.90                      0.30                      0.30                      0.60                      
Inner North & East 1.00               5.00                      0.60                      0.90                      0.90                      0.40                      0.40                      0.40                      0.80                      
Inner Clackamas 1.00               0.45                      0.90                      0.90                      0.25                      0.30                      0.30                      0.60                      
Inner I-5 1.00               0.45                      0.90                      0.90                      0.30                      0.30                      0.60                      
Outer Westside 1.00               0.45                      0.75                      0.75                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.50                      
East Mult Co 1.00               0.45                      0.75                      0.75                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.50                      
Outer Clackamas 1.00               0.75                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.50                      
Outer I-5/205 1.00               0.45                      0.75                      0.75                      0.25                      0.25                      0.25                      0.50                      

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 11 of 17 

The land demand forecast is tabulated for industrial and commercial and each is arrayed by nine 
subareas and eight design types (see Table 13). Table 13 shows results from the baseline medium 
growth scenario which details the number of acres demand between 2015 and 2035. 

Similar tables for the high and low growth forecast scenario alternatives are depicted in Table 14 and 
Table 15. Table 12 summarizes the total forecast demand (in acres) for all 3 scenarios, with demand 
divided into industrial (i.e., manufacturing, warehousing/distribution and tech/flex) and commercial 
demand (i.e, retail, office and institutional). 

Table 12: Summary of industrial and commercial land demand 2015 -2035 for the Metro urban growth boundary 

Scenario Alternative Industrial Demand (acres) Commercial Demand (acres) 
High Growth Forecast 6,491 5,727 
Medium Growth Forecast 3,778 3,565 
Low Growth Forecast 1,236 1,356 
 

 

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 12 of 17 

Table 13: Baseline - medium growth forecast scenario 

 

Scenario: MetroScope UGR Forecast Scenario medium scenario

Step 8 Summary: Total New Demand (ignoring vintage abandonment and refill) in Acres

All Uses Combined

 Subareas 
 Subarea 

Total  Central   Corridors 
 Regional 

Center  Town Center  RSIA  Industrial  Employment  Other 

Central 644                     238                     35                       -                     3                         20                       15                       131                     202                     
Inner Westside 1,112                 -                     310                     66                       109                     -                     83                       126                     419                     
Inner North & East 1,923                 1                         410                     63                       48                       910                     63                       108                     320                     
Inner Clackamas 606                     -                     160                     61                       26                       106                     72                       46                       135                     
Inner I-5 481                     -                     95                       42                       50                       -                     6                         135                     153                     
Outer Westside 791                     -                     164                     68                       21                       10                       331                     60                       136                     
East Mult Co 684                     -                     39                       40                       18                       78                       175                     50                       285                     
Outer Clackamas 17                       -                     -                     -                     2                         1                         2                         4                         8                         
Outer I-5/205 1,085                 -                     133                     17                       68                       4                         331                     310                     222                     
Total 7,343                 238                     1,346                 357                     345                     1,130                 1,077                 971                     1,879                 

Central 644                     
Inner Ring 4,122                 
Outer Ring 2,577                 

INDUSTRIAL BUILDING TYPES

 Subareas 
 Subarea 

Total  Central   Corridors 
 Regional 

Center  Town Center  RSIA  Industrial  Employment  Other 

Central 194                     113                     11                       -                     1                         8                         8                         11                       43                       
Inner Westside 525                     -                     171                     26                       18                       -                     61                       78                       171                     
Inner North & East 1,126                 1                         137                     9                         4                         779                     54                       54                       88                       
Inner Clackamas 319                     -                     96                       9                         4                         89                       55                       23                       43                       
Inner I-5 172                     -                     34                       14                       12                       -                     5                         62                       45                       
Outer Westside 492                     -                     83                       13                       6                         7                         289                     42                       51                       
East Mult Co 341                     -                     11                       12                       6                         54                       125                     41                       91                       
Outer Clackamas 10                       -                     -                     -                     1                         1                         1                         2                         5                         
Outer I-5/205 599                     -                     55                       8                         28                       3                         274                     167                     64                       
Total 3,778                 114                     599                     91                       80                       941                     872                     480                     602                     

Central 194                     
Inner Ring 2,142                 
Outer Ring 1,442                 

NON-INDUSTRIAL BUILDING TYPES

 Subareas 
 Subarea 

Total  Central   Corridors 
 Regional 

Center  Town Center  RSIA  Industrial  Employment  Other 

Central 450                     125                     23                       -                     2                         12                       7                         120                     160                     
Inner Westside 587                     -                     139                     40                       91                       -                     21                       48                       248                     
Inner North & East 797                     0                         273                     53                       44                       131                     8                         55                       232                     
Inner Clackamas 287                     -                     65                       53                       21                       17                       17                       22                       92                       
Inner I-5 310                     -                     61                       28                       38                       -                     2                         73                       108                     
Outer Westside 299                     -                     81                       55                       15                       4                         42                       18                       84                       
East Mult Co 343                     -                     27                       28                       12                       24                       50                       8                         193                     
Outer Clackamas 7                         -                     -                     -                     1                         0                         1                         2                         3                         
Outer I-5/205 486                     -                     78                       9                         39                       1                         57                       144                     158                     
Total 3,565                 125                     747                     266                     265                     189                     206                     490                     1,277                 

Central 450                     
Inner Ring 1,980                 
Outer Ring 1,135                 

Net Change: 2015-2035

B
as

el
in

e 
- M

ed
iu

m
 G

ro
w

th
 S

ce
na

rio

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 13 of 17 

Table 14: High Growth Forecast Scenario Alternative 

 

Scenario: MetroScope UGR Forecast Scenario high scenario

Step 8 Summary: Total New Demand (ignoring vintage abandonment and refill) in Acres

All Uses Combined

 Subareas 
 Subarea 

Total  Central   Corridors 
 Regional 

Center  Town Center  RSIA  Industrial  Employment  Other 

Central 1,059                 394                     59                       -                     5                         35                       27                       207                     333                     
Inner Westside 1,875                 -                     528                     111                     171                     -                     144                     224                     698                     
Inner North & East 3,168                 1                         654                     98                       75                       1,524                 111                     180                     525                     
Inner Clackamas 1,014                 -                     269                     96                       41                       177                     127                     79                       225                     
Inner I-5 803                     -                     158                     68                       82                       -                     11                       232                     252                     
Outer Westside 1,353                 -                     270                     108                     34                       16                       598                     105                     222                     
East Mult Co 1,123                 -                     60                       64                       28                       130                     298                     82                       459                     
Outer Clackamas 28                       -                     -                     -                     3                         2                         3                         6                         14                       
Outer I-5/205 1,795                 -                     213                     28                       110                     7                         563                     514                     360                     
Total 12,218               395                     2,211                 573                     549                     1,892                 1,882                 1,629                 3,087                 

Central 1,059                 
Inner Ring 6,860                 
Outer Ring 4,299                 

INDUSTRIAL BUILDING TYPES

 Subareas 
 Subarea 

Total  Central   Corridors 
 Regional 

Center  Town Center  RSIA  Industrial  Employment  Other 

Central 347                     199                     21                       -                     1                         14                       14                       20                       79                       
Inner Westside 923                     -                     307                     45                       30                       -                     108                     143                     290                     
Inner North & East 1,898                 1                         233                     15                       6                         1,305                 98                       90                       150                     
Inner Clackamas 555                     -                     169                     14                       7                         149                     97                       42                       76                       
Inner I-5 297                     -                     58                       23                       20                       -                     8                         109                     78                       
Outer Westside 872                     -                     143                     21                       10                       10                       525                     77                       86                       
East Mult Co 570                     -                     18                       19                       10                       90                       213                     69                       151                     
Outer Clackamas 17                       -                     -                     -                     1                         1                         2                         3                         9                         
Outer I-5/205 1,012                 -                     92                       14                       46                       5                         465                     283                     106                     
Total 6,491                 200                     1,042                 151                     133                     1,573                 1,531                 836                     1,025                 

Central 347                     
Inner Ring 3,673                 
Outer Ring 2,470                 

NON-INDUSTRIAL BUILDING TYPES

 Subareas 
 Subarea 

Total  Central   Corridors 
 Regional 

Center  Town Center  RSIA  Industrial  Employment  Other 

Central 712                     195                     38                       -                     4                         22                       13                       187                     254                     
Inner Westside 952                     -                     221                     66                       141                     -                     36                       81                       407                     
Inner North & East 1,270                 0                         421                     83                       69                       219                     14                       90                       374                     
Inner Clackamas 460                     -                     100                     82                       34                       29                       29                       37                       149                     
Inner I-5 505                     -                     100                     45                       62                       -                     3                         122                     174                     
Outer Westside 481                     -                     127                     87                       24                       6                         73                       28                       136                     
East Mult Co 553                     -                     42                       45                       18                       40                       85                       13                       309                     
Outer Clackamas 11                       -                     -                     -                     1                         0                         1                         3                         5                         
Outer I-5/205 783                     -                     121                     14                       64                       2                         97                       232                     253                     
Total 5,727                 195                     1,169                 422                     416                     318                     352                     794                     2,062                 

Central 712                     
Inner Ring 3,187                 
Outer Ring 1,828                 

Net Change: 2015-2035

H
ig

h 
G

ro
w

th
 S

ce
na

rio
 A

lte
rn

at
iv

e

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 14 of 17 

Table 15: Low Growth Forecast Scenario Alternative 

 

Scenario: MetroScope UGR Forecast Scenario low scenario

Step 8 Summary: Total New Demand (ignoring vintage abandonment and refill) in Acres

All Uses Combined

 Subareas 
 Subarea 

Total  Central   Corridors 
 Regional 

Center  Town Center  RSIA  Industrial  Employment  Other 

Central 232                     85                       10                       -                     1                         5                         3                         54                       73                       
Inner Westside 369                     -                     100                     22                       46                       -                     24                       33                       143                     
Inner North & East 715                     0                         169                     26                       20                       328                     17                       39                       115                     
Inner Clackamas 210                     -                     57                       27                       10                       38                       21                       13                       45                       
Inner I-5 164                     -                     33                       16                       19                       -                     2                         42                       53                       
Outer Westside 250                     -                     61                       27                       9                         5                         81                       16                       50                       
East Mult Co 254                     -                     17                       16                       8                         27                       56                       19                       110                     
Outer Clackamas 6                         -                     -                     -                     1                         0                         1                         1                         3                         
Outer I-5/205 394                     -                     54                       6                         26                       1                         110                     112                     83                       
Total 2,592                 85                       502                     141                     140                     404                     315                     329                     676                     

Central 232                     
Inner Ring 1,457                 
Outer Ring 903                     

INDUSTRIAL BUILDING TYPES

 Subareas 
 Subarea 

Total  Central   Corridors 
 Regional 

Center  Town Center  RSIA  Industrial  Employment  Other 

Central 51                       33                       2                         -                     0                         2                         2                         3                         9                         
Inner Westside 154                     -                     45                       8                         6                         -                     18                       19                       59                       
Inner North & East 402                     0                         47                       3                         1                         287                     14                       20                       30                       
Inner Clackamas 99                       -                     27                       4                         1                         33                       15                       6                         12                       
Inner I-5 54                       -                     12                       5                         4                         -                     1                         18                       13                       
Outer Westside 137                     -                     27                       6                         2                         4                         70                       9                         19                       
East Mult Co 125                     -                     4                         5                         3                         20                       42                       16                       35                       
Outer Clackamas 3                         -                     -                     -                     0                         0                         0                         1                         2                         
Outer I-5/205 211                     -                     20                       3                         12                       1                         94                       57                       24                       
Total 1,236                 33                       184                     34                       30                       347                     256                     148                     204                     

Central 51                       
Inner Ring 709                     
Outer Ring 476                     

NON-INDUSTRIAL BUILDING TYPES

 Subareas 
 Subarea 

Total  Central   Corridors 
 Regional 

Center  Town Center  RSIA  Industrial  Employment  Other 

Central 181                     53                       8                         -                     1                         3                         2                         52                       63                       
Inner Westside 214                     -                     56                       14                       39                       -                     6                         15                       84                       
Inner North & East 313                     0                         122                     23                       19                       41                       3                         19                       85                       
Inner Clackamas 111                     -                     29                       23                       9                         4                         5                         7                         33                       
Inner I-5 110                     -                     21                       11                       14                       -                     1                         24                       40                       
Outer Westside 113                     -                     35                       22                       7                         1                         11                       7                         31                       
East Mult Co 129                     -                     13                       11                       5                         7                         14                       3                         75                       
Outer Clackamas 2                         -                     -                     -                     0                         0                         0                         1                         1                         
Outer I-5/205 183                     -                     34                       4                         15                       0                         16                       54                       59                       
Total 1,356                 53                       317                     107                     110                     57                       59                       181                     472                     

Central 181                     
Inner Ring 747                     
Outer Ring 427                     

Net Change: 2015-2035

Lo
w

 G
ro

w
th

 S
ce

na
rio

 A
lte

rn
at

iv
e

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 15 of 17 

Urban Growth Report Non-Residential Land Need Analysis 
Under the baseline growth forecast, surpluses are shown for industrial and commercial need for the 
next 20 years (2015 to 2035). There are deficits for industrial and commercial land under the high 
growth forecast. 

Table 16: Baseline – Medium Growth Forecast UGR Needs Assessment (Supply and Demand) 

 

• It should also be noted that a significant share of industrial redevelopment supply (potential) 
was shifted to commercial supply. This is an economic and real estate dynamic that can be 
observed in modeling as well as real life. Abandoned industrial sites that have the potential to 
be redeveloped - according to the forecast – in fact may not redevelop as future industrial uses 
but develop instead as future commercial uses6. This is reflected in the “transfer” of part of the 

                                                           
6 A review of current employment counts for industrial areas in the region indicate a 50/50 mix of industrial and 
commercial jobs in industrial districts. Measured in terms of developed land area currently occupied by a business, 
the same 50/50 ratio exists. Firms operating in industrial district, regardless of employment type (i.e., commercial 
or industrial) exhibit the same job density of about 14 ½ jobs per acre. 

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 16 of 17 

redevelopment BLI from industrial into commercial as shown in the adjusted analysis (see 
Appendix 8 for additional information about this trend). 

• Note the reduction made to the industrial redevelopment supply in the adjusted analysis. To say 
it is redevelopable from only a supply-side analysis is insufficient. The rationale for this “supply 
correction” is that it is not sufficient to just estimate the potential for redevelopment based on 
just supply assumptions, but it is also necessary to consider sufficiency of demand before we 
count this as supply for the BLI. 

Tables 17 and 18 depict the UGR results of a high and low growth forecast scenario alternative, 
respectively. 

Table 17: High Growth Forecast Scenario UGR Needs Assessment 

 

 

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 
 

  Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
  Appendix 6, Page 17 of 17 

Table 18: Low Growth Forecast Scenario UGR Needs Assessment  

 

 

Table 19: UGR Needs Assessment Summary Table (acres) 

Scenario Alternative Industrial SUPPLY Industrial DEMAND Net (surplus/deficit) 
High Growth Forecast 5,200 6,500 -1,300 (deficit) 
Medium Forecast 5,200 3,800  +1,400 (surplus) 
Low Growth Forecast 6,000 1,200 +4,800 (surplus) 
    
    

Scenario Alternative Commercial SUPPLY Commercial DEMAND Net (surplus/deficit) 
High Growth Forecast 5,000 5,700 -700 (deficit) 
Medium Forecast 4,400 3,600 + 800 (surplus) 
Low Growth Forecast 4,100 1,400 2,700 (surplus) 
 

 

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Appendix 7 
Large industrial site demand analysis 

Introduction 
A strong regional economy that provides job choices and prosperity is an important part of quality of 
life. The economic position of the Portland metropolitan region is partially dependent upon global 
factors as the world shifts towards new market realities. However, local and regional choices can shape 
this region’s place in the global economy. Regional leaders have identified the recruitment and retention 
of large traded-sector industrial firms as a priority. The availability of development-ready sites is one 
element of this strategy. This appendix describes the methods used to estimate future demand for large 
industrial sites (over 25 net buildable acres). An inventory of large industrial sites is being completed for 
Metro and several public and private-sector partners by the consulting firm, Mackenzie. The inventory 
will be summarized in a separate documented that is expected to be complete by fall 2014. 

Caveats and assumptions 
State land use laws require that UGB expansions be based on demonstrated needs for additional land. 
However, demand for large sites will depend on the decisions of individual firms, so need is inherently 
difficult to forecast for this use. A regional employment forecast cannot predict which firms could be 
recruited or which existing firms could expand in the future or which specific sites they may prefer. A 
regional employment forecast can only provide a general framework for understanding potential 
demand for large sites. When it comes to large industrial sites, this question would be more 
appropriately handled as a policy or value statement rather than a technical demand analysis. However, 
this analysis, with its limitations, is the best available analysis of potential needs. Given this uncertainty, 
the range forecast for demand is appropriate. Caveats include: 

• This analysis assumes that firm size is an indicator of site size needs. In reality some large firms 
use small sites and some small firms use large sites. A separate analysis finds that the 
correlation between firm size and site size is weak. Nevertheless, a positive relationship 
between firm size and site size is asserted for purposes of this assessment. 

• This analysis assumes that the current distribution of firm sizes will be the same in the future. It 
is unknown whether future firms will be bigger or smaller than the current firm size distribution. 

• As described in the Regional Industrial Site Readiness project, large industrial firms operate on 
quick site selection timeframes. These firms are looking for development ready sites. No amount 
of land will address potential demand if the public and private sector do not work together to 
make that land development ready.  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 7, Page 1 of 5

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



• This analysis assumes that each NAICS employment category can be mapped to a single primary 
building type. In reality, one type of employment (e.g., manufacturing) could locate in several 
different building types. 

• This analysis assumes that each building type can be represented by average values for square 
foot per employee (SFE), floor area ratio (FAR), and consequently, jobs per acre (jobs/acre = 
FAR*43560 / SFE). In reality, there will be variation, particularly since this is intended to 
understand demand from a narrow subset of the firms. 

• This analysis assumes that the UGB capture rate from the regional forecast is 75% of new jobs. 
Particularly when it comes to large industrial firms, there may be good policy reasons for striving 
to attract a different share. 

Methods 
This analysis starts with the regional jobs forecast for the next 20 years (2015 to 2035).  Each 
employment sector in the forecast is assigned to a single primary building type.  In reality, employment 
can locate in any type of building depending on the circumstances, but the building type assignments 
here are made to represent an expected average density for the industry. Given the focus of regional 
and state economic development efforts, this analysis is limited to employment that may locate in three 
industrial building types – industrial manufacturing, warehouse/distribution, and tech/flex business 
park. 

The employment forecast is converted to an establishment forecast using the 2012 distribution of firm 
sizes in the confidential QCEW employment data for the UGB.  The establishment size distribution is 
specific to each building type, and therefore to the group of industries that are assigned to that building 
type.  Then each projected new establishment is assigned to a predicted lot size bin based on the 
number of employees and the employment density assumptions (FAR, SFE) of the building type.   

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 7, Page 2 of 5

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Conversion of employment sectors to building types 

NAICS Sectors 
Primary 
building type 

11 & 21 Ag, Mining (excluded from UGB calc.) NA 
23 Construction Mfg industrial 
31-33 Manufacturing Mfg industrial 
334 High tech manufacturing Flex/BP 
42 Wholesale Trade Warehouse 
44-45 Retail Trade Retail 
22, 48-49 Transportation, Warehouse & Utilities Warehouse 
51 Information Office 
52 Finance Office 
53 Real Estate Office 
54 Professional Services Office 
55 Management Office 
56 Admin, Waste Office 
61 Education Institution 
62 Health & Social Services Institution 
71 Arts, Entertain, Rec Retail 
72 Accomm & Food Service Retail 
81 Other Services Office 

 
Government Split 

 
Gov: NAICS 61-62 Institution 

 
Gov: all other NAICS Office 

 

Employment and building density assumptions by relevant building type 

Building type SFE FAR Jobs/acre 
Mfg industrial 780 0.3 16.75 
Warehouse 1,300 0.25 8.38 
Flex/BP 740 0.3 17.66 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 7, Page 3 of 5

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



UGB employment forecast by building type, assuming a 75% capture rate of the regional forecast 

Low growth 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 

20-year 
change 

(2015 to 
2035) 

Flex/BP 23,363 22,523 22,328 22,260 22,643 -720 
Mfg industrial 87,368 87,255 85,688 86,063 85,058 -2,310 

Warehouse 69,810 76,410 80,153 83,933 87,225 17,415 

Total 180,541 186,188 188,169 192,256 194,926 14,385 

              

Medium 
growth 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 

20-year 
change 

(2015 to 
2035) 

Flex/BP 27,315 30,248 32,198 33,293 35,483 8,168 
Mfg industrial 106,958 116,438 120,060 126,555 132,248 25,290 

Warehouse 73,545 81,083 85,193 89,483 93,420 19,875 

Total 207,818 227,769 237,451 249,331 261,151 53,333 

              

High growth 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 

20-year 
change 

(2015 to 
2035) 

Flex/BP 31,268 37,980 42,068 44,325 48,330 17,063 
Mfg industrial 126,540 145,643 154,418 167,003 179,445 52,905 

Warehouse 77,288 85,740 90,218 95,048 99,615 22,328 

Total 235,096 269,363 286,704 306,376 327,390 92,296 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 7, Page 4 of 5

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



20-year UGB demand for sites by building type and lot size by growth forecast 

Low growth forecast 

Building type 
25 to 49 

acres 
50 to 99 

acres 100 acres + 
Total 
sites 

Flex/BP 0 0 0 0 
Mfg industrial 0 0 0 0 
Warehouse 5 2 1 8 

Total 5 2 1 8 

          

Medium growth forecast 

Building type 
25 to 49 

acres 
50 to 99 

acres 100 acres + 
Total 
sites 

Flex/BP 4 1 1 6 
Mfg industrial 4 1 0 5 
Warehouse 6 3 1 10 

Total 14 5 2 21 

        
 

High growth forecast 

Building type 
25 to 49 

acres 
50 to 99 

acres 100 acres + 
Total 
sites 

Flex/BP 8 2 2 12 
Mfg industrial 7 3 1 11 

Warehouse 7 3 1 11 

Total 22 8 4 34 
 

Conclusion 
Retaining the detail about building types and site sizes in a statement of 20-year regional need implies more 
certainty and precision than is appropriate for this kind of analysis. Because of all of the caveats and limitations 
associated with this analysis, a more general statement about potential demand for large industrial sites is 
appropriate.  

With the assumptions made in this analysis, there is a potential regional 20-year demand for 8 to 34 large (over 
25 net buildable acres) industrial sites. 

The supply (inventory) of large industrial sites inside the UGB will be described in a separate document that is 
being completed by the consulting firm Mackenzie. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 7, Page 5 of 5

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Appendix 8 
Employment trends 

Introduction 
This report is intended to provide additional understanding of the employment trends that have been 
occurring inside the Metro urban growth boundary from 2006-2012 (the last analysis completed 
included data through 2006). This report includes information about overall employment levels, 
employment by sector, and employment location trends. 

This analysis is primarily focused on employment trends over the last seven years, and relies on 
geocoded employment data from the Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages for the years 2006 
and 2012.  

Overall employment 
Tri-county total employment is essentially unchanged from 2006 to 2012.  The number of jobs in the 
region reached a peak in late 2007 to early 2008, just before the Great Recession hit.  After hitting a low 
point in late 2009, the region returned to positive employment growth in 2010, and finally surpassed the 
pre-recession peak in 2013.   

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 1 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Figure 1: Three county covered employment (1990 to 2012) 

 

Source: OLMIS 

Data limitations 
The Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW) is the best available source of detailed 
employment data for the region.  The confidential disaggregate data from the QCEW program allow for 
analysis of employment sectors and subareas throughout the region, however, the data set has some 
limitations that should be kept in mind.  QCEW includes all employment that is covered by 
unemployment insurance, comprising about 99.7 percent of all wage and salary employment.  There are 
some significant exclusions from the program though, including the self-employed, agricultural workers, 
military, railroad employees and other categories of workers.  In addition, participating employers have 
some flexibility in how they report the location and sector of employment, which may lead to 
inconsistencies in the data over time.  There are two significant potential sources of error related to this 
issue: 

(1) The NAICS code is self-reported, so employers may change their NAICS designation(s) over time 
for a variety of reasons.  Some employers have multiple records at the same address, so that 
each reporting unit can be assigned the most appropriate NAICS designation.  As employers fine-

-8% 

-6% 

-4% 

-2% 

0% 

2% 

4% 

6% 

8% 

500,000 

550,000 

600,000 

650,000 

700,000 

750,000 

800,000 

850,000 

900,000 

19
90

 

19
91

 

19
92

 

19
93

 

19
94

 

19
95

 

19
96

 

19
97

 

19
98

 

19
99

 

20
00

 

20
01

 

20
02

 

20
03

 

20
04

 

20
05

 

20
06

 

20
07

 

20
08

 

20
09

 

20
10

 

20
11

 

20
12

 

Y-o-Y growth rate 
Employment 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 2 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



tune their reporting for unemployment insurance purposes, comparisons over time may show 
shifts in the regional industry mix that do not represent any real changes in the jobs that people 
are doing. 

(2)  Firms that have employees spread across multiple site (for example, a large retail chain) 
typically report each location as a separate establishment.  The multi-establishment reporting 
may not be consistent across different data sets, and has generally tended toward more detail 
over time.  These inconsistencies may result in geographic shifts in the employment data when 
there have not been any real changes in where jobs are located. 

Employment by industry 
Total employment in the region was essentially unchanged in 2012 compared to 2006, though the Great 
Recession did lead to some major changes across industries.  Private education recorded the highest 
growth rate at 25.4 percent over the period, while health and social assistance employers saw the 
largest net gain in employment, with just over 14,000 jobs added.  Construction saw the largest decline, 
with a loss of around 9,600 jobs, or 20.2 percent of jobs in the industry as of 2006.  The loss of 
construction jobs is indicative of the housing crash that brought residential construction nearly to a halt 
for several years. 

Table 1: Three county employment by sector 

General 
Sector NAICS Industry 2006 Emp 2012 Emp 

Net 
Change 

% 
Change AAGR 

    Total 832,364 831,184 -1,180 -0.1 % 0.0 % 
  11, 21 Ag & Mining 10,106 8,907 -1,199 -11.9 % -2.1 % 
  23 Construction 47,607 37,972 -9,635 -20.2 % -3.7 % 

Industrial 31-33 Manufacturing 103,959 94,148 -9,811 -9.4 % -1.6 % 
  42 Wholesale 51,500 49,087 -2,413 -4.7 % -0.8 % 
  22, 48-49 Trans, Warehousing & Utilities 31,779 28,197 -3,582 -11.3 % -2.0 % 

Retail 44-45 Retail 86,921 84,475 -2,446 -2.8 % -0.5 % 
  51 Information 20,480 19,823 -657 -3.2 % -0.5 % 
  52 Finance & Insurance 38,814 35,131 -3,683 -9.5 % -1.6 % 
  53 Real Estate 15,570 13,322 -2,248 -14.4 % -2.6 % 
  54 Prof, Scientific & Tech Services 43,467 50,392 6,925 15.9 % 2.5 % 
  55 Management 20,977 21,944 967 4.6 % 0.8 % 

Service 56 Admin, Support & Waste 52,649 49,009 -3,640 -6.9 % -1.2 % 
  61 Education 14,986 18,787 3,801 25.4 % 3.8 % 
  62 Health and Social Assistance 81,282 95,610 14,328 17.6 % 2.7 % 
  71 Arts, Enter & Recreation 10,982 11,389 407 3.7 % 0.6 % 
  72 Accommodation & Food 65,859 71,513 5,654 8.6 % 1.4 % 
  81 Other Services 31,404 32,596 1,192 3.8 % 0.6 % 

Gov Gov Government 103,736 108,582 4,846 4.7 % 0.8 % 
Source: OLMIS 

Aggregating to more broad industry groups, shown in Table 2, industrial and retail employment declined 
from 2006 to 2012 while service and government employment increased. This decline in industrial 
employment is a continuing trend that was also noted in the 2009 Urban Growth Report.  One result of 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 3 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



this shift in the employment mix is a shift in what kinds of employers are occupying land and buildings in 
the region that are zoned for, or were historically used for, industrial purposes.  Many areas in the 
region with industrial zoning are currently housing more commercial employment than industrial 
employment.  This trend is quite visible in some formerly industrial neighborhoods such as the Central 
Eastside in Portland, where about two thirds of current employment has a nonindustrial NAICS 
classification.  On the other hand, some of the large industrial parks managed by the Port of Portland, 
including Swan Island, Rivergate and Troutdale, are split with roughly two thirds of employment in 
industrial sectors and one third in commercial.  Regionally, about half of the employment located in 
industrially zoned areas has an industrial NAICS designation (as defined in Table 1).  Additional data 
about commercial employment in industrial zones are included at the end of this report. 

Table 2: Three county employment by general sector groups 

Ownership General Sector 2006 Emp 2012 Emp 
Net 

Change % Change AAGR 
  Industrial 244,951 218,311 -26,640 -10.9 % -1.9 % 

Private Retail 86,921 84,475 -2,446 -2.8 % -0.5 % 
  Service 396,470 419,516 23,046 5.8 % 0.9 % 

Public Gov 103,736 108,582 4,846 4.7 % 0.8 % 
Source: OLMIS 

UGB employment by subarea 
Shifting the focus to the urban growth boundary, the region has been divided into nine subareas in 
order to examine the spatial distribution of employment in the region. The subareas are depicted in 
Map 1. These subareas can be aggregated into three broad ring geographies as follows: 

• Central: Central 
• Inner ring: Inner North and Northeast, Inner Clackamas, Inner I-5, Inner Westside 
• Outer ring: East Multnomah, Outer Clackamas, Outer I-5 / I-205, Outer Westside 

The rationale for the subareas derives from the 1) semi-circular ring geometries; 2) market subarea 
differences within each ring; 3) and 2000 census tract delineations. The ring geometry recognizes 
relative differences in valuation of real estate and other economic factors with respect to proximity to a 
central business hub. Furthermore, as distance away from that center increases, the economic valuation 
and other economic factors are hypothesized to vary. The designation of market subareas for each ring 
further recognizes the heterogeneity inherent, particularly in real estate development patterns and 
valuations, within each ring. Delineation of the market subareas was based on grouping of census tracts 
which loosely seemed to have similar socio-economic characteristics and with the requirement that 
each subarea had to be contiguous and compact in shape. 

The rings are set up so that floor area ratios and square foot per employee assumptions for the urban 
growth report analysis on future employment land need can be analyzed at more defined geographic 
precision. This addresses past concerns about the lack of variations in job density and land need 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 4 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



intensity due to the inherent uneven distribution that exists between urban and suburban development 
trends for industrial and commercial growth inside the UGB. 

Map 1: Market subareas used for employment analysis 

 

Employment statistics from the QCEW program get less accurate as we drill down into subarea and 
sector details due to the limitations discussed previously.  The changes described in this section may be 
due to real shifts in employment or changes in reporting over time, and likely reflect a bit of both. 

Figure 2 shows the total number of jobs in 2006 and 2012 by subarea, while Figure 3 includes the total 
percent change over the time period as well as the average annual growth rate.  The central part of the 
region is still home to a significant number of jobs, but the subarea experienced a loss of about 2,300 
jobs, or 1.2 percent, over the period from 2006 to 2012.  The Inner I-5 area saw a decline in employment 
of roughly 2,200 jobs, or 11.0 percent of 2006 employment. Map 2 highlights this as the largest 
percentage loss of jobs in the region, though the total number of jobs located there is small compared 
to other subareas.  This area was home to many firms involved in real estate and finance, industries that 
were hit hard by the housing collapse and recession.  Many businesses in the area, like mortgage and 
title companies, contracted or closed over this time period and left the vacancy rate in the Kruse Way 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 5 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



offices at 22.4 percent in 2012.  In the southeastern part of the region, the Outer Clackamas and Outer I-
5 subareas together lost about 3,400 jobs or 3.2 percent.  In contrast, the Outer Westside experienced 
the greatest increase in employment, gaining about 5,800 jobs, an increase of 5.6 percent.  The East 
Multnomah subarea also gained jobs, increasing employment by 1,800 or 2.7 percent.  

Figure 2: Total employment by subarea for 2006 and 2012 

 

 

Figure 3: Percent change in employment and AAGR by subarea, 2006 to 2012 

 

0 

50,000 

100,000 

150,000 

200,000 

250,000 

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t 

UGB subarea 

2006 employment 

2012 employment 

-12.0% 

-10.0% 

-8.0% 

-6.0% 

-4.0% 

-2.0% 

0.0% 

2.0% 

4.0% 

6.0% 

8.0% 

Ch
an

ge
 in

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t 

UGB subarea 

2006-2012 percent change 

Average Annual Growth Rate 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 6 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 2: Percent change in employment, 2006 to 2012, mapped by subarea 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 7 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Industrial employment has declined throughout most of the region, particularly in the inner ring 
geography.  The decline in industrial employment in the UGB of 22,900 jobs was mostly offset by an 
increase of 21,400 jobs in the service sector, as shown in Table 3.  About one-third of the decline in 
industrial employment can be attributed to lost construction jobs, however all of the industrial sectors 
lost employment from 2006 to 2012.  Geographically, the number of industrial jobs lost was most 
pronounced in Inner North & East and the Inner Westside, where industrial employment declined by 
about 15,400 jobs in the two subareas combined.  

Table 3: Employment change by general sector and ring geography 

Ring Geography Central Inner Outer UGB Total 
Employment sector Net change in employment 2006-2012 

Government -500 2,600 2,100 4,200 

Industrial -2,500 -16,100 -4,300 -22,900 

Retail -300 -1,200 -900 -2,400 

Services 800 13,200 7,300 21,400 

Total -2,300 -1,500 4,200 400 

  Percent change 2006-2012 

Government -1.1 % 11.7 % 6.5 % 4.4 % 

Industrial -11.9 % -15.4 % -4.3 % -10.2 % 

Retail -2.1 % -3.2 % -2.7 % -2.8 % 

Services 0.7 % 8.5 % 6.5 % 5.5 % 

Total -1.2 % -0.5 % 1.5 % 0.0 % 
 

Employment in Title 4 Industrial and Employment Areas 
Title 4 (Industrial and Other Employment Areas) of the Urban Growth Management Functional Plans 
seeks to protect industrial areas from conflicting commercial retail uses. Areas designated under Title 4 
(see Map 3) are home to about a third of the region’s employment. Table 4 summarizes the shares of 
employment by sector in Title 4 areas. From 2006 to 2012, there was a slight increase in the share of 
employment that is industrial. Total employment in areas designated as “Employment” or “Industrial” 
land increased over the study period while employment in “Regionally Significant Industrial Areas” and 
undesignated areas declined, as shown in Table 5.   

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 8 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 3: Title 4, Industrial and Other Employment Areas Map 

 

Table 4: Employment by sector in Title 4 areas 

  
Share of employment in 
Title 4 designated areas 

Sector 2006 2012 
Government 11.5 % 14.9 % 
Industrial 68.1 % 72.5 % 
Retail 17.3 % 17.5 % 

Services 17.8 % 19.4 % 

Grand Total 31.3 % 32.2 % 
 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 9 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 5: Employment changes in Title 4 areas (2006 - 2012) 

Title 4 designation Employment Industrial RSIA Non-Title 4 UGB Total 

2012 employment 95,200 83,500 75,800 536,700 791,200 
2012 employment share 12.0 % 10.6 % 9.6 % 67.8 % 100.0 % 
Net change 2006-2012 3,300 6,600 -2,700 -6800 400 
% change 2006-2012 3.61 % 8.55 % -3.46 % -1.25 % 0.0 % 

Annualized growth 2006-2012 0.59 % 1.38 % -0.59 % -0.21 % 0.01 % 
 

Commercial and industrial mix in industrial zones 
Commercial employment in industrial zones is a common phenomenon and one that is not necessarily 
negative as some commercial uses may serve the needs of industrial employees or firms. This mix of 
employment uses in industrial zones is the rationale behind making some of the industrial 
redevelopment supply in the 2014 buildable land inventory available to meet forecast commercial 
employment demand (see demand analysis in Appendix 6). The following pie charts depict the share of 
industrial and commercial employment in various industrial zones in the three-county area for the year 
2010 (depicted in Map 4). 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 10 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 4: Industrial zones in the three-county area 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 11 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

Banks 

.Gaston 

N 

A 
o , 2 4 6 
~-.c~-.c==;,,_~ Miles 

'-__ "OC~ Plains 

.. 
Gresham . Powell 

Canby 

Estacadt 

Sandy .. 



 

COM 
4% 

IND 
96% 

Banks 
10 ac 

COM 
71% 

IND 
29% 

Beaverton - HWY 213 
523 ac 

COM 
69% 

IND 
31% 

Beaverton 
702 ac 

COM 
51% 

IND 
49% 

Canby 
186 ac 

COM 
34% 

IND 
66% 

Cornelius 
84 ac COM 

8% 

IND 
92% 

Damascus 
9 ac 

COM 
80% 

IND 
20% 

Durham 
40 ac 

COM 
28% 

IND 
72% 

Estacada 
5 ac 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 12 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



COM 
11% 

IND 
89% 

Forest Grove 
400 ac 

COM 
93% 

IND 
7% 

Gaston 
36 ac 

COM 
48% 

IND 
52% 

Gladstone 
104 ac 

COM 
35% 

IND 
65% 

Gresham - Burnside 
269 ac 

COM 
1% 

IND 
99% 

Gresham - Hogan 
60 ac 

COM 
48% 

IND 
52% 

Gresham - I-84 
685 ac 

COM 
75% 

IND 
25% 

Gresham - Powell 
16 ac 

COM 
15% 

IND 
85% 

Gresham - Stark 
196 ac 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 13 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



COM 
99% 

IND 
1% 

Happy Valley 
440 ac 

COM 
34% 

IND 
66% 

Hillsboro - Intel 
2635 ac 

COM 
47% 

IND 
53% 

Hillsboro - TVH 
838 ac 

COM 
48% 

IND 
52% 

HWY212 Corridor 
1060 ac 

COM 
44% 

IND 
56% 

HWY224 Corridor 
405 ac 

COM 
48% 

IND 
52% 

Johnson Creek 
685 ac 

COM 
76% 

IND 
24% 

Lake Oswego 
168 ac 

COM 
52% 

IND 
48% 

Milwaukie 
200 ac 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 14 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



COM 
34% 

IND 
66% 

Molalla 
10 ac COM 

19% 

IND 
81% 

North Plains 
53 ac 

COM 
51% 

IND 
49% 

Portland - Northeast 
4893 ac 

COM 
80% 

IND 
20% 

Oregon City 
296 ac 

COM 
59% 

IND 
41% 

Portland - 17th Ave 
249 ac 

COM 
66% 

IND 
34% 

Portland - Central 
Eastside 
285ac 

COM 
42% 

IND 
58% 

Portland - Foster 
178 ac 

COM 
51% 

IND 
49% 

Portland - I-205/I-84 
17 ac 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 15 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



COM 
55% 

IND 
45% 

Portland - John's Landing 
2 ac 

COM 
37% 

IND 
63% 

Portland - Northwest 
4893 ac 

COM 
41% 

IND 
59% 

Portland - Marine Drive 
1928 ac 

COM 
71% 

IND 
29% 

Portland - North 
313 ac 

COM 
3% 

IND 
97% 

Portland - Powell/205 
18 ac 

COM 
32% 

IND 
68% 

Portland - Swan Island 
440 ac 

COM 
29% 

IND 
71% 

Sandy 
87 ac 

COM 
44% 

IND 
56% 

Sherwood 
285 ac 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 16 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

  

COM 
34% 

IND 
66% 

Portland - St Johns 
1847 ac 

COM 
62% 

IND 
38% 

Tigard 
647 ac 

COM 
36% 

IND 
64% 

Troutdale 
792 ac 

COM 
36% 

IND 
64% 

Tualatin 
1391 ac 

IND 
100% 

West Linn 
126 ac 

COM 
51% 

IND 
49% 

Wilsonville 
939 ac 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 17 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



References/Links 
Amy Vander Vliet.  April 7, 2014.  “2013 Year in Review: Portland Metro (Finally) Makes a Complete Jobs 
Recovery”  (http://www.olmis.org/olmisj/ArticleReader?itemid=00008619). 

Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages: Frequently Asked Questions 
(http://www.bls.gov/cew/cewfaq.htm) 

Culverwell, Wendy.  May 5, 2012.  “Momentum gathers for Kruse Way”  
(http://www.bizjournals.com/portland/blog/2012/05/momentum-gathers-for-kruse-way.html) 

Aggregate Covered Employment and Wages data available from OLMIS at 
http://www.qualityinfo.org/olmisj/CEP 

 

 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 8, Page 18 of 18

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://www.olmis.org/olmisj/ArticleReader?itemid=00008619�
http://www.bls.gov/cew/cewfaq.htm�
http://www.bizjournals.com/portland/blog/2012/05/momentum-gathers-for-kruse-way.html�
http://www.qualityinfo.org/olmisj/CEP�


Appendix 9 
Employment land site characteristics 

Background 
Under Division 24 (Urban Growth Boundaries) of the Oregon Administrative Rules, Metro is required to 
complete an employment land inventory that describes site characteristics of buildable lands inside the 
urban growth boundary (as described in Division 9, Economic Development). Cities and counties, in the 
course of their own planning efforts, are responsible for determining whether sites are suitable for 
particular uses that match their economic development objectives. This is an appropriate approach 
given the regional scale of this inventory and the desire to not replicate or supplant local efforts. 

The approach used for this analysis is also informed by Division 9 (Economic Development) of the 
Oregon Administrative Rules, that states “The effort necessary to comply… will vary depending on the 
size of the jurisdiction…” and that “a jurisdiction’s planning effort is adequate if it uses the best available 
or readily collectible information...” This clause acknowledges that a detailed region-wide analysis of 
employment sites is not feasible either to complete or interpret in any meaningful fashion. 

This analysis uses a general approach that has been developed in consultation with Oregon Department 
of Land Conservation and Development staff.  Table 1 summarizes the site characteristics mentioned in 
the Administrative Rules and the various data points that have been used to summarize these 
characteristics. For practical reasons, this report presents regional maps and summary tables.  Metro 
can provide its tax lot level buildable land inventory GIS database on request. Employment land is 
organized into three categories for this analysis: 

• Commercial land 
• General industrial land 
• Large industrial sites (maps depict dots for each tax lot that comprises a large site; some sites 

may consist of multiple tax lots) 
 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 1 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 1:  summary of approach for describing site characteristics 

OR Administrative Rules 
Division 9 – Economic Development 

Metro employment land inventory approach 

Description of minimum acreage or 
site configuration characteristics 
including shape and topography 

Acreage – summary tables of net buildable acreages are 
provided. Metro can provide its tax-lot-level buildable land 
inventory GIS database on request. 
 
Shape - site shapes cannot be summarized in any meaningful 
fashion at the regional scale, but the GIS database includes a 
visual depiction of the shape of each tax lot in the inventory. 
Metro can provide its tax-lot-level buildable land inventory GIS 
database on request. 
 
Topography - portions of tax lots with slopes over 25% have 
been removed from the inventory since they are deemed 
unbuildable. This report describes, as a site characteristic, the 
portion of each inventoried tax lot that has a slope between 7-
25%. This range was chosen because slopes over 7% are often 
regarded as an impediment to industrial uses with larger 
development footprints. 

Visibility This characteristic is taken to mean visibility from a public right 
of way. For each tax lot in the inventory, distance to the nearest 
major arterial is computed. 

Specific types of public facilities, 
services or energy infrastructure 

Region-wide data to address this site characteristic are not 
readily available. For public security reasons, Metro does not 
have access to data on where power and gas transmission lines 
are. Metro also do not have access to data on where water and 
sewer facilities are located. The inventory depicts the following: 
-Sewer district name 
-Water district name 
-Fire district name 
-Distance to closest major arterial 

Proximity to a particular 
transportation or freight facility such 
as rail, marine ports and airports, 
multimodal freight or transshipment 
facilities, and major transportation 
routes. 

-Distance to nearest rail terminal 
-Distance to transhipment facilities 
-Distance to major arterial 
-Distance to designated freight route 
-Distance to airport 
-Distance to marine terminals 
-Transit access index rating 

Description of any development 
constraints or infrastructure needs 
that affect the buildable area of sites 
in the inventory 

-Number of environmentally constrained acres (note – these 
acres are removed from buildable land inventory). 
-Inside or outside marine use restriction area 
-Inside or outside an aviation overlay zone 
-Average volume-to-capacity ratio for traffic in surrounding area 
-Portion of each tax lot that has a slope between 7-25% 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 2 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



OR Administrative Rules 
Division 9 – Economic Development 

Metro employment land inventory approach 

-Owner flagged for tax exempt status (removed from inventory if 
not available for employment use) 
-Land value per square foot (assessor data) 
-Vacant or redevelopment land category 
-Inside city (yes/no) 
-Estimate of future streets and sidewalks acreage needs for 
vacant tax lots. However, we should not that our method uses a 
regional approach and may not reflect the actual needs of 
specific sites. 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 3 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 1 depicts the subareas used to organize this analysis. 

Map 1: Subareas used for employment site characteristics summarization 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 4 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

o , Q 

r--, 
, 

~ ] 
~ , ..0 , " , 
"' ~~ ~ 'j 
ro ~8 

:E " 
-.:r ~ ~ 
~ ". 
i'l ~i 

, , 
1 . ~ 

~ j ! , • ! 1 l , 

< , . , , , 
• , • , 

! , • "\'/,, 

1 • 
l 
i • , , 

I 0 • i f-

" ~ 
(I 



 
 

M
ap 2: vacant em

ploym
ent land 

Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 9, Page 5 of 40

E
xhibit A

 to R
esolution N

o. 14-4582

% 

® 
,... 

.... 

2014 Vacant Buildable Land 
Employment Land 
July, 2014 (ORAIT) 

Q; o 

~ i : 

~!~ 
* 'I.' 

Employment Acres (per taxlot) General Zoning Type 

le55 than 3 Acre5 

3 - 10 

• 10 - 25 

• 25 -50 

• More than 50 Acres 

/'./ Urban growth boundary 

/" ,.. County boundary 

Major arterials 

• Commercial 

• Indu5trial 

• Mixed Use 

Riven; and lakes ~ MET R a 

e 
i 

i... •• 

........ 

.,. 
"Ie 
~! ~ 
~1 ~ 

i!'I 

! ./ 
",.-' I 

\ 
\. 

i\, " 
e 

; 

, 1 
,~ ', ~ 
, .-,. ~~ 

~ .. 1. '- \ '4 .. -"-
\~ "". • '!')" ,. .' ._ " . • b,,7!-............. , - .... .. ~".", " " ,.. ~~~.~ .... ,~ 

• :t jr" '0' ' ., " "~:?!.' . . :l~ ~rtland • • • H3';~" . 
, ~' ?i ..' 

" ).., ...... ' '. . - , 
... . .. ~ ........ . 

.. '. 

.:..; . ~::.: . ' '. . . ,<7, '_ . ... . ~ ~ •. I . ." • ',\ 
: ~.,. .,~ . .. . ~ . 

.. .... ... :;" ~" ... 

8 

/ Canbv 

., 
~i;; 

..\ 

,. 

·-~·;;-i;';;·:'.~~~ 

® 

" 
Miles 



 
 

M
ap 3: R

edevelopm
ent candidate em

ploym
ent land 

Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 9, Page 6 of 40

E
xhibit A

 to R
esolution N

o. 14-4582

% 

® 
,... 

.... 

~
~ 

Q; o 

~ i : 

~!~ 
* 'I.' 

2014 Potential Redevelopment 
Employment Land 
July, 2014 (DRAIT) 

Employment Acres (per taxlot) General ZonIng Type 

Less than 3 Acres • Commercial 

3 - 10 • Industrial 

• 10 - 25 • MiKed Use 

• 25 -50 

• More than 50 Acres 

/'./ Urban growth boundary 

/.,... County boundary 

Major arterials 

Riven; and lakes ~ MET R a 

i... •• 

e 

....... -

.,. 
"Ie 
~! ~ 
~1 ~ 

i!'I 

! ./ 
CT' I 

\ 
\. 

/ ., 
~i;; 

Canbv 

i\, " 
e 

; 

l 
~-

·"i;';~".l0:iO-
.. , ........... 

,. •• - ,/j4 lr --:--t : ~.;.~-, ... . 
't~~ ... ' .... ".~ :~, 
~ .. I .. .,.. . ........ " ...... ~ 
~ . . •• "' @ • • G<~~ ... "'- •• 

; ."" ". ·-~·;;-i;';;·:'.~~~ 

8 

" 
Miles 



M
ap 4: E

m
ploym

ent lands by type 

 
 

Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 9, Page 7 of 40

E
xhibit A

 to R
esolution N

o. 14-4582

% 

® 
,... 

.... 

i """".'0.'0 ~ '·_···";;·'":,·<"0· ··_··1 

2014 Employment Lands 
By Type 
July, 2014 (DRAFT) 

Q; o 

~ i : 

~!~ 
* 'I.' 

e 

~ Commericial /'.../ Urban growth boundary 

Industria l .. ",... County boundary 

~ Large Lot Industrial Majo r arter ials 

~Metro 
Rrvers and lakes 

L. .• 

i!'I 

. .,.
eie 
: ! ~ 

~1 ~ . 
I I 
c. ,,/ I 

\ 
\. 

/ ., 
~i;; 

Canbv 

i\, " 
e 

; 

l 
·"i;';~".l0:io" 

,. 

p - { " - 1( . - ,,~ • ~ , ........ -'-:·;;7~~y:7t 

e 

" 
Miles 



Description of minimum acreage or site configuration characteristics 
including shape and topography 
Table 2:  Summary data on acres of buildable employment land inside the Metro urban growth boundary 

Market Subarea Parcels Acres 

Central 2061 278.47 

Commercial 1998 255.85 

Industrial 63 22.62 

East Mult Co 1001 1835.68 

Commercial 702 473.64 

Industrial 260 796.12 
Large Lot 

Industrial 39 565.92 

Inner Clackamas 98 139.88 

Commercial 59 32.92 

Industrial 39 106.97 

Inner I-5 26 27.67 

Commercial 18 17.11 

Industrial 8 10.56 

Inner North & East 6843 2082.95 

Commercial 6277 588.04 

Industrial 526 1019.74 
Large Lot 

Industrial 40 475.18 

Inner Westside 605 461.25 

Commercial 549 335.55 

Industrial 56 125.69 

Outer Clackamas 817 2456.37 

Commercial 561 1323.15 

Industrial 220 973.11 
Large Lot 

Industrial 36 160.11 

Outer I-5 317 930.83 

Commercial 58 71.99 

Industrial 159 589.53 
Large Lot 

Industrial 100 269.31 

Outer Westside 759 3113.06 

Commercial 382 591.93 

Industrial 303 1421.44 
Large Lot 

Industrial 74 1099.69 

Grand Total 12527 11326.17 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 8 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Site visibility 
Table 3: Proximity to nearest major arterial street 

  < 1/4 Mile 1/4-1/2 Mile 1/2-3/4 Mile 3/4-1 Mile > 1 Mile Total 

Market Subarea Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 1926 266.4     35 1.5 100 10.6     2061 278.5 

Commercial 1863 243.8     35 1.5 100 10.6     1998 255.8 

Industrial 63 22.6                 63 22.6 

East Mult Co 708 660.4 8 166.9 91 373.4 172 478.7 22 156.3 1001 1835.7 

Commercial 540 279.9     45 73.9 111 80.4 6 39.5 702 473.6 

Industrial 161 347.8 5 67.9 34 119.4 49 210.1 11 50.9 260 796.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 7 32.7 3 99.0 12 180.1 12 188.2 5 65.9 39 565.9 

Inner Clackamas 67 115.2 6 0.4 4 1.9 20 22.2 1 0.2 98 139.9 

Commercial 55 31.8     1 0.7 2 0.2 1 0.2 59 32.9 

Industrial 12 83.4 6 0.4 3 1.2 18 21.9     39 107.0 

Inner I-5 25 26.4         1 1.3     26 27.7 

Commercial 17 15.9         1 1.3     18 17.1 

Industrial 8 10.6                 8 10.6 

Inner North & East 5537 888.9 139 471.7 323 268.6 720 370.5 124 83.3 6843 2083.0 

Commercial 5204 451.0 118 18.1 248 16.2 599 90.4 108 12.4 6277 588.0 

Industrial 326 407.4 17 161.5 64 221.9 104 158.1 15 70.9 526 1019.7 
Large Lot 

Industrial 7 30.5 4 292.1 11 30.5 17 122.0 1 0.0 40 475.2 

Inner Westside 461 249.9 4 0.2 64 75.4 65 125.3 11 10.4 605 461.2 

Commercial 442 221.0 4 0.2 55 63.6 37 40.4 11 10.4 549 335.6 

Industrial 19 29.0     9 11.9 28 84.9     56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 441 808.9 30 235.3 120 502.5 183 685.6 43 224.1 817 2456.4 

Commercial 321 422.2 26 226.1 73 202.3 107 324.6 34 147.9 561 1323.1 

Industrial 116 357.3 4 9.2 33 260.6 59 287.1 8 58.9 220 973.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 4 29.3     14 39.6 17 73.9 1 17.3 36 160.1 

Outer I-5 140 261.7 45 79.5 25 142.8 64 288.9 43 157.8 317 930.8 

Commercial 53 62.9         4 7.1 1 2.0 58 72.0 

Industrial 76 197.4 8 35.3 17 69.3 44 248.9 14 38.7 159 589.5 
Large Lot 

Industrial 11 1.5 37 44.3 8 73.5 16 32.9 28 117.2 100 269.3 

Outer Westside 333 596.9 124 1190.8 87 469.2 146 344.7 69 511.5 759 3113.1 

Commercial 220 256.0 23 49.2 49 89.9 63 114.0 27 82.9 382 591.9 

Industrial 105 255.0 79 618.1 22 147.4 65 177.1 32 223.8 303 1421.4 
Large Lot 

Industrial 8 85.9 22 523.5 16 231.9 18 53.6 10 204.8 74 1099.7 

Grand Total 9638 3874.6 356 2144.8 749 1835.4 1471 2327.7 313 1143.7 12527 11326.2 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 9 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



M
ap 5: Proxim

ity to m
ajor arterials 

  
 

Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 9, Page 10 of 40

E
xhibit A

 to R
esolution N

o. 14-4582

Proximity to Major Arterials 
With Employment Land By Type 
July, 2014 (DRAFT) 
DlsU nc. 10 n.~ r.SI major art. rial 

0·0.25 mile. 

o 0.15 - 0.5mil" 

o 0.5 - 0.75miIM 

o > 0.75 mile. 

CommerclJ I /'../ Urban growth boundil ..... 

Indumi.1 ,,''''''''' County boundary 

brge LotlnduSlfi.1 /'V Major "nerial, 

~Metro 
R .... ".nIl la kes , 



Specific types of public facilities, services or energy infrastructure  
Map 6: Fire districts 

 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 11 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

r 
/ 

i ,
\ 1/ , 

, ', ,,: .,<' . " ,', '.. ';" , ,. ~ -, ...... /1 '" .~,' / t .,' ~ 2 

1,./,,/. • -. ~./ :' , H I ·t-~·~ i .-_. ' .""< ',. r, 
Y: . ~~ .. 

_..J ,{ , . ~; . ~ .. ~. (.~ ... : 
..... .,... ~. 

, 
1- i 

1 -! 

/ 

/ i 
! 

. i ~ 

:!. 
;!: 
", , 

, 
tl 1 

0 

~ ~ 
"E 

, • 1 ~ ,~ ~ -' . 
~ 

0 I 
. 

~~ 
~ 

, 
j .-

> 

< 
. , 

0; " 
< 

Q) 0 
, 

'.0 .:l ,- -[2 
~ 

_ 0 

'0 ~;;i 
1 ; 

l 
:! ~ 

, 
&: 0 Cl ~ j 

, 
!! § ~ I u 0.:;- , ~ E ._ E,...; 8 

" 
::0 t.:.l 0 

~ ~ 

;:::I E~ \] 
P-'S:2. 

i 
! 
I 
I 



Map 7: Sewer districts 

 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 12 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

/ 
; _.---,. 

r " '"""" 
i r--' 

r .j 

I 
r·i-;:·~ .. :·:*·~-; 

I 

I 

i 

r 
I 

./ , .. :., 
, fr· 

.. -' :i.~ 
I · ... ~ ~:" 
. ~;: .. 

5 • 
• • .... .1...:. ... ( '. . 
.~., ... ~.' 

.. 
:1 



Map 8: Water districts 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 13 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

/ 
; ---" • • 
d l' 
~E 

.~ l 

r .j 

I 
r·i-;:·~ .. :·:*·~-; 

( 
/ 

i 

r 
I 

\ 

./ 

, 

,.. •• _....J 

~_..l 

d~ 
: j 

: i ~ 
'j , 

~ 
l 
] 

I s 
j 

:1 

; 
·11 

, , 
~ i ~ 

" 



Proximity to a particular transportation or freight facility such as rail, marine 
ports and airports, multimodal freight or transshipment facilities, and major 
transportation routes 
Table 4:  Proximity to rail terminals 

  < 1 mile 1 - 2 miles 2 - 3 miles Total 

Market Subarea Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 2058 278.3 3 0.1     2061 278.5 

Commercial 1995 255.7 3 0.1     1998 255.8 

Industrial 63 22.6         63 22.6 

East Mult Co 908 1656.1 92 179.2 1 0.3 1001 1835.7 

Commercial 618 436.5 84 37.1     702 473.6 

Industrial 254 725.2 5 70.6 1 0.3 260 796.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 36 494.4 3 71.6     39 565.9 

Inner Clackamas 98 139.9         98 139.9 

Commercial 59 32.9         59 32.9 

Industrial 39 107.0         39 107.0 

Inner I-5 12 11.7 9 13.4 5 2.7 26 27.7 

Commercial 4 1.1 9 13.4 5 2.7 18 17.1 

Industrial 8 10.6         8 10.6 

Inner North & East 6479 1756.9 360 270.0 4 56.1 6843 2083.0 

Commercial 5944 559.3 331 28.6 2 0.1 6277 588.0 

Industrial 498 846.7 27 150.6 1 22.4 526 1019.7 
Large Lot 

Industrial 37 350.9 2 90.7 1 33.6 40 475.2 

Inner Westside 533 450.5 72 10.7     605 461.2 

Commercial 477 324.8 72 10.7     549 335.6 

Industrial 56 125.7         56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 747 2058.0 70 398.4     817 2456.4 

Commercial 505 1058.9 56 264.2     561 1323.1 

Industrial 206 838.9 14 134.2     220 973.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 36 160.1         36 160.1 

Outer I-5 312 909.3 5 21.5     317 930.8 

Commercial 58 72.0         58 72.0 

Industrial 157 571.1 2 18.4     159 589.5 
Large Lot 

Industrial 97 266.2 3 3.1     100 269.3 

Outer Westside 692 2506.0 66 605.8 1 1.2 759 3113.1 

Commercial 339 508.1 42 82.6 1 1.2 382 591.9 

Industrial 284 1144.8 19 276.6     303 1421.4 
Large Lot 

Industrial 69 853.1 5 246.5     74 1099.7 

Grand Total 11839 9766.7 677 1499.1 11 60.4 12527 11326.2 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 14 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

Map 9: Proximity to rail terminals 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 15 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

'" ~ 
Vl 1 • ro 

~ i 
, i j c: .. 

'§! ] ~ , , 
< f .~ 

, 
: • " ! , > 

~ &i' < 
, 

< * 
, 

&] / , " 

0-12 ~ ~ 
~ c ~ ~ ";2 £ q ~e ~ i , i 1 £ 

: • • :; 0 
E o.."d" 0 , ::: ._ E...., , " , • j " 
" ",0 ; 0000 

8 £ ::E 
2 :€~ il ~ c.. "~ is 



Table 5: Proximity to transhipment facilities 

  < 2.5 miles 2.5 to 5 miles 5 to 7.5 miles 7.5 to 10 miles >10 miles Total 

Market Subarea Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 1969 269.1 92 9.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 2061 278.5 

Commercial 1906 246.5 92 9.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1998 255.8 

Industrial 63 22.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 63 22.6 

East Mult Co 660 1127.9 274 428.3 67 279.5 0 0.0 0 0.0 1001 1835.7 

Commercial 461 271.5 235 186.3 6 15.8 0 0.0 0 0.0 702 473.6 

Industrial 177 527.3 26 87.1 57 181.7 0 0.0 0 0.0 260 796.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 22 329.1 13 154.9 4 82.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 39 565.9 

Inner Clackamas 96 136.6 2 3.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 98 139.9 

Commercial 58 32.2 1 0.7 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 59 32.9 

Industrial 38 104.3 1 2.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 39 107.0 

Inner I-5 20 24.6 6 3.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 26 27.7 

Commercial 12 14.1 6 3.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 18 17.1 

Industrial 8 10.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 8 10.6 

Inner North & East 6456 1796.4 387 286.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 6843 2083.0 

Commercial 5895 539.3 382 48.7 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 6277 588.0 

Industrial 522 948.6 4 71.1 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 526 1019.7 
Large Lot 

Industrial 39 308.4 1 166.7 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 40 475.2 

Inner Westside 320 360.2 285 101.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 605 461.2 

Commercial 271 244.3 278 91.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 549 335.6 

Industrial 49 116.0 7 9.7 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 318 512.0 303 1000.2 193 923.0 3 21.1 0 0.0 817 2456.4 

Commercial 208 224.1 220 549.2 132 532.6 1 17.3 0 0.0 561 1323.1 

Industrial 77 167.1 80 411.7 61 390.5 2 3.8 0 0.0 220 973.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 33 120.8 3 39.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 36 160.1 

Outer I-5 295 901.5 21 29.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0.0 317 930.8 

Commercial 39 44.6 18 27.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 0.0 58 72.0 

Industrial 156 587.6 3 2.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 159 589.5 
Large Lot 

Industrial 100 269.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 100 269.3 

Outer Westside 145 237.5 178 233.6 266 933.3 170 1708.7 0 0.0 759 3113.1 

Commercial 99 99.5 128 149.3 137 325.9 18 17.2 0 0.0 382 591.9 

Industrial 23 44.7 46 82.5 122 388.2 112 906.1 0 0.0 303 1421.4 
Large Lot 

Industrial 23 93.2 4 1.8 7 219.2 40 785.4 0 0.0 74 1099.7 

Grand Total 10279 5365.8 1548 2094.8 526 2135.8 173 1729.8 1 0.0 12527 11326.2 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 16 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



M
ap 10: Proxim

ity to transshipm
ent facilities 

  
 

Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 9, Page 17 of 40

E
xhibit A

 to R
esolution N

o. 14-4582

, 

, 

" 

Proximity to Transshipment Facilities 
With Employment I;md ByType 
July, 2014 (DRAFT) 
Ol st~nt. 10 tr~nuhlpm.nt f~,lIItlu 

o <2.5mj~s Tronuhlpment facili ties 

o 2.5 · 5mi~. o 5 · 7.Smi1~. 

o >7.5mlles 

Commercia l /'V Urban growth boundaf'/ 

Indumi., / ,'. " '/ County boun<l.'V 

la,se Lotlndustrl.1 Majo.onerl.t. 

~Metro Rilter$ 'rod lakes 

~ .. 
• !.(~ 

·r· • 
"(" 

OU TElI.,. 
WESTSIDE ' "\.. 

" , ' .. • 

,l, 

-

'\ 
~,. 

--' 

, 
Miles 



Table 6: Proximity to designated freight route 

  < 1 mile 1 - 2 miles 2 - 3 miles Total 

Row Labels Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 2058 278.3 3 0.1 0 0.0 2061 278.5 

Commercial 1995 255.7 3 0.1 0 0.0 1998 255.8 

Industrial 63 22.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 63 22.6 

East Mult Co 908 1656.1 92 179.2 1 0.3 1001 1835.7 

Commercial 618 436.5 84 37.1 0 0.0 702 473.6 

Industrial 254 725.2 5 70.6 1 0.3 260 796.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 36 494.4 3 71.6 0 0.0 39 565.9 

Inner Clackamas 98 139.9 0 0.0 0 0.0 98 139.9 

Commercial 59 32.9 0 0.0 0 0.0 59 32.9 

Industrial 39 107.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 39 107.0 

Inner I-5 12 11.7 9 13.4 5 2.7 26 27.7 

Commercial 4 1.1 9 13.4 5 2.7 18 17.1 

Industrial 8 10.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 8 10.6 

Inner North & East 6479 1756.9 360 270.0 4 56.1 6843 2083.0 

Commercial 5944 559.3 331 28.6 2 0.1 6277 588.0 

Industrial 498 846.7 27 150.6 1 22.4 526 1019.7 
Large Lot 

Industrial 37 350.9 2 90.7 1 33.6 40 475.2 

Inner Westside 533 450.5 72 10.7 0 0.0 605 461.2 

Commercial 477 324.8 72 10.7 0 0.0 549 335.6 

Industrial 56 125.7 0 0.0 0 0.0 56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 747 2058.0 70 398.4 0 0.0 817 2456.4 

Commercial 505 1058.9 56 264.2 0 0.0 561 1323.1 

Industrial 206 838.9 14 134.2 0 0.0 220 973.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 36 160.1 0 0.0 0 0.0 36 160.1 

Outer I-5 312 909.3 5 21.5 0 0.0 317 930.8 

Commercial 58 72.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 58 72.0 

Industrial 157 571.1 2 18.4 0 0.0 159 589.5 
Large Lot 

Industrial 97 266.2 3 3.1 0 0.0 100 269.3 

Outer Westside 692 2506.0 66 605.8 1 1.2 759 3113.1 

Commercial 339 508.1 42 82.6 1 1.2 382 591.9 

Industrial 284 1144.8 19 276.6 0 0.0 303 1421.4 
Large Lot 

Industrial 69 853.1 5 246.5 0 0.0 74 1099.7 

Grand Total 11839 9766.7 677 1499.1 11 60.4 12527 11326.2 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 18 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



M
ap 11: Proxim

ity to designated freight route 

  
 

Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 9, Page 19 of 40

E
xhibit A

 to R
esolution N

o. 14-4582

Proximity to Freight Network 
With Employment Land ByType 
July. 2014 (DRAFT) 
Olst~nt. lo ro~d In ' r.l,hl network 

o <lmll~ A/ Frei,hlll@lwO,k 

o 1 · 2mi~. 

o 2 · ]ml~' o >3mll",. 

Comm""cia l /'../ Urban growth boundary 

Indum ial ,,/" 'v / Countv bourld.rv 

La,s'" l"lln du.!(iai Major ."""iol. 

~Metro R .. ", .... oo I."", ,- , 
Miles 



Table 7: Proximity to any airport 

  < 5 miles 5 to 10 miles 10 to 15 miles 15 to 20 miles greater than 20 miles Total 

Row Labels Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 22 1.1 56 6.1 0 0.0 1983 271.3 0 0.0 2061 278.5 

Commercial 22 1.1 56 6.1 0 0.0 1920 248.7 0 0.0 1998 255.8 

Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 63 22.6 0 0.0 63 22.6 

East Mult Co 475 1149.1 0 0.0 0 0.0 526 686.6 0 0.0 1001 1835.7 

Commercial 314 293.9 0 0.0 0 0.0 388 179.8 0 0.0 702 473.6 

Industrial 135 444.5 0 0.0 0 0.0 125 351.6 0 0.0 260 796.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 26 410.8 0 0.0 0 0.0 13 155.2 0 0.0 39 565.9 

Inner Clackamas 0 0.0 73 133.5 10 1.5 15 4.8 0 0.0 98 139.9 

Commercial 0 0.0 42 28.5 10 1.5 7 2.8 0 0.0 59 32.9 

Industrial 0 0.0 31 105.0 0 0.0 8 2.0 0 0.0 39 107.0 

Inner I-5 0 0.0 16 15.4 10 12.2 0 0.0 0 0.0 26 27.7 

Commercial 0 0.0 13 10.2 5 7.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 18 17.1 

Industrial 0 0.0 3 5.3 5 5.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 8 10.6 

Inner North & East 1696 927.0 307 263.8 0 0.0 4840 892.2 0 0.0 6843 2083.0 

Commercial 1424 205.4 175 11.0 0 0.0 4678 371.6 0 0.0 6277 588.0 

Industrial 261 571.3 105 129.3 0 0.0 160 319.1 0 0.0 526 1019.7 
Large Lot 

Industrial 11 150.3 27 123.5 0 0.0 2 201.4 0 0.0 40 475.2 

Inner Westside 0 0.0 483 248.7 0 0.0 122 212.6 0 0.0 605 461.2 

Commercial 0 0.0 445 149.5 0 0.0 104 186.0 0 0.0 549 335.6 

Industrial 0 0.0 38 99.2 0 0.0 18 26.5 0 0.0 56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 0 0.0 392 1009.0 132 219.4 261 1035.7 32 192.2 817 2456.4 

Commercial 0 0.0 263 501.1 96 101.1 193 679.1 9 41.9 561 1323.1 

Industrial 0 0.0 96 387.2 36 118.3 65 317.3 23 150.3 220 973.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 0 0.0 33 120.8 0 0.0 3 39.3 0 0.0 36 160.1 

Outer I-5 0 0.0 27 114.8 254 707.6 0 0.0 36 108.4 317 930.8 

Commercial 0 0.0 5 10.8 39 41.2 0 0.0 14 19.9 58 72.0 

Industrial 0 0.0 18 65.2 119 435.8 0 0.0 22 88.5 159 589.5 
Large Lot 

Industrial 0 0.0 4 38.7 96 230.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 100 269.3 

Outer Westside 478 2600.3 23 28.3 2 4.2 256 480.3 0 0.0 759 3113.1 

Commercial 178 290.2 23 28.3 2 4.2 179 269.2 0 0.0 382 591.9 

Industrial 253 1305.5 0 0.0 0 0.0 50 116.0 0 0.0 303 1421.4 
Large Lot 

Industrial 47 1004.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 27 95.1 0 0.0 74 1099.7 

Grand Total 2671 4677.5 1377 1819.6 408 945.0 8003 3583.4 68 300.7 12527 11326.2 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 20 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 12: Proximity to any airport 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 21 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

... I ~ , 1 'g 

'" ~ 
~ $ ! 

~ > 

< ~ ~ 
.i • ; • , 

g&> " < 
. 

< <l> " ~ + < 
::.: ~ , 
0 - 12 ; ~ 

~ " ~ ~ o ~;i i i I £ 
._ 0 0 i :; 0 
E 0.:;- . 0 ::: 
._ E .... , . , j " >< !.Ll 0 e 8 ::E 
~ Hj OOOO ~ 



Table 8: Proximity to Portland International Airport 

  < 5 miles 5 to 10 miles 10 to 15 miles 15 to 20 miles greater than 20 miles Total 

Row Labels Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 22 1.1 56 6.1 0 0.0 1983 271.3 0 0.0 2061 278.5 

Commercial 22 1.1 56 6.1 0 0.0 1920 248.7 0 0.0 1998 255.8 

Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 63 22.6 0 0.0 63 22.6 

East Mult Co 34 15.6 352 1119.5 3 11.1 612 689.5 0 0.0 1001 1835.7 

Commercial 34 15.6 201 277.3 0 0.0 467 180.8 0 0.0 702 473.6 

Industrial 0 0.0 126 419.7 3 11.1 131 365.3 0 0.0 260 796.1 

Large Lot Industrial 0 0.0 25 422.5 0 0.0 14 143.4 0 0.0 39 565.9 

Inner Clackamas 0 0.0 73 133.5 10 1.5 15 4.8 0 0.0 98 139.9 

Commercial 0 0.0 42 28.5 10 1.5 7 2.8 0 0.0 59 32.9 

Industrial 0 0.0 31 105.0 0 0.0 8 2.0 0 0.0 39 107.0 

Inner I-5 0 0.0 11 14.5 15 13.2 0 0.0 0 0.0 26 27.7 

Commercial 0 0.0 10 9.9 8 7.2 0 0.0 0 0.0 18 17.1 

Industrial 0 0.0 1 4.6 7 6.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 8 10.6 

Inner North & East 1696 927.0 309 264.0 0 0.0 4838 892.0 0 0.0 6843 2083.0 

Commercial 1424 205.4 177 11.2 0 0.0 4676 371.4 0 0.0 6277 588.0 

Industrial 261 571.3 105 129.3 0 0.0 160 319.1 0 0.0 526 1019.7 

Large Lot Industrial 11 150.3 27 123.5 0 0.0 2 201.4 0 0.0 40 475.2 

Inner Westside 0 0.0 569 375.0 36 86.2 0 0.0 0 0.0 605 461.2 

Commercial 0 0.0 537 302.5 12 33.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 549 335.6 

Industrial 0 0.0 32 72.5 24 53.2 0 0.0 0 0.0 56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 0 0.0 435 1220.0 335 1039.4 15 4.7 32 192.2 817 2456.4 

Commercial 0 0.0 316 812.4 221 464.2 15 4.7 9 41.9 561 1323.1 

Industrial 0 0.0 90 321.0 107 501.8 0 0.0 23 150.3 220 973.1 

Large Lot Industrial 0 0.0 29 86.7 7 73.5 0 0.0 0 0.0 36 160.1 

Outer I-5 0 0.0 0 0.0 86 241.7 0 0.0 231 689.1 317 930.8 

Commercial 0 0.0 0 0.0 28 30.1 0 0.0 30 41.9 58 72.0 

Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 54 172.9 0 0.0 105 416.6 159 589.5 

Large Lot Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 4 38.7 0 0.0 96 230.6 100 269.3 

Outer Westside 0 0.0 30 39.3 400 1771.4 0 0.0 329 1302.3 759 3113.1 

Commercial 0 0.0 23 17.6 217 400.8 0 0.0 142 173.5 382 591.9 

Industrial 0 0.0 7 21.7 150 880.7 0 0.0 146 519.0 303 1421.4 

Large Lot Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 33 489.9 0 0.0 41 609.8 74 1099.7 

Grand Total 1752 943.7 1835 3171.9 885 3164.6 7463 1862.3 592 2183.7 12527 11326.2 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 22 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 13: Proximity to Portland International Airport 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 23 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

... t ~ 
0 j , 
e- " • i a i ;;;: .. ~ • 1i ~ • -g ! .. < i * • ~ • " 0 • en _ , 

< -1: '" g + < 01'! 
1 

< 
0.. 3 -0-12 ~ 
~ c ] ~ ";2 £ q ~e • i i I £ 

i 
, 
• , :; 0 

E o.."d" 0 = ::: ._ E...., , " , 
¥ j " 

" ",0 ; 0000 
8 ::E 

2 :€~ il ~ P- "~ is 



Table 9: Proximity to marine facilities 

  < 5 miles 10 to 15 miles 15 to 20 miles 5 to 10 miles greater than 20 miles Total 

Row Labels Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 2061 278.5 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 2061 278.5 

Commercial 1998 255.8 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 1998 255.8 

Industrial 63 22.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 63 22.6 

East Mult Co 0 0.0 472 1365.9 23 128.9 506 340.9 0 0.0 1001 1835.7 

Commercial 0 0.0 266 320.2 1 3.1 435 150.3 0 0.0 702 473.6 

Industrial 0 0.0 172 555.0 21 94.7 67 146.4 0 0.0 260 796.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 0 0.0 34 490.7 1 31.1 4 44.1 0 0.0 39 565.9 

Inner Clackamas 15 5.8 11 58.9 0 0.0 72 75.2 0 0.0 98 139.9 

Commercial 9 5.4 10 1.5 0 0.0 40 25.9 0 0.0 59 32.9 

Industrial 6 0.4 1 57.4 0 0.0 32 49.2 0 0.0 39 107.0 

Inner I-5 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 26 27.7 0 0.0 26 27.7 

Commercial 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 18 17.1 0 0.0 18 17.1 

Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 8 10.6 0 0.0 8 10.6 

Inner North & East 6273 1466.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 570 616.6 0 0.0 6843 2083.0 

Commercial 5830 473.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 447 114.4 0 0.0 6277 588.0 

Industrial 413 602.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 113 417.7 0 0.0 526 1019.7 
Large Lot 

Industrial 30 390.7 0 0.0 0 0.0 10 84.5 0 0.0 40 475.2 

Inner Westside 349 91.7 3 19.3 0 0.0 253 350.3 0 0.0 605 461.2 

Commercial 349 91.7 3 19.3 0 0.0 197 224.6 0 0.0 549 335.6 

Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 56 125.7 0 0.0 56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 0 0.0 629 1999.7 59 311.8 129 144.8 0 0.0 817 2456.4 

Commercial 0 0.0 463 1189.1 10 55.9 88 78.1 0 0.0 561 1323.1 

Industrial 0 0.0 144 677.4 49 255.9 27 39.8 0 0.0 220 973.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 0 0.0 22 133.2 0 0.0 14 26.9 0 0.0 36 160.1 

Outer I-5 0 0.0 265 798.2 40 116.0 11 16.7 1 0.0 317 930.8 

Commercial 0 0.0 35 39.1 14 22.0 8 10.9 1 0.0 58 72.0 

Industrial 0 0.0 130 489.8 26 94.0 3 5.8 0 0.0 159 589.5 
Large Lot 

Industrial 0 0.0 100 269.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 100 269.3 

Outer Westside 18 11.4 224 911.9 140 268.3 375 1918.6 2 2.8 759 3113.1 

Commercial 18 11.4 104 172.2 82 101.0 176 304.4 2 2.8 382 591.9 

Industrial 0 0.0 112 421.2 31 72.2 160 928.0 0 0.0 303 1421.4 
Large Lot 

Industrial 0 0.0 8 318.4 27 95.1 39 686.2 0 0.0 74 1099.7 

Grand Total 8716 1853.8 1604 5153.8 262 825.0 1942 3490.7 3 2.8 12527 11326.2 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 24 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



M
ap 14: Proxim

ity to m
arine facilities 

  
 

Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 9, Page 25 of 40

E
xhibit A

 to R
esolution N

o. 14-4582

\-. 

"' 

~ . . 
f.<;; 

• '(j, .... 
OUTE'II', 

~ .. ~~TSIDE~ "\. 

Proximity to Marine Facilities 
With Employment Land ByType 
July. 2014 (DRAFT) 
Olst~nt. lo marine f",lIltl., 

• <Smiles ~ Marine f;tCilities 

o S · lOmi~. 

o lO · 15miw.. 

o >ISmll~. 

Commercia l /'../ Urban growth boundary 

Industrial / ". County boundary 

la,s" lOllndu.trial Majo r "I1",lal. 

~Metro 
Rive .. arod lake. 

-"" 
,', 

.. :ov 
•• 11'':';: 

1-

(II,Sf 

.MULrN~.""~ ." •• r::- . 
) ... : ~.~..... . .... 
~ ..,. 1: !o:tt' ~ ...".., • 

" ~ ..... J.....:~.t-..s.. 
i ", ..... , 

~ 

Mil'" 



Table 10: Transit access index 

  Excellent Very Good Good Fair Poor/No Access Total 

Row Labels Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 69 8.0 483 77.2 1002 115.6 97 24.6 410 53.0 2061 278.5 

Commercial 69 8.0 459 72.6 973 102.6 95 21.6 402 51.0 1998 255.8 

Industrial 0 0.0 24 4.5 29 13.1 2 3.1 8 1.9 63 22.6 

East Mult Co 0 0.0 461 262.1 96 20.8 435 1552.0 9 0.7 1001 1835.7 

Commercial 0 0.0 444 224.0 96 20.8 153 228.1 9 0.7 702 473.6 

Industrial 0 0.0 17 38.1 0 0.0 243 758.0 0 0.0 260 796.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 39 565.9 0 0.0 39 565.9 

Inner Clackamas 0 0.0 34 23.4 23 7.2 41 109.3 0 0.0 98 139.9 

Commercial 0 0.0 31 22.4 23 7.2 5 3.3 0 0.0 59 32.9 

Industrial 0 0.0 3 1.0 0 0.0 36 106.0 0 0.0 39 107.0 

Inner I-5 0 0.0 3 3.4 2 0.6 21 23.7 0 0.0 26 27.7 

Commercial 0 0.0 3 3.4 2 0.6 13 13.1 0 0.0 18 17.1 

Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 8 10.6 0 0.0 8 10.6 

Inner North & East 0 0.0 2050 197.5 3201 251.0 1387 1620.0 205 14.4 6843 2083.0 

Commercial 0 0.0 1969 164.0 3198 248.7 907 161.0 203 14.3 6277 588.0 

Industrial 0 0.0 81 33.5 3 2.2 440 983.8 2 0.2 526 1019.7 
Large Lot 

Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 40 475.2 0 0.0 40 475.2 

Inner Westside 0 0.0 274 134.6 156 38.7 156 281.8 19 6.2 605 461.2 

Commercial 0 0.0 264 118.8 155 38.0 111 172.5 19 6.2 549 335.6 

Industrial 0 0.0 10 15.8 1 0.7 45 109.3 0 0.0 56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 0 0.0 97 78.3 12 9.6 708 2368.4 0 0.0 817 2456.4 

Commercial 0 0.0 91 70.5 12 9.6 458 1243.0 0 0.0 561 1323.1 

Industrial 0 0.0 6 7.8 0 0.0 214 965.3 0 0.0 220 973.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 36 160.1 0 0.0 36 160.1 

Outer I-5 0 0.0 58 122.4 6 11.6 253 796.9 0 0.0 317 930.8 

Commercial 0 0.0 16 15.9 1 4.4 41 51.7 0 0.0 58 72.0 

Industrial 0 0.0 26 75.6 5 7.2 128 506.8 0 0.0 159 589.5 
Large Lot 

Industrial 0 0.0 16 30.9 0 0.0 84 238.4 0 0.0 100 269.3 

Outer Westside 0 0.0 129 127.7 8 2.5 622 2982.9 0 0.0 759 3113.1 

Commercial 0 0.0 115 108.7 8 2.5 259 480.8 0 0.0 382 591.9 

Industrial 0 0.0 14 19.0 0 0.0 289 1402.4 0 0.0 303 1421.4 
Large Lot 

Industrial 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 74 1099.7 0 0.0 74 1099.7 

Grand Total 69 8.0 3589 1026.7 4506 457.5 3720 9759.6 643 74.4 12527 11326.2 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 26 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 15: Transit access index 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 27 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

""1 

J 



Description of any development constraints or infrastructure needs that affect 
the buildable area of sites in the inventory 
The methodology used for the buildable land inventory removes environmentally constrained acres.  

Table 11: Environmentally constrained acres removed from buildable land inventory 

  Acres of Environmentally Constrained Land 

Central                                       71.26  

Commercial                                                             69.71  

Industrial                                                                1.56  

East Mult Co                                    477.20  

Commercial                                                           104.78  

Industrial                                                           261.39  
Large Lot 

Industrial                                                             111.03  

Inner Clackamas                                      30.54  

Commercial                                                                6.51  

Industrial                                                            24.03  

Inner I-5                                        4.58  

Commercial                                                               2.44  

Industrial                                                                2.13  

Inner North & East                                   1,541.21  

Commercial                                                           178.78  

Industrial                                                           901.95  
Large Lot 

Industrial                                                          460.48  

Inner Westside                                     163.23  

Commercial                                                           107.47  

Industrial                                                            55.76  

Outer Clackamas                                     651.57  

Commercial                                                           390.51  

Industrial                                                          228.82  
Large Lot 

Industrial                                                            32.23  

Outer I-5                                     241.22  

Commercial                                                             21.06  

Industrial                                                           175.34  
Large Lot 

Industrial                                                            44.82  

Outer Westside                                     518.17  

Commercial                                                           134.56  

Industrial                                                          226.63  
Large Lot 

Industrial                                                           156.98  

Grand Total                                 3,698.98  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 28 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 12 describes constraints from slopes. Areas with slopes over 25 percent are removed from the 
buildable land inventory. For this site characteristics analysis, areas with slopes over 7% are identified. 

Unconstrained:  10% or less of the taxlot has steep slopes 
Partially Constrained: 10.01% to 50% of the taxlot has steep slopes 
Constrained: 50 to 89.99% of the lot has steep slopes  
Heavily Constrained: Greater than 90% of the site has steep slopes 
Table 12: Steep (>7%) slope constraints (slopes over 25% are removed from buildable land inventory) 

  Unconstrained Partially constrained Constrained Heavily constrained Total 

Row Labels Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 230 29.6 407 29.7 317 74.8 1107 144.3 2061 278.5 
Commercial 218 28.4 395 29.0 308 66.6 1077 131.8 1998 255.8 
Industrial 12 1.2 12 0.7 9 8.2 30 12.6 63 22.6 

East Mult Co 94 245.4 62 52.5 202 815.6 634 691.3 992 1804.9 
Commercial 43 62.9 42 24.2 88 151.9 529 234.6 702 473.6 
Industrial 49 132.4 20 28.3 100 397.3 91 238.1 260 796.1 
Large Lot Industrial 2 50.1     14 266.3 14 218.7 30 535.1 

Inner Clackamas 14 2.8 9 4.1 26 99.4 49 33.6 98 139.9 
Commercial 7 1.4 3 2.9 13 9.3 36 19.3 59 32.9 
Industrial 7 1.4 6 1.2 13 90.0 13 14.4 39 107.0 

Inner I-5 10 7.9 2 0.7 6 10.9 8 8.2 26 27.7 
Commercial 10 7.9     4 6.1 4 3.1 18 17.1 
Industrial     2 0.7 2 4.8 4 5.1 8 10.6 

Inner North & East 337 101.8 764 67.9 848 1161.5 4885 751.8 6834 2083.0 
Commercial 254 39.6 674 53.0 650 131.8 4699 363.7 6277 588.0 
Industrial 80 57.2 88 13.6 186 664.3 172 284.6 526 1019.7 
Large Lot Industrial 3 4.9 2 1.3 12 365.5 14 103.5 31 475.2 

Inner Westside 140 92.6 143 33.0 167 164.1 155 171.6 605 461.2 
Commercial 122 50.8 142 32.8 145 115.1 140 136.8 549 335.6 
Industrial 18 41.7 1 0.2 22 49.0 15 34.7 56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 156 516.5 123 241.3 251 888.5 261 783.6 791 2429.9 
Commercial 112 290.3 81 129.8 186 525.8 182 377.3 561 1323.1 
Industrial 39 158.8 42 111.5 65 362.7 74 340.1 220 973.1 
Large Lot Industrial 5 67.4         5 66.2 10 133.6 

Outer I-5 41 198.2 21 18.4 90 396.3 90 318.0 242 930.8 
Commercial 7 8.3 13 11.8 13 19.7 25 32.2 58 72.0 
Industrial 27 80.7 6 2.1 67 291.3 59 215.4 159 589.5 
Large Lot Industrial 7 109.2 2 4.5 10 85.2 6 70.4 25 269.3 

Outer Westside 72 87.6 27 90.8 181 1205.9 460 1728.8 740 3113.1 
Commercial 42 34.8 22 75.4 76 155.6 242 326.2 382 591.9 
Industrial 28 51.4 5 15.4 96 730.7 174 624.0 303 1421.4 
Large Lot Industrial 2 1.5     9 319.6 44 778.6 55 1099.7 

Grand Total 1094 1282.5 1558 538.4 2088 4816.9 7649 4631.1 12389 11268.8 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 29 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

 

Table 13: Marine use restrictions 

  No Marine Restrictions Marine Restrictions Total 

Row Labels Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 2060 278.4 1 0.0 2061 278.5 

Commercial 1997 255.8 1 0.0 1998 255.8 

Industrial 63 22.6 0 0.0 63 22.6 

East Mult Co 922 1636.5 79 199.2 1001 1835.7 

Commercial 695 457.6 7 16.0 702 473.6 

Industrial 191 636.5 69 159.7 260 796.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 36 542.5 3 23.5 39 565.9 

Inner Clackamas 98 139.9 0 0.0 98 139.9 

Commercial 59 32.9 0 0.0 59 32.9 

Industrial 39 107.0 0 0.0 39 107.0 

Inner I-5 26 27.7 0 0.0 26 27.7 

Commercial 18 17.1 0 0.0 18 17.1 

Industrial 8 10.6 0 0.0 8 10.6 

Inner North & East 6186 949.7 657 1133.2 6843 2083.0 

Commercial 6127 499.4 150 88.6 6277 588.0 

Industrial 45 182.6 481 837.2 526 1019.7 
Large Lot 

Industrial 14 267.7 26 207.5 40 475.2 

Inner Westside 605 461.2 0 0.0 605 461.2 

Commercial 549 335.6 0 0.0 549 335.6 

Industrial 56 125.7 0 0.0 56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 817 2456.4 0 0.0 817 2456.4 

Commercial 561 1323.1 0 0.0 561 1323.1 

Industrial 220 973.1 0 0.0 220 973.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 36 160.1 0 0.0 36 160.1 

Outer I-5 317 930.8 0 0.0 317 930.8 

Commercial 58 72.0 0 0.0 58 72.0 

Industrial 159 589.5 0 0.0 159 589.5 
Large Lot 

Industrial 100 269.3 0 0.0 100 269.3 

Outer Westside 759 3113.1 0 0.0 759 3113.1 

Commercial 382 591.9 0 0.0 382 591.9 

Industrial 303 1421.4 0 0.0 303 1421.4 
Large Lot 

Industrial 74 1099.7 0 0.0 74 1099.7 

Grand Total 11790 9993.7 737 1332.4 12527 11326.2 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 30 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

 

 

  Map 16: Marine use restrictions 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 31 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

\ 
/' 1 I 

/ 
; .----, . • + 

r' 
i r--

r .j 

I ?-i-;;-£!-! .. :·~*·~-, 

/ 

( 

I 

i 

r 
I 

\ 

./ 
:1 

r--""--v."-~ "~C'-'_ - '-\!~--il T -' ( "~~ 
! 

• • • • , 1 ~ 
~ 

t 1 <l.> 

5 ; ~ 
1 

, 
~! ~ ] > .! 

< ;: .- il; 
b" "'0 

~ &~f 
I J <l.> ~;2 _ 

"' !', ·3 
~ 3 f ~%~ ! , • ~ • 3 C E.,...; 8 • ·C ~ ~ 

<\S£i :::.; 
;;;:3:2. 



Table 14: Aviation overlay zones 

  No Aviation Overlay Aviation Overlay Zone Total 

Row Labels Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 2061 278.5 0 0.0 2061 278.5 

Commercial 1998 255.8 0 0.0 1998 255.8 

Industrial 63 22.6 0 0.0 63 22.6 

East Mult Co 702 985.9 299 849.8 1001 1835.7 

Commercial 560 305.4 142 168.2 702 473.6 

Industrial 117 368.4 143 427.7 260 796.1 

Large Lot Industrial 25 312.1 14 253.9 39 565.9 

Inner Clackamas 98 139.9 0 0.0 98 139.9 

Commercial 59 32.9 0 0.0 59 32.9 

Industrial 39 107.0 0 0.0 39 107.0 

Inner I-5 26 27.7 0 0.0 26 27.7 

Commercial 18 17.1 0 0.0 18 17.1 

Industrial 8 10.6 0 0.0 8 10.6 

Inner North & East 5351 874.4 1492 1208.6 6843 2083.0 

Commercial 5138 369.5 1139 218.5 6277 588.0 

Industrial 189 226.6 337 793.2 526 1019.7 

Large Lot Industrial 24 278.3 16 196.9 40 475.2 

Inner Westside 605 461.2 0 0.0 605 461.2 

Commercial 549 335.6 0 0.0 549 335.6 

Industrial 56 125.7 0 0.0 56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 817 2456.4 0 0.0 817 2456.4 

Commercial 561 1323.1 0 0.0 561 1323.1 

Industrial 220 973.1 0 0.0 220 973.1 

Large Lot Industrial 36 160.1 0 0.0 36 160.1 

Outer I-5 317 930.8 0 0.0 317 930.8 

Commercial 58 72.0 0 0.0 58 72.0 

Industrial 159 589.5 0 0.0 159 589.5 

Large Lot Industrial 100 269.3 0 0.0 100 269.3 

Outer Westside 632 2049.4 127 1063.6 759 3113.1 

Commercial 371 544.5 11 47.5 382 591.9 

Industrial 207 909.8 96 511.6 303 1421.4 

Large Lot Industrial 54 595.2 20 504.5 74 1099.7 

Grand Total 10609 8204.2 1918 3122.0 12527 11326.2 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 32 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



M
ap 17: A

viation overlay zones 

  
 

Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 9, Page 33 of 40

E
xhibit A

 to R
esolution N

o. 14-4582

, 

, 

" 

~ " -!"'::-';';i'~":":'';'~'?-''l 

L.··1 
l._ ., 

Aviation Overlay Zones 
With Employment Land By Type 
July, 2014 (ORAFf) 

:1: 

111 
" - '1 

", 
'-~') 

'" 

Comme rd.1 /'../ Ur~n growth bouoo~f'I t·,---·, ···--, 
Industria l / ''''' ... ,,/ CountV boundary 

L.r~ lot Industrial Mojo, anerial< 

• Aviation lone R"'e~ and t. ke, 

~Me(ro 

!o 
~! i 
:!i r / 
'-'.,..-' ....... _- ,. 

I 

\ 
\ 

'/-7 , 
• 

-

,l, '\ 
~,. 

--' 

\ 
- , • , , , 

" 

. _ ~.:+;_~;;,,>::~~~c. 

Mil'" 



Table 15:  Acreages by category of land in buildable land inventory 

  Developed Redevelopable Vacant Total 

Row Labels Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 120 57.4 1723.0 605.9 218 70.2 2061 733.6 

Commercial 94 38.4 1723.0 605.9 181 64.1 1998 708.4 

Industrial 26 19.0 
  

37 6.1 63 25.1 

East Mult Co 56 475.9 463.0 708.9 482 1452.4 1001 2637.2 

Commercial 14 25.1 416.0 395.5 272 353.8 702 774.4 

Industrial 34 159.4 45.0 215.3 181 602.2 260 976.9 
Large Lot 

Industrial 8 291.4 2.0 98.1 29 496.5 39 886.0 

Inner Clackamas     44.0 139.0 54 27.0 98 166.0 

Commercial     31.0 29.1 28 18.0 59 47.1 

Industrial     13.0 109.8 26 9.0 39 118.9 

Inner I-5     15.0 29.3 11 8.3 26 37.6 

Commercial     11.0 19.4 7 6.4 18 25.8 

Industrial     4.0 9.8 4 1.9 8 11.7 

Inner North & East 290 2697.4 5767.0 1362.7 786 748.2 6843 4808.3 

Commercial 79 118.9 5767.0 1362.7 431 144.7 6277 1626.3 

Industrial 192 2153.0 
  

334 419.1 526 2572.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 19 425.5 
  

21 184.4 40 609.9 

Inner Westside 6 41.9 437.0 381.9 162 290.3 605 714.1 

Commercial 6 41.9 406.0 289.1 137 243.5 549 574.4 

Industrial     31.0 92.8 25 46.8 56 139.7 

Outer Clackamas 37 271.1 476.0 1749.0 304 1445.5 817 3465.6 

Commercial     398.0 1285.2 163 722.2 561 2007.3 

Industrial 11 64.8 77.0 445.0 132 571.4 220 1081.2 
Large Lot 

Industrial 26 206.3 1.0 18.9 9 151.9 36 377.1 

Outer I-5 74 504.1 47.0 230.9 196 844.0 317 1579.1 

Commercial     13.0 32.9 45 87.7 58 120.7 

Industrial     33.0 196.9 126 458.1 159 655.0 
Large Lot 

Industrial 74 504.1 1.0 1.1 25 298.2 100 803.4 

Outer Westside 22 294.7 269.0 1628.4 449 2273.0 740 4196.1 

Commercial 1 10.9 164.0 475.3 217 732.6 382 1218.7 

Industrial 2 7.1 91.0 842.1 191 669.9 284 1519.2 
Large Lot 

Industrial 19 276.8 14.0 311.0 41 870.5 74 1458.2 

Grand Total 605 4342.5 9241.0 6836.0 2662 7159.0 12508 18337.5 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 34 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



M
ap 18: M

ean volum
e-to-capacity ratio for m

ajor roadw
ays and arterials 

  
 

Draft 2014 U
rban Grow

th Report 
Appendix 9, Page 35 of 40

E
xhibit A

 to R
esolution N

o. 14-4582

, 

, 

" 

'" 

Mean Volume-To-Capacity Ratio For 
Maior Roadwavs And Arterials 
With Employmentland ByType 
July, 2014 (DRAfT) 
Commercial Industrial La.,. lot Industrial 

0.00 - 0.25 0.00 - 0.25 0,00 - 0.25 
0.26 . 0.50 0.26 _ O.SO 0.26.0.50 

• 0.51 ·0.62 0.51 - 0.62 • 051 - 0.62 

A/ Urban 8row1h bou ,'(h'l' 

/" .. ' Count¥ bound3ry 

M.jor one,iol, 

Rivers and 10k" . ~Metro 

,l, 

-

'\ 
~,. 

--' 

Mil'" 



Table 16: Incorporation status (land inside city boundary) 

  Incorporated Area Unincorporated Area Total 

Row Labels Parcels Acres Parcels Acres Parcels Acres 

Central 2061 278.5     2061 278.5 

Commercial 1998 255.8     1998 255.8 

Industrial 63 22.6     63 22.6 

East Mult Co 914 1489.4 87 346.3 1001 1835.7 

Commercial 683 421.6 19 52.0 702 473.6 

Industrial 195 583.8 65 212.3 260 796.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 36 483.9 3 82.0 39 565.9 

Inner Clackamas 48 112.8 50 27.1 98 139.9 

Commercial 22 11.9 37 21.0 59 32.9 

Industrial 26 100.9 13 6.0 39 107.0 

Inner I-5 26 27.7     26 27.7 

Commercial 18 17.1     18 17.1 

Industrial 8 10.6     8 10.6 

Inner North & East 6832 1782.8 11 300.2 6843 2083.0 

Commercial 6277 588.0     6277 588.0 

Industrial 517 921.0 9 98.7 526 1019.7 
Large Lot 

Industrial 38 273.8 2 201.4 40 475.2 

Inner Westside 575 428.3 30 32.9 605 461.2 

Commercial 525 313.4 24 22.1 549 335.6 

Industrial 50 114.9 6 10.8 56 125.7 

Outer Clackamas 664 2124.0 153 332.4 817 2456.4 

Commercial 490 1244.0 71 79.1 561 1323.1 

Industrial 163 774.7 57 198.4 220 973.1 
Large Lot 

Industrial 11 105.2 25 54.9 36 160.1 

Outer I-5 203 600.6 114 330.3 317 930.8 

Commercial 55 67.6 3 4.4 58 72.0 

Industrial 124 459.4 35 130.1 159 589.5 
Large Lot 

Industrial 24 73.5 76 195.8 100 269.3 

Outer Westside 505 1920.4 254 1192.6 759 3113.1 

Commercial 227 327.9 155 264.0 382 591.9 

Industrial 228 1084.7 75 336.8 303 1421.4 
Large Lot 

Industrial 50 507.9 24 591.8 74 1099.7 

Grand Total 11828 8764.4 699 2561.8 12527 11326.2 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 36 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 19: Incorporation status (land inside city boundary) 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 37 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

.----' • 

/ 

( 

I 
./: 
J,',: 
'/.' 

i 

r 
I 

\ 
\ 

/ , 

/~ . -." 

:1 

r--""--v."-~ , 

,-4. 
I 



Table 17: Average land value per square foot 

    

  Average Land Value/Sq. Ft. 

Central  $                                   46.45  

Commercial  $                                                          47.38  

Industrial  $                                                           18.35  

East Mult Co  $                                     8.28  

Commercial  $                                                           10.30  

Industrial  $                                                            3.35  
Large Lot 

Industrial  $                                                             3.41  

Inner Clackamas  $                                     5.45  

Commercial  $                                                            7.04  

Industrial  $                                                            3.26  

Inner I-5  $                                     6.23  

Commercial  $                                                            6.90  

Industrial  $                                                            4.66  

Inner North & East  $                                    20.15  

Commercial  $                                                            21.51  

Industrial  $                                                            5.97  
Large Lot 

Industrial  $                                                            3.83  

Inner Westside  $                                     17.17  

Commercial  $                                                           18.27  

Industrial  $                                                            4.36  

Outer Clackamas  $                                     2.42  

Commercial  $                                                            2.62  

Industrial  $                                                             1.97  
Large Lot 

Industrial  $                                                            2.06  

Outer I-5  $                                     4.52  

Commercial  $                                                           10.57  

Industrial  $                                                            3.68  
Large Lot 

Industrial  $                                                              2.11  

Outer Westside  $                                     5.55  

Commercial  $                                                            6.99  

Industrial  $                                                             4.12  
Large Lot 

Industrial  $                                                            2.37  

Grand Total  $                                   20.99  

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 38 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 20: Land value per square foot 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 39 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

:! ~ 
~ • ~ 
, , ~ 



Table 18: Estimated acres for future rights-of-way on buildable land 

  Estimated Acres  

  for Future ROW 

Central                                        77.4  

Commercial 
                                                              

74.8  

Industrial 
                                                                

2.5  

East Mult Co                                      278.9  

Commercial 
                                                             

121.7  

Industrial 
                                                              

97.7  

Large Lot Industrial 
                                                              

59.5  

Inner Clackamas                                         18.5  

Commercial 
                                                                

6.6  

Industrial 
                                                                

11.9  

Inner I-5                                          5.7  

Commercial 
                                                                

4.5  

Industrial 
                                                                 

1.2  

Inner North & East                                      469.5  

Commercial 
                                                            

132.0  

Industrial 
                                                           

263.7  

Large Lot Industrial 
                                                              

73.9  

Inner Westside                                       103.5  

Commercial 
                                                              

89.5  

Industrial 
                                                               

14.0  

Outer Clackamas                                      495.4  

Commercial 
                                                           

363.3  

Industrial 
                                                             

108.1  

Large Lot Industrial 
                                                              

24.0  

Outer I-5                                       116.6  

Commercial 
                                                               

21.2  

Industrial 
                                                              

65.5  

Large Lot Industrial 
                                                              

29.9  

Outer Westside                                      496.9  

Commercial 
                                                             

217.1  

Industrial 
                                                            

158.5  

Large Lot Industrial 
                                                             

121.3  

Grand Total                                   2,062.4  

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 9, Page 40 of 40

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Appendix 10: 
Regional opportunity maps 

Though much of the UGR’s analysis is guided by Statewide Planning Goals, statutes, and administrative 
rules, it is also the policy of the Metro Council to exercise its powers to achieve the following six 
outcomes, characteristics of a successful region:  

1. People live, work and play in vibrant communities where their everyday needs are easily 
accessible.  

2. Current and future residents benefit from the region’s sustained economic competitiveness 
and prosperity.  

3. People have safe and reliable transportation choices that enhance their quality of life.  

4. The region is a leader in minimizing contributions to global warming.  

5. Current and future generations enjoy clean air, clean water and healthy ecosystems.  

6. The benefits and burdens of growth and change are distributed equitably.  
 

The UGR’s primary focus is on housing and employment growth capacity. Using Regional Equity Atlas 
data developed in partnership with the Coalition for a Livable Future and Portland State University, this 
appendix provides a series of maps that describe demographic conditions, access to housing, and access 
to employment. This appendix is intended to be descriptive, not prescriptive, and does not provide 
interpretation of these maps or policy recommendations. The maps are intended as another source of 
information that can inform the Metro Council’s outcomes-based growth management decision as well 
as work done by local jurisdictions, service providers, and private-sector partners. Additional 
background information on data sources can be found at: https://clfuture.org/programs/regional-
equity-atlas/about-indicators/indicator-metadata-data-links-documentation 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 1 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

https://clfuture.org/programs/regional-equity-atlas/about-indicators/indicator-metadata-data-links-documentation
https://clfuture.org/programs/regional-equity-atlas/about-indicators/indicator-metadata-data-links-documentation


30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Ma
p s

ave
d 6

/3/
20

14
 at

 T:\
201

4U
GR

\M
ap

s\A
ge

18-
44D

en
sity

.m
xd

Po
pu

lat
ion

 Ag
es 

18
-44

De
ns

ity
, 20

10
Jun

e, 2
01

4 (
DR

AF
T)

Urb
an 

gro
wt

h b
ou

nd
ary

Co
un

ty 
bo

un
da

ry
Ma

jor
 ar

ter
ials

Riv
ers

 an
d la

kes

No
 re

sid
en

tia
l po

pu
lat

ion

les
s d

en
se

mo
re 

de
nse

Da
ta 

sou
rce

: U
.S. 

Cen
sus

 20
10 

(P1
2).

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 2 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Ma
p s

ave
d 6

/3/
20

14
 at

 T:\
201

4U
GR

\M
ap

s\A
ge

45-
64D

en
sity

.m
xd

Po
pu

lat
ion

 Ag
es 

45
-64

De
ns

ity
, 20

10
Jun

e, 2
01

4 (
DR

AF
T)

Urb
an 

gro
wt

h b
ou

nd
ary

Co
un

ty 
bo

un
da

ry
Ma

jor
 ar

ter
ials

Riv
ers

 an
d la

kes

No
 re

sid
en

tia
l po

pu
lat

ion

les
s d

en
se

mo
re 

de
nse

Da
ta 

sou
rce

: U
.S. 

Cen
sus

 20
10 

(P1
2).

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 3 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Ma
p s

ave
d 6

/3/
20

14
 at

 T:\
201

4U
GR

\M
ap

s\A
ge

65p
lus

De
nsi

ty.
mx

d

Po
pu

lat
ion

 Ag
es 

65
 an

d o
ver

De
ns

ity
, 20

10
Jun

e, 2
01

4 (
DR

AF
T)

Urb
an 

gro
wt

h b
ou

nd
ary

Co
un

ty 
bo

un
da

ry
Ma

jor
 ar

ter
ials

Riv
ers

 an
d la

kes

No
 re

sid
en

tia
l po

pu
lat

ion

les
s d

en
se

mo
re 

de
nse

Da
ta 

sou
rce

: U
.S. 

Cen
sus

 20
10 

(P1
2).

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 4 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Ma
p s

ave
d 6

/3/
20

14
 at

 T:\
201

4U
GR

\M
ap

s\F
am

ilie
sW

ith
Ch

ildr
en

.m
xd

Fam
ilie

s W
ith

 Ch
ild

ren
De

ns
ity

, 20
10

Jun
e, 2

01
4 (

DR
AF

T)

Urb
an 

gro
wt

h b
ou

nd
ary

Co
un

ty 
bo

un
da

ry
Ma

jor
 ar

ter
ials

Riv
ers

 an
d la

kes

No
 re

sid
en

tia
l po

pu
lat

ion

les
s d

en
se

mo
re 

de
nse

Da
ta 

sou
rce

: U
.S. 

Cen
sus

 20
10 

(P1
9).

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 5 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



La
ke

 O
sw

eg
o

Mi
lw

au
kie

Ne
wb

erg
Or

eg
on

Cit
y

Po
rtl

an
d

Sh
erw

oo
d

Tig
ard

Tro
utd

ale

Tu
ala

tin

Va
nc

ou
ve

r

We
st

Lin
n

Wi
lso

nv
ille

Be
av

ert
on

Ca
nb

y

Da
ma

scu
s

Du
nd

ee

Fo
res

t
Gr

ov
e

Gla
dst

on
e

Gr
es

ha
m

Ha
pp

y V
all

ey

Hil
lsb

or
o

YAMHILLCO.
CLACKAMAS CO.

YA
M

HI
LL

C O
.

W
AS

H I
N

G T
O

N
CO

.

CL
AC

KA
M

AS
CO

.
M

U
LT

N
O

M
AH

CO
.

CLACKAMASCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CLA
RK

 CO
.

M
U L

T N
O

M
AH

C O
.

MULTNOMAHCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CE
NT

RA
L

EA
ST

MU
LT

NO
MA

H

IN
NE

R
I-5

IN
NE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

IN
NE

R
WE

ST
SID

E

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

OU
TE

R
WE

ST
SID

E
OU

TE
R

WE
ST

SID
E

IN
NE

R
NO

RT
H

& 
EA

ST

30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Ma
p s

ave
d 6

/3/
20

14
 at

 T:\
201

4U
GR

\M
ap

s\H
ou

seh
old

sW
ith

ou
tCh

ildr
en

.m
xd

Ho
use

ho
lds

 W
ith

ou
t C

hil
dre

n
De

ns
ity

, 20
10

Jun
e, 2

01
4 (

DR
AF

T)

Urb
an 

gro
wt

h b
ou

nd
ary

Co
un

ty 
bo

un
da

ry
Ma

jor
 ar

ter
ials

Riv
ers

 an
d la

kes

No
 re

sid
en

tia
l po

pu
lat

ion

les
s d

en
se

mo
re 

de
nse

Da
ta 

sou
rce

: U
.S. 

Cen
sus

 20
10 

(P1
9).

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 6 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



La
ke

 O
sw

eg
o

Mi
lw

au
kie

Ne
wb

erg
Or

eg
on

Cit
y

Po
rtl

an
d

Sh
erw

oo
d

Tig
ard

Tro
utd

ale

Tu
ala

tin

Va
nc

ou
ve

r

We
st

Lin
n

Wi
lso

nv
ille

Be
av

ert
on

Ca
nb

y

Da
ma

scu
s

Du
nd

ee

Fo
res

t
Gr

ov
e

Gla
dst

on
e

Gr
es

ha
m

Ha
pp

y V
all

ey

Hil
lsb

or
o

YAMHILLCO.
CLACKAMAS CO.

YA
M

HI
LL

C O
.

W
AS

H I
N

G T
O

N
CO

.

CL
AC

KA
M

AS
CO

.
M

U
LT

N
O

M
AH

CO
.

CLACKAMASCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CLA
RK

 CO
.

M
U L

T N
O

M
AH

C O
.

MULTNOMAHCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CE
NT

RA
L

EA
ST

MU
LT

NO
MA

H

IN
NE

R
I-5

IN
NE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

IN
NE

R
WE

ST
SID

E

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

OU
TE

R
WE

ST
SID

E
OU

TE
R

WE
ST

SID
E

IN
NE

R
NO

RT
H

& 
EA

ST

30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Ma
p s

ave
d 6

/3/
20

14
 at

 T:\
201

4U
GR

\M
ap

s\M
ed

ian
Fam

ilyI
nco

me
.m

xd

Me
dia

n F
am

ily 
Inc

om
e

by
 ce

ns
us

 tra
ct, 

20
08

-20
12

Jun
e, 2

01
4 (

DR
AF

T)
Urb

an 
gro

wt
h b

ou
nd

ary
Co

un
ty 

bo
un

da
ry

Ma
jor

 ar
ter

ials
Riv

ers
 an

d la
kes

< $
40

,00
0

$4
0,0

00
 to

 $6
0,0

00
$6

0,0
01

 to
 $8

0,0
00

$8
0,0

01
 to

 $1
00

,00
0

> $
10

0,0
00

Da
ta 

sou
rce

s: A
me

rica
n C

om
mu

nit
y S

urv
ey 

200
8-2

012
 (S1

903
).

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 7 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



La
ke

 O
sw

eg
o

Mi
lw

au
kie

Ne
wb

erg
Or

eg
on

Cit
y

Po
rtl

an
d

Sh
erw

oo
d

Tig
ard

Tro
utd

ale

Tu
ala

tin

Va
nc

ou
ve

r

We
st

Lin
n

Wi
lso

nv
ille

Be
av

ert
on

Ca
nb

y

Da
ma

scu
s

Du
nd

ee

Fo
res

t
Gr

ov
e

Gla
dst

on
e

Gr
es

ha
m

Ha
pp

y V
all

ey

Hil
lsb

or
o

YAMHILLCO.
CLACKAMAS CO.

YA
M

HI
LL

C O
.

W
AS

H I
N

G T
O

N
CO

.

CL
AC

KA
M

AS
CO

.
M

U
LT

N
O

M
AH

CO
.

CLACKAMASCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CLA
RK

 CO
.

M
U L

T N
O

M
AH

C O
.

MULTNOMAHCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CE
NT

RA
L

EA
ST

MU
LT

NO
MA

H

IN
NE

R
I-5

IN
NE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

IN
NE

R
WE

ST
SID

E

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

OU
TE

R
WE

ST
SID

E
OU

TE
R

WE
ST

SID
E

IN
NE

R
NO

RT
H

& 
EA

ST

30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Ma
p s

ave
d 6

/3/
20

14
 at

 T:\
201

4U
GR

\M
ap

s\P
ctC

ha
nge

_M
ed

ian
Fam

ilyI
nco

me
_2

00
0_2

01
0.m

xd

Ch
an

ge 
In 

Me
dia

n F
am

ily 
Inc

om
e

By
 Ce

ns
us

 Tr
act

, 20
00

 to
 20

08
-20

12
Jun

e, 2
01

4 (
DR

AF
T)

Urb
an 

gro
wt

h b
ou

nd
ary

Co
un

ty 
bo

un
da

ry
Ma

jor
 ar

ter
ials

Riv
ers

 an
d la

kes

20
.1%

 to
 93

.7%
10

.1%
 to

 20
.0%

2.1
% t

o 1
0.0

%
-1.

9%
 to

 2.0
%

-9.
9%

 to
 -2

.0%
-19

.9%
 to

 -1
0.0

%
-51

.3%
 to

 -2
0.0

%

Increase DecreaseNo change Da
ta 

sou
rce

s: U
S C

en
sus

 20
00

 (D
P0

3, a
dju

ste
d t

o 2
01

2 U
S d

olla
rs)

 
and

 Am
eri

can
 Co

mm
un

ity
 Su

rve
y 2

008
-20

12 
(S1

903
).

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 8 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



La
ke

 O
sw

eg
o

Mi
lw

au
kie

Ne
wb

erg
Or

eg
on

Cit
y

Po
rtl

an
d

Sh
erw

oo
d

Tig
ard

Tro
utd

ale

Tu
ala

tin

Va
nc

ou
ve

r

We
st

Lin
n

Wi
lso

nv
ille

Be
av

ert
on

Ca
nb

y

Da
ma

scu
s

Du
nd

ee

Fo
res

t
Gr

ov
e

Gla
dst

on
e

Gr
es

ha
m

Ha
pp

y V
all

ey

Hil
lsb

or
o

YAMHILLCO.
CLACKAMAS CO.

YA
M

HI
LL

C O
.

W
AS

H I
N

G T
O

N
CO

.

CL
AC

KA
M

AS
CO

.
M

U
LT

N
O

M
AH

CO
.

CLACKAMASCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CLA
RK

 CO
.

M
U L

T N
O

M
AH

C O
.

MULTNOMAHCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CE
NT

RA
L

EA
ST

MU
LT

NO
MA

H

IN
NE

R
I-5

IN
NE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

IN
NE

R
WE

ST
SID

E

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

OU
TE

R
WE

ST
SID

E
OU

TE
R

WE
ST

SID
E

IN
NE

R
NO

RT
H

& 
EA

ST

30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Ma
p s

ave
d 6

/2/
20

14
 at

 T:\
201

4U
GR

\M
ap

s\H
ou

seh
old

Po
ver

ty.
mx

d

Ho
use

ho
ld 

Po
ver

ty 
Ra

te
By

 Ce
ns

us
 Tr

act
, 20

06
-20

10
Jun

e, 2
01

4 (
DR

AF
T)

Urb
an 

gro
wt

h b
ou

nd
ary

Co
un

ty 
bo

un
da

ry
Ma

jor
 ar

ter
ials

Riv
ers

 an
d la

kes

0%
 - 5

%
5.1

% -
 10

%
10

.1%
 - 1

5%
15

.1%
 - 2

0%
20

.1%
 - 5

0.6
%

% o
f fa

mi
lie

s w
ith

 inc
om

es 
be

low
 th

e F
ed

era
l p

ov
ert

y li
ne

Da
ta 

sou
rce

: A
me

rica
n C

om
mu

nit
y S

urv
ey 

200
6-2

010
 (S1

70
1).

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 9 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



La
ke

 O
sw

eg
o

Mi
lw

au
kie

Ne
wb

erg
Or

eg
on

Cit
y

Po
rtl

an
d

Sh
erw

oo
d

Tig
ard

Tro
utd

ale

Tu
ala

tin

Va
nc

ou
ve

r

We
st

Lin
n

Wi
lso

nv
ille

Be
av

ert
on

Ca
nb

y

Da
ma

scu
s

Du
nd

ee

Fo
res

t
Gr

ov
e

Gla
dst

on
e

Gr
es

ha
m

Ha
pp

y V
all

ey

Hil
lsb

or
o

YAMHILLCO.
CLACKAMAS CO.

YA
M

HI
LL

C O
.

W
AS

H I
N

G T
O

N
CO

.

CL
AC

KA
M

AS
CO

.
M

U
LT

N
O

M
AH

CO
.

CLACKAMASCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CLA
RK

 CO
.

M
U L

T N
O

M
AH

C O
.

MULTNOMAHCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CE
NT

RA
L

EA
ST

MU
LT

NO
MA

H

IN
NE

R
I-5

IN
NE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

IN
NE

R
WE

ST
SID

E

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

OU
TE

R
WE

ST
SID

E
OU

TE
R

WE
ST

SID
E

IN
NE

R
NO

RT
H

& 
EA

ST

30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Da
ta 

sou
rce

: U
.S. 

Ce
nsu

s B
ure

au
 Su

mm
ary

 Fil
e 1

, 20
00

 an
d 2

01
0. M

ap
 sa

ved
 6/

3/2
014

 at
 T:

\20
14

UG
R\M

aps
\Pc

tCh
an

ge_
Pe

op
leO

fCo
lor

_2
000

_2
01

0.m
xd

Pe
op

le o
f C

olo
r

% 
Ch

an
ge

 By
 Ce

ns
us

 Tr
act

, 20
00

-20
10

Jun
e, 2

01
4 (

DR
AF

T)
Urb

an 
gro

wt
h b

ou
nd

ary
Co

un
ty 

bo
un

da
ry

Ma
jor

 ar
ter

ials
Riv

ers
 an

d la
kes

20
.1%

 to
 24

.2%
10

.1%
 to

 20
.0%

2.1
% t

o 1
0.0

%
-1.

9%
 to

 2.0
%

-9.
9%

 to
 -2

.0%
-19

.9%
 to

 -1
0.0

%
-27

.8%
 to

 -2
0.0

%

Increase DecreaseNo change Da
ta 

sou
rce

: U
.S. 

Cen
sus

 20
00 

(P0
08)

 an
d 2

010
 (P

9).

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 10 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



La
ke

 O
sw

eg
o

Mi
lw

au
kie

Ne
wb

erg
Or

eg
on

Cit
y

Po
rtl

an
d

Sh
erw

oo
d

Tig
ard

Tro
utd

ale

Tu
ala

tin

Va
nc

ou
ve

r

We
st

Lin
n

Wi
lso

nv
ille

Be
av

ert
on

Ca
nb

y

Da
ma

scu
s

Du
nd

ee

Fo
res

t
Gr

ov
e

Gla
dst

on
e

Gr
es

ha
m

Ha
pp

y V
all

ey

Hil
lsb

or
o

YAMHILLCO.
CLACKAMAS CO.

YA
M

HI
LL

C O
.

W
AS

H I
N

G T
O

N
CO

.

CL
AC

KA
M

AS
CO

.
M

U
LT

N
O

M
AH

CO
.

CLACKAMASCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CLA
RK

 CO
.

M
U L

T N
O

M
AH

C O
.

MULTNOMAHCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CE
NT

RA
L

EA
ST

MU
LT

NO
MA

H

IN
NE

R
I-5

IN
NE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

IN
NE

R
WE

ST
SID

E

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

OU
TE

R
WE

ST
SID

E
OU

TE
R

WE
ST

SID
E

IN
NE

R
NO

RT
H

& 
EA

ST

30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Ma
p s

ave
d 5

/30
/20

14
 at

 T:
\20

14
UG

R\M
aps

\Ac
ces

sto
Fam

ilyW
age

Job
s_n

ew
.m

xd

Tra
nsi

t A
cce

ss t
o F

am
ily-

Wa
ge 

Job
s

By 
Tra

vel
 An

aly
sis 

Zon
e (≤

 60
 mi

nu
tes

 tra
vel

 tim
e)

Jun
e, 2

014
 (D

RA
FT

)

Urb
an 

gro
wt

h b
ou

nd
ary

Co
un

ty 
bo

un
da

ry
Ma

jor
 ar

ter
ials

Riv
ers

 an
d la

kes

1+
Pro

xim
ity

 (m
iles

)
1

3/4
1/2

1/4
0

De
nsi

ty
low

me
diu

m
hig

h

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 11 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



La
ke

 O
sw

eg
o

Mi
lw

au
kie

Ne
wb

erg
Or

eg
on

Cit
y

Po
rtl

an
d

Sh
erw

oo
d

Tig
ard

Tro
utd

ale

Tu
ala

tin

Va
nc

ou
ve

r

We
st

Lin
n

Wi
lso

nv
ille

Be
av

ert
on

Ca
nb

y

Da
ma

scu
s

Du
nd

ee

Fo
res

t
Gr

ov
e

Gla
dst

on
e

Gr
es

ha
m

Ha
pp

y V
all

ey

Hil
lsb

or
o

YAMHILLCO.
CLACKAMAS CO.

YA
M

HI
LL

C O
.

W
AS

H I
N

G T
O

N
CO

.

CL
AC

KA
M

AS
CO

.
M

U
LT

N
O

M
AH

CO
.

CLACKAMASCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CLA
RK

 CO
.

M
U L

T N
O

M
AH

C O
.

MULTNOMAHCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CE
NT

RA
L

EA
ST

MU
LT

NO
MA

H

IN
NE

R
I-5

IN
NE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

IN
NE

R
WE

ST
SID

E

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

OU
TE

R
WE

ST
SID

E
OU

TE
R

WE
ST

SID
E

IN
NE

R
NO

RT
H

& 
EA

ST

30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Ma
p s

ave
d 6

/3/
20

14
 at

 T:\
201

4U
GR

\M
ap

s\A
ffo

rda
ble

Ho
usi

ng
.m

xd

Pu
bli

cly
 Su

bsi
diz

ed
 Af

for
da

ble
 Ho

usi
ng

Jun
e, 2

01
4 (

DR
AF

T)
Urb

an 
gro

wt
h b

ou
nd

ary
Co

un
ty 

bo
un

da
ry

Ma
jor

 ar
ter

ials
Riv

ers
 an

d la
kes

Aff
ord

ab
le H

ou
sin

g
Un

its 
pe

r lo
cat

ion
! (

0 -
 10

0
!(

101
 - 2

00
!(

201
 - 5

00
!(

501
 - 7

11

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 12 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



La
ke

 O
sw

eg
o

Mi
lw

au
kie

Ne
wb

erg
Or

eg
on

Cit
y

Po
rtl

an
d

Sh
erw

oo
d

Tig
ard

Tro
utd

ale

Tu
ala

tin

Va
nc

ou
ve

r

We
st

Lin
n

Wi
lso

nv
ille

Be
av

ert
on

Ca
nb

y

Da
ma

scu
s

Du
nd

ee

Fo
res

t
Gr

ov
e

Gla
dst

on
e

Gr
es

ha
m

Ha
pp

y V
all

ey

Hil
lsb

or
o

YAMHILLCO.
CLACKAMAS CO.

YA
M

HI
LL

C O
.

W
AS

H I
N

G T
O

N
CO

.

CL
AC

KA
M

AS
CO

.
M

U
LT

N
O

M
AH

CO
.

CLACKAMASCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CLA
RK

 CO
.

M
U L

T N
O

M
AH

C O
.

MULTNOMAHCO.
WASHINGTONCO.

CE
NT

RA
L

EA
ST

MU
LT

NO
MA

H

IN
NE

R
I-5

IN
NE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

IN
NE

R
WE

ST
SID

E

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
I-5

OU
TE

R
CL

AC
KA

MA
S

OU
TE

R
WE

ST
SID

E
OU

TE
R

WE
ST

SID
E

IN
NE

R
NO

RT
H

& 
EA

ST

30

U

0
2

4 Mi
les

Ma
p s

ave
d 6

/3/
20

14
 at

 T:\
201

4U
GR

\M
ap

s\H
ou

sin
gA

nd
Tra

nsp
ort

ati
on

Co
stB

urd
en

.m
xd

Ho
usi

ng
 an

d T
ran

sp
ort

ati
on

 
Co

st B
urd

en
Jun

e, 2
01

4 (
DR

AF
T)

Urb
an 

gro
wt

h b
ou

nd
ary

Co
un

ty 
bo

un
da

ry
Ma

jor
 ar

ter
ials

Riv
ers

 an
d la

kes

36
.9%

 to
 40

%
40

.1%
 to

 45
%

45
.1%

 to
 50

%
50

.1%
 to

 52
.2%

Ho
usi

ng 
an

d t
ran

spo
rta

tio
n c

ost
s 

(pe
rce

nt 
of 

ho
use

ho
ld 

inc
om

e)

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 10, Page 13 of 13

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Appendix 11 
MetroScope scenario specifications 

What is MetroScope? 
MetroScope is an integrated land use and transportation computer model. MetroScope’s main purpose 
is to systematically predict where employment and housing are more likely in the Portland-Vancouver-
Hillsboro MSA to locate based on a given set of supply assumptions (i.e., capacity), market demand 
factors and regional-level macro-economic forecast. Supply is determined based on measured estimates 
of employment and housing capacity found in the buildable land inventory (see appendices 2 and 3). 
This capacity is calculated from estimates of vacant, redevelopable, and infill land. Local zoning is 
overlayed on the buildable land inventory to determine its status for accommodating housing or 
employment. For areas outside of Metro’s jurisdiction, other sources are relied on to create capacity 
assumptions. The model will only allocate forecasted growth where capacity exists to accommodate the 
quantity of projected growth.  
 
Market demand for housing and employment purposes are derived from Metro’s seven-county 
population and employment growth forecast (see appendices 1a through 1d). MetroScope’s role is to 
find an economically efficient distribution of this regional growth and to allocate this growth down to 
smaller geographic units (e-zones and census tracts).  
 
The location choice for this market demand for housing is dependent on:  

1. The location and amount of housing capacity, type of housing, by census tract  
2. Household characteristics (household size, income, householder age, and whether the household 

includes children)  
3. Proximity to work locations/choices  
4. Relative home prices  

 
In the same way, market demand for employment land need follows a parallel behavior for location 
choice:  

1. The location and amount of industrial & commercial land by location (e-zone) 
2. Industry characteristics (i.e., by NAICS)  
3. Proximity to labor force, proximity to industry clusters & agglomeration  
4. Relative real estate prices  

 
Jobs by NAICS code are grouped together into building type affinities and these types are then matched 
up against the available supply to accommodate this demand. 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 1 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



How is MetroScope used to inform the 2014 Urban Growth Report? 
Cities and counties in the region have planned for growth. Currently, there is more than enough zoned 
capacity to accommodate household and employment growth beyond the year 2035. However, zoned 
capacity may not always be in synch with market demand. MetroScope provides a means of testing how 
the market may respond to the region’s adopted plans. To inform the 2014 UGR, three scenarios have 
been run to test the outcomes of continuing with currently adopted plans. The only difference in the 
input assumptions for the three scenarios is the level of demand assumed. Low, medium, and high 
growth scenarios were tested using the 2014 draft range forecast as the demand forecast control totals. 
MetroScope provides a number of outputs that are useful for the UGR, such as: 

• Estimates of how much of the region’s buildable land inventory may be market feasible in the 
next 20 years. 

• Estimates of how much of the seven-county MSA’s total population and employment growth 
may be “captured” in the Metro urban growth boundary. 

• Estimates of how much commercial employment may occur in industrial zones. 
• Data on housing demand by household type. 
• Information about possible socioeconomic outcomes of current policies, including estimates of 

household cost burdens from housing and transportation expenses. 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 2 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Overview of MetroScope scenario specifications 
Table 1 summarizes the input assumptions used for the draft 2014 UGR scenarios. Additional detail 
follows. 

Table 1: Summary of MetroScope specifications for 2014 UGR scenarios 

Theme Major category Subcategory Scenario Assumption 

DEMAND 

(FORECAST) 

Forecast control totals 
for 

Portland-Hillsboro-
Vancouver, OR-WA, 

MSA  

(7 counties) 

 

Source: MARIO14.xlsx 

Households 

2010: 867,794 (Census 2010) 

2035: 1,185,775 

2010-35: 317,981 %APR:   1.26% 

Employment 

2010: 968,800  (BLS 2010 estimate) 

2035: 1,484,500 

2010-35: 515,500 %APR:  1.76% 

SUPPLY 

(CAPACITY) 

Metro UGB 

Vacant Buildable 
Land 

2013 vacant land based on aerial photography, permit data, 
and assessor records and amended by local review. 
Environmental constraints based on latest 2010 data and 
major known utility easements 

Redevelopment 
and Infill 

Taxlots are eligible for re-development if the total real 
market value(land and improvements) per square foot is less 
than a “strike price” informed by local jurisdiction review 

Recent UGB 
Expansions  

Post-1994 expansion areas are a combination of local zoning, 
comp plans, and concept plans.  New areas inside the UGB as 
a result of HB 4078 are assumed to follow the Metropolitan 
Housing Rule (50% capacity in Multi-family) 

Prospective UGB 
Expansions 

Expansion locations based on the 2011 Urban Reserves 
decision and HB 4078. Timing of infrastructure availability 
informed by local jurisdiction review 

Tri-County Outside UGB 

Urban Areas 
Buildable capacity assumed to be twice the 2000 Census 
households, except where information was provided by local 
jurisdictions. 

Rural Residential  
Exception land , excluding public ownership and high-value 
properties. Dwelling unit capacity calculated from minimum 
lot size of local zoning. 

Measure 49 Assumes three dwelling units per Measure 49 claims 

Clark County Vacant and 2012 VBLM - provided by Clark County GIS, using Clark 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 3 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Theme Major category Subcategory Scenario Assumption 

Developed Land County methodology  

Rural Residential 2012 Draft rural residential study 

Urban Growth Area 
Expansions 

Clark Co. urban reserve areas in effect in 2009. Zoning is 
based on latest comp plans 

Columbia, Yamhill, 
Marion Counties 

Urban Areas 
Buildable capacity assumed to be twice the 2000 Census 
households, except where information was provided by local 
jurisdictions. 

OTHER  

FORECAST 
INPUTS 

Incentivized Redevelopment 

Three tiers of incentives ($50,000, $25,000, or $10,000 per 
new redeveloped unit) which reflect either active urban 
renewal or other incentives, such as a vertical housing tax 
credit (refer to separate schedule of investments) 

Residential Construction Costs (SDC fees) 
Per unit construction costs based on Metro and 
Homebuilders Association surveys. 

Residential Neighborhood Score 
Neighborhood score is an input that describes the relative 
desirability of different neighborhoods based on statistical 
analysis of historic residential sales data. 

Transportation and Accessibility 

 

Transportation networks from the Metro 2035 RTP: 

2010, 2015 forecast years: 2010 network 

2020, 2025 forecast years: 2017 network 

2030, 2035 forecast years: 2035 “financially constrained” 
network 

 

Demand forecast 
See appendices 1a through 1d for additional information about the population and employment range 
forecast that is used as a control total for these scenarios. The forecast is for the seven-county Portland-
Vancouver-Hillsboro metropolitan statistical area. 

Metropolitan area supply summary 

The land supply assumed for these scenarios is summarized in the following tables and graphs. This 
supply is made available to the model. Not all of the supply gets absorbed in the model during the 20-
year planning timeframe. 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 4 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 2: Residential supply (dwelling units) summary for 2014 UGR MetroScope scenarios 

Capacity source Single Family 
units 

Multi-Family 
units 

Total Units 

UGB -- Vacant 48,590 40,857 89,447 
UGB -- Redevelopment 70,110 233,128 303,238 
Future UGB Expansions 44,692 81,900 126,592 
3-County Outside UGB 20,818 5,087 25,905 
Clark County 58,635 26,687 85,322 
Neighbor Counties 41,387 5,003 46,390 
    
Region  284,232 392,662 676,894 
 

Figure 1: Residential supply (dwelling units) summary for 2014 UGR MetroScope scenarios 

 

  

0 200,000 400,000 600,000 800,000 

UGB -- Vacant 

UGB -- Redev 

Future UGB Expansions 

3-County Outside UGB 

Clark County 

Neighbor Counties 

Region  

Residential Capacity, Units 

Single Family Multi-Family 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 5 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 3: Employment supply (acres) summary for 2014 UGR MetroScope scenarios 

Capacity sources 
Commercial 

acres 
Industrial 

acres 
UGB -- Vacant 1,352 3,905 
UGB -- Redevelopment 2,900 3,210 
Future UGB Expansions 511 1,911 
3-County Outside UGB 162 73 
Clark County 2,641 2,799 
Neighbor Counties 272 536 

   Region  7,838 12,435 
 

Figure 2: Employment supply (acres) summary for 2014 UGR MetroScope scenarios 

 

 
  

0 5,000 10,000 15,000 20,000 25,000 

UGB -- Vacant 

UGB -- Redev 

Future UGB Expansions 

3-County Outside UGB 

Clark County 

Neighbor Counties 

Region  

Employment Capacity, Acres 

Commerical Industrial 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 6 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Metro urban growth boundary (UGB) supply 
Metro conducts a detailed buildable land inventory (BLI) for lands inside the urban growth boundary. 
The following is a brief summary of the BLI methodology.  For a much more complete description of the 
BLI methodology, refer to the Appendix 2. 

The starting point in the determining the BLI is the Metro Vacant Land Inventory, which is based on 
aerial photographs.  The region’s buildable land inventory is divided into “redevelopment” and “vacant”.  
Tax lots that were previously categorized as “partially vacant” are now sorted into either category or the 
other.  

Tax lots are considered vacant if they are either at least 95% vacant, or have an both an area of less than 
2,000 square feet and a developed part which is less than 10% of the entire tax lot. In addition, a portion 
of the area is set aside for future streets, calculated on a per tax lot basis. 

Tax lots which are considered developed are determined to be eligible for re-development if the total 
real market value (land and improvements) per square foot is less than a “strike price,” as described in 
Appendix 2. Tax lots which do not have the potential to provide residential or employment growth 
capacity are removed.  

Capacity on each residentially-zoned parcel is calculated as a function of the minimum lot size for its 
zoning class and the area of the tax lot under environmental constraint.  In the case of multi-family 
(MFR) zoning, redevelopment must add at least 50% more units over the number of existing units, or at 
least three units total.  For mixed-use zoning (MUR), the buildable area is split into residential and 
employment uses by a factor which varies over the geography of the UGB. 

Employment-zoned land applies a simple approach of netting out all constrained land. This is based on 
the input of the BLI technical working group, which indicated that constrained areas are typically 
avoided altogether by new commercial or industrial employment uses. 

Please refer to the maps “Vacant Residential”, “Vacant Employment”, “Infill Residential”, and “Infill 
Employment.” 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 7 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 1: Residential vacant buildable land 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 8 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 2: Residential redevelopment and infill buildable land 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 9 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 3: Employment vacant buildable land 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 10 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 4: Employment redevelopable buildable land 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 11 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Growth capacity in recent UGB expansions 
Planning documents, rather than GIS analysis, were typically the basis for how capacity in new urban 
areas is handled in the BLI.  Possible sources of information included draft comprehensive plans, 
adopted concept plans, draft concept plans, and conditions of approval that were attached to UGB 
documents. There are also assumed delays between areas being added to the UGB and availability of 
the area for development (reflecting the time that it takes for governance, planning, and infrastructure 
finance issues to be sorted out). For example, because of its ongoing challenges, it is assumed that the 
majority of the Damascus area won’t be available for development until the year 2025. Please refer to 
Map 5, which depicts the timing assumptions for land availability for development. This capacity also 
reflects the areas brought into the UGB by Oregon HB 4078.  These areas were assumed to follow the 
Metropolitan House Rule (at least 50% of housing in multi-family units). 

Map 5: Land availability timing assumptions for areas inside Metro UGB, including past UGB expansions 

 

Capacity in prospective UGB expansions 
For modeling purposes, it is assumed that designated urban reserves will be added to the UGB over 
time. Urban Reserves are areas adjacent to the UGB, which are deemed suitable to accommodate 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 12 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



development over the next 50 years. Modeling assumptions about future UGB expansions do not 
necessarily represent any policy direction or intent from the Metro Council and are strictly for research 
purposes in an attempt to model a continuation of policy implementation under state law. 

The initial set of urban reserve parcels included those designated “vacant” in an inventory. From this, 
environmentally constrained land was removed with the formula: gross buildable acres = unconstrained 
land + 20% Title 13 constraints + 0% Title 3 constraints. 

For urban reserve areas with residential capacity, the amount of net buildable acres is assumed be 75% 
of the gross acres, in order to account for streets and other public rights-of-way.  If the area was 
designated as having only industrial, no land was taken out. 

In the non-industrial areas, the net acres were split into Single Family Residential (70%), Multi-family 
Residential (24%) and Commercial (6%).  Residential densities were chosen to achieve a previous Metro 
Chief Operating Officer recommendation of approximately 15 units per net acre, though there is no 
official policy basis for this assumption going forward.  Exceptions to the above are where individual 
jurisdictions provided Metro with their own land use assumptions. 

The MetroScope model assumes that all the land available has the necessary infrastructure to enable 
development. It is assumed that in general an area will have infrastructure available roughly five years 
after its introduction to the UGB. 

Local jurisdictions provided Metro with the urban reserves timing in three phases (2025-2030, 2035-
2040, 2045 or later).  In some cases, at the request of the jurisdiction, portions of an urban reserve area 
were assumed to be made available in different years. 

Please refer to Table 4 and Map 6 for location, timing, and capacity assumptions of prospective UGB 
expansions. 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 13 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 4: Prospective UGB expansion modeling assumptions 

Code Year Available SF DU MF DU Total DU COM acres IND acres 

1C 2040 
 

2,815 4,443 7,258 28 0 

1D 2045 
 

0 0 0 0 1,159 

1F 2045 
 

0 0 0 0 492 

2A 2045 
 

4,064 6,414 10,478 40 0 

3B 2045 
 

713 1,574 2,287 10 0 

3C 2045 
 

658 1,454 2,112 9 0 

3D 2035 
 

1,052 2,324 3,376 14 0 

3F 2030 
 

685 1,514 2,199 9 0 

3G 2030 
 

479 1,058 1,537 7 0 

4A (1) 2040 
 

1,293 2,856 4,148 18 0 

4A (2) 2045 
 

4,282 8,109 12,390 51 0 

4B 2040 
 

343 759 1,102 5 0 

4C 2045 
 

1,790 3,955 5,745 25 0 

4D 2045 
 

2,863 6,325 9,188 39 0 

4E 2045 
 

2,132 4,710 6,842 29 0 

4F 2045 
 

694 1,533 2,227 10 0 

4G 2040 
 

1,643 3,630 5,273 23 0 

4H 2035 
 

949 1,348 2,298 8 0 

5A 2035 
 

247 545 792 3 0 

5B 2030 
 

4,405 6,952 11,357 43 0 

5D 2035 
 

1,223 1,929 3,152 12 0 

5F 2035 
 

0 0 0 0 257 

5G 2035 
 

403 890 1,292 6 0 

5H 2030 
 

239 340 579 2 0 

6A 2035 
 

2,369 3,368 5,737 21 0 

6B (1) 2035 
 

1,846 2,913 4,758 18 0 

6B (2) 2035 
 

798 1,260 2,059 8 0 

6B (3) 2045 
 

804 1,269 2,073 8 0 

6C (1) 2030 
 

694 1,314 2,008 8 0 

6C (2) 2035 
 

433 820 1,254 5 0 

6C (3) 2045 
 

429 813 1,243 5 0 

6D (1) 2035 
 

445 702 1,147 4 0 

6D (2) 2045 
 

815 1,543 2,358 10 0 

7A (1) 2040 
 

309 585 895 4 0 

7A (2) 2045 
 

456 864 1,321 5 0 

8A 2030 
 

206 0 206 0 3 

8C 2035 
 

663 1,046 1,709 7 0 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 14 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Code Year Available SF DU MF DU Total DU COM acres IND acres 

8F 2035 
 

1,453 2,742 4,195 17 0 

        

 
Total 

 
44,692 81,900 126,592 511 1,911 

        

 
2030 

 
6,708 11,177 17,885 70 3 

 
2035 

 
11,881 19,888 31,769 124 257 

 
2040 

 
6,403 12,273 18,676 77 0 

 
2045 

 
19,700 38,562 58,262 240 1,651 

 

Notes: 
"Code" is the identification code from the original urban reserves decision. 
Some reserves will have a different geography than when first defined, due to subsequent legislative 
decisions. 
For some reserves, subareas were assumed to become available for development at different times. 
Capacity for reserves 6A and 8A were provided by the City of Hillsboro, otherwise is from staff 
estimates. 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 15 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 6: Prospective UGB expansion modeling assumptions 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 16 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Growth capacity outside Metro’s jurisdiction 
For complete and consistent accounting of regional development, the modeling and forecasting of land 
use futures requires estimates of residential and employment capacity in outlying areas that fall in the 
shadow of the Portland socio-economic influence. These areas are: 

• Neighboring cities outside the UGB 
• Rural areas outside the UGB 
• Clark County urban and rural areas 
• Outer counties -- Columbia, Yamhill, and North Marion 

These adjacent areas are part of the economic region because there are significant cross border 
commuting and economic trade activities among all of the counties in the MSA. These socio-economic 
ties are difficult to disentangle and, as a consequence, excluding these counties would severely distort 
econometric models designed to analyze, forecast and assess the economic conditions of the greater 
Portland economic region. 

As a market equilibrium model, MetroScope mimics economic choices and conditions. A choice for some 
residents (and businesses / employees) may be to live in housing beyond the Metro UGB. Of course 
having supply (or capacity) outside the Metro UGB is not sufficient if there is not sufficient market 
demand for locations outside the UGB. 

Growth capacity in neighboring cities in the three-county area 
“Neighboring cities” are those jurisdictions that are inside Multnomah, Clackamas, or Washington 
County but outside the Metro UGB.  Metro staff assumed that the capacity of each neighboring city 
would follow historic development trends, roughly doubling its size during the next 20 to 30 years.  
These cities were invited to participate in the forecast distribution and capacity reviews. 

Where the neighboring cities did not provide GIS data to Metro (Canby, Molalla, Estacada, Gaston, and 
Banks), the initial 20-year dwelling unit supply was assumed to be equal to the number of households 
reported by the 2000 Census, file DP1.  The share of the capacity by Single family vs. Multi-family was 
also taken from the 2000 Census, and a default density was applied (SFR8 @ 8.7 units/acre and MFR1 @ 
12.3 units/acre).    

Where the neighboring cities did provide GIS data to Metro (Sandy and North Plains), each local design 
type was converted to a Metro standard zoning class, with the appropriate density applied.  The 
resulting capacity was assumed to be a 20-year supply.   

Please refer to Map 7 for capacity of the neighboring cities and unincorporated areas. 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 17 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 7: Residential growth capacity in neighboring cities assumed for modeling purposes 

 

Rural residential growth capacity in the three-county area 
At the outset of the Oregon Statewide Planning Program, counties were required to inventory farm and 
forest lands, and zone them as such, unless the land was physically developed by or irrevocably 
committed to other uses that made resource (farm or forest) use of the property impracticable. The 
process by which a local government shows this is called ´taking an exception´ to the appropriate 
resource Goal.  Most counties included ´exception areas´ in their comprehensive plans, providing 
locations for residential, commercial, industrial, and public uses outside urban growth boundaries. 

Taxlots on exception land (Metro RRFU zoning) were selected as having potential residential capacity. A 
subset of these was selected by criteria related to building value and ownership.  Residential dwelling 
unit capacity was calculated as a function of the minimum lot size from the local zoning of each taxlot. 

Based on an inspection of the tax lot records and aerial photos, taxlots having an assessed value of 
greater than $20,000 were considered developed, and excluded.  This value seemed to give a 
reasonable balance between including existing homes and excluding more marginal structures. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 18 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Taxlots were excluded if they were publicly owned (including US, state, county and city governments, 
cemeteries, water districts, school districts and other entities), owned by homeowner associations, or 
owned by major utilities.  These selections were made based on owner name and should be a good 
representation of properties that would not likely develop, though it is not an exhaustive list. 

The capacity for additional units was calculated by: 

(1) Divide the GIS acres by minimum lot size and round down to nearest integer 
(2) Subtract 1 if the parcel is already developed 
(3) Exclude all parcels that have been flagged as urban reserves or public properties 

Finally, some additional capacity was added for “lots of record”: 

(1) Select tax lots that are not developed but have zero calculated capacity 
(2) Of these, select lots that are at least 0.5 acre in size  
(3) Add 1 unit of capacity to each of these lots 

 

Please refer to Map 7 for a summary of the assumed capacity of unincorporated areas. 

Growth capacity from Measure 49 claims 
In 2004, Oregon voters passed Measure 37, which required state and local governments to either waive 
land use regulations or compensate landowners when a regulation reduces a property's fair market 
value. However, the scale of proposed Measure 37 development, especially in the Willamette Valley 
where 60 percent of the claims were filed, alarmed conservationists and farm groups. They worked with 
Democratic legislators to write Measure 49 during the 2007 legislative session and refer it to voters. 

Measure 49 gives landowners who have filed Measure 37 claims the right to build homes as 
compensation for land use regulations imposed after they acquired their properties. Claimants may 
build up to three homes if allowed when they acquired their properties. Claimants may build up to 10 
homes if allowed when they acquired their properties and they have suffered reductions in property 
values that justify the additional home sites.  

Measure 49 capacity assumptions are based on data collected from the state/PSU database on Measure 
49 claimants.  We assumed that each measure 49 claim would produce three additional single family 
houses. 

Growth capacity in urban Clark County, Washington 
The buildable capacity for Clark County inside the Urban Growth Area (UGA) was taken from the 2011 
Vacant Buildable Land Inventory (VBLM), a planning tool developed by Clark County to analyze 
residential, commercial, and industrial lands within urban growth areas. The VBLM analyzes potential 
residential and employment capacity based on vacant and underutilized land classifications.    

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 19 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



This potential capacity is used to determine the amount of urban land needed to accommodate 
projected population and job growth for the next 20 years during plan updates and to analyze land 
consumption or conversion rates on an annual basis for plan monitoring purposes. 

This approach differs from that used in the Metro UGB, but represents the best practices and local 
expertise of Clark County staff.  Capacity from future UGA additions was determined from the taxlots 
inside the "Urban Reserve" areas as defined in the most recent Comprehensive Plan.     

The model classifies lands into three urban land use categories residential, commercial, and industrial. 
Lands are grouped into land use codes based on comprehensive plan designations for model purposes. 
Lands designated as parks & open space, public facility, mining lands, or airport within the urban growth 
areas are excluded from available land calculations.  

To determine the buildable capacity, the following VBLM classifications were selected: 

Residential Vacant --  RES class 3, Vacant 
Commercial Vacant --  COM class 2, Vacant 
Industrial Vacant --  IND class 1, Vacant 
 
Residential Refill --  RES class 4, Underutilized 
Commercial Refill --  COM class 3, Underutilized 
Industrial Refill --  IND class 2, Underutilized 
 
To determine the buildable capacity for the MetroScope scenarios, each of the Clark County local zoning 
codes was converted to an equivalent Metro zone class, from a crosswalk table created by Clark County 
and Metro planning staff.   

Please refer to Map 8 and Map 9 that depict residential and employment buildable land in Clark County, 
Washington. More information about the VBLM can be found at 
http://gis.clark.wa.gov/vblm/assets/VBLM.pdf. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 20 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://gis.clark.wa.gov/vblm/assets/VBLM.pdf


Map 8: Clark County, Washington residential buildable land 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 21 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

Clark Co. Buildable land 
PllsidentiaiLmd 
jw-.e, 2014 (DRAFT) 

Gono " ' """"," T" .. 

• SO>oIo F_ ", 

• ""'om'" 
• .. >no v.. 

~METRO 

,~ 

f ,.,.,. J 
of H 

Milo, 



Map 9: Clark County, Washington employment buildable land 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 22 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Rural residential growth capacity in Clark County, Washington 
A formal Vacant Buildable Lands Model (VBLM) for determining future urban residential and 
employment land use capacity has been in place since the beginning of Clark County’s Growth 
Management Planning process. However, the VBLM excludes rural areas outside of urban growth areas. 
Since rural capacity is a component of the overall capacity a different, a simplified process has been 
created by Clark County staff to account for rural capacity. 

Rural residential lands have minimum lot sizes of 5 acres or more with the exception of rural centers 
which have minimum lot sizes of 1 acre. Rural residential and resource lands are classified as built, 
vacant, or underutilized lands.  

Classifications are based on criteria such as assessed building value, total area, and minimum lot size.  
Known public lands (Federal, State, and local) and Western Forest Protected Lands are excluded. Vacant 
lots four acres or larger, but less than minimum lot area, are considered buildable.  This is based on the 
potential of lots qualifying for legal lot determinations.   No reductions for critical areas. It is assumed 
that a building envelope would be available on larger rural lots.  

Other model assumptions 
The MetroScope model incorporates several other input assumptions that are intended as proxies for 
location preferences (neighborhood scores), system development charges, and development incentive 
programs such as urban renewal. 

Incentivized redevelopment 
Incentivized residential redevelopment is a set of model assumptions which represent attempts by local 
governments to revitalize specific areas, and in broader context, to implement the 2040 Growth 
Concept. 

The purpose of the incentive for is to make the units more affordable for development. This can reflect 
such things as active urban renewal or a vertical housing tax credit.  Many of the incentivized 
redevelopment areas are in higher-density locations that carry higher residential price tags (land prices 
and costs of construction per square foot are typically higher).  The impact of the incentive is that 
prospective homeowners (or renters) are more likely to locate in the area, other things being equal, 
because rents should be lower with the incentive than otherwise. 

The areas receiving incentives include Urban Renewal Areas, Regional Centers, Town Centers, and other 
development strategies (Portland’s Transit-Oriented Development and Neighborhood Prosperity 
Initiative).  The amount of incentive per dwelling unit for each areas is one of three tiers ($50,000, 
$25,000, or $10,000), estimated by Metro staff and local jurisdictions.    

In the MetroScope model, the incentivized capacity is defined by those taxlots which are both identified 
as having potential for redevelopment, and fall within the geographies of the areas described above. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 23 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



The incentive does not prioritize the housing capacity, but it does make it more likely to be built than 
non-incentivized capacity.  The non-residential supply is not incentivized. 

Please refer to Map 10 and Table 5 for more detail about the model’s incentive assumptions, which are 
based on currently adopted programs. 

Map 10: Areas with modeled assumptions for residential incentive programs 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 24 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Table 5: Areas with modeled assumptions for residential incentive programs 

City of Portland Type Incentive per DU SF DU MF DU Total DU 
Central Eastside Central City $50,000 0 1,196 1,196 

Downtown Waterfront Central City $50,000 0 3,376 3,376 

North Macadam Central City $50,000 0 10,574 10,574 

Oregon Convention Center Central City $50,000 0 7,105 7,105 

River District Central City $50,000 0 5,336 5,336 

South Park Blocks Central City $50,000 0 787 787 

Gateway Regional Center Regional Center $25,000 0 4,233 4,233 

Lents Town Center Town Center $10,000 682 17,209 17,891 

Education URA (PSU) Non-Center URA $10,000 0 831 831 

Interstate Corridor Non-Center URA $50,000 194 19,036 19,230 

NPI - 42nd Avenue NPI  $10,000 14 813 827 

NPI - 82nd Avenue and Division NPI  $10,000 38 2,690 2,728 

NPI - Cully Blvd NPI  $10,000 4 1,960 1,964 

NPI - Division Midway NPI  $10,000 0 507 507 

NPI - Parkrose NPI  $10,000 2 339 341 

NPI - Rosewood NPI  $10,000 61 248 309 

TOD - E 122nd Ave MAX Station Portland TOD $10,000 6 84 90 

TOD - E 148th Ave MAX Station Portland TOD $10,000 128 1,001 1,129 

TOD - E 162nd Ave MAX Station Portland TOD $10,000 4 54 58 

TOD - NE 60th Ave MAX Station Portland TOD $10,000 1 308 309 

TOD - NE 82nd Ave MAX Station Portland TOD $10,000 2 1,851 1,853 

TOD - SE Division St Portland TOD $10,000 1 978 979 

      Rest of UGB Type Incentive per DU SF DU MF DU Total DU 
Clackamas Regional Center $25,000 0 248 248 

Gresham Regional Center $25,000 14 365 379 

Hillsboro Regional Center $25,000 238 408 646 

Oregon City Regional Center $25,000 0 886 886 

Tanasbourne/AmberGlen Regional Center $25,000 8 1,553 1,561 

Gladstone Town Center $10,000 10 0 10 

Lake Oswego Town Center $10,000 3 33 36 

Rockwood Town Center $10,000 0 1,135 1,135 

Tigard Town Center $10,000 67 337 404 

      Outside UGB Type Incentive per DU SF DU MF DU Total DU 
Canby Neighbor City $10,000 0 600 600 

Sandy Neighbor City $10,000 0 600 600 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 25 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Vancouver Neighbor City $25,000 0 6,000 6,000 

      

   
SF DU MF DU Total DU 

Portland Total 
  

1,137 80,516 81,653 

UGB Total 
  

1,477 85,481 86,958 

Region Total 
  

1,477 92,681 94,158 

      Notes: 
     NPI = Neighborhood Prosperity Initiative 

    TOD = Transit Oriented Development 
    DU = Dwelling unit 
    MF = Multifamily 
    SF = Single-family 
     

System development charges (SDCs) 
SDCs are one-time fees charged by local jurisdictions that are based on the development of a property. 
They apply to both new construction and residential projects which increase impacts on infrastructure.   
State law allows SDCs to be charged to help pay for five types of capital facilities: water, stormwater, 
sewer, transportation, and parks. Local jurisdictions must provide research and analysis to justify the 
amount they charge for each SDC. 

SDCs for the MetroScope scenarios were estimated with data from the Homebuilders Association of 
Metropolitan Portland and a 2009 Metro study.  Separate fees were assumed for both single family and 
multi-family units. Please refer to Table 6 for details about the SDC assumptions used for modeling 
purposes. 

Table 6: SDC assumptions for MetroScope modeling (per residence) 

Jurisdiction Source SFR MFR 
Gladstone Home Builders $6,650 $6,650 
Happy Valley Metro Survey $30,000 $27,000 
Beaverton Metro Survey $21,087 $19,158 
Cornelius Home Builders $15,063 $15,063 
Durham Metro Survey $17,188 $17,188 
Fairview Metro Survey $7,091 $6,371 
Forest Grove Metro Survey $16,657 $16,657 
Gresham Home Builders $16,665 $16,665 
  Springwater Home Builders $31,034 $31,034 
  Pleasant Valley Home Builders $24,578 $24,578 
Hillsboro Home Builders $16,691 $16,691 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 26 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Johnson City Metro Survey $18,088 $13,081 
King City Home Builders $11,713 $11,713 
Lake Oswego Metro Survey $22,470 $15,378 
Maywood Park Metro Survey $18,088 $13,081 
Milwaukie Metro Survey $9,127 $8,750 
Oregon City Metro Survey $19,747 $18,747 
Portland Central City Metro Survey $18,088 $13,081 
Rivergrove Metro Survey $500 $500 
Sherwood Metro Survey $23,351 $17,897 
Tigard Metro Survey $16,535 $13,716 
Troutdale Metro Survey $14,659 $13,311 
Tualatin Metro Survey $17,185 $17,185 
West Linn Metro Survey $29,291 $22,257 
Wood Village Metro Survey $9,982 $9,982 
Wilsonville Metro Survey $22,123 $17,444 
Multnomah Cty Unincorp Metro Survey $16,500 $16,500 
Washington Cty Unincorp Metro Survey $18,000 $14,000 
Clackamas County Unincorp Metro Survey $19,000 $15,000 
Vancouver Staff Estimate $19,000 $15,000 
Battle Ground Staff Estimate $19,000 $15,000 
Camas Staff Estimate $19,000 $15,000 
Ridgefield Staff Estimate $19,000 $15,000 
Washougal Staff Estimate $19,000 $15,000 
Clark County Unincorp Staff Estimate $4,000 $4,000 
Other Rural Staff Estimate $4,000 $4,000 
Other Urban Staff Estimate $19,000 $15,000 

    Sources: 
   2011 Metro Survey, Homebuilders 2010 Survey, Metro Staff Estimates 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 27 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Residential neighborhood score 
The residential neighborhood score is rough measure of how much people would be willing to pay 
for a similar house in different locations around the region. It is used as an input assumption for 
modeling to recognize these market dynamics. There are a many reasons that an identical house in 
two different neighborhoods might sell for very different prices.  It could be because of the quality 
of the housing stock, a walkable business district, proximity to parks, or a number of other things.   

We don’t directly observe how much people are willing to pay for these things, but people pay 
indirectly for them by choosing a house (or apartment) that has the right bundle of amenities and 
price that suits their wants and needs.  For example, if apartments in a more walkable 
neighborhood cost more than apartments in a less walkable neighborhood, then we may be able to 
tease out how much that amenity is worth to people in dollar terms. 

Most of those things are very difficult to quantify or measure, and so we must perform a data 
analysis known as a “hedonic regression”.   A hedonic regression for housing tries to decompose the 
sale price into the various attributes of the house itself, such as house size and lot size, as well as 
location-based attributes, such as a typical commute time or school quality. 

Since we are forecasting over a 20 to 40 year time horizon, we tend to focus on the most basic and 
measurable of these attributes, the ones that we can derive from assessor and zoning data, such as 
house size, lot size and location. The raw data for this analysis come from the assessor files for 
single family homes sold between 2004 and 2012.  

In the end, each census tract gets a relative score between zero and one, which becomes a 
parameter in the MetroScope residential location choice equations.  Please refer to Map 11 for a 
depiction of neighborhood score assumptions. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 28 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Map 11: Neighborhood score assumptions by location 

 

Transportation and accessibility 
The MetroScope land use model is integrated with a transportation model, so that travel times can 

influence the location choices of households and employment, which in turn can influence vehicle 

trips on the transportation network. Transportation networks used in MetroScope UGR scenarios 

are from the Metro 2035 Regional Transportation Plan: 

 
2010, 2015 forecast years: 2010 network 
2020, 2025 forecast years: 2017 network 
2030, 2035 forecast years: 2035 “financially constrained” network 
 
Please refer to Map 12 for an illustration of which transportation projects were added in each year.  

A complete list of projects can be found at: 

http://library.oregonmetro.gov/files//2035_rtp_appendix_june2010_web.pdf  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 29 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://library.oregonmetro.gov/files/2035_rtp_appendix_june2010_web.pdf


Map 12: Transportation networks assumed in MetroScope modeling 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 11, Page 30 of 30

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

• 
o 

TrdllsporlaliUII N 
jWle,2014(DRAFr) elworks 

Additions to RTP by Model Yea, 2010 NelV«>rk, 

-- 2020, 2025 (20 Hne l"","' ) 

__ 2030, ZOlS (20:l5 Fe 
__ 20-<0 not"""" ) 

(2035 SlII t. net""",<) 

/'./ 1.0,,, " ow," ....... . .. 

"' .... , ...... .. 
)' , 
." 

o 

o 



Appendix 12 
Housing and transportation cost burden analysis 

Introduction 
This analysis is intended to inform discussions by local and regional policy makers, housing authorities, 
non-profit housing providers, home builders, and other service providers about how to ensure that 
current and future generations have adequate housing and transportation options to match their 
budgets. This appendix does not comprise the urban growth report’s analysis of regional housing needs, 
but is intended as additional information about how current local and regional policies may play out in 
the future. 

The following profiles describe historic and forecast housing dynamics for the 24 subareas pictured in 
Map 1. Subarea boundaries are based on groupings of Census Tracts that are intended to roughly 
approximate city boundaries, portions of cities, or groupings of smaller cities.  

Map 1: Subareas used for housing + transportation cost burden analysis 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 1 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



These profile sheets describe the total number of households, unique housing mixes, incomes, and 
housing and transportation expenses forecast for subareas in the Portland metropolitan region (within 
the Metro urban growth boundary (UGB)). Historic data are given for the year 2010 and forecast data 
are given for the year 2035. All dollars are expressed as 2010$. The scenario used to create these 
forecast data assumes a continuation of current policies and investment trends. Additional background 
on the assumptions built into the scenario is provided in Appendix 11. 

The results of these scenarios should not be taken as foregone conclusions. Different assumptions 
would produce different results. Changes in policies and investments can change the outcomes for the 
region’s communities. 

Household types 
The MetroScope scenario model uses 400 types of households1 that are determined by household size, 
income, household age and whether children are present. To make analysis and presentation feasible, 
the 400 types have been simplified to eight household types. 

These eight household types are ranked roughly commensurate with income (income generally 
increases from household type one to household type eight).  Differences in household characteristics 
translate into different choices of housing types and locations and transportation modes, as well as level 
of cost burden. 

Housing and transportation costs 
Traditionally, housing affordability analyses look at the cost of the residence itself without regard for 
transportation costs. In reality, people weigh a variety of factors when choosing where to live. One such 
factor is transportation costs. In many cases, highly desirable locations have high housing costs, but very 
low transportation costs (because of their central location and access to multiple modes of 
transportation), while other locations have lower housing costs, but very high transportation costs 
(because they are distant from jobs and services). In order to illustrate the tradeoffs of different housing 
choices, this analysis includes information about housing and transportation costs. 

Cost burden definition 
Homeownership represents an economic choice that requires some level of equity investment. Defining 
cost-burden for homeowners is somewhat more difficult than for renters since many homeowners 
regard their homes as not just a residence but as an investment. Homeowners often spend a substantial 
portion of their income on their home, but do not necessarily regard these expenditures as a burden. 
This is particularly the case for affluent homeowners. For these reasons, this analysis assumes that to be 

1 Household refers to the residents, not the residence 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 2 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



cost-burdened, a household must rent, not own. Nonetheless, for completeness, this report also 
provides data on all households (renters and owners). 

There is a generally accepted rule that no more than 30 percent of one’s income should be spent on 
housing. Because this analysis includes housing and transportation costs, that standard rule is adjusted. 
In 2007, many low-to-moderate-income households in the United States spent well over 50 percent of 
their income on housing and transportation2. In 2007, the national median percentage of income spent 
on these costs was 45 percent. For the purposes of this analysis, this report proposes that if a household 
rents its residence and spends 45 percent or more of its income on transportation and housing, it is 
considered cost-burdened. 

How do the results of this analysis compare with the analysis completed 
for the 2009 Urban Growth Report? 
Forecast cost burdens in this updated report are not as severe as those forecast in the 2009 report. The 
primary reasons for this are: 

• The 2014 population and employment forecast reflects the effects of the Great Recession, which 
dampened projected growth. The effect of having less population growth is that there is less 
demand and competition for housing. 

• The 2014 Urban Growth Report uses different methods to identify the region’s buildable land 
inventory. Additionally, urban growth boundary expansions have been made since the release of 
the 2009 report. The new inventory has more housing capacity than was assumed in the 2009 
report. This larger supply, combined with reduced demand, means that there is less housing 
price escalation forecasted. 

• The model’s transportation mode shares were updated to reflect actual data from the 2010 
Census. Those Census data point to an increase in the non-auto mode share, which reduces 
transportation costs, particularly for households with lower incomes residing in apartments. This 
influences the forecast. 

Regional summary of cost-burden analysis 
Tables 1 through 3 summarize income, housing expense, transportation expense, and cost burden data 
for households in the Metro urban growth boundary for the year 2010 and 2035 under three different 
growth scenarios (low, medium, high). Generally, there is not a big difference in median incomes or 
average household expenses when comparing the low growth scenario, medium or high growth 
scenarios. Not accounting for potential inflation, incomes and expenditures remain stable. Though the 
share of households that is cost-burdened is forecast to decrease slightly between 2010 and 2035, the 
forecast indicates an increase in the absolute numbers of cost-burdened households between the years 

2 Source: United States Bureau of Labor Statistics 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 3 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



2010 and 2035. Depending on the growth scenario, there will be between 3,000 to 27,000 more cost-
burdened households in 2035 than there were in 2010 (about 15,000 more cost-burdened households 
under the medium growth scenario, which represents the most likely outcome, if assumptions are 
correct). 

Table 1: Housing and transportation costs for all households in UGB (2010$) 

Year Median income Average housing 
expenditure 

Average 
transportation 

expenditure 
2010 $70,800 $21,200 $6,400 
2035 low growth scenario $69,500 $18,900 $5,200 
2035 medium growth scenario $69,400 $19,400 $5,200 
2035 high growth scenario $69,200 $20,100 $5,200 
 

Table 2: Housing and transportation costs for renter households in UGB (2010$) 

Year Median income Average housing 
expenditure 

Average 
transportation 

expenditure 
2010 $39,300 $9,200 $4,700 
2035 low growth scenario $40,400 $9,500 $3,600 
2035 medium growth scenario $40,300 $9,700 $3,600 
2035 high growth scenario $40,100 $10,000 $3,600 
 

Table 3: Cost-burdened households inside Metro UGB (2010$) 

Year Number of cost-burdened 
households in UGB 

Share of UGB households that 
are cost-burdened 

2010 104,100 17% 
2035 low growth scenario 107,100 14% 
2035 medium growth scenario 119,300 15% 
2035 high growth scenario 130,900 15% 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 4 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Portland CBD
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 12,453 26,936 28,799 30,771

Subarea share of UGB households 2% 4% 4% 4%

Total jobs 94,319 99,755 121,486 151,377

Subarea share of UGB jobs 12% 11% 11% 11%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 25% 16% 16% 16%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 14% 14% 14% 14%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 9% 11% 11% 11%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 6% 9% 9% 9%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 7% 10% 10% 10%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 11% 13% 13% 13%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 14% 12% 13% 13%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 14% 14% 14% 13%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $2,924 $2,234 $2,310 $2,327

Housing costs $13,000 $13,356 $13,849 $14,520

Transportation plus housing $47,743 $51,444 $51,945 $52,262

% of income spent on transportation 6% 4% 4% 4%

% of income of spent on housing 27% 26% 27% 28%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 33% 30% 31% 32%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $2,595 $2,202 $2,287 $2,313

Housing costs $8,723 $10,086 $10,385 $10,758

Transportation plus housing $36,852 $43,539 $43,814 $43,694

% of income spent on transportation 7% 5% 5% 5%

% of income of spent on housing 24% 23% 24% 25%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 31% 28% 29% 30%

Number of cost burdened households 5,023 7,043 7,278 7,535

% of total households that are cost burdened 40% 26% 25% 24%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 5 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Northeast Portland
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 45,169 59,229 62,113 64,657

Subarea share of UGB households 8% 8% 8% 8%

Total jobs 68,531 75,667 98,267 118,506

Subarea share of UGB jobs 9% 9% 9% 8%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 10% 10% 10% 10%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 11% 13% 13% 14%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 11% 11% 11% 12%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 9% 13% 13% 13%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 13% 13% 12% 12%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 16% 14% 14% 14%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 16% 12% 12% 12%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 14% 14% 13% 13%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $4,994 $3,573 $3,603 $3,606

Housing costs $23,495 $18,699 $19,020 $19,669

Transportation plus housing $75,246 $67,091 $66,341 $65,867

% of income spent on transportation 7% 5% 5% 5%

% of income of spent on housing 31% 28% 29% 30%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 38% 33% 34% 35%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $3,574 $2,777 $2,823 $2,837

Housing costs $10,192 $10,258 $10,428 $10,689

Transportation plus housing $42,581 $43,391 $43,211 $42,816

% of income spent on transportation 8% 6% 7% 7%

% of income of spent on housing 24% 24% 24% 25%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 32% 30% 31% 32%

Number of cost burdened households 6,776 8,139 9,373 10,815

% of total households that are cost burdened 15% 14% 15% 17%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 6 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Gresham - Wood Village - Fairview - Troutdale
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 50,370 54,486 58,514 61,795

Subarea share of UGB households 8% 7% 7% 7%

Total jobs 47,337 59,579 84,648 107,643

Subarea share of UGB jobs 6% 7% 7% 8%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 14% 12% 12% 12%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 17% 17% 17% 17%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 17% 16% 16% 16%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 16% 17% 17% 17%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 15% 13% 13% 13%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 10% 11% 11% 11%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 6% 7% 8% 8%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 5% 5% 6% 6%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $7,133 $6,013 $5,942 $5,856

Housing costs $13,835 $14,254 $14,760 $15,279

Transportation plus housing $48,152 $50,508 $51,277 $51,510

% of income spent on transportation 15% 12% 12% 11%

% of income of spent on housing 29% 28% 29% 30%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 44% 40% 40% 41%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $5,814 $4,744 $4,655 $4,596

Housing costs $7,954 $8,176 $8,320 $8,534

Transportation plus housing $34,119 $34,059 $34,195 $34,358

% of income spent on transportation 17% 14% 14% 13%

% of income of spent on housing 23% 24% 24% 25%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 40% 38% 38% 38%

Number of cost burdened households 11,661 10,529 11,192 11,879

% of total households that are cost burdened 23% 19% 19% 19%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 7 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

East Portland
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 46,867 56,388 62,322 66,924

Subarea share of UGB households 8% 7% 8% 8%

Total jobs 27,645 32,021 40,564 48,864

Subarea share of UGB jobs 4% 4% 4% 4%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 16% 17% 17% 17%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 19% 21% 21% 20%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 18% 17% 17% 17%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 13% 15% 15% 15%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 11% 10% 10% 10%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 9% 8% 8% 8%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 8% 7% 7% 7%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 5% 5% 5% 5%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $5,355 $4,237 $4,229 $4,211

Housing costs $12,666 $12,158 $12,297 $12,612

Transportation plus housing $45,500 $42,320 $42,263 $42,223

% of income spent on transportation 12% 10% 10% 10%

% of income of spent on housing 28% 29% 29% 30%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 40% 39% 39% 40%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $4,492 $3,653 $3,671 $3,675

Housing costs $8,018 $8,264 $8,370 $8,554

Transportation plus housing $36,282 $36,133 $36,244 $36,270

% of income spent on transportation 12% 10% 10% 10%

% of income of spent on housing 22% 23% 23% 24%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 34% 33% 33% 34%

Number of cost burdened households 8,694 9,795 11,885 13,331

% of total households that are cost burdened 19% 17% 19% 20%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 8 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Southeast Portland
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 70,189 101,189 108,274 114,796

Subarea share of UGB households 12% 13% 13% 13%

Total jobs 63,642 75,385 95,124 111,192

Subarea share of UGB jobs 8% 9% 8% 8%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 12% 12% 12% 13%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 15% 17% 17% 18%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 13% 14% 14% 14%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 10% 14% 14% 13%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 13% 13% 13% 13%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 14% 12% 13% 12%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 14% 9% 9% 9%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 10% 9% 8% 8%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $4,356 $3,173 $3,214 $3,222

Housing costs $19,401 $15,281 $15,488 $15,913

Transportation plus housing $61,413 $53,356 $52,729 $52,300

% of income spent on transportation 7% 6% 6% 6%

% of income of spent on housing 32% 29% 29% 30%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 39% 35% 35% 37%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $3,172 $2,550 $2,610 $2,640

Housing costs $9,078 $9,122 $9,277 $9,502

Transportation plus housing $35,891 $36,638 $36,668 $36,588

% of income spent on transportation 9% 7% 7% 7%

% of income of spent on housing 25% 25% 25% 26%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 34% 32% 32% 33%

Number of cost burdened households 14,384 17,760 21,535 24,075

% of total households that are cost burdened 20% 18% 20% 21%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 9 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

West Portland
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 50,659 79,500 83,625 87,454

Subarea share of UGB households 8% 10% 10% 10%

Total jobs 69,835 77,972 94,795 108,713

Subarea share of UGB jobs 9% 9% 8% 8%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 9% 7% 7% 7%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 11% 13% 13% 13%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 8% 10% 10% 11%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 8% 13% 13% 13%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 11% 14% 13% 13%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 13% 12% 13% 13%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 15% 10% 10% 10%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 24% 21% 21% 20%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $4,791 $3,586 $3,661 $3,674

Housing costs $28,743 $21,391 $22,027 $22,924

Transportation plus housing $92,611 $79,918 $79,887 $79,619

% of income spent on transportation 5% 4% 5% 5%

% of income of spent on housing 31% 27% 28% 29%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 36% 31% 32% 33%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $2,915 $2,505 $2,583 $2,602

Housing costs $9,375 $9,972 $10,241 $10,544

Transportation plus housing $37,144 $40,621 $40,782 $40,376

% of income spent on transportation 8% 6% 6% 6%

% of income of spent on housing 25% 25% 25% 26%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 33% 31% 31% 33%

Number of cost burdened households 10,572 13,722 15,324 16,996

% of total households that are cost burdened 21% 17% 18% 19%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 10 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

North Portland
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 24,136 36,615 39,313 43,286

Subarea share of UGB households 4% 5% 5% 5%

Total jobs 46,198 58,570 73,250 84,984

Subarea share of UGB jobs 6% 7% 6% 6%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 15% 18% 19% 19%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 17% 19% 19% 20%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 16% 14% 14% 14%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 11% 14% 13% 13%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 11% 10% 9% 9%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 12% 10% 10% 10%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 9% 7% 7% 7%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 8% 8% 8% 8%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $4,646 $3,476 $3,491 $3,465

Housing costs $16,376 $13,867 $14,065 $14,302

Transportation plus housing $53,704 $47,086 $46,788 $46,295

% of income spent on transportation 9% 7% 7% 7%

% of income of spent on housing 30% 29% 30% 31%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 39% 37% 38% 38%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $3,704 $3,086 $3,132 $3,157

Housing costs $9,659 $9,740 $9,906 $10,072

Transportation plus housing $40,207 $41,723 $41,710 $41,576

% of income spent on transportation 9% 7% 8% 8%

% of income of spent on housing 24% 23% 24% 24%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 33% 31% 31% 32%

Number of cost burdened households 4,110 5,636 6,507 7,586

% of total households that are cost burdened 17% 15% 17% 18%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 11 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Lake Oswego
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 16,603 17,437 17,631 17,865

Subarea share of UGB households 3% 2% 2% 2%

Total jobs 17,104 17,169 22,315 27,970

Subarea share of UGB jobs 2% 2% 2% 2%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 4% 1% 1% 1%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 2% 1% 1% 1%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 3% 2% 2% 2%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 5% 5% 4% 5%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 9% 6% 6% 6%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 11% 9% 9% 9%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 20% 19% 19% 19%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 45% 56% 56% 56%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $8,257 $7,636 $7,745 $7,758

Housing costs $50,955 $41,662 $43,353 $45,698

Transportation plus housing $141,648 $161,016 $161,145 $161,302

% of income spent on transportation 6% 5% 5% 5%

% of income of spent on housing 36% 26% 27% 28%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 42% 31% 32% 33%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $5,740 $5,106 $5,180 $5,153

Housing costs $13,652 $14,366 $14,848 $15,367

Transportation plus housing $57,373 $62,950 $63,126 $62,558

% of income spent on transportation 10% 8% 8% 8%

% of income of spent on housing 24% 23% 24% 25%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 34% 31% 32% 33%

Number of cost burdened households 1,137 734 729 836

% of total households that are cost burdened 7% 4% 4% 5%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 12 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Gladstone - Clackamas
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 17,287 18,299 18,742 18,978

Subarea share of UGB households 3% 2% 2% 2%

Total jobs 7,797 9,231 11,472 13,860

Subarea share of UGB jobs 1% 1% 1% 1%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 13% 12% 12% 12%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 13% 15% 15% 15%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 13% 13% 13% 14%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 14% 19% 18% 18%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 17% 15% 14% 14%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 15% 13% 13% 13%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 8% 7% 7% 7%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 8% 7% 7% 7%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $6,533 $5,564 $5,647 $5,674

Housing costs $17,130 $16,301 $16,761 $17,406

Transportation plus housing $59,771 $56,330 $56,367 $56,209

% of income spent on transportation 11% 10% 10% 10%

% of income of spent on housing 29% 29% 30% 31%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 40% 39% 40% 41%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $5,273 $4,590 $4,659 $4,661

Housing costs $9,226 $9,663 $9,884 $10,139

Transportation plus housing $41,257 $42,135 $42,231 $41,798

% of income spent on transportation 13% 11% 11% 11%

% of income of spent on housing 22% 23% 23% 24%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 35% 34% 34% 35%

Number of cost burdened households 2,291 2,161 2,296 2,417

% of total households that are cost burdened 13% 12% 12% 13%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 13 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Milwaukie
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 15,678 16,941 17,802 18,435

Subarea share of UGB households 3% 2% 2% 2%

Total jobs 18,431 21,159 26,147 31,029

Subarea share of UGB jobs 2% 2% 2% 2%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 14% 14% 14% 14%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 15% 17% 17% 17%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 16% 16% 16% 16%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 15% 19% 18% 18%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 15% 13% 12% 12%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 10% 9% 9% 9%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 6% 5% 5% 5%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 8% 8% 8% 7%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $5,509 $4,463 $4,537 $4,554

Housing costs $14,301 $14,172 $14,489 $14,881

Transportation plus housing $51,813 $49,626 $49,429 $49,025

% of income spent on transportation 11% 9% 9% 9%

% of income of spent on housing 28% 29% 29% 30%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 38% 38% 38% 40%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $4,621 $3,828 $3,883 $3,886

Housing costs $8,480 $9,050 $9,161 $9,304

Transportation plus housing $38,231 $39,865 $39,535 $38,929

% of income spent on transportation 12% 10% 10% 10%

% of income of spent on housing 22% 23% 23% 24%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 34% 32% 33% 34%

Number of cost burdened households 3,018 2,798 2,946 3,238

% of total households that are cost burdened 19% 17% 17% 18%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 14 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Happy Valley
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 16,448 18,879 21,068 22,945

Subarea share of UGB households 3% 2% 3% 3%

Total jobs 31,893 38,396 49,781 61,437

Subarea share of UGB jobs 4% 4% 4% 4%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 10% 10% 9% 9%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 6% 6% 6% 6%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 7% 8% 8% 8%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 10% 13% 13% 13%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 16% 18% 17% 17%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 17% 18% 19% 18%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 18% 16% 16% 16%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 16% 12% 12% 12%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $7,511 $6,255 $6,367 $6,359

Housing costs $21,858 $20,478 $21,432 $22,406

Transportation plus housing $83,437 $78,277 $80,090 $80,592

% of income spent on transportation 9% 8% 8% 8%

% of income of spent on housing 26% 26% 27% 28%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 35% 34% 35% 36%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $5,345 $4,313 $4,340 $4,299

Housing costs $8,857 $9,165 $9,281 $9,427

Transportation plus housing $41,450 $40,525 $40,359 $39,765

% of income spent on transportation 13% 11% 11% 11%

% of income of spent on housing 21% 23% 23% 24%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 34% 33% 34% 35%

Number of cost burdened households 1,836 1,858 2,246 2,553

% of total households that are cost burdened 11% 10% 11% 11%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 15 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Damascus
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 5,553 11,875 15,977 19,313

Subarea share of UGB households 1% 2% 2% 2%

Total jobs 2,608 8,676 14,570 23,308

Subarea share of UGB jobs 0% 1% 1% 2%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 5% 5% 5% 5%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 3% 5% 5% 5%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 5% 6% 6% 6%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 8% 12% 12% 12%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 15% 18% 16% 17%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 17% 17% 19% 18%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 23% 20% 20% 20%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 24% 17% 17% 17%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $12,160 $9,654 $9,639 $9,483

Housing costs $31,446 $27,706 $28,921 $30,047

Transportation plus housing $118,241 $106,869 $108,523 $108,418

% of income spent on transportation 10% 9% 9% 9%

% of income of spent on housing 27% 26% 27% 28%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 37% 35% 36% 36%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $8,417 $6,169 $6,096 $5,992

Housing costs $12,650 $11,305 $11,628 $12,152

Transportation plus housing $51,048 $38,170 $38,119 $38,706

% of income spent on transportation 16% 16% 16% 15%

% of income of spent on housing 25% 30% 31% 31%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 41% 46% 46% 47%

Number of cost burdened households 370 467 508 640

% of total households that are cost burdened 7% 4% 3% 3%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 16 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Oregon City
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 15,065 18,148 20,635 22,925

Subarea share of UGB households 3% 2% 3% 3%

Total jobs 14,383 18,250 24,351 29,561

Subarea share of UGB jobs 2% 2% 2% 2%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 12% 11% 12% 12%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 9% 10% 10% 10%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 10% 10% 10% 10%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 12% 15% 15% 15%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 18% 17% 16% 16%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 17% 16% 17% 17%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 13% 12% 12% 12%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 9% 8% 8% 8%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $9,105 $7,985 $8,122 $8,072

Housing costs $20,102 $19,041 $19,876 $20,371

Transportation plus housing $70,088 $68,430 $69,686 $68,884

% of income spent on transportation 13% 12% 12% 12%

% of income of spent on housing 29% 28% 29% 30%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 42% 39% 40% 41%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $6,717 $5,762 $5,771 $5,732

Housing costs $9,260 $9,598 $9,742 $9,756

Transportation plus housing $40,149 $40,680 $40,479 $39,990

% of income spent on transportation 17% 14% 14% 14%

% of income of spent on housing 23% 24% 24% 24%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 40% 38% 38% 39%

Number of cost burdened households 2,129 2,309 2,439 2,960

% of total households that are cost burdened 14% 13% 12% 13%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 17 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

West Linn
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 10,541 11,353 11,526 11,716

Subarea share of UGB households 2% 1% 1% 1%

Total jobs 5,777 6,189 7,699 9,168

Subarea share of UGB jobs 1% 1% 1% 1%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 3% 1% 1% 1%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 4% 2% 2% 2%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 5% 3% 3% 3%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 6% 5% 5% 5%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 11% 7% 7% 7%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 13% 11% 12% 12%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 20% 23% 23% 22%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 38% 48% 48% 48%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $9,395 $9,181 $9,319 $9,358

Housing costs $39,930 $37,501 $38,855 $40,699

Transportation plus housing $131,596 $152,163 $152,339 $152,281

% of income spent on transportation 7% 6% 6% 6%

% of income of spent on housing 30% 25% 26% 27%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 37% 31% 32% 33%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $6,860 $6,503 $6,597 $6,574

Housing costs $13,636 $14,154 $14,574 $15,016

Transportation plus housing $61,921 $68,335 $68,434 $67,605

% of income spent on transportation 11% 10% 10% 10%

% of income of spent on housing 22% 21% 21% 22%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 33% 30% 31% 32%

Number of cost burdened households 713 473 472 555

% of total households that are cost burdened 7% 4% 4% 5%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 18 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Wilsonville
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 8,892 11,634 12,471 13,260

Subarea share of UGB households 1% 2% 2% 2%

Total jobs 14,435 16,169 21,511 26,754

Subarea share of UGB jobs 2% 2% 2% 2%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 7% 3% 3% 3%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 6% 4% 4% 5%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 9% 6% 7% 6%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 10% 9% 9% 9%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 16% 14% 13% 13%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 14% 14% 14% 14%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 16% 20% 20% 20%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 22% 29% 29% 29%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $11,005 $10,393 $10,386 $10,334

Housing costs $29,733 $29,093 $29,948 $31,524

Transportation plus housing $91,844 $114,173 $113,793 $114,413

% of income spent on transportation 12% 9% 9% 9%

% of income of spent on housing 32% 25% 26% 28%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 44% 35% 35% 37%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $7,475 $6,130 $6,108 $6,016

Housing costs $9,766 $9,753 $9,897 $10,160

Transportation plus housing $39,648 $40,081 $39,828 $39,502

% of income spent on transportation 19% 15% 15% 15%

% of income of spent on housing 25% 24% 25% 26%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 43% 40% 40% 41%

Number of cost burdened households 2,816 2,304 2,538 2,633

% of total households that are cost burdened 32% 20% 20% 20%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 19 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

North Hillsboro
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 21,337 24,158 25,125 26,140

Subarea share of UGB households 4% 3% 3% 3%

Total jobs 45,764 49,897 76,493 108,302

Subarea share of UGB jobs 6% 6% 7% 8%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 6% 6% 6% 6%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 9% 10% 10% 10%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 12% 12% 12% 12%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 13% 16% 16% 15%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 19% 17% 16% 16%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 20% 19% 19% 19%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 14% 14% 14% 14%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 7% 7% 7% 7%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $7,988 $6,440 $6,246 $6,014

Housing costs $16,656 $15,895 $16,299 $16,876

Transportation plus housing $59,741 $59,564 $59,256 $59,009

% of income spent on transportation 13% 11% 11% 10%

% of income of spent on housing 28% 27% 28% 29%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 41% 37% 38% 39%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $6,487 $5,175 $5,041 $4,891

Housing costs $9,486 $9,706 $9,918 $10,232

Transportation plus housing $44,530 $44,152 $44,140 $44,437

% of income spent on transportation 15% 12% 11% 11%

% of income of spent on housing 21% 22% 22% 23%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 36% 34% 34% 34%

Number of cost burdened households 3,080 2,860 3,107 3,192

% of total households that are cost burdened 14% 12% 12% 12%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 20 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

East Washington County
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 44,185 50,380 51,843 53,096

Subarea share of UGB households 7% 7% 6% 6%

Total jobs 56,097 64,765 85,248 104,430

Subarea share of UGB jobs 7% 7% 8% 7%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 6% 5% 5% 5%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 8% 9% 9% 9%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 10% 10% 10% 10%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 11% 12% 12% 12%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 15% 14% 13% 13%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 15% 14% 15% 14%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 18% 18% 18% 18%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 18% 19% 19% 19%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $6,782 $5,805 $5,819 $5,802

Housing costs $25,261 $23,906 $24,664 $25,804

Transportation plus housing $87,913 $90,693 $90,467 $90,475

% of income spent on transportation 8% 6% 6% 6%

% of income of spent on housing 29% 26% 27% 29%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 36% 33% 34% 35%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $4,760 $3,926 $3,927 $3,908

Housing costs $9,167 $9,592 $9,818 $10,133

Transportation plus housing $39,668 $40,409 $40,412 $40,503

% of income spent on transportation 12% 10% 10% 10%

% of income of spent on housing 23% 24% 24% 25%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 35% 33% 34% 35%

Number of cost burdened households 5,575 5,798 6,013 6,111

% of total households that are cost burdened 13% 12% 12% 12%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 21 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

South Beaverton
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 23,020 24,508 24,813 25,096

Subarea share of UGB households 4% 3% 3% 3%

Total jobs 20,284 22,792 29,254 35,725

Subarea share of UGB jobs 3% 3% 3% 3%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 10% 9% 9% 9%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 12% 13% 14% 14%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 13% 13% 13% 13%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 13% 16% 16% 16%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 17% 15% 15% 15%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 15% 14% 15% 15%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 10% 10% 10% 10%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 9% 10% 10% 10%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $5,563 $4,596 $4,627 $4,597

Housing costs $17,249 $16,621 $17,108 $17,749

Transportation plus housing $60,532 $60,697 $60,680 $60,319

% of income spent on transportation 9% 8% 8% 8%

% of income of spent on housing 28% 27% 28% 29%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 38% 35% 36% 37%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $4,251 $3,551 $3,575 $3,544

Housing costs $8,375 $8,910 $9,110 $9,334

Transportation plus housing $36,101 $38,160 $38,190 $37,859

% of income spent on transportation 12% 9% 9% 9%

% of income of spent on housing 23% 23% 24% 25%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 35% 33% 33% 34%

Number of cost burdened households 4,641 4,556 4,636 4,728

% of total households that are cost burdened 20% 19% 19% 19%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 22 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Tigard - King City
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 27,140 32,790 34,808 36,583

Subarea share of UGB households 5% 4% 4% 4%

Total jobs 37,817 43,089 56,676 70,469

Subarea share of UGB jobs 5% 5% 5% 5%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 7% 6% 6% 6%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 10% 11% 11% 11%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 12% 12% 12% 12%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 12% 15% 15% 15%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 17% 16% 15% 15%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 17% 15% 16% 16%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 14% 13% 13% 14%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 12% 12% 11% 11%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $7,173 $6,252 $6,279 $6,255

Housing costs $21,606 $20,641 $21,123 $21,972

Transportation plus housing $74,699 $75,378 $74,959 $74,780

% of income spent on transportation 10% 8% 8% 8%

% of income of spent on housing 29% 27% 28% 29%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 39% 36% 37% 38%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $5,087 $4,249 $4,274 $4,231

Housing costs $9,160 $9,638 $9,741 $9,935

Transportation plus housing $39,806 $41,274 $40,919 $40,410

% of income spent on transportation 13% 10% 10% 10%

% of income of spent on housing 23% 23% 24% 25%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 36% 34% 34% 35%

Number of cost burdened households 3,853 3,597 3,948 4,161

% of total households that are cost burdened 14% 11% 11% 11%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 23 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Tualatin
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 10,222 11,893 12,171 12,487

Subarea share of UGB households 2% 2% 2% 1%

Total jobs 29,889 34,051 44,224 56,148

Subarea share of UGB jobs 4% 4% 4% 4%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 7% 4% 5% 5%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 8% 7% 7% 7%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 10% 9% 9% 9%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 12% 12% 12% 11%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 17% 13% 12% 12%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 16% 14% 15% 14%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 16% 20% 20% 20%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 14% 20% 21% 22%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $8,268 $7,348 $7,425 $7,419

Housing costs $22,220 $24,155 $25,255 $26,833

Transportation plus housing $76,138 $94,371 $95,631 $97,468

% of income spent on transportation 11% 8% 8% 8%

% of income of spent on housing 29% 26% 26% 28%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 40% 33% 34% 35%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $6,133 $4,485 $4,498 $4,452

Housing costs $9,030 $9,136 $9,347 $9,675

Transportation plus housing $39,897 $38,365 $38,432 $38,840

% of income spent on transportation 15% 12% 12% 11%

% of income of spent on housing 23% 24% 24% 25%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 38% 36% 36% 36%

Number of cost burdened households 2,046 1,801 1,838 1,830

% of total households that are cost burdened 20% 15% 15% 15%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 24 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Sherwood - Scholls
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 7,922 10,643 11,512 13,318

Subarea share of UGB households 1% 1% 1% 2%

Total jobs 5,555 6,252 8,303 10,674

Subarea share of UGB jobs 1% 1% 1% 1%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 3% 2% 2% 2%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 4% 3% 3% 4%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 5% 5% 5% 5%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 10% 10% 10% 10%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 20% 15% 14% 15%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 20% 19% 20% 20%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 17% 21% 21% 20%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 21% 25% 25% 25%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $11,356 $10,845 $10,809 $10,581

Housing costs $32,154 $30,114 $30,951 $31,506

Transportation plus housing $101,476 $117,582 $117,247 $114,759

% of income spent on transportation 11% 9% 9% 9%

% of income of spent on housing 32% 26% 26% 27%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 43% 35% 36% 37%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $8,759 $7,363 $7,364 $7,169

Housing costs $13,141 $12,545 $12,850 $12,579

Transportation plus housing $57,141 $54,547 $54,846 $53,732

% of income spent on transportation 15% 13% 13% 13%

% of income of spent on housing 23% 23% 23% 23%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 38% 36% 37% 37%

Number of cost burdened households 754 633 736 940

% of total households that are cost burdened 10% 6% 6% 7%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 25 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

SW Beaverton
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 24,559 29,689 31,872 34,024

Subarea share of UGB households 4% 4% 4% 4%

Total jobs 7,319 9,144 11,907 14,404

Subarea share of UGB jobs 1% 1% 1% 1%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 6% 5% 5% 5%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 10% 10% 10% 10%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 13% 11% 11% 11%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 13% 14% 14% 13%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 16% 13% 12% 12%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 15% 14% 14% 14%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 14% 17% 18% 18%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 13% 16% 16% 16%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $7,408 $6,663 $6,698 $6,652

Housing costs $22,155 $22,945 $23,768 $24,673

Transportation plus housing $76,657 $87,478 $88,167 $88,163

% of income spent on transportation 10% 8% 8% 8%

% of income of spent on housing 29% 26% 27% 28%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 39% 34% 35% 36%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $5,661 $4,646 $4,638 $4,614

Housing costs $9,976 $10,255 $10,433 $10,694

Transportation plus housing $44,378 $44,894 $44,958 $45,112

% of income spent on transportation 13% 10% 10% 10%

% of income of spent on housing 22% 23% 23% 24%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 35% 33% 34% 34%

Number of cost burdened households 2,542 2,045 2,184 2,314

% of total households that are cost burdened 10% 7% 7% 7%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 26 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

South Hillsboro
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 20,771 22,678 23,753 24,659

Subarea share of UGB households 3% 3% 3% 3%

Total jobs 13,578 15,025 19,194 23,513

Subarea share of UGB jobs 2% 2% 2% 2%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 9% 8% 8% 8%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 13% 14% 14% 15%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 16% 16% 16% 16%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 17% 20% 20% 20%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 17% 14% 14% 14%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 12% 12% 12% 12%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 9% 9% 9% 8%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 8% 8% 8% 7%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $7,836 $6,536 $6,401 $6,218

Housing costs $17,319 $16,804 $17,299 $17,947

Transportation plus housing $58,798 $59,023 $58,828 $58,515

% of income spent on transportation 13% 11% 11% 11%

% of income of spent on housing 29% 28% 29% 31%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 43% 40% 40% 41%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $6,587 $5,317 $5,178 $5,002

Housing costs $10,017 $10,345 $10,615 $10,943

Transportation plus housing $45,486 $46,025 $46,029 $45,909

% of income spent on transportation 14% 12% 11% 11%

% of income of spent on housing 22% 22% 23% 24%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 37% 34% 34% 35%

Number of cost burdened households 3,012 2,385 2,450 2,551

% of total households that are cost burdened 14% 11% 10% 10%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 27 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



Urban Growth Report -- Housing and Transportation Cost Burden Analysis

Forest Grove - Cornelius
2010 Low Growth Medium Growth High Growth

Total households 11,806 13,617 14,743 16,170

Subarea share of UGB households 2% 2% 2% 2%

Total jobs 8,748 8,738 12,330 16,338

Subarea share of UGB jobs 1% 1% 1% 1%

Percent of all households by type

Type 1 (Median Income $13,000) 18% 14% 15% 15%

Type 2 (Median Income $24,000) 17% 18% 18% 18%

Type 3 (Median Income $33,000) 17% 17% 16% 16%

Type 4 (Median Income $44,000) 11% 14% 14% 13%

Type 5 (Median Income $60,000) 12% 11% 11% 11%

Type 6 (Median Income $76,000) 10% 10% 11% 11%

Type 7 (Median Income $93,000) 7% 8% 8% 8%

Type 8 (Median Income $200,000) 8% 8% 8% 8%

Average annual costs, all households

Transportation costs $11,361 $10,194 $10,093 $9,733

Housing costs $16,931 $16,574 $17,413 $17,921

Transportation plus housing $53,804 $57,889 $59,025 $58,432

% of income spent on transportation 21% 18% 17% 17%

% of income of spent on housing 31% 29% 30% 31%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 53% 46% 47% 47%

Average annual costs, renters only

Transportation costs $8,870 $7,285 $7,038 $6,675

Housing costs $8,507 $8,403 $8,605 $8,688

Transportation plus housing $35,216 $34,835 $34,635 $34,020

% of income spent on transportation 25% 21% 20% 20%

% of income of spent on housing 24% 24% 25% 26%

% of income spent on transportation plus housing 49% 45% 45% 45%

Number of cost burdened households 3,109 3,050 3,090 3,525

% of total households that are cost burdened 26% 22% 21% 22%

"Cost burdened" households are those where housing plus transportation costs exceed 45% of total income

Data for Year 2035

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 12, Page 28 of 28

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

MACKENZIE 

Since 1960 

RiverEast Center |1515 SE Water Ave, Suite 100, Portland, OR 97214 

PO Box 14310, Portland, OR 97293 | T 503.224.9560 | www.mcknze.com 

REGIONAL INDUSTRIAL 
SITE READINESS  

2014 Inventory Update  

Submitted 
September 2014 

Project Number 
2110160.03 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 1 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx  

REGIONAL INDUSTRIAL SITE READINESS – 2014 Inventory Update  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .............................................................................................................. 1 

Findings ............................................................................................................................. 2 

Conclusions ........................................................................................................................ 4 

PROJECT SUMMARY ................................................................................................................. 6 

Project Purpose .................................................................................................................. 6 

2014 INVENTORY ..................................................................................................................... 8 

Background on the Update .................................................................................................. 8 

Tiering Criteria and the Process to Score the Sites ................................................................. 8 

2014 INVENTORY UPDATE FINDINGS ........................................................................................ 10 

Development Readiness .................................................................................................... 10 

Tier 1, 2, and 3 Site Results ............................................................................................... 11 
Additional Sites ................................................................................................................................ 18 

Changes from 2011 Inventory to 2014 Inventory .................................................................. 22 
Movement In and Out of the Inventory ............................................................................................. 22 
Movement between Tiers ................................................................................................................. 23 
Sites Deleted from the Inventory ...................................................................................................... 24 
Sites Added to the Inventory ............................................................................................................ 26 

2014 Inventory Update Conclusions.................................................................................... 26 

NEXT STEPS ........................................................................................................................... 28 

Improvements to Regulatory Processes that Reduce Uncertainty for Firms Seeking Sites ........ 28 

Expansion of and Support for Existing Business Development Programs ................................ 28 

Creation and Funding of New Capital and Financial Tools ..................................................... 28 

Completion of Due Diligence Work on Sites ......................................................................... 29 

Regular Update of the Inventory and Completion of Follow Up Studies ................................. 29 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A:  June 2014 Site Inventory Matrix 

Appendix B: Regional Industrial Site Readiness 2014 Inventory Update – Site Maps 

Appendix C:  Regional Industrial Site Readiness 2014 Inventory Update – User Designated and 
Constrained Site Maps 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 2 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx  

PROJECT MANAGEMENT TEAM AND SPONSORS 

Business Oregon - Sierra Gardiner and Mike Williams  

Metro - Ted Reid and John Williams  

NAIOP Oregon Chapter - Kirk Olsen  

Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development – Jennifer Donnelly and Tom Hogue  

Port of Portland - Lise Glancy and Keith Leavitt  

Portland Business Alliance – Marion Haynes and Raihana Ansary 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 
  
CONSULTANT TEAM 

Mackenzie – Todd Johnson, Project Manager; Gabriela Frask; Brent Nielsen; and Matthew Butts 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 3 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 1 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report is an update to the 2011 Regional Industrial Site Readiness Project of large (25+ acres) industrial sites 
within the Portland metropolitan area Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) and select urban reserves1. The project is a 
partnership of Business Oregon, Metro, NAIOP - Commercial Real Estate Development Association Oregon 
Chapter, Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development, Port of Portland, and the Portland 
Business Alliance, with cooperation from local governments and private property owners. This update is intended 
to inform local, regional, and state efforts to ensure an adequate supply of development-ready large industrial 
sites for traded-sector job creation.  

Portland-Metro’s Traded Sector, a 2012 Value of Jobs Report issued by Portland Business Alliance, found that on 
average a traded-sector worker in the Portland metropolitan area earns 42% more than a local-sector worker in 
the Portland metropolitan region. Promoting traded-sector job creation also spurs the local economy with a 
multiplier of 2.5 local-sector jobs created for each high-skilled traded-sector job. The production of traded-sector 
goods (i.e., manufacturing) remains a backbone of Portland metropolitan area’s employment. Manufacturing jobs 
provide higher wages and better benefits than non-manufacturing jobs, particularly for those workers without a 
high school or college degree. The availability of large and market-ready industrial sites is critical to expanding 
and attracting traded-sector businesses and growing middle-income jobs key to a prosperous region.  

This update intends to: 

1. inventory and track changes in the region’s large lot industrial site supply;  

2. analyze movement of sites from varying states of site readiness;  

3. inform policy makers on activity, such as policy changes or infrastructure investments, that have 
increased the supply and/or readiness of development-ready sites; and 

4. support policy and investment decisions required to ensure an adequate supply of development-ready 
large industrial sites to support economic growth.  

The development-readiness tiers used in this inventory are based on those established during the 2011 project:  

Tier 1: Development-ready within 180 days of 
application submittal (i.e., projects can 
receive all necessary permits; sites can be 
served with infrastructure and zoned and 
annexed into the city within this 
timeframe).  

Tier 2: Likely to require 7-30 months to become 
development-ready.  

Tier 3: Likely to require over 30 months to become development-ready.  

Tier 1 sites are the only sites generally considered recruitment-ready for businesses expanding or locating in the 
Portland region. In a globally competitive environment, businesses increasingly require compressed timelines for 

                                                           
1  Although this inventory does not include sites within rural areas of these three counties that are outside the UGB and selected urban reserves, these sites 

are important to the region’s economic prosperity. 
2  Legislative actions include Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) expansion, annexation, zoning, and concept planning. 

ACTIONS THAT MADE SITES MORE DEVELOPMENT-READY 

Local and state legislative actions2 2 
Changes in property owner willingness to transact 2 
Environmental constraint mitigation 2 
Infrastructure investments 5 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 4 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 2 

decision making and development. While not considered marketable for most recruitments, Tier 2 could be 
feasible for expansions of existing businesses and for speculative development for investors. Tier 3 sites are 
viewed as being non-competitive in the market, and are therefore unavailable for business expansion and 
recruitment without significant investments, changes in regulatory compliance, or land price discounted by 
property owners. 

Findings 

Of the 54 sites in the 2014 inventory: 

 There are 14 Tier 1 sites; 17 Tier 2 sites; and 23 Tier 3 sites. 

 Seven new sites were added to the inventory since 2011. 

 Nine sites were removed from the inventory since 2011: 

 Three of these sites are currently being developed and 
projected to result in $38 million in investments and 416 
new jobs when construction is complete5; one of the sites 
is being used as a temporary parking lot6 for Intel’s Ronler 
Acres Campus expansion. 

 Since this June 2014 inventory was completed, three 
additional Tier 1 sites have been absorbed in the market7. 

 Five sites moved up from Tier 2 to Tier 1. 

 Six sites moved up from Tier 3 to Tier 2. 

 Large industrial sites face multiple 
development constraints, including:  required 
state and local legislative actions8, inadequate 
infrastructure and transportation9, land 
assembly needs, natural resources mitigation, 
brownfield remediation, and property owners 
not willing to transact. 

                                                           
3  User designated sites are sites owned and held for future expansion of existing regional firms and not available to the general market.  
4  Current property owners have designated these sites to meet long-term operational needs. As a result, these sites are no longer available to the general 

market. 
5  Site 11:  Portland International Airport  in Portland has two buildings under construction totaling 491,200 square feet with a $28.5 million investment and 

141 projected distribution and logistics jobs available in late 2014 (Port of Portland). Site 40:  Pacific Realty in Tualatin has two buildings under 
construction totaling 100,000 square feet with a $9.5 million investment and 275 projected distribution and logistics jobs available in 2015 (PacTrust). 
Site 44: Intel Corporation in Hillsboro was previously used as a staging area and is now a temporary parking lot for the D1X and D2X fabrication plants at 
the Intel Ronler Acres Campus with investment of $1 billion (Intel).  

6  Intel received land use approval for a temporary parking lot until 2023 at which point the property may be redeveloped. 
7  Site 13:  Specht Properties in Portland; Site 46: Development Services of America (Westmark site) in Hillsboro; Site 114: Colwood Ltd Partnership in 

Portland. 
8  Local and state legislative actions include UGB expansion, annexation, zoning, and concept planning. 
9  Infrastructure includes water, sewer, and stormwater utilities.  

ACTIVITY RESULTING IN INVENTORY REMOVAL 

User designated3: 1 

Program changes4: 2 

Construction and development: 3 

Local and state legislative actions: 3 

Total: 9 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 5 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 3 

 2011 
Inventory 

2014 
Inventory 

Tier 1 9 14 
Tier 2 16 17 
Tier 3 31 23 

Total 56 sites 54 sites 

The following charts and tables compare site net developable acreage changes between the 2011 and 2014 
inventories.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The increase in Tier 1 sites in the 2014 inventory is a result of the addition of three new sites to the inventory10 
and five sites upgraded from Tier 211, offset by the market absorption of three Tier 1 sites.  Of the 14 Tier sites, 
only seven have broad market appeal. 

Of the 11 sites that moved up a tier, seven sites required investment in infrastructure and mitigation. 

 Two sites moved up a tier due to mitigation of environmental constraints.12  

 Five sites received transportation/infrastructure investments, totaling approximately $39.5 million.13 

Four of the sites which moved up a tier were able to do so without significant investment in infrastructure. 

 Two sites had a change in the property owner’s willingness to transact and were upgraded to Tier 2.14  
 Two sites were taken out of urban reserves and brought into the UGB by House Bill 4078 in 2014.15  

                                                           
10  Site 111:  Weston Investment – an aggregated site; Site 113:  Henningsen Cold Storage – increased in site acreage due to decision to vacate dedicated 

right-of-way and building demolition for future development; and Site 114:  Colwood Ltd Partnership – open space rezoned to industrial. 
11  Site 13: Specht Propertlines Inc.; Site 22: Port of Portland – GVBP West; Site 29: Clackamas County Development Agency; Site 50: Shute North; Site 52: 

Shute South. 
12  Site 13:  Specht Properties and Site 29: Clackamas County Development Agency. 
13  Sites 18 and 19: Troutdale Reynolds Industrial Park Phase 2 - The Port has expended $2.5M in planning and design to permit the infrastructure for Phase 

2. $8 million in regional transportation funding was approved for the local roads, along with a transfer of $6 million in funding from the State-funded 
Troutdale interchange project and $1.1 million from the City of Troutdale.; Site 29:  Clackamas County Development Agency - $1.1 million in State 
Immediate Opportunity Fund and Clackamas County funding was used to improve local road access to the site. An additional $1.8 million in County funds 
paid for extension of 120th Avenue; Sites 50 and 52:  Shute Road North and South - $8 million in regional transportation funding and $10 million transfer 
of I-26/Brookwood interchange savings was used to pay for the construction of nearby local road improvements. The City of Hillsboro contributed $1 
million dollars for water infrastructure and planning for sewer line pump station and extension. 

14  Site 23:  Mt. Hood Community College and Site 47: Cranford. 
15  Site 101: Vanrose Farms and Site 104:  Meek Subarea. 

 2011 Inventory: 56 sites  

 

 2014 Inventory: 54 sites  

 

 2011 
Inventory 

2014 
Inventory 

25-49 acres 40 39 
50-99 acres 9 10 
100+ acres 7 5 

Total 56 sites 54 sites 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 6 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 4 

Conclusions  

 The Portland region’s supply of large industrial sites over 25 net developable acres has decreased since 
2011.  

 There have been positive impacts in site readiness from investments in infrastructure, mitigation and 
local and state legislative actions.  Movement between tiers is largely due to infrastructure investments, 
and environmental constraint mitigation (7 sites). 

 Supply continues to be most limited for larger sites of 50 acres or more. 

 There is only one 100-plus acre Tier 1 site in the region. Larger sites are more complex and take 
patience to acquire and develop.  

 Sites with multiple property owners require aggregation. This is a key issue to supplying larger sites to the 
market affecting a third of the Tier 2 and Tier 3 sites in the inventory (13 sites). 

 There are multiple market-readiness site constraints for other sites in the pipeline. 

 Over half of the Tier 2 and Tier 3 sites require local and state legislative actions such as annexation 
zoning, completion of concept planning, or addition to the urban growth boundary (23 sites). 

 Between 40% and 60% of Tier 2 and Tier 3 sites have transportation, infrastructure, and/or 
environmental mitigation constraints (17-25 sites).  

 While brownfield redevelopment affects only six large industrial sites, three industrial sites are located in 
the Portland Harbor Superfund site which will add significant costs, time, and brownfield redevelopment 
challenges and require coordinated strategies.  

 While investments in infrastructure, changes in ownership willingness to transact, and legislative actions 
have improved the quality of sites in the inventory, with 11 sites moving closer to market readiness; site 
readiness is not occurring at a pace sufficient to keep up with demand.16   

As the economy continues to recover and demand increases due to business growth and investment, additional 
strategies to increase the continued supply of land will be needed.  In order to provide the required land supply 
to meet projected 2035 population and employment growth within the Metro UGB17, create middle income jobs 
to address income disparity, and achieve a sustainable tax base critical to public services18 , state and regional 
policymakers must work from an accurate and practical employment land inventory and prioritize policy actions 
and investments to address industrial site readiness, aggregation, infrastructure, environmental constraint 
mitigation, legislative actions, and industrial brownfield identification and mitigation.  Regular updates to the 
inventory support the region’s traded-sector prosperity and job creation efforts allow tracking of progress in 
efforts to maintain a supply of sites and help target investments and policy decisions to ensure an adequate 
supply of development-ready industrial sites. With reduced federal funds, the region will need to be more 
strategic about investments required to move sites to market ready sites to support these goals. 

                                                           
16  The inventory shows an overall decrease in the total number acres and total number of sites, and a 26% decrease in Tier 3 sites over the two and a half 

year period.  
17  The draft 2014 Metro Urban Growth Report forecasts 85,000 to 440,000 additional jobs and 300,000 to 485,000 additional people inside the Metro urban 

growth boundary by the year 2035. 
18  State personal income taxes and local property taxes. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 7 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 5 

 
 

Regional Map of Tier 1, 2, and 3 Sites 

 
Note: Additional maps are available in Appendix B of this report.  Source: Mackenzie 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 8 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 6 

PROJECT SUMMARY 

Project Purpose 

The 2011-12 Regional Industrial Site Readiness Project assessed the Portland region’s supply of development-
ready large industrial sites, a critical part of a strategy to retain and attract traded-sector jobs. Portland-Metro’s 
Traded Sector, a 2012 Value of Jobs Report issued by Portland Business Alliance, found that on average a traded-
sector worker in the Portland metropolitan area earns 42% more than a local-sector worker in the Portland 
metropolitan region. In an income tax dependent state such as Oregon, these high wage traded-sector jobs 
generate more revenue for critical services like schools, health care, and social services than local-sector jobs. 
Traded-sector jobs have a multiplier effect throughout the economy, with an additional 2.5 local-sector jobs 
created for each traded-sector job. Manufacturing is the backbone of the Portland metropolitan area’s traded-
sector employment. Manufacturing jobs provide employment opportunities for those without a high school or 
college degree. The availability of market-ready industrial lands is critical for growing a prosperous traded-sector 
economy and middle-income jobs.  

Because the Portland region must compete with other metropolitan areas for these traded-sector jobs, it must 
have an adequate inventory of development-ready large industrial sites for expanding and attracting companies. 
This report is an update to the 2011 inventory which described the supply and market-readiness of large (25 
acres and larger) industrial sites in the Portland metropolitan region19. For purposes of this study, only vacant, 
industrially zoned or planned lands within the Portland metropolitan Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) and select 
Urban Reserves were analyzed. The 2014 inventory utilized the same methodology that was developed during 
the 2011-2012 Project.  

The original project was conceived partly in response to Metro’s 2009 Urban Growth Report, which identified a 
shortage of large industrial sites in the region and the need to replenish large industrial sites as they are 
developed. The original project report was produced by Mackenzie in partnership with Business Oregon, Metro, 
NAIOP - Commercial Real Estate Development Association Oregon Chapter, Port of Portland, and the Portland 
Business Alliance whose representatives served as the Project Management Team (PMT).  

The 2011 inventory created in Phase 1 of this Regional Industrial Site Readiness Project provided a community-
wide understanding of the supply of vacant large industrial lands, the time and investment needed to get land 
development ready, and the severity of development constraints. While the 2011 report and this update are 
limited in scope to industrial lands within the Metro UGB and urban reserves, several communities have 
replicated the work for other locations, most notably Clackamas County’s county-wide work in 2013-1420.  

Phase 2 of the 2011-12 project analyzed the development readiness of 12 sites, identifying a development 
scenario, constraints to development, costs for on- and off-site developments, and economic benefits derived 
from such development. This analysis highlighted the significant economic benefit that would result from 
development, with a significant share of benefit accruing to the State through personal income taxes. The 
findings supported the passage of Senate Bills 246 and 253 in 2013, designed to provide State financial assistance 
for local site readiness and due diligence work.  

                                                           
19  The Regional Industrial Site Readiness Project examines vacant, industrially-zoned, or planned lands within the Portland metropolitan area’s UGB and 

selected urban reserves that are suitable for large industrial development by new firms moving to the region, development companies who develop 
business and employment centers, or support the growth of existing firms. The study identified and documented user-owned sites held for future use, 
but excluded these from the detailed analysis because these sites were not available to the general marketplace. Rural areas of Clackamas and 
Washington counties outside the Metro UGB were not included in this analysis.  

20  http://cmap.clackamas.us/ccss/  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 9 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://cmap.clackamas.us/ccss/


 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 7 

As with the 2011 inventory, the 2014 inventory update focuses on the quality of land and how ready it is for 
development versus the quantity of gross acres. The inventory is intended to be maintained and updated on a 
regular basis to reflect market changes, development, investments, and actions to move sites to market. It will 
also help to inform continued local and private sector efforts to increase site readiness, legislative actions to fund 
the site readiness, and due diligence programs, and Metro’s 2014 Urban Growth Report and 2015 Growth 
Management Decision. The Urban Growth Report assesses the region’s long-range industrial site inventory and, 
as such, has a broader perspective than this inventory, which focuses on site-readiness for short- and medium-
term job creation opportunities. The common theme of both the Urban Growth Report and this inventory is that 
the public and private sectors need to work cooperatively to make sites available for private sector job creation.  

The inventory update reflects conditions as of June 2014. Seven new sites have become available to the market 
and nine sites from the 2011 inventory are no longer available to the market. This report summarizes the findings 
of the 2014 inventory and highlights changes from the October 2011 inventory to show movement within the 
market and the impact of recent legislative changes. 

 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 10 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 8 

2014 INVENTORY  

Background on the Update 

The 2011 inventory identified available land for traded-sector employment expansion and attraction within the 
Metro UGB. Since the 2011 inventory was completed, there have been many changes to the inventory, including 
market activity as shown on Table 9. The PMT initiated this inventory update to reflect those changes and 
provide data for Metro’s 2014 Urban Growth Report. The PMT recommends future inventory updates on a similar 
cycle.  

The 2014 inventory update assessed sites over 25 net developable acres to identify development-ready sites (Tier 
1) and sites that need additional work and investment (Tier 2 and Tier 3). The 2014 inventory update did not 
analyze the size of investments needed to move Tier 2 and Tier 3 sites to development-ready status. Clackamas 
and Washington counties are undertaking detailed site assessments using the methodology developed in Phase 2 
of the 2011-12 Regional Industrial Site Readiness Project. 

The inventory update provides a database of industrial sites to support the region’s economic development 
efforts. The database lays a foundation for the work of local jurisdictions, Greater Portland Inc., Metro, the Port 
of Portland, and the State, to grow the region’s job base through market absorption of Tier 1 sites, make 
investments in site readiness, and bring Tier 2 and Tier 3 sites to Tier 1 status.  

Mackenzie and the PMT evaluated sites using similar criteria and metrics as companies or developers would use, 
rather than limiting analysis to existing parcels or tax lots. A site in this inventory could be a single owner parcel 
or multiple adjacent parcels that can be combined into a single site; combined parcels could include adjacent 
parcels in the same ownership and/or in multiple ownerships. This update is also important because trends and 
changes can be examined since the previous inventory, not solely the quantity of land. It assesses legislative 
actions and market changes to understand the transformation of sites. It is anticipated that in future updates of 
the inventory additional data points will help identify trends that may further inform policymakers. 

Tiering Criteria and the Process to Score the Sites 

The tiering system utilized in this inventory update was based on development readiness criteria established 
during the 2011-2012 project. The tiers are based on industry standards and mirror the 
recruitment/development timeframe used by the State’s Industrial Site Certification Process. The tiers are 
defined as follows.  

Tier 1 Sites have over 25 net developable acres and are development-ready, or can be development-ready, 
within 180 days (six months). It is anticipated that no, or minimal, infrastructure or brownfield 
remediation is necessary and that due diligence and entitlements could be provided and/or obtained 
within this time period.  A Tier 1 site does not have a use restriction and is currently on the market 
for sale or lease, or the ownership is willing to transact within 180 days. Sites in this tier would 
generally qualify for Business Oregon’s Industrial Site Certification program.  

Tier 2 Sites have over 25 net developable acres and require additional actions that would take between 
seven to 30 months to be counted as development-ready. The seven to 30 month timeframe is for 
sites that are less competitive for expansions and recruitment, but may still be of some interest to 
more patient users/developers. These sites may have deficiency issues with regard to infrastructure 
or may require brownfield remediation, annexation, and additional local and state legislative actions 
that are assumed to take more than six months. Additionally, these sites may have a marine or 
aviation use restriction that limits, but does not eliminate, their market opportunity. These sites are 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 11 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 9 

currently on the market for sale or lease, or the property owner is willing to transact. If the property 
owners’ willingness to transact is unknown, the site may still be considered a Tier 2 site. Should the 
site be in multiple ownerships, an agreement to aggregate within 30 months must be in place. 

Tier 3 Sites have over 25 net developable acres and require the most cost and time to deliver a 
development-ready site. Tier 3 sites include those that require 30 months or more to be 
development-ready and represent the least competitive sites from an expansion, recruitment, or a 
speculative development perspective. In addition to the criterion for Tier 2, these sites may or may 
not be currently for sale or lease, or the owner may or may not be willing to transact. In a small 
number of cases, sites are in Tier 3 because required information was not available at the time this 
report was published. 

Table 1 below shows the tiering criteria developed and used by the PMT and consultant team to tier the sites. 

Table 1: Inventory Tiering Criteria 

  

25 net 
developable 

acres 
Use 

Restriction 
Brownfield 

Remediation 
Annexation 

Required 

Sewer, 
Water, & 

Storm 
System 

Mobility 

Currently 
for Sale or 

Lease 
 

Willingness 
to Transact 

Tier 1 Within six 
(6) months No 

No or Within 
six (6) months 

(Score of A) 
No A or B A or B Yes OR Yes 

Tier 2 Within 7-30 
months Yes or No 

Within 7-30 
Months 

(Score of B) 
Yes or No A, B, or C A, B, or C Yes OR 

Yes  
or  

Unknown 

Tier 3 >30 months Yes or No >30 months 
(Score of C) Yes or No A, B, or C A, B, or C Yes or No OR 

Yes or No 
or 

Unknown 
Source: Mackenzie 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 12 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 10 

Figure 1: Site Distribution Based on Tiers  

 
Source: Mackenzie 

2014 INVENTORY UPDATE FINDINGS  

Development Readiness 

Industrial sites in the region are in varying states of 
readiness, requiring regulatory approvals 
(development permitting, environmental resource 
mitigation), local discretionary actions (concept 
planning, annexation, zoning), infrastructure (sewer, 
water, transportation), site/property owner 
aggregation, and brownfield remediation.  

The study finds that the region has a limited supply 
of large industrial land readily available to attract 
and grow employers needed for the region to 
prosper, particularly sites of 50 net developable 
acres or more. Net developable acres are gross acres less wetlands, floodplain, 10%+ slopes, streams, and other 
development constraints that limit development. Figure 1 represents the findings of the regional inventory as of 
June 2014.  

The study found the following. 

14 Tier 1 sites  
Available for facility construction within 180 days  
There are 14 Tier 1 “market-ready” sites available for development opportunities in the near term, mostly in the 
25 to 49 acre range. Tier 1 sites total approximately 650 net developable acres. 

17 Tier 2 sites  
Available for facility construction between seven and 30 months  
Tier 2 mid-term sites require additional investment and policy actions to be market-ready. Of the 17 Tier 2 sites 
totaling approximately 1,100 net developable acres, four of these sites require property owner assembly.  

23 Tier 3 sites  
Available for facility construction beyond 30 months  
There are multiple challenges to address to bring these 23 Tier 3 sites to market. Investment and actions required 
to move these sites forward include site aggregation, brownfield remediation, wetland mitigation, 
transportation/infrastructure improvements, and annexation. Nine of the Tier 3 sites (40%) require property 
owner assembly. Net developable acres in Tier 3 totals approximately 1,300 acres.  

50-plus and 100-plus acre size sites 
There is a limited supply of 50-plus and 100-plus acre sites in the Portland region. With respect to 100-plus acre 
sites, the study found: 

 One Tier 1 site: Site 21: Gresham Vista Business Park (owned  by Port of Portland) 
 Two Tier 2 sites: Site 104: Meek Subarea site and Site 101: Vanrose Farms/Bert & Bernie LLC (Hillsboro) 
 Two Tier 3 sites: Site 7: West Hayden Island and Site 10: SW Quad (both owned by the Port of Portland) 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 13 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 11 

Tier 2 and 3 Development Constraints 

There are multiple development constraints impacting the 40 Tier 2 and Tier 3 sites as outlined in the table 
below.  Parcel aggregation is an issue affecting 25% of the sites in the inventory.  More than 50% of the Tier 2 and 
Tier 3 sites require local and state legislative action and 45% of Tier 2 and Tier 3 sites have significant site 
infrastructure constraints.   

 
Tier 1, 2, and 3 Site Results 

The 2014 update is based on the best available public information available to the consultant as of June 2014. 
The inventory of industrial sites in the Portland region will change over time; as such, this inventory is a snapshot 
in time. Changes to this inventory update are based on better information, such as wetland delineations; site 
surveys; property owner conversations; new properties coming on the market; properties in the inventory 
coming off the market due to transactions; a change in tier status based on investment or other actions; and 
other issues, such as an increase in property owner willingness to transact or other user designation.  

The inventory update identifies 54 large industrial sites in the Metro UGB and selected urban reserves (Figure 2). 
Of these 54 sites in the inventory, 14 sites (26%) are Tier 1; 17 sites (31%) are Tier 2; and 23 sites (43%) are Tier 3 
sites. Many of the Tier 3 sites have significant barriers to market readiness and may not be able to be aggregated 
as a site at all. The complete inventory of sites detailing all of the data prepared for each site, their location in the 
region, and their tiers can be found in Appendix A with regional maps found in Appendix B. 

TIER AND SITE DISTRIBUTION BY COUNTY 

Tier/Acres Clackamas Multnomah Washington Total 

Absorbed by the Market 0 1 2 3 
Tier 1 2 5 7 14 
25-49 acres 2 3 5 10 
50-99 acres 0 1 2 3 
100+ acres 0 1 0 1 

  

Tier 2 and Tier 3 Development Constraints 

Brownfield clean up: 6 

Natural Resources: 18 
Infrastructure 
(water, sewer, storm utilities): 17 

Transportation: 25 

Land Assembly: 13 

Local and State Legislative Actions: 23 

Willingness to Transact 
No: 
Unknown: 

10 
6 

Note: Most sites may have multiple constraints 

Figure 2: Distribution of Sites by Location 

 
Source: Mackenzie 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 14 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 12 

Tier/Acres Clackamas Multnomah Washington Total 

Tier 2 1 5 11 17 
25-49 acres 1 2 8 11 
50-99 acres 0 3 1 4 
100+ acres 0 0 2 2 
Tier 3 1 10 12 23 
25-49 acres 1 8 9 18 
50-99 acres 0 0 3 3 
100+ acres 0 2 0 2 

TOTAL 4 20 30 54 

Tier 1 Sites 

Of the 14 Tier 1 sites, seven are in Washington County, five are in Multnomah County and two are in Clackamas 
County (Figure 3). The number of larger sites is  limited as approximately 70% of the Tier 1 sites are in the 25-49 
acre range. There are only three 50-acre sites and one 100-acre site that are Tier 1.  
 

In addition to development-readiness, there are 
a handful of economic factors that drive the 
suitability of industrial sites for immediate 
development. A closer look at the 14 Tier 1 sites 
(Table 2) reveals that the number of sites 
attractive to a broad range of potential traded-
sector companies is even smaller. Of the 14 Tier 
1 sites, there are seven sites that meet standard 
market requirements. Three sites have multiple 
owners and a potential user must aggregate 
these sites themselves. One site is currently for 
sale at an above market price for industrial 
development. It is unclear if, or when, the 

current owner will align the asking price with current industrial market pricing. Three sites that have been 
absorbed by the market since June 201421.  

 

 

 

 

 
Over 85% of the Tier 1 sites are in Multnomah or Washington County22. Because the inventory only includes sites 
within the Portland metropolitan UGB or select urban reserves, industrial sites located in rural Washington 

                                                           
21  Site 13: Specht Properties in Portland; Site 46: Development Services of America (Westmark site) in Hillsboro; Site 114: Colwood Ltd Partnership in 

Portland. 

Figure 4: Distribution of Sites by Acreage  

 
Source: Mackenzie 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 15 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 13 

County and Clackamas County, such as Banks, Canby, Sandy, Molalla, and Estacada are not included in this 
inventory23. However, these sites are an important component of the regional economy. Table 3 details the Tier 1 
sites.  

                                                                                                                                                                                                           
22  Approximately 40% of Multnomah County is within the Metro UGB; 17% of Washington County; and 5% of Clackamas County.  

23  http://cmap.clackamas.us/ccss/ 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 16 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

M. 

http://cmap.clackamas.us/ccss/


 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 14 

Table 3: Tier 1 Site Summary 

Si
te

 ID
 

O
w

ne
r/

Si
te

 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

Co
un

ty
 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
es

 

N
et

 D
ev

el
op

ab
le

 A
cr

ea
ge

 

N
um

be
r o

f T
ax

 lo
ts

 

N
um

be
r o

f O
w

ne
rs

 

Cu
rr

en
tly

 fo
r S

al
e/

Le
as

e 

W
ill

in
g 

to
 T

ra
ns

ac
t 

13 Specht Properties Inc. Portland Multnomah 28.11 26.52 3  S  

21 Port Of Portland GVBP - East Gresham Multnomah 115.98 115.01 5  S/L  

22 Port Of Portland GVBP - West Gresham Multnomah 87.79 67.84 3  S/L  

29 Clackamas County Development 
Agency Clackamas Clackamas 61.93 40.00 11  S/L  

32 Ralph & Shirley Elligsen  Wilsonville Clackamas 33.42 30.20 2  S  

46 Development  Services Of 
America (Westmark Site) Hillsboro Washington 30.02 30.02 1  S  

48 Dewayne Wafford 
(Baker/Bindewald Site) Hillsboro Washington 46.06 44.58 1  S  

49 Majestic Realty Company Hillsboro Washington 75.11 62.75 9  S/L  

50 Shute North (Berger/Moore 
Trust/Boyles Trust) Hillsboro Washington 73.31 55.00 5 3 S  

52 Shute South (Berger 
Properties/Moore Trust)  Hillsboro Washington 42.91 42.91 2 2 S  

57 Merix Corporation Forest Grove Washington 34.25 29.71 1  S  

111 Weston Investments and CCF 
Oregon LLC Gresham Multnomah 34.99 26.00 2 2 S  

113 Henningsen Cold Storage Forest Grove Washington 28.57 26.44 3   YES 

114 Colwood LTD Partnership Portland Multnomah 47.55 39.42 1  S  
Note:  It is assumed that if a property is currently listed for sale or lease, the property owner is willing to transact.  Source: Mackenzie 

Tier 2 Sites 

The analysis found 17 Tier 2 sites within the Metro UGB. The bulk of these sites are in Washington or Multnomah 
County with only one site in Clackamas County. The number of large sites in Tier 2 is limited, with four sites that 
are between 50-99 acres and two 100-plus acre sites. 

The few large sites in Tier 2 face significant challenges to become market-ready, including the need to build 
infrastructure (roads and sewer), mitigate wetlands, and assemble parcels currently under multiple ownerships. 
Many of these sites have multiple development constraints that limit their marketability. The inventory update 
did not identify specific constraints at each site, but the list of potential constraints includes environmental clean-
up, infrastructure upgrades, property owner aggregation, annexation, wetland/floodplain fill. Of the 17 Tier 2 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 17 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 15 

sites, four require aggregation and eight require local and state legislative actions, such as UGB expansion, 
annexation, zoning, and concept planning.  

Generally, the constraints to readiness for Tier 2 sites are less extensive than Tier 3 sites, requiring less time and 
lower costs than the majority of the Tier 3 sites. Tier 2 sites present the best opportunity to focus resources to 
bring more sites to market. Table 4 details the Tier 2 sites. 

Table 4: Tier 2 Site Summary 

Si
te

 ID
 

O
w

ne
r/

Si
te

 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

Co
un

ty
 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
es

 

N
et

 D
ev

el
op

ab
le

 A
cr

ea
ge

 

N
um

be
r o

f T
ax

 lo
ts

 

N
um

be
r o

f O
w

ne
rs

 

Cu
rr

en
tly

 fo
r S

al
e/

Le
as

e 

W
ill

in
g 

to
 T

ra
ns

ac
t 

1 Port of Portland (Rivergate) Portland Multnomah 51.44 51.21 4 
 

L 
 

9 Port of Portland 
(NE Marine Drive & 33rd Avenue) Portland Multnomah 66.74 62.70 1  L  

18 Port of Portland 
(Trip - Phase 2) Troutdale Multnomah 42.67 30.18 3 

 
S/L 

 

19 Port of Portland 
(Trip - Phase 2) Troutdale Multnomah 80.53 80.34 2 

 
S/L 

 
23 Mt Hood Community College Troutdale Multnomah 38.45 37.40 3 

  
Yes 

38 Biles Family LLC Sherwood Washington 39.60 30.89 1  S  

47 Julian & Sharon Cranford Hillsboro Washington 28.51 27.29 1  S  

54 5305 NW 253RD Avenue LLC Hillsboro Washington 38.49 28.59 1   N/A 

55 Spokane Humane Society & 
Spokanimal Care Hillsboro Washington 45.49 36.00 1   Yes 

56 East Evergreen Site Hillsboro Washington 70.74 61.00 9 7 S Yes 

62 Rock Creek Site Happy Valley Clackamas 40.83 36.82 5 2 S Yes 

63 Woodburn Industrial Capital Forest Grove Washington 26.17 25.01 1 
 

S/L 
 

66 Kenneth Itel Tualatin Washington 46.25 30.25 2 
  

Yes 

101 Vanrose Farms and Bert & Bernie 
LLC Hillsboro Washington 271.64 224.83 2 2 

 
Yes 

104 Meek Subarea Site Hillsboro Washington 268.02 257.42 8 7 
 

Yes 

112 Hally Haworth Forest Grove Washington 38.19 36.15 2   Yes 

115 SolarWorld  Hillsboro Washington 46.23 46.23 1  S  
Note:  It is assumed that if a property is currently listed for sale or lease, the property owner is willing to transact.  Source: Mackenzie 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 18 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 16 

Tier 3 Sites 

The analysis found 23 Tier 3 sites within the Metro UGB and selected urban reserves. While all but one of the Tier 
3 sites are inside the UGB or select urban reserve sites, this category of sites has multiple and significant 
constraints to overcome to get to market-readiness. Similar to the other tiers, the number of larger Tier 3 sites is 
also limited, with three sites that are between 50-99 acres and two 100-plus acre sites. 

Nine of the Tier 3 sites (nearly 40%) require aggregation of parcels in separate ownerships. Ownership ranges 
from two owners for the Woodfold site in Forest Grove (Site 64) and the Davis Family Trust & Taghon site in 
Cornelius (Site 110) to up to 16 owners for the Coffee Creek site #1 in Wilsonville (Site 33). Five of these nine sites 
have more than three ownerships. The more owners involved, the more complex and lengthy the aggregation 
process.  

More than two-thirds (15) of the sites in Tier 3 will require some kind of local or state legislative actions such as 
UGB expansion, annexation, zoning and concept planning to become development-ready. Examples include sites 
that are outside the current UGB and West Hayden Island, which is inside the UGB but subject to a lengthy 
planning and annexation process that is likely to include significant mitigation requirements. If approved for 
development, the West Hayden Island site is at least seven years away from readiness due to permits, mitigation, 
and infrastructure requirements. There are also two sites on the edge of the UGB with tax lots that are partially 
inside the UGB and partially outside of the UGB included in this study. This split of urban and rural land creates a 
legislative challenge as only lots within the UGB are allowed to develop to urban use and intensity.  Development 
to urban intensities includes a prohibition on partitioning of these lots to a size inconsistent with rural land uses 
and zoning.  For the purpose of this study, only the portions of the tax lots inside the UGB are included as a site. 
Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development is currently engaged in a process to fix this 
legislative issue.  

Another issue affecting five Tier 3 sites is brownfield contamination. Three of these sites are located in the City of 
Portland adjacent to the Willamette River Superfund designation and have significant development issues, risk, 
and uncertainty.  

Three of the Tier 3 sites (15%) are currently operating as active quarries with gross site acreage varying from 26 
to 85 to 300 acres. These sites have been mined for decades and as a result are significantly sloped due to 
excavation.  

Providing a market perspective on the quality of sites is a major objective of this analysis. Market-readiness 
requires first and foremost, a willingness to enter into a transaction by the property owner. However, simply a 
lack of willingness to transact, or a lack of information of a willingness to transact, was not a reason to exclude a 
site in the inventory. Of the 23 Tier 3 sites, 16 (nearly 70%) either lack a willingness to transact or the information 
was unable to be determined as part of this study. Slightly over 20% of the Tier 3 sites (four sites) are currently, 
or could be, available to the general market, as the property owner is willing to enter into a transaction. Only 13% 
(three sites) are currently listed for sale on the market. Table 5 provides a complete list of the Tier 3 sites.  

 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 19 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 17 

Table 5: Tier 3 Site Summary 

Si
te

 ID
 

O
w

ne
r/

Si
te

 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

Co
un

ty
 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
es

 

N
et

 D
ev

el
op

ab
le

 
Ac

re
ag

e 

N
um

be
r o

f T
ax

 lo
ts

 

N
um

be
r o

f O
w

ne
rs

 

Cu
rr

en
tly

 fo
r 

Sa
le

/L
ea

se
 

W
ill

in
g 

to
 T

ra
ns

ac
t 

2 Time Oil Company Portland Multnomah 51.10 39.40 7 
  

Yes 

4 ESCO Corp Portland Multnomah 37.62 29.92 6 3 
 

N/A 

5 Atofina Chemicals INC Portland Multnomah 59.76 47.25 6 
  

N/A 

7 Port of Portland 
(West Hayden Island) Portland Multnomah 472.00 300.00 3 

  
Yes 

10 Port of Portland 
(SW Quad) Portland Multnomah 209.69 206.47 5 

  
Yes 

16 Michael Cereghino  Gresham Multnomah 41.63 25.00 5 
 

S 
 

17 Port of Portland 
(Trip - Phase 3) Fairview Multnomah 34.14 30.00 1 

 
S/L 

 
24 Jean Johnson   Gresham Multnomah 37.17 33.82 1 

  
N/A 

25 Lester Jonak  Jr.  Gresham Multnomah 34.19 27.07 1 
  

N/A 

26 Michael & Ardele Obrist Gresham Multnomah 33.51 33.51 2 
  

N/A 

33 Coffee Creek Industrial Area - 
Site 1 Wilsonville Washington 89.59 84.70 21 16  No 

34 Kennedy/Fitzpatrick/ 
Vanleeuwen Wilsonville Washington 52.88 25.50 3   N/A 

35 Tonquin Industrial Area Tualatin Washington 49.52 34.32 8 7  Yes 

36 Tigard Sand & Gravel Site Tualatin Washington 301.08 25.00    No 

37 Orr Family Farm LLC Sherwood Washington 96.26 77.00 1 
  

No 

59 Coffee Creek Industrial Area  - 
Site 2 Wilsonville Washington 45.07 44.49 12 7 

 
No 

60 Coffee Creek Industrial Area - 
Site 3 Wilsonville Washington 28.82 26.22 10 6 

 
No 

61 Coffee Creek Industrial Area - 
Site 4 Wilsonville Washington 46.57 42.37 12 8 

 
No 

64 Woodfold-Marco MFG Inc. 
(East Oak Street) Forest Grove Washington 27.67 25.06 2 2 

 
No 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 20 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 18 

Si
te

 ID
 

O
w

ne
r/

Si
te

 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

Co
un

ty
 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
es

 

N
et

 D
ev

el
op

ab
le

 
Ac

re
ag

e 

N
um

be
r o

f T
ax

 lo
ts

 

N
um

be
r o

f O
w

ne
rs

 

Cu
rr

en
tly

 fo
r 

Sa
le

/L
ea

se
 

W
ill

in
g 

to
 T

ra
ns

ac
t 

65 Woodforld-Marco MFG Inc. 
(West Oak Street) Forest Grove Washington 53.66 52.97 5 

  
No 

109 Morse Bros. Inc.  Tualatin Washington 83.68 25.00 7 
  

No 

110 Davis Family Trust & Remi 
Taghon Cornelius Washington 49.01 40.21 10 2 

 
Yes/
No 

111 Northwest Sand & Gravel Inc.  Unincorporated Clackamas 26.2 25.10 6 1 S  
Source: Mackenzie 

Note:  “YES/NO” is for a property with two owners – one willing to transact and one not willing to transact. Additionally, it is assumed that if a property is currently listed for sale 
or lease, the property owner is willing to transact.  

Additional Sites  

There are several dozen industrially designated sites that are not included in this inventory update. These sites 
fall into three categories.  

1. The parcel/site is greater than 25 gross acres, but when constraints (environmental or restrictive 
zoning/overlay) are taken into consideration, the net developable acreage falls below 25 acres. (See 
Table  6) 

2. The parcel/site is owned by a company that is part of an existing campus/development and the 
company has future expansion plans. This vacant land is not currently available to the market for another 
prospective user. The site is partially vacant but reserved for expansion. (See Table 7) 

3. The parcel/site is owned by a company that has future development plans; therefore the site is not 
currently on the market for a prospective user. The site is fully vacant and land banked for new 
development. (See Table 7) 

Although these sites do not appear in the 2014 inventory in this report, they are still an important portion of the 
region’s industrial land supply. Appendix C provides regional maps of these sites.  

Sites with Less Than 25 Net Developable Acres 

There are 16 parcels and/or sites in this study that have 25 gross acres, but do not have 25 net developable acres. 
However, these sites are still part of the region’s inventory of industrial land as they may be developable for 
smaller users. These sites are identified in Table 6 below, but are not included in the 2014 inventory because they 
did not meet the criteria of this study.  
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 21 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 19 

Table 6: Parcels or Sites with Less Than 25 Net Developable Acres 
O

w
ne

r 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
ea

ge
 

Ap
pr

ox
im

at
e 

N
et

 
De

ve
lo

pa
bl

e 
Ac

re
s 

N
ot

es
 

McCormick  & Bassili 
Investments LLC 

Happy Valley  
(HWY 212 & 162nd) 33.98 7.5 Environmental constraints result in <25 net 

developable acres – according to Clackamas County 

Weaver Russell Happy Valley  
(HWY 212 & 162nd) 34.19 3.5 Environmental constraints result in <25 net 

developable acres – according to Clackamas County 

Fazio Portland  
(East of NE MLK & Gertz) 34.96 22 

Existing drainage ditch bisects site into a 21.5 acre 
site; net developable acres in largest development 
parcel is less than 25 acres 

Graphic Packaging North Portland  
(Marine Drive & Portland) 26.26 2.75 Environmental constraints result in <25 net 

developable acres 

Catellus Portland  
(N of Airport and 185th) 31.99 3.5 Environmental constraints result in <25 acres 

remaining (wetlands and floodplain) 

Langer Family Sherwood  
(TS Road & Adams) 56.48 < 25 Public utility district overlay on site results in <25 net 

developable 

Orwa Sherwood LLC Sherwood  
(T/S Road & Adams) 50.25 6 Bisecting road results in <25 net  developable acres 

Fred Fields property Tigard  
(Hall and Hunziker) 35.6 <25 Environmental constraints result in <25 net 

developable acres (market/site knowledge) 

David Young Wilsonville  
(S of Boeckman W of I5) 33.9 0 Significant Resource Overlay Zone environmental 

constraints – according to City of Wilsonville 

Gary Walgraeve Tualatin  
(Herman Road & 118th) 54.95 14.5 Environmental constraints result in <25 net 

developable acres – according to City of Tualatin 

Edward Wager Tualatin (T/S Road & 124th) 32.14 13 Environmental constraints result in <25 net 
developable acres – according to City of Tualatin 

Joe Bernert Tow Inc. Wilsonville (Wilsonville Road 
& Boones Ferry) 31.18 13.5 Significant Resource Overlay Zone  – according to 

Wilsonville 

Rock Creek aggregate 
site 

Happy Valley (Rock Creek 
Blvd & SE 172nd Avenue) 25.03 21.04 Slope constraints 

Powin Pacific 
Properties LLC Tualatin (T/S Road & 115th) 29.47 13.45 Wetlands and stream on site 

Port of Portland Portland (NE 33rd; South of 
Marine Drive) 28 23 Drainage ditches result in <25 net developable acres 

Port of Portland  Portland  
(South of SW Quad) 67.5 0 

Reserved for open space/wetlands mitigation. Land is 
not greater than 25 net developable acres – 
according to Port of Portland 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 22 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 20 

 
O

w
ne

r 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
ea

ge
 

Ap
pr

ox
im

at
e 

N
et

 
De

ve
lo

pa
bl

e 
Ac

re
s 

N
ot

es
 

Port of Portland Fairview (South of site 17) 100 0 
Reserved for open space/wetlands mitigation. Land is 
not greater than 25 net developable acres – 
according to Port of Portland 

Port of Portland 
Troutdale (East of Troutdale 
Reynolds Industrial Park site 
20) 

64 0 
Reserved for open space/conservation. Land is not 
greater than 25 net development acres – according to 
Port of Portland 

Xerox  
(2 parcels) 

Wilsonville  
(East of Interstate5) 

95.81 34.1 
Remaining 34.1 acres are reserved for future on site 
environmental mitigation for the Xerox campus and 
not developable 

Source: Mackenzie  

User Owned and User Designated Sites  

This analysis also excluded land-banked parcels that are owned and held for future expansion by existing regional 
firms. These parcels are an important part of the regional industrial land inventory, but since they are being held 
by their current owners for future development, they are not considered to be available to the general market, 
which is the focus of this study. There are 25 user-owned sites with at a minimum 25 net developable acres that 
are being held for future development in this study (Table 7). Twelve (12) of these sites are vacant (for future 
use) with 25 or more net developable acres; and 13 are partially vacant (buildings on site/part of existing 
campus), but still have a minimum of 25 acres vacant for future expansion. 

Table 7: User Owned and User Designated Sites 

O
w

ne
r 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
ea

ge
 

Va
ca

nt
 A

cr
ea

ge
 

Va
ca

nt
: f

or
 fu

tu
re

 u
se

 

Pa
rt

ia
lly

 V
ac

an
t: 

in
 u

se
 

N
ot

es
 

N Pacific Union 
Conference 
Association SDA 

Gresham  
(Foster & Tillstrom) 66.9 66.9 X  Reserved for future use/development 

Providence Health Happy Valley  
(HWY 212 & 162nd) 49.7 49.7 X  Reserved for future use/development 

Intel  
(Future parking lot) 

Hillsboro (Cornell & 
Cornelius Pass) 47.36 47.36 X  

Reserved for future use/development  
(parking lot) 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 23 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 21 

O
w

ne
r 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
ea

ge
 

Va
ca

nt
 A

cr
ea

ge
 

Va
ca

nt
: f

or
 fu

tu
re

 u
se

 

Pa
rt

ia
lly

 V
ac

an
t: 

in
 u

se
 

N
ot

es
 

Legacy Health 
Services 

Hillsboro (Cornell & 
Cornelius Pass) 28.95 27.3 X  

Reserved for future use/development  
(easement on site) 

Intel 
Hillsboro  
(West Union & Cornelius 
Pass) 

72.54 68.4 X  Reserved for future use/development  

Port of Portland 
(PIC WEST) 

Portland  
(NE Alderwood Drive) 69.45 58.96 X  Future relocation site for PDX rental cars 

Port of Portland Troutdale  
(East of site 17) 34 32.7 X  Vacant; reserved for utility use (substation) – 

according to Port of Portland 

Port of Portland Hillsboro  
(NW Evergreen Road) 71.81 67.69 X  

Brought into UGB in 2014 with House Bill 4078; 
reserved for future Hillsboro Airport use 
(airport restrictions) 

Port of Portland Hillsboro (NW Evergreen 
Road and 264th) 39.22 34.15 X  

Inside Hillsboro Airport fence, and included in 
FAA Airport Layout Plan; reserved for aviation 
related development only 

Mentor Graphics Wilsonville  
(S of Boeckman E of I5) 43.4 43.4 X  

Reserved for future use/development - split 
from main campus by public street; Significant 
Resource Overlay Zone on site and wetlands 

Phight LLC Tualatin  
(T/S Road & 118th) 28.8 28.8 X  Reserved for future use/development 

BT Property LLC 
(UPS) 

Gresham (NE 185th and 
NE Portal Way) 

51.45 
 

51.45 
 X  Reserved for future use/development 

Clackamas CDA Clackamas County 
(I205/82nd) 32.2 32.1  X Excess land - in use and not available – 

according to Clackamas County 

Great American TVR Clackamas County 
(I205/82nd) 49.35 47.5  X Communication towers and infrastructure on 

site 

State of Oregon  
(3 parcels) 

Clackamas County  
(I205/Hwy 212) 232 97  X In use and not available – according to 

Clackamas County 

Nacco Materials 
Company 

Fairview (Marine & Blue 
Lake Road) 78.7 58.7  X Excess land; some environmental constraints on 

site 

Microchip 
Technology  
(Formally Linde) 

Gresham  
(Glisan & 223rd) 137 75  X Not available – according to City of Gresham 

Mutual Materials Gresham  
(Hogan Road) 86.08 56.8  X Excess land: currently in use  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 24 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 22 

O
w

ne
r 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
ea

ge
 

Va
ca

nt
 A

cr
ea

ge
 

Va
ca

nt
: f

or
 fu

tu
re

 u
se

 

Pa
rt

ia
lly

 V
ac

an
t: 

in
 u

se
 

N
ot

es
 

Novellus Systems Inc. Tualatin (SW Tualatin 
Road & SW 108th) 58.4 27.46  X Excess land: currently in use 

PGE Portland Gresham  
(Powell & E of 182nd) 72.13 62.8  X Reserved for future use and not available  

Genentech 
(entire campus) 

Hillsboro (Evergreen & 
Brookwood) 75.3 60  X Reserved for future use and not available 

Tokyo Ohka Kogyo Hillsboro (Evergreen & 
Brookwood) 38.89 28.5  X Reserved for future use and not available 

Intel  
(Ronler Acres) 

Hillsboro  
(Shute Road) 111.7 61  X Reserved for future use and not available 

PGE Portland North Portland  
(St Helens) 63.1 43.9  X Excess land currently in use  

Cookin (Siltronic) Portland  
(St Helens Road) 79.27 38.6  X Reserved for future use and not available 

Source: Mackenzie  

Changes from 2011 Inventory to 2014 Inventory 

Movement In and Out of the Inventory  

The 2011 inventory included 56 sites, compared to the 2014 inventory of 54 sites. The breakdown among tiers is 
shown in Figure 5 and 6 below. Nine sites were removed from the inventory, including three sites that are being 
developed or used for construction staging. Seven sites were added to the inventory. The number of Tier 1 sites 
has increased by six sites; Tier 2 sites increased by one site; and Tier 3 sites decreased by eight sites. Of the Tier 1 
sites, only seven of the sites meet standard development criteria.  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 25 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 23 

Figure 5: 2011 Inventory 

Source: Mackenzie 

Figure 6: 2014 Inventory  

Source: Mackenzie 

Movement between Tiers 

From 2011 to 2014, there has been significant movement between the tiers. The 2014 update found 11 sites that 
moved up a tier; five Tier 2 sites became Tier 1 sites and six Tier 3 sites became Tier 2 sites in the 2014 update. 
The table below shows movement between the tiers in the past two and a half years. The majority of movement 
between tiers is a result of environmental mitigation and infrastructure investments. 

Table 8: Movement in the Inventory 

 2014 
Inventory 

Remain from 
2011 Upgraded from 2011 Added Sites 

in 2014 

Tier 1 14 6 5   (previously Tier 2 site) 3 
Tier 2 17 8 6  (previously Tier 3 site) 324 
Tier 3 23 21 - 2 

TOTAL 54 35 11 7 

Of the 11 sites that moved up a tier: 

 Five sites are located in Hillsboro, five sites are located in the East Multnomah County submarket, and 
one site is located in Portland. 

 Six sites are in private ownership and five sites are in public ownership three (3) sites owned by the Port 
of Portland, one site owned by Mount Hood Community College, and one site owned by Clackamas 
County Development Agency. 

Seven of the 11 sites that moved up a tier required investment in infrastructure and mitigation. 

 Two sites moved up a tier due to environmental constraint mitigation.25  

 Five sites received transportation/infrastructure investments.26  

                                                           
24  One of the three new Tier 2 sites is site number 1 (Port of Portland - Rivergate). In 2011, this was a Tier 1 site; however, due to the listing of the streaked 

horned lark species, the site requires mitigation and is no longer developable within a 6 month timeframe. Environmental mitigation required is a 7-30 
month process which drops the site from Tier 1 to Tier 2.  

25  Site 13:  Specht Properties and Site 29:  Clackamas County Development Agency. 
26  Sites 18 and 19:  Troutdale Reynolds Industrial Park Phase 2, Site 22:  Gresham Vista Business Park West, and Sites 50 and 52:  Shute Road North and 

South. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 26 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 24 

Additionally, of the 11 sites that upgraded a tier, four were able to do so without significant investment in 
infrastructure. 

 Two of the sites experienced a legislative change, and were taken out of urban reserves and brought into 
the UGB.27  

 Two of the sites had a change in the property owner willingness to transact, and therefore were 
upgraded to Tier 2.28 

Sites Deleted from the Inventory 

Using the methodology developed during the 2011 inventory project, the team removed nine sites, resulting in a 
total of 54 sites in the June 2014 inventory. The tables below show which 2011 inventory sites are no longer on 
the inventory with an explanation of why. Between the 2011 and 2014 Regional Industrial Land Inventory Report, 
nine sites and approximately 400 estimated net developable acres were removed from the inventory.  In 
contrast, the seven sites added to the 2014 inventory accounted for approximately 240 acres. 

Table 9: 2011 Inventory Sites Removed from 2014 Inventory 

Si
te

 ID
 

O
w

ne
r/

Si
te

 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

Co
un

ty
 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
es

 

N
et

 D
ev

el
op

ab
le

 
Ac

re
s 

Sa
le

/L
ea

se
/ 

Tr
an

sa
ct

  (
20

11
) 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t  

an
d/

or
 A

ct
io

n 

Tier 1 Sites 

11 Port of Portland 
(PIC East)  Portland Multnomah 43.50 41.18 L 

Currently under construction; 
results in less than 25 
developable acres 

44 Intel Corporation  Hillsboro Washington 31.39 31.39 S 
Currently used as a 
paved/gravel parking lot and 
staging area for Intel 

Tier 2 Sites 

40 Pacific Realty 
Associates   Tualatin Washington 26.80 26.80 S/L 

Currently under construction; 
results in less than 25 
developable acres 

67* Port of Portland 
(PIC West)  Portland Multnomah 69.45 58.96 L 

Held by Port of Portland for 
future relocation of rental 
cars at PDX29 

  

                                                           
27  Site 101: Vanrose Farms and Site 104: Meek Subarea 
28  Site 23:  Mt. Hood Community College and Site 47:  Cranford 
29  With passenger volumes increasing to 15 million in 2013, the timeframe for the relocation of the rental cars at Portland International Airport has 

shortened, necessitating the removal of this site from the inventory. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 27 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 25 

Si
te

 ID
 

O
w

ne
r/

Si
te

 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

Co
un

ty
 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
es

 

N
et

 D
ev

el
op

ab
le

 
Ac

re
s 

Sa
le

/L
ea

se
/ 

Tr
an

sa
ct

  (
20

11
) 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t  

an
d/

or
 A

ct
io

n 

68* Port of Portland 
(Hillsboro Airport)  Hillsboro Washington 39.22 34.15 L 

Port of Portland Hillsboro 
Airport planning has changed, 
requiring this site for future 
airport use only 

Tier 3 Sites 

6 McCormick & Baxter 
Creosoting  Portland Multnomah 42.39 33.39 No 

Designated for University of 
Portland expansion and 
development (City of Portland 
approved conditional use 
master plan) 

15* BT Property LLC 
(UPS)  Gresham Multnomah 51.45 49.45 No Owner has decided to develop 

site for future use 

28 James & Mollie Siri   Happy Valley Clackamas 26.40 25.26 No 
Dedication along SE 172nd 
results in less than 25 
developable acres 

100 Holzmeyer Richard 
Henry Forest Grove Washington 111.37 100.12 N/A 

Designated from urban 
reserves to rural reserves 
during Grand Bargain; no 
longer eligible to be included 
in inventory 

*  This site was removed from the 2011 inventory as it is no longer available to the general market; however, it now appears on Table 7: User Owned and  
User Designated Sites 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 28 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 26 

Sites Added to the Inventory 

Using the methodology developed during the 2011 inventory project, the team found seven new sites to add to 
the inventory and removed nine sites, resulting in a total of 54 sites in the June 2014 inventory. The table below 
shows which 2011 inventory sites are no longer on the inventory with an explanation of why. Approximately 240 
estimated net developable acres were added in the same time period with seven newly identified sites. The net 
decrease of large industrial site acreage in the metro-region is an estimated 160 net developable acres. 

Table 10: Sites Added to the 2014 Inventory 

Si
te

 ID
 

O
w

ne
r/

Si
te

 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

Co
un

ty
 

G
ro

ss
 A

cr
es

 

N
et

 D
ev

el
op

ab
le

 
Ac

re
s 

Sa
le

/L
ea

se
/ 

Tr
an

sa
ct

  (
20

14
) 

Tier 1 Sites 

111 Weston Investments 
and CCF Oregon LLC  Gresham Multnomah 34.99 26.00 S 

113 Henningsen Cold 
Storage Forest Grove Washington 28.57 26.44 Yes 

114 Colwood Ltd 
Partnership Portland Multnomah  47.55 39.42 S 

Tier 2 Sites 

112 Hally Waworth   Forest Grove Washington 38.19 36.15 Yes 
115 SolarWorld  Hillsboro Washington 46.23 46.23 S 

Tier 3 Sites 

110 Davis Family Trust & 
Remi Taghon  Cornelius Washington 49.01 40.21 Yes/No 

116 Northwest Sand & 
Gravel INC  Unincorporated Clackamas 26.2 21.10 S 

2014 Inventory Update Conclusions 

The 2014 industrial land inventory analysis finds that Portland metropolitan area’s supply of large industrial sites 
has decreased over the past two and a half years. Supply continues to be most limited for sites of 50 acres or 
more, consistent with the 2011 inventory. The sites that are available are concentrated in the Columbia Corridor 
in Multnomah County, Hillsboro, and Wilsonville/Tualatin in Washington County. The location distribution 
reflects previous local and regional land use planning decisions to maintain a compact regional form.  

Larger sites are more complex and take patience to acquire and develop. Parcel aggregation is a key 
issue to supplying larger sites to the market, affecting 25% of the sites in the inventory. 

While this analysis has identified the available sites, and at a high level outlined the challenges that exist to 
bringing Tier 2 or 3 sites to development-ready status, the timeframes in the analysis assume that the 
jurisdictions, property owners, land-use regulatory bodies, and potential interveners are all working in support of 
the site’s development and that appropriate public investments will be made to move these sites to market. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 29 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 27 

It is important to note that this inventory is a snapshot in time. As Tier 1 sites are absorbed by the marketplace, 
the expectation is that Tier 2 sites will continue to move to Tier 1 status and Tier 3 sites will continue to move to 
Tier 2. The inventory should be updated over time to ensure that the database of market-ready industrial sites is 
current, helps identify and prioritize required site readiness investments, and supports the region’s recruitment 
and expansion efforts. 

The experience of state and regional economic development experts indicates that accomplishing our region’s 
traded-sector industrial retention, expansion, and recruitment strategy depends in part on the availability of an 
adequate supply of well-located, market-priced, and developable large industrial sites. The inventory can be used 
as a reference for monitoring and tracking changes of absorption of industrial land in the region, and can also be 
used by the public sector as the basis for making informed land use and investment decisions around the supply, 
regulation, and market readiness of industrial lands. 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 30 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 28 

NEXT STEPS 

The 2011-12 Regional Industrial Site Readiness project found that many large industrial sites in the region are not 
development-ready, impacting the region’s ability to meet forecasted job growth requirements30, and potentially 
causing the region to miss business growth, recruitment opportunities, and the jobs and payroll they represent. 
The 2014 inventory update reinforces the importance of continued state and regional focus on the market-
readiness of large industrial sites within the region. The well-paying jobs provided by traded-sector industries will 
help Oregon achieve economic prosperity, reduce income disparity, and secure funding for public services and 
amenities.  

Regional policymakers have acknowledged the importance of a development-ready supply of large industrial sites 
in local and regional land use planning documents, such as Metro’s 2014 Urban Growth Report and separate local 
comprehensive plan updates, and should retain a policy focus on identifying and prioritizing funding to move 
industrial sites within the region to market. In addition to this work, the PMT has identified five next steps that 
could be helpful in the region and statewide.  

Improvements to Regulatory Processes that Reduce Uncertainty for Firms Seeking Sites 

Existing permitting processes sometimes add uncertainty and extend development timelines to the extent that 
targeted industry employers may choose sites in other regions, states, or countries. Options could include 
alignment of federal, state, regional, and local permitting processes; allowing wetland permitting and mitigation 
occur prior to identifying a site user; prioritizing technical assistance and funding; and dedication of staff with 
industrial development expertise within state permitting agencies. In addition, a regional focus on environmental 
mitigation strategies to support industrial development is appropriate (wetland banks, technical assistance).   
Although brownfield remediation is an issue, which affects a smaller number of larger industrial sites, industrial 
to industrial brownfield remediation is a significant challenge facing the region with remediation costs two to 
four times the sale price of industrial land31.  Portland Harbor superfund sites have even greater costs challenges 
and require special focus.  The state and region should consider incentives and regulatory relief to move these 
sites to productive industrial uses.       

Expansion of and Support for Existing Business Development Programs 

Existing state programs like Industrial Site Certification, Regionally Significant Industrial Areas, Immediate 
Opportunity Fund, Special Public Works Fund, and the brownfield programs deserve ongoing support and 
increased funding. Business Oregon and the Metro Regional Solutions Team should continue to collaborate on 
strategic efforts and prioritize site-specific work, leveraging Business Oregon programs to address the array of 
infrastructure and development constraints in the region.  

Creation and Funding of New Capital and Financial Tools 

New or refined tools are needed to address the upfront costs of capital investments for transportation, sewer, 
water, brownfield cleanup, wetlands mitigation, and site aggregation. Because of the personal income tax 
benefits that accrue to the state when large firms locate here, the state could play a role in providing upfront 
capital for industrial land site preparation.  
 

                                                           
30  The draft 2014 Metro Urban Growth Report forecasts 85,000 to 440,000 additional jobs and 300,000 to 485,000 additional people inside the Metro urban 

growth boundary by the year 2035. 
31  Metro Brownfield Scoping Project and Portland Brownfield Assessment – Maul, Foster & Alongi, Inc. 2012. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 31 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

H:\Projects\211016003\WP\Regional Industrial Site Readiness Inventory Update REV.docx 29 

In 2013, the Oregon Legislature approved enabling legislation for two sources of state funding for industrial site 
readiness (Senate Bill 246 and Senate Bill 253), but did not provide funding for these programs. To support the 
region’s job growth requirements identified in the draft 2014 Urban Growth Report, state funding for these two 
new Industrial Site Readiness Programs should be pursued, including due diligence assessments and forgivable 
loans to address the broad range of industrial site readiness constraints. 
 
To address the limited supply of larger industrial sites and assembly challenges affecting 25% of sites in the 
inventory, the region should develop new tools to support the acquisition and aggregation of industrial lands 
needed for “game changer” traded-sector investments (e.g., Coffee Creek in Wilsonville, North Hillsboro 
industrial lands).  The region should also retain a policy focus on identifying sources of infrastructure funding to 
meet the region’s $21-47 billion32 in infrastructure funding needs.  

Completion of Due Diligence Work on Sites 
 
Continued work on industrial site due diligence (such as identifying needed infrastructure improvements, scoping 
environmental cleanup, understanding the scale of wetlands, and producing preliminary cost estimates for 
brownfield and wetland mitigation) will help to remove uncertainty surrounding sites. A relatively small 
investment in due diligence work could catalyze accelerated site preparation and prioritize scarce funding. 

Regular Update of the Inventory and Completion of Follow Up Studies 
 
Since the June 2014 inventory was completed, three Tier 1 sites have been absorbed into the market33. Regular 
updates to this inventory and due diligence on sites could significantly benefit the region’s economic 
development efforts. Statewide application of this methodology could benefit other regions. 
  

                                                           
32  Regional Infrastructure Analysis, Metro July 2008 
33  Site 13: Specht Properties Inc. in Portland; Site 46: Development Services of America (Westmark site) in Hillsboro; Site 114: Colwood Ltd Partnership in 

Portland.  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 13, Page 32 of 32

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



1 
 

                                                

                                                          

                                                              

                                                                         

August 27, 2014 

Executive summary: 
Preliminary results of a residential preference study for 

the Portland region 

 

Introduction 
We all make choices when buying or renting a home. Some of the factors we weigh include price, 
proximity to work, size of the home, size of the yard, and the type of neighborhood. Understanding 
what’s important to residents of the metro area can inform local and regional policies, as well as public 
and private investment decisions. 

In the spring of 2014, a partnership of public and private sector interests conducted an innovative 
residential preference study for the four-county Portland metropolitan area.1 The study seeks to 
develop a better understanding of: 

• Preferences for different housing, community, and location characteristics 
• How factors such as income, number of household members, presence of kids, the age of the 

householder, and lifestyle relate to residential preferences 

                                                      
1 Clackamas, Clark, Multnomah, and Washington counties 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 1 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



2 
 

The project partners consider this a first effort at gaining a better understanding of a complex topic and 
intend to conduct this study periodically in the future to gauge whether and how preferences may be 
changing. This document summarizes the study’s preliminary findings. The project partners have also 
identified possible topics for research and plan to continue investigating trends in the data. Additional 
detail about the partnership, survey methods, and survey results can be found in the full report. 

Survey design 
This study seeks to go beyond typical opinion survey methods in order to gain a better understanding of 
how people make choices when faced with real-life tradeoffs. The survey presented respondents with 
two types of preference questions. In the first type, respondents were asked straightforward questions 
about their preferences. In the second type, respondents were asked with words and images to make 
tradeoffs like those they would consider when choosing where to live. For this tradeoffs section, 
respondents were asked to choose one of two housing situations that differed by housing type, 
commute time, house size, renting vs. owning, neighborhood type, and price. Repetition of those 
choices by thousands of respondents allows us to understand how important each of these factors is for 
people from different market segments. 

This study used an online survey tool. To ensure that the study produced valid results, the survey was 
completed by a managed representative panel of 800 respondents (200 respondents for each of the 
four counties – Clackamas, Clark, Multnomah, and Washington). In order to collect enough data for in-
depth statistical analysis, the survey was also distributed via e-mail advertisement, including to Metro’s 
Opt In panel, resulting in an additional 5,700 responses (the “public engagement panel”). In total, more 
than 6,500 people responded to the survey. For both panels, the survey responses were weighted by 
respondent county, age, and tenure (whether they currently rent or own) to ensure that the sample was 
representative of the region’s population distributions as described in the 2010 U.S. Census.2 A 
comparison of survey responses from the managed panel and the public engagement panel indicates 
that the demographic profile is comparable enough that the full data set can be used for analysis, but 
that there are some differences that warrant additional study. 

For any survey, the phrasing of questions and selection of images play a critical role in producing 
meaningful results. The project partners brought diverse perspectives to this study and sought to use 
words and images in the survey that clearly describe different housing and neighborhood types without 
introducing bias. Over the course of about six months, the project partners worked together to refine 
those words and images to describe the following housing and neighborhoods types for use in the 
survey.  A description of these housing and neighborhood types can be found in the full report. 

Housing types 
Three different housing types were described in the survey: 

                                                      
2 For example, before weighting, both panels under-represent renters and don’t reflect the proportions of people 
living in each of the four counties. Weighting techniques such as these are standard practices used on any sample, 
including the U.S. Census. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 2 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



3 
 

• Single-family detached 
• Single-family attached 
• Condo or apartment 

 
Neighborhood types 
Four different neighborhood types that illustrate a variety of activity and density levels were described 
in the survey: 

• Urban central or downtown 
• Urban neighborhood or town center 
• Outer Portland or suburban 
• Rural 

 
Even with a deliberate effort to use clear text descriptions and images, people will understand these 
neighborhood types differently, perhaps more so than housing types. Additional work could be done to 
understand how differing interpretations may influence responses. 

Preliminary results 

Overall, most respondents live in and prefer single-family detached homes3 
When asked simple questions about their preferences, most respondents live in and prefer single-family 
detached housing. 
 
Single-family detached homes 
65 percent of respondents currently live in a single-family 
detached home. 87 percent of the respondents living in a 
single-family detached home prefer this housing type. 80 
percent of all respondents prefer this housing type. 

Single-family attached homes 
8 percent of respondents currently live in a single-family 
attached home.  11 percent of the respondents living in a 
single-family attached home prefer this housing type. 7 
percent of all respondents prefer this housing type. 

  

                                                      
3 Results for this section are reported for the managed panel only. See the full report for a description of survey 
results from public engagement. 

Key takeaways: 
Most respondents live in a 

single-family detached home 
and this is the most preferred 

housing type, not just for those 
that live in this type of home, 
but also for respondents who 
currently live in single-family 
attached homes, condos and 

apartments. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 3 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



4 
 

Condos or apartments 
28 percent of respondents currently live in a condo or apartment. 26 percent of the respondents living 
in a condo or apartment prefer this housing type. 13 percent of all respondents prefer this housing type. 

Respondents typically live in their preferred neighborhood type4 
When asked simple questions about preferences, most 
respondents prefer their current neighborhood type. Since 
the majority of respondents live in the outer Portland or 
suburban neighborhood type, this is the most preferred 
neighborhood type overall. However, current residents of 
outer Portland or suburban neighborhoods report the 
lowest level of satisfaction with their current 
neighborhood type, followed by residents of urban central 
or downtown neighborhoods. Residents of rural 
neighborhoods, followed by urban neighborhood or town 
center residents are most satisfied with their current 
neighborhoods. 

• 11 percent of respondents currently live in an 
urban central or downtown neighborhood. 55 
percent of the respondents living in this 
neighborhood type prefer this neighborhood type. 
13 percent of all respondents prefer this neighborhood type. 

• 25 percent of respondents currently live in an urban neighborhood or town center. 62 percent of 
the respondents living in this neighborhood type prefer this neighborhood type. 27 percent of 
all respondents prefer this neighborhood type. 

• 56 percent of respondents live in an outer Portland or suburban neighborhood type. 51 percent 
of the respondents living in this neighborhood 
type prefer this neighborhood type. 34 percent of 
all respondents prefer this neighborhood type. 

• 8 percent of respondents live in a rural 
neighborhood. 70 percent of the respondents 
living in this neighborhood type prefer this 
neighborhood type. 26 percent of all respondents 
prefer this neighborhood type. 

                                                      
4 Results for this section are reported for the managed panel only. See the full report for a description of survey 
results from public engagement. 

Key takeaways: 
Most respondents identified 
their neighborhood type as 
outer Portland or suburban 

and about half of those 
residents prefer this 

neighborhood type. Though a 
smaller share of respondents 

lives in urban central or 
downtown neighborhood 
types, about half of them 

prefer that neighborhood type. 

Key takeaways: 
Current residents of rural 

neighborhoods, which account 
for 8 percent of respondents, 
are most satisfied with their 

neighborhood. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 4 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



5 
 

Controlling for other factors such as commute time and price, people are most likely to 
choose their current neighborhood type 
This survey went beyond typical questions about preferences to collect information about how various 
factors affect housing choices. The next section of the survey presented respondents with multiple 
housing option choice sets where factors such as price, commute time, housing type, neighborhood 
type, size of residence, and tenure (own vs. rent) varied. All 6,500 plus survey responses (weighted to 
match Census distributions) are used for reporting the results of these choice sets. The larger number of 
responses makes it possible to conduct more complex analysis. 
 
To understand the importance of neighborhood type 
when people make housing choices, statistical analyses 
were conducted on the response data. Those analyses 
held all other factors such as price, commute time, and 
housing type constant. If respondents could pay the same 
price, have the same type of housing, same commute 
distance, etc. but in different neighborhood types, they 
are most likely to choose the neighborhood type that they 
currently live in. However, in no case is there a majority of 
respondents that would be likely to choose their current 
neighborhood type. Residents of urban central or 
downtown neighborhoods have the highest likelihood of 
choosing their current neighborhood type (44 percent 
probability) and residents of outer Portland or suburban 
neighborhoods have the lowest likelihood (31 percent 
probability). Controlling for other factors, residents of the 
urban central or downtown neighborhood type have a 
secondary likelihood (32 percent) that they will choose an 
urban neighborhood or town center. As a secondary 
choice, respondents living in urban neighborhood or town 
center locations were split on whether to choose more or 
less urban neighborhoods. As a secondary choice, those 
living in outer Portland or suburban neighborhoods were 
twice as likely to choose more urban as opposed to rural neighborhood types. 

Controlling for other factors, the importance of owning vs. renting varies by neighborhood 
choice 
Respondents that choose urban central or downtown neighborhoods are more likely to prefer renting 
their home. Respondents that choose rural neighborhoods are more likely to prefer owning their home. 
These preferences are less clear for respondents that choose the other two neighborhoods types, urban 
neighborhood or town center and outer Portland or suburban neighborhoods. 

Key takeaways: 
All other things being equal, 

people are most likely (though 
not a majority) to choose to 

live in their current 
neighborhood type. As a 

secondary choice, respondents 
living in urban neighborhood 
or town center locations are 
split on whether to choose 

more or less urban 
neighborhoods. As a secondary 

choice, those living in outer 
Portland or suburban 

neighborhoods are twice as 
likely to choose more urban as 

opposed to more rural 
neighborhood types. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 5 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



6 
 

Some people’s neighborhood choices change when they are asked to consider other factors 
Though people are generally satisfied with their current 
housing and neighborhood types, some make different 
choices when they consider other factors. To understand 
how respondents make tradeoffs regarding 
neighborhoods, statistical techniques were used to test a 
series of “what if” scenarios. These “what if” scenarios are 
not intended to be policy recommendations. They are 
used for illustrative purposes only to help understand how 
people make housing choices. Different “what if” scenario 
assumptions would produce different results. 
 
What if housing prices increase? 
Some people may change their neighborhood choices if 
housing prices go up by one-third in their current 
neighborhood type. Current residents of the outer 
Portland or suburban neighborhood type are most 
sensitive to increased housing prices; 11 percent would 
choose different neighborhood types under this scenario. 
Of these suburban respondents that shift neighborhood 
choices based on price, the most common response is to 
shift to more urban neighborhoods, but a portion would 
also switch to a rural neighborhood (3 percent shift to 
urban central or downtown, 5 percent to urban 
neighborhood or town center, and 3 percent to rural). 
 
What if ownership of single-family detached homes is 
more limited?  

Some people may choose a different neighborhood type if 
they are unable to own a single-family detached home in 
their current neighborhood type. Current residents of 
rural neighborhoods place the most importance on 
owning a single-family detached home and there is a 27 
percent probability that they will shift to a more urban 
neighborhood type to accommodate that housing 
preference. On the other hand, current residents of urban 
central or downtown neighborhoods place the least 
importance on owning a single-family detached home; 
most would rather choose a different housing type than 

Key takeaways: 
People are most likely to 

choose their current 
neighborhood type regardless 
of tradeoffs in price, commute 

time, square footage, and 
ownership.  

Additional context: 
Relatively small percentages of 

the region’s population 
represent large numbers of 

people. Seemingly minor shifts 
in housing or neighborhood 

choices can thus have a large 
impact on housing demand 
and traffic. For perspective, 
there are likely to be about 

820,000 households inside the 
urban growth boundary in 

2035. Just five percent of that 
is 41,000 households. 

Key takeaways: 
Residents of rural 

neighborhoods feel strongly 
about owning a single-family 

detached home. Over a 
quarter of them would choose 
a more urban neighborhood 

type if that was their only 
option to own a single-family 

detached home. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 6 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



7 
 

leave their current neighborhood type. 6 percent would choose a different neighborhood type. 
 
What if commute times increase? 
Some people may choose a different type of 
neighborhood if commute times go up by ten minutes in 
their current neighborhood type.5 Current residents of the 
urban neighborhood or town center type are most 
sensitive to commute times. 7 percent of urban 
neighborhood or town center respondents would shift 
neighborhood choices based on increased commute time. 
3 percent would choose an urban central or downtown 
neighborhood, 2 percent would choose an outer Portland or suburban neighborhood, and 1 percent 
would choose a rural neighborhood.6 Current residents of rural neighborhoods are least sensitive to 
increased commute times, with 3 percent shifting their neighborhood choice when faced with increased 
commute time. 
 
What if residences are smaller? 
Some people may choose a different neighborhood type if the size of residences in their current 
neighborhood type decrease by 500 square feet.7 Current residents of the urban central or downtown 
neighborhood type are most sensitive to decreases in residence size. Making up the 12 percent of urban 
central respondents that shift neighborhood choices based on decreased home size, 7 percent choose 
an urban neighborhood or town center, 4 percent choose an outer Portland or suburb, and 2 percent 
would choose a rural neighborhood.8 

Other factors that people consider when deciding where to live9 
In addition to asking respondents to weigh potential tradeoffs, the survey also included traditional 
opinion polling to address other factors that may influence residential choices, but that are not possible 
to quantify to present as tradeoffs. Safety of neighborhoods and public school quality are two such 
factors that were addressed with more traditional survey techniques. 
 
Respondents say that housing price, safety of the neighborhood, and characteristics of the house, in 
that order, are the most important factors when choosing a home. 

• 44 percent rank housing price as their top influencer when choosing a home. 

                                                      
5 That increase is about a third of the average commute time. 
6 Numbers don’t add up to 7 percent because of rounding. 
7 This would represent a decrease by about a third of average residence size. 
8 Numbers don’t add up to 12 percent because of rounding. 
9 Results for this section are reported for the managed panel only. See the full report for a description of survey 
results from public engagement. 

Key takeaways: 
Most respondents don’t 

change their neighborhood 
preference when faced with 

longer commutes. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 7 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



8 
 

• Safety of the neighborhood (19 percent choose this as their top priority) and characteristics of 
the house (19 percent) are the next most influential factors. 

• Quality of public schools was the number one influencer for just 3 percent of respondents and 
was ranked in the top three by 11 percent. 

 
A majority of respondents prefer neighborhoods with a 
moderate amount of foot and vehicle traffic. 

• 55 percent prefer moderate foot and vehicle 
traffic during the day with some activities within a 
15 minute walk. 

• Those living in Multnomah County were twice as 
likely to desire "heavy foot and vehicle traffic" 
than those in Clackamas, Clark, and Washington 
counties. 

 
The largest share of respondents, though not a majority, prefer a medium-sized yard. 

• 32 percent of respondents prefer a medium sized yard separating their home from a neighbor. 
• Owners are more likely than renters to prefer a medium sized or large yard. 
• Renters are more likely than owners to prefer no yard or little private outdoor space. 

Next steps 
This study provides initial insight into the complex topic of how people decide where to live. Together, 
we hope this work can inform public and private sector efforts, such as the upcoming regional growth 
management decision, to provide the diversity of housing and neighborhood choices that people desire. 
The project partners hope to improve upon and update this study to understand how preferences may 
change over time. The project partners have identified several topics that warrant additional research: 

• Even with text descriptions and images, people may have different perceptions about what is 
meant by the various housing and neighborhood types. How might this affect survey responses? 
How might we improve the survey instrument? 

• Every survey sample has limitations in its ability to represent the full population. This study 
attempts to account for that by weighting for housing tenure, age, and county of residence of 
the respondents. However, as with any sample, there are some variables that cannot be 
validated (for example, how to balance residents of different neighborhood types when there is 
no objective way to define neighborhood types). 

• This study relies on different respondent sources. Are there significant differences in how 
respondents from the different panels make choices? 

• What are the best methods for incorporating these survey results into forecast models? 
• This study represents a snapshot of preferences today. How might they change in the future? 

Key takeaways: 
Most respondents want to live 
in neighborhoods where they 

can enjoy activities such as 
shopping and entertainment 

within a 15 minute walk 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 8 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

 
 
  

  

 

PREPARED FOR: 

METRO 

Residential Preference Study 

 

 

 
 

 

May 2014 
 
 

PREPARED BY: 
DHM RESEARCH 

(503) 220-0575 • 239 NW 13th Ave., #205, Portland, OR 97209 • www.dhmresearch.com 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 9 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://www.dhmresearch.com/


 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  2 

1.   |   INTRODUCTION AND METHODOLOGY  

Between April 18 and May 9, 2014, Davis, Hibbitts & Midghall, Inc. (DHM Research) 
conducted an online survey of respondents living in Clackamas, Multnomah, Washington and 
Clark counties about their current and preferred residential and neighborhood preferences. 
The objective of the survey was to assess general opinions and preferences around housing 
and neighborhood choices and factors that may influence those choices. Portland State 
University and Metro developed the questionnaire with input from DHM. 
 
Research Methodology: The study was administered in two tracks. Track 1 consists of an 
online survey conducted with respondents through a managed panel. Enough surveys were 
completed in each of the four counties to permit statistically reliable analysis at the county 
level. The research design used quotas and statistical weighting based on the U.S. Census 
to ensure a representative sample within counties by age and tenure.  The regions were 
then weighted proportionally by population per the U.S. Census to yield regional results. A 
total of 813 surveys were completed through Track 1. 
 
Track 2 was a public involvement process; residents were invited to complete the survey 
from outreach partners including Home Builders Association of Metropolitan Portland, 
Northwest Natural, Portland Metropolitan Association of Realtors, Clackamas County, 
Washington County, City of Hillsboro, City of Portland, Metro, and Opt In. No quotas were 
set for the public involvement track. However, statistical weighting was applied to bring 
demographic variables in line with census data for the region. A total of 5,783 surveys were 
completed through the public involvement track. 
 
Altogether, over 6,500 respondents participated in the Residential Preference Study.   

Questionnaire design: The survey was primarily designed by Portland State University and 
Metro with input from DHM and included three sections: 

• Revealed Preference (RP) – The revealed preference section of the survey focused 
on respondent’s current housing and neighborhood decisions. Questions were asked 
to determine current neighborhood type, housing type, tenure, and home value. The 
combination of these variables was used to direct the respondent to the appropriate 
set of paired choices in the stated preference section of the questionnaire. 

• Stated Preference (SP) – The stated preference section of the questionnaire 
presented respondents with 12 pairs of housing and neighborhood types. Statistical 
analysis of this data can be found in the complimentary document. 

• Attitudinal – The third section of the survey presented respondents with a more 
traditional series of attitudinal questions, including their priorities and values. 

 
This report contains analysis for the revealed preference and attitudinal sections of the 
questionnaire. All graphics and initial analysis is based on Track 1 sample with supporting 
analysis coming from Track 2. 
   
Statement of Limitations: Any sampling of opinions or attitudes is subject to a margin of 
error. The margin of error is a standard statistical calculation that represents differences 
between the sample and total population at a confidence interval, or probability, calculated 
to be 95%. This means that there is a 95% probability that the sample taken for this study 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 10 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  3 

would fall within the stated margins of error if compared with the results achieved from 
surveying the entire population. 

For a sample size of 813, the margin of error would fall within +/-2.1% and +/-3.4% at the 
95% confidence level.  The reason for the difference lies in the fact that when response 
categories are relatively even in size, each is numerically smaller and thus slightly less able-
-on a statistical basis--to approximate the larger population.  
 
DHM Research Background: DHM Research has been providing opinion research and 
consultation throughout the Pacific Northwest and other regions of the United States for over 
three decades. The firm is non-partisan and independent and specializes in research projects to 
support public policy making.  www.dhmresearch.com 
 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 11 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582

http://www.dhmresearch.com/


 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  4 

2.   |   SUMMARY & OBSERVATIONS 
 
A majority of respondents currently live in a single-family detached home, which is 
also the most preferred type of housing. 

• 65% currently live in a single-family detached home and 80% prefer to live in a 
single-family detached home.  

o It should be noted that respondents were not asked to take any other 
variables into account when choosing their preferred housing type (i.e. 
commute time, price, etc.) 

• 8% live in a single-family attached home and 7% prefer a single-family attached 
home. 

• 28% live in a condo or apartment and 13% prefer a condo or apartment. 
 
In general, respondents currently live in their preferred neighborhood type. 

• 56% currently live in a suburban neighborhood. 
o 51% who currently live in a suburban area prefer this type of neighborhood. 
o Those who prefer suburban living tend to be from Clackamas and Washington 

counties, aged 35-54, and have a household income of $150,000 or more. 
• 25% currently live in an urban neighborhood or town center. 

o 62% who currently live in an urban neighborhood or town center prefer this 
type of area. 

o Those who prefer urban neighborhood living tend to be from Multnomah 
County, aged 18-34, and have a household income of $25,000 to $50,000. 

• 11% currently live in an urban central or downtown neighborhood. 
o 59% who currently live in an urban central or downtown area prefer this type 

of neighborhood. 
o Those who prefer urban central living tend to be from Multnomah County and 

have a household income of less than $25,000. 
• 8% live in a rural neighborhood. 

o 70% who currently live in rural area prefer this type of neighborhood. 
o Those who prefer rural living tend to be from Clackamas and Clark counties, 

and have household incomes of between $25,000 and $50,000. 
 
All other things being equal, people are most likely to choose to live in their 
current neighborhood type. To understand the importance of neighborhood type when 
people make housing choices, statistical analyses were conducted on the Stated Preference 
data. If respondents could pay the same price, have the same type of housing, same 
commute distance, etc. but in different neighborhood types, they are most likely to choose 
the neighborhood type that they currently live in. 

• 44% who currently live in an urban central or downtown neighborhood are likely to 
choose that same type of area, all other factors held constant; the highest 
percentage of any neighborhood type.  

• 39% who currently live in an urban neighborhood or town center are likely to choose 
that same type of area. 

• 31% who currently live in a suburban neighborhood are likely to choose that same 
type of area; the lowest percentage of any neighborhood type. 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 12 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  5 

• 38% who currently live in a rural neighborhood are likely to choose that same type 
of area. 
 

People’s neighborhood type preferences can change when faced with making 
tradeoffs. Generally, when faced with tradeoffs that prompt them to reconsider their 
neighborhood preferences, those living in urban neighborhood or town center locations are 
split on whether to go more towards more or less density.  Those living in suburban 
neighborhoods are twice as likely to go towards more density rather than less as opposed to 
rural). 

• Neighborhood preferences change for some based on an increase in current housing 
price.  

o Residents of outer Portland or suburban neighborhoods are most sensitive to 
increased housing prices.  

o Residents of rural neighborhoods are least sensitive to an increase in housing 
price. 

• Neighborhood preferences change for some if commute times increase.  
o Residents of the urban neighborhood or town centers are most sensitive to an 

increase in commute times.  
o Residents of rural neighborhoods are least sensitive to increased commute 

times. 
• Neighborhood preferences change for some if the size of the residence decreases. 

o Residents of the urban central or downtown neighborhoods are most sensitive 
to decreases in residence size. This is likely because they are already living in 
relatively smaller residences. 

 
Aside from price, safety of the neighborhood and characteristics of the house have 
the largest influence on where respondents choose to live. 

• 44% rank housing price as their top influencer when choosing a home. 
• Safety of the neighborhood (19% choosing this as their top priority) and 

characteristics of the house (19%) are the next most influential factors. 
o Quality of public schools was the number one influencer for just 3% of 

respondents and was ranked in the top three by 11%. 
 
Respondents prefer a moderate amount of foot and vehicle traffic in their 
preferred neighborhood and a medium sized yard for their home. 

• 55% prefer moderate foot and vehicle traffic during the day with some activities 
within a 15 minute walk. 

o 27% prefer less traffic. 
 Those living in Clackamas, Clark, and Washington counties are more 

likely to prefer "very light foot and vehicle traffic," than those in 
Multnomah County. 

o 18% prefer more traffic. 
 Those living in Multnomah County were twice as likely to desire "heavy 

foot and vehicle traffic" than those in Clackamas, Clark, and 
Washington counties. 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 13 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  6 

• 32% prefer a medium sized yard separating their home from a neighbor. 
o 39% prefer a smaller yard (small private yard: 22%; small private courtyard: 

14%). 
o 29% prefer a larger yard (large private yard: 16%; acreage: 13%). 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 14 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  7 

3.   |   KEY FINDINGS  

3.1  | Current/Preferred  Housing Types 
 
Respondents were given detailed descriptions and shown representative images of three 
different housing types.  
 
Single Family Detached - These homes have a yard or patio, and do not share walls with 
other homes. 

 
 
Single Family Attached - These homes share walls with other homes, but have their own 
private ground floor entrance. They are normally part of townhomes, row houses, duplexes, 
or triplexes and share a common yard or have a small private yard. 

 
 
Condo or Apartment - These homes are in multiple story buildings with other units. There 
are often shared common areas and recreation facilities. 

 
 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 15 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  8 

They were then asked what type of home they currently live in and what type of home they 
would prefer to live in. 

 

Overall, two in three (65%) currently live in a single-family detached home. This is followed 
distantly by a condo or apartment (28%). Just one in ten currently live in a single family 
attached home (8%). 
 
Demographic Differences: A majority of respondents in all four counties currently live in 
a single-family detached home. However, demographic differences in current housing type 
do exist. 
 
Single-family detached home (65%) 

• Clackamas County respondents (77%) vs. Multnomah (59%) and Washington (66%) 
counties  

• Respondents age 35 and older (67-74%) vs. those younger (49%)  
• Households making $100K or more (88-93%) vs. lower income households (47-

76%) 
 
Condo or apartment (28%) 

• Multnomah County respondents (35%) vs. Clackamas (19%), Washington (23%), 
and Clark counties (19%) 

• Respondents age 18-34 (41%) vs. those older (20-26%)  
• Households making $50K or less (42-44%) vs. higher income households (7-25%) 
• Renters (58%) vs. those who own their home (7%) 

 
  

65% 

8% 

28% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Single-family detached Single-family attached Condo or apartment 

Chart 1 
Current Housing Type 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 16 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  9 

Single-family attached home (8%) 
• Washington County respondents (11%) vs. Clackamas (4%) and Multnomah (6%) 

counties  
• Renters (11%) vs. those who own their home (6%) 
 

Public Engagement: Similar results are seen in terms of current housing type in the public 
engagement data. Seven in ten (68%) live in a single-family detached home; just under 
one in ten (7%) live in a single family attached home; and one in four (25%) live in a condo 
or apartment. Nearly all of the same demographic differences from the representative 
sample also exist. 
 
3.2  | Preferred Housing 
 
Not considering other variables, respondents were asked what their preferred housing type 
would be. 

 

Overwhelmingly, the most preferred housing type among respondents is the single-family 
detached home (80%). This is followed distantly by a condo or apartment (13%) and a 
single-family attached home (7%). It should be noted that respondents were not asked to 
take any other variables into consideration such as price, neighborhood type, commute 
time, etc. 

  

80% 

7% 
13% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Single-family detached Single-family attached Condo or apartment 

Chart 2 
Preferred Housing Type 

*This preference does not factor in other variables 
such as commute time, housing price, etc. 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 17 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  10 

Single-family detached 
 
A strong majority of all subgroups prefer single-family detached housing. Those most likely 
to prefer single-family detached housing include those under the age of 55 and higher 
income households. 

 

Demographic Differences:  

• Age 18-34 (88%) and 35-54 (87%) vs. age 55 and older (68%) 
• Household income of $100K to $150K (87%) and $150K and higher (96%) vs. 

households with incomes less than $75K (73-75%) 
 
Public Engagement: Similar preference is seen in the public engagement data. Eight in 
ten (81%) prefer a single-family detached home. This was the most preferred housing type 
across all counties, though some demographic differences do exist: 

• Clackamas (88%), Washington (86%) and Clark counties (94%) vs. Multnomah 
County (73%) 

• Household income of $50K and higher (83-86%) vs. households making less than 
$50K (70-74%) 

• Those who own their home (87%) vs. renters (71%) 

 

  

80% 

7% 13% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Single-family detached Single-family attached Condo or apartment 

Chart 3 
Preferred Housing Type: Single-Family Detached 

• All Counties: 77-84% 
• Age 18-54: 87% 
• HH income $75K+: 85-96% 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 18 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  11 

Single-family attached 

Preference for single-family attached housing is fairly low across all subgroups, though there 
is higher preference among lower income and older respondents. 

 
Demographic Differences:  

• Respondents age 55 and older (12%) vs. those younger (4%) 
 

Public Engagement: Again, similar preference is seen in the public engagement data. One 
in ten (9%) prefer a single-family attached home. However, some different demographic 
differences emerge: 

• Multnomah (11%) and Washington (8%) counties vs. Clackamas County (5%) 
• Respondents age 18-34 (13%) vs. those older (6-9%) 
• Households making $25K-$50K (13%) vs. higher income households (6-8%) 
• Renters (12%) vs. those who own their home (6%) 

 

 

  

80% 

7% 
13% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Single-family detached Single-family attached Condo or apartment 

Chart 4 
Preferred Housing Type: Single-Family Attached 

• All Counties: 6-8% 
• Age 55+: 12% 
• HH income $25K-$50K: 11% 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 19 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  12 

Condo or apartment 

Overall, about one in ten (13%) prefer to live in a condo or apartment. Higher preference 
for this type of housing is seen among older and lower income respondents. 

 

Demographic Differences:  

• Age 55 and older (21%) vs. those younger (8%) 
• Household incomes of less than $75K (15%) vs. households making $150K or more 

(2%) 
 

Public Engagement: Similar preference is also seen for living in a condo or apartment in 
the public engagement data. One in ten (11%) prefer a condo or apartment. However, 
some different demographic differences emerge: 

• Multnomah County (15%) vs. Clackamas (7%) and Washington (6%) counties 
• Age 55 and older (15%) vs. those younger (7-10%) 
• Household incomes of less than $25K (18%) vs. higher income households (8-13%) 
• Renters (17%) vs. those who own their home (6%) 

 
  

80% 

7% 
13% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Single-family detached Single-family attached Condo or apartment 

Chart 5 
Preferred Housing Type: Condo or Apartment 

• All Counties: 11-15% 
• Age 55+: 21% 
• HH income <$25K: 21% 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 20 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  13 

3.2  | Current vs. Preferred Housing 
 
When looking at preferred housing, compared to current housing we see that not all 
respondents are currently living in the type of house that they would prefer to.  

 

There is a 15 point gap between those who currently live in a single-family detached house 
(65%) and those who prefer to live in this type of house (80%). We also observe an 
opposite gap in the percentage of respondents that currently live in a condo or apartment 
(28%) compared to those who prefer to (13%). 
 
Current: Single-family detached 
 
Respondents who currently live in a single-family detached home largely prefer this type of 
housing. Less than one in ten would prefer to live in a single-family attached home or a 
condo or apartment. Preferred housing type among those currently living in a single-family 
detached home: 

• Single-family detached (87%) 
• Single-family attached (5%) 
• Condo or apartment (8%) 

 
  

65% 

8% 

28% 

80% 

7% 
13% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Single-family detached Single-family attached Condo or apartment 

Chart 6 
Housing Type Current vs. Preferred 

Current 

Preferred 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 21 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  14 

Public Engagement: Similar to the representative sample, nearly all who currently live in 
a single-family detached home prefer this type of housing. Less than one in ten prefer to 
live in a single-family attached home or a condo or apartment. 

• Single-family detached (92%) 
• Single-family attached (5%) 
• Condo or apartment (4%) 

 

Current: Single-family attached 
 
Respondents who currently live in a single-family attached home largely do not prefer this 
type of housing. Most would prefer to live in a single-family detached home. One in ten 
would prefer to live in their current type of housing or a condo or apartment. Preferred 
housing type among those currently living in a single-family attached home: 

• Single-family detached (78%) 
• Single-family attached (11%) 
• Condo or apartment (11%) 

 
Public Engagement: Again, similar to the representative sample, a majority who currently 
live in a single-family attached home prefer to live in a different type of housing. Nearly 
seven in ten prefer a single-family detached home; three in ten prefer a single-family 
attached home; and one in ten prefer a condo or apartment. 

• Single-family detached (67%) 
• Single-family attached (28%) 
• Condo or apartment (8%) 

 
Current: Condo or apartment 
 
Respondents who currently live in a condo or apartment generally do not prefer this type of 
housing. A majority would prefer to live in a single-family detached home. One in ten would 
prefer to live in a single-family attached home, while one in four a condo or apartment. 
Preferred housing type among those currently living in a condo or apartment: 

• Single-family detached (64%) 
• Single-family attached (10%) 
• Condo or apartment (26%) 

 
Public Engagement: As was seen in the representative sample, a majority who currently 
live in a condo or apartment would prefer to live in a single-family detached home. Just over 
one in ten prefer a single-family attached home, and three in ten prefer their current type of 
housing, a condo or apartment. 

• Single-family detached (56%) 
• Single-family attached (14%) 
• Condo or apartment (30%) 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 22 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  15 

3.1  | Current/Preferred  Neighborhood Types 
 
Respondents were given detailed descriptions and shown representative images of four 
different neighborhood types. 
 
Urban Central or Downtown - These are neighborhoods that have activity during the day 
and night. Restaurants, shops, parks, and transit are within a short walk. People mostly live 
in condos or apartment buildings that are five stories high or taller. These neighborhoods 
have continuous sidewalks, crosswalks, bicycle lanes, and crossing signals. 

 
 
Urban Neighborhood or Town Center - These are neighborhoods that have activity 
during certain times. Restaurants, shops, parks, and transit are within a short walk. Most 
people live in single-family homes, but these neighborhoods also have condos and 
apartments mixed in, particularly along major streets and in commercial areas, where 
buildings are typically two to six stories high. These neighborhoods have continuous 
sidewalks, crosswalks, bicycle lanes, and crossing signals. 

 
 
Outer Portland or Suburban - These neighborhoods may or may not have light activity 
during the day. Restaurants, shops, parks, and transit stops are generally not within 
walking distance and most people drive to get there. Most people live in single-family 
homes with yards, but some live in apartment buildings. The large majority of buildings in 
these neighborhoods are one or two-stories high. Sidewalks may or may not be present and 
crosswalks, bicycle lanes, and crossing signals are sparse. 

 
 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 23 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  16 

Rural - These are quiet areas away from the city in agricultural or forest areas. People need 
to drive to get to restaurants, shops, parks, or transit. They mostly live in single-family 
homes on large lots or acreage and are further away from other homes. There are no 
sidewalks, crosswalks, bicycle lanes, or crossing signals. 

 
 
They were then asked what type of neighborhood they currently live in and where they 
would prefer to live. 

 

More than half (56%) live in a suburban neighborhood. This is followed distantly by an 
urban or town center neighborhood (25%). Just one in ten live in an urban central or 
downtown neighborhood (11%) or in a rural neighborhood (8%). 
 
Demographic Differences: A majority of respondents in all four counties, with the 
exception of Multnomah, currently live in a suburban neighborhood. However, demographic 
differences in current neighborhood type do exist. 
 
  

11% 

25% 

56% 

8% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Urban Central or 
Downtown 

Urban 
Neighborhood or 

Town Center 

Suburban Rural 

Chart 7 
Current Neighborhood Type 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 24 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  17 

Suburban (56%) 
• Washington County (81%) vs. Clackamas (71%), Multnomah (35%), and Clark 

(62%) counties 
• Households with incomes of $50K or more (59-69%) vs. lower income households 

(44-49%) 
• Those who own their home (62%) vs. renter (46%) 

 
Urban neighborhood or town center (25%) 

• Multnomah County (41%) vs. Clackamas (11%), Washington (10%), and Clark 
(15%) counties 

• Renters (31%) vs. those who own their home (22%) 
 

Urban central of downtown (11%) 
• Multnomah County (20%) vs. Clackamas (2%), Washington (3%), and Clark (3%) 

counties 
• Households making less than $25K (26%) vs. higher income households (6-10%) 
• Renters (19%) vs. those who own their home (6%) 

 
Rural (8%) 

• Clackamas (15%) and Clark (20%) counties vs. Multnomah (3%) and Washington 
(7%) counties 

• Those who own their home (10%) vs. renters (4%) 
 
Public Engagement: The public engagement data differs slightly in terms of current 
neighborhood. Close to half (47%) live in a suburban neighborhood, nine points less than 
the representative sample. This is followed by an urban or town center neighborhood 
(39%), 14 points more than the representative sample. Similar to the representative 
sample, one in ten live in an urban central or downtown neighborhood (7%) or in a rural 
neighborhood (8%). 
 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 25 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  18 

3.2  | Preferred Neighborhood 
 
Not considering other variables, respondents were asked what their preferred neighborhood 
type would be. 

 

Overall, respondents are fairly split on their neighborhood preferences. Four in ten would 
prefer to live in an urban neighborhood, either urban central or downtown (13%) or an 
urban town center (27%). One in three (34%) would prefer to live in a suburban 
neighborhood, while one in four (26%) would prefer to live in a rural neighborhood. 
 
  

13% 

27% 
34% 

26% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Urban Central or 
Downtown 

Urban 
Neighborhood or 

Town Center 

Suburban Rural 

Chart 8 
Preferred Neighborhood Type 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 26 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  19 

Urban central or downtown 
 
One in ten would prefer to live in an urban central or downtown neighborhood. Respondents 
currently living in Multnomah County and those from lower income households are most 
likely to prefer this type of neighborhood. 

 

Demographic Differences:  

• Multnomah County (19%) vs. Clackamas (8%), Washington (7%), and Clark (11%) 
counties 

• Renters (18%) vs. those who own their home (10%) 
 

Public Engagement: Similar preference is given to living in an urban central or downtown 
neighborhood in the public engagement data. One in ten (10%) prefer to live in this type of 
neighborhood. Similar demographic differences were seen as well: 

• Multnomah County (16%) vs. Clackamas (5%) and Washington (5%) counties 
• Renters (14%) vs. those who own their home (7%) 

 

  

13% 

27% 
34% 

26% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Urban Central or 
Downtown 

Urban 
Neighborhood or 

Town Center 

Suburban Rural 

Chart 9 
Preferred Neighborhood Type: Urban Central or Downtown 

• Multnomah County: 19% 
• All ages: 12-15% 
• HH income <$25K+: 21% 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 27 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  20 

Urban neighborhood or town center 
 
One in four respondents would prefer to live in an urban neighborhood or town center. 
Respondents from Multnomah County as well as those who are younger are most likely to 
prefer this type of neighborhood. 

 

Demographic Differences:  

• Multnomah County (38%) vs. Clackamas (11%), Washington (18%), and Clark 
(19%) counties 

• Age 18-34 (39%) vs. those older (22-24%)  
 
Public Engagement: Respondents from the public engagement track are more likely than 
those from the representative sample to prefer an urban neighborhood or town center (48% 
vs. 27% respectively). However, demographic similarities exist: 

• Multnomah County (65%) vs. Clackamas (28%) and Washington (37%) counties 
• Age 18-34 (62%) vs. those older (41-49%) 
• Renters (52%) vs. those who own their home (46%) 

  

13% 

27% 
34% 

26% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Urban Central or 
Downtown 

Urban 
Neighborhood or 

Town Center 

Suburban Rural 

Chart 10 
Preferred Neighborhood Type: Urban Neighborhood or Town 

Center 

• Multnomah County: 38% 
• Ages 18-34: 39% 
• HH income $25K-$50K: 33% 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 28 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  21 

Suburban neighborhood 
 
One in three respondents would prefer to live in a suburban neighborhood. Respondents 
most likely to prefer this type of neighborhood include those from Clackamas and 
Washington counties, age 35-54, and from higher income households. 

 

Demographic Differences:  

• Clackamas (47%), Washington (45%), and Clark (36%) counties vs. Multnomah 
County (23%)  

• Household income of $50K or more (35-46%) vs. lower income households (23-
33%) 

• Those who own their home (39%) vs. renters (26%) 
 
Public Engagement: Respondents from the public engagement track are less likely than 
those from the representative sample to prefer a suburban neighborhood (22% vs. 34% 
respectively). However, there are demographic similarities: 

• Clackamas (32%) and Washington (35%) counties vs. Multnomah County (10%)  
• Household income of $50K or more (23-26%) vs. lower income households (18-

19%) 
• Those who own their home (26%) vs. renters (17%) 

  

13% 

27% 
34% 

26% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Urban Central or 
Downtown 

Urban 
Neighborhood or 

Town Center 

Suburban Rural 

Chart 11 
Preferred Neighborhood Type: Suburban 

• Clackamas & Washington counties: 46% 
• Ages 35-54: 40% 
• HH income $150K+: 46% 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 29 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  22 

Rural neighborhood 
 
Overall, one in four respondents would prefer to live in a rural neighborhood. Those most 
likely to prefer this type of neighborhood currently live in Clackamas and Clark counties. 

 

Demographic Differences:  
• Clackamas (34%), Washington (30%), and Clark (34%) counties vs. Multnomah 

County (20%)  
 
Public Engagement: Respondents from the public engagement track are slightly less likely 
than those from the representative sample to prefer a rural neighborhood (19% vs. 26% 
respectively). However, there are some demographic similarities by area: 

• Clackamas (35%), Washington (23%), and Clark (31%) counties vs. Multnomah 
County (9%)  

• Age 35 and older (21%) vs. those younger (11%) 
• Those who own their home (21%) vs. Renters (17%) 

 

 

 

  

13% 

27% 
34% 

26% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Urban Central or 
Downtown 

Urban 
Neighborhood or 

Town Center 

Suburban Rural 

Chart 12 
Preferred Neighborhood Type: Rural 

• Clackamas & Clark counties: 34% 
• All ages: 24-27% 
• HH income $25K-$50K: 34% 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 30 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  23 

3.2  | Current vs. Preferred Neighborhood 
 
When looking at preferred neighborhood compared to current neighborhood we see that 
largely, many respondents are currently living in the type of neighborhood that they would 
prefer to.  

 

There is a 18 point gap between those who currently live in a rural neighborhood (8%) and 
those who prefer to live in this type of area (26%). We also see an opposite gap in the 
percentage of respondents that currently live in a suburban neighborhood (56%) compared 
to those who prefer to (34%). 
 
Current: Urban central or downtown 
 
A majority of respondents who currently live in an urban central or downtown neighborhood 
prefer to live in this area.  One in ten would prefer to live in an urban neighborhood or town 
center or a rural neighborhood. Two in ten would prefer a suburban neighborhood. Preferred 
neighborhood among those currently living in an urban central or downtown neighborhood: 

• Urban central or downtown (55%) 
• Urban neighborhood or town center (13%) 
• Suburban (17%) 
• Rural (13%) 

 
  

11% 

25% 

56% 

8% 
13% 

27% 
34% 

26% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Urban Central or 
Downtown 

Urban 
Neighborhood or 

Town Center 

Suburban Rural 

Chart 13 
Neighborhood Type Current vs. Preferred 

Current 

Preferred 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 31 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  24 

Public Engagement: Similar to results found in the representative sample, a majority of 
respondents who currently live in an urban central or downtown neighborhood prefer to live 
in this area.  One in four would prefer to live in an urban neighborhood or town center. Two 
in ten would prefer a suburban or rural neighborhood. 
 
Urban central or downtown (59%) 

• Urban central or downtown (59%) 
• Urban neighborhood or town center (24%) 
• Suburban (10%) 
• Rural (8%) 

 
Current: Urban neighborhood or town center 
 
A majority of respondents who currently live in an urban neighborhood or town center 
prefer to live in this area.  One in ten would prefer to live in a central or downtown 
neighborhood or a suburban neighborhood. Two in ten would prefer a rural neighborhood. 
Preferred neighborhood among those currently living in an urban neighborhood or town 
center: 

• Urban central or downtown (11%) 
• Urban neighborhood or town center (62%) 
• Suburban (8%) 
• Rural (19%) 

 
Public Engagement: As was seen in the representative sample, a majority of respondents 
who currently live in an urban neighborhood or town center prefer to live in this area.  One 
in ten would prefer to live in a central or downtown neighborhood or a rural neighborhood. 
Just 4% would prefer a suburban neighborhood. 

• Urban central or downtown (9%) 
• Urban neighborhood or town center (78%) 
• Suburban (4%) 
• Rural (9%) 

 
Current: Suburban 
 
A majority of respondents who currently live in a suburban neighborhood prefer to live in 
this area.  Two in ten would prefer to live in an urban neighborhood or town center or a 
suburban neighborhood. Less than one in ten would prefer an urban central or downtown 
neighborhood. Preferred neighborhood among those currently living in a suburban 
neighborhood: 

• Urban central or downtown (6%) 
• Urban neighborhood or town center (17%) 
• Suburban (51%) 
• Rural (26%) 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 32 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  25 

Public Engagement: A plurality of respondents who currently live in a suburban 
neighborhood prefer to live in this area.  However, there is some desire to live in other 
types of neighborhoods as well. One in three would prefer to live in an urban neighborhood 
or town center, and two in ten a rural neighborhood. Just 5% would prefer living in an 
urban central or downtown neighborhood. 

• Urban central or downtown (5%) 
• Urban neighborhood or town center (33%) 
• Suburban (41%) 
• Rural (20%) 

 
Current: Rural 
 
Again, a strong majority of respondents who currently live in a rural neighborhood prefer to 
live in this area. There is a small preference for living in an urban central or downtown 
neighborhood or suburban neighborhood. Very few who currently live in a rural 
neighborhood would prefer to live in an urban neighborhood or town center. Preferred 
neighborhood among those currently living in a rural neighborhood: 

• Urban central or downtown (10%) 
• Urban neighborhood or town center (3%) 
• Suburban (16%) 
• Rural (70%) 

 
Public Engagement: Again, similar to the representative sample, a strong majority of 
respondents who currently live in a rural neighborhood prefer to live in this area.  Just one 
in ten or fewer prefer to live in each of the other types of neighborhoods.  

• Urban central or downtown (5%) 
• Urban neighborhood or town center (11%) 
• Suburban (7%) 
• Rural (76%) 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 33 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  26 

3.3  | Stated Preference Neighborhood Sensitivity 
 
The following section contains initial findings of the stated preference data. Analysis was 
performed by Metro on a data file containing both managed panel and public engagement 
respondents combined. This was possible due to the similarities between the data files and 
allows for a larger sample size for statistical analysis. 
 
The chart below shows propensity to own a home by current neighborhood type. Negative 
own numbers mean that owning is less desirable than renting; while positive own numbers 
mean that owning is more desirable than renting. (Note that in the following chart, rent is 
always 0.  Statistically we need to designate one state (own or rent) as the base state). 

 

Residents living in urban central or downtown neighborhoods regard renting as preferable 
(slightly) over owning when housing type, size and price are held constant.  This pattern 
also persists for residents of urban neighborhoods or town centers; though the difference 
between owning and renting is not statistically significant. In suburban and rural 
neighborhoods owning is predominant with the difference getting more pronounced as you 
move to rural. 

The following chart displays the probability distribution, where the chances of choosing a 
neighborhood type is expressed as a percentage given that price, tenure, type, commute 
time, etc. are all the same between neighborhoods.  Note that when all attributes are the 
same except the neighborhood of the respondent’s choice; all choice alternatives could be 
selected.  

-0.211 
-0.129 

0.138 

0.372 

-0.300 

-0.200 

-0.100 

0.000 

0.100 

0.200 

0.300 

0.400 

0.500 

Chart 14 
Tenure Choice by Current Neighborhood 

Urban Central or Downtown Urban Neighborhood or Town Center Suburban Rural 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 34 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  27 

 

If respondents could pay the same price, have the same type of housing, same commute 
time, etc. but in different neighborhood types, they are most likely to choose the 
neighborhood type that they currently live in. However, in no case is there a majority of 
respondents that would be likely to choose their current neighborhood type. Residents of 
urban central or downtown neighborhoods have the highest likelihood of choosing their 
current neighborhood type (44%) and residents of suburban neighborhoods have the lowest 
likelihood (31%). 

Of those whose neighborhood preference would change, respondents currently living in an 
urban central or downtown neighborhood are most likely to prefer an urban neighborhood or 
town center (31.5%); respondents in an urban neighborhood or town center are most likely 
to prefer an urban central or downtown neighborhood (29.7%); those in a suburban 
neighborhood prefer an urban neighborhood or town center (29.7%); and those in a rural 
neighborhood prefer suburban neighborhoods (28.7%). 
 
In the following chart, tenure and type of housing is limited to rental and multi-family in 
respondent’s current neighborhood. We then assess the probability of changing their 
neighborhood preference to a different type of neighborhood. Negative values indicate the 
percentage of respondents whose neighborhood preference would change based on the 
limited tenure and housing type. Positive values indicate neighborhood preference for those 
that would move. 

  

44.3% 

29.7% 

18.2% 
13.7% 

31.5% 

39.0% 

29.7% 

20.0% 
16.9% 

20.0% 

31.2% 
28.7% 

7.3% 
11.3% 

21.0% 

37.6% 

0.0% 

5.0% 

10.0% 

15.0% 

20.0% 

25.0% 

30.0% 

35.0% 

40.0% 

45.0% 

50.0% 

Chart 15 
Probability of Location by Market Segment - Baseline Conditions 

Sensitivity Test 

Urban Central or Downtown Urban Neighborhood or Town Center Suburban Rural 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 35 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  28 

-6.2% 

-30.0% 
-25.0% 
-20.0% 
-15.0% 
-10.0% 
-5.0% 
0.0% 
5.0% 

10.0% 
15.0% 

Chart 17 
Type and Tenure Sensitivity - 

Downtown 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Town center: 3.5% 
 
Suburban: 1.9% 
 
Rural: 0.8% 

-18.1% 

-30.0% 
-25.0% 
-20.0% 
-15.0% 
-10.0% 
-5.0% 
0.0% 
5.0% 

10.0% 
15.0% 

Chart 18 
Price Sensitiviy - Town Center 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

 

Respondents in urban central or downtown neighborhoods are the least likely change their 
neighborhood preference when tenure and type of housing is limited to rental and multi-
family in their current neighborhood, while those living in rural neighborhoods show the 
highest likelihood to change preference. Likelihood to change neighborhood preference is 
similar among those in both urban town center and suburban neighborhoods. 

Six percent (6.2%) who currently live in an urban 
central or downtown neighborhood would prefer a 
different type of neighborhood if tenure and type of 
housing are limited to rental and multi-family in their 
current neighborhood; the least sensitive of all 
neighborhoods. Those whose neighborhood 
preference would change are most likely to change 
preference to an urban neighborhood or town center 
(3.5%). Fewer would prefer a suburban 
neighborhood (1.9%), while fewer still would prefer a 
rural neighborhood (0.8%). 

 
Eighteen percent (18.1%) who currently live in an 
urban neighborhood or town center would prefer a 
different type of neighborhood if tenure and type of 
housing are limited to rental and multi-family in their 
current neighborhood. Those whose neighborhood 
preference would change are most likely to change 
preference to an urban central or downtown 
neighborhood (8.8%). Fewer would prefer a 
suburban neighborhood (5.9%), while fewer still 
would prefer a rural neighborhood (3.3%). 

-6.2% 

8.8% 
5.0% 5.9% 

3.5% 

-18.1% 

8.2% 8.6% 

1.9% 
5.9% 

-19.1% 

12.4% 

0.8% 
3.3% 

5.8% 

-26.9% -30.0% 

-25.0% 

-20.0% 

-15.0% 

-10.0% 

-5.0% 

0.0% 

5.0% 

10.0% 

15.0% 

Chart 16 
House Type and Tenure Sensitivity – Multi-Family Rental Only in 

Current Neighborhood 

Urban Central or Downtown Urban Neighborhood or Town Center Suburban Rural 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Downtown: 8.8% 
 
Suburban: 5.9% 
 
Rural: 3.3% 

Downtown 

Town Center 
Suburban 

Rural 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 36 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  29 

-19.1% 

-30.0% 
-25.0% 
-20.0% 
-15.0% 
-10.0% 
-5.0% 
0.0% 
5.0% 

10.0% 
15.0% 

Chart 19 
Price Sensitiviy - Suburban 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

-26.9% -30.0% 
-25.0% 
-20.0% 
-15.0% 
-10.0% 
-5.0% 
0.0% 
5.0% 

10.0% 
15.0% 

Chart 20 
Price Sensitiviy - Rural 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Nineteen percent (19.1%) of respondents who 
currently live in a suburban neighborhood would 
prefer a different type of neighborhood if tenure and 
type of housing is limited to rental and multi-family 
in their current neighborhood. Those whose 
neighborhood preference would change are most 
likely to change preference to an urban 
neighborhood or town center (8.2%). Fewer would 
prefer a rural neighborhood (5.8%) or an urban 
central or downtown neighborhood (5.0%). 

 
More than one in four (26.9%) respondents 
currently living in rural neighborhoods would prefer 
a different type of neighborhood if tenure and type 
of housing is limited to rental and multi-family in 
their current neighborhood; the most sensitive of all 
neighborhoods. Of those whose neighborhood 
preference would change, they are most likely to 
change preference to a suburban neighborhood 
(12.4%) Fewer would prefer a town center (8.6%), 
while fewer still would prefer to an urban central or 
downtown neighborhood (5.9%). 

 

 

  

Downtown: 5.0% 
 
Town Center: 8.2% 
 
Rural: 5.8% 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 37 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  30 

-6.8% 

-12.0% 
-10.0% 
-8.0% 
-6.0% 
-4.0% 
-2.0% 
0.0% 
2.0% 
4.0% 
6.0% 

Chart 22 
Price Sensitivity - Downtown 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Town center: 3.9% 
 
Suburban: 2.1% 
 
Rural: 0.9% 

In the following chart, the price of housing has increased in the selected neighborhood by 
1/3. We then assess the probability of changing their neighborhood preference to a different 
type of neighborhood considering an identical house with identical commute time, etc. in a 
different neighborhood. Negative values indicate the percentage of respondents whose 
neighborhood preference would change based on the price increase in their current 
neighborhood. Positive values indicate neighborhood preference for those that would shift. 

 

Respondents in rural neighborhoods are the least likely change their neighborhood 
preference when price increases, while those living in suburban neighborhoods show the 
highest likelihood to change preference. Likelihood to change neighborhood preference is 
fairly modest, and equal, among those in both urban central and those who currently live in 
urban town center neighborhoods. 

Just under seven percent (6.8%) who currently live 
in an urban central or downtown neighborhood would 
prefer an identical house with identical commute 
time, etc. in a different neighborhood if the price of 
their home in their current neighborhood increased 
by 1/3. They are most likely to change preference to  
an urban neighborhood or town center (3.9%). Fewer 
would prefer a suburban neighborhood (2.9%), while 
fewer still would prefer a rural neighborhood (0.9%). 

 

  

-6.8% 

3.3% 2.9% 

0.8% 

3.9% 

-6.7% 

4.7% 

1.2% 
2.1% 2.2% 

-10.9% 

1.7% 0.9% 1.2% 

3.3% 

-3.7% 

-12.0% 

-10.0% 

-8.0% 

-6.0% 

-4.0% 

-2.0% 

0.0% 

2.0% 

4.0% 

6.0% 

Chart 21 
Housing Cost Sensitivity - 1/3 Increase Only in Current 

Neighborhood 

Urban Central or Downtown Urban Neighborhood or Town Center Suburban Rural 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

D
ow

n
tow

n
 

Tow
n

 C
en

ter 

S
u

b
u

rb
an

 

R
u

ral 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 38 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  31 

-6.7% 

-12.0% 
-10.0% 
-8.0% 
-6.0% 
-4.0% 
-2.0% 
0.0% 
2.0% 
4.0% 
6.0% 

Chart 23 
Price Sensitiviy - Town Center 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

-10.9% -12.0% 
-10.0% 
-8.0% 
-6.0% 
-4.0% 
-2.0% 
0.0% 
2.0% 
4.0% 
6.0% 

Chart 24 
Price Sensitiviy - Suburban 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

-3.7% 

-12.0% 
-10.0% 
-8.0% 
-6.0% 
-4.0% 
-2.0% 
0.0% 
2.0% 
4.0% 
6.0% 

Chart 25 
Price Sensitiviy - Rural 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Just under seven percent (6.7%) who currently live 
in an urban neighborhood or town center would 
prefer an identical house with identical commute 
time, etc. in a different neighborhood if the price of 
their home in their current neighborhood increased 
by 1/3. They are most likely to change preference to 
an urban central or downtown neighborhood (3.3%). 
Fewer would prefer a suburban neighborhood 
(2.2%), while fewer still would prefer a rural 
neighborhood (1.2%). 

 
 
Eleven percent (10.9%) of respondents who 
currently live in a suburban neighborhood would 
prefer an identical house with identical commute 
time, etc. in a different neighborhood if the price of 
their home in their current neighborhood increased 
by 1/3; the most price sensitive of all neighborhoods. 
They are most likely to change preference to an 
urban neighborhood or town center (4.7%). Fewer 
would prefer a rural neighborhood (3.3%), while 
fewer still would prefer an urban central or downtown 
neighborhood (2.9%). 

Nearly four percent (3.7%) of respondents currently 
living in rural neighborhoods would prefer an 
identical house with identical commute time, etc. in 
a different neighborhood if the price of their home in 
their current neighborhood increased by 1/3; the 
least price sensitive of all neighborhoods. They are 
most likely to change preference to a suburban 
neighborhood (1.7%) or town center (1.2%), while 
they are least likely to prefer an urban central or 
downtown neighborhood (0.8%). 

  

Downtown: 2.9% 
 
Town Center: 4.7% 
 
Rural: 3.3% 

Downtown: 0.8% 
 
Town Center: 1.2% 
 
Suburban: 1.7% 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 39 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  32 

-6.0% -8.0% 

-6.0% 

-4.0% 

-2.0% 

0.0% 

2.0% 

4.0% 

Chart 27 
Commute Time Sensitiviy 

- Downtown 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Town center:  3.4% 
 
Suburban: 1.8% 
 
Rural: 0.8% 

In the following chart, the commute time has increased in the selected neighborhood by 10 
minutes. We then assess the probability changing their neighborhood preference to a 
different type of neighborhood considering an identical house with identical price, etc. in a 
different neighborhood. Negative values indicate the percentage of respondents whose 
neighborhood preference would change based on the increase in commute time in their 
current neighborhood. Positive values indicate neighborhood preference for those that would 
shift. 

 

Respondents in rural neighborhoods are the least likely to change their neighborhood 
preference when commute time increases by 10 minutes, while those living in urban 
neighborhoods, both town centers and downtown, show the highest likelihood to change 
neighborhood preference. Likelihood to change preference is fairly modest among those 
living in suburban neighborhoods. 

Six percent (6.0%) who currently live in an urban 
central or downtown neighborhood would prefer an 
identical house with identical price, etc. in a different 
neighborhood if commute time in their current 
neighborhood increased by 10 minutes. They are 
most likely to change preference to an urban 
neighborhood or town center (3.4%). Fewer would 
prefer a suburban neighborhood (1.8%), while fewer 
still would prefer a rural neighborhood (0.8%). 

 

  

-6.0% 

3.2% 

1.1% 0.6% 

3.4% 

-6.6% 

1.8% 
0.8% 

1.8% 2.2% 

-4.1% 

1.2% 0.8% 1.2% 1.2% 

-2.5% 

-8.0% 

-6.0% 

-4.0% 

-2.0% 

0.0% 

2.0% 

4.0% 

Chart 26 
Commute Travel Time Sensitivity - 10 Minute Increase Only in 

Current Neighborhood 

Urban Central or Downtown Urban Neighborhood or Town Center Suburban Rural 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

D
ow

n
tow

n
 

Tow
n

 C
en

ter 

S
u

b
u

rb
an

 

R
u

ral 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 40 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  33 

-6.6% -8.0% 

-6.0% 

-4.0% 

-2.0% 

0.0% 

2.0% 

4.0% 

Chart 28 
Commute Time Sensitiviy 

- Town Center 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Downtown: 3.2% 
 
Suburban: 2.2% 
 
Rural: 1.2% 

-4.1% 

-8.0% 

-6.0% 

-4.0% 

-2.0% 

0.0% 

2.0% 

4.0% 

Chart 29 
Commute Time Sensitiviy 

-  Suburban 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Downtown: 1.1% 
 
Town center: 1.8% 
 
Rural: 1.2% 

-2.5% 

-8.0% 

-6.0% 

-4.0% 

-2.0% 

0.0% 

2.0% 

4.0% 

Chart 30 
Commute Time Sensitiviy 

-  Rural 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Downtown:  0.6% 
 
Town center: 0.8% 
 
Suburban: 1.2% 

Under seven percent (6.6%) who currently live in an 
urban neighborhood or town center would prefer an 
identical house with identical price, etc. in a different 
neighborhood if commute time in their current 
neighborhood increased by 10 minutes; the most 
sensitive neighborhood to commute time. They are 
most likely to change preference to an urban central 
or downtown neighborhood (3.2%). Fewer would 
prefer a suburban neighborhood (2.2%), while fewer 
still would prefer a rural neighborhood (1.2%). 

 
Four percent (4.1%) who currently live in suburban 
neighborhood would prefer an identical house with 
identical price, etc. in a different neighborhood if 
commute time in their current neighborhood 
increased by 10 minutes. They are most likely to 
change their preference to an urban neighborhood or 
town center (1.8%). Respondents currently living in 
a suburban neighborhood are equally likely to prefer 
an urban central or downtown neighborhood (1.1%) 
or a rural neighborhood (1.2%). 

Under three percent (2.5%) of respondents who 
currently live in a rural neighborhood would prefer an 
identical house with identical price, etc. in a different 
neighborhood if commute time in their current 
neighborhood increased by 10 minutes (-2.5%); the 
least sensitive neighborhood to commute time. They 
are most likely to change preference to a suburban 
neighborhood (1.2%), while they are least likely to 
prefer an urban neighborhood or town center (0.8%) 
or an urban central or downtown neighborhood 
(0.6%). 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 41 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  34 

-12.1% -15.0% 

-10.0% 

-5.0% 

0.0% 

5.0% 

10.0% 

Chart 32 
House Size Sensitiviy - Downtown 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Town center: 6.9% 
 
Suburban: 3.7% 
 
Rural: 1.6% 

In the following chart, the square footage of the house has been decreased in the selected 
neighborhood by 500 square feet. We then assessed the probability of changing their 
neighborhood preference to a different type of neighborhood considering an identical house 
with identical price, etc. in a different neighborhood. Negative values indicate the 
percentage of respondents whose neighborhood preference would change based on the 
price decrease in square footage in their current neighborhood. Positive value indicated 
neighborhood preference for those that would move. 

 

Respondents in rural neighborhoods or town centers are the least likely change their 
neighborhood preference when square footage is decreased by 500 sq. ft., while those living 
in an urban central or downtown neighborhood show the highest likelihood to change 
neighborhood preference. Likelihood to change preference is fairly modest among those 
living in suburban neighborhoods, and even less among rural neighborhood respondents. 

Twelve percent (12.1%) who currently live in an 
urban central or downtown neighborhood would 
prefer an identical house with identical price, 
etc. in a different neighborhood if square 
footage of the housing in their current 
neighborhood decreased by 500 sq. ft.; the 
most sensitive neighborhood to housing size. 
They are most likely to change their preference 
to an urban neighborhood or town center 
(6.9%). Fewer would prefer a suburban 
neighborhood (3.7%), while fewer still would 
prefer to a rural neighborhood (1.6%). 

 

  

-12.1% 

2.9% 2.3% 1.4% 

6.9% 

-5.9% 

3.8% 
2.0% 

3.7% 
1.9% 

-8.7% 

2.9% 
1.6% 1.1% 

2.7% 

-6.4% 

-15.0% 

-10.0% 

-5.0% 

0.0% 

5.0% 

10.0% 

Chart 31 
House Size Sensitivity - 500 Sq. Ft. Decrease Only in Current 

Neighborhood 

Urban Central or Downtown Urban Neighborhood or Town Center Suburban Rural 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

D
ow

n
tow

n
 

Tow
n

 C
en

ter 

S
u

b
u

rb
an

 

R
u

ral 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 42 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  35 

-5.9% 

-15.0% 

-10.0% 

-5.0% 

0.0% 

5.0% 

10.0% 

Chart 33 
Housing Size Sensitiviy - Town 

Center 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Downtown:  2.9% 
 
Suburban: 1.9% 
 
Rural: 1.1% 

-8.7% 
-15.0% 

-10.0% 

-5.0% 

0.0% 

5.0% 

10.0% 

Chart 34 
House Size Sensitiviy 

-  Suburban 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Downtown:  2.3% 
 
Town center: 3.8% 
 
Rural: 2.7% 

-6.4% 

-15.0% 

-10.0% 

-5.0% 

0.0% 

5.0% 

10.0% 

Chart 35 
Commute Time Sensitiviy 

-  Rural 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Downtown:  1.4% 
 
Town center: 2.0% 
 
Suburban: 2.9% 

Six percent (5.9%) of respondents in an urban 
neighborhood or town center would prefer an 
identical house with identical price, etc. in a different 
neighborhood if square footage of the housing in 
their current neighborhood decreased by 500 sq. ft.; 
the least sensitive neighborhood to housing size. 
They are most likely to change their preference to an 
urban central or downtown neighborhood (2.9%). 
Fewer would prefer a suburban neighborhood 
(1.9%). While fewer still would prefer a rural 
neighborhood (1.1%). 

Nearly nine percent (8.7%) who currently live in 
suburban neighborhood would prefer an identical 
house with identical price, etc. in a different 
neighborhood if square footage of the housing in 
their current neighborhood decreased by 500 sq. ft. 
They are most likely to change their neighborhood 
preference to an urban neighborhood or town center 
(3.8%), while they are less likely to prefer an urban 
central or downtown neighborhood (2.3%) or a rural 
neighborhood (2.7%). 

 
More than six percent (6.4%) of those who 
currently live in rural neighborhoods would prefer 
an identical house with identical price, etc. in a 
different neighborhood if square footage of the 
housing in their current neighborhood decreased 
by 500 sq. ft. They are most likely to change their 
neighborhood preference to a suburban 
neighborhood (2.9%). Fewer would prefer an 
urban neighborhood or town center (2.0%), while 
fewer still would prefer an  urban central or 
downtown neighborhood (1.4%). 

 

 

 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 43 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  36 

3.4  | Attitudinal 

Respondents were asked to rank the top three items that had the largest influence on where 
they live. 

 

Not surprisingly, housing price has the largest influence on respondent’s housing decision 
(44%, rank 1). Safety of the neighborhood (19%) and characteristics of the house (19%) 
follow as top influencers. Interestingly, these prove to be larger influencers than proximity 
to work (6%), shops and restaurants in the area (4%), and quality of public schools (3%). 
 

  

19% 

19% 

44% 

6% 

5% 

9% 

13% 

20% 

19% 

24% 

11% 

14% 

13% 

19% 

21% 

14% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

Parks, trails, and green space 

MAX or bus stops in the area 

Quality of the public schools  

Shops, restaurants, services, and facilities in 
the area 

Being close to work 

Characteristics of the house itself 

Safety of the neighborhood 

Housing price 

Chart 36 
Influencers of Housing Options 

Rank 1 Rank 2 Rank 3 Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 44 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  37 

Housing price 
 
Housing price is the most influential factor in respondent’s housing decision, with more than 
four in ten (44%) ranking this as most influential. Those most likely to be influenced by 
price include Multnomah County respondents, those age 18-34, and lower household 
incomes. 

 

Demographic Differences:  

• No differences by county 
• Age 18-34 (56%) and 55 and older (46%) vs. age 35-54 (34%) 
• Household incomes of less than $25K (68%) and $25-50K (53%) vs. higher income 

households (29-39%) 
• Renters (53%) vs. those who own their home (38%) 

 
Public Engagement: Respondents from the public engagement track are slightly less likely 
than those from the representative sample to rank housing price as most influential (31% 
rank 1 vs. 44% respectively). Public engagement data shows some similar demographic 
differences: 

• No differences by county 
• Age 18-34 (40%) and 35-54 (32%) vs. age 55 and older (26%) 
• Household incomes of less than $25K (48%) and $25-50K (46%) vs. higher income 

households (15-34%) 
• Renters (42%) vs. those who own their home (24%) 

 

  

44% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

Characteristics of 
the house itself 

Safety of the 
neighborhood 

Housing price 

Chart 37 
Influencers of Housing Options: Housing Price 

Rank 1 Rank 2 Rank 3 

• Multnomah County: 48% 
• Ages 18-34: 56% 
• HH income <$50K+: 53-68% 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Rank 1 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 45 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  38 

Safety of the neighborhood 
 
Two in ten are most influenced by safety of the neighborhood. Those most influenced by 
this are those living in Clackamas and Clark counties, over the age of 34, and household 
incomes of $50-$100K. 
 

 
 
Demographic Differences:  

• Clackamas County (25%) vs. Multnomah County (16%) 
• Those who own their home (22%) vs. renters (14%) 

 
Public Engagement: Respondents from the public engagement track were slightly less 
likely than those from the representative sample to rank safety as a top influencer (14% vs. 
19% respectively). Some similarities are seen between representative and public 
engagement samples: 

• Clackamas (19%) and Washington (18%) counties vs. Multnomah County (9%) 
• Age 55 and older (18%) vs. those younger (6-14%) 
• Those who own their home (16%) vs. renters (11%) 

 

 

  

19% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

Characteristics of 
the house itself 

Safety of the 
neighborhood 

Housing price 

Chart 38 
Influencers of Housing Options: Safety of the Neighborhood 

Rank 1 Rank 2 Rank 3 

• Clackamas & Clark counties: 23-25% 
• Ages 35+: 21% 
• HH income $50K-$100K: 25-27% 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Rank 1 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 46 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  39 

Characteristics of the house 
 
Two in ten are most influenced by characteristics of the house itself. Those most likely to be 
influenced by characteristics of the house are age 35 and older from households of $150K or 
higher income. 

 

Demographic Differences:  

• No differences by county 
• Income of $150K or more (37%) vs. income of less than $75K (8-20%) 
• Those who own their home (23%) vs. renters (12%) 

       
Public Engagement: Respondents from the public engagement data showed similar 
preference to the representative sample in ranking characteristics of the house as a top 
influencer (20% vs. 19% respectively). However, some different demographic differences 
are observed. 

• Clackamas (23%) and Washington (21%) counties vs. Multnomah County (17%) 
• Age 55 and older (26%) vs. those younger (11-18%) 
• Household income of $75K or more (24-26%) vs. lower income households (8-19%) 
• Those who own their home (25%) vs. renters (11%) 

 

 

  

19% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

Characteristics of 
the house itself 

Safety of the 
neighborhood 

Housing price 

Chart 39 
Influencers of Housing Options: Characteristics of the House 

Itself 

Rank 1 Rank 2 Rank 3 

• All counties: 16-23% 
• Ages 35+: 20-21% 
• HH income $150K+: 37% 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Rank 1 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 47 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  40 

Respondents were asked to indicate their preference for level of activity in their ideal 
neighborhood on a scale ranging from very little foot or vehicle traffic to heavy foot or 
vehicle traffic.  

 

Not surprisingly, a majority of respondents would prefer a moderate amount of foot or 
vehicle traffic during the day with some activities within a 15 minute walk (55%). Overall, 
27% would prefer less activity in their neighborhood, while 18% would prefer more. 
 
Demographic Differences: Moderate foot traffic was preferred in across all demographic 
subgroups. However, some differences in preference do exist. Respondents currently living 
in Clackamas and Clark counties are most likely to prefer less vehicle and foot traffic. 
Multnomah County respondents showed the highest preference for heavier foot and vehicle 
traffic. 
 
 

 

9% 

9% 

55% 

8% 

19% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

Heavy foot or vehicle traffic. Many 
activities available day and night 

Moderate foot and vehicle traffic 
during the day. Some activities 

within a 15 minute walk 

Very little foot or vehicle traffic. 
No activities within a 15 min walk 

Chart 40 
Preferences for Ideal Home 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 48 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  41 

 
 
Public Engagement: Similar preferences were seen among the public engagement sample. 
A majority of respondents would prefer a moderate amount of foot or vehicle traffic during 
the day with some activities within a 15 minute walk (50%). Overall, 19% would prefer less 
activity in their neighborhood, while 31% would prefer more. 
 
  

20% 

15% 

27% 

25% 

9% 

7% 

12% 

9% 

61% 

51% 

54% 

58% 

5% 

14% 

6% 

13% 

4% 

6% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

Washington 

Multnomah 

Clark 

Clackamas 

Chart 41 
Preferences for Ideal Home by County 

1. Very little foot or vehicle traffic. No activities within a 15 min walk. 

2 

3. Moderate foot and vehicle traffic during the day. Some activities within a 15 minute walk. 

4 

5. Heavy foot or vehicle traffic. Many activities available day and night. 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 49 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  42 

Respondents were asked to indicate their preferred outdoor space on a scale ranging from 
no private outdoor space to acreage. 

 

The most preferred private outdoor space is a medium sized yard which separates the home 
from the neighbor (32%). One in three (36%) would prefer a smaller yard (small private 
courtyard: 14%; small private yard: 22%) while three in ten (29%) would prefer a larger 
yard (large private yard: 16%; acreage: 13%). Just 3% do not prefer to have a private 
yard. 
 
Demographic Differences: Preference for private outdoor space is fairly consistent across 
demographic subgroups. However, there are differences in preference among those who 
currently own their home and those who rent. Owners are more likely than renters to prefer 
a medium sized yard (Owners: 37% vs. Renters: 25%) and a large private yard (Owners: 
19% vs. Renters: 11%). Renters are more likely than home owners to prefer no yard 
(Renters: 6% vs. Owners: 1%) and a small private courtyard (Renters: 20% vs. Owners: 
9%). 
 
Public Engagement: Similar preferences were seen among the public engagement sample. 
The most preferred private outdoor space is a medium sized yard, which separates the 
home from the neighbor (33%). One in three (36%) would prefer a smaller yard (small 
private courtyard: 14%; small private yard: 22%) while three in ten (30%) would prefer a 
larger yard (large private yard: 17%; acreage: 13%). Just 2% do not prefer to have a 
private yard. 
 

 

  

13% 

16% 

32% 

22% 

14% 

3% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

Acreage 

Large private yard 

Medium sized private yard separating 
home from neighbor 

Small private yard 

Small private courtyard, patio, or balcony 

No private outdoor space, possible shared 
space 

Chart 42 
Private Outdoor Space 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 50 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  43 

3.5  | Importance of Utility Features in Home 
 
Finally, respondents were asked to rate the importance of having several features in their 
homes.  

 

Overall, a natural gas furnace (67% very/somewhat important) and a natural gas cook top 
(58%) are rated as the most important features. These are followed by electric alternatives. 
Less than a majority rate electric heat pump (47%) and electric heating (43%) as 
important. A natural gas fireplace (35%) was the least important feature tested.  
 
Demographic Differences: Importance of home features was fairly consistent across 
demographic subgroups. However, some differences do exist.  
 
Natural gas furnace: Respondents age 35 and older (69-73%) are more likely than those 
younger (55%) to find a natural gas furnace important. Those from households making 
$150K or more (89%) are more likely than those from households with incomes of less than 
$75K (53-64%) to find this feature important.  
 
Natural gas cooktop: Respondents from households making $150K or more (83%) are 
more likely than lower income households (51-68%) to find a natural gas cooktop or stove 
to be an important feature.  
 
Electric heat pump: Importance is fairly consistent across demographic subgroups. No 
significant differences exist. 
 
Electric heating: Respondents age 18-34 (58%) are more likely than those who are older 
(31-46%) to find electric heating important.  Households with incomes of less than $25K 
(61%) are also more likely than those from households making $50K or more the find this 
important.  

12% 

16% 

16% 

29% 

36% 

23% 

27% 

31% 

29% 

31% 

35% 

30% 

34% 

25% 

18% 

30% 

27% 

19% 

18% 

15% 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 

Natural gas fireplace 

Electric heating 

Electric heat pump 

Natural gas cooktop/stove 

Natural gas furnace 

Chart 43 
Importance of Features in Home 

Very important Somewhat important Not too important Not at all important 

Source: DHM Research, May 2014 
 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 51 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  44 

 
Natural gas fireplace: Respondents from households making $75K or more (44-54%) are 
more likely than households with incomes of less than $50K (15-30%) to find this to be an 
important feature. Owners (42%) were also more likely than renters (26%) to find a natural 
gas fireplace important. 
 

  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 52 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  45 

APPENDIX A 
Metro Residential Stated Preference Study 

February/March 2014; N=800+; respondents ages 18+ in the Metro Region 
DHM Research 

 
INTRODUCTION 
Thank you for taking time to participate in this survey.   
 
We’d like to know about your housing and neighborhood preferences. It will help our 
regional government, developers and community partners in the region with ongoing 
planning for the Portland Metropolitan area. Your opinions will help shape these decisions. 
 
For better visuals, this survey is best if completed on a computer versus a smartphone.  
 
This survey should take no more than 10 minutes. Please know that your responses are 
completely confidential. 
  
The following questions help ensure we have a representative sample. No personal 
information entered is used for anything other than this survey.  The results are analyzed at 
the aggregate level only. 
 
DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION NEEDED FOR STATED PREFERENCE LOGIC 
These first few questions will help us to ask you the right mix of housing and neighborhood 
preferences.   
 
1. How would you describe your current residence? 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=813 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,783 
Single family detached home 65% 68% 
Single family attached home 8% 7% 
Condo or apartment 28% 25% 

 
2. Do you own or rent your home? 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=813 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,783 
Own 60% 59% 
Rent 40% 41% 

 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 53 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  46 

3A. (If own in Q2) What is the current square footage of your home? Do not include garages 
and/or unfinished spaces. Your best estimate is fine. 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=588 

Public 
Engagement 

N=4,340 
Less than 999 sq ft 6% 8% 
1,000-1,499 sq ft 28% 24% 
1,500-1,999 sq ft 31% 26% 
2,000-2,499 sq ft 16% 19% 
2,500-2,999 sq ft 11% 11% 
3,000-3.499 sq ft 5% 6% 
3,500 sq ft or more 3% 5% 

 
3B. (If rent in Q2) What is the current square footage of your apartment or condo? Do not 

include garages and/or unfinished spaces. Your best estimate is fine. 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=225 

Public 
Engagement 

N=1,444 
Less than 600 sq ft 20% 11% 
600-899 sq ft 45% 41% 
900-1,249 sq ft 26% 37% 
1,250-1,749 sq ft 7% 8% 
1,750 sq ft or more 2% 2% 

 
4A. (If own in Q2) Which category best represents the current sales value of your home 

and property? Your best estimate is fine. 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=485 

Public 
Engagement 

N=3,421 
Less than $200,000 17% 9% 
$200,000-$249,999 21% 14% 
$250,000-$299,999 21% 16% 
$300,000-$349,999 15% 16% 
$350,000-$399,999 7% 12% 
$400,000-$449,999 10% 15% 
$500,000 or more 10% 18% 

 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 54 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  47 

4B. (If rent in Q2) Which category best represents your total monthly rent? Your best 
estimate is fine. 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=328 

Public 
Engagement 

N=2,362 
Less than $500/month 10% 5% 
$500-$649 13% 9% 
$650-$799 22% 14% 
$800-$999 18% 23% 
$1,000-$1,499 27% 33% 
$1,500 or more 10% 15% 

 
5. Including yourself, how many people currently live in your household? (RECORD 

NUMBER) 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=813 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,783 
1 22% 19% 
2 42% 42% 
3 17% 17% 
4 12% 15% 
5 or more 7% 7% 

 
6.  (IF Q5>1) And how many are younger than 18? (RECORD NUMBER) 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=635 

Public 
Engagement 

N=4,675 
0 69% 64% 
1 15% 15% 
2 12% 16% 
3 3% 3% 
4 or more 2% 2% 

 
7. For your MOST RECENT trip from home to work, school or main destination, what was 

your primary form of transportation? 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=813 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,783 
Car 83% 69% 
Carpool 1% 1% 
Walk 5% 6% 
Bike 1% 9% 
Transit 8% 14% 
Other 1% 1% 

 
8. For your MOST RECENT trip from home to work, school or main destination, how many 

minutes did it take you to make a one-way trip? 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 55 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  48 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=813 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,783 
Less than 10 minutes 26% 18% 
10-19 minutes 36% 33% 
20-29 minutes 22% 25% 
30-44 minutes 11% 15% 
49-59 minutes 4% 6% 
60 minutes or more 1% 3% 

 
Housing type preferred 

Response Category Panel 
N=813 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,783 
Single family detached home 80% 81% 
Single family attached home 7% 9% 
Condo or apartment 13% 11% 

 
Current Neighborhood Type 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=813 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,783 
Urban or Central Downtown 11% 7% 
Urban Neighborhood or Town Center 25% 39% 
Outer Portland or Suburban 56% 47% 
Rural 8% 8% 

 
Preferred Neighborhood Type 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=813 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,783 
Urban or Central Downtown 13% 10% 
Urban Neighborhood or Town Center 27% 48% 
Outer Portland or Suburban 34% 22% 
Rural 26% 19% 

 
 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 56 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  49 

STATED PREFERENCE EXERCISE 
 
ATTITUDINAL QUESTIONS 
 
We have just a few more questions that will help us evaluate you housing and 
neighborhood preferences. The survey is almost complete. Thank you for your 
continued participation. 
 
Which of these has the most influence on your housing decision? Please rank the top 3, 
where 1=most influential 2=second most influential and 3=third most influential 
(randomize)  

Response Category—Panel, N=795 1st Choice 2nd Choice 3rd Choice 
17. Safety of neighborhoods 19% 19% 21% 
18. Quality of the public schools 3% 5% 3% 
19. Parks, trails, green spaces, and 

recreational facilities in the area 
2% 4% 11% 

20. Shops, restaurants, services, social, 
religious, and civic facilities in the area 

4% 9% 14% 

21. MAX or bus stops in the area 3% 6% 5% 
22. Being close to work 6% 13% 13% 
23. Characteristics of the house itself 19% 20% 19% 
24. Housing price 44% 24% 14% 

 
 

Response Category—Public 
Engagement N=5,550 1st Choice 2nd Choice 3rd Choice 
25. Safety of neighborhoods 14% 13% 14% 
26. Quality of the public schools 6% 6% 5% 
27. Parks, trails, green spaces, and 

recreational facilities in the area 
4% 8% 13% 

28. Shops, restaurants, services, social, 
religious, and civic facilities in the area 

12% 12% 16% 

29. MAX or bus stops in the area 4% 7% 8% 
30. Being close to work 9% 14% 13% 
31. Characteristics of the house itself 20% 18% 16% 
32. Housing price 31% 21% 15% 

 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 57 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  50 

What would you prefer most in your ideal home? 
 
33. Level of activity in neighborhood (walking, shopping, entertainment, etc.)  

Response Category 
Panel 

N=794 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,546 
1—Very little foot traffic.  No activities within a 15 
minute walk 

19% 14% 

2 8% 6% 
3—Moderate foot and vehicle traffic during the day.  
Some activities within a 15 minute walk 

55% 50% 

4 9% 15% 
5—Heavy foot traffic.  Many activities available day 
and night 

9% 16% 

Bottom 2 (1+2) 27% 19% 
Top 2 (4+5) 18% 31% 
Mean 2.8 3.1 

 
34. Private outdoor space, property    

Response Category 
Panel 

N=794 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,569 
No private outdoor space, possible shared space 3% 2% 
Small private courtyard, patio, or balcony 14% 14% 
Small private yard 22% 22% 
Medium sized private yard separating home from 
neighbor 

32% 33% 

Large private yard 16% 17% 
Acreage 13% 13% 

 
NWN 
Home appliances can be powered by different fuels, mostly electricity and natural gas in our 
region. We are going to ask your preferences for the following options, your answers will 
greatly help us plan for future utility needs in the region. 
 
How important are the following features to you to have in your home? (Randomize) 
very important, somewhat important, not too important, not at all important* 

Response Category, Panel N=794 Very Smwt Not too Not at all 
35. Natural gas fireplace 12% 23% 35% 30% 
36. Natural gas cook top/stove 29% 29% 25% 18% 
37. Natural gas furnace 36% 31% 18% 15% 
38. Electric heating 16% 27% 30% 27% 
39. Electric heat pump 16% 31% 34% 19% 

 
Response Category, Public 
Engagement N=5,537 Very Smwt Not too Not at all 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 58 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  51 

40. Natural gas fireplace 10% 22% 30% 38% 
41. Natural gas cook top/stove 34% 29% 21% 15% 
42. Natural gas furnace 38% 32% 17% 13% 
43. Electric heating 7% 19% 31% 43% 
44. Electric heat pump 10% 29% 34% 27% 

 
DEMOGRAPHICS  

 
45. In which year were you born? * 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=813 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,783 
18-34 26% 19% 
35-54 36% 42% 
55+ 38% 39% 

 
46. How many years have you lived in the Portland Metropolitan region? 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=794 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,545 
0-1 years 5% 2% 
2-5 years 13% 11% 
5-9 years 14% 14% 
10-19 years 19% 23% 
20 years or longer 49% 51% 

 
47. How many years have you lived in your current residence? 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=794 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,545 
0-1 years 18% 17% 
2-5 years 29% 30% 
5-9 years 15% 18% 
10-19 years 22% 20% 
20 years or longer 16% 15% 

 
  

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 59 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



 

DHM Research  |  Metro Residential Preference  |  May  2014  52 

48. Is your ethnicity* 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=794 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,545 
White/Caucasian 89% 91% 
Black/African American 2% 1% 
Hispanic/Latino 2% 3% 
Asian/Pacific Islander 7% 2% 
Native American 2% 3% 
Other 0% 1% 
Refused 1% 3% 

 
49. What is your gender identity? (Select all that apply).* 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=813 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,752 
Male 47% 40% 
Female 52% 59% 
Transgender 1% 0% 
Refused 0% 0% 

 
50. What is your annual household income before taxes in 2013? 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=812 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,728 
Less than $24,999 15% 11% 
$25,000-$49,999 27% 20% 
$50,000-$74,999 21% 22% 
$75,000-$99,999 15% 16% 
$100,000-$149,999 15% 19% 
$150,000 or more 6% 12% 

 
51. Zip code  See Crosstabs 
 
52. In what county do you live? 

Response Category 
Panel 

N=813 

Public 
Engagement 

N=5,783 
Multnomah 47% 47% 
Washington  30% 31% 
Clark 11% 1% 
Clackamas 12% 22% 

 
 

 

Draft 2014 Urban Growth Report 
Appendix 14, Page 60 of 60

Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4582



EXHIBIT B 
STAFF REPORT 
 
 

IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 14-4582, FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
ACCEPTING THE DRAFT URBAN GROWTH REPORT AS SUPPORT FOR 
DETERMINATION OF CAPACITY OF THE URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY  
  
 

              
 
Date: November 13, 2014    Prepared by: Ted Reid, 503-797-1768 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Purpose of the forecast and the urban growth report 
Every five years1

 

, to comply with Oregon land use laws, Metro assesses the region’s capacity to 
accommodate the number of people expected to live or work inside the Metro urban growth boundary 
(UGB) over the next 20 years. To make this determination, Metro forecasts population and employment 
growth over a 20-year timeframe; conducts an inventory of buildable land inside the UGB; assesses 
recent development trends; assesses how forecast growth may occur on the region’s buildable lands; and 
documents the results of these and other analyses in an urban growth report (UGR). The UGR becomes a 
basis for subsequent policy discussions about whether expected housing and employment growth can be 
accommodated inside the existing UGB. 

In 2015, the Metro Council will consider its policy options for accommodating growth. Statewide 
Planning Goal 14 (Urbanization) instructs that “Prior to expanding an urban growth boundary, local 
governments shall demonstrate that needs cannot reasonably be accommodated on land already inside the 
urban growth boundary.” In drafting the 2014 UGR, staff looked to the many policies and plans adopted 
by the state, Metro, counties and cities over the last several decades for guidance on how residents would 
like growth to occur, how to define needs, and what is reasonable.  
 
A draft 2014 UGR was released in July 2014 after over a year of technical engagement. The draft 2014 
UGR should be understood as a market analysis of how regional and local adopted plans and policies may 
play out over the next 20 years as population and employment growth occur. The draft report is not 
intended to be conclusive regarding the region’s capacity needs, but is intended to inform discussions 
about whether it is reasonable to expect current plans and policies to accommodate growth inside the 
existing UGB. 
 
Ultimately, it will be up to the Metro Council, with advice from the Metro Policy Advisory Committee 
(MPAC), to determine whether those outcomes are reasonable or whether additional actions are needed to 
accommodate anticipated growth in keeping with the region’s desired outcomes. The Metro Council’s 
adopted policy is to take an outcomes-based approach to managing urban growth. It is intended that 
growth management decisions will help to foster the creation of a region where: 
 

1. People live and work in vibrant communities where their everyday needs are easily 
accessible. 

                                                                    
1 Per HB 4078, for future cycles, the Urban Growth Report will be completed every six years. The next Urban 
Growth Report will be presented in 2020. 



2. Current and future residents benefit from the region's sustained economic competitiveness 
and prosperity. 

3. People have safe and reliable transportation choices that enhance their quality of life. 
4. The region is a leader in minimizing contributions to global warming. 
5. Current and future generations enjoy clean air, clean water and healthy ecosystems. 
6. The benefits and burdens of growth and change are distributed equitably. 

  
Implications of Metro Council accepting the draft UGR 
If the Metro Council votes in favor of this resolution, it would be accepting the draft UGR as a reasonable 
basis to inform ongoing policy discussions leading to the council making an urban growth management 
decision in 2015. Council acceptance of the draft UGR would not be a land use decision and would not 
necessarily imply complete agreement with all of the draft UGR’s assumptions or conclusions. Generally, 
the intent of the resolution is to signal a shift from the technical discussions that have happened in 2013 
and 2014 to policy discussions in 2015. The resolution also serves the purpose of meeting state law 
requirements that every five years Metro must perform two analyses, which are included in the draft 
UGR: 
 

• Inventory buildable lands within the urban growth boundary and determine their housing capacity 
• Conduct an analysis of housing need 

 
To inform policy discussions, the draft UGR includes considerably more analysis and information than is 
required under the law. For example, there is no burden on Metro to assess the adequacy of the region’s 
employment land supply, but the report includes that analysis since it is a topic of interest to policy 
makers. Council will also note that the draft UGR that is attached as Exhibit A to the resolution includes 
two additional appendices that were not available at the time that the draft UGR was first released in July 
2014. Council, MPAC, and the Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) have had discussions of 
both of these reports this fall. The new appendices are: 
 
Appendix 13: Regional Industrial Site Readiness: 2014 inventory update 
Appendix 14: Residential preference study (executive summary and full report) 
 
Overarching policy considerations in the draft UGR and topics of interest to stakeholders 
The draft UGR highlights a number of policy considerations for continued discussion in 2015. As noted 
in the proposed resolution, these topics can form the framework for ongoing discussions leading to the 
council’s urban growth management decision in 2015. The two topics that have received the bulk of the 
Council’s, MPAC’s, and stakeholders’ attention during discussions of the draft report are highlighted 
below: 
 

• Future housing mix 
• Growth potential in particular locations around the region 

 
Following Council direction, staff intends to bring forward these topics for additional discussion in 2015. 
 
Future housing mix 
As previously noted in this staff report, the draft UGR is an assessment of how existing plans and policies 
may play out over the next two decades. Those policies have a consistent theme of focusing most growth 
in downtowns, along transportation corridors and main streets, and in transit station communities. 
Demographic factors also influence the kinds of housing that are expected to be built over the next 20 
years, for example: 
 



• 60 percent of new households will consist of just one or two people; 
• 50 percent of new households will be headed by people over the age of 65; 
• About 60 percent of new households will have annual incomes less than $50,000. 

 
Collectively, with the demographic forecast and existing plans, this means that most new residential 
growth would be in the form of apartments and condominiums rather than single-family homes. However, 
single-family homes would still represent the majority (about 60 percent) of all housing in the UGB in 
2035. This represents a shift compared to the historic housing mix and compared to the preference for 
single-family detached homes that was described in the 2014 Residential Preference Study. As the council 
engages in discussions about housing needs, following are some additional considerations that have been 
identified: 
 

• Going forward, ensuring that half of new housing is single-family would require adding an area 
about the size of Forest Grove (4,000 acres) to the UGB every six years2

o How would this scale of expansion match the general public’s values and cities’ ability to 
provide governance and infrastructure? 

. This would require that 
there be cities willing and able to govern and finance development of that many acres. No cities 
are working on concept plans for areas this large. 

o Would this scale of expansion be utilized by the market when 60 percent of new 
households are forecast to have incomes less than $50,000, making it questionable that 
they would be able to afford a single-family home? 

• If the region is going to accommodate most of its new residential growth in existing downtowns 
and main streets, what can be done to ensure that more of that housing is family-friendly 
(multiple bedrooms, storage space, access to good schools and play areas, etc.)? 

• Would policy makers like to consider UGB expansions in locations where cities have adopted 
concept plans for urban reserves, demonstrating their ability to address housing needs that may 
not reasonably be accommodated inside the existing UGB? 

 
Growth potential in particular locations around the region 
State law requires that UGB amendments made by the Metro Council be justified by demonstrated 
regional needs. While the UGR is a regional analysis, a great deal of work is done to understand growth 
capacity in different locations around the region. However, some stakeholders have expressed uncertainty 
about various communities’ ability to accommodate forecast growth. 
 

• What are the implications for regional population and employment growth if policy makers are 
unsure about the region’s ability to accommodate growth in the existing UGB and substantial 
development of UGB expansion areas also does not appear feasible? 

• The draft UGR estimates about 10,000 dwelling units will be built in the City of Damascus by the 
year 2035. However, challenges to urban development in Damascus continue to mount. The 
courts recently found that that the law allowing property owner de-annexation is unconstitutional, 
limiting the possibility that some development could occur through annexation to neighboring 
Happy Valley. In the November 4, 2014 election, Damascus voters did not approve the proposed 
comprehensive plan. A comprehensive plan will again be presented to Damascus’ voters in early 
2015, but will require a supermajority to prevail. Given these ongoing challenges, what amount of 
capacity is reasonable to assume in Damascus over the next 20 years? 

• Like many downtowns around the U.S., the City of Portland has seen record levels of new 
residential development in recent years. However, those trends would need to persist for the next 
20 years to achieve the levels estimated in the draft UGR, leading some to question whether this 

                                                                    
2 This should be understood as a “back-of-the-envelope” rough estimate for illustrative purposes. 



will occur. Is Portland ready for this amount of growth? If this amount of growth doesn’t occur in 
Portland, where might it happen? Or, will the region see lower population growth rates in 
general? 

• For a variety of reasons – from infrastructure funding challenges to lack of city governance to 
voters turning down city annexations – past UGB expansions have not produced much housing 
(just 6 percent or 6,500 of the roughly 112,000 new homes built inside the UGB from 1998 
through 2012). Are there reasons to believe that UGB expansions will produce more housing in 
the future? 

 
Engagement activities related to the draft report 
The region’s general public has expressed their views on growth management on an ongoing basis since 
the early 1970’s, with the establishment of Oregon’s statewide land use planning system. While there are 
certainly opposing views, community member views are generally expressed in state law, the regional 
vision, local plans, zoning, and public expenditure plans. These are the plans and policies that are 
assessed in the draft UGR, which acts as a periodic check-in for the region on how we may accommodate 
anticipated growth while also preserving quality of life. 
 
The draft UGR is a reflection of the expert knowledge of many stakeholders from around the region. 
Throughout the development of the draft UGR, staff engaged outside expertise from the public and 
private sectors. Some of the technical engagement conducted for the draft UGR dates back to fall of 2010 
when staff engaged city and county planners in discussions of how to estimate the buildable land 
inventory used for the adopted 2035 forecast distribution3

 

. As described in the draft UGR, from early 
2013 through the fall of 2014, staff sought review and collaboration on a number of topics: 

• A working group of approximately 30 public and private sector experts provided advice on the 
methods used for estimating the region’s buildable land inventory, with a particular emphasis on 
how to estimate environmental constraints and redevelopment potential. 

• All cities and counties in the region were given the opportunity to review a preliminary buildable 
land inventory at the tax lot level. All comments received by Metro were incorporated into the 
inventory used in the draft UGR. 

• A working group of 10 public and private sector experts provided advice on the method used for 
estimating market absorption of the buildable land inventory. 

• A peer review group of seven public and private sector economists and demographers advised on 
the assumptions built into the seven-county population and employment range forecast as well as 
the forecast results. 

• A working group of six public and private sector experts advised on the assumptions about space 
needs for different types of jobs. Those assumptions are used to translate the employment 
forecast into land demand. 

• A partnership of nine public and private sector organizations worked with Portland State 
University and DHM Research to conduct a residential preference survey to gain a better 
understanding of how people make choices about where to live. 

• A partnership of six public and private sector organizations worked with the consulting firm 
Mackenzie on an update of the Regional Industrial Site Readiness project. The inventory of large 
industrial sites that was indentified through that work is used to describe the region’s supply of 
such sites in the draft UGR. 

 
Metro Technical Advisory Committee engagement 

                                                                    
3 Metro Ordinance No. 12-1292A 



The Metro Technical Advisory Committee (MTAC) has discussed elements of the draft UGR on a 
number of occasions. 
 

MTAC 
meeting date 

Topic 

9/18/13 The timeline, milestones, and engagement opportunities that will lead to a 2015 
growth management decision 

2/19/14 Recent economic conditions and their implications for the population and employment 
forecast; 
Performance of past Metro forecasts 

4/2/14 Seven-county range forecast peer review process and results 
4/16/14 Buildable land inventory; 

Residential development trends 
8/20/14 Introduction to the draft 2014 UGR 

9/3/14 Results of the residential preference study 
10/1/14 Consideration of recommendations on the residential component of the draft UGR; 

2014 update of the Regional Industrial Site Readiness project 
10/15/14 Consideration of recommendations on the employment component of the draft UGR 
11/5/14 Consideration of recommendations on the text of the Metro Council resolution accepting 

the draft UGR 
 
 
MTAC recommendations 
On October 1, 2014, MTAC made the following unanimous recommendations on two core technical 
elements of the Urban Growth Report: 
 

• The residential buildable land inventory has undergone an appropriate level of technical review 
and provides a reasonable basis for policy discussions. (3 abstentions, 0 nays) 

• The seven-county population and employment range forecast in the draft UGR has undergone an 
appropriate level of technical review and provides a reasonable basis for policy discussions. (2 
abstentions, 0 nays) 

 
On October 15, 2014, MTAC made two additional unanimous recommendations related to the draft 2014 
Urban Growth Report: 
 

• The employment buildable land inventory, including the inventory of large industrial sites, has 
undergone an appropriate level of technical review and provides a reasonable basis for policy 
discussions. (3 abstentions, 0 nays) 

• The assumptions (building types, square feet per employee, and floor-area ratios) used to translate 
the employment forecast into demand for acres have undergone an appropriate level of technical 
review and provide a reasonable basis for policy discussions. (2 abstentions, 0 nays) 

 
On November 5, 2014, MTAC reviewed the draft language of Resolution No. 14-4582 and forwarded the 
draft resolution to MPAC as is (no proposed changes to text) for their consideration. (1 abstention, 1 nay) 
 
  



Metro Policy Advisory Committee engagement 
The Metro Policy Advisory Committee (MPAC) has discussed the elements of the draft UGR on a 
number of occasions. 
 

MPAC 
meeting date 

Topic 

1/8/14 Recent economic conditions and their implications for the population and employment 
forecast 

2/12/14 Performance of past Metro forecasts 
4/23/14 Seven-county range forecast peer review process and results 
7/23/14 Introduction to the draft 2014 UGR 
9/10/14 Results of the residential preference study 
10/8/14 Review of the draft resolution; 

Residential component of the draft UGR 
10/22/14 Employment component of the draft UGR; 

2014 update of the Regional Industrial Site Readiness project 
11/12/14 Consideration of recommendations on the Metro Council resolution accepting the draft 

UGR 
 
MPAC recommendations 
On November 12, 2014, MPAC unanimously recommended that the Metro Council adopt Resolution No. 
14-4582 with a minor wording edit that is now incorporated into the draft resolution before the Council.4

 
 

MPAC also suggests that, in addition to the discussion topics listed in the resolution, the following topics 
be included in Council and MPAC discussions in 2015: 
 

• The feasibility of development in Damascus over the next 20 years. 
• Development trends and growth potential in Portland. 
• Wilsonville’s plans for the Advance Rd. urban reserve area. 
• Alignment of the urban growth management decision with Metro’s Equity Strategy. 
• Housing affordability and its implications for the urban growth management decision. 
• The implications of the 2014 Residential Preference Study, which describes a preference for 

single-family detached housing5

o How should policy makers reconcile preferences for single-family detached housing 
(which requires vacant land for growth) with other surveys that consistently show strong 
support for creating walkable communities, reducing carbon emissions, and protecting 
farms and forests? 

: 

o How should policy makers reconcile preferences for single-family detached housing with 
state, regional, and local policies that call for focusing most growth in downtowns and 
main streets (by implication, plans call for most growth to be in the form of condos and 
apartments). 

o How should policy makers reconcile preferences for single-family housing with new 
households’ expected budgets, which often will not be adequate to afford this type of 
housing (60 percent of new households are forecast to make less than $50,000 a year)? 

                                                                    
4 MPAC recommended that the second-to-last “whereas” clause be edited to read “WHEREAS, the Metro Council 
intends to continue a discussion in 2015 regarding several policy considerations reflected in the Draft Urban Growth 
Report including, but not limited to,…” 
5 The 2014 Residential Preference Study used a variety of survey techniques, some of which asked respondents to 
consider tradeoffs. The portion of the study that indicates that 80 percent of respondents prefer single-family 
housing did not ask respondents to consider tradeoffs or budgetary limitations. 



• Actions being taken by jurisdictions doing to provide enough multifamily housing to meet 
people’s housing needs in keeping with their budgets? 

• The implications of cities and counties identifying local needs for jobs or housing to achieve local 
jobs/housing balance.6

• How MetroScope modeling is used to inform the draft Urban Growth Report and the urban 
growth management decision. 

 

• The implications of not including Damascus’ growth capacity in MetroScope modeling. 
 
 
Metro Council engagement 
The Metro Council has discussed elements of the draft UGR on a number of occasions. 
 

Council 
meeting date 

Topic 

3/19/13 Urban growth management decision work program proposal 
5/7/13 Urban growth management decision work program proposal 

3/18/14 Recent economic conditions and their implications for the population and employment 
forecast; 
Performance of past Metro forecasts; 
Seven-county range forecast peer review process and results; 
Residential development trends 

4/1/14 Background on residential preference study methods 
4/22/14 Buildable land inventory 
7/22/14 Introduction to the draft 2014 UGR 

9/9/14 Results of the residential preference study 
9/23/14 Residential component of the draft UGR 
10/9/14 Review of the draft resolution; 

Employment component of the draft UGR; 
2014 update of the Regional Industrial Site Readiness project 

10/14/14 Identification of topics for MPAC’s advice 
 
 
Comments received on the draft UGR 
Metro has a particular responsibility to coordinate with cities and counties in the region. At the date of 
this writing, Metro has received written comments on the draft UGR from Clackamas County, the City of 
Wilsonville, and Washington County. Those comments and Metro staff responses are summarized in 
Attachment 1.  
 
Next steps 
If the Metro Council votes in favor of this resolution, it accepts the draft UGR as a basis for policy 
discussions in 2015, ultimately leading to the Metro Council making an urban growth management 
decision before the end of 2015. Following the council’s direction, in 2015, staff will work to bring 
forward discussions of the policy considerations described in the draft UGR, resolution, and this staff 
report. Staff proposes that the council’s growth management decision in 2015 will generally include the 
following: 

• Adoption of a final 2014 UGR, including identification of the number of households and jobs for 
which the council is planning (the point within the forecast range). 

                                                                    
6 Despite ongoing interest in this topic, state law is clear that the Metro Council can only expand the UGB if there is 
a demonstrated regional need. UGB expansions cannot be based on subregional needs alone. 



• Direction to staff to complete a final housing needs analysis based on the number of households 
for which the council is planning. 

• The regional growth management decision itself – actions to address housing or employment 
capacity needs, if any. 

• Adoption of findings of fact and conclusions of law. 
 
ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 
 
1. Known Opposition 
Though some stakeholders and local jurisdictions have differing views on the assumptions and results of 
the draft UGR and the nature of the growth management decision that the Council should make, staff is 
not aware of any opposition to the Council’s adoption of this resolution. 
 
2. Legal Antecedents 

The forecast and UGR are completed to satisfy: 
• Statewide Planning Goals 10 (Housing) and 14 (Urbanization) 
• Oregon Revised Statutes 197.296, 197.299, and 197.303 (Needed Housing in Urban Growth 

Areas) 
• Oregon Administrative Rules, Division 24 (Urban Growth Boundaries) 
• Metro Regional Framework Plan, Chapter 1 (Land Use) 
• Metro Code, section 3.07.14 (Urban Growth Boundary) 

 
3. Anticipated Effects 

Council acceptance of the draft UGR will allow Metro to meet its legal requirements under State law 
and to begin work identifying possible policy options to accommodate forecast growth in keeping 
with its desired outcomes. 

 
4. Budget Impacts 

The budget for fiscal year 2014/2015 includes staff resources for this work program. The fiscal year 
2015/2016 budget will need to include staff resources to complete this work program and submission 
to the Oregon Land Conservation and Development Commission for review. 

 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 Staff recommends that the Metro Council adopt the proposed resolution. 
  



Attachment 1: Staff responses to written comments on the draft UGR 
 
 

Date Jurisdiction Comment (summarized) and Metro staff response 
10/14/14 City of Wilsonville 

(staff) 
Damascus growth capacity is overstated 
The draft UGR includes an estimate of growth capacity for the 
City of Damascus, but also points out the significant challenges 
in Damascus and uncertainty associated with producing any 
technical estimate of growth capacity. 
 
Staff recommends that, in advance of the 2015 urban growth 
management decision, policy makers discuss whether 
urbanization in Damascus is viable over the next two decades 
and whether there are more viable alternatives for 
accommodating that growth either in the existing UGB or 
through UGB expansions. 
 
Portland growth capacity is overstated 
The draft UGR is intended as a market analysis of how current 
plans and policies may play out over the next twenty years. 
Given currently adopted plans, the analysis indicates that the 
majority of the region’s apartment and condo construction will 
occur in Portland. This would mean that Portland would, on 
average, see higher levels of development than seen in the past. 
Of course, looking 20 years out, there is no way to prove or 
disprove that this will occur. If policy makers have doubts 
about the amount of growth that Portland may see, they may 
wish to consider planning for a lower point in the range 
forecast for population growth since providing that capacity 
elsewhere appears more challenging. 
 
Staff recommends that, in advance of the 2015 urban growth 
management decision, policy makers discuss recent 
development trends in Portland and the likelihood and 
implications of a majority of the region’s future housing growth 
occurring in Portland. 
 
The Advance Rd. area should be considered for UGB 
expansion 
The Metro Council may expand the UGB if they find that there 
is a demonstrated regional need. If there is a need, state law 
describes the factors that must be considered in determining 
where to expand the UGB. Additionally, the Metro Council has 
adopted policies that describe their intent to consider UGB 
expansions in urban reserve locations that have been concept 
planned by cities. Staff is aware that Wilsonville is working 
towards adoption of a concept plan for the Advance Rd. area 
 
Staff recommends that, in advance of the 2015 urban growth 
management decision, policy makers discuss Wilsonville’s 
plans for the Advance Rd. area as well as ongoing work to 



support the Wilsonville Town Center. 
 
Metro underestimates household growth in Wilsonville 
Metro is required under the law to perform a regional, not 
local, analysis of housing needs. Likewise, Metro bases its 
analyses on forecasts, not simply a continuation of past trends. 
As described in draft UGR Appendix 1B, Metro’s past regional 
forecasts have been reliable. However, any forecast will 
become less certain when it is for a smaller geography. It is 
entirely possible that Wilsonville or other cities will achieve 
higher or lower growth rates than forecast. However, it is not 
Metro’s responsibility to ensure that individual city growth 
occurs by expanding the UGB (nor would it be legally 
defensible). 
 
Metro uses a one-size-fits-all approach for estimating 
redevelopment potential in suburbs that may result in an 
overestimation of multi-family capacity in the region 
When developing the methodology for estimating 
redevelopment potential, Metro solicited suggestions for 
alternative “redevelopment strike prices” from jurisdictions 
participating in the technical working group, but did not 
received any concrete suggestions. The 10/14/14 letter from 
Wilsonville also does not offer a concrete suggestion. 
 
It should be kept in mind that the multifamily capacity 
expressed in the buildable land inventory is less than is what is 
allowable under currently adopted plans. The draft UGR then 
only counts about half of the multi-family capacity in the 
buildable land inventory. However, if the city of Wilsonville or 
others believe that there is a shortage of multi-family housing 
capacity in the UGB, they and other cities may look for ways to 
encourage more redevelopment in downtowns and main streets. 
 
The MetroScope model should be reviewed by third party 
economists since it produces results that are difficult to 
reconcile with the residential preference study 
The Council may wish to consider whether it is a budget 
priority to undertake a peer review of MetroScope. While it is 
always useful to have peer review of models, staff believes that 
a peer review of MetroScope would primarily confirm that the 
model relies on classical economic theories of supply and 
demand equilibrium and uses existing policies as guidance for 
its input assumptions. Even with peer review, policy makers 
would still be left with the question of whether existing plans 
are “good.” 
 
Models are simplified versions of reality and can only strive to 
tell us how different kinds of assumptions may play out. They 
are not intended to do the work of policy makers who must 
balance multiple objectives. Peoples’ general preferences for 



single-family homes are understood and are built into model 
behaviors. However, when producing results, the model doesn’t 
ignore realities like adopted policies and people’s incomes. 
Taken together, factors like these result in an increasing share 
of multifamily housing. 

10/20/14 Clackamas County 
(Board of 
Commissioners) 

Clackamas County does not have enough large industrial sites 
Under state law, Metro may only expand the UGB if there is a 
demonstrated regional need. The draft UGR finds that the 
region has a surplus of large industrial sites. The notion of the 
county getting a proportional share of the region’s large 
industrial sites doesn’t comport with the law and ignores 
practical realities of land suitability. Clackamas County has 
different circumstances – many of them topographic – than 
Washington or Multnomah counties, which make it challenging 
to identify viable options for providing additional large 
industrial sites. The county has not identified specific locations 
that they would like added to the UGB. 
 
There is a process laid out for jurisdictions that are interested 
in UGB expansions. The first step is for a city to identify an 
urban reserve that is of interest and to develop a concept plan 
for the area. No cities in Clackamas County have come forward 
with a proposal or plan for a UGB expansion for employment 
uses. 
 
There are actions that the county and its partners can take to 
make the sites that it does have development-ready. Those 
actions are outlined in the 2014 update of the Regional 
Industrial Site Readiness project as well as the county’s own 
industrial site study that was recently completed using grant 
funding from Metro. 
 
Staff recommends that, in advance of the 2015 urban growth 
management decision, policy makers continue their dialogue 
about how to make more of the lands already inside the UGB 
development-ready. 
 
Damascus does not provide the county with growth capacity for 
jobs 
As noted in the draft UGR, there are real challenges to 
urbanization in Damascus. The draft UGR notes that there are 
limits to what can be predict with technical analysis and that 
the Metro Council will need to exercise its policy judgment. 
 
Clackamas County has not recovered jobs lost in the Great 
Recession 
The county has reason for concern with its job creation trends. 
However, it is not clear that the county’s primary challenge is 
land supply. Presumably the county’s job losses also indicate 
that there are underutilized or vacant buildings and lands that 
could support job recovery. In the current draft Urban Growth 



Report, city and county planners helped Metro staff to identify 
1,232 acres of vacant land and 1,828 acres of potentially 
redevelopable land for job creation already in the Metro UGB 
in Clackamas County. Additional lands are in other cities’ 
UGBs (e.g., Canby). 
 
The lack of places to grow jobs places inordinate pressure on 
our transportation system 
As noted in the county’s letter, local jobs/housing balance does 
not reduce commute distances. Census data illustrate that 
people commute all over the region for work regardless of 
whether there are jobs close to where they live. Using the City 
of Wilsonville as an example, about 90 percent of the people 
that work in Wilsonville commute from outside Wilsonville and 
about 80 percent of the workers that reside in Wilsonville 
commute elsewhere for work. Metro is eager to work with the 
county to enhance travel choices for its workers and residents. 
 
The county points to the Urban Mobility Report, prepared by 
Texas A & M as evidence of severe mobility problems in the 
region. Many transportation experts regard the report’s 
methodology as flawed since it assesses travel delays compared 
to a hypothetical maximum speed rather than actual commute 
times.7

 

 In reality, the average commute times of residents of 
our region are shorter than most other metros because of the 
region’s relatively compact form and transportation options. 
However, Texas A&M’s methodology looks more favorably on 
region’s with longer commutes, as long as traffic is moving 
close to hypothetical maximum speed limits. 

Under state law, Metro may only expand the UGB if there is a 
demonstrated regional need. The draft UGR finds that the 
region has a surplus of large industrial sites and that there is 
no regional need for additional UGB expansions. 

11/12/14 Washington County 
(County Commission 
Chair, Andy Duyck) 

Council should adopt Resolution No. 14-4582 
This is consistent with MPAC’s recommendation to Council. 
 
Reconcile preferences for single-family housing with the UGR 
At the suggestion of MPAC, this is a topic that is listed in the 
draft resolution for additional discussion in 2015. 
 
The Metro Council should adopt the high end of the 
employment growth forecast range 
The Council will be considering where within the range 
forecast to plan as part of their 2015 urban growth 
management decision and will seek MPAC’s advice on the 
matter. 

 

                                                                    
7 See, for example, Joe Cortright’s 2010 “Measuring Urban Transportation Performance” for a thorough critique: 
http://documents.scribd.com.s3.amazonaws.com/docs/8mi393oq0w1huf4e.pdf  

http://documents.scribd.com.s3.amazonaws.com/docs/8mi393oq0w1huf4e.pdf�


Agenda Item No. 4.3 

 
 
 
 
Resolution No. 14-4589, For the Purpose of Directing the Chief 

Operating Officer to Develop a Landfill Capacity Policy  
 
 
 

RESOLUTIONS  
 

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



Page 1 Resolution No. 14-4589 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF DIRECTING THE 
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER TO DEVELOP A 
LANDFILL CAPACITY POLICY 

) 
) 
) 

 RESOLUTION NO. 14-4589 
 
Introduced by Councilor Stacey 

 
   
 

WHEREAS, Metro regulates solid waste generated within the Metro region through issuance of 
non-system licenses and designated facility agreements, pursuant to Metro’s flow control authority 
codified in Metro Code Chapter 5.05; and  

 
WHEREAS, the capacity of existing permitted landfills available for the disposal of waste from 

within the Metro region, without expanding existing landfills or constructing new landfills, can serve the 
needs of the region at current rates of disposal for at least 100 years; and 

 
WHEREAS, Metro is considering a new policy and operational framework for solid waste 

reduction, management, and disposal through the Solid Waste Roadmap; and  
 

WHEREAS, the policies under consideration in the Solid Waste Roadmap include increased 
efforts to divert materials from the waste stream, thereby reducing the need to dispose of waste in 
landfills; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Metro Council expects to consider, as part of the Solid Waste Roadmap, a policy 
that would foreclose the use of new or expanded landfills beyond the current disposal supply available to 
the region; and  

 
WHEREAS, Riverbend Landfill, located in Yamhill County and owned by Waste Management, 

Inc., is in the process of seeking expansion of the landfill to increase capacity by approximately 15 years; 
and   

 
 WHEREAS, approximately 29 percent of the putrescible waste collected within the Metro region 

in 2013 was disposed of at Riverbend Landfill, authorized by non-system licenses issued by Metro; and 
 
WHEREAS, approximately 48 percent of the putrescible waste disposed at Riverbend Landfill in 

2013 was generated within the Metro region; and   
 
WHEREAS, Riverbend Landfill could extend the useful life of the landfill and accommodate the 

disposal needs of Yamhill County communities without the significant cost and impact of landfill 
expansion if the landfill no longer received waste generated within the Metro region; and 
 

WHEREAS, the potential expansion of Riverbend Landfill has raised numerous concerns about 
the landfill’s seismic instability, leachate pollution, litter, odor impacts, flooding hazards arising from its 
location along the floodplain of the South Yamhill River, unlined cells at the base of the landfill, and 
impacts from trucks hauling waste generated within the Metro region; and 

 
WHEREAS, these concerns have prompted the city of McMinnville, the International Pinot Noir 

Celebration, and numerous individuals in Yamhill County to oppose the expansion of Riverbend Landfill 
and to oppose Metro’s issuance of non-system licenses for Riverbend Landfill; and 
 



Page 2 Resolution No. 14-4589 

WHEREAS, the Metro Council finds that to conserve limited land and resources in and around 
the Metro region, and encourage waste reduction rather than accommodate growth in waste disposal 
capacity, the Council should consider terminating any existing non-system licenses, or denying any new 
applications for non-system licenses, that would allow disposal of waste generated within the Metro 
region at a new landfill , or expanded landfill, permitted or constructed after the date of this resolution ; 
now therefore  
 
BE IT RESOLVED that the Metro Council: 
 

1. Directs the Chief Operating Officer, beginning in 2015 and completed by June 30, 2016, to 
proceed, as part of the Solid Waste Roadmap, with the development of a Landfill Capacity 
Policy to evaluate the disposal capacity of waste at new landfills or expanded landfills and to 
recommend changes to the Metro Code to implement the policy. 

2. Requires the Chief Operating Officer to evaluate landfill capacity when determining whether 
a non-system license should be issued. 

 
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this     day of December 2014. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Tom Hughes, Council President 

 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
       
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



STAFF REPORT 
 
 

IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION  NO. 14-4589  FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
DIRECTING THE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER TO DEVELOP A LANDFILL CAPACITY 
POLICY    
 

              
 
Date: November 24, 2014     Prepared by: Ramona Perrault x1941                                                                                        
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Metro, in its responsibility to regulate the region’s solid waste stream, issues non-system licenses to 
transfer stations which haul solid waste to landfills outside of the Metro Region.  Resolution No. 14-4589 
specifically addresses the consideration of the two-year non-system licenses for transfer stations which 
haul solid waste to Riverbend Landfill up for consideration on the December 4, 2014 Metro Council 
agenda. 
 
Waste Management has filed for expansion of the Riverbend Landfill, in part to extend its capacity to 
continue receiving solid waste from the Metro region beyond its current capacity. This expansion 
proposal further exacerbates local and regional concerns regarding Riverbed landfill’s seismic instability, 
leachate pollution, litter, odor impacts, flooding hazards arising from its location along the floodplain of 
the South Yamhill River, and impacts from trucks hauling waste generated within the Metro region. In 
addition, the existing capacity of permitted landfills available for the disposal of waste from within the 
Metro region can serve the needs of the region at current rates of disposal for at least 100 years.  
 
Therefore, Res. No. 14-4589 instructs the Metro Chief Operating Officer to 1) complete by June 30, 2016 
a Landfill Capacity Policy to evaluate the disposal of waste at new landfills or landfill expansions and to 
recommend changes to the Metro Code to implement the policy and 2) to evaluate landfill capacity when 
determining whether a non-system license should be issued. 
 
 
ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 
 
1. Known Opposition Waste Management, Yamhill County 
 
2. Legal Antecedents   
 
3. Anticipated Effects Establishment of a Landfill Capacity Policy to provide for a sustainability lens 

when considering future non-system licenses followed by code changes to implement said policy 
 
4. Budget Impacts No Metro budget impacts 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
  
Councilor Stacey recommends passage of Resolution 14-4589 
 



Agenda Item No. 4.4 

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 14-4569, For the Purpose of Authorizing the 
Chief Operating Officer to Issue a Renewed Non-System License 

to Pride Recycling for Delivery of Putrescible Waste to the 
Riverbend Landfill in Yamhill County  

 
 

 
RESOLUTIONS  

 

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



 
WJ:bjl 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\Pride\NSL\N-002-15\PRIDE_RES_14-4569.docx 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF 
OPERATING OFFICER TO ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM 
LICENSE TO PRIDE RECYCLING COMPANY FOR DELIVERY 
AND DISPOSAL OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE AT THE 
RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, 
OREGON 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION NO.  14-4569 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating 
Officer Martha Bennett in 
concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes 

 
WHEREAS, the Metro Code requires a non-system license of any person that delivers solid waste 

generated from within the Metro Region to a non-system disposal facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Pride Recycling Company (“Pride”) holds Metro Solid Waste Facility Non-System License 
No. N-002-13A, which expires on December 31, 2014; and   
 

WHEREAS, Pride has filed a complete application seeking renewal of the non-system license to 
deliver putrescible waste to the Riverbend Landfill for disposal under the provisions of Metro Code Chapter 
5.05, “Solid Waste Flow Control;” and 

WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 5.05 provides that applications for non-system licenses for 
putrescible waste shall be reviewed by the Chief Operating Officer and are subject to approval or denial by 
the Metro Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer has analyzed the application and considered the relevant 

factors under the Metro Code; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer recommends that the non-system license be renewed 
together with specific conditions as provided in Exhibit A to this Resolution; now therefore, 
 

THE METRO COUNCIL RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The non-system license renewal application of Pride is approved subject to the terms, conditions, 
and limitations contained in Exhibit A to this Resolution. 
 

2. The Chief Operating Officer is authorized to issue to Pride a renewed Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License substantially similar to the one attached as Exhibit A. 

 
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ____ day of _______, 2014. 
 
 

 __________________________________ 
 Tom Hughes, Council President 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4569 
 

 

600 NORTHEAST GRAND AVENUE PORTLAND, OREGON 97232 2736 
TEL 503 797 1835   FAX 503 813 7544 

 
 

METRO SOLID WASTE FACILITY  
NON-SYSTEM LICENSE 

 
No. N-002-15 

 
LICENSEE: 

Pride Recycling Company 
13910 SW Tualatin-Sherwood Road 
Sherwood, OR 97140 

CONTACT PERSON: 

Mike Leichner 
Phone:  (503) 625-0725 
Fax:      (503) 625-6179 
E-mail:  MikeL@pridedisposal.com 

MAILING ADDRESS: 

Pride Recycling Company 
P.O. Box 1150 
Sherwood, OR 97140 

 
 
 
 
ISSUED BY METRO: 
 
 
 
 
   
Scott Robinson, Deputy Chief Operating Officer  Date 
 
 

mailto:MikeL@pridedisposal.com


Pride Recycling Company 
  Non-System License No. N-002-15 
  Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 

1 NATURE OF WASTE COVERED BY LICENSE 
 Putrescible solid waste generated within the Metro boundary and received at 

Pride Recycling Company in accordance with Metro Solid Waste Facility 
Franchise No. F-002-08B. 

 

2 CALENDAR YEAR TONNAGE LIMITATION 
 Licensee is authorized to deliver to the non-system facility described in Section 

3 of this license up to 70,000 tons per calendar year of the waste described in 
Section 1 of this license.  This license does not increase the total tonnage that 
the Licensee is authorized to accept under Metro Solid Waste Facility Franchise 
No. F-002-08B. 

 

3 NON-SYSTEM FACILITY 
 The Licensee hereunder is authorized to deliver the waste described above in 

Section 1 to the following non-system facility: 
Riverbend Landfill 
13469 SW Highway 18 
McMinnville, OR 97128 

This license is issued on condition that the non-system facility named in this 
section is authorized to accept the type of waste described in Section 1.  If 
Metro receives notice from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality or 
local regulatory authority that this non-system facility is not authorized to accept 
such waste, Metro may immediately terminate this license pursuant to Section 7 
of this license. 

 

4 TERM OF LICENSE 
 The term of this license will commence on January 1, 2015 and expire at 

midnight on December 31, 2016, unless terminated sooner under Section 7 of 
this license.   

 

5 REPORTING OF ACCIDENTS AND CITATIONS 

 Licensee shall report to Metro any significant incidents (such as fires), 
accidents, and citations involving vehicles transporting the solid waste 
authorized by this license. 

 



  Pride Recycling Company 
  Non-System License No. N-002-15 
  Page 3 of 5 

 

 

6 RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING 

 (a) The Licensee shall keep and maintain accurate records of the amount of 
all solid waste that the Licensee delivers to the non-system facility 
described in Section 3 of this license.  The Licensee shall keep and 
maintain complete and accurate records of the following for all 
transactions with the authorized non-system facility: 

i. Ticket or weight slip number from the non-system facility; 
ii. Material category designating the type of material transferred to 

the non-system facility; 
iii. Date the load was transferred to the non-system facility; 
iv. Time the load was transferred to the non-system facility; 
v. Net weight of the load; and 
vi. Fee charged by the non-system facility 

(b) No later than the fifteenth (15th) day of each month, beginning with the 
first month following the commencement date of this license, Licensee 
shall:  

i. Transmit the records required under Section 6(a) above to Metro 
in an electronic format prescribed by Metro; 

ii. Submit to Metro a Regional System Fee and Excise Tax Report, 
that covers the preceding month; and 

iii. Remit to Metro the requisite Regional System Fees and Excise 
Tax in accordance with the Metro Code provisions applicable to 
the collection, payment, and accounting of such fees and taxes. 

(c) Licensee shall make all records from which Sections 6(a) and 6(b) above 
are derived available to Metro (or Metro’s designated agent) for its 
inspection or copying, as long as Metro provides no less than three (3) 
business days written notice of an intent to inspect or copy documents.  
Licensee shall, in addition, sign or otherwise provide to Metro any 
consent or waiver necessary for Metro to obtain information or data from 
a third party, including the non-system facility named in Section 3, above. 

 

7 ADDITIONAL LICENSE CONDITIONS 

 This license shall be subject to the following conditions: 
(a) The permissive transfer of solid waste to the non-system facility, listed in 

Section 3, authorized by this license shall be subordinate to any 
subsequent decision by Metro to direct the solid waste described in this 
license to any other facility. 

(b) This license shall be subject to amendment, modification, or termination 
by Metro’s Chief Operating Officer (the “COO”) in the event that the COO 



  Pride Recycling Company 
  Non-System License No. N-002-15 
  Page 4 of 5 

 

 

determines that: 
i. There has been sufficient change in any circumstances under 

which Metro issued this license; 
ii. The provisions of this license are actually or potentially in conflict 

with any provision in Metro’s disposal contract with Waste 
Management Disposal Services of Oregon, Inc., dba Oregon 
Waste Systems, Inc.; 

iii. Metro’s solid waste system or the public will benefit from, and will 
be better served by, an order directing that the waste described in 
Section 1 of this license be transferred to, and disposed of at, a 
facility other than the facilities listed in Section 3; or 

iv. There has been a change in the amount of tonnage that the 
Licensee is authorized to accept under Solid Waste Facility 
Franchise No. F-002-08B.  In the event that Metro amends the 
tonnage authorization stipulated in the facility’s franchise, the COO 
may amend Section 2 of this license to match the same calendar 
year tonnage limitation stipulated in the franchise. 

(c) This license shall, in addition to subsections (b)(i) through (b)(iv), 
above, be subject to amendment, modification, suspension, or 
termination pursuant to the Metro Code. 

(d) The Licensee shall not transfer or assign any right or interest in this 
license without prior written notification to, and approval of, Metro. 

(e) This license shall terminate upon the execution of a designated facility 
agreement with the facility listed in Section 3 that authorizes the 
facility to accept the waste described in Section 1 of this license. 

(f) This license authorizes the delivery of solid waste to the facility listed 
in Section 3.  Transfer of waste generated from within the Metro 
boundary to any non-system facility other than that specified in this 
license is prohibited unless authorized in writing by Metro. 

(g) If the Licensee exceeds the calendar year limitation set forth in 
Section 2 of this license, each ton or portion thereof by which the 
Licensee exceeds the limitation constitutes a separate violation 
subject to a penalty of up to $500. 

 

8 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 
 Licensee shall fully comply with all applicable local, regional, state and federal 

laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, orders, and permits pertaining in any 
manner to this license, including all applicable Metro Code provisions and 
administrative procedures adopted pursuant to Chapter 5.05 whether or not 
those provisions have been specifically mentioned or cited herein.  All 
conditions imposed on the collection and hauling of the Licensee’s solid waste 
by federal, state, regional or local governments or agencies having jurisdiction 



  Pride Recycling Company 
  Non-System License No. N-002-15 
  Page 5 of 5 

 

 

over solid waste generated by the Licensee shall be deemed part of this license 
as if specifically set forth herein. 

 

9 INDEMNIFICATION 
 Licensee shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Metro, its elected officials, 

officers, employees, agents and representatives from any and all claims, 
demands, damages, causes of action, or losses and expenses, or including all 
attorneys’ fees, whether incurred before any litigation is commenced, during any 
litigation or on appeal, arising out of or related in any way to the issuance or 
administration of this non-system license or the transport and disposal of the 
solid waste covered by this license. 

 
WJ:bjl 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\Pride\NSL\N-002-15\Pride_N-002-15.docx 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4569 
Page 1 of 6 

STAFF REPORT 
 
IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 14-4569 AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER TO ISSUE A 
RENEWED NON-SYSTEM LICENSE TO PRIDE RECYCLING COMPANY FOR DELIVERY AND DISPOSAL OF 
PUTRESCIBLE WASTE AT THE RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, OREGON 
 
November 25, 2014 Prepared by:  Roy W. Brower 
  503-797-1657 
 
Approval of Resolution No. 14-4569 will authorize the Chief Operating Officer (COO) to issue a two-year 
non-system license renewal (NSL), similar to the proposed license attached to this resolution as Exhibit A, to 
Pride Recycling Company (Pride).  The proposed NSL will authorize Pride to deliver up to 70,000 tons per 
calendar year of putrescible waste from the Metro region to the Riverbend Landfill (Riverbend) located 
in Yamhill County, Oregon.  The proposed NSL, which is set to expire on December 31, 2016, renews the 
same authorization that the transfer station has held since 1990.   
 
Pride is a Metro-franchised1 sold waste transfer station located at 13910 SW Tualatin-Sherwood Road in 
Sherwood (Metro Council District 3).  Pride is owned and operated by a locally-owned company 
headquartered in Sherwood, Oregon.  
 
INTRODUCTION 
 

(1) Background 
 
Metro is responsible for regulating and managing the disposal of solid waste generated in the region.2  
NSLs are the main authorization vehicle by which Metro authorizes the delivery of putrescible solid 
waste to facilities located outside the Metro region.  NSLs are also used by Metro to manage its 
contractual obligation to deliver a minimum of 90 percent of the region’s putrescible waste, which is 
delivered to general purpose landfills, to landfills owned by Waste Management (also known as “the 
flow guarantee”).  NSLs allow Metro to closely monitor and potentially guide waste flows to other 
authorized facilities in order to comply with the flow guarantee.   
 
Metro has a practice of allowing waste haulers and transfer stations located within the Metro region to 
select their disposal sites provided that the:  

1) Use of such disposal site does not violate Metro Code or any of Metro’s waste-related contracts,  
2) Appropriate Regional System Fee and Excise Tax is collected and remitted to Metro for the 

waste delivered to the disposal site, and  
3) Disposal site is appropriately authorized by the local and state regulatory authorities.  (In the 

case of the Riverbend Landfill, the primary authorizing agencies would include Yamhill County 
and the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ)). 

 

                                                 
1 Metro Solid Waste Facility Franchise No. F-002-08B.  
2 Oregon Revised Statute Chapters 268 and 459; Metro Charter and Metro Code Chapter 5.05. 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4569 
Page 2 of 6 

In December 2013, Metro entered into a designated facility agreement with Riverbend.3  This 
agreement, which expires at the end of 2019, allows certain types of Metro-area waste (such as non-
putrescible processing residual, cleanup waste and special waste) to be delivered to the landfill without 
the need for haulers or persons delivering the waste to obtain an NSL.  Designated facility agreements 
(DFAs) do not include the acceptance of Metro-area putrescible waste.  Therefore, NSLs are required for 
any hauler to deliver such waste to any landfill, including Riverbend.  NSLs are typically issued for a 
period of two years; while DFAs generally have 5-year terms. 
 
Resolution No. 14-4569 would grant an NSL to Pride to deliver Metro-area putrescible waste to a land 
disposal site owned by Waste Management located in Yamhill County.  This NSL controls a portion of the 
90 percent of waste that is guaranteed to Waste Management under Metro’s disposal contract which 
runs through 2019.  Metro Council is scheduled to consider five such resolutions that will authorize the 
delivery of putrescible waste to Riverbend during the next two years.  In addition to this action for Pride, 
the Council is scheduled to consider similar resolutions for Forest Grove Transfer Station (Res. No. 14-
4571), Willamette Resources, Inc. (Res. No. 14-4570), West Linn Refuse and Recycling, Inc. (Res. No. 14-
4572), and Hoodview Disposal and Recycling, Inc. (Res. No. 14-4573) at its meeting on December 4, 
2014. 
 

(2) The Applicant 
 
Pride currently holds a Metro-issued franchise that authorizes it to accept up to 70,000 tons of Metro-
area putrescible waste per calendar year.  During the term of its current franchise, Pride also received a 
2,300-ton increase in tonnage authorization for calendar year 2013 – which increased its franchise 
tonnage limit up to 72,300 tons for that year.  Pride’s tonnage limit subsequently reverted back to 
70,000 tons for calendar year 2014.  The franchise is set to expire on December 31, 2015.  
   
In November 2012, Pride was granted an NSL4 to deliver a maximum of 70,000 tons per calendar year of 
putrescible waste to Riverbend for disposal.  As mentioned above, Pride also received a 2,300-ton 
increase in NSL tonnage authorization for calendar year 2013.  The term of the NSL commenced on 
January 1, 2013.  On August 1, 2013, the Metro Council authorized5 the COO to extend Pride’s franchise 
term by two years and establish an annual 70,000-ton cap (beginning on January 1, 2014, and ending on 
December 31, 2015).  The COO also modified the NSL6 to establish a 70,000-ton limit for 2014 to align it 
with that of the facility’s franchise tonnage authorization.  The term of the current NSL is set to expire 
on December 31, 2014.  Pride delivered approximately 70,800 tons of putrescible waste to Rivebend in 
2013 and about 57,000 tons to the landfill so far in 2014 (through October).   
 
On August 5, 2014, Pride submitted an application to Metro seeking to renew its NSL with a tonnage 
authorization of 70,000 tons per calendar year.  Adoption of Resolution No. 14-4569 would authorize 
the COO to issue an NSL to Pride to annually deliver up to 70,000 tons of Metro-area putrescible waste 
to Riverbend through 2016.  The NSL and franchise tonnage authorization amounts will be aligned once 
the franchise is renewed in late 2015. 
 
                                                 
3 Metro Contract No. 932399   
4 NSL No. N-002-13 
5 Metro Ordinance No. 13-1308. 
6 NSL No. N-002-13A 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4569 
Page 3 of 6 

ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 
 
1. Known Opposition 
 
The putrescible waste subject to the proposed NSL will be delivered to Riverbend for disposal.  There is 
no known opposition within the Metro region for delivery of Metro-area waste to authorized disposal 
sites located outside of the region.  Within Yamhill County, there is known local public opposition to 
expanding the capacity of the landfill and general concern expressed by some local citizens about the 
disposal of waste generated outside of the County, including Metro-area waste, at Riverbend especially 
if Metro-area waste contributes to the need for expanded capacity at the landfill.  
 
As part of its authorization process for NSLs, Metro asks the local host government whether the 
destination facility is in compliance with local laws and whether it has any issues, concerns, or objections 
to the delivery of Metro-area waste to the disposal site within its jurisdiction.   
 
Yamhill County is responsible for local land use decisions regarding Riverbend.  On October 22, 2014, the 
County’s solid waste staff sent a letter to Metro stating that the County had no issues with Riverbend’s 
acceptance of Metro-area waste (see Attachment 2).  The letter also indicated that the landfill has a 
history of operating in compliance with the County’s license agreement.    
 
On November 13, 2014, the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners sent a letter to the Metro Council 
responding to Metro’s request for input on the proposed NSL renewals (see Attachment 2).  The County 
Commissioners informed Metro that the landfill has a history of operating in compliance with the 
County and DEQ requirements and that the landfill has met the County’s licensing agreement and 
regulatory requirements related to environmental protection.  The County also indicated that Waste 
Management has demonstrated a commitment to work in partnership with the County in the 
development of green technology, ongoing operational improvements at the landfill, waste diversion, 
implementation of a public recycling center and development of a stewardship plan for lands that will 
not be used for land disposal. 
 
On September 10, 2014, the City Manager of McMinnville provided Metro with a letter expressing the 
City’s concerns about the importation of Metro-area waste to Riverbend (see Attachment 2).  While the 
landfill is not located within the City’s jurisdiction, the landfill is located in close proximity to its 
boundary and some waste haulers travel on the City’s roads en route to the landfill. 
 
In addition to the above, Riverbend is permitted by DEQ to accept solid waste and DEQ has not objected 
to the landfill receiving Metro-area waste for disposal.   
 
Currently, the Riverbend Landfill is expected to reach capacity sometime during 2016 or early 2017 
based on Waste Management’s projection of solid waste tons disposed at the landfill and without 
additional approval to expand the landfill’s capacity.  Waste Management is pursuing an expansion in 
order to lengthen the life of the landfill.  Although approval of Resolution No. 14-4569 would authorize 
Pride to deliver waste to the landfill, the proposed NSL does not obligate Riverbend to accept Metro-
area waste.   This is noted for Council’s consideration because the landfill seeks to expand its capacity.  
Attachment 1 provides a more in depth overview of the expansion request and approval process 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4569 
Page 4 of 6 

 
2. Legal Antecedents 
 
Metro Code Section 5.05.025 prohibits any person from utilizing non-system facilities without an 
appropriate license from Metro.  Additionally, Code Section 5.05.043 provides that, when determining 
whether or not to approve an NSL application, the Council shall consider the following factors to the 
extent relevant to such determination. 
 

(1) The degree to which prior users of the non-system facility and waste types accepted at 
the non-system facility are known and the degree to which such wastes pose a future 
risk of environmental contamination; 

 
Riverbend first came into use during the mid-eighties and became a permitted RCRA Subtitle D7 landfill 
in 1993.  At that time, the original unlined cells were capped and the landfill has been filling only lined 
cells and operating with the environmental controls required by DEQ.  The environmental risk associated 
with the use of this disposal site is regulated by the appropriate local and state authorities.  It has been 
Metro’s practice to rely on the local land use authority and the state environmental agency to 
determine whether environmental or human health risks posed are known, reasonable and appropriate.  
Riverbend had two compliance issues during 2014 that are detailed in (2) below. 
 

(2) The record of regulatory compliance of the non-system facility’s owner and operator 
with federal, state and local requirements including but not limited to public health, 
safety and environmental rules and regulations; 

 
Waste Management owns and operates Riverbend (as well as the Forest Grove Transfer Station, 
Troutdale Transfer Station, Tualatin Valley Waste Recovery Facility, Hillsboro Landfill, Newberg Transfer 
Station, and the Columbia Ridge Landfill).  Metro staff’s investigation of Waste Management has 
revealed a generally good record of compliance with local and state agencies responsible for health, 
safety, land use, and environmental regulations. 
 
However, DEQ issued two pre-enforcement notices to Waste Management for violations at Riverbend in 
2014.  One of these enforcement actions has been resolved and the other has not.  A copy of the DEQ 
notices and Waste Management’s responses are provided in Attachment 3. These notices are also 
summarized below: 
 

• March 17, 2014, Pre-Enforcement Notice (Resolved).   
o On January 28, 2014, DEQ inspectors observed leachate escaping from the north side of 

the landfill.  The leachate migrated beyond the perimeter of the landfill but did not 
appear to travel far.  The leachate appeared to originate from an old French drain along 
the landfill’s perimeter that was clogged as the result of recent construction of a 
stormwater diversion swale.  (Class 2 Violation) 

o On February 10, 2014, landfill personnel observed and reported leachate escaping from 
the landfill’s northern boundary.  The leachate incident appeared to have been 
unrelated to the earlier release.  The leachate observed at that time was primarily liquid 

                                                 
7 Subtitle D landfill standards are established nationally under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4569 
Page 5 of 6 

that had collected in the landfill’s gas extraction wells and migrated to a creek about 
300 feet from the landfill.  (Class 1 Violation) 

o Waste Management took several corrective actions to address the migration of leachate 
past the landfill boundary and DEQ considers this matter to be resolved.  (See March 28, 
2014 letter from Waste Management to DEQ listing corrective actions taken.) 

 
• November 3, 2014, Pre-Enforcement Notice (Unresolved). 

o In Riverbend’s 2013-14 Discharge Monitoring Report, Waste Management reported 
exceeding its daily maximum limit for total zinc and the landfill was subsequently unable 
to perform the follow-up monitoring as required.  (Class 1 Violation). 

o This matter has been referred to DEQ’s Office of Compliance and Enforcement for 
formal enforcement action, which may include assessment of civil penalties or issuance 
of an Order. 

 
(3) The adequacy of operational practices and management controls at the non-system 

facility; 
 

Riverbend uses operational practices and management controls that are typical of RCRA Subtitle D 
landfills.  Riverbend became permitted as a Subtitle D landfill in 1993 which put in place new 
requirements8 to minimize risk of future environmental contamination at the site.  Staff at the DEQ 
considers the operational practices and controls in place at Riverbend to be appropriate for the proper 
management of waste disposal and adequate for the protection of health and the environment but have 
had two recent enforcement actions as detailed in (2) above. 
 

(4) The expected impact on the region’s recycling and waste reduction efforts; 
 
The proposed license covers the disposal of putrescible solid waste, which currently has limited recovery 
potential.  This license puts no long-term constraint on the waste should recovery alternatives emerge 
for the region.  Thus, approval of the proposed NSL renewal is not expected to impact the region’s 
recycling and waste reduction efforts.   
 

(5) The consistency of issuing the license with Metro’s existing contractual arrangements; 
 
Through 2019, Metro has a contractual obligation to deliver a minimum of 90 percent of the region’s 
putrescible waste, which is delivered to general purpose landfills during the calendar year, to landfills 
owned by Waste Management.  The proposed NSL covers putrescible waste that will be delivered to 
Riverbend, which is owned and operated by Waste Management.  Thus, approval of this NSL renewal 
will not conflict with Metro’s disposal contract or any other of its existing contractual arrangements.  
The denial of this NSL would require Pride to either deliver its putrescible waste to one of Metro’s 
transfer stations or obtain an NSL to deliver this waste to Waste Management’s Columbia Ridge Landfill 
located in Gilliam County. 
 

                                                 
8 In the 1990’s, RCRA required all general purpose solid waste landfills to install synthetic liners, leachate collection systems, groundwater 
monitoring and gas collection systems to lessen the impact on surrounding communities and the environment.   



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4569 
Page 6 of 6 

(6) The record of the applicant regarding compliance with Metro ordinances and 
agreements or assistance to Metro in Metro ordinance enforcement and with federal, 
state and local requirements including but not limited to public health, safety and 
environmental rules and regulations; and 

 
Pride is currently in compliance with its Metro-issued franchise and NSL.  The applicant has not had any 
compliance issues with regard to Metro regulations within the last two years nor has Pride had any 
operational or compliance issues during the term of its franchise.   
  

(7) Such other factors as the Chief Operating Officer deems appropriate for purposes of 
making such determination. 

 
An additional factor that is related to this NSL application and the proposed NSL is the available future 
disposal capacity of Riverbend.  In 2013, Riverbend received approval to build a mechanically stabilized 
earthen berm (MSE), similar to berms used in road construction projects.  The berm will give the landfill 
additional short-term capacity.  At the current fill rate, Waste Management estimates the landfill has 
capacity to operate through 2016 or early 2017 without some additional expansion approval or waste 
diversion.  On November 5, Waste Management submitted a landfill expansion application to Yamhill 
County for site design approval.  The application includes a lateral expansion of 37 acres.   Attachment 1 
to this staff report provides background information which updates Council on waste flow, expansion 
matters, and pending government decisions relative to the landfill’s expansion.  Should conditions 
change, Metro may modify, suspend, or terminate NSLs or redirect waste flow to other landfills. 
  
3. Anticipated Effects 
 
The effect of Resolution No. 14-4569 will be to issue a two-year NSL authorizing Pride to deliver up to 
70,000 tons per calendar year of putrescible waste to Riverbend for disposal.   
 
4. Budget/Rate Impacts 
 
Since Riverbend is owned and operated by Waste Management there is no impact to Metro’s obligation 
under the disposal contract.  In addition, the Regional System Fee and Excise Tax will continue to be 
collected on Metro-area waste delivered to Riverbend under the authority of the proposed NSL.  The 
application under consideration is the renewal of a current NSL therefore; any financial impact of this 
NSL to Metro has already been factored into the budget.      
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
The COO recommends approval of Resolution No. 14-4569, finding that the license renewal satisfies the 
requirements of Metro Code Section 5.05.043.  Approval of Resolution No. 14-4569 will authorize the 
COO to issue an NSL, similar to the one attached to the resolution as Exhibit A, to Pride for a two-year 
period commencing on January 1, 2015 and expiring on December 31, 2016. 
 
 
WJ/RB 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\Pride\NSL\N-002-15\PRIDE_RES_14-4569_stf report.docx



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4569 
Page 1 of 5 

Summary of Riverbend Landfill Expansion Information 
 

Riverbend Landfill, located in Yamhill County, is used as a primary disposal site for several privately-
owned haulers and transfer stations within the Metro region (generally located in Washington and 
northern Clackamas Counties).  Riverbend’s ongoing disposal capacity is germane to Metro Council’s 
decision regarding whether to approve non-system licenses (NSLs) that authorize the use of the landfill 
as a disposal site since there is some uncertainty about future available capacity and how quickly 
pending approvals for expanded capacity will be processed.  
 
In 2014, Waste Management received approval to construct a mechanically stabilized earthen berm 
(MSE).  This berm was constructed in 2014 and solid waste was disposed within the berm area starting 
in October 2014.  At the current fill rate, Waste Management estimates that Riverbend now has capacity 
to operate through 2016 or early 2017 without additional expansion.  On November 5, 2014, Waste 
Management submitted a site design request to Yamhill County to construct a 37-acre lateral expansion 
of the landfill footprint.  Waste Management also submitted a Floodplain Development Permit 
Application to the County.  Approval of this site design expansion request by Yamhill County would 
move the request to the next stage of the approval process.  DEQ must also approve the expansion 
request.  An expansion decision is expected to be completed by the two agencies at the end of 2015 or 
early 2016.  If DEQ approves the landfill expansion, it will provide the landfill with approximately 15 
years of additional capacity.   
 
Should the landfill expansion not occur or be delayed beyond that time, Metro’s existing NSLs could be 
modified, suspended, or terminated as necessary to redirect waste flows to other landfills and would be 
up for reconsideration by Metro Council at the end of 2016.  If Riverbend was no longer a disposal 
option, Metro would likely divert the tonnage going there to the Columbian Ridge Landfill in order to 
maintain compliance with its disposal contract – both landfills are owned by Waste Management.  NSLs 
contain a standard provision that allows Metro to take such action based on a change in any 
circumstance under which Metro initially issued the license (for instance, if Metro later determines that 
there is a lack of capacity at Riverbend or Yamhill County requests that Metro stop further waste 
deliveries to the landfill, Metro could modify, suspend, or terminate the NSL).  In addition, a Metro-
approved NSL does not require Riverbend to accept solid waste from its customers should it encounter 
capacity limitations.  It is also plausible that new issues about the landfill expansion could be raised 
during the two-year term of these proposed licenses – in which case Metro could take necessary action 
to modify the NSLs. 
 
Riverbend Landfill 
The current landfill footprint is 85 acres and the company owns over 702 acres on the site of which 145 
acres are potentially slated for landfilling.  Waste Management is holding a series of public meetings in 
Yamhill County to discuss various site issues including the potential expansion, future green waste 
technology and the community’s use of other portions of its site that are not designated for disposal 
(such as park or agricultural use).  Yamhill County and DEQ are expected to hold 2-3 public hearings on 
the landfill expansion decision over the next year.   
 
Waste Management has also pursued other options to lessen dependency on the landfill, including 
diversion of non-putrescible waste away from the landfill and directing it to the Tualatin Valley Waste 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4569 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4569 
Page 2 of 5 

Recovery facility in Hillsboro and relocation of the public recycling center to a more convenient location 
at the landfill site. 
 
 
 
Figure 1 provides a general overview map of the landfill indicating the existing landfill, expansion areas 
and stewardship lands. 
 

Figure 1:  Riverbend Landfill  
(Source: Waste Management) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Waste Facts 
In calendar year 2013, Waste Management reported about 465,000 tons of solid waste was delivered to 
Riverbend from all sources (Table 1).  Of these 465,000 tons, about 223,000 tons (48 percent) originated 
inside the Metro district. The balance came from areas outside of Metro (52 percent). 
 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4569 
Page 3 of 5 

In addition to the solid waste received for disposal, Riverbend accepted about another 57,000 tons of 
contaminated soils that were used for landfill operations, mainly alternative daily cover (Table 1).  Of 
these 57,000 additional tons, about 42,000 originated inside the Metro boundary (Table 2). 
 

Table 1 
Materials Received at Riverbend Landfill in 

2013 

 Table 2 
Materials Generated in the Metro District and Received at  

Riverbend Landfill in 2013 
Solid Waste     

From inside 
Oregon 

464,000 
 

Putrescible waste 214,000 
 

From out-of-state 1,000 Non-putrescible waste 9,000   

Total Solid Waste 465,000 Total Solid Waste 223,000 
(48% of total waste at 
Riverbend) 

ADC/Soils 57,000 ADC/soils 42,000  

Total from all sources 522,000 Total from Metro 265,000 (51% of total materials at 
Riverbend) 

Source: DEQ, Solid Waste Disposal Report (quarterly). 
All tonnage amounts are rounded to the nearest 1000. 

Source: NSL reports filed with Metro, and data reported to Metro by Riverbend. 
All tonnage amounts are rounded to the nearest 1000. 

 
Of the 223,000 tons of Metro-area solid waste disposed at Riverbend in 2013, about 214,000 tons was 
putrescible waste collected from residential and commercial generators in Washington and northern 
Clackamas counties, delivered to one of four privately-owned transfer stations, and transported in large 
top-loaded transfer trailers to Riverbend under the authority of Metro-issued NSLs (Table 3).  The 
balance, 9,000 tons, was miscellaneous solid waste – mainly industrial waste, and non-putrescible 
processing residual directly delivered to the landfill from within the Metro region and delivered under 
the authority of Metro’s designated facility agreement with Riverbend.  The Metro region delivered 
about 20,000 fewer tons of non-putrescible waste to Riverbend in 2013 than in 2011, but the Region 
accounted for a slightly larger percentage of putrescible waste in 2013 (41 percent in 2011 versus 48 
percent in 2013).  An additional 42,000 tons of contaminated soils originated in the Metro district in 
2013, and were mostly used for landfill operations, mainly alternative daily cover versus about 21,000 
tons of soil in 2011. 
 

Table 3 
Metro-Area Putrescible Waste to Riverbend Landfill in 2013 by Transfer Station 

  Putrescible Waste 
Transfer Station Location Tons Percent 

Canby TS (Hoodview/West Linn) Canby 12,861 6% 
Forest Grove TS Forest Grove 105,155 49% 
Pride Recycling Sherwood 70,827 33% 
Willamette Resources Wilsonville 25,528 12% 
Total putrescible waste 
 
Source:  NSL reports filed with Metro. 

In-District 214,371 100% 
 

 
Metro’s transfer stations and the Troutdale Transfer Station send their waste to Columbia Ridge Landfill, 
not Riverbend.  However, Riverbend serves as a back-up for these facilities whenever the Columbia 
Gorge is closed due weather problems or other emergency situations.  Metro’s transfer stations have 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4569 
Page 4 of 5 

not delivered waste to Riverbend since 2007.  Troutdale Transfer Station has delivered approximately 
489 tons of waste to Riverbend within the last two calendar years. 
 
Other Government Decisions  
Numerous governments are involved in the decision and oversight of landfills during consideration of a 
landfill expansion.  Following is brief summary of the two entities primarily responsible for decisions 
regarding aspects of the landfill expansion: 
 
• Yamhill County.   As part of its authorization process for NSLs and DFAs, Metro asks the local host 

government whether the destination facility is in compliance with local laws and whether it has any 
issues, concerns, or objections to the delivery of Metro-area waste to the disposal site within its 
jurisdiction.  Yamhill County is responsible for local land use decisions regarding the landfill.  The 
County has informed Metro that the landfill is in compliance with state and local requirements and 
there is minimal risk of future environmental contamination at the site.  See a fuller discussion in the 
staff report and see Attachment 2 for copies of relevant letters from the county.  
 
In June 2012, Yamhill County entered into a new five-year licensing agreement with Riverbend 
which replaced the previous agreement from 1994.   The term of the County’s new agreement 
became effective on July 1, 2012 and extends beyond the two-year term of this proposed NSL 
renewal.  The new agreement increases fees, based on volume, paid to the county and could 
increase County revenue by 60 percent based on previous waste disposal volumes.  The County has 
also recently determined that both the short-term expansion (berm) and longer-term expansion 
(horizontal expansion) of the landfill are outright allowable uses under its land use designation 
authority. 
 
Waste Management submitted a Site Design Review Application and a Floodplain Development 
Permit Application to the County on November 5, 2014.  Yamhill County staff will review the 
applications for compliance with its requirements.  Waste Management has already conducted a 
public meeting to explain the plan on November 11, 2014.  The County’s Planning Commission will 
hold a public hearing on December 4 and is expected to vote on the plan at its January 8, 2015 
meeting.  Once findings are written and adopted, the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners will 
review the plan and recommendation.  The Board is expected to make its decision during the spring 
of 2015.  It is expected that the Board’s decision will be appealed to the Land Use Board of Appeals 
(LUBA). 

 
• DEQ.  The chief agency responsible for permitting and environmental oversight of the landfill, DEQ 

must also approve any expansion at Riverbend as well as continually monitor the landfill’s 
environmental performance and compliance.  DEQ will begin its review of Waste Management’s 
expansion application for the proposed 37-acre lateral expansion once Yamhill County has rendered 
a site design review decision.  It is not clear what the key issues regarding the expansion proposal 
will be for DEQ.  During the approval of the MSE berm, issues regarding seismic stability and flood 
way/flood plain boundaries were raised as issues previously.  DEQ originally received the application 
for a large lateral expansion in 2009 which was subsequently withdrawn.  DEQ’s decisions on the 
landfill expansions typically are subject to a minimum 35-day public comment period and will most 
certainly involve a public hearing.   



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4569 
Page 5 of 5 

 
Impact of Landfill Closure or Waste Diversion 
If Metro-area solid waste could no longer be delivered to Riverbend for disposal for whatever reason, at 
2011 levels at least 208,000 tons of putrescible waste would ultimately have to be shifted to the 
Columbia Ridge Landfill each year under Metro’s disposal contract.  Each round trip to Columbia Ridge 
Landfill is 280 miles longer, on average, than current trips to Riverbend. This increase in transport time 
and distance would increase costs and reduce environmental sustainability in the region.  The costs 
resulting from a longer transport distance would result in the majority of increase in costs and 
environmental impact by increased carbon emissions.  The additional transport cost would be about $5 
million per year based on 2011 estimates.  This translates to an average increase of almost $24 on each 
ton shifted to Columbia Ridge Landfill from Riverbend.  Ratepayers in Washington County and northwest 
Clackamas County would bear virtually all of the cost and residential ratepayers in these counties could 
see increases of $1.40 to $1.80 per month on their garbage bills if the increases were passed along to 
the consumer. 
 
Summary 
The future long-term capacity of Riverbend and any decisions that might impact its expansion are 
relevant to Metro’s decision to allow solid waste to be disposed at the landfill.  It is a factor that will be 
continually monitored by staff.  Capacity limitations do not appear to impinge on the landfill’s ability to 
accept Metro-area waste from the current group of NSLs under consideration by Metro Council during 
the next two-year cycle – through 2016.  Metro has generally regarded these requests from the private 
sector as a market decision – provided that the: 1) use of such disposal sites does not violate Metro 
Code or any of Metro’s waste-related contracts, 2) appropriate Regional System Fee and Excise Tax is 
remitted to Metro for the waste delivered to the disposal site, and 3) receiving disposal site is 
appropriately authorized and allowed to operate by the relevant local and state regulatory authorities   
Metro has the authority to modify, suspend, or terminate its NSLs at any time if the landfill’s capacity 
becomes constrained or if Yamhill County requests that Metro restrict the flow of solid waste away from 
Riverbend. 
 



Attachment 2 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4571 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 2 includes comment letters received by Metro from local governments regarding 
Riverbend Landfill.  The following are included in this attachment: 

 

• Letter from Sherrie Mathison, Yamhill County Solid Waste, addressed to Roy W. Brower, 
Metro, dated October 22, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Yamhill County Board of Commissioners addressed to the Metro Council 
dated November 13, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Richard J. Olson, Mayor of City of McMinniville, addressed to the Yamhill 
County Board of Commissioners dated January 27, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Kent L. Taylor, City Manager of City of McMinniville, addressed to Roy W. 
Brower, Metro, dated September 10, 2014. 

 



 

 
Yamhill County Solid Waste 

525 NE 4th Street 
McMinnville, OR 97128 

YCSW Hotline: (503) 434-7445 
Fax: 503-434-7544 

www.ycsw.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October 22, 2014 
 
 
Roy W. Bower, Manager 
Solid Waste Compliance & Cleanup 
Metro 
600 NE Grand Ave 
Portland, Oregon 97232 
 
 
Re: Non-System License Renewal Applications to Transport Metro-Area Solid Waste to Riverbend Landfill 
 
 
Dear Roy, 
Your letter of September 9, 2014, asks if Yamhill County would have any issues with the renewal of Non-
System Licenses (“NSLs”) currently taking waste to Riverbend Landfill Incorporated (RLI).  
 
The license agreement Yamhill County has with Riverbend Landfill has allowances for out of county waste. 
Riverbend Landfill continues to make plans for the tonnages they accept both in county and out of county. 
 
Yamhill County does not have issues with the acceptance by Riverbend Landfill of this waste from the NSLs. 
 
I would also like to report that RLI has a history of operating in compliance with the Yamhill County license 
agreement and their DEQ permitting. Working under a Title V permit helps to assure the county environmental 
issues are dealt with in the everyday working of the landfill. It has been the experience over the past several 
years that RLI management has kept Yamhill County informed of any significant issues related to their day-to-
day operation.  
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me at 503-434-7445 if you have further questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Sherrie Mathison 
Yamhill County  
Solid Waste 

 

 printed on recycled paper, 25% post-consumer content 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

KATHY GEORGE· ALLEN SPruNGER· MARy STARRETT 

November 13, 2014 

535 NE Fifth Street· McMinnville, OR 97128-4523 
(503) 434-7501 0 Fax (503) 434-7553 

TTY (800) 735-2900 0 www. co.yamhill.or.us 

The Honorable Tom Hughes, Metro Council President 
The Honorable Shirley Craddick, Metro Councilor District 1 
The Honorable Carlotta Collette, Metro Councilor District 2 
The Honorable Craig Dirksen, Metro Councilor District 3 
The Honorable Katherine Harrington, Metro Councilor District 4 
The Honorable Sam Chase, Metro Councilor District 5 
The Honorable Robelt Stacey, Metro Councilor District 6 

Dear President Hughes and Metro Councilors: 

Thank you for requesting comment from Yamhill County regarding the renewal of the non-system license for the 
transpOlt of Metro-area solid waste to Riverbend Landfill . 

Yamhill County Solid Waste Coordinator Sherrie Mathi son has already provided input regarding factors set forth in Metro 
Code 5.05.035. The Yamhill County Commissioners would like to provide additional input. 

Riverbend has a histOlY of operating in compliance with the County and DEQ requirements - including meeting the 
requirements of the County licensing agreement and the regulatory requirements related to environmental protections. As 
a result of this, in 2012 the Board of Commissioners demonstrated their commitment to Riverbend 's continued operation 
by renewing the facility's licensing agreement for a five year term. This was extended through the approval ofa zone 
change in 2014 allowing for Riverbend to submit a detailed expansion application. 

Through the intervening years, Waste Management has demonstrated a commitment to work in partnership with the 
County as shown through their attention to ideas from citizens in the community and requests from the commissioners. 
Thi s includes a requirement for development of a landfill alternative ("green technology") on the Riverbend propelty, and 
ongoing operational improvements in response to community feedback . Additionally, Waste Management and Riverbend 
have demonstrated a commitment to waste reduction by sign ificantly increasing waste diversion at the WM-Newberg 
Transfer Station and the implementation of a new million dollar public recycling center at Riverbend. Finally, 
Riverbend 's community-driven Stewardship Plan to allow for 450 acres of its land to benefit the community has led to the 
expected 2015 launch of the Community Farm Collaboration which will provide land, mentoring and resources to help 
small farmers' success and educate the public about the value of community food systems. 

The Yamhill County Board of Commissioners offers this input to the Metro Council as we move forward in this 
partnership with Waste Management and Riverbend Landfill. 

Sincerely, 

Kathy George 
Vice-Chair 

MalY Starrett 
Commiss ioner 



230 NE Second Street • McMinnville, Oregon 97128-4831 • www.ci.mcminnville.or.us 

September 10, 2014 

Metro 
600 NE Grand Avenue 
Portland OR 97232-2736 

ATTN: RoyW. Bower 
Solid Waste Compliance and Cleanup Manager 

RE: Non-System License Renewal Applications to Transport Metro-Area Solid 
Waste to Riverbend Landfill 

Dear Mr. Bower: 

Thank you for the opportunity given to the City of McMinnville to comment on the 
proposed renewal of various Metro-issued Non-System Licenses. Simply put, METRO's 
renewal of the NSL's involving hauling of solid waste to Riverbend Landfill would be 
inconsistent with the City of McMinnville'S position on the future of Riverbend Landfill. 

In January of this year the Mayor, on behalf of the McMinnville City Council, sent a letter 
to the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners, in which the City stated its concerns 
over Riverbend Landfill, including the importation of solid waste. The letter states that 
the City does not see continued operation of Riverbend Landfill as being in the best 
interests of the community for the long term. A copy of that letter is attached. 

The City of McMinnville understands that it has no jurisdiction over Riverbend Landfill 
and is providing this input as part of the public testimony to be received. 

Sincerely, 

~~ 
Kent L. Taylor 
City Manager 

cc: Mayor and City Council 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 

Office of the City Manager (503) 434-7302 FAX (503) 472-4104 



230 NE Second Street • McMinnville, Oregon 97128-4831 • www.ci.mcminnville.or.us 

January 27,2014 

Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 
434 NE Evans Street 
McMinnville OR 97128 

RE: Riverbend Landfill 

Dear Chair Stern and Commissioners: 

I am writing on behalf of the McMinnville City Council. First, we would like to recognize 
the very difficult position you are in with regard to decision-making on landfill issues like 
that involving Riverbend Landfill. The voices from both sides of the issue are many and 
come from very organized fronts and developed positions on the matter. The 
McMinnville City Council recognizes that the legally required task of applying relevant 
land-use criteria to a land-use decision and the testimony you hear is a very real 
challenge. 

Given that the County Planning Commission voted to recommend against the zone 
change proposed by Waste Management, Inc. and the County Planning Director's 
neutral statement that there was sufficient evidence and testimony presented to support 
either approval or denial, we had hoped to see a vote for denial of the zone change. 
We are pleased that there is a condition attached that requires some form of green 
technology facility to be initiated at the site within seven years. We look forward to 
hearing more of what the details are to this condition and hope that implementation of 
such technology will begin sooner than later and the implementation and startup will be 
within the seven-year period. 

Over the past several years the McMinnville City Council has grown increasingly 
concerned that continued operation and growth of the Riverbend Landfill are contrary to 
sustaining a high quality of life for the current and future citizens and children of 
McMinnville. The concerns and objections that we have increasingly heard from a 
range of our constituents can be summarized as follows: 



2 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners January 27, 2014 

• Negative impacts on the quality of life - Much of the year McMinnville is 
downwind of the landfill. Despite efforts to control odors, the landfill odor can still 
be smelled in many different parts of McMinnville. This is particularly an issue on 
the south and west sides of the City. Outdoor activities are negatively affected. 
McMinnville's residents and visitors are frequent users of Highway 18, and the 
size and height of the landfill have grown substantially over the years - more 
than anyone ever imagined. Tree barriers and earthen berms have had little 
impact on what is more and more often referred to as a significant "eyesore." 
Increasing large truck traffic on the City's perimeter roads, such as Lafayette 
Avenue and surrounding highways, being used by haulers of imported garbage is 
also generating increased complaints and concerns. The substantial increase in 
the volume of garbage being imported has also increased highway litter. 
Despite good faith efforts to control it, the amount of litter seems to be increasing 
rather than subsiding. 

• Negative impacts on a growing tourism sector of the local economy -
Simply put, the negative quality of life impacts discussed above are not 
consistent with the effort to grow the City's and the County's tourism economy, 
one centered on the wine industry, and are having a major impact on the 
Council's vision of McMinnville in the future. There is a growing sense that we 
could soon reach a tipping point, and the growth in the tourism sector begins to 
flatten or diminish as potential visitors choose to avoid the negative conditions. 
The International Pinot Noir Celebration (IPNC), held annually at Linfield College, 
is a world-class event, drawing industry representatives and visitors from around 
the world. Representatives from the IPNC have expressed their concerns about 
the landfill's negative impacts on the future viability of the Linfield outdoor venue. 
The loss of these types of events, along with other major tourism events and 
venues, more than likely would have a negative impact on the County's agri
tourism effort and McMinnville's tourism-related businesses. 

• Environmental & public health concerns - While the technical experts can 
battle the specifics of how large and when it will occur, there seems to be very 
little disagreement that a large-scale Cascadia subduction zone earthquake is in 
northwest Oregon's future. The age of the landfill, its original construction 
techniques and codes, and its proximity to the South Yamhill River give rise to 
citizen concerns about the potential environmental damage and threats to public 
health that could arise when such an earthquake occurs. The South Yamhill 
River flows along the easterly edge of McMinnville. While not an issue directly 
affecting City residents, they express concern about long-term groundwater 
impacts due to landfill leachate leaking below the surface. 

• Importation of solid waste from outside Yamhill County -Importation of 
huge volumes of garbage exacerbate the problems discussed above and have 
reduced the life of the landfill. What was once envisioned as a small county 
landfill has become a large regional landfill receiving refuse from not only Yamhill 
County but from all of northwest Oregon, including the Portland Metropolitan 

(503) 435-5701 
Office of the Mayor 

mayor@ci.mcminnville.or.us FPJ«503)472-4104 



3 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners January 27, 2014 

area. As the need for additional landfill disposal continues to increase in areas 
outside of Yamhill County. it is a concern that the anticipated 20 years of 
additional capacity that expansion would bring would be recognized in a much 
shorter period of time. Although the Council recognizes that there may be trade
offs in garbage rates for less volume, parties on both sides of the issue have 
difficulty stating exactly what that rate would be if Riverbend is not expanded. 

In summary. the City Council does not envision Riverbend Landfill being part of our 
vision for a vibrant McMinnville and Yamhill County for the long term. As we move 
forward together, it is our hope that: implementation and construction of a viable green 
techno!ogy alternative takes place as soon as is possible; that VVaste Management 
significantly reduces the amount of garbage that is imported to the landfill from outside 
of Yamhill County; that proactive steps to abate the odor and litter problems be put on a 
fast track; that the County and the Riverbend operator support increased efforts to 
reduce the amount of local solid waste entering the waste stream in the first place. And, 
finally, with regard to the last item, we hope County solid waste revenues will be 
allocated to help develop and administer this waste reduction effort and that Waste 
Management, Inc. will support it, working with other local partners such as Recology. 

Sincerely, 

Richard J. ("Rick") Olson 
Mayor 

(503) 435-5701 
Office of the Mayor 

mayor@ci.mcminnville.or.us FAX (503) 472-4104 



Attachment 3 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4571 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3 includes pre-enforcement notices issued by the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality (DEQ) and related correspondence regarding Riverbend Landfill.  The 
following are included in this attachment: 

 

• Pre-Enforcement Notice from Bob Schwarz, DEQ, addressed to James L. Denson Jr., 
Waste Management, dated March 17, 2014. 
 

• Letter from James L. Denson Jr., Waste Management, addressed to Bob Schwarz, DEQ, 
dated March 28, 2014. 
 

• Pre-Enforcement Notice from Mark Riedel-Bash, DEQ, addressed to Paul Burns, Waste 
Management, dated November 3, 2014. 



regon 
John A Kitzhaber, MD, Governor 

James 1. Denson Jr. 
Oregon Environmental Protection Manager 
Waste Management 
7227 NE 55th Ave. 
Portland, OR 97218 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice 
Ri verb end Landfill 
PEN - LQ-ERD-2014-0020 
Solid Waste Disposal Site Permit # 345 
Yamhill County 

Dear Mr. Denson: 

Department of Environmental Quality 
Eastern Region-The Dalles Office 

400 East Scenic Drive, Suite 307 
The Dalles, OR 97058 

(541) 298-7255 
March 17, 2014 FAX (541) 298-7330 

During a January 28,2014 inspection, DEQ inspectors and landfill personnel observed leachate 
escaping from the north side of the landfill. This leachate migrated beyond the perimeter of the 
landfill, but did not appear to travel far from the landfill perimeter. Waste Management 
concluded that this release was the result of an old perimeter French drain that was clogged as 
the result of recent construction of a storm water diversion swale. The drain had been installed 
during construction of the cell to convey leachate to the leachate collection line that runs to the 
onsite leachate storage pond. 

Later that day, the site engineer directed the landfill contractor to remove all drain rock from the 
French drain along that portion beneath the stormwater diversion berm. Between January 28 and 
29, this rock was removed and the area was backfilled with compacted clay. Four vertical 12-
inch sump pipes were installed and backfilled with drain rock. Soil limn the impacted area north 
of the landfill was sampled on January 29. Soil impacted by the leachate release was then 
excavated, and a vactor truck was used to remove standing storm water that may have been 
contaminated by the release. Soil from this area was resampled on January 31. Results were 
provided in a technical memorandum dated March 14, 2014. These results indicate that residual 
contaminant concentrations are below safe levels. 

On February 10,2014, landfill personnel observed leachate escaping from the landfill's northern 
bOlmdary. Waste Management reported this leachate release to the DEQ on February 10 and 
stated that this leachate reached a creek approximately 300 feet from the landfill. This leachate 
release was near but not related to the release first observed on January 28. This leachate was 
primarily liquid that had collected in the landfill ' s gas extraction wells . To keep the extraction 
wells working properly, this leachate is routinely pumped from the wells to three 21,000-gallon 
storage tanks near the north side of the landfill. This leachate is leept separate from the majority 
ofthe landfill's leachate, which is pumped to the onsite leachate pond. The reason for this 
separation is that leachate associated with the gas extraction wells is more concentrated than the 
rest of the landfill leachate, and is therefore sent to a different offsite facility for treatment and 



Page 2 of3 

disposal. The Department conducted an inspection on February 13,2014 to document the release 
and the actions taken to address the release. 

Impacts to the creek were evaluated in a March 11, 2014 report prepared by Waste 
Management's consultant. The report concludes that "No mortality of aquatic flora or fauna was 
observed during either site visit [conducted on February 12 and 21, 2014]. Overall, the impact to 
aquatic biota was estimated to be minimal on the basis of the high flows of the unnamed creek 
and the South Yamhill River, and the comparison to aquatic water quality criteria and human 
health criteria." 

Impacts to the area between the landfill and the creek are also being investigated. Waste 
Management has not yet provided results of that investigation to DEQ. 

Based upon DEQ's observations and infonnation provided by you regarding your facility, the 
Department has concluded that Waste Management is responsible for the following violations of 
Oregon enviromnentallaw: 

VIOLATIONS: 

1) The leachate seep found on January 28, 2014 was a violation of Section 9.9 of Riverbend 
Landfill's Solid Waste Disposal Facility pennit, which states that "Leachate must be 
prevented from escaping to local drainage ways and to other unlined areas of the site." 
This is a Class 2 violation. 

2) The leachate release that occurred on February 10,2014 was a violation of ORS 
468B.02S(1): "Except as provided in ORS 468B.OSO or 468B.OS3, no person shall: 

(a) Cause pollution of any waters of the state or place or cause to be placed any wastes in 
a location where such wastes are likely to escape or be carried into the waters of the state 
by any means." This is a Class 1 violation. 

Class I violations are the most serious violations; Class III violations are the least serious. 

CORRECTIVE ACTIONS REQUESTED: 

1. Effective immediately, inspect the entire perimeter of the landfill daily for leachate seeps. 
Particular attention is essential during periods of heavy or prolonged precipitation. Any 
problems noted must be reported to DEQ within 24 hours. 

2. Submit the report now being prepared concerning impacts to the area between the landfill 
and the creek. This report must be submitted by Friday, March 21, 2014. 

3. Prepare a report that identifies what measures have already been taken and what additional 
measures will be taken, along with a schedule for implementation of those measures to avoid 
these problems in the future. This report must be submitted by Friday, March 28,2014. 

o 
lJEQ.OU 



Page 3 of3 

The violations cited above posed the risk of significant environmental hann and the matter is being 
referred to the Depmiment's Office of Compliance and Enforcement for formal enforcement action. 
Formal enforcement action may result in assessment of civil penalties and/or a Depmiment order. A 
formal enforcement action may include a civil penalty assessment for each day of violation. 

If you believe any of the facts in this Pre-Enforcement Notice me in error, you may provide written 
information to me at the address shown at the top of the letter. The Depmiment will consider new 
information you submit and take appropriate action. 

The Department intends to assist you in your compliance efforts. Should you have any questions 
about the content of this letter, feel free contact me in writing or by phone at 541-298-7255 x230. 

Sincerely, 

~~ ... 
Bob Schwarz, PE 
Permit Engineer 

Copy: Office of Compliance and Enforcement, DEQ Headqumiers 

o 
IkQ.[)(I 



J a m e s  L  D e n s o n  J r .
7 2 2 7  N E  5 5 t h  A v e

P o r t l a n d  O R ,  9 7 2 1 8

( 6 0 2 )  7 5 7 - 3 3 5 2
F A X  7 1 3 - 2 8 6 - 7 4 0 6

20140328 RBLF PEN Response Draft (3/28/2014) 

March 28, 2014          VIA U.S. MAIL & E-MAIL 

Bob Schwartz P.E. 
Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 
Eastern Region-The Dalles Office 
400 East Scenic Drive, Suite 307 
The Dalles, OR 97058 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice Riverbend Landfill 
PEN - LQ-ERD-2014-0020 
Solid Waste Disposal Site Permit # 345 

Dear Mr. Schwartz: 

Riverbend Landfill Co. (RBLF) in compliance with the March 17th, 2014 ODEQ Pre-Enforcement 
Notice (PEN) is submitting this report addressing PEN Requested Corrective Action item # 3 that 
requires RBLF to  identify “what measures have already been taken and what additional measures will 
be taken, along with a schedule for implementation of those measures to avoid these problems in the 
future”.

This report outlines the corrective actions taken by RBLF to manage the re-occurrence of leachate 
migrating past the landfill boundary. 

Actions Completed to date; 
1. Removed 150 feet of existing French drain trench and piping underneath stormwater control 

berm, backfilled trench and installed Four (4) sumps that extend 1 foot below perimeter road 
elevation. 

2. Reinstalled and extended existing stormwater control berm at toe of  North Slope  
3. Excavated impacted soils outside of  landfill footprint from the Jan 28th seep incident and 

repaired impacted area.   
4. Implemented post mitigation observations of the area multiple times per day to ensure no 

additional leachate seeps occurred in the area and mitigation measures were effective. 
5. As a result of the Feb 19th Seep event; vacuumed impacted area between landfill and creek 

removed approx. 12k gallons of leachate/snowmelt mixture and properly disposed. 
6. Implemented post mitigation observations of the area each day to ensure no additional leachate 

seeps are occurring in the area. 
7. Installed 250 feet of diversion berm at toe of North Slope and installed two (2) collection sumps. 
8. Installed North Leachate tank overfill alarms with auto dialer 
9. Installed North Tank Leachate tank bypass line to leachate pond 
10. Placed additional 7,000 yards of cover soils on North slope 
11. Initiated and finalized third party creek impact assessment, assessment indicated no impacts to 

wildlife or the environment 
12. Initiated third party soils assessment for impacted soils in the between the landfill and the creek. 



March 28, 2014

- 2 - 

Actions in process; 
1. Finalize impacted soils assessment by SCS with recommendations. Due April 1st

2. Placing additional 15,000 yards of cover soils on North Slope to achieve 24” cover soil 
thickness on entire North Slope. Placement of the remainder of the cover will be completed by 
May 30th , weather permitting.  

3. Add fourth 22K storage tank to North Leachate tank area. Planned for installation by May 30th

weather permitting. 

We appreciate the opportunity to respond to with the actions taken on this issue. RBLF believes 
that the actions outlined above have served to; 

� Identify all potential impacts to the environment as a result of the two incidents, and 
� Significantly increased the margin of safety for ensuring the events identified in the PEN 

do not re-occur. 

Thank you again for your assistance with this important issue. If you have any questions or 
concerns, please feel free to contact me at (602) 757-3352 or by email at jdenson@wm.com . 

Sincerely,

James Denson 
          Oregon Environmental Protection Manager 

CC

 Facility File 
Lissa Druback, ODEQ via E-mail 

Sincerely,



regon 
John A. Kitzhaber, MDI Governor 

Certified Mail: 7014 120000003483 0878 

November 3,2014 

Paul Bums 
Riverbend Landfill Co. 
13469 SW Highway 18 
McMinnville, OR 97218 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice 
File Number: 106959 
WQ/SW -PEN-WRE-20 14-0074 
Common Name: Riverbend Landfill 
YamhiII County 

Dear Mr. Bums: 

. Deparhnent of Environmental Quality 
Western Region Eugene ?ffice 

165 East 7th Avenue, Suite 100 
Eugene, OR 97401 

(541) 686-7838 
FAX (541) 686-7551 

TTY 711 

The Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) reviewed the 2013-2014 Dischal'ge Monitoring Report 
for Riverbend Landfill Co. In this DMR, you reported exceeding the daily maximum limit for total zinc. 
It also appears that you were unable to perfonn the requITed follow-up monitoring in Schedule B.2. e. iii 
due to a lack bf discharge at Outfall 2. 

DEQ has concluded that this facility is responsible for the following violation of Oregon EnvITomnental 
Law: 

VIOLATION(S) 
Oregon Revised Statnte 468B.025(2) reqUITes compliance with DEQ pennits. The reported concentration 
of total zinc on May 9, 2014 was 0.42 mgIL. This discharge level exceeds the permit numeric effluent 
limit of 0.20 mgIL (permit Schedule A.2) by 50 percent or more. This is a Class I violation in accordance 
with OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k)(A). Class I violations are considered to be the most serious, and Class III. 
violations are the least serious. 

CORRECTNE ACTIONeS): 
If you have not already perfonned the reqUITed follow up monitoring in Schedule B.2.e.iii of the pennit, 
please perfOlID the follow up sampling and, if necessary, submit an exceedance report in accordance with 
Schedule B.9 of the permit within 60 days. 

Schedule B.2.e.iii requITes that the pel1l)ittee conduct follow-up monitoring of any pollutant that exceeds 
the numeric effluent limit(s) within 30 days (or during the next measurable stonn event should none occur 
withiu 30 days) of receiving the monitoring results. 

Exceeding total zinc pennit limits can negatively impact stream habitat and aquatic species. Therefore, 
the violation listed above has heen referred to DEQ's Office of Compliance and Enforcement for fonnal 
enforcement action, which may include assessment of civil penalties and/or issuance of a Department 
Order. A fonnal enforcement action may include a civil penalty assessment for each day of violation. 



If you believe any of the facts in this Pre-Enforcement Notice are in error, you may provide written 
information to me at the address shown at the top of the letter. DEQ will consider neW infOlmation you 
submit aud take appropriate action. 

DEQ endeavors to assist you in your compliauce efforts. Should you have auy questions about the couteut of 
this letter or if you desire auy follow-up techuical assistauce, feel free contact to me in writing or by phone at 
(541) 687-7343. 

Sincerely, 

Mark Riedel-Bash, RG 
Stormwater Specialist 

cc: Source File - DEQ Eugene 
Zach Loboy, Water Quality Manager - DEQ Eugene Office 
Denise Miller- DEQ Eugene 
Office of Compliauce aud Enforcement- DEQ Headquarters 



BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF 
OPERATING OFFICER TO ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM 
LICENSE TO PRIDE RECYCLING COMPANY FOR DELIVERY 
AND DISPOSAL OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE AT THE 
RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, 
OREGON 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION NO.  14-4569A 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating 
Officer Martha Bennett in 
concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes 

 
WHEREAS, the Metro Code requires a non-system license of any person that delivers solid waste 

generated from within the Metro Region to a non-system disposal facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Pride Recycling Company (“Pride”) holds Metro Solid Waste Facility Non-System 
License No. N-002-13A, which expires on December 31, 2014; and   
 

WHEREAS, Pride has filed a complete application seeking renewal of the non-system license to 
deliver putrescible waste to the Riverbend Landfill for disposal under the provisions of Metro Code 
Chapter 5.05, “Solid Waste Flow Control;” and 

WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 5.05 provides that applications for non-system licenses for 
putrescible waste shall be reviewed by the Chief Operating Officer and are subject to approval or denial 
by the Metro Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer has analyzed the application and considered the relevant 

factors under the Metro Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, Riverbend Landfill is in the process of seeking expansion of the landfill to increase 

capacity by approximately 15 years; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Metro Council finds that disposing of putrescible waste generated within the 

Metro region in Riverbend Landfill after 2016 may not be in the best interests of the region; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer recommends that the non-system license be renewed 
together with specific conditions as provided in this Resolution and Exhibit A to this Resolution; now 
therefore, 
 

THE METRO COUNCIL RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The non-system license renewal application of Pride is approved subject to the terms, 
conditions, and limitations contained in the Resolution and Exhibit A to this Resolution. 
 

2. The Chief Operating Officer is authorized to issue to Pride a renewed Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License substantially similar to the one attached as Exhibit A. 
  

2.3. The Chief Operating Officer should consider any future application to send putrescible waste to 
Riverbend Landfill as a new application, not a renewal, and should evaluate landfill capacity 
when determining whether a non-system license should be issued.  

 
  



ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ____ day of _______, 2014. 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
 Tom Hughes, Council President 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



Agenda Item No. 4.5  

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 14-4570, For the Purpose of Authorizing the 
Chief Operating Officer to Issue a Renewed Non-System License 
to Willamette Resources, Inc. for Delivery of Putrescible Waste 

to the Riverbend Landfill in Yamhill County  
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTIONS  
 

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



 
WJ:bjl 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\WRI\NSL\Riverbend LF\N-005-15\WRI_RES_14-4570.docx 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF 
OPERATING OFFICER TO ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM 
LICENSE TO WILLAMETTE RESOURCES, INC. FOR DELIVERY 
AND DISPOSAL OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE AT THE 
RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, 
OREGON 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION NO.  14-4570 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating 
Officer Martha Bennett in 
concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes 

 
WHEREAS, the Metro Code requires a non-system license of any person that delivers solid waste 

generated from within the Metro Region to a non-system disposal facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Willamette Resources, Inc. (“WRI”) holds Metro Solid Waste Facility Non-System License 
No. N-005-13, which expires on December 31, 2014; and   
 

WHEREAS, WRI has filed a complete application seeking renewal of the non-system license to 
deliver putrescible waste to the Riverbend Landfill for disposal under the provisions of Metro Code Chapter 
5.05, “Solid Waste Flow Control;” and 

WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 5.05 provides that applications for non-system licenses for 
putrescible waste shall be reviewed by the Chief Operating Officer and are subject to approval or denial by 
the Metro Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer has analyzed the application and considered the relevant 

factors under the Metro Code; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer recommends that the non-system license be renewed 
together with specific conditions as provided in Exhibit A to this Resolution; now therefore, 
 

THE METRO COUNCIL RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The non-system license renewal application of WRI is approved subject to the terms, conditions, 
and limitations contained in Exhibit A to this Resolution. 
 

2. The Chief Operating Officer is authorized to issue to WRI a renewed Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License substantially similar to the one attached as Exhibit A. 

 
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ____ day of _______, 2014. 
 
 

 __________________________________ 
 Tom Hughes, Council President 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4570 

 

600 NORTHEAST GRAND AVENUE PORTLAND, OREGON 97232 2736 
TEL 503 797 1835   FAX 503 813 7544 

 

 
METRO SOLID WASTE FACILITY  

NON-SYSTEM LICENSE 
 

No. N-005-15 
 

LICENSEE: 

Willamette Resources, Inc. 
10295 SW Ridder Road 
Wilsonville, OR 97070 

CONTACT PERSON: 

 
Phone: 
Fax: 
E-Mail: 

Derek Ruckman 
(503) 404-2128 
(503) 570-0523 
druckman@republicservices.com  

Brian May 
(503) 404-2131 
(503) 570-0523 
bmay@republicservices.com  
 

MAILING ADDRESS: 

Willamette Resources, Inc. 
10295 SW Ridder Road 
Wilsonville, OR 97070 

 
 
 
 
ISSUED BY METRO: 
 
 
 
 
   
Scott Robinson, Deputy Chief Operating Officer  Date 
 
 

mailto:druckman@republicservices.com
mailto:bmay@republicservices.com


Willamette Resources, Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-005-15 
  Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 

1 NATURE OF WASTE COVERED BY LICENSE 
 Putrescible solid waste generated within the Metro boundary and received at 

Willamette Resources, Inc. in accordance with Metro Solid Waste Facility 
Franchise No. F-005-08C. 

 

2 CALENDAR YEAR TONNAGE LIMITATION 
 Licensee is authorized to deliver to the non-system facility described in Section 

3 of this license up to 70,000 tons per calendar year of the waste described in 
Section 1 of this license.  This license does not increase the total tonnage that 
the Licensee is authorized to accept under Metro Solid Waste Facility Franchise 
No. F-005-08C. 

 

3 NON-SYSTEM FACILITY 
 The Licensee hereunder is authorized to deliver the waste described above in 

Section 1 to the following non-system facility: 
Riverbend Landfill 
13469 SW Highway 18 
McMinnville, OR 97128 

This license is issued on condition that the non-system facility named in this 
section is authorized to accept the type of waste described in Section 1.  If 
Metro receives notice from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality or 
local regulatory authority that this non-system facility is not authorized to accept 
such waste, Metro may immediately terminate this license pursuant to Section 7 
of this license. 

 

4 TERM OF LICENSE 
 The term of this license will commence on January 1, 2015 and expire at 

midnight on December 31, 2016, unless terminated sooner under Section 7 of 
this license.   

 

5 REPORTING OF ACCIDENTS AND CITATIONS 

 Licensee shall report to Metro any significant incidents (such as fires), 
accidents, and citations involving vehicles transporting the solid waste 
authorized by this license. 

 



  Willamette Resources, Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-005-15 
  Page 3 of 5 

 

 

6 RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING 

 (a) The Licensee shall keep and maintain accurate records of the amount of 
all solid waste that the Licensee delivers to the non-system facility 
described in Section 3 of this license.  The Licensee shall keep and 
maintain complete and accurate records of the following for all 
transactions with the authorized non-system facility: 

i. Ticket or weight slip number from the non-system facility; 
ii. Material category designating the type of material transferred to 

the non-system facility; 
iii. Date the load was transferred to the non-system facility; 
iv. Time the load was transferred to the non-system facility; 
v. Net weight of the load; and 
vi. Fee charged by the non-system facility 

(b) No later than the fifteenth (15th) day of each month, beginning with the 
first month following the commencement date of this license, Licensee 
shall:  

i. Transmit the records required under Section 6(a) above to Metro 
in an electronic format prescribed by Metro; 

ii. Submit to Metro a Regional System Fee and Excise Tax Report, 
that covers the preceding month; and 

iii. Remit to Metro the requisite Regional System Fees and Excise 
Tax in accordance with the Metro Code provisions applicable to 
the collection, payment, and accounting of such fees and taxes. 

(c) Licensee shall make all records from which Sections 6(a) and 6(b) above 
are derived available to Metro (or Metro’s designated agent) for its 
inspection or copying, as long as Metro provides no less than three (3) 
business days written notice of an intent to inspect or copy documents.  
Licensee shall, in addition, sign or otherwise provide to Metro any 
consent or waiver necessary for Metro to obtain information or data from 
a third party, including the non-system facility named in Section 3, above. 

 

7 ADDITIONAL LICENSE CONDITIONS 

 This license shall be subject to the following conditions: 
(a) The permissive transfer of solid waste to the non-system facility, listed in 

Section 3, authorized by this license shall be subordinate to any 
subsequent decision by Metro to direct the solid waste described in this 
license to any other facility. 

(b) This license shall be subject to amendment, modification, or termination 
by Metro’s Chief Operating Officer (the “COO”) in the event that the COO 



  Willamette Resources, Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-005-15 
  Page 4 of 5 

 

 

determines that: 
i. There has been sufficient change in any circumstances under 

which Metro issued this license; 
ii. The provisions of this license are actually or potentially in conflict 

with any provision in Metro’s disposal contract with Waste 
Management Disposal Services of Oregon, Inc., dba Oregon 
Waste Systems, Inc.; 

iii. Metro’s solid waste system or the public will benefit from, and will 
be better served by, an order directing that the waste described in 
Section 1 of this license be transferred to, and disposed of at, a 
facility other than the facilities listed in Section 3; or 

iv. There has been a change in the amount of tonnage that the 
Licensee is authorized to accept under Solid Waste Facility 
Franchise No. F-005-08C.  In the event that Metro amends the 
tonnage authorization stipulated in the facility’s franchise, the COO 
may amend Section 2 of this license to match the same calendar 
year tonnage limitation stipulated in the franchise. 

(c) This license shall, in addition to subsections (b)(i) through (b)(iv), 
above, be subject to amendment, modification, suspension, or 
termination pursuant to the Metro Code. 

(d) The Licensee shall not transfer or assign any right or interest in this 
license without prior written notification to, and approval of, Metro. 

(e) This license shall terminate upon the execution of a designated facility 
agreement with the facility listed in Section 3 that authorizes the 
facility to accept the waste described in Section 1 of this license. 

(f) This license authorizes the delivery of solid waste to the facility listed 
in Section 3.  Transfer of waste generated from within the Metro 
boundary to any non-system facility other than that specified in this 
license is prohibited unless authorized in writing by Metro. 

(g) If the Licensee exceeds the calendar year limitation set forth in 
Section 2 of this license, each ton or portion thereof by which the 
Licensee exceeds the limitation constitutes a separate violation 
subject to a penalty of up to $500. 

 

8 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 
 Licensee shall fully comply with all applicable local, regional, state and federal 

laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, orders, and permits pertaining in any 
manner to this license, including all applicable Metro Code provisions and 
administrative procedures adopted pursuant to Chapter 5.05 whether or not 
those provisions have been specifically mentioned or cited herein.  All 
conditions imposed on the collection and hauling of the Licensee’s solid waste 
by federal, state, regional or local governments or agencies having jurisdiction 



  Willamette Resources, Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-005-15 
  Page 5 of 5 

 

 

over solid waste generated by the Licensee shall be deemed part of this license 
as if specifically set forth herein. 

 

9 INDEMNIFICATION 
 Licensee shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Metro, its elected officials, 

officers, employees, agents and representatives from any and all claims, 
demands, damages, causes of action, or losses and expenses, or including all 
attorneys’ fees, whether incurred before any litigation is commenced, during any 
litigation or on appeal, arising out of or related in any way to the issuance or 
administration of this non-system license or the transport and disposal of the 
solid waste covered by this license. 

 
 
 
WJ:bjl 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\WRI\NSL\Riverbend LF\N-005-15\WRI_NSL_N-005-15.docx 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4570 
Page 1 of 6 

STAFF REPORT 
 
IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 14-4570 AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER TO 
ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM LICENSE TO WILLAMETTE RESOURCES, INC. FOR DELIVERY AND 
DISPOSAL OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE AT THE RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, OREGON 
 
November 25, 2014 Prepared by:  Roy W. Brower 
  503-797-1657 
 
Approval of Resolution No. 14-4570 will authorize the Chief Operating Officer (COO) to issue a two-year 
non-system license renewal (NSL), similar to the proposed license attached to this resolution as Exhibit 
A, to Willamette Resources, Inc. (WRI).  The proposed NSL will authorize WRI to deliver up to 70,000 
tons per calendar year of putrescible waste from the Metro region to the Riverbend Landfill (Riverbend) 
located in Yamhill County, Oregon.  The proposed NSL, which is set to expire on December 31, 2016, 
renews the same authorization that the transfer station has held since 2002.   
 
WRI is a Metro-franchised1 sold waste transfer station located at 10295 SW Ridder Road, in Wilsonville 
(Metro Council District 3).  WRI is owned by Allied Waste Industries, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Republic Waste Systems, Inc. headquartered in Phoenix, Arizona.  
 
INTRODUCTION 
 

(1) Background 
 
Metro is responsible for regulating and managing the disposal of solid waste generated in the region.2  
NSLs are the main authorization vehicle by which Metro authorizes the delivery of putrescible solid 
waste to facilities located outside the Metro region.  NSLs are also used by Metro to manage its 
contractual obligation to deliver a minimum of 90 percent of the region’s putrescible waste, which is 
delivered to general purpose landfills, to landfills owned by Waste Management (also known as “the 
flow guarantee”).  NSLs allow Metro to closely monitor and potentially guide waste flows to other 
authorized facilities in order to comply with the flow guarantee.   
 
Metro has a practice of allowing waste haulers and transfer stations located within the Metro region to 
select their disposal sites provided that the:  

1) Use of such disposal site does not violate Metro Code or any of Metro’s waste-related contracts,  
2) Appropriate Regional System Fee and Excise Tax is collected and remitted to Metro for the 

waste delivered to the disposal site, and  
3) Disposal site is appropriately authorized by the local and state regulatory authorities.  (In the 

case of the Riverbend Landfill, the primary authorizing agencies would include Yamhill County 
and the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ)). 

 
In December 2013, Metro entered into a designated facility agreement with Riverbend.3  This 
agreement, which expires at the end of 2019, allows certain types of Metro-area waste (such as non-
                                                 
1 Metro Solid Waste Facility Franchise No. F-005-08C  
2 Oregon Revised Statute Chapters 268 and 459; Metro Charter and Metro Code Chapter 5.05. 
3 Metro Contract No. 932399   



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4570 
Page 2 of 6 

putrescible processing residual, cleanup waste and special waste) to be delivered to the landfill without 
the need for haulers or persons delivering the waste to obtain an NSL.  Designated facility agreements 
(DFAs) do not include the acceptance of Metro-area putrescible waste.  Therefore, NSLs are required for 
any hauler to deliver such waste to any landfill, including Riverbend.  NSLs are typically issued for a 
period of two years; while DFAs generally have 5-year terms. 
 
Resolution No. 14-4570 would grant an NSL to WRI to deliver Metro-area putrescible waste to a land 
disposal site owned by Waste Management located in Yamhill County.  This NSL controls a portion of the 
90 percent of waste that is guaranteed to Waste Management under Metro’s disposal contract which 
runs through 2019.  Metro Council is scheduled to consider five such resolutions that will authorize the 
delivery of putrescible waste to Riverbend during the next two years.  In addition to this action for WRI, 
the Council is scheduled to consider similar resolutions for Pride Recycling Company (Res. No. 14-4569), 
Forest Grove Transfer Station (Res. No. 14-4571), West Linn Refuse and Recycling, Inc. (Res. No. 14-
4572), and Hoodview Disposal and Recycling, Inc. (Res. No. 14-4573) at its meeting on December 4, 
2014. 
 

(2) The Applicant 
 
WRI currently holds a Metro-issued franchise that authorizes it to accept up to 70,000 tons of Metro-
area putrescible waste per calendar.  On August 1, 2013, the Metro Council authorized4 the COO to 
extend WRI’s franchise term by two years and establish an annual 70,000-ton cap.  The franchise is set 
to expire on December 31, 2015.  
 
In November 2012, WRI was granted an NSL5 to deliver a maximum of 70,000 tons per calendar year of 
putrescible waste to Riverbend for disposal.  The term of the NSL commenced on January 1, 2013, and is 
set to expire on December 31, 2014.  WRI delivered approximately 25,500 tons of putrescible waste to 
Riverbend in 2013 and about 25,500 to the landfill so far in 2014 (through October).   
 
In addition to the above, WRI currently holds two other NSLs that separately authorize the facility to 
annually deliver putrescible waste to Coffin Butte Landfill6 and the Covanta Waste-to-Energy Facility.7  
These two NSLs are also set to expire on December 31, 2014; however, both licenses were previously 
renewed by the Metro Council on November 13, 2014.8  WRI maintains these three separate NSLs to 
provide its facility with flexibility with regard to its disposal options.  These NSLs do not increase the 
total tonnage that WRI is authorized to accept under its franchise.   
 
On July 31, 2014, WRI submitted an application to Metro seeking to renew its NSL with a tonnage 
authorization of 70,000 tons per calendar year.  Adoption of Resolution No. 14-4570 would authorize 
the COO to issue an NSL to WRI to annually deliver up to 70,000 tons of Metro-area putrescible waste to 
Riverbend through 2016.  The NSL and franchise tonnage authorization amounts will be aligned once the 
franchise is renewed in late 2015. 
 

                                                 
4 Metro Ordinance No. 13-1307. 
5 NSL No. N-005-13 
6 Metro Non-System License No. N-005-13(3)C which authorizes the delivery of up to 40,950 tons during calendar year 2014. 
7 Metro Non-System License No. N-005-13(2) which authorizes the delivery of up to 5,500 tons per year. 
8 Metro Resolution Nos. 14-4564 and 14-4567. 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4570 
Page 3 of 6 

ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 
 
1. Known Opposition 
 
The putrescible waste subject to the proposed NSL will be delivered to Riverbend for disposal.  There is 
no known opposition within the Metro region for delivery of Metro-area waste to authorized disposal 
sites located outside of the region.  Within Yamhill County, there is known local public opposition to 
expanding the capacity of the landfill and general concern expressed by some local citizens about the 
disposal of waste generated outside of the County, including Metro-area waste, at Riverbend especially 
if Metro-area waste contributes to the need for expanded capacity at the landfill.  
 
As part of its authorization process for NSLs, Metro asks the local host government whether the 
destination facility is in compliance with local laws and whether it has any issues, concerns, or objections 
to the delivery of Metro-area waste to the disposal site within its jurisdiction.   
 
Yamhill County is responsible for local land use decisions regarding Riverbend.  On October 22, 2014, the 
County’s solid waste staff sent a letter to Metro stating that the County had no issues with Riverbend’s 
acceptance of Metro-area waste (see Attachment 2).  The letter also indicated that the landfill has a 
history of operating in compliance with the County’s license agreement.    
 
On November 13, 2014, the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners sent a letter to the Metro Council 
responding to Metro’s request for input on the proposed NSL renewals (see Attachment 2).  The County 
Commissioners informed Metro that the landfill has a history of operating in compliance with the 
County and DEQ requirements and that the landfill has met the County’s licensing agreement and 
regulatory requirements related to environmental protection.  The County also indicated that Waste 
Management has demonstrated a commitment to work in partnership with the County in the 
development of green technology, ongoing operational improvements at the landfill, waste diversion, 
implementation of a public recycling center and development of a stewardship plan for lands that will 
not be used for land disposal. 
 
On September 10, 2014, the City Manager of McMinnville provided Metro with a letter expressing the 
City’s concerns about the importation of Metro-area waste to Riverbend (see Attachment 2).  While the 
landfill is not located within the City’s jurisdiction, the landfill is located in close proximity to its 
boundary and some waste haulers travel on the City’s roads en route to the landfill. 
 
In addition to the above, Riverbend is permitted by DEQ to accept solid waste and DEQ has not objected 
to the landfill receiving Metro-area waste for disposal.   
 
Currently, the Riverbend Landfill is expected to reach capacity sometime during 2016 or early 2017 
based on Waste Management’s projection of solid waste tons disposed at the landfill and without 
additional approval to expand the landfill’s capacity.  Waste Management is pursuing an expansion in 
order to lengthen the life of the landfill.  Although approval of Resolution No. 14-4570 would authorize 
WRI to deliver waste to the landfill, the proposed NSL does not obligate Riverbend to accept Metro-area 
waste.   This is noted for Council’s consideration because the landfill seeks to expand its capacity.  
Attachment 1 provides a more in depth overview of the expansion request and approval process 
 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4570 
Page 4 of 6 

2. Legal Antecedents 
 
Metro Code Section 5.05.025 prohibits any person from utilizing non-system facilities without an 
appropriate license from Metro.  Additionally, Code Section 5.05.043 provides that, when determining 
whether or not to approve an NSL application, the Council shall consider the following factors to the 
extent relevant to such determination. 
 

(1) The degree to which prior users of the non-system facility and waste types accepted at 
the non-system facility are known and the degree to which such wastes pose a future 
risk of environmental contamination; 

 
Riverbend first came into use during the mid-eighties and became a permitted RCRA Subtitle D9 landfill 
in 1993.  At that time, the original unlined cells were capped and the landfill has been filling only lined 
cells and operating with the environmental controls required by DEQ.  The environmental risk associated 
with the use of this disposal site is regulated by the appropriate local and state authorities.  It has been 
Metro’s practice to rely on the local land use authority and the state environmental agency to 
determine whether environmental or human health risks posed are known, reasonable and appropriate.  
Riverbend had two compliance issues during 2014 that are detailed in (2) below. 
 

(2) The record of regulatory compliance of the non-system facility’s owner and operator 
with federal, state and local requirements including but not limited to public health, 
safety and environmental rules and regulations; 

 
Waste Management owns and operates Riverbend (as well as the Forest Grove Transfer Station, 
Troutdale Transfer Station, Tualatin Valley Waste Recovery Facility, Hillsboro Landfill, Newberg Transfer 
Station, and the Columbia Ridge Landfill).  Metro staff’s investigation of Waste Management has 
revealed a generally good record of compliance with local and state agencies responsible for health, 
safety, land use, and environmental regulations. 
 
However, DEQ issued two pre-enforcement notices to Waste Management for violations at Riverbend in 
2014.  One of these enforcement actions has been resolved and the other has not.  A copy of the DEQ 
notices and Waste Management’s responses are provided in Attachment 3. These notices are also 
summarized below: 
 

• March 17, 2014, Pre-Enforcement Notice (Resolved).   
o On January 28, 2014, DEQ inspectors observed leachate escaping from the north side of 

the landfill.  The leachate migrated beyond the perimeter of the landfill but did not 
appear to travel far.  The leachate appeared to originate from an old French drain along 
the landfill’s perimeter that was clogged as the result of recent construction of a 
stormwater diversion swale.  (Class 2 Violation) 

o On February 10, 2014, landfill personnel observed and reported leachate escaping from 
the landfill’s northern boundary.  The leachate incident appeared to have been 
unrelated to the earlier release.  The leachate observed at that time was primarily liquid 

                                                 
9 Subtitle D landfill standards are established nationally under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4570 
Page 5 of 6 

that had collected in the landfill’s gas extraction wells and migrated to a creek about 
300 feet from the landfill.  (Class 1 Violation) 

o Waste Management took several corrective actions to address the migration of leachate 
past the landfill boundary and DEQ considers this matter to be resolved.  (See March 28, 
2014 letter from Waste Management to DEQ listing corrective actions taken.) 

 
• November 3, 2014, Pre-Enforcement Notice (Unresolved). 

o In Riverbend’s 2013-14 Discharge Monitoring Report, Waste Management reported 
exceeding its daily maximum limit for total zinc and the landfill was subsequently unable 
to perform the follow-up monitoring as required.  (Class 1 Violation). 

o This matter has been referred to DEQ’s Office of Compliance and Enforcement for 
formal enforcement action, which may include assessment of civil penalties or issuance 
of an Order. 

 
(3) The adequacy of operational practices and management controls at the non-system 

facility; 
 

Riverbend uses operational practices and management controls that are typical of RCRA Subtitle D 
landfills.  Riverbend became permitted as a Subtitle D landfill in 1993 which put in place new 
requirements10 to minimize risk of future environmental contamination at the site.  Staff at the DEQ 
considers the operational practices and controls in place at Riverbend to be appropriate for the proper 
management of waste disposal and adequate for the protection of health and the environment but have 
had two recent enforcement actions as detailed in (2) above. 
 

(4) The expected impact on the region’s recycling and waste reduction efforts; 
 
The proposed license covers the disposal of putrescible solid waste, which currently has limited recovery 
potential.  This license puts no long-term constraint on the waste should recovery alternatives emerge 
for the region.  Thus, approval of the proposed NSL renewal is not expected to impact the region’s 
recycling and waste reduction efforts. 
 

(5) The consistency of issuing the license with Metro’s existing contractual arrangements; 
 
Through 2019, Metro has a contractual obligation to deliver a minimum of 90 percent of the region’s 
putrescible waste, which is delivered to general purpose landfills during the calendar year, to landfills 
owned by Waste Management.  The proposed NSL covers putrescible waste that will be delivered to 
Riverbend, which is owned and operated by Waste Management.  Thus, approval of this NSL renewal 
will not conflict with Metro’s disposal contract or any other of its existing contractual arrangements.  
The denial of this NSL would require WRI to deliver a portion of its putrescible waste to either one of 
Metro’s transfer stations or obtain an NSL to deliver this waste to Waste Management’s Columbia Ridge 
Landfill located in Gilliam County. 
 

(6) The record of the applicant regarding compliance with Metro ordinances and 
agreements or assistance to Metro in Metro ordinance enforcement and with federal, 

                                                 
10 In the 1990’s, RCRA required all general purpose solid waste landfills to install synthetic liners, leachate collection systems, groundwater 
monitoring and gas collection systems to lessen the impact on surrounding communities and the environment.   



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4570 
Page 6 of 6 

state and local requirements including but not limited to public health, safety and 
environmental rules and regulations; and 

 
Metro issued WRI a Notice of Violation11 on June 9, 2014, for processing solid waste outside of a 
building in violation of its Metro-issued franchise.  The matter was resolved and WRI is currently in 
compliance with its franchise and NSL.   
 
With the exception of the above-mentioned violation, the applicant has not had any other compliance 
issues with regard to Metro regulations within the last two years nor has WRI had any operational or 
compliance issues during the term of its franchise.   
  

(7) Such other factors as the Chief Operating Officer deems appropriate for purposes of 
making such determination. 

 
An additional factor that is related to this NSL application and the proposed NSL is the available future 
disposal capacity of Riverbend.  In 2013, Riverbend received approval to build a mechanically stabilized 
earthen berm (MSE), similar to berms used in road construction projects.  The berm will give the landfill 
additional short-term capacity.  At the current fill rate, Waste Management estimates the landfill has 
capacity to operate through 2016 or early 2017 without some additional expansion approval or waste 
diversion.  On November 5, Waste Management submitted a landfill expansion application to Yamhill 
County for site design approval.  The application includes a lateral expansion of 37 acres.   Attachment 1 
to this staff report provides background information which updates Council on waste flow, expansion 
matters, and pending government decisions relative to the landfill’s expansion.  Should conditions 
change, Metro may modify, suspend, or terminate NSLs or redirect waste flow to other landfills. 
  
3. Anticipated Effects 
 
The effect of Resolution No. 14-4570 will be to issue a two-year NSL authorizing WRI to deliver up to 
70,000 tons per calendar year of putrescible waste to Riverbend for disposal.   
 
4. Budget/Rate Impacts 
 
Since Riverbend is owned and operated by Waste Management there is no impact to Metro’s obligation 
under the disposal contract.  In addition, the Regional System Fee and Excise Tax will continue to be 
collected on Metro-area waste delivered to Riverbend under the authority of the proposed NSL.  The 
application under consideration is the renewal of a current NSL therefore; any financial impact of this 
NSL to Metro has already been factored into the budget.      
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
The COO recommends approval of Resolution No. 14-4570, finding that the license renewal satisfies the 
requirements of Metro Code Section 5.05.043.  Approval of Resolution No. 14-4570 will authorize the 
COO to issue an NSL, similar to the one attached to the resolution as Exhibit A, to WRI for a two-year 
period commencing on January 1, 2015 and expiring on December 31, 2016. 
WJ/RB 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\WRI\NSL\Riverbend LF\N-005-15\WRI_RES_14-4570_stfreport.docx

                                                 
11 Notice of Violation No. NOV-360-14 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4570 
Page 1 of 5 

Summary of Riverbend Landfill Expansion Information 
 

Riverbend Landfill, located in Yamhill County, is used as a primary disposal site for several privately-
owned haulers and transfer stations within the Metro region (generally located in Washington and 
northern Clackamas Counties).  Riverbend’s ongoing disposal capacity is germane to Metro Council’s 
decision regarding whether to approve non-system licenses (NSLs) that authorize the use of the landfill 
as a disposal site since there is some uncertainty about future available capacity and how quickly 
pending approvals for expanded capacity will be processed.  
 
In 2014, Waste Management received approval to construct a mechanically stabilized earthen berm 
(MSE).  This berm was constructed in 2014 and solid waste was disposed within the berm area starting 
in October 2014.  At the current fill rate, Waste Management estimates that Riverbend now has capacity 
to operate through 2016 or early 2017 without additional expansion.  On November 5, 2014, Waste 
Management submitted a site design request to Yamhill County to construct a 37-acre lateral expansion 
of the landfill footprint.  Waste Management also submitted a Floodplain Development Permit 
Application to the County.  Approval of this site design expansion request by Yamhill County would 
move the request to the next stage of the approval process.  DEQ must also approve the expansion 
request.  An expansion decision is expected to be completed by the two agencies at the end of 2015 or 
early 2016.  If DEQ approves the landfill expansion, it will provide the landfill with approximately 15 
years of additional capacity.   
 
Should the landfill expansion not occur or be delayed beyond that time, Metro’s existing NSLs could be 
modified, suspended, or terminated as necessary to redirect waste flows to other landfills and would be 
up for reconsideration by Metro Council at the end of 2016.  If Riverbend was no longer a disposal 
option, Metro would likely divert the tonnage going there to the Columbian Ridge Landfill in order to 
maintain compliance with its disposal contract – both landfills are owned by Waste Management.  NSLs 
contain a standard provision that allows Metro to take such action based on a change in any 
circumstance under which Metro initially issued the license (for instance, if Metro later determines that 
there is a lack of capacity at Riverbend or Yamhill County requests that Metro stop further waste 
deliveries to the landfill, Metro could modify, suspend, or terminate the NSL).  In addition, a Metro-
approved NSL does not require Riverbend to accept solid waste from its customers should it encounter 
capacity limitations.  It is also plausible that new issues about the landfill expansion could be raised 
during the two-year term of these proposed licenses – in which case Metro could take necessary action 
to modify the NSLs. 
 
Riverbend Landfill 
The current landfill footprint is 85 acres and the company owns over 702 acres on the site of which 145 
acres are potentially slated for landfilling.  Waste Management is holding a series of public meetings in 
Yamhill County to discuss various site issues including the potential expansion, future green waste 
technology and the community’s use of other portions of its site that are not designated for disposal 
(such as park or agricultural use).  Yamhill County and DEQ are expected to hold 2-3 public hearings on 
the landfill expansion decision over the next year.   
 
Waste Management has also pursued other options to lessen dependency on the landfill, including 
diversion of non-putrescible waste away from the landfill and directing it to the Tualatin Valley Waste 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4570 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4570 
Page 2 of 5 

Recovery facility in Hillsboro and relocation of the public recycling center to a more convenient location 
at the landfill site. 
 
 
 
Figure 1 provides a general overview map of the landfill indicating the existing landfill, expansion areas 
and stewardship lands. 
 

Figure 1:  Riverbend Landfill  
(Source: Waste Management) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Waste Facts 
In calendar year 2013, Waste Management reported about 465,000 tons of solid waste was delivered to 
Riverbend from all sources (Table 1).  Of these 465,000 tons, about 223,000 tons (48 percent) originated 
inside the Metro district. The balance came from areas outside of Metro (52 percent). 
 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4570 
Page 3 of 5 

In addition to the solid waste received for disposal, Riverbend accepted about another 57,000 tons of 
contaminated soils that were used for landfill operations, mainly alternative daily cover (Table 1).  Of 
these 57,000 additional tons, about 42,000 originated inside the Metro boundary (Table 2). 
 

Table 1 
Materials Received at Riverbend Landfill in 

2013 

 Table 2 
Materials Generated in the Metro District and Received at  

Riverbend Landfill in 2013 
Solid Waste     

From inside 
Oregon 

464,000 
 

Putrescible waste 214,000 
 

From out-of-state 1,000 Non-putrescible waste 9,000   

Total Solid Waste 465,000 Total Solid Waste 223,000 
(48% of total waste at 
Riverbend) 

ADC/Soils 57,000 ADC/soils 42,000  

Total from all sources 522,000 Total from Metro 265,000 (51% of total materials at 
Riverbend) 

Source: DEQ, Solid Waste Disposal Report (quarterly). 
All tonnage amounts are rounded to the nearest 1000. 

Source: NSL reports filed with Metro, and data reported to Metro by Riverbend. 
All tonnage amounts are rounded to the nearest 1000. 

 
Of the 223,000 tons of Metro-area solid waste disposed at Riverbend in 2013, about 214,000 tons was 
putrescible waste collected from residential and commercial generators in Washington and northern 
Clackamas counties, delivered to one of four privately-owned transfer stations, and transported in large 
top-loaded transfer trailers to Riverbend under the authority of Metro-issued NSLs (Table 3).  The 
balance, 9,000 tons, was miscellaneous solid waste – mainly industrial waste, and non-putrescible 
processing residual directly delivered to the landfill from within the Metro region and delivered under 
the authority of Metro’s designated facility agreement with Riverbend.  The Metro region delivered 
about 20,000 fewer tons of non-putrescible waste to Riverbend in 2013 than in 2011, but the Region 
accounted for a slightly larger percentage of putrescible waste in 2013 (41 percent in 2011 versus 48 
percent in 2013).  An additional 42,000 tons of contaminated soils originated in the Metro district in 
2013, and were mostly used for landfill operations, mainly alternative daily cover versus about 21,000 
tons of soil in 2011. 
 

Table 3 
Metro-Area Putrescible Waste to Riverbend Landfill in 2013 by Transfer Station 

  Putrescible Waste 
Transfer Station Location Tons Percent 

Canby TS (Hoodview/West Linn) Canby 12,861 6% 
Forest Grove TS Forest Grove 105,155 49% 
Pride Recycling Sherwood 70,827 33% 
Willamette Resources Wilsonville 25,528 12% 
Total putrescible waste 
 
Source:  NSL reports filed with Metro. 

In-District 214,371 100% 
 

 
Metro’s transfer stations and the Troutdale Transfer Station send their waste to Columbia Ridge Landfill, 
not Riverbend.  However, Riverbend serves as a back-up for these facilities whenever the Columbia 
Gorge is closed due weather problems or other emergency situations.  Metro’s transfer stations have 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4570 
Page 4 of 5 

not delivered waste to Riverbend since 2007.  Troutdale Transfer Station has delivered approximately 
489 tons of waste to Riverbend within the last two calendar years. 
 
Other Government Decisions  
Numerous governments are involved in the decision and oversight of landfills during consideration of a 
landfill expansion.  Following is brief summary of the two entities primarily responsible for decisions 
regarding aspects of the landfill expansion: 
 
• Yamhill County.   As part of its authorization process for NSLs and DFAs, Metro asks the local host 

government whether the destination facility is in compliance with local laws and whether it has any 
issues, concerns, or objections to the delivery of Metro-area waste to the disposal site within its 
jurisdiction.  Yamhill County is responsible for local land use decisions regarding the landfill.  The 
County has informed Metro that the landfill is in compliance with state and local requirements and 
there is minimal risk of future environmental contamination at the site.  See a fuller discussion in the 
staff report and see Attachment 2 for copies of relevant letters from the county.  
 
In June 2012, Yamhill County entered into a new five-year licensing agreement with Riverbend 
which replaced the previous agreement from 1994.   The term of the County’s new agreement 
became effective on July 1, 2012 and extends beyond the two-year term of this proposed NSL 
renewal.  The new agreement increases fees, based on volume, paid to the county and could 
increase County revenue by 60 percent based on previous waste disposal volumes.  The County has 
also recently determined that both the short-term expansion (berm) and longer-term expansion 
(horizontal expansion) of the landfill are outright allowable uses under its land use designation 
authority. 
 
Waste Management submitted a Site Design Review Application and a Floodplain Development 
Permit Application to the County on November 5, 2014.  Yamhill County staff will review the 
applications for compliance with its requirements.  Waste Management has already conducted a 
public meeting to explain the plan on November 11, 2014.  The County’s Planning Commission will 
hold a public hearing on December 4 and is expected to vote on the plan at its January 8, 2015 
meeting.  Once findings are written and adopted, the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners will 
review the plan and recommendation.  The Board is expected to make its decision during the spring 
of 2015.  It is expected that the Board’s decision will be appealed to the Land Use Board of Appeals 
(LUBA). 

 
• DEQ.  The chief agency responsible for permitting and environmental oversight of the landfill, DEQ 

must also approve any expansion at Riverbend as well as continually monitor the landfill’s 
environmental performance and compliance.  DEQ will begin its review of Waste Management’s 
expansion application for the proposed 37-acre lateral expansion once Yamhill County has rendered 
a site design review decision.  It is not clear what the key issues regarding the expansion proposal 
will be for DEQ.  During the approval of the MSE berm, issues regarding seismic stability and flood 
way/flood plain boundaries were raised as issues previously.  DEQ originally received the application 
for a large lateral expansion in 2009 which was subsequently withdrawn.  DEQ’s decisions on the 
landfill expansions typically are subject to a minimum 35-day public comment period and will most 
certainly involve a public hearing.   



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4570 
Page 5 of 5 

 
Impact of Landfill Closure or Waste Diversion 
If Metro-area solid waste could no longer be delivered to Riverbend for disposal for whatever reason, at 
2011 levels at least 208,000 tons of putrescible waste would ultimately have to be shifted to the 
Columbia Ridge Landfill each year under Metro’s disposal contract.  Each round trip to Columbia Ridge 
Landfill is 280 miles longer, on average, than current trips to Riverbend. This increase in transport time 
and distance would increase costs and reduce environmental sustainability in the region.  The costs 
resulting from a longer transport distance would result in the majority of increase in costs and 
environmental impact by increased carbon emissions.  The additional transport cost would be about $5 
million per year based on 2011 estimates.  This translates to an average increase of almost $24 on each 
ton shifted to Columbia Ridge Landfill from Riverbend.  Ratepayers in Washington County and northwest 
Clackamas County would bear virtually all of the cost and residential ratepayers in these counties could 
see increases of $1.40 to $1.80 per month on their garbage bills if the increases were passed along to 
the consumer. 
 
Summary 
The future long-term capacity of Riverbend and any decisions that might impact its expansion are 
relevant to Metro’s decision to allow solid waste to be disposed at the landfill.  It is a factor that will be 
continually monitored by staff.  Capacity limitations do not appear to impinge on the landfill’s ability to 
accept Metro-area waste from the current group of NSLs under consideration by Metro Council during 
the next two-year cycle – through 2016.  Metro has generally regarded these requests from the private 
sector as a market decision – provided that the: 1) use of such disposal sites does not violate Metro 
Code or any of Metro’s waste-related contracts, 2) appropriate Regional System Fee and Excise Tax is 
remitted to Metro for the waste delivered to the disposal site, and 3) receiving disposal site is 
appropriately authorized and allowed to operate by the relevant local and state regulatory authorities   
Metro has the authority to modify, suspend, or terminate its NSLs at any time if the landfill’s capacity 
becomes constrained or if Yamhill County requests that Metro restrict the flow of solid waste away from 
Riverbend. 
 



Attachment 2 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4571 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 2 includes comment letters received by Metro from local governments regarding 
Riverbend Landfill.  The following are included in this attachment: 

 

• Letter from Sherrie Mathison, Yamhill County Solid Waste, addressed to Roy W. Brower, 
Metro, dated October 22, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Yamhill County Board of Commissioners addressed to the Metro Council 
dated November 13, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Richard J. Olson, Mayor of City of McMinniville, addressed to the Yamhill 
County Board of Commissioners dated January 27, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Kent L. Taylor, City Manager of City of McMinniville, addressed to Roy W. 
Brower, Metro, dated September 10, 2014. 

 



 

 
Yamhill County Solid Waste 

525 NE 4th Street 
McMinnville, OR 97128 

YCSW Hotline: (503) 434-7445 
Fax: 503-434-7544 

www.ycsw.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October 22, 2014 
 
 
Roy W. Bower, Manager 
Solid Waste Compliance & Cleanup 
Metro 
600 NE Grand Ave 
Portland, Oregon 97232 
 
 
Re: Non-System License Renewal Applications to Transport Metro-Area Solid Waste to Riverbend Landfill 
 
 
Dear Roy, 
Your letter of September 9, 2014, asks if Yamhill County would have any issues with the renewal of Non-
System Licenses (“NSLs”) currently taking waste to Riverbend Landfill Incorporated (RLI).  
 
The license agreement Yamhill County has with Riverbend Landfill has allowances for out of county waste. 
Riverbend Landfill continues to make plans for the tonnages they accept both in county and out of county. 
 
Yamhill County does not have issues with the acceptance by Riverbend Landfill of this waste from the NSLs. 
 
I would also like to report that RLI has a history of operating in compliance with the Yamhill County license 
agreement and their DEQ permitting. Working under a Title V permit helps to assure the county environmental 
issues are dealt with in the everyday working of the landfill. It has been the experience over the past several 
years that RLI management has kept Yamhill County informed of any significant issues related to their day-to-
day operation.  
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me at 503-434-7445 if you have further questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Sherrie Mathison 
Yamhill County  
Solid Waste 

 

 printed on recycled paper, 25% post-consumer content 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

KATHY GEORGE· ALLEN SPruNGER· MARy STARRETT 

November 13, 2014 

535 NE Fifth Street· McMinnville, OR 97128-4523 
(503) 434-7501 0 Fax (503) 434-7553 

TTY (800) 735-2900 0 www. co.yamhill.or.us 

The Honorable Tom Hughes, Metro Council President 
The Honorable Shirley Craddick, Metro Councilor District 1 
The Honorable Carlotta Collette, Metro Councilor District 2 
The Honorable Craig Dirksen, Metro Councilor District 3 
The Honorable Katherine Harrington, Metro Councilor District 4 
The Honorable Sam Chase, Metro Councilor District 5 
The Honorable Robelt Stacey, Metro Councilor District 6 

Dear President Hughes and Metro Councilors: 

Thank you for requesting comment from Yamhill County regarding the renewal of the non-system license for the 
transpOlt of Metro-area solid waste to Riverbend Landfill . 

Yamhill County Solid Waste Coordinator Sherrie Mathi son has already provided input regarding factors set forth in Metro 
Code 5.05.035. The Yamhill County Commissioners would like to provide additional input. 

Riverbend has a histOlY of operating in compliance with the County and DEQ requirements - including meeting the 
requirements of the County licensing agreement and the regulatory requirements related to environmental protections. As 
a result of this, in 2012 the Board of Commissioners demonstrated their commitment to Riverbend 's continued operation 
by renewing the facility's licensing agreement for a five year term. This was extended through the approval ofa zone 
change in 2014 allowing for Riverbend to submit a detailed expansion application. 

Through the intervening years, Waste Management has demonstrated a commitment to work in partnership with the 
County as shown through their attention to ideas from citizens in the community and requests from the commissioners. 
Thi s includes a requirement for development of a landfill alternative ("green technology") on the Riverbend propelty, and 
ongoing operational improvements in response to community feedback . Additionally, Waste Management and Riverbend 
have demonstrated a commitment to waste reduction by sign ificantly increasing waste diversion at the WM-Newberg 
Transfer Station and the implementation of a new million dollar public recycling center at Riverbend. Finally, 
Riverbend 's community-driven Stewardship Plan to allow for 450 acres of its land to benefit the community has led to the 
expected 2015 launch of the Community Farm Collaboration which will provide land, mentoring and resources to help 
small farmers' success and educate the public about the value of community food systems. 

The Yamhill County Board of Commissioners offers this input to the Metro Council as we move forward in this 
partnership with Waste Management and Riverbend Landfill. 

Sincerely, 

Kathy George 
Vice-Chair 

MalY Starrett 
Commiss ioner 



230 NE Second Street • McMinnville, Oregon 97128-4831 • www.ci.mcminnville.or.us 

September 10, 2014 

Metro 
600 NE Grand Avenue 
Portland OR 97232-2736 

ATTN: RoyW. Bower 
Solid Waste Compliance and Cleanup Manager 

RE: Non-System License Renewal Applications to Transport Metro-Area Solid 
Waste to Riverbend Landfill 

Dear Mr. Bower: 

Thank you for the opportunity given to the City of McMinnville to comment on the 
proposed renewal of various Metro-issued Non-System Licenses. Simply put, METRO's 
renewal of the NSL's involving hauling of solid waste to Riverbend Landfill would be 
inconsistent with the City of McMinnville'S position on the future of Riverbend Landfill. 

In January of this year the Mayor, on behalf of the McMinnville City Council, sent a letter 
to the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners, in which the City stated its concerns 
over Riverbend Landfill, including the importation of solid waste. The letter states that 
the City does not see continued operation of Riverbend Landfill as being in the best 
interests of the community for the long term. A copy of that letter is attached. 

The City of McMinnville understands that it has no jurisdiction over Riverbend Landfill 
and is providing this input as part of the public testimony to be received. 

Sincerely, 

~~ 
Kent L. Taylor 
City Manager 

cc: Mayor and City Council 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 

Office of the City Manager (503) 434-7302 FAX (503) 472-4104 



230 NE Second Street • McMinnville, Oregon 97128-4831 • www.ci.mcminnville.or.us 

January 27,2014 

Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 
434 NE Evans Street 
McMinnville OR 97128 

RE: Riverbend Landfill 

Dear Chair Stern and Commissioners: 

I am writing on behalf of the McMinnville City Council. First, we would like to recognize 
the very difficult position you are in with regard to decision-making on landfill issues like 
that involving Riverbend Landfill. The voices from both sides of the issue are many and 
come from very organized fronts and developed positions on the matter. The 
McMinnville City Council recognizes that the legally required task of applying relevant 
land-use criteria to a land-use decision and the testimony you hear is a very real 
challenge. 

Given that the County Planning Commission voted to recommend against the zone 
change proposed by Waste Management, Inc. and the County Planning Director's 
neutral statement that there was sufficient evidence and testimony presented to support 
either approval or denial, we had hoped to see a vote for denial of the zone change. 
We are pleased that there is a condition attached that requires some form of green 
technology facility to be initiated at the site within seven years. We look forward to 
hearing more of what the details are to this condition and hope that implementation of 
such technology will begin sooner than later and the implementation and startup will be 
within the seven-year period. 

Over the past several years the McMinnville City Council has grown increasingly 
concerned that continued operation and growth of the Riverbend Landfill are contrary to 
sustaining a high quality of life for the current and future citizens and children of 
McMinnville. The concerns and objections that we have increasingly heard from a 
range of our constituents can be summarized as follows: 



2 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners January 27, 2014 

• Negative impacts on the quality of life - Much of the year McMinnville is 
downwind of the landfill. Despite efforts to control odors, the landfill odor can still 
be smelled in many different parts of McMinnville. This is particularly an issue on 
the south and west sides of the City. Outdoor activities are negatively affected. 
McMinnville's residents and visitors are frequent users of Highway 18, and the 
size and height of the landfill have grown substantially over the years - more 
than anyone ever imagined. Tree barriers and earthen berms have had little 
impact on what is more and more often referred to as a significant "eyesore." 
Increasing large truck traffic on the City's perimeter roads, such as Lafayette 
Avenue and surrounding highways, being used by haulers of imported garbage is 
also generating increased complaints and concerns. The substantial increase in 
the volume of garbage being imported has also increased highway litter. 
Despite good faith efforts to control it, the amount of litter seems to be increasing 
rather than subsiding. 

• Negative impacts on a growing tourism sector of the local economy -
Simply put, the negative quality of life impacts discussed above are not 
consistent with the effort to grow the City's and the County's tourism economy, 
one centered on the wine industry, and are having a major impact on the 
Council's vision of McMinnville in the future. There is a growing sense that we 
could soon reach a tipping point, and the growth in the tourism sector begins to 
flatten or diminish as potential visitors choose to avoid the negative conditions. 
The International Pinot Noir Celebration (IPNC), held annually at Linfield College, 
is a world-class event, drawing industry representatives and visitors from around 
the world. Representatives from the IPNC have expressed their concerns about 
the landfill's negative impacts on the future viability of the Linfield outdoor venue. 
The loss of these types of events, along with other major tourism events and 
venues, more than likely would have a negative impact on the County's agri
tourism effort and McMinnville's tourism-related businesses. 

• Environmental & public health concerns - While the technical experts can 
battle the specifics of how large and when it will occur, there seems to be very 
little disagreement that a large-scale Cascadia subduction zone earthquake is in 
northwest Oregon's future. The age of the landfill, its original construction 
techniques and codes, and its proximity to the South Yamhill River give rise to 
citizen concerns about the potential environmental damage and threats to public 
health that could arise when such an earthquake occurs. The South Yamhill 
River flows along the easterly edge of McMinnville. While not an issue directly 
affecting City residents, they express concern about long-term groundwater 
impacts due to landfill leachate leaking below the surface. 

• Importation of solid waste from outside Yamhill County -Importation of 
huge volumes of garbage exacerbate the problems discussed above and have 
reduced the life of the landfill. What was once envisioned as a small county 
landfill has become a large regional landfill receiving refuse from not only Yamhill 
County but from all of northwest Oregon, including the Portland Metropolitan 

(503) 435-5701 
Office of the Mayor 

mayor@ci.mcminnville.or.us FPJ«503)472-4104 



3 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners January 27, 2014 

area. As the need for additional landfill disposal continues to increase in areas 
outside of Yamhill County. it is a concern that the anticipated 20 years of 
additional capacity that expansion would bring would be recognized in a much 
shorter period of time. Although the Council recognizes that there may be trade
offs in garbage rates for less volume, parties on both sides of the issue have 
difficulty stating exactly what that rate would be if Riverbend is not expanded. 

In summary. the City Council does not envision Riverbend Landfill being part of our 
vision for a vibrant McMinnville and Yamhill County for the long term. As we move 
forward together, it is our hope that: implementation and construction of a viable green 
techno!ogy alternative takes place as soon as is possible; that VVaste Management 
significantly reduces the amount of garbage that is imported to the landfill from outside 
of Yamhill County; that proactive steps to abate the odor and litter problems be put on a 
fast track; that the County and the Riverbend operator support increased efforts to 
reduce the amount of local solid waste entering the waste stream in the first place. And, 
finally, with regard to the last item, we hope County solid waste revenues will be 
allocated to help develop and administer this waste reduction effort and that Waste 
Management, Inc. will support it, working with other local partners such as Recology. 

Sincerely, 

Richard J. ("Rick") Olson 
Mayor 

(503) 435-5701 
Office of the Mayor 

mayor@ci.mcminnville.or.us FAX (503) 472-4104 



Attachment 3 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4571 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3 includes pre-enforcement notices issued by the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality (DEQ) and related correspondence regarding Riverbend Landfill.  The 
following are included in this attachment: 

 

• Pre-Enforcement Notice from Bob Schwarz, DEQ, addressed to James L. Denson Jr., 
Waste Management, dated March 17, 2014. 
 

• Letter from James L. Denson Jr., Waste Management, addressed to Bob Schwarz, DEQ, 
dated March 28, 2014. 
 

• Pre-Enforcement Notice from Mark Riedel-Bash, DEQ, addressed to Paul Burns, Waste 
Management, dated November 3, 2014. 



regon 
John A Kitzhaber, MD, Governor 

James 1. Denson Jr. 
Oregon Environmental Protection Manager 
Waste Management 
7227 NE 55th Ave. 
Portland, OR 97218 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice 
Ri verb end Landfill 
PEN - LQ-ERD-2014-0020 
Solid Waste Disposal Site Permit # 345 
Yamhill County 

Dear Mr. Denson: 

Department of Environmental Quality 
Eastern Region-The Dalles Office 

400 East Scenic Drive, Suite 307 
The Dalles, OR 97058 

(541) 298-7255 
March 17, 2014 FAX (541) 298-7330 

During a January 28,2014 inspection, DEQ inspectors and landfill personnel observed leachate 
escaping from the north side of the landfill. This leachate migrated beyond the perimeter of the 
landfill, but did not appear to travel far from the landfill perimeter. Waste Management 
concluded that this release was the result of an old perimeter French drain that was clogged as 
the result of recent construction of a storm water diversion swale. The drain had been installed 
during construction of the cell to convey leachate to the leachate collection line that runs to the 
onsite leachate storage pond. 

Later that day, the site engineer directed the landfill contractor to remove all drain rock from the 
French drain along that portion beneath the stormwater diversion berm. Between January 28 and 
29, this rock was removed and the area was backfilled with compacted clay. Four vertical 12-
inch sump pipes were installed and backfilled with drain rock. Soil limn the impacted area north 
of the landfill was sampled on January 29. Soil impacted by the leachate release was then 
excavated, and a vactor truck was used to remove standing storm water that may have been 
contaminated by the release. Soil from this area was resampled on January 31. Results were 
provided in a technical memorandum dated March 14, 2014. These results indicate that residual 
contaminant concentrations are below safe levels. 

On February 10,2014, landfill personnel observed leachate escaping from the landfill's northern 
bOlmdary. Waste Management reported this leachate release to the DEQ on February 10 and 
stated that this leachate reached a creek approximately 300 feet from the landfill. This leachate 
release was near but not related to the release first observed on January 28. This leachate was 
primarily liquid that had collected in the landfill ' s gas extraction wells . To keep the extraction 
wells working properly, this leachate is routinely pumped from the wells to three 21,000-gallon 
storage tanks near the north side of the landfill. This leachate is leept separate from the majority 
ofthe landfill's leachate, which is pumped to the onsite leachate pond. The reason for this 
separation is that leachate associated with the gas extraction wells is more concentrated than the 
rest of the landfill leachate, and is therefore sent to a different offsite facility for treatment and 



Page 2 of3 

disposal. The Department conducted an inspection on February 13,2014 to document the release 
and the actions taken to address the release. 

Impacts to the creek were evaluated in a March 11, 2014 report prepared by Waste 
Management's consultant. The report concludes that "No mortality of aquatic flora or fauna was 
observed during either site visit [conducted on February 12 and 21, 2014]. Overall, the impact to 
aquatic biota was estimated to be minimal on the basis of the high flows of the unnamed creek 
and the South Yamhill River, and the comparison to aquatic water quality criteria and human 
health criteria." 

Impacts to the area between the landfill and the creek are also being investigated. Waste 
Management has not yet provided results of that investigation to DEQ. 

Based upon DEQ's observations and infonnation provided by you regarding your facility, the 
Department has concluded that Waste Management is responsible for the following violations of 
Oregon enviromnentallaw: 

VIOLATIONS: 

1) The leachate seep found on January 28, 2014 was a violation of Section 9.9 of Riverbend 
Landfill's Solid Waste Disposal Facility pennit, which states that "Leachate must be 
prevented from escaping to local drainage ways and to other unlined areas of the site." 
This is a Class 2 violation. 

2) The leachate release that occurred on February 10,2014 was a violation of ORS 
468B.02S(1): "Except as provided in ORS 468B.OSO or 468B.OS3, no person shall: 

(a) Cause pollution of any waters of the state or place or cause to be placed any wastes in 
a location where such wastes are likely to escape or be carried into the waters of the state 
by any means." This is a Class 1 violation. 

Class I violations are the most serious violations; Class III violations are the least serious. 

CORRECTIVE ACTIONS REQUESTED: 

1. Effective immediately, inspect the entire perimeter of the landfill daily for leachate seeps. 
Particular attention is essential during periods of heavy or prolonged precipitation. Any 
problems noted must be reported to DEQ within 24 hours. 

2. Submit the report now being prepared concerning impacts to the area between the landfill 
and the creek. This report must be submitted by Friday, March 21, 2014. 

3. Prepare a report that identifies what measures have already been taken and what additional 
measures will be taken, along with a schedule for implementation of those measures to avoid 
these problems in the future. This report must be submitted by Friday, March 28,2014. 

o 
lJEQ.OU 



Page 3 of3 

The violations cited above posed the risk of significant environmental hann and the matter is being 
referred to the Depmiment's Office of Compliance and Enforcement for formal enforcement action. 
Formal enforcement action may result in assessment of civil penalties and/or a Depmiment order. A 
formal enforcement action may include a civil penalty assessment for each day of violation. 

If you believe any of the facts in this Pre-Enforcement Notice me in error, you may provide written 
information to me at the address shown at the top of the letter. The Depmiment will consider new 
information you submit and take appropriate action. 

The Department intends to assist you in your compliance efforts. Should you have any questions 
about the content of this letter, feel free contact me in writing or by phone at 541-298-7255 x230. 

Sincerely, 

~~ ... 
Bob Schwarz, PE 
Permit Engineer 

Copy: Office of Compliance and Enforcement, DEQ Headqumiers 

o 
IkQ.[)(I 



J a m e s  L  D e n s o n  J r .
7 2 2 7  N E  5 5 t h  A v e

P o r t l a n d  O R ,  9 7 2 1 8

( 6 0 2 )  7 5 7 - 3 3 5 2
F A X  7 1 3 - 2 8 6 - 7 4 0 6

20140328 RBLF PEN Response Draft (3/28/2014) 

March 28, 2014          VIA U.S. MAIL & E-MAIL 

Bob Schwartz P.E. 
Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 
Eastern Region-The Dalles Office 
400 East Scenic Drive, Suite 307 
The Dalles, OR 97058 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice Riverbend Landfill 
PEN - LQ-ERD-2014-0020 
Solid Waste Disposal Site Permit # 345 

Dear Mr. Schwartz: 

Riverbend Landfill Co. (RBLF) in compliance with the March 17th, 2014 ODEQ Pre-Enforcement 
Notice (PEN) is submitting this report addressing PEN Requested Corrective Action item # 3 that 
requires RBLF to  identify “what measures have already been taken and what additional measures will 
be taken, along with a schedule for implementation of those measures to avoid these problems in the 
future”.

This report outlines the corrective actions taken by RBLF to manage the re-occurrence of leachate 
migrating past the landfill boundary. 

Actions Completed to date; 
1. Removed 150 feet of existing French drain trench and piping underneath stormwater control 

berm, backfilled trench and installed Four (4) sumps that extend 1 foot below perimeter road 
elevation. 

2. Reinstalled and extended existing stormwater control berm at toe of  North Slope  
3. Excavated impacted soils outside of  landfill footprint from the Jan 28th seep incident and 

repaired impacted area.   
4. Implemented post mitigation observations of the area multiple times per day to ensure no 

additional leachate seeps occurred in the area and mitigation measures were effective. 
5. As a result of the Feb 19th Seep event; vacuumed impacted area between landfill and creek 

removed approx. 12k gallons of leachate/snowmelt mixture and properly disposed. 
6. Implemented post mitigation observations of the area each day to ensure no additional leachate 

seeps are occurring in the area. 
7. Installed 250 feet of diversion berm at toe of North Slope and installed two (2) collection sumps. 
8. Installed North Leachate tank overfill alarms with auto dialer 
9. Installed North Tank Leachate tank bypass line to leachate pond 
10. Placed additional 7,000 yards of cover soils on North slope 
11. Initiated and finalized third party creek impact assessment, assessment indicated no impacts to 

wildlife or the environment 
12. Initiated third party soils assessment for impacted soils in the between the landfill and the creek. 



March 28, 2014

- 2 - 

Actions in process; 
1. Finalize impacted soils assessment by SCS with recommendations. Due April 1st

2. Placing additional 15,000 yards of cover soils on North Slope to achieve 24” cover soil 
thickness on entire North Slope. Placement of the remainder of the cover will be completed by 
May 30th , weather permitting.  

3. Add fourth 22K storage tank to North Leachate tank area. Planned for installation by May 30th

weather permitting. 

We appreciate the opportunity to respond to with the actions taken on this issue. RBLF believes 
that the actions outlined above have served to; 

� Identify all potential impacts to the environment as a result of the two incidents, and 
� Significantly increased the margin of safety for ensuring the events identified in the PEN 

do not re-occur. 

Thank you again for your assistance with this important issue. If you have any questions or 
concerns, please feel free to contact me at (602) 757-3352 or by email at jdenson@wm.com . 

Sincerely,

James Denson 
          Oregon Environmental Protection Manager 

CC

 Facility File 
Lissa Druback, ODEQ via E-mail 

Sincerely,



regon 
John A. Kitzhaber, MDI Governor 

Certified Mail: 7014 120000003483 0878 

November 3,2014 

Paul Bums 
Riverbend Landfill Co. 
13469 SW Highway 18 
McMinnville, OR 97218 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice 
File Number: 106959 
WQ/SW -PEN-WRE-20 14-0074 
Common Name: Riverbend Landfill 
YamhiII County 

Dear Mr. Bums: 

. Deparhnent of Environmental Quality 
Western Region Eugene ?ffice 

165 East 7th Avenue, Suite 100 
Eugene, OR 97401 

(541) 686-7838 
FAX (541) 686-7551 

TTY 711 

The Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) reviewed the 2013-2014 Dischal'ge Monitoring Report 
for Riverbend Landfill Co. In this DMR, you reported exceeding the daily maximum limit for total zinc. 
It also appears that you were unable to perfonn the requITed follow-up monitoring in Schedule B.2. e. iii 
due to a lack bf discharge at Outfall 2. 

DEQ has concluded that this facility is responsible for the following violation of Oregon EnvITomnental 
Law: 

VIOLATION(S) 
Oregon Revised Statnte 468B.025(2) reqUITes compliance with DEQ pennits. The reported concentration 
of total zinc on May 9, 2014 was 0.42 mgIL. This discharge level exceeds the permit numeric effluent 
limit of 0.20 mgIL (permit Schedule A.2) by 50 percent or more. This is a Class I violation in accordance 
with OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k)(A). Class I violations are considered to be the most serious, and Class III. 
violations are the least serious. 

CORRECTNE ACTIONeS): 
If you have not already perfonned the reqUITed follow up monitoring in Schedule B.2.e.iii of the pennit, 
please perfOlID the follow up sampling and, if necessary, submit an exceedance report in accordance with 
Schedule B.9 of the permit within 60 days. 

Schedule B.2.e.iii requITes that the pel1l)ittee conduct follow-up monitoring of any pollutant that exceeds 
the numeric effluent limit(s) within 30 days (or during the next measurable stonn event should none occur 
withiu 30 days) of receiving the monitoring results. 

Exceeding total zinc pennit limits can negatively impact stream habitat and aquatic species. Therefore, 
the violation listed above has heen referred to DEQ's Office of Compliance and Enforcement for fonnal 
enforcement action, which may include assessment of civil penalties and/or issuance of a Department 
Order. A fonnal enforcement action may include a civil penalty assessment for each day of violation. 



If you believe any of the facts in this Pre-Enforcement Notice are in error, you may provide written 
information to me at the address shown at the top of the letter. DEQ will consider neW infOlmation you 
submit aud take appropriate action. 

DEQ endeavors to assist you in your compliauce efforts. Should you have auy questions about the couteut of 
this letter or if you desire auy follow-up techuical assistauce, feel free contact to me in writing or by phone at 
(541) 687-7343. 

Sincerely, 

Mark Riedel-Bash, RG 
Stormwater Specialist 

cc: Source File - DEQ Eugene 
Zach Loboy, Water Quality Manager - DEQ Eugene Office 
Denise Miller- DEQ Eugene 
Office of Compliauce aud Enforcement- DEQ Headquarters 



BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF 
OPERATING OFFICER TO ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM 
LICENSE TO WILLAMETTE RESOURCES, INC. FOR DELIVERY 
AND DISPOSAL OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE AT THE 
RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, 
OREGON 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION NO.  14-4570A 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating 
Officer Martha Bennett in 
concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes 

 
WHEREAS, the Metro Code requires a non-system license of any person that delivers solid waste 

generated from within the Metro Region to a non-system disposal facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Willamette Resources, Inc. (“WRI”) holds Metro Solid Waste Facility Non-System 
License No. N-005-13, which expires on December 31, 2014; and   
 

WHEREAS, WRI has filed a complete application seeking renewal of the non-system license to 
deliver putrescible waste to the Riverbend Landfill for disposal under the provisions of Metro Code 
Chapter 5.05, “Solid Waste Flow Control;” and 

WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 5.05 provides that applications for non-system licenses for 
putrescible waste shall be reviewed by the Chief Operating Officer and are subject to approval or denial 
by the Metro Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer has analyzed the application and considered the relevant 

factors under the Metro Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, Riverbend Landfill is in the process of seeking expansion of the landfill to increase 

capacity by approximately 15 years; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Metro Council finds that disposing of putrescible waste generated within the 

Metro region in Riverbend Landfill after 2016 may not be in the best interests of the region; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer recommends that the non-system license be renewed 
together with specific conditions as provided in this Resolution and Exhibit A to this Resolution; now 
therefore, 
 

THE METRO COUNCIL RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The non-system license renewal application of WRI is approved subject to the terms, conditions, 
and limitations contained in this Resolution and Exhibit A to this Resolution. 
 

2. The Chief Operating Officer is authorized to issue to WRI a renewed Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License substantially similar to the one attached as Exhibit A. 
  

2.3. The Chief Operating Officer should consider any future application to send putrescible waste to 
Riverbend Landfill as a new application, not a renewal, and should evaluate landfill capacity 
when determining whether a non-system license should be issued.  
 

 
 
 



ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ____ day of _______, 2014. 
 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
 Tom Hughes, Council President 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



Agenda Item No. 4.6  

 
 
 
 

Resolution No. 14-4571, For the Purpose of Authorizing the 
Chief Operating Officer to Issue a Renewed Non-System License 

to Forest Grove Transfer Station for Delivery of Putrescible 
Waste to the Riverbend Landfill in Yamhill County  

 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTIONS  
 

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



 
WJ:bjl 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\FGTS\FGTS NSL\N-010-15\FGTS_RES_14-4571.docx 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF 
OPERATING OFFICER TO ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM 
LICENSE TO FOREST GROVE TRANSFER STATION FOR 
DELIVERY AND DISPOSAL OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE AT THE 
RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, 
OREGON 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION NO.  14-4571 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating 
Officer Martha Bennett in 
concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes  

 
WHEREAS, the Metro Code requires a non-system license of any person that delivers solid waste 

generated from within the Metro Region to a non-system disposal facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Forest Grove Transfer Station (“FGTS”) holds Metro Solid Waste Facility Non-System 
License No. N-010-13A, which expires on December 31, 2014; and   
 

WHEREAS, FGTS has filed a complete application seeking renewal of the non-system license to 
deliver putrescible waste to the Riverbend Landfill for disposal under the provisions of Metro Code Chapter 
5.05, “Solid Waste Flow Control;” and 

WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 5.05 provides that applications for non-system licenses for 
putrescible waste shall be reviewed by the Chief Operating Officer and are subject to approval or denial by 
the Metro Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer has analyzed the application and considered the relevant 

factors under the Metro Code; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer recommends that the non-system license be renewed 
together with specific conditions as provided in Exhibit A to this Resolution; now therefore, 
 

THE METRO COUNCIL RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The non-system license renewal application of FGTS is approved subject to the terms, conditions, 
and limitations contained in Exhibit A to this Resolution. 
 

2. The Chief Operating Officer is authorized to issue to FGTS a renewed Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License substantially similar to the one attached as Exhibit A. 

 
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ____ day of _______, 2014. 
 
 

 __________________________________ 
 Tom Hughes, Council President 
 

Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4571 

 

600 NORTHEAST GRAND AVENUE PORTLAND, OREGON 97232 2736 
TEL 503 797 1835   FAX 503 813 7544 

 

 
METRO SOLID WASTE FACILITY  

NON-SYSTEM LICENSE 
 

No. N-010-15 
 

LICENSEE: 

Waste Management of Oregon, Inc. 
dba Forest Grove Transfer Station 
1525 B Street 
Forest Grove, OR 97116 

CONTACT PERSON: 

Kirk Duncan 
Phone: (503) 992-3015 
Fax:      (503) 357-4822 
E-mail:  kduncan2@wm.com  

MAILING ADDRESS: 

Forest Grove Transfer Station 
1525 B Street 
Forest Grove, OR 97116 

 
 
 
 
ISSUED BY METRO: 
 
 
 
 
   
Scott Robinson, Deputy Chief Operating Officer  Date 
 
 

mailto:kduncan2@wm.com


Forest Grove Transfer Station 
  Non-System License No. N-010-15 
  Page 2 of 5 

 

 

 

1 NATURE OF WASTE COVERED BY LICENSE 
 Putrescible solid waste generated within the Metro boundary and received at 

Forest Grove Transfer Station in accordance with Metro Solid Waste Facility 
Franchise No. F-004-08A. 

 

2 CALENDAR YEAR TONNAGE LIMITATION 
 Licensee is authorized to deliver to the non-system facility described in Section 

3 of this license up to 125,000 tons per calendar year of the waste described in 
Section 1 of this license.  This license does not increase the total tonnage that 
the Licensee is authorized to accept under Metro Solid Waste Facility Franchise 
No. F-004-08A. 

 

3 NON-SYSTEM FACILITY 
 The Licensee hereunder is authorized to deliver the waste described above in 

Section 1 to the following non-system facility: 
Riverbend Landfill 
13469 SW Highway 18 
McMinnville, OR 97128 

This license is issued on condition that the non-system facility named in this 
section is authorized to accept the type of waste described in Section 1.  If 
Metro receives notice from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality or 
local regulatory authority that this non-system facility is not authorized to accept 
such waste, Metro may immediately terminate this license pursuant to Section 7 
of this license. 

 

4 TERM OF LICENSE 
 The term of this license will commence on January 1, 2015 and expire at 

midnight on December 31, 2016, unless terminated sooner under Section 7 of 
this license.   

 

5 REPORTING OF ACCIDENTS AND CITATIONS 

 Licensee shall report to Metro any significant incidents (such as fires), 
accidents, and citations involving vehicles transporting the solid waste 
authorized by this license. 

 
  



  Forest Grove Transfer Station 
  Non-System License No. N-010-15 
  Page 3 of 5 

 

 

 

6 RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING 

 (a) The Licensee shall keep and maintain accurate records of the amount of 
all solid waste that the Licensee delivers to the non-system facility 
described in Section 3 of this license.  The Licensee shall keep and 
maintain complete and accurate records of the following for all 
transactions with the authorized non-system facility: 

i. Ticket or weight slip number from the non-system facility; 
ii. Material category designating the type of material transferred to 

the non-system facility; 
iii. Date the load was transferred to the non-system facility; 
iv. Time the load was transferred to the non-system facility; 
v. Net weight of the load; and 
vi. Fee charged by the non-system facility 

(b) No later than the fifteenth (15th) day of each month, beginning with the 
first month following the commencement date of this license, Licensee 
shall:  

i. Transmit the records required under Section 6(a) above to Metro 
in an electronic format prescribed by Metro; 

ii. Submit to Metro a Regional System Fee and Excise Tax Report, 
that covers the preceding month; and 

iii. Remit to Metro the requisite Regional System Fees and Excise 
Tax in accordance with the Metro Code provisions applicable to 
the collection, payment, and accounting of such fees and taxes. 

(c) Licensee shall make all records from which Sections 6(a) and 6(b) above 
are derived available to Metro (or Metro’s designated agent) for its 
inspection or copying, as long as Metro provides no less than three (3) 
business days written notice of an intent to inspect or copy documents.  
Licensee shall, in addition, sign or otherwise provide to Metro any 
consent or waiver necessary for Metro to obtain information or data from 
a third party, including the non-system facility named in Section 3, above. 

 

7 ADDITIONAL LICENSE CONDITIONS 

 This license shall be subject to the following conditions: 
(a) The permissive transfer of solid waste to the non-system facility, listed in 

Section 3, authorized by this license shall be subordinate to any 
subsequent decision by Metro to direct the solid waste described in this 
license to any other facility. 

(b) This license shall be subject to amendment, modification, or termination 



  Forest Grove Transfer Station 
  Non-System License No. N-010-15 
  Page 4 of 5 

 

 

by Metro’s Chief Operating Officer (the “COO”) in the event that the COO 
determines that: 

i. There has been sufficient change in any circumstances under 
which Metro issued this license; 

ii. The provisions of this license are actually or potentially in conflict 
with any provision in Metro’s disposal contract with Waste 
Management Disposal Services of Oregon, Inc., dba Oregon 
Waste Systems, Inc.; 

iii. Metro’s solid waste system or the public will benefit from, and will 
be better served by, an order directing that the waste described in 
Section 1 of this license be transferred to, and disposed of at, a 
facility other than the facilities listed in Section 3; or 

iv. There has been a change in the amount of tonnage that the 
Licensee is authorized to accept under Solid Waste Facility 
Franchise No. F-004-08A.  In the event that Metro amends the 
tonnage authorization stipulated in the facility’s franchise, the COO 
may amend Section 2 of this license to match the same calendar 
year tonnage limitation stipulated in the franchise. 

(c) This license shall, in addition to subsections (b)(i) through (b)(iv), 
above, be subject to amendment, modification, suspension, or 
termination pursuant to the Metro Code. 

(d) The Licensee shall not transfer or assign any right or interest in this 
license without prior written notification to, and approval of, Metro. 

(e) This license shall terminate upon the execution of a designated facility 
agreement with the facility listed in Section 3 that authorizes the 
facility to accept the waste described in Section 1 of this license. 

(f) This license authorizes the delivery of solid waste to the facility listed 
in Section 3.  Transfer of waste generated from within the Metro 
boundary to any non-system facility other than that specified in this 
license is prohibited unless authorized in writing by Metro. 

(g) If the Licensee exceeds the calendar year limitation set forth in 
Section 2 of this license, each ton or portion thereof by which the 
Licensee exceeds the limitation constitutes a separate violation 
subject to a penalty of up to $500. 

 

8 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 
 Licensee shall fully comply with all applicable local, regional, state and federal 

laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, orders, and permits pertaining in any 
manner to this license, including all applicable Metro Code provisions and 
administrative procedures adopted pursuant to Chapter 5.05 whether or not 
those provisions have been specifically mentioned or cited herein.  All 
conditions imposed on the collection and hauling of the Licensee’s solid waste 



  Forest Grove Transfer Station 
  Non-System License No. N-010-15 
  Page 5 of 5 

 

 

by federal, state, regional or local governments or agencies having jurisdiction 
over solid waste generated by the Licensee shall be deemed part of this license 
as if specifically set forth herein. 

 

9 INDEMNIFICATION 
 Licensee shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Metro, its elected officials, 

officers, employees, agents and representatives from any and all claims, 
demands, damages, causes of action, or losses and expenses, or including all 
attorneys’ fees, whether incurred before any litigation is commenced, during any 
litigation or on appeal, arising out of or related in any way to the issuance or 
administration of this non-system license or the transport and disposal of the 
solid waste covered by this license. 

 
 
WJ:bjl 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\FGTS\FGTS NSL\N-010-15\FGTS_NSL_N-010-15.docx 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4571 
Page 1 of 6 

STAFF REPORT 
 
IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 14-4571 AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER TO 
ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM LICENSE TO FOREST GROVE TRASFER STATION FOR DELIVERY AND 
DISPOSAL OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE AT THE RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, OREGON 
 
November 25, 2014 Prepared by:  Roy W. Brower 
  503-797-1657 
 
Approval of Resolution No. 14-4571 will authorize the Chief Operating Officer (COO) to issue a two-year 
non-system license renewal (NSL), similar to the proposed license attached to this resolution as Exhibit A, to 
the Forest Grove Transfer Station (FGTS).  The proposed NSL will authorize FGTS to deliver up to 125,000 
tons per calendar year of putrescible waste from the Metro region to the Riverbend Landfill (Riverbend) 
located in Yamhill County, Oregon.  The proposed NSL, which is set to expire on December 31, 2016, 
renews the same authorization that the transfer station has held since 1990.   
 
FGTS is a Metro-franchised1 sold waste transfer station located at 1525 B Street in Forest Grove (Metro 
Council District 4).  FGTS and Riverbend are both owned and operated by Waste Management of 
Oregon, Inc. (Waste Management) headquartered in Houston, Texas.  
 
INTRODUCTION 
 

(1) Background 
 
Metro is responsible for regulating and managing the disposal of solid waste generated in the region.2  
NSLs are the main authorization vehicle by which Metro authorizes the delivery of putrescible solid 
waste to facilities located outside the Metro region.  NSLs are also used by Metro to manage its 
contractual obligation to deliver a minimum of 90 percent of the region’s putrescible waste, which is 
delivered to general purpose landfills, to landfills owned by Waste Management (also known as “the 
flow guarantee”).  NSLs allow Metro to closely monitor and potentially guide waste flows to other 
authorized facilities in order to comply with the flow guarantee.   
 
Metro has a practice of allowing waste haulers and transfer stations located within the Metro region to 
select their disposal sites provided that the:  

1) Use of such disposal site does not violate Metro Code or any of Metro’s waste-related contracts,  
2) Appropriate Regional System Fee and Excise Tax is collected and remitted to Metro for the 

waste delivered to the disposal site, and  
3) Disposal site is appropriately authorized by the local and state regulatory authorities.  (In the 

case of the Riverbend Landfill, the primary authorizing agencies would include Yamhill County 
and the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ)). 

 
In December 2013, Metro entered into a designated facility agreement with Riverbend.3  This 
agreement, which expires at the end of 2019, allows certain types of Metro-area waste (such as non-
                                                 
1 Metro Solid Waste Facility Franchise No. F-004-08A.  
2 Oregon Revised Statute Chapters 268 and 459; Metro Charter and Metro Code Chapter 5.05. 
3 Metro Contract No. 932399   



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4571 
Page 2 of 6 

putrescible processing residual, cleanup waste and special waste) to be delivered to the landfill without 
the need for haulers or persons delivering the waste to obtain an NSL.  Designated facility agreements 
(DFAs) do not include the acceptance of Metro-area putrescible waste.  Therefore, NSLs are required for 
any hauler to deliver such waste to any landfill, including Riverbend.  NSLs are typically issued for a 
period of two years; while DFAs generally have 5-year terms. 
 
Resolution No. 14-4571 would grant an NSL to FGTS to deliver Metro-area putrescible waste to a land 
disposal site owned by Waste Management located in Yamhill County.  This NSL controls a portion of the 
90 percent of waste that is guaranteed to Waste Management under Metro’s disposal contract which 
runs through 2019.  Metro Council is scheduled to consider five such resolutions that will authorize the 
delivery of putrescible waste to Riverbend during the next two years.  In addition to this action for FGTS, 
the Council is scheduled to consider similar resolutions for Pride Recycling Company (Res. No. 14-4569), 
Willamette Resources, Inc. (Res. No. 14-4570), West Linn Refuse and Recycling, Inc. (Res. No. 14-4572), 
and Hoodview Disposal and Recycling, Inc. (Res. No. 14-4573) at its meeting on December 4, 2014. 
 

(2) The Applicant 
 
Waste Management currently holds a Metro-issued franchise that authorizes the FGTS to accept up to 
125,000 tons of Metro-area putrescible waste per calendar.  The franchise is set to expire on December 
31, 2015.  
 
In November 2012, Waste Management was granted an NSL4 to deliver a maximum of 130,000 tons per 
calendar year of putrescible waste, from FGTS, to Riverbend for disposal.  The term of the NSL 
commenced on January 1, 2013.  FGTS delivered approximately 105,150 tons of putrescible waste to 
Riverbend in 2013 and about 90,900 tons to the landfill so far in 2014 (through October).   
 
On August 1, 2013, the Metro Council authorized5 the COO to extend the FGTS franchise term by two 
years and establish an annual 125,000-ton cap (beginning on January 1, 2014, and ending on December 
31, 2015).  The COO also modified the NSL6 to establish an annual 125,000-ton limit to align it with that 
of the facility’s franchise tonnage authorization.  The term of the current NSL is set to expire on 
December 31, 2014.   
 
On July 3, 2014, Waste Management submitted an application to Metro seeking to renew the FGTS’s 
NSL with a tonnage authorization of 125,000 tons per calendar year.  Adoption of Resolution No. 14-
4571 would authorize the COO to issue an NSL to FGTS to annually deliver up to 125,000 tons of Metro-
area putrescible waste to Riverbend through 2016.  The NSL and franchise tonnage authorization 
amounts will be aligned once the franchise is renewed in late 2015. 
 
  

                                                 
4 NSL No. N-010-13 
5 Metro Ordinance No. 13-1310. 
6 NSL No. N-010-13A 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4571 
Page 3 of 6 

ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 
 
1. Known Opposition 
 
The putrescible waste subject to the proposed NSL will be delivered to Riverbend for disposal.  There is 
no known opposition within the Metro region for delivery of Metro-area waste to authorized disposal 
sites located outside of the region.  Within Yamhill County, there is known local public opposition to 
expanding the capacity of the landfill and general concern expressed by some local citizens about the 
disposal of waste generated outside of the County, including Metro-area waste, at Riverbend especially 
if Metro-area waste contributes to the need for expanded capacity at the landfill.  
 
As part of its authorization process for NSLs, Metro asks the local host government whether the 
destination facility is in compliance with local laws and whether it has any issues, concerns, or objections 
to the delivery of Metro-area waste to the disposal site within its jurisdiction.   
 
Yamhill County is responsible for local land use decisions regarding Riverbend.  On October 22, 2014, the 
County’s solid waste staff sent a letter to Metro stating that the County had no issues with Riverbend’s 
acceptance of Metro-area waste (see Attachment 2).  The letter also indicated that the landfill has a 
history of operating in compliance with the County’s license agreement.    
 
On November 13, 2014, the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners sent a letter to the Metro Council 
responding to Metro’s request for input on the proposed NSL renewals (see Attachment 2).  The County 
Commissioners informed Metro that the landfill has a history of operating in compliance with the 
County and DEQ requirements and that the landfill has met the County’s licensing agreement and 
regulatory requirements related to environmental protection.  The County also indicated that Waste 
Management has demonstrated a commitment to work in partnership with the County in the 
development of green technology, ongoing operational improvements at the landfill, waste diversion, 
implementation of a public recycling center and development of a stewardship plan for lands that will 
not be used for land disposal. 
 
On September 10, 2014, the City Manager of McMinnville provided Metro with a letter expressing the 
City’s concerns about the importation of Metro-area waste to Riverbend (see Attachment 2).  While the 
landfill is not located within the City’s jurisdiction, the landfill is located in close proximity to its 
boundary and some waste haulers travel on the City’s roads en route to the landfill. 
 
In addition to the above, Riverbend is permitted by DEQ to accept solid waste and DEQ has not objected 
to the landfill receiving Metro-area waste for disposal.   
 
Currently, the Riverbend Landfill is expected to reach capacity sometime during 2016 or early 2017 
based on Waste Management’s projection of solid waste tons disposed at the landfill and without 
additional approval to expand the landfill’s capacity.  Waste Management is pursuing an expansion in 
order to lengthen the life of the landfill.  Although approval of Resolution No. 14-4571 would authorize 
FGTS to deliver waste to the landfill, the proposed NSL does not obligate Riverbend to accept Metro-
area waste.   This is noted for Council’s consideration because the landfill seeks to expand its capacity.  
Attachment 1 provides a more in depth overview of the expansion request and approval process 
2. Legal Antecedents 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4571 
Page 4 of 6 

 
Metro Code Section 5.05.025 prohibits any person from utilizing non-system facilities without an 
appropriate license from Metro.  Additionally, Code Section 5.05.043 provides that, when determining 
whether or not to approve an NSL application, the Council shall consider the following factors to the 
extent relevant to such determination. 
 

(1) The degree to which prior users of the non-system facility and waste types accepted at 
the non-system facility are known and the degree to which such wastes pose a future 
risk of environmental contamination; 

 
Waste Management is a major, nationally integrated solid waste company that is well known to Metro 
and serves as Metro’s disposal contractor.   
 
Riverbend first came into use during the mid-eighties and became a permitted RCRA Subtitle D7 landfill 
in 1993.  At that time, the original unlined cells were capped and the landfill has been filling only lined 
cells and operating with the environmental controls required by DEQ.  The environmental risk associated 
with the use of this disposal site is regulated by the appropriate local and state authorities.  It has been 
Metro’s practice to rely on the local land use authority and the state environmental agency to 
determine whether environmental or human health risks posed are known, reasonable and appropriate.  
Riverbend had two compliance issues during 2014 that are detailed in (2) below. 
 

(2) The record of regulatory compliance of the non-system facility’s owner and operator 
with federal, state and local requirements including but not limited to public health, 
safety and environmental rules and regulations; 

 
Waste Management owns and operates FGTS and Riverbend (as well as the Troutdale Transfer Station, 
Tualatin Valley Waste Recovery Facility, Hillsboro Landfill, Newberg Transfer Station, and the Columbia 
Ridge Landfill).  Metro staff’s investigation of Waste Management has revealed a generally good record 
of compliance with local and state agencies responsible for health, safety, land use, and environmental 
regulations. 
 
However, DEQ issued two pre-enforcement notices to Waste Management for violations at Riverbend in 
2014.  One of these enforcement actions has been resolved and the other has not.  A copy of the DEQ 
notices and Waste Management’s responses are provided in Attachment 3. These notices are also 
summarized below: 
 

• March 17, 2014, Pre-Enforcement Notice (Resolved).   
o On January 28, 2014, DEQ inspectors observed leachate escaping from the north side of 

the landfill.  The leachate migrated beyond the perimeter of the landfill but did not 
appear to travel far.  The leachate appeared to originate from an old French drain along 
the landfill’s perimeter that was clogged as the result of recent construction of a 
stormwater diversion swale.  (Class 2 Violation) 

o On February 10, 2014, landfill personnel observed and reported leachate escaping from 
the landfill’s northern boundary.  The leachate incident appeared to have been 

                                                 
7 Subtitle D landfill standards are established nationally under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4571 
Page 5 of 6 

unrelated to the earlier release.  The leachate observed at that time was primarily liquid 
that had collected in the landfill’s gas extraction wells and migrated to a creek about 
300 feet from the landfill.  (Class 1 Violation) 

o Waste Management took several corrective actions to address the migration of leachate 
past the landfill boundary and DEQ considers this matter to be resolved.  (See March 28, 
2014 letter from Waste Management to DEQ listing corrective actions taken.) 

 
• November 3, 2014, Pre-Enforcement Notice (Unresolved). 

o In Riverbend’s 2013-14 Discharge Monitoring Report, Waste Management reported 
exceeding its daily maximum limit for total zinc and the landfill was subsequently unable 
to perform the follow-up monitoring as required.  (Class 1 Violation). 

o This matter has been referred to DEQ’s Office of Compliance and Enforcement for 
formal enforcement action, which may include assessment of civil penalties or issuance 
of an Order. 

 
(3) The adequacy of operational practices and management controls at the non-system 

facility; 
 

Riverbend uses operational practices and management controls that are typical of RCRA Subtitle D 
landfills.  Riverbend became permitted as a Subtitle D landfill in 1993 which put in place new 
requirements8 to minimize risk of future environmental contamination at the site.  Staff at the DEQ 
considers the operational practices and controls in place at Riverbend to be appropriate for the proper 
management of waste disposal and adequate for the protection of health and the environment but have 
had two recent enforcement actions as detailed in (2) above. 
 

(4) The expected impact on the region’s recycling and waste reduction efforts; 
 
The proposed license covers the disposal of putrescible solid waste, which currently has limited recovery 
potential.  This license puts no long-term constraint on the waste should recovery alternatives emerge 
for the region.  Thus, approval of the proposed NSL renewal is not expected to impact the region’s 
recycling and waste reduction efforts.  Waste Management has also taken steps to divert unprocessed 
non-putrescible waste away from Riverbend and direct it to the Tualatin Valley Waste Recovery Facility 
in Hillsboro for material recovery processing. 
 

(5) The consistency of issuing the license with Metro’s existing contractual arrangements; 
 
Through 2019, Metro has a contractual obligation to deliver a minimum of 90 percent of the region’s 
putrescible waste, which is delivered to general purpose landfills during the calendar year, to landfills 
owned by Waste Management.  The proposed NSL covers putrescible waste that will be delivered to 
Riverbend, which is owned and operated by Waste Management.  Thus, approval of this NSL renewal 
will not conflict with Metro’s disposal contract or any other of its existing contractual arrangements.  
The denial of this NSL would require the FGTS to either deliver its putrescible waste to one of Metro’s 

                                                 
8 In the 1990’s, RCRA required all general purpose solid waste landfills to install synthetic liners, leachate collection systems, groundwater 
monitoring and gas collection systems to lessen the impact on surrounding communities and the environment.   



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4571 
Page 6 of 6 

transfer stations or obtain an NSL to deliver this waste to Waste Management’s Columbia Ridge Landfill 
located in Gilliam County. 
 

(6) The record of the applicant regarding compliance with Metro ordinances and 
agreements or assistance to Metro in Metro ordinance enforcement and with federal, 
state and local requirements including but not limited to public health, safety and 
environmental rules and regulations; and 

 
FGTS is currently in compliance with its Metro-issued franchise and NSL.  The applicant has not had any 
compliance issues with regard to Metro regulations within the last two years nor has FGTS had any 
operational or compliance issues during the term of its franchise.   
  

(7) Such other factors as the Chief Operating Officer deems appropriate for purposes of 
making such determination. 

 
An additional factor that is related to this NSL application and the proposed NSL is the available future 
disposal capacity of Riverbend.  In 2013, Riverbend received approval to build a mechanically stabilized 
earthen berm (MSE), similar to berms used in road construction projects.  The berm will give the landfill 
additional short-term capacity.  At the current fill rate, Waste Management estimates the landfill has 
capacity to operate through 2016 or early 2017 without some additional expansion approval or waste 
diversion.  On November 5, Waste Management submitted a landfill expansion application to Yamhill 
County for site design approval.  The application includes a lateral expansion of 37 acres.   Attachment 1 
to this staff report provides background information which updates Council on waste flow, expansion 
matters, and pending government decisions relative to the landfill’s expansion.  Should conditions 
change, Metro may modify, suspend, or terminate NSLs or redirect waste flow to other landfills. 
  
3. Anticipated Effects 
 
The effect of Resolution No. 14-4571 will be to issue a two-year NSL authorizing FGTS to deliver up to 
125,000 tons per calendar year of putrescible waste to Riverbend for disposal.   
 
4. Budget/Rate Impacts 
 
Since Riverbend is owned and operated by Waste Management there is no impact to Metro’s obligation 
under the disposal contract.  In addition, the Regional System Fee and Excise Tax will continue to be 
collected on Metro-area waste delivered to Riverbend under the authority of the proposed NSL.  The 
application under consideration is the renewal of a current NSL therefore; any financial impact of this 
NSL to Metro has already been factored into the budget.      
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
The COO recommends approval of Resolution No. 14-4571, finding that the license renewal satisfies the 
requirements of Metro Code Section 5.05.043.  Approval of Resolution No. 14-4571 will authorize the 
COO to issue an NSL, similar to the one attached to the resolution as Exhibit A, to FGTS for a two-year 
period commencing on January 1, 2015 and expiring on December 31, 2016. 
WJ/RB 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\FGTS\FGTS NSL\N-010-15\FGTS_RES_14-4571_stf report.docx



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4571 
Page 1 of 5 

Summary of Riverbend Landfill Expansion Information 
 

Riverbend Landfill, located in Yamhill County, is used as a primary disposal site for several privately-
owned haulers and transfer stations within the Metro region (generally located in Washington and 
northern Clackamas Counties).  Riverbend’s ongoing disposal capacity is germane to Metro Council’s 
decision regarding whether to approve non-system licenses (NSLs) that authorize the use of the landfill 
as a disposal site since there is some uncertainty about future available capacity and how quickly 
pending approvals for expanded capacity will be processed.  
 
In 2014, Waste Management received approval to construct a mechanically stabilized earthen berm 
(MSE).  This berm was constructed in 2014 and solid waste was disposed within the berm area starting 
in October 2014.  At the current fill rate, Waste Management estimates that Riverbend now has capacity 
to operate through 2016 or early 2017 without additional expansion.  On November 5, 2014, Waste 
Management submitted a site design request to Yamhill County to construct a 37-acre lateral expansion 
of the landfill footprint.  Waste Management also submitted a Floodplain Development Permit 
Application to the County.  Approval of this site design expansion request by Yamhill County would 
move the request to the next stage of the approval process.  DEQ must also approve the expansion 
request.  An expansion decision is expected to be completed by the two agencies at the end of 2015 or 
early 2016.  If DEQ approves the landfill expansion, it will provide the landfill with approximately 15 
years of additional capacity.   
 
Should the landfill expansion not occur or be delayed beyond that time, Metro’s existing NSLs could be 
modified, suspended, or terminated as necessary to redirect waste flows to other landfills and would be 
up for reconsideration by Metro Council at the end of 2016.  If Riverbend was no longer a disposal 
option, Metro would likely divert the tonnage going there to the Columbian Ridge Landfill in order to 
maintain compliance with its disposal contract – both landfills are owned by Waste Management.  NSLs 
contain a standard provision that allows Metro to take such action based on a change in any 
circumstance under which Metro initially issued the license (for instance, if Metro later determines that 
there is a lack of capacity at Riverbend or Yamhill County requests that Metro stop further waste 
deliveries to the landfill, Metro could modify, suspend, or terminate the NSL).  In addition, a Metro-
approved NSL does not require Riverbend to accept solid waste from its customers should it encounter 
capacity limitations.  It is also plausible that new issues about the landfill expansion could be raised 
during the two-year term of these proposed licenses – in which case Metro could take necessary action 
to modify the NSLs. 
 
Riverbend Landfill 
The current landfill footprint is 85 acres and the company owns over 702 acres on the site of which 145 
acres are potentially slated for landfilling.  Waste Management is holding a series of public meetings in 
Yamhill County to discuss various site issues including the potential expansion, future green waste 
technology and the community’s use of other portions of its site that are not designated for disposal 
(such as park or agricultural use).  Yamhill County and DEQ are expected to hold 2-3 public hearings on 
the landfill expansion decision over the next year.   
 
Waste Management has also pursued other options to lessen dependency on the landfill, including 
diversion of non-putrescible waste away from the landfill and directing it to the Tualatin Valley Waste 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4571 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4571 
Page 2 of 5 

Recovery facility in Hillsboro and relocation of the public recycling center to a more convenient location 
at the landfill site. 
 
 
 
Figure 1 provides a general overview map of the landfill indicating the existing landfill, expansion areas 
and stewardship lands. 
 

Figure 1:  Riverbend Landfill  
(Source: Waste Management) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Waste Facts 
In calendar year 2013, Waste Management reported about 465,000 tons of solid waste was delivered to 
Riverbend from all sources (Table 1).  Of these 465,000 tons, about 223,000 tons (48 percent) originated 
inside the Metro district. The balance came from areas outside of Metro (52 percent). 
 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4571 
Page 3 of 5 

In addition to the solid waste received for disposal, Riverbend accepted about another 57,000 tons of 
contaminated soils that were used for landfill operations, mainly alternative daily cover (Table 1).  Of 
these 57,000 additional tons, about 42,000 originated inside the Metro boundary (Table 2). 
 

Table 1 
Materials Received at Riverbend Landfill in 

2013 

 Table 2 
Materials Generated in the Metro District and Received at  

Riverbend Landfill in 2013 
Solid Waste     

From inside 
Oregon 

464,000 
 

Putrescible waste 214,000 
 

From out-of-state 1,000 Non-putrescible waste 9,000   

Total Solid Waste 465,000 Total Solid Waste 223,000 
(48% of total waste at 
Riverbend) 

ADC/Soils 57,000 ADC/soils 42,000  

Total from all sources 522,000 Total from Metro 265,000 (51% of total materials at 
Riverbend) 

Source: DEQ, Solid Waste Disposal Report (quarterly). 
All tonnage amounts are rounded to the nearest 1000. 

Source: NSL reports filed with Metro, and data reported to Metro by Riverbend. 
All tonnage amounts are rounded to the nearest 1000. 

 
Of the 223,000 tons of Metro-area solid waste disposed at Riverbend in 2013, about 214,000 tons was 
putrescible waste collected from residential and commercial generators in Washington and northern 
Clackamas counties, delivered to one of four privately-owned transfer stations, and transported in large 
top-loaded transfer trailers to Riverbend under the authority of Metro-issued NSLs (Table 3).  The 
balance, 9,000 tons, was miscellaneous solid waste – mainly industrial waste, and non-putrescible 
processing residual directly delivered to the landfill from within the Metro region and delivered under 
the authority of Metro’s designated facility agreement with Riverbend.  The Metro region delivered 
about 20,000 fewer tons of non-putrescible waste to Riverbend in 2013 than in 2011, but the Region 
accounted for a slightly larger percentage of putrescible waste in 2013 (41 percent in 2011 versus 48 
percent in 2013).  An additional 42,000 tons of contaminated soils originated in the Metro district in 
2013, and were mostly used for landfill operations, mainly alternative daily cover versus about 21,000 
tons of soil in 2011. 
 

Table 3 
Metro-Area Putrescible Waste to Riverbend Landfill in 2013 by Transfer Station 

  Putrescible Waste 
Transfer Station Location Tons Percent 

Canby TS (Hoodview/West Linn) Canby 12,861 6% 
Forest Grove TS Forest Grove 105,155 49% 
Pride Recycling Sherwood 70,827 33% 
Willamette Resources Wilsonville 25,528 12% 
Total putrescible waste 
 
Source:  NSL reports filed with Metro. 

In-District 214,371 100% 
 

 
Metro’s transfer stations and the Troutdale Transfer Station send their waste to Columbia Ridge Landfill, 
not Riverbend.  However, Riverbend serves as a back-up for these facilities whenever the Columbia 
Gorge is closed due weather problems or other emergency situations.  Metro’s transfer stations have 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4571 
Page 4 of 5 

not delivered waste to Riverbend since 2007.  Troutdale Transfer Station has delivered approximately 
489 tons of waste to Riverbend within the last two calendar years. 
 
Other Government Decisions  
Numerous governments are involved in the decision and oversight of landfills during consideration of a 
landfill expansion.  Following is brief summary of the two entities primarily responsible for decisions 
regarding aspects of the landfill expansion: 
 
• Yamhill County.   As part of its authorization process for NSLs and DFAs, Metro asks the local host 

government whether the destination facility is in compliance with local laws and whether it has any 
issues, concerns, or objections to the delivery of Metro-area waste to the disposal site within its 
jurisdiction.  Yamhill County is responsible for local land use decisions regarding the landfill.  The 
County has informed Metro that the landfill is in compliance with state and local requirements and 
there is minimal risk of future environmental contamination at the site.  See a fuller discussion in the 
staff report and see Attachment 2 for copies of relevant letters from the county.  
 
In June 2012, Yamhill County entered into a new five-year licensing agreement with Riverbend 
which replaced the previous agreement from 1994.   The term of the County’s new agreement 
became effective on July 1, 2012 and extends beyond the two-year term of this proposed NSL 
renewal.  The new agreement increases fees, based on volume, paid to the county and could 
increase County revenue by 60 percent based on previous waste disposal volumes.  The County has 
also recently determined that both the short-term expansion (berm) and longer-term expansion 
(horizontal expansion) of the landfill are outright allowable uses under its land use designation 
authority. 
 
Waste Management submitted a Site Design Review Application and a Floodplain Development 
Permit Application to the County on November 5, 2014.  Yamhill County staff will review the 
applications for compliance with its requirements.  Waste Management has already conducted a 
public meeting to explain the plan on November 11, 2014.  The County’s Planning Commission will 
hold a public hearing on December 4 and is expected to vote on the plan at its January 8, 2015 
meeting.  Once findings are written and adopted, the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners will 
review the plan and recommendation.  The Board is expected to make its decision during the spring 
of 2015.  It is expected that the Board’s decision will be appealed to the Land Use Board of Appeals 
(LUBA). 

 
• DEQ.  The chief agency responsible for permitting and environmental oversight of the landfill, DEQ 

must also approve any expansion at Riverbend as well as continually monitor the landfill’s 
environmental performance and compliance.  DEQ will begin its review of Waste Management’s 
expansion application for the proposed 37-acre lateral expansion once Yamhill County has rendered 
a site design review decision.  It is not clear what the key issues regarding the expansion proposal 
will be for DEQ.  During the approval of the MSE berm, issues regarding seismic stability and flood 
way/flood plain boundaries were raised as issues previously.  DEQ originally received the application 
for a large lateral expansion in 2009 which was subsequently withdrawn.  DEQ’s decisions on the 
landfill expansions typically are subject to a minimum 35-day public comment period and will most 
certainly involve a public hearing.   



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4571 
Page 5 of 5 

 
Impact of Landfill Closure or Waste Diversion 
If Metro-area solid waste could no longer be delivered to Riverbend for disposal for whatever reason, at 
2011 levels at least 208,000 tons of putrescible waste would ultimately have to be shifted to the 
Columbia Ridge Landfill each year under Metro’s disposal contract.  Each round trip to Columbia Ridge 
Landfill is 280 miles longer, on average, than current trips to Riverbend. This increase in transport time 
and distance would increase costs and reduce environmental sustainability in the region.  The costs 
resulting from a longer transport distance would result in the majority of increase in costs and 
environmental impact by increased carbon emissions.  The additional transport cost would be about $5 
million per year based on 2011 estimates.  This translates to an average increase of almost $24 on each 
ton shifted to Columbia Ridge Landfill from Riverbend.  Ratepayers in Washington County and northwest 
Clackamas County would bear virtually all of the cost and residential ratepayers in these counties could 
see increases of $1.40 to $1.80 per month on their garbage bills if the increases were passed along to 
the consumer. 
 
Summary 
The future long-term capacity of Riverbend and any decisions that might impact its expansion are 
relevant to Metro’s decision to allow solid waste to be disposed at the landfill.  It is a factor that will be 
continually monitored by staff.  Capacity limitations do not appear to impinge on the landfill’s ability to 
accept Metro-area waste from the current group of NSLs under consideration by Metro Council during 
the next two-year cycle – through 2016.  Metro has generally regarded these requests from the private 
sector as a market decision – provided that the: 1) use of such disposal sites does not violate Metro 
Code or any of Metro’s waste-related contracts, 2) appropriate Regional System Fee and Excise Tax is 
remitted to Metro for the waste delivered to the disposal site, and 3) receiving disposal site is 
appropriately authorized and allowed to operate by the relevant local and state regulatory authorities   
Metro has the authority to modify, suspend, or terminate its NSLs at any time if the landfill’s capacity 
becomes constrained or if Yamhill County requests that Metro restrict the flow of solid waste away from 
Riverbend. 
 



Attachment 2 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4571 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 2 includes comment letters received by Metro from local governments regarding 
Riverbend Landfill.  The following are included in this attachment: 

 

• Letter from Sherrie Mathison, Yamhill County Solid Waste, addressed to Roy W. Brower, 
Metro, dated October 22, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Yamhill County Board of Commissioners addressed to the Metro Council 
dated November 13, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Richard J. Olson, Mayor of City of McMinniville, addressed to the Yamhill 
County Board of Commissioners dated January 27, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Kent L. Taylor, City Manager of City of McMinniville, addressed to Roy W. 
Brower, Metro, dated September 10, 2014. 

 



 

 
Yamhill County Solid Waste 

525 NE 4th Street 
McMinnville, OR 97128 

YCSW Hotline: (503) 434-7445 
Fax: 503-434-7544 

www.ycsw.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October 22, 2014 
 
 
Roy W. Bower, Manager 
Solid Waste Compliance & Cleanup 
Metro 
600 NE Grand Ave 
Portland, Oregon 97232 
 
 
Re: Non-System License Renewal Applications to Transport Metro-Area Solid Waste to Riverbend Landfill 
 
 
Dear Roy, 
Your letter of September 9, 2014, asks if Yamhill County would have any issues with the renewal of Non-
System Licenses (“NSLs”) currently taking waste to Riverbend Landfill Incorporated (RLI).  
 
The license agreement Yamhill County has with Riverbend Landfill has allowances for out of county waste. 
Riverbend Landfill continues to make plans for the tonnages they accept both in county and out of county. 
 
Yamhill County does not have issues with the acceptance by Riverbend Landfill of this waste from the NSLs. 
 
I would also like to report that RLI has a history of operating in compliance with the Yamhill County license 
agreement and their DEQ permitting. Working under a Title V permit helps to assure the county environmental 
issues are dealt with in the everyday working of the landfill. It has been the experience over the past several 
years that RLI management has kept Yamhill County informed of any significant issues related to their day-to-
day operation.  
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me at 503-434-7445 if you have further questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Sherrie Mathison 
Yamhill County  
Solid Waste 

 

 printed on recycled paper, 25% post-consumer content 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

KATHY GEORGE· ALLEN SPruNGER· MARy STARRETT 

November 13, 2014 

535 NE Fifth Street· McMinnville, OR 97128-4523 
(503) 434-7501 0 Fax (503) 434-7553 

TTY (800) 735-2900 0 www. co.yamhill.or.us 

The Honorable Tom Hughes, Metro Council President 
The Honorable Shirley Craddick, Metro Councilor District 1 
The Honorable Carlotta Collette, Metro Councilor District 2 
The Honorable Craig Dirksen, Metro Councilor District 3 
The Honorable Katherine Harrington, Metro Councilor District 4 
The Honorable Sam Chase, Metro Councilor District 5 
The Honorable Robelt Stacey, Metro Councilor District 6 

Dear President Hughes and Metro Councilors: 

Thank you for requesting comment from Yamhill County regarding the renewal of the non-system license for the 
transpOlt of Metro-area solid waste to Riverbend Landfill . 

Yamhill County Solid Waste Coordinator Sherrie Mathi son has already provided input regarding factors set forth in Metro 
Code 5.05.035. The Yamhill County Commissioners would like to provide additional input. 

Riverbend has a histOlY of operating in compliance with the County and DEQ requirements - including meeting the 
requirements of the County licensing agreement and the regulatory requirements related to environmental protections. As 
a result of this, in 2012 the Board of Commissioners demonstrated their commitment to Riverbend 's continued operation 
by renewing the facility's licensing agreement for a five year term. This was extended through the approval ofa zone 
change in 2014 allowing for Riverbend to submit a detailed expansion application. 

Through the intervening years, Waste Management has demonstrated a commitment to work in partnership with the 
County as shown through their attention to ideas from citizens in the community and requests from the commissioners. 
Thi s includes a requirement for development of a landfill alternative ("green technology") on the Riverbend propelty, and 
ongoing operational improvements in response to community feedback . Additionally, Waste Management and Riverbend 
have demonstrated a commitment to waste reduction by sign ificantly increasing waste diversion at the WM-Newberg 
Transfer Station and the implementation of a new million dollar public recycling center at Riverbend. Finally, 
Riverbend 's community-driven Stewardship Plan to allow for 450 acres of its land to benefit the community has led to the 
expected 2015 launch of the Community Farm Collaboration which will provide land, mentoring and resources to help 
small farmers' success and educate the public about the value of community food systems. 

The Yamhill County Board of Commissioners offers this input to the Metro Council as we move forward in this 
partnership with Waste Management and Riverbend Landfill. 

Sincerely, 

Kathy George 
Vice-Chair 

MalY Starrett 
Commiss ioner 



230 NE Second Street • McMinnville, Oregon 97128-4831 • www.ci.mcminnville.or.us 

September 10, 2014 

Metro 
600 NE Grand Avenue 
Portland OR 97232-2736 

ATTN: RoyW. Bower 
Solid Waste Compliance and Cleanup Manager 

RE: Non-System License Renewal Applications to Transport Metro-Area Solid 
Waste to Riverbend Landfill 

Dear Mr. Bower: 

Thank you for the opportunity given to the City of McMinnville to comment on the 
proposed renewal of various Metro-issued Non-System Licenses. Simply put, METRO's 
renewal of the NSL's involving hauling of solid waste to Riverbend Landfill would be 
inconsistent with the City of McMinnville'S position on the future of Riverbend Landfill. 

In January of this year the Mayor, on behalf of the McMinnville City Council, sent a letter 
to the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners, in which the City stated its concerns 
over Riverbend Landfill, including the importation of solid waste. The letter states that 
the City does not see continued operation of Riverbend Landfill as being in the best 
interests of the community for the long term. A copy of that letter is attached. 

The City of McMinnville understands that it has no jurisdiction over Riverbend Landfill 
and is providing this input as part of the public testimony to be received. 

Sincerely, 

~~ 
Kent L. Taylor 
City Manager 

cc: Mayor and City Council 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 

Office of the City Manager (503) 434-7302 FAX (503) 472-4104 



230 NE Second Street • McMinnville, Oregon 97128-4831 • www.ci.mcminnville.or.us 

January 27,2014 

Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 
434 NE Evans Street 
McMinnville OR 97128 

RE: Riverbend Landfill 

Dear Chair Stern and Commissioners: 

I am writing on behalf of the McMinnville City Council. First, we would like to recognize 
the very difficult position you are in with regard to decision-making on landfill issues like 
that involving Riverbend Landfill. The voices from both sides of the issue are many and 
come from very organized fronts and developed positions on the matter. The 
McMinnville City Council recognizes that the legally required task of applying relevant 
land-use criteria to a land-use decision and the testimony you hear is a very real 
challenge. 

Given that the County Planning Commission voted to recommend against the zone 
change proposed by Waste Management, Inc. and the County Planning Director's 
neutral statement that there was sufficient evidence and testimony presented to support 
either approval or denial, we had hoped to see a vote for denial of the zone change. 
We are pleased that there is a condition attached that requires some form of green 
technology facility to be initiated at the site within seven years. We look forward to 
hearing more of what the details are to this condition and hope that implementation of 
such technology will begin sooner than later and the implementation and startup will be 
within the seven-year period. 

Over the past several years the McMinnville City Council has grown increasingly 
concerned that continued operation and growth of the Riverbend Landfill are contrary to 
sustaining a high quality of life for the current and future citizens and children of 
McMinnville. The concerns and objections that we have increasingly heard from a 
range of our constituents can be summarized as follows: 



2 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners January 27, 2014 

• Negative impacts on the quality of life - Much of the year McMinnville is 
downwind of the landfill. Despite efforts to control odors, the landfill odor can still 
be smelled in many different parts of McMinnville. This is particularly an issue on 
the south and west sides of the City. Outdoor activities are negatively affected. 
McMinnville's residents and visitors are frequent users of Highway 18, and the 
size and height of the landfill have grown substantially over the years - more 
than anyone ever imagined. Tree barriers and earthen berms have had little 
impact on what is more and more often referred to as a significant "eyesore." 
Increasing large truck traffic on the City's perimeter roads, such as Lafayette 
Avenue and surrounding highways, being used by haulers of imported garbage is 
also generating increased complaints and concerns. The substantial increase in 
the volume of garbage being imported has also increased highway litter. 
Despite good faith efforts to control it, the amount of litter seems to be increasing 
rather than subsiding. 

• Negative impacts on a growing tourism sector of the local economy -
Simply put, the negative quality of life impacts discussed above are not 
consistent with the effort to grow the City's and the County's tourism economy, 
one centered on the wine industry, and are having a major impact on the 
Council's vision of McMinnville in the future. There is a growing sense that we 
could soon reach a tipping point, and the growth in the tourism sector begins to 
flatten or diminish as potential visitors choose to avoid the negative conditions. 
The International Pinot Noir Celebration (IPNC), held annually at Linfield College, 
is a world-class event, drawing industry representatives and visitors from around 
the world. Representatives from the IPNC have expressed their concerns about 
the landfill's negative impacts on the future viability of the Linfield outdoor venue. 
The loss of these types of events, along with other major tourism events and 
venues, more than likely would have a negative impact on the County's agri
tourism effort and McMinnville's tourism-related businesses. 

• Environmental & public health concerns - While the technical experts can 
battle the specifics of how large and when it will occur, there seems to be very 
little disagreement that a large-scale Cascadia subduction zone earthquake is in 
northwest Oregon's future. The age of the landfill, its original construction 
techniques and codes, and its proximity to the South Yamhill River give rise to 
citizen concerns about the potential environmental damage and threats to public 
health that could arise when such an earthquake occurs. The South Yamhill 
River flows along the easterly edge of McMinnville. While not an issue directly 
affecting City residents, they express concern about long-term groundwater 
impacts due to landfill leachate leaking below the surface. 

• Importation of solid waste from outside Yamhill County -Importation of 
huge volumes of garbage exacerbate the problems discussed above and have 
reduced the life of the landfill. What was once envisioned as a small county 
landfill has become a large regional landfill receiving refuse from not only Yamhill 
County but from all of northwest Oregon, including the Portland Metropolitan 

(503) 435-5701 
Office of the Mayor 

mayor@ci.mcminnville.or.us FPJ«503)472-4104 



3 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners January 27, 2014 

area. As the need for additional landfill disposal continues to increase in areas 
outside of Yamhill County. it is a concern that the anticipated 20 years of 
additional capacity that expansion would bring would be recognized in a much 
shorter period of time. Although the Council recognizes that there may be trade
offs in garbage rates for less volume, parties on both sides of the issue have 
difficulty stating exactly what that rate would be if Riverbend is not expanded. 

In summary. the City Council does not envision Riverbend Landfill being part of our 
vision for a vibrant McMinnville and Yamhill County for the long term. As we move 
forward together, it is our hope that: implementation and construction of a viable green 
techno!ogy alternative takes place as soon as is possible; that VVaste Management 
significantly reduces the amount of garbage that is imported to the landfill from outside 
of Yamhill County; that proactive steps to abate the odor and litter problems be put on a 
fast track; that the County and the Riverbend operator support increased efforts to 
reduce the amount of local solid waste entering the waste stream in the first place. And, 
finally, with regard to the last item, we hope County solid waste revenues will be 
allocated to help develop and administer this waste reduction effort and that Waste 
Management, Inc. will support it, working with other local partners such as Recology. 

Sincerely, 

Richard J. ("Rick") Olson 
Mayor 

(503) 435-5701 
Office of the Mayor 

mayor@ci.mcminnville.or.us FAX (503) 472-4104 



Attachment 3 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4571 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3 includes pre-enforcement notices issued by the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality (DEQ) and related correspondence regarding Riverbend Landfill.  The 
following are included in this attachment: 

 

• Pre-Enforcement Notice from Bob Schwarz, DEQ, addressed to James L. Denson Jr., 
Waste Management, dated March 17, 2014. 
 

• Letter from James L. Denson Jr., Waste Management, addressed to Bob Schwarz, DEQ, 
dated March 28, 2014. 
 

• Pre-Enforcement Notice from Mark Riedel-Bash, DEQ, addressed to Paul Burns, Waste 
Management, dated November 3, 2014. 



regon 
John A Kitzhaber, MD, Governor 

James 1. Denson Jr. 
Oregon Environmental Protection Manager 
Waste Management 
7227 NE 55th Ave. 
Portland, OR 97218 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice 
Ri verb end Landfill 
PEN - LQ-ERD-2014-0020 
Solid Waste Disposal Site Permit # 345 
Yamhill County 

Dear Mr. Denson: 

Department of Environmental Quality 
Eastern Region-The Dalles Office 

400 East Scenic Drive, Suite 307 
The Dalles, OR 97058 

(541) 298-7255 
March 17, 2014 FAX (541) 298-7330 

During a January 28,2014 inspection, DEQ inspectors and landfill personnel observed leachate 
escaping from the north side of the landfill. This leachate migrated beyond the perimeter of the 
landfill, but did not appear to travel far from the landfill perimeter. Waste Management 
concluded that this release was the result of an old perimeter French drain that was clogged as 
the result of recent construction of a storm water diversion swale. The drain had been installed 
during construction of the cell to convey leachate to the leachate collection line that runs to the 
onsite leachate storage pond. 

Later that day, the site engineer directed the landfill contractor to remove all drain rock from the 
French drain along that portion beneath the stormwater diversion berm. Between January 28 and 
29, this rock was removed and the area was backfilled with compacted clay. Four vertical 12-
inch sump pipes were installed and backfilled with drain rock. Soil limn the impacted area north 
of the landfill was sampled on January 29. Soil impacted by the leachate release was then 
excavated, and a vactor truck was used to remove standing storm water that may have been 
contaminated by the release. Soil from this area was resampled on January 31. Results were 
provided in a technical memorandum dated March 14, 2014. These results indicate that residual 
contaminant concentrations are below safe levels. 

On February 10,2014, landfill personnel observed leachate escaping from the landfill's northern 
bOlmdary. Waste Management reported this leachate release to the DEQ on February 10 and 
stated that this leachate reached a creek approximately 300 feet from the landfill. This leachate 
release was near but not related to the release first observed on January 28. This leachate was 
primarily liquid that had collected in the landfill ' s gas extraction wells . To keep the extraction 
wells working properly, this leachate is routinely pumped from the wells to three 21,000-gallon 
storage tanks near the north side of the landfill. This leachate is leept separate from the majority 
ofthe landfill's leachate, which is pumped to the onsite leachate pond. The reason for this 
separation is that leachate associated with the gas extraction wells is more concentrated than the 
rest of the landfill leachate, and is therefore sent to a different offsite facility for treatment and 



Page 2 of3 

disposal. The Department conducted an inspection on February 13,2014 to document the release 
and the actions taken to address the release. 

Impacts to the creek were evaluated in a March 11, 2014 report prepared by Waste 
Management's consultant. The report concludes that "No mortality of aquatic flora or fauna was 
observed during either site visit [conducted on February 12 and 21, 2014]. Overall, the impact to 
aquatic biota was estimated to be minimal on the basis of the high flows of the unnamed creek 
and the South Yamhill River, and the comparison to aquatic water quality criteria and human 
health criteria." 

Impacts to the area between the landfill and the creek are also being investigated. Waste 
Management has not yet provided results of that investigation to DEQ. 

Based upon DEQ's observations and infonnation provided by you regarding your facility, the 
Department has concluded that Waste Management is responsible for the following violations of 
Oregon enviromnentallaw: 

VIOLATIONS: 

1) The leachate seep found on January 28, 2014 was a violation of Section 9.9 of Riverbend 
Landfill's Solid Waste Disposal Facility pennit, which states that "Leachate must be 
prevented from escaping to local drainage ways and to other unlined areas of the site." 
This is a Class 2 violation. 

2) The leachate release that occurred on February 10,2014 was a violation of ORS 
468B.02S(1): "Except as provided in ORS 468B.OSO or 468B.OS3, no person shall: 

(a) Cause pollution of any waters of the state or place or cause to be placed any wastes in 
a location where such wastes are likely to escape or be carried into the waters of the state 
by any means." This is a Class 1 violation. 

Class I violations are the most serious violations; Class III violations are the least serious. 

CORRECTIVE ACTIONS REQUESTED: 

1. Effective immediately, inspect the entire perimeter of the landfill daily for leachate seeps. 
Particular attention is essential during periods of heavy or prolonged precipitation. Any 
problems noted must be reported to DEQ within 24 hours. 

2. Submit the report now being prepared concerning impacts to the area between the landfill 
and the creek. This report must be submitted by Friday, March 21, 2014. 

3. Prepare a report that identifies what measures have already been taken and what additional 
measures will be taken, along with a schedule for implementation of those measures to avoid 
these problems in the future. This report must be submitted by Friday, March 28,2014. 

o 
lJEQ.OU 



Page 3 of3 

The violations cited above posed the risk of significant environmental hann and the matter is being 
referred to the Depmiment's Office of Compliance and Enforcement for formal enforcement action. 
Formal enforcement action may result in assessment of civil penalties and/or a Depmiment order. A 
formal enforcement action may include a civil penalty assessment for each day of violation. 

If you believe any of the facts in this Pre-Enforcement Notice me in error, you may provide written 
information to me at the address shown at the top of the letter. The Depmiment will consider new 
information you submit and take appropriate action. 

The Department intends to assist you in your compliance efforts. Should you have any questions 
about the content of this letter, feel free contact me in writing or by phone at 541-298-7255 x230. 

Sincerely, 

~~ ... 
Bob Schwarz, PE 
Permit Engineer 

Copy: Office of Compliance and Enforcement, DEQ Headqumiers 

o 
IkQ.[)(I 



J a m e s  L  D e n s o n  J r .
7 2 2 7  N E  5 5 t h  A v e

P o r t l a n d  O R ,  9 7 2 1 8

( 6 0 2 )  7 5 7 - 3 3 5 2
F A X  7 1 3 - 2 8 6 - 7 4 0 6

20140328 RBLF PEN Response Draft (3/28/2014) 

March 28, 2014          VIA U.S. MAIL & E-MAIL 

Bob Schwartz P.E. 
Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 
Eastern Region-The Dalles Office 
400 East Scenic Drive, Suite 307 
The Dalles, OR 97058 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice Riverbend Landfill 
PEN - LQ-ERD-2014-0020 
Solid Waste Disposal Site Permit # 345 

Dear Mr. Schwartz: 

Riverbend Landfill Co. (RBLF) in compliance with the March 17th, 2014 ODEQ Pre-Enforcement 
Notice (PEN) is submitting this report addressing PEN Requested Corrective Action item # 3 that 
requires RBLF to  identify “what measures have already been taken and what additional measures will 
be taken, along with a schedule for implementation of those measures to avoid these problems in the 
future”.

This report outlines the corrective actions taken by RBLF to manage the re-occurrence of leachate 
migrating past the landfill boundary. 

Actions Completed to date; 
1. Removed 150 feet of existing French drain trench and piping underneath stormwater control 

berm, backfilled trench and installed Four (4) sumps that extend 1 foot below perimeter road 
elevation. 

2. Reinstalled and extended existing stormwater control berm at toe of  North Slope  
3. Excavated impacted soils outside of  landfill footprint from the Jan 28th seep incident and 

repaired impacted area.   
4. Implemented post mitigation observations of the area multiple times per day to ensure no 

additional leachate seeps occurred in the area and mitigation measures were effective. 
5. As a result of the Feb 19th Seep event; vacuumed impacted area between landfill and creek 

removed approx. 12k gallons of leachate/snowmelt mixture and properly disposed. 
6. Implemented post mitigation observations of the area each day to ensure no additional leachate 

seeps are occurring in the area. 
7. Installed 250 feet of diversion berm at toe of North Slope and installed two (2) collection sumps. 
8. Installed North Leachate tank overfill alarms with auto dialer 
9. Installed North Tank Leachate tank bypass line to leachate pond 
10. Placed additional 7,000 yards of cover soils on North slope 
11. Initiated and finalized third party creek impact assessment, assessment indicated no impacts to 

wildlife or the environment 
12. Initiated third party soils assessment for impacted soils in the between the landfill and the creek. 



March 28, 2014

- 2 - 

Actions in process; 
1. Finalize impacted soils assessment by SCS with recommendations. Due April 1st

2. Placing additional 15,000 yards of cover soils on North Slope to achieve 24” cover soil 
thickness on entire North Slope. Placement of the remainder of the cover will be completed by 
May 30th , weather permitting.  

3. Add fourth 22K storage tank to North Leachate tank area. Planned for installation by May 30th

weather permitting. 

We appreciate the opportunity to respond to with the actions taken on this issue. RBLF believes 
that the actions outlined above have served to; 

� Identify all potential impacts to the environment as a result of the two incidents, and 
� Significantly increased the margin of safety for ensuring the events identified in the PEN 

do not re-occur. 

Thank you again for your assistance with this important issue. If you have any questions or 
concerns, please feel free to contact me at (602) 757-3352 or by email at jdenson@wm.com . 

Sincerely,

James Denson 
          Oregon Environmental Protection Manager 

CC

 Facility File 
Lissa Druback, ODEQ via E-mail 

Sincerely,



regon 
John A. Kitzhaber, MDI Governor 

Certified Mail: 7014 120000003483 0878 

November 3,2014 

Paul Bums 
Riverbend Landfill Co. 
13469 SW Highway 18 
McMinnville, OR 97218 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice 
File Number: 106959 
WQ/SW -PEN-WRE-20 14-0074 
Common Name: Riverbend Landfill 
YamhiII County 

Dear Mr. Bums: 

. Deparhnent of Environmental Quality 
Western Region Eugene ?ffice 

165 East 7th Avenue, Suite 100 
Eugene, OR 97401 

(541) 686-7838 
FAX (541) 686-7551 

TTY 711 

The Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) reviewed the 2013-2014 Dischal'ge Monitoring Report 
for Riverbend Landfill Co. In this DMR, you reported exceeding the daily maximum limit for total zinc. 
It also appears that you were unable to perfonn the requITed follow-up monitoring in Schedule B.2. e. iii 
due to a lack bf discharge at Outfall 2. 

DEQ has concluded that this facility is responsible for the following violation of Oregon EnvITomnental 
Law: 

VIOLATION(S) 
Oregon Revised Statnte 468B.025(2) reqUITes compliance with DEQ pennits. The reported concentration 
of total zinc on May 9, 2014 was 0.42 mgIL. This discharge level exceeds the permit numeric effluent 
limit of 0.20 mgIL (permit Schedule A.2) by 50 percent or more. This is a Class I violation in accordance 
with OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k)(A). Class I violations are considered to be the most serious, and Class III. 
violations are the least serious. 

CORRECTNE ACTIONeS): 
If you have not already perfonned the reqUITed follow up monitoring in Schedule B.2.e.iii of the pennit, 
please perfOlID the follow up sampling and, if necessary, submit an exceedance report in accordance with 
Schedule B.9 of the permit within 60 days. 

Schedule B.2.e.iii requITes that the pel1l)ittee conduct follow-up monitoring of any pollutant that exceeds 
the numeric effluent limit(s) within 30 days (or during the next measurable stonn event should none occur 
withiu 30 days) of receiving the monitoring results. 

Exceeding total zinc pennit limits can negatively impact stream habitat and aquatic species. Therefore, 
the violation listed above has heen referred to DEQ's Office of Compliance and Enforcement for fonnal 
enforcement action, which may include assessment of civil penalties and/or issuance of a Department 
Order. A fonnal enforcement action may include a civil penalty assessment for each day of violation. 



If you believe any of the facts in this Pre-Enforcement Notice are in error, you may provide written 
information to me at the address shown at the top of the letter. DEQ will consider neW infOlmation you 
submit aud take appropriate action. 

DEQ endeavors to assist you in your compliauce efforts. Should you have auy questions about the couteut of 
this letter or if you desire auy follow-up techuical assistauce, feel free contact to me in writing or by phone at 
(541) 687-7343. 

Sincerely, 

Mark Riedel-Bash, RG 
Stormwater Specialist 

cc: Source File - DEQ Eugene 
Zach Loboy, Water Quality Manager - DEQ Eugene Office 
Denise Miller- DEQ Eugene 
Office of Compliauce aud Enforcement- DEQ Headquarters 



BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF 
OPERATING OFFICER TO ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM 
LICENSE TO FOREST GROVE TRANSFER STATION FOR 
DELIVERY AND DISPOSAL OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE AT THE 
RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, 
OREGON 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION NO.  14-4571A 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating 
Officer Martha Bennett in 
concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes  

 
WHEREAS, the Metro Code requires a non-system license of any person that delivers solid waste 

generated from within the Metro Region to a non-system disposal facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Forest Grove Transfer Station (“FGTS”) holds Metro Solid Waste Facility Non-System 
License No. N-010-13A, which expires on December 31, 2014; and   
 

WHEREAS, FGTS has filed a complete application seeking renewal of the non-system license to 
deliver putrescible waste to the Riverbend Landfill for disposal under the provisions of Metro Code 
Chapter 5.05, “Solid Waste Flow Control;” and 

WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 5.05 provides that applications for non-system licenses for 
putrescible waste shall be reviewed by the Chief Operating Officer and are subject to approval or denial 
by the Metro Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer has analyzed the application and considered the relevant 

factors under the Metro Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, Riverbend Landfill is in the process of seeking expansion of the landfill to increase 

capacity by approximately 15 years; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Metro Council finds that disposing of putrescible waste generated within the 

Metro region in Riverbend Landfill after 2016 may not be in the best interests of the region; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer recommends that the non-system license be renewed 
together with specific conditions as provided in this Resolution and Exhibit A to this Resolution; now 
therefore, 
 

THE METRO COUNCIL RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The non-system license renewal application of FGTS is approved subject to the terms, 
conditions, and limitations contained in this Resolution and Exhibit A to this Resolution. 
 

2. The Chief Operating Officer is authorized to issue to FGTS a renewed Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License substantially similar to the one attached as Exhibit A. 
 

2.3. The Chief Operating Officer should consider any future application to send putrescible waste to 
Riverbend Landfill as a new application, not a renewal, and should evaluate landfill capacity 
when determining whether a non-system license should be issued.  

 
  



ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ____ day of _______, 2014. 
 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
 Tom Hughes, Council President 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



Agenda Item No. 4.7 

 
 
 
 

Resolution  No. 14-4572, For the Purpose of Authorizing the 
Chief Operating Officer to Issue a Renewed Non-System License 
to West Linn Refuse & Recycling, Inc. for Delivery of Putrescible 

Waste to Canby Transfer & Recycling, Inc. for the Purpose of 
Transfer and Disposal at the Riverbend Landfill in Yamhill 

County  
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTIONS  
 

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



 
WJ:bjl 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\West Linn Refuse\N-119-15\West Linn_RES_14-4572.docx 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF 
OPERATING OFFICER TO ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM 
LICENSE TO WEST LINN REFUSE AND RECYCLING, INC. FOR 
DELIVERY OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE TO CANBY TRANSFER 
AND RECYCLING, INC. FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSFER 
AND DISPOSAL AT THE RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN 
YAMHILL COUNTY, OREGON 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION NO.  14-4572 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating 
Officer Martha Bennett in 
concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes 

 
WHEREAS, the Metro Code requires a non-system license of any person that delivers solid waste 

generated from within the Metro Region to a non-system disposal facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, West Linn Refuse and Recycling, Inc. (“WLR”) holds Metro Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License No. N-119-13, which expires on December 31, 2014; and   
 

WHEREAS, WLR has filed a complete application seeking renewal of the non-system license to 
deliver putrescible waste to Canby Transfer and Recycling, Inc. for the purpose of transfer to the Riverbend 
Landfill for disposal under the provisions of Metro Code Chapter 5.05, “Solid Waste Flow Control;” and 

WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 5.05 provides that applications for non-system licenses for 
putrescible waste shall be reviewed by the Chief Operating Officer and are subject to approval or denial by 
the Metro Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer has analyzed the application and considered the relevant 

factors under the Metro Code; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer recommends that the non-system license be renewed 
together with specific conditions as provided in Exhibit A to this Resolution; now therefore, 
 

THE METRO COUNCIL RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The non-system license renewal application of WLR is approved subject to the terms, conditions, 
and limitations contained in Exhibit A to this Resolution. 
 

2. The Chief Operating Officer is authorized to issue to WLR a renewed Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License substantially similar to the one attached as Exhibit A. 

 
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ____ day of _______, 2014. 
 
 

 __________________________________ 
 Tom Hughes, Council President 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



Exhibit A to Resolution No. 14-4572 
600 NORTHEAST GRAND AVENUE PORTLAND, OREGON 97232 2736 

TEL 503 797 1835   FAX 503 813 7544 

 

 
METRO SOLID WASTE FACILITY  

NON-SYSTEM LICENSE 
 

No. N-119-15 
 
 

LICENSEE: 

West Linn Refuse & Recycling, Inc. 
1600 SE 4th Avenue 
Canby, OR 97013 

CONTACT PERSON: 

Andy Kahut 
Phone:  (503) 936-3743 
Fax:      (503) 263-6477 
E-mail:  akahut@kahutwasteservices.com  

MAILING ADDRESS: 

West Linn Refuse & Recycling, Inc. 
P.O. Box 550 
Canby, OR 97013 

 
 
 
 
ISSUED BY METRO: 
 
 
 
 
   
Scott Robinson, Deputy Chief Operating Officer  Date 
 
  

mailto:akahut@kahutwasteservices.com


  West Linn Refuse & Recycling Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-119-15 
  Page 2 of 5 

 

1 NATURE OF WASTE COVERED BY LICENSE 
 Putrescible solid waste that is generated by residential and commercial 

customers within the Metro region and collected by West Linn Refuse & 
Recycling, Inc.  

 

2 CALENDAR YEAR TONNAGE LIMITATION 
 Licensee is authorized to deliver to the non-system facility listed in Section 3 of 

this license up to 9,000 tons per calendar year of the waste described in Section 
1 of this license. 

 

3 NON-SYSTEM FACILITY 
 The Licensee hereunder may deliver the waste described in Section 1, above, 

only to the following non-system facility for the purpose of transfer to the 
Riverbend Landfill for disposal: 

Canby Transfer & Recycling, Inc. 
1600 SE 4th Avenue 
Canby, OR 97013 

This license is issued on condition that the non-system facility and disposal site 
named in this section are authorized to accept the type of waste described in 
Section 1.  If Metro receives notice from the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality or local regulatory authority that the non-system facility or 
disposal site are not authorized to accept such waste, Metro may immediately 
terminate this license pursuant to Section 7 of this license. 

 

4 TERM OF LICENSE 
 The term of this license will commence on January 1, 2015 and expire at 

midnight on December 31, 2016, unless terminated sooner under Section 7 of 
this license.   

 

5 REPORTING OF ACCIDENTS AND CITATIONS 
 Licensee shall report to Metro any significant incidents (such as fires), 

accidents, and citations involving vehicles transporting the solid waste 
authorized by this license. 

 
  



  West Linn Refuse & Recycling Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-119-15 
  Page 3 of 5 

  

6 RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING 

 (a) The Licensee shall keep and maintain accurate records of the amount of 
all solid waste that the Licensee delivers to the non-system facility 
described in Section 3 of this license.  The Licensee shall keep and 
maintain complete and accurate records of the following for all 
transactions with the authorized non-system facility: 

i. Ticket or weight slip number from the non-system facility; 
ii. Material category designating the type of material transferred to 

the non-system facility; 
iii. Date the load was transferred to the non-system facility; 
iv. Time the load was transferred to the non-system facility; 
v. Net weight of the load; and 
vi. Fee charged by the non-system facility 

(b) No later than the fifteenth (15th) day of each month, beginning with the 
first month following the commencement date of this license, Licensee 
shall:  

i. Transmit the records required under Section 6(a) above to Metro 
in an electronic format prescribed by Metro; 

ii. Submit to Metro a Regional System Fee and Excise Tax Report, 
that covers the preceding month; and 

iii. Remit to Metro the requisite Regional System Fees and Excise 
Tax in accordance with the Metro Code provisions applicable to 
the collection, payment, and accounting of such fees and taxes. 

(c) Licensee shall make all records from which Sections 6(a) and 6(b) above 
are derived available to Metro (or Metro’s designated agent) for its 
inspection or copying, as long as Metro provides no less than three (3) 
business days written notice of an intent to inspect or copy documents.  
Licensee shall, in addition, sign or otherwise provide to Metro any 
consent or waiver necessary for Metro to obtain information or data from 
a third party, including the non-system facility named in Section 3, above. 

 

7 ADDITIONAL LICENSE CONDITIONS 

 This license shall be subject to the following conditions: 
(a) The permissive transfer of solid waste to the non-system facility, listed in 

Section 3, authorized by this license shall be subordinate to any 
subsequent decision by Metro to direct the solid waste described in this 
license to any other facility. 

(b) This license shall be subject to amendment, modification or termination 
by Metro’s Chief Operating Officer (the “COO”) in the event that the COO 



  West Linn Refuse & Recycling Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-119-15 
  Page 4 of 5 

 
determines that: 

i. There has been sufficient change in any circumstances under 
which Metro issued this license; 

ii. The provisions of this license are actually or potentially in conflict 
with any provision in Metro’s disposal contract with Waste 
Management Disposal Services of Oregon, Inc., dba Oregon 
Waste Systems, Inc.; or 

iii. Metro’s solid waste system or the public will benefit from, and will 
be better served by, an order directing that the waste described in 
Section 1 of this license be transferred to, and disposed of at, a 
facility other than the facility described in Section 3. 

(c) This license shall, in addition to subsections (b)(i) through (iii), above, be 
subject to amendment, modification, termination, or suspension pursuant 
to the Metro Code. 

(d) Licensee shall not transfer or assign any right or interest in this license 
without prior written notification to, and approval of, Metro. 

(e) This license shall terminate upon the execution of a designated facility 
agreement with the facility listed in Section 3 that authorizes the facility to 
accept the waste described in Section 1 of this license. 

(f) This license authorizes delivery of solid waste to the facility listed in 
Section 3.  Transfer of waste generated from within the Metro boundary 
to any non-system facility other than that specified in this license is 
prohibited unless authorized in writing by Metro. 

(g) If the Licensee exceeds the calendar year limitation set forth in Section 2 
of this license, each ton or portion thereof by which the Licensee exceeds 
the limitation constitutes a separate violation subject to a penalty of up to 
$500. 

 

8 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 
 Licensee shall fully comply with all applicable local, regional, state and federal 

laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, orders, and permits pertaining in any 
manner to this license, including all applicable Metro Code provisions and 
administrative procedures adopted pursuant to Chapter 5.05 whether or not 
those provisions have been specifically mentioned or cited herein.  All 
conditions imposed on the collection and hauling of the Licensee’s solid waste 
by federal, state, regional or local governments or agencies having jurisdiction 
over solid waste generated by the Licensee shall be deemed part of this license 
as if specifically set forth herein. 

 
  



  West Linn Refuse & Recycling Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-119-15 
  Page 5 of 5 

  

9 INDEMNIFICATION 
 Licensee shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Metro, its elected officials, 

officers, employees, agents and representatives from any and all claims, 
demands, damages, causes of action, or losses and expenses, or including all 
attorneys’ fees, whether incurred before any litigation is commenced, during any 
litigation or on appeal, arising out of or related in any way to the issuance or 
administration of this non-system license or the transport and disposal of the 
solid waste covered by this license. 

 
 

WJ:bjl 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\West Linn Refuse\N-119-15\West Linn_N-119-15.docx 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4572 
Page 1 of 6 

STAFF REPORT 
 
IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 14-4572 AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER TO 
ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM LICENSE TO WEST LINN REFUSE AND RECYCLING, INC. FOR DELIVERY OF 
PUTRESCIBLE WASTE TO CANBY TRANSFER AND RECYCLING, INC. FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSFER AND 
DISPOSAL AT THE RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, OREGON 
 
November 25, 2014 Prepared by:  Roy W. Brower 
  503-797-1657 
 
Approval of Resolution No. 14-4572 will authorize the Chief Operating Officer (COO) to issue a two-year 
non-system license renewal (NSL), similar to the proposed license attached to this resolution as Exhibit A, to 
West Linn Refuse and Recycling, Inc. (WLR).  The proposed NSL will authorize WLR to deliver up to 9,000 
tons per calendar year of putrescible waste from the Metro region to Canby Transfer and Recycling, Inc. 
(Canby Transfer) for the purpose of transfer and disposal at Riverbend Landfill (Riverbend) located in 
Yamhill County, Oregon.  The proposed NSL, which is set to expire on December 31, 2016, renews the 
same authorization that WLR has held since 2005.   
 
The applicant (WLR) and the destination facility (Canby Transfer) are both affiliated with KB Recycling, 
Inc. headquartered in Canby, Oregon.  KB recycling also owns and operates a Metro-licensed material 
recovery facility1 located at 9602 SE Clackamas Road, in Clackamas (Metro Council District 2). 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 

(1) Background 
 
Metro is responsible for regulating and managing the disposal of solid waste generated in the region.2  
NSLs are the main authorization vehicle by which Metro authorizes the delivery of putrescible solid 
waste to facilities located outside the Metro region.  NSLs are also used by Metro to manage its 
contractual obligation to deliver a minimum of 90 percent of the region’s putrescible waste, which is 
delivered to general purpose landfills, to landfills owned by Waste Management (also known as “the 
flow guarantee”).  NSLs allow Metro to closely monitor and potentially guide waste flows to other 
authorized facilities in order to comply with the flow guarantee.   
 
Metro has a practice of allowing waste haulers and transfer stations located within the Metro region to 
select their disposal sites provided that the:  

1) Use of such disposal site does not violate Metro Code or any of Metro’s waste-related contracts,  
2) Appropriate Regional System Fee and Excise Tax is collected and remitted to Metro for the 

waste delivered to the disposal site, and  
3) Disposal site is appropriately authorized by the local and state regulatory authorities.  (In the 

case of the Riverbend Landfill, the primary authorizing agencies would include Yamhill County 
and the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ)). 

 

                                                 
1 Metro Solid Waste Facility License No. L-007-12 
2Oregon Revised Statute Chapters 268 and 459; Metro Charter and Metro Code Chapter 5.05. 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4572 
Page 2 of 6 

In December 2013, Metro entered into a designated facility agreement with Riverbend.3  This 
agreement, which expires at the end of 2019, allows certain types of Metro-area waste (such as non-
putrescible processing residual, cleanup waste and special waste) to be delivered to the landfill without 
the need for haulers or persons delivering the waste to obtain an NSL.  Designated facility agreements 
(DFAs) do not include the acceptance of Metro-area putrescible waste.  Therefore, NSLs are required for 
any hauler to deliver such waste to any landfill, including Riverbend.  NSLs are typically issued for a 
period of two years; while DFAs generally have 5-year terms. 
 
Resolution No. 14-4572 would grant an NSL to WLR to deliver Metro-area putrescible waste to a land 
disposal site owned by Waste Management located in Yamhill County.  This NSL controls a portion of the 
90 percent of waste that is guaranteed to Waste Management under Metro’s disposal contract which 
runs through 2019.  Metro Council is scheduled to consider five such resolutions that will authorize the 
delivery of putrescible waste to Riverbend during the next two years.  In addition to this action for WLR, 
the Council is scheduled to consider similar resolutions for Pride Recycling Company (Res. No. 14-4569), 
Willamette Resources, Inc. (Res. No. 14-4570), Hoodview Disposal and Recycling, Inc. (Res. No. 14-4573), 
and Forest Grove Transfer Station (Res. No. 14-4571) at its meeting on December 4, 2014. 
 

(2) The Applicant 
 
In November 2012, the Metro Council granted WLR an NSL4 to deliver a maximum of 9,000 tons per 
calendar year of putrescible waste, collected from its routes located inside the Metro region, to Canby 
Transfer for the purpose of consolidation and transfer to Riverbend for disposal.  The term of the NSL 
commenced on January 1, 2013, and is set to expire on December 31, 2014.  WLR delivered 
approximately 6,800 tons of putrescible waste to Riverbend in 2013 and about 5,750 tons to the landfill 
so far in 2014 (through October).   
 
On June 10, 2014, WLR submitted an application to Metro seeking to renew its NSL with the same 
tonnage authorization.  Adoption of Resolution No. 14-4572 would authorize the COO to issue an NSL to 
WLR to annually deliver up to 9,000 tons of Metro-area putrescible waste to Canby Transfer, for 
ultimate disposal at Riverbend through 2016. 
 
ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 
 
1. Known Opposition 
 
The putrescible waste subject to the proposed NSL will be delivered to Riverbend for disposal.  There is 
no known opposition within the Metro region for delivery of Metro-area waste to authorized disposal 
sites located outside of the region.  Within Yamhill County, there is known local public opposition to 
expanding the capacity of the landfill and general concern expressed by some local citizens about the 
disposal of waste generated outside of the County, including Metro-area waste, at Riverbend especially 
if Metro-area waste contributes to the need for expanded capacity at the landfill.  
 

                                                 
3 Metro Contract No. 932399   
4 NSL No. N-119-13 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4572 
Page 3 of 6 

As part of its authorization process for NSLs, Metro asks the local host government whether the 
destination facility is in compliance with local laws and whether it has any issues, concerns, or objections 
to the delivery of Metro-area waste to the disposal site within its jurisdiction.   
 
Yamhill County is responsible for local land use decisions regarding Riverbend.  On October 22, 2014, the 
County’s solid waste staff sent a letter to Metro stating that the County had no issues with Riverbend’s 
acceptance of Metro-area waste (see Attachment 2).  The letter also indicated that the landfill has a 
history of operating in compliance with the County’s license agreement.    
 
On November 13, 2014, the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners sent a letter to the Metro Council 
responding to Metro’s request for input on the proposed NSL renewals (see Attachment 2).  The County 
Commissioners informed Metro that the landfill has a history of operating in compliance with the 
County and DEQ requirements and that the landfill has met the County’s licensing agreement and 
regulatory requirements related to environmental protection.  The County also indicated that Waste 
Management has demonstrated a commitment to work in partnership with the County in the 
development of green technology, ongoing operational improvements at the landfill, waste diversion, 
implementation of a public recycling center and development of a stewardship plan for lands that will 
not be used for land disposal. 
 
On September 10, 2014, the City Manager of McMinnville provided Metro with a letter expressing the 
City’s concerns about the importation of Metro-area waste to Riverbend (see Attachment 2).  While the 
landfill is not located within the City’s jurisdiction, the landfill is located in close proximity to its 
boundary and some waste haulers travel on the City’s roads en route to the landfill. 
 
In addition to the above, Riverbend is permitted by DEQ to accept solid waste and DEQ has not objected 
to the landfill receiving Metro-area waste for disposal.   
 
Currently, the Riverbend Landfill is expected to reach capacity sometime during 2016 or early 2017 
based on Waste Management’s projection of solid waste tons disposed at the landfill and without 
additional approval to expand the landfill’s capacity.  Waste Management is pursuing an expansion in 
order to lengthen the life of the landfill.  Although approval of Resolution No. 14-4572 would authorize 
WLR to deliver waste to the landfill, via Canby Transfer, the proposed NSL does not obligate Riverbend 
to accept Metro-area waste.   This is noted for Council’s consideration because the landfill seeks to 
expand its capacity.  Attachment 1 provides a more in depth overview of the expansion request and 
approval process 
 
2. Legal Antecedents 
 
Metro Code Section 5.05.025 prohibits any person from utilizing non-system facilities without an 
appropriate license from Metro.  Additionally, Code Section 5.05.043 provides that, when determining 
whether or not to approve an NSL application, the Council shall consider the following factors to the 
extent relevant to such determination. 
 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4572 
Page 4 of 6 

(1) The degree to which prior users of the non-system facility and waste types accepted at 
the non-system facility are known and the degree to which such wastes pose a future 
risk of environmental contamination; 

 
The proposed non-system facility is a transfer station rather than a landfill and thus does not pose the 
same potential environmental risk from wastes delivered from prior users.  Canby Transfer began 
operations in 1996 and services only affiliated hauling companies including WLR and Hoodview Disposal 
and Recycling, Inc. located in the Metro region.  Staff is not aware of any wastes collected by WLR and 
accepted at Canby Transfer that could pose a risk of environmental contamination. 
 
Riverbend first came into use during the mid-eighties and became a permitted RCRA Subtitle D5 landfill 
in 1993.  At that time, the original unlined cells were capped and the landfill has been filling only lined 
cells and operating with the environmental controls required by DEQ.  The environmental risk associated 
with the use of this disposal site is regulated by the appropriate local and state authorities.  It has been 
Metro’s practice to rely on the local land use authority and the state environmental agency to 
determine whether environmental or human health risks posed are known, reasonable and appropriate.  
Riverbend had two compliance issues during 2014 that are detailed in (2) below. 
 

(2) The record of regulatory compliance of the non-system facility’s owner and operator 
with federal, state and local requirements including but not limited to public health, 
safety and environmental rules and regulations; 

 
KB Recycling owns and operates Canby Transfer and Waste Management owns and operates Riverbend 
(as well as the Forest Grove Transfer Station, Troutdale Transfer Station, Tualatin Valley Waste Recovery 
Facility, Hillsboro Landfill, Newberg Transfer Station, and the Columbia Ridge Landfill).  Metro staff’s 
investigation of these companies has revealed a generally good record of compliance with local and 
state agencies responsible for health, safety, land use, and environmental regulations. 
 
However, DEQ issued two pre-enforcement notices to Waste Management for violations at Riverbend in 
2014.  One of these enforcement actions has been resolved and the other has not.  A copy of the DEQ 
notices and Waste Management’s responses are provided in Attachment 3. These notices are also 
summarized below: 
 

• March 17, 2014, Pre-Enforcement Notice (Resolved).   
o On January 28, 2014, DEQ inspectors observed leachate escaping from the north side of 

the landfill.  The leachate migrated beyond the perimeter of the landfill but did not 
appear to travel far.  The leachate appeared to originate from an old French drain along 
the landfill’s perimeter that was clogged as the result of recent construction of a 
stormwater diversion swale.  (Class 2 Violation) 

o On February 10, 2014, landfill personnel observed and reported leachate escaping from 
the landfill’s northern boundary.  The leachate incident appeared to have been 
unrelated to the earlier release.  The leachate observed at that time was primarily liquid 
that had collected in the landfill’s gas extraction wells and migrated to a creek about 
300 feet from the landfill.  (Class 1 Violation) 

                                                 
5 Subtitle D landfill standards are established nationally under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4572 
Page 5 of 6 

o Waste Management took several corrective actions to address the migration of leachate 
past the landfill boundary and DEQ considers this matter to be resolved.  (See March 28, 
2014 letter from Waste Management to DEQ listing corrective actions taken.) 

 
• November 3, 2014, Pre-Enforcement Notice (Unresolved). 

o In Riverbend’s 2013-14 Discharge Monitoring Report, Waste Management reported 
exceeding its daily maximum limit for total zinc and the landfill was subsequently unable 
to perform the follow-up monitoring as required.  (Class 1 Violation). 

o This matter has been referred to DEQ’s Office of Compliance and Enforcement for 
formal enforcement action, which may include assessment of civil penalties or issuance 
of an Order. 

 
(3) The adequacy of operational practices and management controls at the non-system 

facility; 
 

Canby Transfer and Riverbend are permitted by the DEQ.  Canby Transfer uses operational practices and 
management controls that are typical of transfer stations and that Metro considers adequate for the 
protection of health and the environment.   
 
In addition, Riverbend uses operational practices and management controls that are typical of RCRA 
Subtitle D landfills.  Riverbend became permitted as a Subtitle D landfill in 1993 which put in place new 
requirements6 to minimize risk of future environmental contamination at the site.  Staff at the DEQ 
considers the operational practices and controls in place at Riverbend to be appropriate for the proper 
management of waste disposal and adequate for the protection of health and the environment but have 
had two recent enforcement actions as detailed in (2) above. 
 

(4) The expected impact on the region’s recycling and waste reduction efforts; 
 
The proposed license covers the disposal of putrescible solid waste, which currently has limited recovery 
potential.  This license puts no long-term constraint on the waste should recovery alternatives emerge 
for the region.  Thus, approval of the proposed NSL renewal is not expected to impact the region’s 
recycling and waste reduction efforts.   
 

(5) The consistency of issuing the license with Metro’s existing contractual arrangements; 
 
Through 2019, Metro has a contractual obligation to deliver a minimum of 90 percent of the region’s 
putrescible waste, which is delivered to general purpose landfills during the calendar year, to landfills 
owned by Waste Management.  The proposed NSL covers putrescible waste that will be delivered to 
Riverbend, which is owned and operated by Waste Management.  Thus, approval of this NSL renewal 
will not conflict with Metro’s disposal contract or any other of its existing contractual arrangements.  
The denial of this NSL would require WLR to either deliver its putrescible waste to one of the region’s 
transfer stations or obtain an NSL to deliver this waste to Waste Management’s Columbia Ridge Landfill 
located in Gilliam County. 

                                                 
6 In the 1990’s, RCRA required all general purpose solid waste landfills to install synthetic liners, leachate collection systems, groundwater 
monitoring and gas collection systems to lessen the impact on surrounding communities and the environment.   



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4572 
Page 6 of 6 

 
(6) The record of the applicant regarding compliance with Metro ordinances and 

agreements or assistance to Metro in Metro ordinance enforcement and with federal, 
state and local requirements including but not limited to public health, safety and 
environmental rules and regulations; and 

 
WLR is currently in compliance with its Metro-issued NSL.  The applicant has not had any compliance 
issues with regard to Metro regulations within the last two years.   
  

(7) Such other factors as the Chief Operating Officer deems appropriate for purposes of 
making such determination. 

 
An additional factor that is related to this NSL application and the proposed NSL is the available future 
disposal capacity of Riverbend.  In 2013, Riverbend received approval to build a mechanically stabilized 
earthen berm (MSE), similar to berms used in road construction projects.  The berm will give the landfill 
additional short-term capacity.  At the current fill rate, Waste Management estimates the landfill has 
capacity to operate through 2016 or early 2017 without some additional expansion approval or waste 
diversion.  On November 5, Waste Management submitted a landfill expansion application to Yamhill 
County for site design approval.  The application includes a lateral expansion of 37 acres.   Attachment 1 
to this staff report provides background information which updates Council on waste flow, expansion 
matters, and pending government decisions relative to the landfill’s expansion.  Should conditions 
change, Metro may modify, suspend, or terminate NSLs or redirect waste flow to other landfills. 
  
3. Anticipated Effects 
 
The effect of Resolution No. 14-4572 will be to issue a two-year NSL authorizing WLR to deliver up to 
9,000 tons per calendar year of putrescible waste to Canby Transfer for the purpose of consolidation 
and transfer to Riverbend for disposal. 
 
4. Budget/Rate Impacts 
 
Since Riverbend is owned and operated by Waste Management there is no impact to Metro’s obligation 
under the disposal contract.  In addition, the Regional System Fee and Excise Tax will continue to be 
collected on Metro-area waste delivered to Riverbend under the authority of the proposed NSL.  The 
application under consideration is the renewal of a current NSL therefore; any financial impact of this 
NSL to Metro has already been factored into the budget.      
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
The COO recommends approval of Resolution No. 14-4572, finding that the license renewal satisfies the 
requirements of Metro Code Section 5.05.043.  Approval of Resolution No. 14-4572 will authorize the 
COO to issue an NSL, similar to the one attached to the resolution as Exhibit A, to WLR for a two-year 
period commencing on January 1, 2015 and expiring on December 31, 2016. 
 
 
WJ/RB 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\West Linn Refuse\N-119-15\West Linn_RES_14-4572_stf report.docx 
 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4572 
Page 1 of 5 

Summary of Riverbend Landfill Expansion Information 
 

Riverbend Landfill, located in Yamhill County, is used as a primary disposal site for several privately-
owned haulers and transfer stations within the Metro region (generally located in Washington and 
northern Clackamas Counties).  Riverbend’s ongoing disposal capacity is germane to Metro Council’s 
decision regarding whether to approve non-system licenses (NSLs) that authorize the use of the landfill 
as a disposal site since there is some uncertainty about future available capacity and how quickly 
pending approvals for expanded capacity will be processed.  
 
In 2014, Waste Management received approval to construct a mechanically stabilized earthen berm 
(MSE).  This berm was constructed in 2014 and solid waste was disposed within the berm area starting 
in October 2014.  At the current fill rate, Waste Management estimates that Riverbend now has capacity 
to operate through 2016 or early 2017 without additional expansion.  On November 5, 2014, Waste 
Management submitted a site design request to Yamhill County to construct a 37-acre lateral expansion 
of the landfill footprint.  Waste Management also submitted a Floodplain Development Permit 
Application to the County.  Approval of this site design expansion request by Yamhill County would 
move the request to the next stage of the approval process.  DEQ must also approve the expansion 
request.  An expansion decision is expected to be completed by the two agencies at the end of 2015 or 
early 2016.  If DEQ approves the landfill expansion, it will provide the landfill with approximately 15 
years of additional capacity.   
 
Should the landfill expansion not occur or be delayed beyond that time, Metro’s existing NSLs could be 
modified, suspended, or terminated as necessary to redirect waste flows to other landfills and would be 
up for reconsideration by Metro Council at the end of 2016.  If Riverbend was no longer a disposal 
option, Metro would likely divert the tonnage going there to the Columbian Ridge Landfill in order to 
maintain compliance with its disposal contract – both landfills are owned by Waste Management.  NSLs 
contain a standard provision that allows Metro to take such action based on a change in any 
circumstance under which Metro initially issued the license (for instance, if Metro later determines that 
there is a lack of capacity at Riverbend or Yamhill County requests that Metro stop further waste 
deliveries to the landfill, Metro could modify, suspend, or terminate the NSL).  In addition, a Metro-
approved NSL does not require Riverbend to accept solid waste from its customers should it encounter 
capacity limitations.  It is also plausible that new issues about the landfill expansion could be raised 
during the two-year term of these proposed licenses – in which case Metro could take necessary action 
to modify the NSLs. 
 
Riverbend Landfill 
The current landfill footprint is 85 acres and the company owns over 702 acres on the site of which 145 
acres are potentially slated for landfilling.  Waste Management is holding a series of public meetings in 
Yamhill County to discuss various site issues including the potential expansion, future green waste 
technology and the community’s use of other portions of its site that are not designated for disposal 
(such as park or agricultural use).  Yamhill County and DEQ are expected to hold 2-3 public hearings on 
the landfill expansion decision over the next year.   
 
Waste Management has also pursued other options to lessen dependency on the landfill, including 
diversion of non-putrescible waste away from the landfill and directing it to the Tualatin Valley Waste 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4572 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4572 
Page 2 of 5 

Recovery facility in Hillsboro and relocation of the public recycling center to a more convenient location 
at the landfill site. 
 
 
 
Figure 1 provides a general overview map of the landfill indicating the existing landfill, expansion areas 
and stewardship lands. 
 

Figure 1:  Riverbend Landfill  
(Source: Waste Management) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Waste Facts 
In calendar year 2013, Waste Management reported about 465,000 tons of solid waste was delivered to 
Riverbend from all sources (Table 1).  Of these 465,000 tons, about 223,000 tons (48 percent) originated 
inside the Metro district. The balance came from areas outside of Metro (52 percent). 
 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4572 
Page 3 of 5 

In addition to the solid waste received for disposal, Riverbend accepted about another 57,000 tons of 
contaminated soils that were used for landfill operations, mainly alternative daily cover (Table 1).  Of 
these 57,000 additional tons, about 42,000 originated inside the Metro boundary (Table 2). 
 

Table 1 
Materials Received at Riverbend Landfill in 

2013 

 Table 2 
Materials Generated in the Metro District and Received at  

Riverbend Landfill in 2013 
Solid Waste     

From inside 
Oregon 

464,000 
 

Putrescible waste 214,000 
 

From out-of-state 1,000 Non-putrescible waste 9,000   

Total Solid Waste 465,000 Total Solid Waste 223,000 
(48% of total waste at 
Riverbend) 

ADC/Soils 57,000 ADC/soils 42,000  

Total from all sources 522,000 Total from Metro 265,000 (51% of total materials at 
Riverbend) 

Source: DEQ, Solid Waste Disposal Report (quarterly). 
All tonnage amounts are rounded to the nearest 1000. 

Source: NSL reports filed with Metro, and data reported to Metro by Riverbend. 
All tonnage amounts are rounded to the nearest 1000. 

 
Of the 223,000 tons of Metro-area solid waste disposed at Riverbend in 2013, about 214,000 tons was 
putrescible waste collected from residential and commercial generators in Washington and northern 
Clackamas counties, delivered to one of four privately-owned transfer stations, and transported in large 
top-loaded transfer trailers to Riverbend under the authority of Metro-issued NSLs (Table 3).  The 
balance, 9,000 tons, was miscellaneous solid waste – mainly industrial waste, and non-putrescible 
processing residual directly delivered to the landfill from within the Metro region and delivered under 
the authority of Metro’s designated facility agreement with Riverbend.  The Metro region delivered 
about 20,000 fewer tons of non-putrescible waste to Riverbend in 2013 than in 2011, but the Region 
accounted for a slightly larger percentage of putrescible waste in 2013 (41 percent in 2011 versus 48 
percent in 2013).  An additional 42,000 tons of contaminated soils originated in the Metro district in 
2013, and were mostly used for landfill operations, mainly alternative daily cover versus about 21,000 
tons of soil in 2011. 
 

Table 3 
Metro-Area Putrescible Waste to Riverbend Landfill in 2013 by Transfer Station 

  Putrescible Waste 
Transfer Station Location Tons Percent 

Canby TS (Hoodview/West Linn) Canby 12,861 6% 
Forest Grove TS Forest Grove 105,155 49% 
Pride Recycling Sherwood 70,827 33% 
Willamette Resources Wilsonville 25,528 12% 
Total putrescible waste 
 
Source:  NSL reports filed with Metro. 

In-District 214,371 100% 
 

 
Metro’s transfer stations and the Troutdale Transfer Station send their waste to Columbia Ridge Landfill, 
not Riverbend.  However, Riverbend serves as a back-up for these facilities whenever the Columbia 
Gorge is closed due weather problems or other emergency situations.  Metro’s transfer stations have 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4572 
Page 4 of 5 

not delivered waste to Riverbend since 2007.  Troutdale Transfer Station has delivered approximately 
489 tons of waste to Riverbend within the last two calendar years. 
 
Other Government Decisions  
Numerous governments are involved in the decision and oversight of landfills during consideration of a 
landfill expansion.  Following is brief summary of the two entities primarily responsible for decisions 
regarding aspects of the landfill expansion: 
 
• Yamhill County.   As part of its authorization process for NSLs and DFAs, Metro asks the local host 

government whether the destination facility is in compliance with local laws and whether it has any 
issues, concerns, or objections to the delivery of Metro-area waste to the disposal site within its 
jurisdiction.  Yamhill County is responsible for local land use decisions regarding the landfill.  The 
County has informed Metro that the landfill is in compliance with state and local requirements and 
there is minimal risk of future environmental contamination at the site.  See a fuller discussion in the 
staff report and see Attachment 2 for copies of relevant letters from the county.  
 
In June 2012, Yamhill County entered into a new five-year licensing agreement with Riverbend 
which replaced the previous agreement from 1994.   The term of the County’s new agreement 
became effective on July 1, 2012 and extends beyond the two-year term of this proposed NSL 
renewal.  The new agreement increases fees, based on volume, paid to the county and could 
increase County revenue by 60 percent based on previous waste disposal volumes.  The County has 
also recently determined that both the short-term expansion (berm) and longer-term expansion 
(horizontal expansion) of the landfill are outright allowable uses under its land use designation 
authority. 
 
Waste Management submitted a Site Design Review Application and a Floodplain Development 
Permit Application to the County on November 5, 2014.  Yamhill County staff will review the 
applications for compliance with its requirements.  Waste Management has already conducted a 
public meeting to explain the plan on November 11, 2014.  The County’s Planning Commission will 
hold a public hearing on December 4 and is expected to vote on the plan at its January 8, 2015 
meeting.  Once findings are written and adopted, the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners will 
review the plan and recommendation.  The Board is expected to make its decision during the spring 
of 2015.  It is expected that the Board’s decision will be appealed to the Land Use Board of Appeals 
(LUBA). 

 
• DEQ.  The chief agency responsible for permitting and environmental oversight of the landfill, DEQ 

must also approve any expansion at Riverbend as well as continually monitor the landfill’s 
environmental performance and compliance.  DEQ will begin its review of Waste Management’s 
expansion application for the proposed 37-acre lateral expansion once Yamhill County has rendered 
a site design review decision.  It is not clear what the key issues regarding the expansion proposal 
will be for DEQ.  During the approval of the MSE berm, issues regarding seismic stability and flood 
way/flood plain boundaries were raised as issues previously.  DEQ originally received the application 
for a large lateral expansion in 2009 which was subsequently withdrawn.  DEQ’s decisions on the 
landfill expansions typically are subject to a minimum 35-day public comment period and will most 
certainly involve a public hearing.   



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4572 
Page 5 of 5 

 
Impact of Landfill Closure or Waste Diversion 
If Metro-area solid waste could no longer be delivered to Riverbend for disposal for whatever reason, at 
2011 levels at least 208,000 tons of putrescible waste would ultimately have to be shifted to the 
Columbia Ridge Landfill each year under Metro’s disposal contract.  Each round trip to Columbia Ridge 
Landfill is 280 miles longer, on average, than current trips to Riverbend. This increase in transport time 
and distance would increase costs and reduce environmental sustainability in the region.  The costs 
resulting from a longer transport distance would result in the majority of increase in costs and 
environmental impact by increased carbon emissions.  The additional transport cost would be about $5 
million per year based on 2011 estimates.  This translates to an average increase of almost $24 on each 
ton shifted to Columbia Ridge Landfill from Riverbend.  Ratepayers in Washington County and northwest 
Clackamas County would bear virtually all of the cost and residential ratepayers in these counties could 
see increases of $1.40 to $1.80 per month on their garbage bills if the increases were passed along to 
the consumer. 
 
Summary 
The future long-term capacity of Riverbend and any decisions that might impact its expansion are 
relevant to Metro’s decision to allow solid waste to be disposed at the landfill.  It is a factor that will be 
continually monitored by staff.  Capacity limitations do not appear to impinge on the landfill’s ability to 
accept Metro-area waste from the current group of NSLs under consideration by Metro Council during 
the next two-year cycle – through 2016.  Metro has generally regarded these requests from the private 
sector as a market decision – provided that the: 1) use of such disposal sites does not violate Metro 
Code or any of Metro’s waste-related contracts, 2) appropriate Regional System Fee and Excise Tax is 
remitted to Metro for the waste delivered to the disposal site, and 3) receiving disposal site is 
appropriately authorized and allowed to operate by the relevant local and state regulatory authorities   
Metro has the authority to modify, suspend, or terminate its NSLs at any time if the landfill’s capacity 
becomes constrained or if Yamhill County requests that Metro restrict the flow of solid waste away from 
Riverbend. 
 
 
 
 



Attachment 2 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4571 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 2 includes comment letters received by Metro from local governments regarding 
Riverbend Landfill.  The following are included in this attachment: 

 

• Letter from Sherrie Mathison, Yamhill County Solid Waste, addressed to Roy W. Brower, 
Metro, dated October 22, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Yamhill County Board of Commissioners addressed to the Metro Council 
dated November 13, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Richard J. Olson, Mayor of City of McMinniville, addressed to the Yamhill 
County Board of Commissioners dated January 27, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Kent L. Taylor, City Manager of City of McMinniville, addressed to Roy W. 
Brower, Metro, dated September 10, 2014. 

 



 

 
Yamhill County Solid Waste 

525 NE 4th Street 
McMinnville, OR 97128 

YCSW Hotline: (503) 434-7445 
Fax: 503-434-7544 

www.ycsw.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October 22, 2014 
 
 
Roy W. Bower, Manager 
Solid Waste Compliance & Cleanup 
Metro 
600 NE Grand Ave 
Portland, Oregon 97232 
 
 
Re: Non-System License Renewal Applications to Transport Metro-Area Solid Waste to Riverbend Landfill 
 
 
Dear Roy, 
Your letter of September 9, 2014, asks if Yamhill County would have any issues with the renewal of Non-
System Licenses (“NSLs”) currently taking waste to Riverbend Landfill Incorporated (RLI).  
 
The license agreement Yamhill County has with Riverbend Landfill has allowances for out of county waste. 
Riverbend Landfill continues to make plans for the tonnages they accept both in county and out of county. 
 
Yamhill County does not have issues with the acceptance by Riverbend Landfill of this waste from the NSLs. 
 
I would also like to report that RLI has a history of operating in compliance with the Yamhill County license 
agreement and their DEQ permitting. Working under a Title V permit helps to assure the county environmental 
issues are dealt with in the everyday working of the landfill. It has been the experience over the past several 
years that RLI management has kept Yamhill County informed of any significant issues related to their day-to-
day operation.  
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me at 503-434-7445 if you have further questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Sherrie Mathison 
Yamhill County  
Solid Waste 

 

 printed on recycled paper, 25% post-consumer content 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

KATHY GEORGE· ALLEN SPruNGER· MARy STARRETT 

November 13, 2014 

535 NE Fifth Street· McMinnville, OR 97128-4523 
(503) 434-7501 0 Fax (503) 434-7553 

TTY (800) 735-2900 0 www. co.yamhill.or.us 

The Honorable Tom Hughes, Metro Council President 
The Honorable Shirley Craddick, Metro Councilor District 1 
The Honorable Carlotta Collette, Metro Councilor District 2 
The Honorable Craig Dirksen, Metro Councilor District 3 
The Honorable Katherine Harrington, Metro Councilor District 4 
The Honorable Sam Chase, Metro Councilor District 5 
The Honorable Robelt Stacey, Metro Councilor District 6 

Dear President Hughes and Metro Councilors: 

Thank you for requesting comment from Yamhill County regarding the renewal of the non-system license for the 
transpOlt of Metro-area solid waste to Riverbend Landfill . 

Yamhill County Solid Waste Coordinator Sherrie Mathi son has already provided input regarding factors set forth in Metro 
Code 5.05.035. The Yamhill County Commissioners would like to provide additional input. 

Riverbend has a histOlY of operating in compliance with the County and DEQ requirements - including meeting the 
requirements of the County licensing agreement and the regulatory requirements related to environmental protections. As 
a result of this, in 2012 the Board of Commissioners demonstrated their commitment to Riverbend 's continued operation 
by renewing the facility's licensing agreement for a five year term. This was extended through the approval ofa zone 
change in 2014 allowing for Riverbend to submit a detailed expansion application. 

Through the intervening years, Waste Management has demonstrated a commitment to work in partnership with the 
County as shown through their attention to ideas from citizens in the community and requests from the commissioners. 
Thi s includes a requirement for development of a landfill alternative ("green technology") on the Riverbend propelty, and 
ongoing operational improvements in response to community feedback . Additionally, Waste Management and Riverbend 
have demonstrated a commitment to waste reduction by sign ificantly increasing waste diversion at the WM-Newberg 
Transfer Station and the implementation of a new million dollar public recycling center at Riverbend. Finally, 
Riverbend 's community-driven Stewardship Plan to allow for 450 acres of its land to benefit the community has led to the 
expected 2015 launch of the Community Farm Collaboration which will provide land, mentoring and resources to help 
small farmers' success and educate the public about the value of community food systems. 

The Yamhill County Board of Commissioners offers this input to the Metro Council as we move forward in this 
partnership with Waste Management and Riverbend Landfill. 

Sincerely, 

Kathy George 
Vice-Chair 

MalY Starrett 
Commiss ioner 



230 NE Second Street • McMinnville, Oregon 97128-4831 • www.ci.mcminnville.or.us 

September 10, 2014 

Metro 
600 NE Grand Avenue 
Portland OR 97232-2736 

ATTN: RoyW. Bower 
Solid Waste Compliance and Cleanup Manager 

RE: Non-System License Renewal Applications to Transport Metro-Area Solid 
Waste to Riverbend Landfill 

Dear Mr. Bower: 

Thank you for the opportunity given to the City of McMinnville to comment on the 
proposed renewal of various Metro-issued Non-System Licenses. Simply put, METRO's 
renewal of the NSL's involving hauling of solid waste to Riverbend Landfill would be 
inconsistent with the City of McMinnville'S position on the future of Riverbend Landfill. 

In January of this year the Mayor, on behalf of the McMinnville City Council, sent a letter 
to the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners, in which the City stated its concerns 
over Riverbend Landfill, including the importation of solid waste. The letter states that 
the City does not see continued operation of Riverbend Landfill as being in the best 
interests of the community for the long term. A copy of that letter is attached. 

The City of McMinnville understands that it has no jurisdiction over Riverbend Landfill 
and is providing this input as part of the public testimony to be received. 

Sincerely, 

~~ 
Kent L. Taylor 
City Manager 

cc: Mayor and City Council 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 

Office of the City Manager (503) 434-7302 FAX (503) 472-4104 



230 NE Second Street • McMinnville, Oregon 97128-4831 • www.ci.mcminnville.or.us 

January 27,2014 

Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 
434 NE Evans Street 
McMinnville OR 97128 

RE: Riverbend Landfill 

Dear Chair Stern and Commissioners: 

I am writing on behalf of the McMinnville City Council. First, we would like to recognize 
the very difficult position you are in with regard to decision-making on landfill issues like 
that involving Riverbend Landfill. The voices from both sides of the issue are many and 
come from very organized fronts and developed positions on the matter. The 
McMinnville City Council recognizes that the legally required task of applying relevant 
land-use criteria to a land-use decision and the testimony you hear is a very real 
challenge. 

Given that the County Planning Commission voted to recommend against the zone 
change proposed by Waste Management, Inc. and the County Planning Director's 
neutral statement that there was sufficient evidence and testimony presented to support 
either approval or denial, we had hoped to see a vote for denial of the zone change. 
We are pleased that there is a condition attached that requires some form of green 
technology facility to be initiated at the site within seven years. We look forward to 
hearing more of what the details are to this condition and hope that implementation of 
such technology will begin sooner than later and the implementation and startup will be 
within the seven-year period. 

Over the past several years the McMinnville City Council has grown increasingly 
concerned that continued operation and growth of the Riverbend Landfill are contrary to 
sustaining a high quality of life for the current and future citizens and children of 
McMinnville. The concerns and objections that we have increasingly heard from a 
range of our constituents can be summarized as follows: 



2 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners January 27, 2014 

• Negative impacts on the quality of life - Much of the year McMinnville is 
downwind of the landfill. Despite efforts to control odors, the landfill odor can still 
be smelled in many different parts of McMinnville. This is particularly an issue on 
the south and west sides of the City. Outdoor activities are negatively affected. 
McMinnville's residents and visitors are frequent users of Highway 18, and the 
size and height of the landfill have grown substantially over the years - more 
than anyone ever imagined. Tree barriers and earthen berms have had little 
impact on what is more and more often referred to as a significant "eyesore." 
Increasing large truck traffic on the City's perimeter roads, such as Lafayette 
Avenue and surrounding highways, being used by haulers of imported garbage is 
also generating increased complaints and concerns. The substantial increase in 
the volume of garbage being imported has also increased highway litter. 
Despite good faith efforts to control it, the amount of litter seems to be increasing 
rather than subsiding. 

• Negative impacts on a growing tourism sector of the local economy -
Simply put, the negative quality of life impacts discussed above are not 
consistent with the effort to grow the City's and the County's tourism economy, 
one centered on the wine industry, and are having a major impact on the 
Council's vision of McMinnville in the future. There is a growing sense that we 
could soon reach a tipping point, and the growth in the tourism sector begins to 
flatten or diminish as potential visitors choose to avoid the negative conditions. 
The International Pinot Noir Celebration (IPNC), held annually at Linfield College, 
is a world-class event, drawing industry representatives and visitors from around 
the world. Representatives from the IPNC have expressed their concerns about 
the landfill's negative impacts on the future viability of the Linfield outdoor venue. 
The loss of these types of events, along with other major tourism events and 
venues, more than likely would have a negative impact on the County's agri
tourism effort and McMinnville's tourism-related businesses. 

• Environmental & public health concerns - While the technical experts can 
battle the specifics of how large and when it will occur, there seems to be very 
little disagreement that a large-scale Cascadia subduction zone earthquake is in 
northwest Oregon's future. The age of the landfill, its original construction 
techniques and codes, and its proximity to the South Yamhill River give rise to 
citizen concerns about the potential environmental damage and threats to public 
health that could arise when such an earthquake occurs. The South Yamhill 
River flows along the easterly edge of McMinnville. While not an issue directly 
affecting City residents, they express concern about long-term groundwater 
impacts due to landfill leachate leaking below the surface. 

• Importation of solid waste from outside Yamhill County -Importation of 
huge volumes of garbage exacerbate the problems discussed above and have 
reduced the life of the landfill. What was once envisioned as a small county 
landfill has become a large regional landfill receiving refuse from not only Yamhill 
County but from all of northwest Oregon, including the Portland Metropolitan 

(503) 435-5701 
Office of the Mayor 

mayor@ci.mcminnville.or.us FPJ«503)472-4104 



3 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners January 27, 2014 

area. As the need for additional landfill disposal continues to increase in areas 
outside of Yamhill County. it is a concern that the anticipated 20 years of 
additional capacity that expansion would bring would be recognized in a much 
shorter period of time. Although the Council recognizes that there may be trade
offs in garbage rates for less volume, parties on both sides of the issue have 
difficulty stating exactly what that rate would be if Riverbend is not expanded. 

In summary. the City Council does not envision Riverbend Landfill being part of our 
vision for a vibrant McMinnville and Yamhill County for the long term. As we move 
forward together, it is our hope that: implementation and construction of a viable green 
techno!ogy alternative takes place as soon as is possible; that VVaste Management 
significantly reduces the amount of garbage that is imported to the landfill from outside 
of Yamhill County; that proactive steps to abate the odor and litter problems be put on a 
fast track; that the County and the Riverbend operator support increased efforts to 
reduce the amount of local solid waste entering the waste stream in the first place. And, 
finally, with regard to the last item, we hope County solid waste revenues will be 
allocated to help develop and administer this waste reduction effort and that Waste 
Management, Inc. will support it, working with other local partners such as Recology. 

Sincerely, 

Richard J. ("Rick") Olson 
Mayor 

(503) 435-5701 
Office of the Mayor 

mayor@ci.mcminnville.or.us FAX (503) 472-4104 



Attachment 3 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4571 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3 includes pre-enforcement notices issued by the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality (DEQ) and related correspondence regarding Riverbend Landfill.  The 
following are included in this attachment: 

 

• Pre-Enforcement Notice from Bob Schwarz, DEQ, addressed to James L. Denson Jr., 
Waste Management, dated March 17, 2014. 
 

• Letter from James L. Denson Jr., Waste Management, addressed to Bob Schwarz, DEQ, 
dated March 28, 2014. 
 

• Pre-Enforcement Notice from Mark Riedel-Bash, DEQ, addressed to Paul Burns, Waste 
Management, dated November 3, 2014. 



regon 
John A Kitzhaber, MD, Governor 

James 1. Denson Jr. 
Oregon Environmental Protection Manager 
Waste Management 
7227 NE 55th Ave. 
Portland, OR 97218 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice 
Ri verb end Landfill 
PEN - LQ-ERD-2014-0020 
Solid Waste Disposal Site Permit # 345 
Yamhill County 

Dear Mr. Denson: 

Department of Environmental Quality 
Eastern Region-The Dalles Office 

400 East Scenic Drive, Suite 307 
The Dalles, OR 97058 

(541) 298-7255 
March 17, 2014 FAX (541) 298-7330 

During a January 28,2014 inspection, DEQ inspectors and landfill personnel observed leachate 
escaping from the north side of the landfill. This leachate migrated beyond the perimeter of the 
landfill, but did not appear to travel far from the landfill perimeter. Waste Management 
concluded that this release was the result of an old perimeter French drain that was clogged as 
the result of recent construction of a storm water diversion swale. The drain had been installed 
during construction of the cell to convey leachate to the leachate collection line that runs to the 
onsite leachate storage pond. 

Later that day, the site engineer directed the landfill contractor to remove all drain rock from the 
French drain along that portion beneath the stormwater diversion berm. Between January 28 and 
29, this rock was removed and the area was backfilled with compacted clay. Four vertical 12-
inch sump pipes were installed and backfilled with drain rock. Soil limn the impacted area north 
of the landfill was sampled on January 29. Soil impacted by the leachate release was then 
excavated, and a vactor truck was used to remove standing storm water that may have been 
contaminated by the release. Soil from this area was resampled on January 31. Results were 
provided in a technical memorandum dated March 14, 2014. These results indicate that residual 
contaminant concentrations are below safe levels. 

On February 10,2014, landfill personnel observed leachate escaping from the landfill's northern 
bOlmdary. Waste Management reported this leachate release to the DEQ on February 10 and 
stated that this leachate reached a creek approximately 300 feet from the landfill. This leachate 
release was near but not related to the release first observed on January 28. This leachate was 
primarily liquid that had collected in the landfill ' s gas extraction wells . To keep the extraction 
wells working properly, this leachate is routinely pumped from the wells to three 21,000-gallon 
storage tanks near the north side of the landfill. This leachate is leept separate from the majority 
ofthe landfill's leachate, which is pumped to the onsite leachate pond. The reason for this 
separation is that leachate associated with the gas extraction wells is more concentrated than the 
rest of the landfill leachate, and is therefore sent to a different offsite facility for treatment and 



Page 2 of3 

disposal. The Department conducted an inspection on February 13,2014 to document the release 
and the actions taken to address the release. 

Impacts to the creek were evaluated in a March 11, 2014 report prepared by Waste 
Management's consultant. The report concludes that "No mortality of aquatic flora or fauna was 
observed during either site visit [conducted on February 12 and 21, 2014]. Overall, the impact to 
aquatic biota was estimated to be minimal on the basis of the high flows of the unnamed creek 
and the South Yamhill River, and the comparison to aquatic water quality criteria and human 
health criteria." 

Impacts to the area between the landfill and the creek are also being investigated. Waste 
Management has not yet provided results of that investigation to DEQ. 

Based upon DEQ's observations and infonnation provided by you regarding your facility, the 
Department has concluded that Waste Management is responsible for the following violations of 
Oregon enviromnentallaw: 

VIOLATIONS: 

1) The leachate seep found on January 28, 2014 was a violation of Section 9.9 of Riverbend 
Landfill's Solid Waste Disposal Facility pennit, which states that "Leachate must be 
prevented from escaping to local drainage ways and to other unlined areas of the site." 
This is a Class 2 violation. 

2) The leachate release that occurred on February 10,2014 was a violation of ORS 
468B.02S(1): "Except as provided in ORS 468B.OSO or 468B.OS3, no person shall: 

(a) Cause pollution of any waters of the state or place or cause to be placed any wastes in 
a location where such wastes are likely to escape or be carried into the waters of the state 
by any means." This is a Class 1 violation. 

Class I violations are the most serious violations; Class III violations are the least serious. 

CORRECTIVE ACTIONS REQUESTED: 

1. Effective immediately, inspect the entire perimeter of the landfill daily for leachate seeps. 
Particular attention is essential during periods of heavy or prolonged precipitation. Any 
problems noted must be reported to DEQ within 24 hours. 

2. Submit the report now being prepared concerning impacts to the area between the landfill 
and the creek. This report must be submitted by Friday, March 21, 2014. 

3. Prepare a report that identifies what measures have already been taken and what additional 
measures will be taken, along with a schedule for implementation of those measures to avoid 
these problems in the future. This report must be submitted by Friday, March 28,2014. 

o 
lJEQ.OU 



Page 3 of3 

The violations cited above posed the risk of significant environmental hann and the matter is being 
referred to the Depmiment's Office of Compliance and Enforcement for formal enforcement action. 
Formal enforcement action may result in assessment of civil penalties and/or a Depmiment order. A 
formal enforcement action may include a civil penalty assessment for each day of violation. 

If you believe any of the facts in this Pre-Enforcement Notice me in error, you may provide written 
information to me at the address shown at the top of the letter. The Depmiment will consider new 
information you submit and take appropriate action. 

The Department intends to assist you in your compliance efforts. Should you have any questions 
about the content of this letter, feel free contact me in writing or by phone at 541-298-7255 x230. 

Sincerely, 

~~ ... 
Bob Schwarz, PE 
Permit Engineer 

Copy: Office of Compliance and Enforcement, DEQ Headqumiers 

o 
IkQ.[)(I 



J a m e s  L  D e n s o n  J r .
7 2 2 7  N E  5 5 t h  A v e

P o r t l a n d  O R ,  9 7 2 1 8

( 6 0 2 )  7 5 7 - 3 3 5 2
F A X  7 1 3 - 2 8 6 - 7 4 0 6

20140328 RBLF PEN Response Draft (3/28/2014) 

March 28, 2014          VIA U.S. MAIL & E-MAIL 

Bob Schwartz P.E. 
Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 
Eastern Region-The Dalles Office 
400 East Scenic Drive, Suite 307 
The Dalles, OR 97058 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice Riverbend Landfill 
PEN - LQ-ERD-2014-0020 
Solid Waste Disposal Site Permit # 345 

Dear Mr. Schwartz: 

Riverbend Landfill Co. (RBLF) in compliance with the March 17th, 2014 ODEQ Pre-Enforcement 
Notice (PEN) is submitting this report addressing PEN Requested Corrective Action item # 3 that 
requires RBLF to  identify “what measures have already been taken and what additional measures will 
be taken, along with a schedule for implementation of those measures to avoid these problems in the 
future”.

This report outlines the corrective actions taken by RBLF to manage the re-occurrence of leachate 
migrating past the landfill boundary. 

Actions Completed to date; 
1. Removed 150 feet of existing French drain trench and piping underneath stormwater control 

berm, backfilled trench and installed Four (4) sumps that extend 1 foot below perimeter road 
elevation. 

2. Reinstalled and extended existing stormwater control berm at toe of  North Slope  
3. Excavated impacted soils outside of  landfill footprint from the Jan 28th seep incident and 

repaired impacted area.   
4. Implemented post mitigation observations of the area multiple times per day to ensure no 

additional leachate seeps occurred in the area and mitigation measures were effective. 
5. As a result of the Feb 19th Seep event; vacuumed impacted area between landfill and creek 

removed approx. 12k gallons of leachate/snowmelt mixture and properly disposed. 
6. Implemented post mitigation observations of the area each day to ensure no additional leachate 

seeps are occurring in the area. 
7. Installed 250 feet of diversion berm at toe of North Slope and installed two (2) collection sumps. 
8. Installed North Leachate tank overfill alarms with auto dialer 
9. Installed North Tank Leachate tank bypass line to leachate pond 
10. Placed additional 7,000 yards of cover soils on North slope 
11. Initiated and finalized third party creek impact assessment, assessment indicated no impacts to 

wildlife or the environment 
12. Initiated third party soils assessment for impacted soils in the between the landfill and the creek. 



March 28, 2014

- 2 - 

Actions in process; 
1. Finalize impacted soils assessment by SCS with recommendations. Due April 1st

2. Placing additional 15,000 yards of cover soils on North Slope to achieve 24” cover soil 
thickness on entire North Slope. Placement of the remainder of the cover will be completed by 
May 30th , weather permitting.  

3. Add fourth 22K storage tank to North Leachate tank area. Planned for installation by May 30th

weather permitting. 

We appreciate the opportunity to respond to with the actions taken on this issue. RBLF believes 
that the actions outlined above have served to; 

� Identify all potential impacts to the environment as a result of the two incidents, and 
� Significantly increased the margin of safety for ensuring the events identified in the PEN 

do not re-occur. 

Thank you again for your assistance with this important issue. If you have any questions or 
concerns, please feel free to contact me at (602) 757-3352 or by email at jdenson@wm.com . 

Sincerely,

James Denson 
          Oregon Environmental Protection Manager 

CC

 Facility File 
Lissa Druback, ODEQ via E-mail 

Sincerely,



regon 
John A. Kitzhaber, MDI Governor 

Certified Mail: 7014 120000003483 0878 

November 3,2014 

Paul Bums 
Riverbend Landfill Co. 
13469 SW Highway 18 
McMinnville, OR 97218 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice 
File Number: 106959 
WQ/SW -PEN-WRE-20 14-0074 
Common Name: Riverbend Landfill 
YamhiII County 

Dear Mr. Bums: 

. Deparhnent of Environmental Quality 
Western Region Eugene ?ffice 

165 East 7th Avenue, Suite 100 
Eugene, OR 97401 

(541) 686-7838 
FAX (541) 686-7551 

TTY 711 

The Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) reviewed the 2013-2014 Dischal'ge Monitoring Report 
for Riverbend Landfill Co. In this DMR, you reported exceeding the daily maximum limit for total zinc. 
It also appears that you were unable to perfonn the requITed follow-up monitoring in Schedule B.2. e. iii 
due to a lack bf discharge at Outfall 2. 

DEQ has concluded that this facility is responsible for the following violation of Oregon EnvITomnental 
Law: 

VIOLATION(S) 
Oregon Revised Statnte 468B.025(2) reqUITes compliance with DEQ pennits. The reported concentration 
of total zinc on May 9, 2014 was 0.42 mgIL. This discharge level exceeds the permit numeric effluent 
limit of 0.20 mgIL (permit Schedule A.2) by 50 percent or more. This is a Class I violation in accordance 
with OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k)(A). Class I violations are considered to be the most serious, and Class III. 
violations are the least serious. 

CORRECTNE ACTIONeS): 
If you have not already perfonned the reqUITed follow up monitoring in Schedule B.2.e.iii of the pennit, 
please perfOlID the follow up sampling and, if necessary, submit an exceedance report in accordance with 
Schedule B.9 of the permit within 60 days. 

Schedule B.2.e.iii requITes that the pel1l)ittee conduct follow-up monitoring of any pollutant that exceeds 
the numeric effluent limit(s) within 30 days (or during the next measurable stonn event should none occur 
withiu 30 days) of receiving the monitoring results. 

Exceeding total zinc pennit limits can negatively impact stream habitat and aquatic species. Therefore, 
the violation listed above has heen referred to DEQ's Office of Compliance and Enforcement for fonnal 
enforcement action, which may include assessment of civil penalties and/or issuance of a Department 
Order. A fonnal enforcement action may include a civil penalty assessment for each day of violation. 



If you believe any of the facts in this Pre-Enforcement Notice are in error, you may provide written 
information to me at the address shown at the top of the letter. DEQ will consider neW infOlmation you 
submit aud take appropriate action. 

DEQ endeavors to assist you in your compliauce efforts. Should you have auy questions about the couteut of 
this letter or if you desire auy follow-up techuical assistauce, feel free contact to me in writing or by phone at 
(541) 687-7343. 

Sincerely, 

Mark Riedel-Bash, RG 
Stormwater Specialist 

cc: Source File - DEQ Eugene 
Zach Loboy, Water Quality Manager - DEQ Eugene Office 
Denise Miller- DEQ Eugene 
Office of Compliauce aud Enforcement- DEQ Headquarters 



 
 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF 
OPERATING OFFICER TO ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM 
LICENSE TO WEST LINN REFUSE AND RECYCLING, INC. FOR 
DELIVERY OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE TO CANBY TRANSFER 
AND RECYCLING, INC. FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSFER 
AND DISPOSAL AT THE RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN 
YAMHILL COUNTY, OREGON 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION NO.  14-4572A 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating 
Officer Martha Bennett in 
concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes 

 
WHEREAS, the Metro Code requires a non-system license of any person that delivers solid waste 

generated from within the Metro Region to a non-system disposal facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, West Linn Refuse and Recycling, Inc. (“WLR”) holds Metro Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License No. N-119-13, which expires on December 31, 2014; and   
 

WHEREAS, WLR has filed a complete application seeking renewal of the non-system license to 
deliver putrescible waste to Canby Transfer and Recycling, Inc. for the purpose of transfer to the 
Riverbend Landfill for disposal under the provisions of Metro Code Chapter 5.05, “Solid Waste Flow 
Control;” and 

WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 5.05 provides that applications for non-system licenses for 
putrescible waste shall be reviewed by the Chief Operating Officer and are subject to approval or denial 
by the Metro Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer has analyzed the application and considered the relevant 

factors under the Metro Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, Riverbend Landfill is in the process of seeking expansion of the landfill to increase 

capacity by approximately 15 years; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Metro Council finds that disposing of putrescible waste generated within the 

Metro region in Riverbend Landfill after 2016 may not be in the best interests of the region; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer recommends that the non-system license be renewed 
together with specific conditions as provided in this Resolution and Exhibit A to this Resolution; now 
therefore, 
 

THE METRO COUNCIL RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The non-system license renewal application of WLR is approved subject to the terms, conditions, 
and limitations contained in this Resolution and Exhibit A to this Resolution. 
 

2. The Chief Operating Officer is authorized to issue to WLR a renewed Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License substantially similar to the one attached as Exhibit A. 
  

2.3. The Chief Operating Officer should consider any future application to send putrescible waste to 
Riverbend Landfill as a new application, not a renewal, and should evaluate landfill capacity 
when determining whether a non-system license should be issued.  



 
 

 
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ____ day of _______, 2014. 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
 Tom Hughes, Council President 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



Agenda Item No. 4.8  

 
 
 
 

Resolution  No. 14-4573, For the Purpose of Authorizing the 
Chief Operating Officer to Issue a Renewed Non-System License 

to Hoodview Disposal & Recycling, Inc. for Delivery of 
Putrescible Waste to Canby Transfer & Recycling, Inc. for the 

Purpose of Transfer and Disposal at the Riverbend Landfill in 
Yamhill County  

 
 

 
 

RESOLUTIONS  
 
 

 
 

Metro Council Meeting 
Thursday, December 4, 2014 

Metro, Council Chambers 

 



 
WJ:bjl 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\Hoodview\N-118-15\Hoodview_RES_14-4573.docx 

BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF OPERATING 
OFFICER TO ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM LICENSE TO 
HOODVIEW DISPOSAL AND RECYCLING, INC. FOR DELIVERY 
OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE TO CANBY TRANSFER AND 
RECYCLING, INC. FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSFER AND 
DISPOSAL AT THE RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL 
COUNTY, OREGON 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION NO.  14-4573 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating 
Officer Martha Bennett in 
concurrence with Council President 
Tom Hughes 

 
WHEREAS, the Metro Code requires a non-system license of any person that delivers solid waste 

generated from within the Metro Region to a non-system disposal facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Hoodview Disposal and Recycling, Inc. (“Hoodview”) holds Metro Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License No. N-118-13, which expires on December 31, 2014; and   
 

WHEREAS, Hoodview has filed a complete application seeking renewal of the non-system license to 
deliver putrescible waste to Canby Transfer and Recycling, Inc. for the purpose of transfer to the Riverbend 
Landfill for disposal under the provisions of Metro Code Chapter 5.05, “Solid Waste Flow Control;” and 

WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 5.05 provides that applications for non-system licenses for putrescible 
waste shall be reviewed by the Chief Operating Officer and are subject to approval or denial by the Metro 
Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer has analyzed the application and considered the relevant factors 

under the Metro Code; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer recommends that the non-system license be renewed together 
with specific conditions as provided in Exhibit A to this Resolution; now therefore, 
 

THE METRO COUNCIL RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The non-system license renewal application of Hoodview is approved subject to the terms, conditions, 
and limitations contained in Exhibit A to this Resolution. 
 

2. The Chief Operating Officer is authorized to issue to Hoodview a renewed Solid Waste Facility Non-
System License substantially similar to the one attached as Exhibit A. 

 
ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ____ day of _______, 2014. 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
 Tom Hughes, Council President 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 



Exhibit A to Resolution 14-4573 
600 NORTHEAST GRAND AVENUE PORTLAND, OREGON 97232 2736 

TEL 503 797 1650   FAX 503 813 7544 

 

 
METRO SOLID WASTE FACILITY  

NON-SYSTEM LICENSE 
  

No. N-118-15 
 

LICENSEE: 

Hoodview Disposal & Recycling, Inc.,  
1600 SE 4th Avenue 
Canby, OR 97013 

CONTACT PERSON: 

Andy Kahut 
Phone:  (503) 936-3743 
Fax:      (503) 263-6477 
E-mail:  akahut@kahutwasteservices.com  

MAILING ADDRESS: 

Hoodview Disposal & Recycling, Inc. 
P.O. Box 550 
Canby, OR 97013 

 
 
 
 
 
ISSUED BY METRO: 
 
 
 
 
   
Scott Robinson, Deputy Chief Operating Officer  Date 
 
  

mailto:akahut@kahutwasteservices.com


  Hoodview Disposal & Recycling, Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-118-15 
  Page 2 of 5 

  

1 NATURE OF WASTE COVERED BY LICENSE 
 Putrescible solid waste that is generated by residential and commercial 

customers within the Metro region and collected by Hoodview Disposal & 
Recycling, Inc.  

 

2 CALENDAR YEAR TONNAGE LIMITATION 
 Licensee is authorized to deliver to the non-system facility listed in Section 3 of 

this license up to 7,600 tons per calendar year of the waste described in Section 
1 of this license. 

 

3 NON-SYSTEM FACILITY 
 The Licensee hereunder may deliver the waste described in Section 1, above, 

only to the following non-system facility for the purpose of transfer to the 
Riverbend Landfill for disposal: 

Canby Transfer & Recycling, Inc. 
1600 SE 4th Avenue 
Canby, OR 97013 

This license is issued on condition that the non-system facility and disposal site 
named in this section are authorized to accept the type of waste described in 
Section 1.  If Metro receives notice from the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality or local regulatory authority that the non-system facility or 
disposal site are not authorized to accept such waste, Metro may immediately 
terminate this license pursuant to Section 7 of this license. 

 

4 TERM OF LICENSE 
 The term of this license will commence on January 1, 2015 and expire at 

midnight on December 31, 2016, unless terminated sooner under Section 7 of 
this license.   

 

5 REPORTING OF ACCIDENTS AND CITATIONS 
 Licensee shall report to Metro any significant incidents (such as fires), 

accidents, and citations involving vehicles transporting the solid waste 
authorized by this license. 

 
  



  Hoodview Disposal & Recycling, Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-118-15 
  Page 3 of 5 

  

6 RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING 

 (a) The Licensee shall keep and maintain accurate records of the amount of 
all solid waste that the Licensee delivers to the non-system facility 
described in Section 3 of this license.  The Licensee shall keep and 
maintain complete and accurate records of the following for all 
transactions with the authorized non-system facility: 

i. Ticket or weight slip number from the non-system facility; 
ii. Material category designating the type of material transferred to 

the non-system facility; 
iii. Date the load was transferred to the non-system facility; 
iv. Time the load was transferred to the non-system facility; 
v. Net weight of the load; and 
vi. Fee charged by the non-system facility 

(b) No later than the fifteenth (15th) day of each month, beginning with the 
first month following the commencement date of this license, Licensee 
shall:  

i. Transmit the records required under Section 6(a) above to Metro 
in an electronic format prescribed by Metro; 

ii. Submit to Metro a Regional System Fee and Excise Tax Report, 
that covers the preceding month; and 

iii. Remit to Metro the requisite Regional System Fees and Excise 
Tax in accordance with the Metro Code provisions applicable to 
the collection, payment, and accounting of such fees and taxes. 

(c) Licensee shall make all records from which Sections 6(a) and 6(b) above 
are derived available to Metro (or Metro’s designated agent) for its 
inspection or copying, as long as Metro provides no less than three (3) 
business days written notice of an intent to inspect or copy documents.  
Licensee shall, in addition, sign or otherwise provide to Metro any 
consent or waiver necessary for Metro to obtain information or data from 
a third party, including the non-system facility named in Section 3, above. 

 

7 ADDITIONAL LICENSE CONDITIONS 

 This license shall be subject to the following conditions: 
(a) The permissive transfer of solid waste to the non-system facility, listed in 

Section 3, authorized by this license shall be subordinate to any 
subsequent decision by Metro to direct the solid waste described in this 
license to any other facility. 

(b) This license shall be subject to amendment, modification or termination 
by Metro’s Chief Operating Officer (the “COO”) in the event that the COO 
determines that: 



  Hoodview Disposal & Recycling, Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-118-15 
  Page 4 of 5 

 

i. There has been sufficient change in any circumstances under 
which Metro issued this license; 

ii. The provisions of this license are actually or potentially in conflict 
with any provision in Metro’s disposal contract with Waste 
Management Disposal Services of Oregon, Inc., dba Oregon 
Waste Systems, Inc.; or 

iii. Metro’s solid waste system or the public will benefit from, and will 
be better served by, an order directing that the waste described in 
Section 1 of this license be transferred to, and disposed of at, a 
facility other than the facility described in Section 3. 

(c) This license shall, in addition to subsections (b)(i) through (iii), above, be 
subject to amendment, modification, termination, or suspension pursuant 
to the Metro Code. 

(d) Licensee shall not transfer or assign any right or interest in this license 
without prior written notification to, and approval of, Metro. 

(e) This license shall terminate upon the execution of a designated facility 
agreement with the facility listed in Section 3 that authorizes the facility to 
accept the waste described in Section 1 of this license. 

(f) This license authorizes delivery of solid waste to the facility listed in 
Section 3.  Transfer of waste generated from within the Metro boundary 
to any non-system facility other than that specified in this license is 
prohibited unless authorized in writing by Metro. 

(g) If the Licensee exceeds the calendar year limitation set forth in Section 2 
of this license, each ton or portion thereof by which the Licensee exceeds 
the limitation constitutes a separate violation subject to a penalty of up to 
$500. 

 

8 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 
 Licensee shall fully comply with all applicable local, regional, state and federal 

laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, orders, and permits pertaining in any 
manner to this license, including all applicable Metro Code provisions and 
administrative procedures adopted pursuant to Chapter 5.05 whether or not 
those provisions have been specifically mentioned or cited herein.  All 
conditions imposed on the collection and hauling of the Licensee’s solid waste 
by federal, state, regional or local governments or agencies having jurisdiction 
over solid waste generated by the Licensee shall be deemed part of this license 
as if specifically set forth herein. 

 
  



  Hoodview Disposal & Recycling, Inc. 
  Non-System License No. N-118-15 
  Page 5 of 5 

  

9 INDEMNIFICATION 
 Licensee shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Metro, its elected officials, 

officers, employees, agents and representatives from any and all claims, 
demands, damages, causes of action, or losses and expenses, or including all 
attorneys’ fees, whether incurred before any litigation is commenced, during any 
litigation or on appeal, arising out of or related in any way to the issuance or 
administration of this non-system license or the transport and disposal of the 
solid waste covered by this license. 

 
 
WJ:bjl 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\Hoodview\N-118-15\Hoodview_NSL_N-118-15.docx 
Queue 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4573 
Page 1 of 6 

STAFF REPORT 
 
IN CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 14-4573 AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER TO 
ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM LICENSE TO HOODVIEW DISPOSAL AND RECYCLING, INC. FOR DELIVERY 
OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE TO CANBY TRANSFER AND RECYCLING, INC. FOR THE PURPOSE OF TRANSFER 
AND DISPOSAL AT THE RIVERBEND LANDFILL LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, OREGON 
 
November 25, 2014 Prepared by:  Roy W. Brower 
  503-797-1657 
 
Approval of Resolution No. 14-4573 will authorize the Chief Operating Officer (COO) to issue a two-year 
non-system license renewal (NSL), similar to the proposed license attached to this resolution as Exhibit A, to 
Hoodview Disposal and Recycling, Inc. (Hoodview).  The proposed NSL will authorize Hoodview to deliver 
up to 7,600 tons per calendar year of putrescible waste from the Metro region to Canby Transfer and 
Recycling, Inc. (Canby Transfer) for the purpose of transfer and disposal at Riverbend Landfill 
(Riverbend) located in Yamhill County, Oregon.  The proposed NSL, which is set to expire on December 
31, 2016, renews the same authorization that Hoodview has held since 2005.   
 
The applicant (Hoodview) and the destination facility (Canby Transfer) are both affiliated with KB 
Recycling, Inc. headquartered in Canby, Oregon.  KB recycling also owns and operates a Metro-licensed 
material recovery facility1 located at 9602 SE Clackamas Road, in Clackamas (Metro Council District 2). 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 

(1) Background 
 
Metro is responsible for regulating and managing the disposal of solid waste generated in the region.2  
NSLs are the main authorization vehicle by which Metro authorizes the delivery of putrescible solid 
waste to facilities located outside the Metro region.  NSLs are also used by Metro to manage its 
contractual obligation to deliver a minimum of 90 percent of the region’s putrescible waste, which is 
delivered to general purpose landfills, to landfills owned by Waste Management (also known as “the 
flow guarantee”).  NSLs allow Metro to closely monitor and potentially guide waste flows to other 
authorized facilities in order to comply with the flow guarantee.   
 
Metro has a practice of allowing waste haulers and transfer stations located within the Metro region to 
select their disposal sites provided that the:  

1) Use of such disposal site does not violate Metro Code or any of Metro’s waste-related contracts,  
2) Appropriate Regional System Fee and Excise Tax is collected and remitted to Metro for the 

waste delivered to the disposal site, and  
3) Disposal site is appropriately authorized by the local and state regulatory authorities.  (In the 

case of the Riverbend Landfill, the primary authorizing agencies would include Yamhill County 
and the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ)). 

 

                                                 
1 Metro Solid Waste Facility License No. L-007-12 
2Oregon Revised Statute Chapters 268 and 459; Metro Charter and Metro Code Chapter 5.05. 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4573 
Page 2 of 6 

In December 2013, Metro entered into a designated facility agreement with Riverbend.3  This 
agreement, which expires at the end of 2019, allows certain types of Metro-area waste (such as non-
putrescible processing residual, cleanup waste and special waste) to be delivered to the landfill without 
the need for haulers or persons delivering the waste to obtain an NSL.  Designated facility agreements 
(DFAs) do not include the acceptance of Metro-area putrescible waste.  Therefore, NSLs are required for 
any hauler to deliver such waste to any landfill, including Riverbend.  NSLs are typically issued for a 
period of two years; while DFAs generally have 5-year terms. 
 
Resolution No. 14-4573 would grant an NSL to Hoodview to deliver Metro-area putrescible waste to a 
land disposal site owned by Waste Management located in Yamhill County.  This NSL controls a portion 
of the 90 percent of waste that is guaranteed to Waste Management under Metro’s disposal contract 
which runs through 2019.  Metro Council is scheduled to consider five such resolutions that will 
authorize the delivery of putrescible waste to Riverbend during the next two years.  In addition to this 
action for Hoodview, the Council is scheduled to consider similar resolutions for Pride Recycling 
Company (Res. No. 14-4569), Willamette Resources, Inc. (Res. No. 14-4570), West Linn Refuse and 
Recycling, Inc. (Res. No. 14-4572), and Forest Grove Transfer Station (Res. No. 14-4571) at its meeting on 
December 4, 2014. 
 

(2) The Applicant 
 
In November 2012, the Metro Council granted Hoodview an NSL4 to deliver a maximum of 7,600 tons 
per calendar year of putrescible waste, collected from its routes located inside the Metro region, to 
Canby Transfer for the purpose of consolidation and transfer to Riverbend for disposal.  The term of the 
NSL commenced on January 1, 2013, and is set to expire on December 31, 2014.  Hoodview delivered 
approximately 6,000 tons of putrescible waste to Riverbend in 2013 and about 5,400 tons to the landfill 
so far in 2014 (through October).   
 
On June 10, 2014, Hoodview submitted an application to Metro seeking to renew its NSL with the same 
tonnage authorization.  Adoption of Resolution No. 14-4573 would authorize the COO to issue an NSL to 
Hoodview to annually deliver up to 7,600 tons of Metro-area putrescible waste to Canby Transfer, for 
ultimate disposal at Riverbend through 2016. 
 
ANALYSIS/INFORMATION 
 
1. Known Opposition 
 
The putrescible waste subject to the proposed NSL will be delivered to Riverbend for disposal.  There is 
no known opposition within the Metro region for delivery of Metro-area waste to authorized disposal 
sites located outside of the region.  Within Yamhill County, there is known local public opposition to 
expanding the capacity of the landfill and general concern expressed by some local citizens about the 
disposal of waste generated outside of the County, including Metro-area waste, at Riverbend especially 
if Metro-area waste contributes to the need for expanded capacity at the landfill.  
 

                                                 
3 Metro Contract No. 932399   
4 NSL No. N-118-13 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4573 
Page 3 of 6 

As part of its authorization process for NSLs, Metro asks the local host government whether the 
destination facility is in compliance with local laws and whether it has any issues, concerns, or objections 
to the delivery of Metro-area waste to the disposal site within its jurisdiction.   
 
Yamhill County is responsible for local land use decisions regarding Riverbend.  On October 22, 2014, the 
County’s solid waste staff sent a letter to Metro stating that the County had no issues with Riverbend’s 
acceptance of Metro-area waste (see Attachment 2).  The letter also indicated that the landfill has a 
history of operating in compliance with the County’s license agreement.    
 
On November 13, 2014, the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners sent a letter to the Metro Council 
responding to Metro’s request for input on the proposed NSL renewals (see Attachment 2).  The County 
Commissioners informed Metro that the landfill has a history of operating in compliance with the 
County and DEQ requirements and that the landfill has met the County’s licensing agreement and 
regulatory requirements related to environmental protection.  The County also indicated that Waste 
Management has demonstrated a commitment to work in partnership with the County in the 
development of green technology, ongoing operational improvements at the landfill, waste diversion, 
implementation of a public recycling center and development of a stewardship plan for lands that will 
not be used for land disposal. 
 
On September 10, 2014, the City Manager of McMinnville provided Metro with a letter expressing the 
City’s concerns about the importation of Metro-area waste to Riverbend (see Attachment 2).  While the 
landfill is not located within the City’s jurisdiction, the landfill is located in close proximity to its 
boundary and some waste haulers travel on the City’s roads en route to the landfill. 
 
In addition to the above, Riverbend is permitted by DEQ to accept solid waste and DEQ has not objected 
to the landfill receiving Metro-area waste for disposal.   
 
Currently, the Riverbend Landfill is expected to reach capacity sometime during 2016 or early 2017 
based on Waste Management’s projection of solid waste tons disposed at the landfill and without 
additional approval to expand the landfill’s capacity.  Waste Management is pursuing an expansion in 
order to lengthen the life of the landfill.  Although approval of Resolution No. 14-4573 would authorize 
Hoodview to deliver waste to the landfill, via Canby Transfer, the proposed NSL does not obligate 
Riverbend to accept Metro-area waste.   This is noted for Council’s consideration because the landfill 
seeks to expand its capacity.  Attachment 1 provides a more in depth overview of the expansion request 
and approval process 
 
2. Legal Antecedents 
 
Metro Code Section 5.05.025 prohibits any person from utilizing non-system facilities without an 
appropriate license from Metro.  Additionally, Code Section 5.05.043 provides that, when determining 
whether or not to approve an NSL application, the Council shall consider the following factors to the 
extent relevant to such determination. 
 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4573 
Page 4 of 6 

(1) The degree to which prior users of the non-system facility and waste types accepted at 
the non-system facility are known and the degree to which such wastes pose a future 
risk of environmental contamination; 

 
 
The proposed non-system facility is a transfer station rather than a landfill and thus does not pose the 
same potential environmental risk from wastes delivered from prior users.  Canby Transfer began 
operations in 1996 and services only affiliated hauling companies including Hoodview and West Linn 
Refuse and Recycling, Inc. located in the Metro region.  Staff is not aware of any wastes collected by 
Hoodview and accepted at Canby Transfer that could pose a risk of environmental contamination. 
 
Riverbend first came into use during the mid-eighties and became a permitted RCRA Subtitle D5 landfill 
in 1993.  At that time, the original unlined cells were capped and the landfill has been filling only lined 
cells and operating with the environmental controls required by DEQ.  The environmental risk associated 
with the use of this disposal site is regulated by the appropriate local and state authorities.  It has been 
Metro’s practice to rely on the local land use authority and the state environmental agency to 
determine whether environmental or human health risks posed are known, reasonable and appropriate.  
Riverbend had two compliance issues during 2014 that are detailed in (2) below. 
 

(2) The record of regulatory compliance of the non-system facility’s owner and operator 
with federal, state and local requirements including but not limited to public health, 
safety and environmental rules and regulations; 

 
KB Recycling owns and operates Canby Transfer and Waste Management owns and operates Riverbend 
(as well as the Forest Grove Transfer Station, Troutdale Transfer Station, Tualatin Valley Waste Recovery 
Facility, Hillsboro Landfill, Newberg Transfer Station, and the Columbia Ridge Landfill).  Metro staff’s 
investigation of these companies has revealed a generally good record of compliance with local and 
state agencies responsible for health, safety, land use, and environmental regulations. 
 
However, DEQ issued two pre-enforcement notices to Waste Management for violations at Riverbend in 
2014.  One of these enforcement actions has been resolved and the other has not.  A copy of the DEQ 
notices and Waste Management’s responses are provided in Attachment 3. These notices are also 
summarized below: 
 

• March 17, 2014, Pre-Enforcement Notice (Resolved).   
o On January 28, 2014, DEQ inspectors observed leachate escaping from the north side of 

the landfill.  The leachate migrated beyond the perimeter of the landfill but did not 
appear to travel far.  The leachate appeared to originate from an old French drain along 
the landfill’s perimeter that was clogged as the result of recent construction of a 
stormwater diversion swale.  (Class 2 Violation) 

o On February 10, 2014, landfill personnel observed and reported leachate escaping from 
the landfill’s northern boundary.  The leachate incident appeared to have been 
unrelated to the earlier release.  The leachate observed at that time was primarily liquid 

                                                 
5 Subtitle D landfill standards are established nationally under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). 



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4573 
Page 5 of 6 

that had collected in the landfill’s gas extraction wells and migrated to a creek about 
300 feet from the landfill.  (Class 1 Violation) 

o Waste Management took several corrective actions to address the migration of leachate 
past the landfill boundary and DEQ considers this matter to be resolved.  (See March 28, 
2014 letter from Waste Management to DEQ listing corrective actions taken.) 

 
• November 3, 2014, Pre-Enforcement Notice (Unresolved). 

o In Riverbend’s 2013-14 Discharge Monitoring Report, Waste Management reported 
exceeding its daily maximum limit for total zinc and the landfill was subsequently unable 
to perform the follow-up monitoring as required.  (Class 1 Violation). 

o This matter has been referred to DEQ’s Office of Compliance and Enforcement for 
formal enforcement action, which may include assessment of civil penalties or issuance 
of an Order. 

 
(3) The adequacy of operational practices and management controls at the non-system 

facility; 
 

Canby Transfer and Riverbend are permitted by the DEQ.  Canby Transfer uses operational practices and 
management controls that are typical of transfer stations and that Metro considers adequate for the 
protection of health and the environment.   
 
In addition, Riverbend uses operational practices and management controls that are typical of RCRA 
Subtitle D landfills.  Riverbend became permitted as a Subtitle D landfill in 1993 which put in place new 
requirements6 to minimize risk of future environmental contamination at the site.  Staff at the DEQ 
considers the operational practices and controls in place at Riverbend to be appropriate for the proper 
management of waste disposal and adequate for the protection of health and the environment but have 
had two recent enforcement actions as detailed in (2) above. 
 

(4) The expected impact on the region’s recycling and waste reduction efforts; 
 
The proposed license covers the disposal of putrescible solid waste, which currently has limited recovery 
potential.  This license puts no long-term constraint on the waste should recovery alternatives emerge 
for the region.  Thus, approval of the proposed NSL renewal is not expected to impact the region’s 
recycling and waste reduction efforts.   
 

(5) The consistency of issuing the license with Metro’s existing contractual arrangements; 
 
Through 2019, Metro has a contractual obligation to deliver a minimum of 90 percent of the region’s 
putrescible waste, which is delivered to general purpose landfills during the calendar year, to landfills 
owned by Waste Management.  The proposed NSL covers putrescible waste that will be delivered to 
Riverbend, which is owned and operated by Waste Management.  Thus, approval of this NSL renewal 
will not conflict with Metro’s disposal contract or any other of its existing contractual arrangements.  
The denial of this NSL would require Hoodview to either deliver its putrescible waste to one of the 

                                                 
6 In the 1990’s, RCRA required all general purpose solid waste landfills to install synthetic liners, leachate collection systems, groundwater 
monitoring and gas collection systems to lessen the impact on surrounding communities and the environment.   



Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4573 
Page 6 of 6 

region’s transfer stations or obtain an NSL to deliver this waste to Waste Management’s Columbia Ridge 
Landfill located in Gilliam County. 
 

(6) The record of the applicant regarding compliance with Metro ordinances and 
agreements or assistance to Metro in Metro ordinance enforcement and with federal, 
state and local requirements including but not limited to public health, safety and 
environmental rules and regulations; and 

 
Hoodview is currently in compliance with its Metro-issued NSL.  The applicant has not had any 
compliance issues with regard to Metro regulations within the last two years.   
  

(7) Such other factors as the Chief Operating Officer deems appropriate for purposes of 
making such determination. 

 
An additional factor that is related to this NSL application and the proposed NSL is the available future 
disposal capacity of Riverbend.  In 2013, Riverbend received approval to build a mechanically stabilized 
earthen berm (MSE), similar to berms used in road construction projects.  The berm will give the landfill 
additional short-term capacity.  At the current fill rate, Waste Management estimates the landfill has 
capacity to operate through 2016 or early 2017 without some additional expansion approval or waste 
diversion.  On November 5, Waste Management submitted a landfill expansion application to Yamhill 
County for site design approval.  The application includes a lateral expansion of 37 acres.   Attachment 1 
to this staff report provides background information which updates Council on waste flow, expansion 
matters, and pending government decisions relative to the landfill’s expansion.  Should conditions 
change, Metro may modify, suspend, or terminate NSLs or redirect waste flow to other landfills. 
  
3. Anticipated Effects 
 
The effect of Resolution No. 14-4573 will be to issue a two-year NSL authorizing Hoodview to deliver up 
to 7,600 tons per calendar year of putrescible waste to Canby Transfer for the purpose of consolidation 
and transfer to Riverbend for disposal. 
 
4. Budget/Rate Impacts 
 
Since Riverbend is owned and operated by Waste Management there is no impact to Metro’s obligation 
under the disposal contract.  In addition, the Regional System Fee and Excise Tax will continue to be 
collected on Metro-area waste delivered to Riverbend under the authority of the proposed NSL.  The 
application under consideration is the renewal of a current NSL therefore; any financial impact of this 
NSL to Metro has already been factored into the budget.      
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
The COO recommends approval of Resolution No. 14-4573, finding that the license renewal satisfies the 
requirements of Metro Code Section 5.05.043.  Approval of Resolution No. 14-4573 will authorize the 
COO to issue an NSL, similar to the one attached to the resolution as Exhibit A, to Hoodview for a two-
year period commencing on January 1, 2015 and expiring on December 31, 2016. 
WJ/RB 
M:\rem\regaff\confidential\johnson\Facilities\Hoodview\N-118-15\HOOD_RES_14-4573_stf report.docx



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4573 
Page 1 of 5 

Summary of Riverbend Landfill Expansion Information 
 

Riverbend Landfill, located in Yamhill County, is used as a primary disposal site for several privately-
owned haulers and transfer stations within the Metro region (generally located in Washington and 
northern Clackamas Counties).  Riverbend’s ongoing disposal capacity is germane to Metro Council’s 
decision regarding whether to approve non-system licenses (NSLs) that authorize the use of the landfill 
as a disposal site since there is some uncertainty about future available capacity and how quickly 
pending approvals for expanded capacity will be processed.  
 
In 2014, Waste Management received approval to construct a mechanically stabilized earthen berm 
(MSE).  This berm was constructed in 2014 and solid waste was disposed within the berm area starting 
in October 2014.  At the current fill rate, Waste Management estimates that Riverbend now has capacity 
to operate through 2016 or early 2017 without additional expansion.  On November 5, 2014, Waste 
Management submitted a site design request to Yamhill County to construct a 37-acre lateral expansion 
of the landfill footprint.  Waste Management also submitted a Floodplain Development Permit 
Application to the County.  Approval of this site design expansion request by Yamhill County would 
move the request to the next stage of the approval process.  DEQ must also approve the expansion 
request.  An expansion decision is expected to be completed by the two agencies at the end of 2015 or 
early 2016.  If DEQ approves the landfill expansion, it will provide the landfill with approximately 15 
years of additional capacity.   
 
Should the landfill expansion not occur or be delayed beyond that time, Metro’s existing NSLs could be 
modified, suspended, or terminated as necessary to redirect waste flows to other landfills and would be 
up for reconsideration by Metro Council at the end of 2016.  If Riverbend was no longer a disposal 
option, Metro would likely divert the tonnage going there to the Columbian Ridge Landfill in order to 
maintain compliance with its disposal contract – both landfills are owned by Waste Management.  NSLs 
contain a standard provision that allows Metro to take such action based on a change in any 
circumstance under which Metro initially issued the license (for instance, if Metro later determines that 
there is a lack of capacity at Riverbend or Yamhill County requests that Metro stop further waste 
deliveries to the landfill, Metro could modify, suspend, or terminate the NSL).  In addition, a Metro-
approved NSL does not require Riverbend to accept solid waste from its customers should it encounter 
capacity limitations.  It is also plausible that new issues about the landfill expansion could be raised 
during the two-year term of these proposed licenses – in which case Metro could take necessary action 
to modify the NSLs. 
 
Riverbend Landfill 
The current landfill footprint is 85 acres and the company owns over 702 acres on the site of which 145 
acres are potentially slated for landfilling.  Waste Management is holding a series of public meetings in 
Yamhill County to discuss various site issues including the potential expansion, future green waste 
technology and the community’s use of other portions of its site that are not designated for disposal 
(such as park or agricultural use).  Yamhill County and DEQ are expected to hold 2-3 public hearings on 
the landfill expansion decision over the next year.   
 
Waste Management has also pursued other options to lessen dependency on the landfill, including 
diversion of non-putrescible waste away from the landfill and directing it to the Tualatin Valley Waste 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4573 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4573 
Page 2 of 5 

Recovery facility in Hillsboro and relocation of the public recycling center to a more convenient location 
at the landfill site. 
 
 
 
Figure 1 provides a general overview map of the landfill indicating the existing landfill, expansion areas 
and stewardship lands. 
 

Figure 1:  Riverbend Landfill  
(Source: Waste Management) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Waste Facts 
In calendar year 2013, Waste Management reported about 465,000 tons of solid waste was delivered to 
Riverbend from all sources (Table 1).  Of these 465,000 tons, about 223,000 tons (48 percent) originated 
inside the Metro district. The balance came from areas outside of Metro (52 percent). 
 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4573 
Page 3 of 5 

In addition to the solid waste received for disposal, Riverbend accepted about another 57,000 tons of 
contaminated soils that were used for landfill operations, mainly alternative daily cover (Table 1).  Of 
these 57,000 additional tons, about 42,000 originated inside the Metro boundary (Table 2). 
 

Table 1 
Materials Received at Riverbend Landfill in 

2013 

 Table 2 
Materials Generated in the Metro District and Received at  

Riverbend Landfill in 2013 
Solid Waste     

From inside 
Oregon 

464,000 
 

Putrescible waste 214,000 
 

From out-of-state 1,000 Non-putrescible waste 9,000   

Total Solid Waste 465,000 Total Solid Waste 223,000 
(48% of total waste at 
Riverbend) 

ADC/Soils 57,000 ADC/soils 42,000  

Total from all sources 522,000 Total from Metro 265,000 (51% of total materials at 
Riverbend) 

Source: DEQ, Solid Waste Disposal Report (quarterly). 
All tonnage amounts are rounded to the nearest 1000. 

Source: NSL reports filed with Metro, and data reported to Metro by Riverbend. 
All tonnage amounts are rounded to the nearest 1000. 

 
Of the 223,000 tons of Metro-area solid waste disposed at Riverbend in 2013, about 214,000 tons was 
putrescible waste collected from residential and commercial generators in Washington and northern 
Clackamas counties, delivered to one of four privately-owned transfer stations, and transported in large 
top-loaded transfer trailers to Riverbend under the authority of Metro-issued NSLs (Table 3).  The 
balance, 9,000 tons, was miscellaneous solid waste – mainly industrial waste, and non-putrescible 
processing residual directly delivered to the landfill from within the Metro region and delivered under 
the authority of Metro’s designated facility agreement with Riverbend.  The Metro region delivered 
about 20,000 fewer tons of non-putrescible waste to Riverbend in 2013 than in 2011, but the Region 
accounted for a slightly larger percentage of putrescible waste in 2013 (41 percent in 2011 versus 48 
percent in 2013).  An additional 42,000 tons of contaminated soils originated in the Metro district in 
2013, and were mostly used for landfill operations, mainly alternative daily cover versus about 21,000 
tons of soil in 2011. 
 

Table 3 
Metro-Area Putrescible Waste to Riverbend Landfill in 2013 by Transfer Station 

  Putrescible Waste 
Transfer Station Location Tons Percent 

Canby TS (Hoodview/West Linn) Canby 12,861 6% 
Forest Grove TS Forest Grove 105,155 49% 
Pride Recycling Sherwood 70,827 33% 
Willamette Resources Wilsonville 25,528 12% 
Total putrescible waste 
 
Source:  NSL reports filed with Metro. 

In-District 214,371 100% 
 

 
Metro’s transfer stations and the Troutdale Transfer Station send their waste to Columbia Ridge Landfill, 
not Riverbend.  However, Riverbend serves as a back-up for these facilities whenever the Columbia 
Gorge is closed due weather problems or other emergency situations.  Metro’s transfer stations have 



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4573 
Page 4 of 5 

not delivered waste to Riverbend since 2007.  Troutdale Transfer Station has delivered approximately 
489 tons of waste to Riverbend within the last two calendar years. 
 
Other Government Decisions  
Numerous governments are involved in the decision and oversight of landfills during consideration of a 
landfill expansion.  Following is brief summary of the two entities primarily responsible for decisions 
regarding aspects of the landfill expansion: 
 
• Yamhill County.   As part of its authorization process for NSLs and DFAs, Metro asks the local host 

government whether the destination facility is in compliance with local laws and whether it has any 
issues, concerns, or objections to the delivery of Metro-area waste to the disposal site within its 
jurisdiction.  Yamhill County is responsible for local land use decisions regarding the landfill.  The 
County has informed Metro that the landfill is in compliance with state and local requirements and 
there is minimal risk of future environmental contamination at the site.  See a fuller discussion in the 
staff report and see Attachment 2 for copies of relevant letters from the county.  
 
In June 2012, Yamhill County entered into a new five-year licensing agreement with Riverbend 
which replaced the previous agreement from 1994.   The term of the County’s new agreement 
became effective on July 1, 2012 and extends beyond the two-year term of this proposed NSL 
renewal.  The new agreement increases fees, based on volume, paid to the county and could 
increase County revenue by 60 percent based on previous waste disposal volumes.  The County has 
also recently determined that both the short-term expansion (berm) and longer-term expansion 
(horizontal expansion) of the landfill are outright allowable uses under its land use designation 
authority. 
 
Waste Management submitted a Site Design Review Application and a Floodplain Development 
Permit Application to the County on November 5, 2014.  Yamhill County staff will review the 
applications for compliance with its requirements.  Waste Management has already conducted a 
public meeting to explain the plan on November 11, 2014.  The County’s Planning Commission will 
hold a public hearing on December 4 and is expected to vote on the plan at its January 8, 2015 
meeting.  Once findings are written and adopted, the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners will 
review the plan and recommendation.  The Board is expected to make its decision during the spring 
of 2015.  It is expected that the Board’s decision will be appealed to the Land Use Board of Appeals 
(LUBA). 

 
• DEQ.  The chief agency responsible for permitting and environmental oversight of the landfill, DEQ 

must also approve any expansion at Riverbend as well as continually monitor the landfill’s 
environmental performance and compliance.  DEQ will begin its review of Waste Management’s 
expansion application for the proposed 37-acre lateral expansion once Yamhill County has rendered 
a site design review decision.  It is not clear what the key issues regarding the expansion proposal 
will be for DEQ.  During the approval of the MSE berm, issues regarding seismic stability and flood 
way/flood plain boundaries were raised as issues previously.  DEQ originally received the application 
for a large lateral expansion in 2009 which was subsequently withdrawn.  DEQ’s decisions on the 
landfill expansions typically are subject to a minimum 35-day public comment period and will most 
certainly involve a public hearing.   



 

Attachment 1 to Staff Report to Resolution No. 14-4573 
Page 5 of 5 

 
Impact of Landfill Closure or Waste Diversion 
If Metro-area solid waste could no longer be delivered to Riverbend for disposal for whatever reason, at 
2011 levels at least 208,000 tons of putrescible waste would ultimately have to be shifted to the 
Columbia Ridge Landfill each year under Metro’s disposal contract.  Each round trip to Columbia Ridge 
Landfill is 280 miles longer, on average, than current trips to Riverbend. This increase in transport time 
and distance would increase costs and reduce environmental sustainability in the region.  The costs 
resulting from a longer transport distance would result in the majority of increase in costs and 
environmental impact by increased carbon emissions.  The additional transport cost would be about $5 
million per year based on 2011 estimates.  This translates to an average increase of almost $24 on each 
ton shifted to Columbia Ridge Landfill from Riverbend.  Ratepayers in Washington County and northwest 
Clackamas County would bear virtually all of the cost and residential ratepayers in these counties could 
see increases of $1.40 to $1.80 per month on their garbage bills if the increases were passed along to 
the consumer. 
 
Summary 
The future long-term capacity of Riverbend and any decisions that might impact its expansion are 
relevant to Metro’s decision to allow solid waste to be disposed at the landfill.  It is a factor that will be 
continually monitored by staff.  Capacity limitations do not appear to impinge on the landfill’s ability to 
accept Metro-area waste from the current group of NSLs under consideration by Metro Council during 
the next two-year cycle – through 2016.  Metro has generally regarded these requests from the private 
sector as a market decision – provided that the: 1) use of such disposal sites does not violate Metro 
Code or any of Metro’s waste-related contracts, 2) appropriate Regional System Fee and Excise Tax is 
remitted to Metro for the waste delivered to the disposal site, and 3) receiving disposal site is 
appropriately authorized and allowed to operate by the relevant local and state regulatory authorities   
Metro has the authority to modify, suspend, or terminate its NSLs at any time if the landfill’s capacity 
becomes constrained or if Yamhill County requests that Metro restrict the flow of solid waste away from 
Riverbend. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Attachment 2 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4571 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 2 includes comment letters received by Metro from local governments regarding 
Riverbend Landfill.  The following are included in this attachment: 

 

• Letter from Sherrie Mathison, Yamhill County Solid Waste, addressed to Roy W. Brower, 
Metro, dated October 22, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Yamhill County Board of Commissioners addressed to the Metro Council 
dated November 13, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Richard J. Olson, Mayor of City of McMinniville, addressed to the Yamhill 
County Board of Commissioners dated January 27, 2014. 
 

• Letter from Kent L. Taylor, City Manager of City of McMinniville, addressed to Roy W. 
Brower, Metro, dated September 10, 2014. 

 



 

 
Yamhill County Solid Waste 

525 NE 4th Street 
McMinnville, OR 97128 

YCSW Hotline: (503) 434-7445 
Fax: 503-434-7544 

www.ycsw.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October 22, 2014 
 
 
Roy W. Bower, Manager 
Solid Waste Compliance & Cleanup 
Metro 
600 NE Grand Ave 
Portland, Oregon 97232 
 
 
Re: Non-System License Renewal Applications to Transport Metro-Area Solid Waste to Riverbend Landfill 
 
 
Dear Roy, 
Your letter of September 9, 2014, asks if Yamhill County would have any issues with the renewal of Non-
System Licenses (“NSLs”) currently taking waste to Riverbend Landfill Incorporated (RLI).  
 
The license agreement Yamhill County has with Riverbend Landfill has allowances for out of county waste. 
Riverbend Landfill continues to make plans for the tonnages they accept both in county and out of county. 
 
Yamhill County does not have issues with the acceptance by Riverbend Landfill of this waste from the NSLs. 
 
I would also like to report that RLI has a history of operating in compliance with the Yamhill County license 
agreement and their DEQ permitting. Working under a Title V permit helps to assure the county environmental 
issues are dealt with in the everyday working of the landfill. It has been the experience over the past several 
years that RLI management has kept Yamhill County informed of any significant issues related to their day-to-
day operation.  
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me at 503-434-7445 if you have further questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Sherrie Mathison 
Yamhill County  
Solid Waste 

 

 printed on recycled paper, 25% post-consumer content 



BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

KATHY GEORGE· ALLEN SPruNGER· MARy STARRETT 

November 13, 2014 

535 NE Fifth Street· McMinnville, OR 97128-4523 
(503) 434-7501 0 Fax (503) 434-7553 

TTY (800) 735-2900 0 www. co.yamhill.or.us 

The Honorable Tom Hughes, Metro Council President 
The Honorable Shirley Craddick, Metro Councilor District 1 
The Honorable Carlotta Collette, Metro Councilor District 2 
The Honorable Craig Dirksen, Metro Councilor District 3 
The Honorable Katherine Harrington, Metro Councilor District 4 
The Honorable Sam Chase, Metro Councilor District 5 
The Honorable Robelt Stacey, Metro Councilor District 6 

Dear President Hughes and Metro Councilors: 

Thank you for requesting comment from Yamhill County regarding the renewal of the non-system license for the 
transpOlt of Metro-area solid waste to Riverbend Landfill . 

Yamhill County Solid Waste Coordinator Sherrie Mathi son has already provided input regarding factors set forth in Metro 
Code 5.05.035. The Yamhill County Commissioners would like to provide additional input. 

Riverbend has a histOlY of operating in compliance with the County and DEQ requirements - including meeting the 
requirements of the County licensing agreement and the regulatory requirements related to environmental protections. As 
a result of this, in 2012 the Board of Commissioners demonstrated their commitment to Riverbend 's continued operation 
by renewing the facility's licensing agreement for a five year term. This was extended through the approval ofa zone 
change in 2014 allowing for Riverbend to submit a detailed expansion application. 

Through the intervening years, Waste Management has demonstrated a commitment to work in partnership with the 
County as shown through their attention to ideas from citizens in the community and requests from the commissioners. 
Thi s includes a requirement for development of a landfill alternative ("green technology") on the Riverbend propelty, and 
ongoing operational improvements in response to community feedback . Additionally, Waste Management and Riverbend 
have demonstrated a commitment to waste reduction by sign ificantly increasing waste diversion at the WM-Newberg 
Transfer Station and the implementation of a new million dollar public recycling center at Riverbend. Finally, 
Riverbend 's community-driven Stewardship Plan to allow for 450 acres of its land to benefit the community has led to the 
expected 2015 launch of the Community Farm Collaboration which will provide land, mentoring and resources to help 
small farmers' success and educate the public about the value of community food systems. 

The Yamhill County Board of Commissioners offers this input to the Metro Council as we move forward in this 
partnership with Waste Management and Riverbend Landfill. 

Sincerely, 

Kathy George 
Vice-Chair 

MalY Starrett 
Commiss ioner 



230 NE Second Street • McMinnville, Oregon 97128-4831 • www.ci.mcminnville.or.us 

September 10, 2014 

Metro 
600 NE Grand Avenue 
Portland OR 97232-2736 

ATTN: RoyW. Bower 
Solid Waste Compliance and Cleanup Manager 

RE: Non-System License Renewal Applications to Transport Metro-Area Solid 
Waste to Riverbend Landfill 

Dear Mr. Bower: 

Thank you for the opportunity given to the City of McMinnville to comment on the 
proposed renewal of various Metro-issued Non-System Licenses. Simply put, METRO's 
renewal of the NSL's involving hauling of solid waste to Riverbend Landfill would be 
inconsistent with the City of McMinnville'S position on the future of Riverbend Landfill. 

In January of this year the Mayor, on behalf of the McMinnville City Council, sent a letter 
to the Yamhill County Board of Commissioners, in which the City stated its concerns 
over Riverbend Landfill, including the importation of solid waste. The letter states that 
the City does not see continued operation of Riverbend Landfill as being in the best 
interests of the community for the long term. A copy of that letter is attached. 

The City of McMinnville understands that it has no jurisdiction over Riverbend Landfill 
and is providing this input as part of the public testimony to be received. 

Sincerely, 

~~ 
Kent L. Taylor 
City Manager 

cc: Mayor and City Council 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 

Office of the City Manager (503) 434-7302 FAX (503) 472-4104 



230 NE Second Street • McMinnville, Oregon 97128-4831 • www.ci.mcminnville.or.us 

January 27,2014 

Yamhill County Board of Commissioners 
434 NE Evans Street 
McMinnville OR 97128 

RE: Riverbend Landfill 

Dear Chair Stern and Commissioners: 

I am writing on behalf of the McMinnville City Council. First, we would like to recognize 
the very difficult position you are in with regard to decision-making on landfill issues like 
that involving Riverbend Landfill. The voices from both sides of the issue are many and 
come from very organized fronts and developed positions on the matter. The 
McMinnville City Council recognizes that the legally required task of applying relevant 
land-use criteria to a land-use decision and the testimony you hear is a very real 
challenge. 

Given that the County Planning Commission voted to recommend against the zone 
change proposed by Waste Management, Inc. and the County Planning Director's 
neutral statement that there was sufficient evidence and testimony presented to support 
either approval or denial, we had hoped to see a vote for denial of the zone change. 
We are pleased that there is a condition attached that requires some form of green 
technology facility to be initiated at the site within seven years. We look forward to 
hearing more of what the details are to this condition and hope that implementation of 
such technology will begin sooner than later and the implementation and startup will be 
within the seven-year period. 

Over the past several years the McMinnville City Council has grown increasingly 
concerned that continued operation and growth of the Riverbend Landfill are contrary to 
sustaining a high quality of life for the current and future citizens and children of 
McMinnville. The concerns and objections that we have increasingly heard from a 
range of our constituents can be summarized as follows: 



2 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners January 27, 2014 

• Negative impacts on the quality of life - Much of the year McMinnville is 
downwind of the landfill. Despite efforts to control odors, the landfill odor can still 
be smelled in many different parts of McMinnville. This is particularly an issue on 
the south and west sides of the City. Outdoor activities are negatively affected. 
McMinnville's residents and visitors are frequent users of Highway 18, and the 
size and height of the landfill have grown substantially over the years - more 
than anyone ever imagined. Tree barriers and earthen berms have had little 
impact on what is more and more often referred to as a significant "eyesore." 
Increasing large truck traffic on the City's perimeter roads, such as Lafayette 
Avenue and surrounding highways, being used by haulers of imported garbage is 
also generating increased complaints and concerns. The substantial increase in 
the volume of garbage being imported has also increased highway litter. 
Despite good faith efforts to control it, the amount of litter seems to be increasing 
rather than subsiding. 

• Negative impacts on a growing tourism sector of the local economy -
Simply put, the negative quality of life impacts discussed above are not 
consistent with the effort to grow the City's and the County's tourism economy, 
one centered on the wine industry, and are having a major impact on the 
Council's vision of McMinnville in the future. There is a growing sense that we 
could soon reach a tipping point, and the growth in the tourism sector begins to 
flatten or diminish as potential visitors choose to avoid the negative conditions. 
The International Pinot Noir Celebration (IPNC), held annually at Linfield College, 
is a world-class event, drawing industry representatives and visitors from around 
the world. Representatives from the IPNC have expressed their concerns about 
the landfill's negative impacts on the future viability of the Linfield outdoor venue. 
The loss of these types of events, along with other major tourism events and 
venues, more than likely would have a negative impact on the County's agri
tourism effort and McMinnville's tourism-related businesses. 

• Environmental & public health concerns - While the technical experts can 
battle the specifics of how large and when it will occur, there seems to be very 
little disagreement that a large-scale Cascadia subduction zone earthquake is in 
northwest Oregon's future. The age of the landfill, its original construction 
techniques and codes, and its proximity to the South Yamhill River give rise to 
citizen concerns about the potential environmental damage and threats to public 
health that could arise when such an earthquake occurs. The South Yamhill 
River flows along the easterly edge of McMinnville. While not an issue directly 
affecting City residents, they express concern about long-term groundwater 
impacts due to landfill leachate leaking below the surface. 

• Importation of solid waste from outside Yamhill County -Importation of 
huge volumes of garbage exacerbate the problems discussed above and have 
reduced the life of the landfill. What was once envisioned as a small county 
landfill has become a large regional landfill receiving refuse from not only Yamhill 
County but from all of northwest Oregon, including the Portland Metropolitan 

(503) 435-5701 
Office of the Mayor 

mayor@ci.mcminnville.or.us FPJ«503)472-4104 



3 
Yamhill County Board of Commissioners January 27, 2014 

area. As the need for additional landfill disposal continues to increase in areas 
outside of Yamhill County. it is a concern that the anticipated 20 years of 
additional capacity that expansion would bring would be recognized in a much 
shorter period of time. Although the Council recognizes that there may be trade
offs in garbage rates for less volume, parties on both sides of the issue have 
difficulty stating exactly what that rate would be if Riverbend is not expanded. 

In summary. the City Council does not envision Riverbend Landfill being part of our 
vision for a vibrant McMinnville and Yamhill County for the long term. As we move 
forward together, it is our hope that: implementation and construction of a viable green 
techno!ogy alternative takes place as soon as is possible; that VVaste Management 
significantly reduces the amount of garbage that is imported to the landfill from outside 
of Yamhill County; that proactive steps to abate the odor and litter problems be put on a 
fast track; that the County and the Riverbend operator support increased efforts to 
reduce the amount of local solid waste entering the waste stream in the first place. And, 
finally, with regard to the last item, we hope County solid waste revenues will be 
allocated to help develop and administer this waste reduction effort and that Waste 
Management, Inc. will support it, working with other local partners such as Recology. 

Sincerely, 

Richard J. ("Rick") Olson 
Mayor 

(503) 435-5701 
Office of the Mayor 

mayor@ci.mcminnville.or.us FAX (503) 472-4104 



Attachment 3 to Staff Report for Resolution No. 14-4571 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 3 includes pre-enforcement notices issued by the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality (DEQ) and related correspondence regarding Riverbend Landfill.  The 
following are included in this attachment: 

 

• Pre-Enforcement Notice from Bob Schwarz, DEQ, addressed to James L. Denson Jr., 
Waste Management, dated March 17, 2014. 
 

• Letter from James L. Denson Jr., Waste Management, addressed to Bob Schwarz, DEQ, 
dated March 28, 2014. 
 

• Pre-Enforcement Notice from Mark Riedel-Bash, DEQ, addressed to Paul Burns, Waste 
Management, dated November 3, 2014. 



regon 
John A Kitzhaber, MD, Governor 

James 1. Denson Jr. 
Oregon Environmental Protection Manager 
Waste Management 
7227 NE 55th Ave. 
Portland, OR 97218 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice 
Ri verb end Landfill 
PEN - LQ-ERD-2014-0020 
Solid Waste Disposal Site Permit # 345 
Yamhill County 

Dear Mr. Denson: 

Department of Environmental Quality 
Eastern Region-The Dalles Office 

400 East Scenic Drive, Suite 307 
The Dalles, OR 97058 

(541) 298-7255 
March 17, 2014 FAX (541) 298-7330 

During a January 28,2014 inspection, DEQ inspectors and landfill personnel observed leachate 
escaping from the north side of the landfill. This leachate migrated beyond the perimeter of the 
landfill, but did not appear to travel far from the landfill perimeter. Waste Management 
concluded that this release was the result of an old perimeter French drain that was clogged as 
the result of recent construction of a storm water diversion swale. The drain had been installed 
during construction of the cell to convey leachate to the leachate collection line that runs to the 
onsite leachate storage pond. 

Later that day, the site engineer directed the landfill contractor to remove all drain rock from the 
French drain along that portion beneath the stormwater diversion berm. Between January 28 and 
29, this rock was removed and the area was backfilled with compacted clay. Four vertical 12-
inch sump pipes were installed and backfilled with drain rock. Soil limn the impacted area north 
of the landfill was sampled on January 29. Soil impacted by the leachate release was then 
excavated, and a vactor truck was used to remove standing storm water that may have been 
contaminated by the release. Soil from this area was resampled on January 31. Results were 
provided in a technical memorandum dated March 14, 2014. These results indicate that residual 
contaminant concentrations are below safe levels. 

On February 10,2014, landfill personnel observed leachate escaping from the landfill's northern 
bOlmdary. Waste Management reported this leachate release to the DEQ on February 10 and 
stated that this leachate reached a creek approximately 300 feet from the landfill. This leachate 
release was near but not related to the release first observed on January 28. This leachate was 
primarily liquid that had collected in the landfill ' s gas extraction wells . To keep the extraction 
wells working properly, this leachate is routinely pumped from the wells to three 21,000-gallon 
storage tanks near the north side of the landfill. This leachate is leept separate from the majority 
ofthe landfill's leachate, which is pumped to the onsite leachate pond. The reason for this 
separation is that leachate associated with the gas extraction wells is more concentrated than the 
rest of the landfill leachate, and is therefore sent to a different offsite facility for treatment and 



Page 2 of3 

disposal. The Department conducted an inspection on February 13,2014 to document the release 
and the actions taken to address the release. 

Impacts to the creek were evaluated in a March 11, 2014 report prepared by Waste 
Management's consultant. The report concludes that "No mortality of aquatic flora or fauna was 
observed during either site visit [conducted on February 12 and 21, 2014]. Overall, the impact to 
aquatic biota was estimated to be minimal on the basis of the high flows of the unnamed creek 
and the South Yamhill River, and the comparison to aquatic water quality criteria and human 
health criteria." 

Impacts to the area between the landfill and the creek are also being investigated. Waste 
Management has not yet provided results of that investigation to DEQ. 

Based upon DEQ's observations and infonnation provided by you regarding your facility, the 
Department has concluded that Waste Management is responsible for the following violations of 
Oregon enviromnentallaw: 

VIOLATIONS: 

1) The leachate seep found on January 28, 2014 was a violation of Section 9.9 of Riverbend 
Landfill's Solid Waste Disposal Facility pennit, which states that "Leachate must be 
prevented from escaping to local drainage ways and to other unlined areas of the site." 
This is a Class 2 violation. 

2) The leachate release that occurred on February 10,2014 was a violation of ORS 
468B.02S(1): "Except as provided in ORS 468B.OSO or 468B.OS3, no person shall: 

(a) Cause pollution of any waters of the state or place or cause to be placed any wastes in 
a location where such wastes are likely to escape or be carried into the waters of the state 
by any means." This is a Class 1 violation. 

Class I violations are the most serious violations; Class III violations are the least serious. 

CORRECTIVE ACTIONS REQUESTED: 

1. Effective immediately, inspect the entire perimeter of the landfill daily for leachate seeps. 
Particular attention is essential during periods of heavy or prolonged precipitation. Any 
problems noted must be reported to DEQ within 24 hours. 

2. Submit the report now being prepared concerning impacts to the area between the landfill 
and the creek. This report must be submitted by Friday, March 21, 2014. 

3. Prepare a report that identifies what measures have already been taken and what additional 
measures will be taken, along with a schedule for implementation of those measures to avoid 
these problems in the future. This report must be submitted by Friday, March 28,2014. 

o 
lJEQ.OU 



Page 3 of3 

The violations cited above posed the risk of significant environmental hann and the matter is being 
referred to the Depmiment's Office of Compliance and Enforcement for formal enforcement action. 
Formal enforcement action may result in assessment of civil penalties and/or a Depmiment order. A 
formal enforcement action may include a civil penalty assessment for each day of violation. 

If you believe any of the facts in this Pre-Enforcement Notice me in error, you may provide written 
information to me at the address shown at the top of the letter. The Depmiment will consider new 
information you submit and take appropriate action. 

The Department intends to assist you in your compliance efforts. Should you have any questions 
about the content of this letter, feel free contact me in writing or by phone at 541-298-7255 x230. 

Sincerely, 

~~ ... 
Bob Schwarz, PE 
Permit Engineer 

Copy: Office of Compliance and Enforcement, DEQ Headqumiers 

o 
IkQ.[)(I 



J a m e s  L  D e n s o n  J r .
7 2 2 7  N E  5 5 t h  A v e

P o r t l a n d  O R ,  9 7 2 1 8

( 6 0 2 )  7 5 7 - 3 3 5 2
F A X  7 1 3 - 2 8 6 - 7 4 0 6

20140328 RBLF PEN Response Draft (3/28/2014) 

March 28, 2014          VIA U.S. MAIL & E-MAIL 

Bob Schwartz P.E. 
Oregon Department of Environmental Quality 
Eastern Region-The Dalles Office 
400 East Scenic Drive, Suite 307 
The Dalles, OR 97058 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice Riverbend Landfill 
PEN - LQ-ERD-2014-0020 
Solid Waste Disposal Site Permit # 345 

Dear Mr. Schwartz: 

Riverbend Landfill Co. (RBLF) in compliance with the March 17th, 2014 ODEQ Pre-Enforcement 
Notice (PEN) is submitting this report addressing PEN Requested Corrective Action item # 3 that 
requires RBLF to  identify “what measures have already been taken and what additional measures will 
be taken, along with a schedule for implementation of those measures to avoid these problems in the 
future”.

This report outlines the corrective actions taken by RBLF to manage the re-occurrence of leachate 
migrating past the landfill boundary. 

Actions Completed to date; 
1. Removed 150 feet of existing French drain trench and piping underneath stormwater control 

berm, backfilled trench and installed Four (4) sumps that extend 1 foot below perimeter road 
elevation. 

2. Reinstalled and extended existing stormwater control berm at toe of  North Slope  
3. Excavated impacted soils outside of  landfill footprint from the Jan 28th seep incident and 

repaired impacted area.   
4. Implemented post mitigation observations of the area multiple times per day to ensure no 

additional leachate seeps occurred in the area and mitigation measures were effective. 
5. As a result of the Feb 19th Seep event; vacuumed impacted area between landfill and creek 

removed approx. 12k gallons of leachate/snowmelt mixture and properly disposed. 
6. Implemented post mitigation observations of the area each day to ensure no additional leachate 

seeps are occurring in the area. 
7. Installed 250 feet of diversion berm at toe of North Slope and installed two (2) collection sumps. 
8. Installed North Leachate tank overfill alarms with auto dialer 
9. Installed North Tank Leachate tank bypass line to leachate pond 
10. Placed additional 7,000 yards of cover soils on North slope 
11. Initiated and finalized third party creek impact assessment, assessment indicated no impacts to 

wildlife or the environment 
12. Initiated third party soils assessment for impacted soils in the between the landfill and the creek. 



March 28, 2014

- 2 - 

Actions in process; 
1. Finalize impacted soils assessment by SCS with recommendations. Due April 1st

2. Placing additional 15,000 yards of cover soils on North Slope to achieve 24” cover soil 
thickness on entire North Slope. Placement of the remainder of the cover will be completed by 
May 30th , weather permitting.  

3. Add fourth 22K storage tank to North Leachate tank area. Planned for installation by May 30th

weather permitting. 

We appreciate the opportunity to respond to with the actions taken on this issue. RBLF believes 
that the actions outlined above have served to; 

� Identify all potential impacts to the environment as a result of the two incidents, and 
� Significantly increased the margin of safety for ensuring the events identified in the PEN 

do not re-occur. 

Thank you again for your assistance with this important issue. If you have any questions or 
concerns, please feel free to contact me at (602) 757-3352 or by email at jdenson@wm.com . 

Sincerely,

James Denson 
          Oregon Environmental Protection Manager 

CC

 Facility File 
Lissa Druback, ODEQ via E-mail 

Sincerely,



regon 
John A. Kitzhaber, MDI Governor 

Certified Mail: 7014 120000003483 0878 

November 3,2014 

Paul Bums 
Riverbend Landfill Co. 
13469 SW Highway 18 
McMinnville, OR 97218 

RE: Pre-Enforcement Notice 
File Number: 106959 
WQ/SW -PEN-WRE-20 14-0074 
Common Name: Riverbend Landfill 
YamhiII County 

Dear Mr. Bums: 

. Deparhnent of Environmental Quality 
Western Region Eugene ?ffice 

165 East 7th Avenue, Suite 100 
Eugene, OR 97401 

(541) 686-7838 
FAX (541) 686-7551 

TTY 711 

The Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) reviewed the 2013-2014 Dischal'ge Monitoring Report 
for Riverbend Landfill Co. In this DMR, you reported exceeding the daily maximum limit for total zinc. 
It also appears that you were unable to perfonn the requITed follow-up monitoring in Schedule B.2. e. iii 
due to a lack bf discharge at Outfall 2. 

DEQ has concluded that this facility is responsible for the following violation of Oregon EnvITomnental 
Law: 

VIOLATION(S) 
Oregon Revised Statnte 468B.025(2) reqUITes compliance with DEQ pennits. The reported concentration 
of total zinc on May 9, 2014 was 0.42 mgIL. This discharge level exceeds the permit numeric effluent 
limit of 0.20 mgIL (permit Schedule A.2) by 50 percent or more. This is a Class I violation in accordance 
with OAR 340-012-0055(1)(k)(A). Class I violations are considered to be the most serious, and Class III. 
violations are the least serious. 

CORRECTNE ACTIONeS): 
If you have not already perfonned the reqUITed follow up monitoring in Schedule B.2.e.iii of the pennit, 
please perfOlID the follow up sampling and, if necessary, submit an exceedance report in accordance with 
Schedule B.9 of the permit within 60 days. 

Schedule B.2.e.iii requITes that the pel1l)ittee conduct follow-up monitoring of any pollutant that exceeds 
the numeric effluent limit(s) within 30 days (or during the next measurable stonn event should none occur 
withiu 30 days) of receiving the monitoring results. 

Exceeding total zinc pennit limits can negatively impact stream habitat and aquatic species. Therefore, 
the violation listed above has heen referred to DEQ's Office of Compliance and Enforcement for fonnal 
enforcement action, which may include assessment of civil penalties and/or issuance of a Department 
Order. A fonnal enforcement action may include a civil penalty assessment for each day of violation. 



If you believe any of the facts in this Pre-Enforcement Notice are in error, you may provide written 
information to me at the address shown at the top of the letter. DEQ will consider neW infOlmation you 
submit aud take appropriate action. 

DEQ endeavors to assist you in your compliauce efforts. Should you have auy questions about the couteut of 
this letter or if you desire auy follow-up techuical assistauce, feel free contact to me in writing or by phone at 
(541) 687-7343. 

Sincerely, 

Mark Riedel-Bash, RG 
Stormwater Specialist 

cc: Source File - DEQ Eugene 
Zach Loboy, Water Quality Manager - DEQ Eugene Office 
Denise Miller- DEQ Eugene 
Office of Compliauce aud Enforcement- DEQ Headquarters 



BEFORE THE METRO COUNCIL 
 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF 
OPERATING OFFICER TO ISSUE A RENEWED NON-SYSTEM 
LICENSE TO HOODVIEW DISPOSAL AND RECYCLING, INC. 
FOR DELIVERY OF PUTRESCIBLE WASTE TO CANBY 
TRANSFER AND RECYCLING, INC. FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
TRANSFER AND DISPOSAL AT THE RIVERBEND LANDFILL 
LOCATED IN YAMHILL COUNTY, OREGON 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

RESOLUTION NO.  14-4573A 
 
Introduced by Chief Operating 
Officer Martha Bennett in 
concurrence with Council 
President Tom Hughes 

 
WHEREAS, the Metro Code requires a non-system license of any person that delivers solid waste 

generated from within the Metro Region to a non-system disposal facility; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Hoodview Disposal and Recycling, Inc. (“Hoodview”) holds Metro Solid Waste Facility 
Non-System License No. N-118-13, which expires on December 31, 2014; and   
 

WHEREAS, Hoodview has filed a complete application seeking renewal of the non-system 
license to deliver putrescible waste to Canby Transfer and Recycling, Inc. for the purpose of transfer to 
the Riverbend Landfill for disposal under the provisions of Metro Code Chapter 5.05, “Solid Waste Flow 
Control;” and 

WHEREAS, Metro Code Chapter 5.05 provides that applications for non-system licenses for 
putrescible waste shall be reviewed by the Chief Operating Officer and are subject to approval or denial 
by the Metro Council; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer has analyzed the application and considered the relevant 

factors under the Metro Code; and  
 
WHEREAS, Riverbend Landfill is in the process of seeking expansion of the landfill to increase 

capacity by approximately 15 years; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Metro Council finds that disposing of putrescible waste generated within the 

Metro region in Riverbend Landfill after 2016 may not be in the best interests of the region; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Chief Operating Officer recommends that the non-system license be renewed 
together with specific conditions as provided in this Resolution and Exhibit A to this Resolution; now 
therefore, 
 

THE METRO COUNCIL RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:  

1. The non-system license renewal application of Hoodview is approved subject to the terms, 
conditions, and limitations contained in this Resolution and Exhibit A to this Resolution. 
 

2. The Chief Operating Officer is authorized to issue to Hoodview a renewed Solid Waste Facility 
Non-System License substantially similar to the one attached as Exhibit A. 
  

2.3. The Chief Operating Officer should consider any future application to send putrescible waste to 
Riverbend Landfill as a new application, not a renewal, and should evaluate landfill capacity 
when determining whether a non-system license should be issued.  
 
 

 



ADOPTED by the Metro Council this ____ day of _______, 2014. 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
 Tom Hughes, Council President 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney 


	120414 Metro Council Agenda
	Agenda Item No. 2.1: Resolution No. 14-4580
	Resolution No. 14-4580 
	Exhibit A
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1

	Agenda Item No. 2.2: Resolution No. 14-4584
	Resolution No. 14-4584 
	Exhibit A
	Staff Report

	Agenda Item No. 2.3: Resolution No. 14-4585 
	Resolution No. 14-4585
	Exhibit A
	Staff Report

	Agenda Item No. 2.4: Resolution No. 14-4586
	Resolution No. 14-4586
	Retail Lease
	Exhibit A
	Exhibit B
	Exhibit C
	Exhibit D
	Staff Report

	Agenda Item No. 2.5: Resolution No. 14-4587
	Agenda Item No. 2.6: 111314 Meeting Minutes
	Agenda Item No. 3.1: Ordinance No. 14-1349 
	Ordinance No. 14-1349
	Exhibit A
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1

	Agenda Item No. 4.1: Resolution No. 14-4588 
	Resolution No. 14-4588 
	Draft 2014 Metro-Oregon Zoo Foundation
	Exhibit A
	Exhibit B
	Exhibit C
	Exhibit D
	Exhibit E
	Exhibit F

	Agenda Item No. 4.2: Resolution No. 14-4582
	Resolution No. 14-4582
	Exhibit A
	Exhibit A: Revised draft

	Staff Report
	Attachment 1

	Agenda Item No. 4.3: Resolution No. 14-4589 
	Resolution No. 14-4589
	Staff Report

	Agenda Item No. 4.4: Resolution No. 14-4569 
	Resolution No. 14-4569
	Exhibit A
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1
	Attachment 2
	Attachment 3
	Resolution No. 14-4569A 

	Agenda Item No. 4.5: Resolution No. 14-4570 
	Resolution No. 14-4570
	Exhibit A
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1 
	Attachment 2
	Attachment 3
	Resolution No. 14-4570A

	Agenda Item No. 4.6: Resolution No. 14-4571 
	Resolution No. 14-4571
	Exhibit A
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1
	Attachment 2
	Attachment 3
	Resolution No. 14-4571A

	Agenda Item No. 4.7: Resolution No. 14-4572
	Resolution No. 14-4572
	Exhibit A
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1
	Attachment 2
	Attachment 3
	Resolution No. 14-4572A

	Agenda Item No. 4.8: Resolution No. 14-4573
	Resolution No. 14-4573
	Exhibit A
	Staff Report
	Attachment 1
	Attachment 2
	Attachment 3
	Resolution No. 14-4573A




